ADVANCES IN STEM CELL BIOLOGY



Novel Concepts in iPSC Disease Modeling

Edited by Alexander Birbrair



Novel Concepts in iPSC Disease Modeling, Volume 15

Advances in Stem Cell Biology

Series Editor Alexander Birbrair

Advances in Stem Cell Biology Novel Concepts in iPSC Disease Modeling, Volume 15

Edited by

Alexander Birbrair

Federal University of Minas Gerais Department of Pathology Belo Horizonte, Minas Gerais, Brazil

Columbia University Medical Center Department of Radiology New York, NY, United States







An imprint of Elsevier

Academic Press is an imprint of Elsevier 125 London Wall, London EC2Y 5AS, United Kingdom 525 B Street, Suite 1650, San Diego, CA 92101, United States 50 Hampshire Street, 5th Floor, Cambridge, MA 02139, United States The Boulevard, Langford Lane, Kidlington, Oxford OX5 1GB, United Kingdom

Copyright © 2022 Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved.

No part of this publication may be reproduced or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic or mechanical, including photocopying, recording, or any information storage and retrieval system, without permission in writing from the publisher. Details on how to seek permission, further information about the Publisher's permissions policies and our arrangements with organizations such as the Copyright Clearance Center and the Copyright Licensing Agency, can be found at our website: www.elsevier.com/permissions.

This book and the individual contributions contained in it are protected under copyright by the Publisher (other than as may be noted herein).

Notices

Knowledge and best practice in this field are constantly changing. As new research and experience broaden our understanding, changes in research methods, professional practices, or medical treatment may become necessary.

Practitioners and researchers must always rely on their own experience and knowledge in evaluating and using any information, methods, compounds, or experiments described herein. In using such information or methods they should be mindful of their own safety and the safety of others, including parties for whom they have a professional responsibility.

To the fullest extent of the law, neither the Publisher nor the authors, contributors, or editors, assume any liability for any injury and/or damage to persons or property as a matter of products liability, negligence or otherwise, or from any use or operation of any methods, products, instructions, or ideas contained in the material herein.

Library of Congress Cataloging-in-Publication Data

A catalog record for this book is available from the Library of Congress

British Library Cataloguing-in-Publication Data

A catalogue record for this book is available from the British Library

ISBN: 978-0-12-823882-0

For information on all Academic Press publications visit our website at https://www.elsevier.com/books-and-journals

Publisher: Stacy Masucci Acquisitions Editor: Elizabeth Brown Editorial Project Manager: Billie Jean Fernandez Production Project Manager: Omer Mukthar Cover Designer: Matthew Limbert



Typeset by TNQ Technologies

This book is dedicated to my mother, Marina Sobolevsky, of blessed memory, who passed away during the creation of this volume. Professor of Mathematics at the State University of Ceará (UECE), she was loved by her colleagues and students, whom she inspired by her unique manner of teaching. All success in my career and personal life I owe to her.



My beloved mom, Marina Sobolevsky, of blessed memory (July 28, 1959–June 3, 2020)

This page intentionally left blank

Contents

Dedication	
List of con	tributors XV
About the o	editor XXi
Preface	
CHAPTER	1 Induced pluripotent stem cells: novel concepts for
	Pan A Calvert Zaraah Laranzana Christiana N. Sangar
	Che-Vu Hsu, Shana N. Rusch, Sinem Koc-Gunal
	Frik I Quiroz and Amy I Ryan
	Elik J. Quiloz aliu Alily E. Nyali
	List of abbreviations
	Introduction
	Recapitulating lung development using induced pluripotent
	stem cells7
	Early lung specification: definitive endoderm and anterior
	foregut endoderm
	Generation of the NKX2.1 expressing primordial lung
	progenitor cells10
	Specification of proximal airway basal stem cells11
	Specification of distal airway alveolar type 2 stem cells13
	Specification of pulmonary neuroendocrine cells15
	Cellular plasticity in iPSC-derived airway progenitors15
	Modeling lung disease in the conducting airways
	Cystic fibrosis
	Primary ciliary dyskinesia20
	Inflammatory airway disease
	Modeling lung disease in the distal airspace
	Surfactant protein dysfunction
	Alpha-I-anti-trypsin27
	Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis
	Lymphangioleiomyomatosis
	Modeling viral infection of the lung
	Concluding remarks
	Acknowledgments
	Kelerences

CHAPTER	2 iPSC for modeling of metabolic and	
	neurodegenerative disorders	59
	V. Valadez-Barba, A. Cota-Coronado,	
	C.P. Barragán-Álvarez, E. Padilla-Camberos a	nd
	N.E. Díaz-Martínez	
	Introduction	60
	What are iPSCs?	60
	How are iPSCs obtained?	61
	Current iPSCs models overview	62
	Metabolic disorders	64
	Cardiovascular disorders	65
	Cardiomyocytes	65
	Cardiomyocyte differentiation	66
	CVDs modeled by iPSC-CMs	66
	Diabetes	67
	iPSC-based pancreatic β-cells as a model of disea	ase67
	Neurodegenerative disorders	68
	Parkinson's disease	69
	Alzheimer's disease	71
	Future applications	73
	Limitations	74
	Conclusions	75
	Acknowledgment	75
	Conflicts of interest	75
	References	75
	Further reading	83
CHAPTER	3 Induced pluripotent stem cells for mode	ling
	open-angle glaucoma	85
	Brandon S. Cheuk, Ajay Kumar and Yiqin Du	
	List of abbreviations	86
	Introduction	
	Pathophysiology of POAG	
	Genetics of POAG	88
	Risk factors of POAG	
	PACG	89
	Current treatment options for POAG	89
	Medicine	89
	Laser	90
	Surgeries	90
	Induced pluripotent stem cells as cellular models of a	diseases90
	iPSC-TM cells as a model of glaucoma	92

	iPSC-RGCs as a model of glaucoma95
	Patient-derived iPSCs as a model of glaucoma
	Drug discovery using iPSCs as a glaucoma model
	Conclusion 99
	Acknowledgments 99
	References
CUADTED	A Detions on a final induced a luring test storm calls for
GHAFIER	4 Patient-specific muuceu plumpotent stem cens for understanding and accessing nevel therepouties
	unuerstanung and assessing nover inclapedits
	for multisystem transtnyretin amyloid disease 105
	Richard M. Gladone, Sabrina Gnosh and
	George J. Murphy
	Introduction
	ATTR amyloidosis pathogenesis108
	Current standards of care for patients with ATTR amyloidosis109
	Limitations of current pre-clinical disease models
	Developing IPSC-based models of hereditary ATTR
	amyloidosis
	Hepatic proteostasis remodeling in IPSC-based models of
	ATTR amyloidosis
	The clinical trial in a test tube: revolutionizing the drug
	discovery pathway for systemic amyloid disease116
	Future directions
	Developing novel biomarkers for ATTR amyloidosis116
	Evaluating small molecule activators of the UPR117
	Building an iPSC-based model for light chain amyloidosis 117
	Profiling misfolded protein-mediated signatures of cellular
	stress and toxicity
	Conclusions
	References
CHAPTER	5 iPSCs for modeling choroideremia
	Zhour Jazouli, Simona Torriano and Vasiliki Kalatzis
	Eve structure and function
	Inherited retinal dystrophies
	Choroideremia
	Genetics of choroideremia
	Pathophysiology of choroideremia
	Animal models of choroideremia.
	Cellular models of choroideremia.
	Human induced pluripotent stem cells
	realized president stern construction for

ix

	Human iPSCs for choroideremia	136
	Human iPSC-derived retinal pigment epithelium	139
	Human iPSC-derived RPE for modeling choroideremia	140
	Human iPSC-derived RPE for proof-of-concept studies of	
	gene supplementation for choroideremia	141
	Human iPSC-derived RPE for proof-of-concept studies of	
	translational read-through for choroideremia	142
	Future directions for modeling choroideremia	143
	References	145
CHAPTER	6 Applications of human induced pluripotent stem	
	coll and human ambryonic stem coll models for	
	cell and human emplyonic stell cell models for substance use disorders, addiction and	
		153
	Kristen L. Boeshore, Chun-Ting Lee and	
	William J. Freed	
	Introduction	154
	The epidemic of drug abuse and addiction	155
	Identification of genetic targets for treatment of substance use	
	disorders	155
	Generation of human induced pluripotent stem cell-derived	
	neuronal cell lines as models for drug addiction	157
	Limitations of human induced pluripotent stem cell models of	
	drug abuse	162
	Use of human embryonic stem cells and human induced	
	pluripotent stem cells as models for neurodevelopmental effects	162
	Conclusions	168
	References	168
СНАРТЕР	7 Induced pluringtent stem cells for modeling	
	ardiae sodium channelenathies	170
		1/9
	Introduction	179
	Induced pluripotent stem cell model of sodium	
	channelopathies	180
	LQT type 3	180
	Brugada syndrome	185
	Other phenotypes of cardiac sodium channelopathies	
	(e.g., CCD, DCM)	186
	Summary and future perspectives	187
	References	188

CHAPTER	8 iPSCs for modeling Danon disease
	T.S.E. Hung-Fat
	Introduction
	The application of iPSC-based modeling of Danon disease
	Limitations of current animal models of Danon disease195
	A brief introduction of iPSCs
	The advantages of an iPSC-based model
	The procedures for producing iPSCs
	Application of established iPSC lines to cardiomyocytes 197
	dysfunction 1195C-cardiomyocytes to evaluate autophagic
	The application of an iPSC-based model for drug testing 203
	Future perspectives 203
	Acknowledgment
	References
	0 Human induced pluripotent stem calls for
	modeling of Niemann-Pick disease type C1 207 M. Paulina Ordonez, John Steele and Emma Y. Wu
	Introduction
	Traditional models of NPC1 and rationale for human stem
	cell-derived models
	Human-induced pluripotent stem cell-derived models of NPC1 210
	Patient-specific hiPSC-derived neural cells and glia
	Patient-specific hiPSC-derived hepatocytes
	Gene-edited hiPSC lines for the study of NPC1D
	Drug discovery applications
	Pafarances 215
CHAPTER	10 iPSC-based modeling in psychiatric disorders:
	opportunities and challenges219 Anke Hoffmann, Michael J. Ziller and Dietmar Spengler
	List of abbreviations
	Introduction
	The rationale of iPSC-based disease modeling
	Major results from iPSC-based modeling of psychiatric
	disorders

	Advances in cell culture systems for iPSC-based modeling of	
	psychiatric disorders	225
	Toward microcircuitries and complex cell-cell interactions.	225
	Toward in vivo systems for iPSC-based modeling of	
	psychiatric disorders	228
	Uncovering causality in iPSC-based modeling of psychiatric	
	disorders	231
	Genetic editing of GWAS risk SNPs in iPSC-based	
	modeling of psychiatric disorders	231
	Epigenetic editing of GWAS risk variants in iPSC-based	
	modeling of psychiatric disorders	232
	Conclusion and outlook	235
	Author contributions	236
	Funding	236
	Acknowledgments	236
	References	236
CHAPTER	11 Research applications of induced plurinotent	
	stem cells for treatment and modeling of	
	stem cens for treatment and modering of	04E
	Spinal Colu Injuly	240
	Edward Pohinson, Mohamad Khazaoi and	
	Michael C. Echlings	
	Michael G. Tennings	
	Introduction	246
	Molecular SCI pathophysiology	246
	Current induced pluripotent stem cell treatment of spinal	
	cord injury	247
	Application of iPSCs for SCI cell-based therapies	248
	iPSC-derived oligodendrocyte precursor cells	248
	iPSC-derived neural cells	250
	iPSC-derived Schwann cells	251
	iPSC-derived mesenchymal stem cells	252
	iPSC-derived pericytes	253
	iPSC-derived inflammatory mediators	254
	Application of iPSCs to generate 3D tissue for grafting	
	into SCI	255
	Bridging large gaps in the injured spinal cord using	
	3D-printed tissue	255
	Engraftment and transplantation of human organoids	
	for SCI	256

	Application of iPSC-derived organoids for spinal cord	
	modeling and research	257
	Using iPSCs-organoids to model spinal cord injury in vitro	257
	Injury modeling to organoid culture	258
	Using iPSC organoids to model development	260
	Conclusion	261
	References	261
CHAPTER	12 Functional outcomes of copy number variations of Chrna7 gene: current knowledge and new insight from induced pluripotent stem cells	
	Studies Daniela Ferrari, Angela D'Anzi, Alessia Casamassa, Laura Bernardini, Ada Maria Tata, Angelo Luigi Vescovi and Jessica Rosati	269
	Introduction	270
	CHRNA7 locus and CNVs (copy number variations)	271
	Nicotinic receptors	275
	α -7 nicotinic receptor subtype: functional characteristics	
	and pharmacology	278
	Distribution and functions of α 7 nicotinic receptors in the	
	nervous system	281
	Clinical characteristics of CHRNA7 CNV in human patients:	
	heterozygous deletion and duplication, homozygous deletion Functional aspects of CHRNA7 mutation in animal	283
	models: modeling CNS features	285
	Novel concepts on the functions of the a7nAChR obtained	
	through the use of iPSC models	293
	Conclusions	296
	References	298
Index		307

This page intentionally left blank

List of contributors

C.P. Barragán-Álvarez

Department of Medical and Pharmaceutical Biotechnology, Center for Research and Assistance in Technology and Design of the State of Jalisco, Guadalajara, Jalisco, Mexico

Laura Bernardini

Medical Genetics Unit, Fondazione IRCCS Casa Sollievo della Sofferenza, San Giovanni Rotondo, Italy

Kristen L. Boeshore

Department of Biology, Lebanon Valley College, Annville, PA, United States

Shana N. Busch

Hastings Center for Pulmonary Research, Division of Pulmonary, Critical Care and Sleep Medicine, Department of Medicine, University of Southern California, Los Angeles, CA, United States

Ben A. Calvert

Hastings Center for Pulmonary Research, Division of Pulmonary, Critical Care and Sleep Medicine, Department of Medicine, University of Southern California, Los Angeles, CA, United States

Alessia Casamassa

Cellular Reprogramming Unit, IRCCS Casa Sollievo della Sofferenza, San Giovanni Rotondo, Italy

Brandon S. Cheuk

Department of Ophthalmology, University of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, PA, United States

A. Cota-Coronado

Department of Medical and Pharmaceutical Biotechnology, Center for Research and Assistance in Technology and Design of the State of Jalisco, Guadalajara, Jalisco, Mexico; The Florey Institute for Neuroscience and Mental Health, The University of Melbourne, Parkville, VIC, Australia

Angela D'Anzi

Cellular Reprogramming Unit, IRCCS Casa Sollievo della Sofferenza, San Giovanni Rotondo, Italy

N.E. Díaz-Martínez

Department of Medical and Pharmaceutical Biotechnology, Center for Research and Assistance in Technology and Design of the State of Jalisco, Guadalajara, Jalisco, Mexico

Yiqin Du

Department of Ophthalmology, University of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, PA, United States; Department of Developmental Biology, University of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, PA, United States; McGowan Institute for Regenerative Medicine, University of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, PA, United States

Michael G. Fehlings

Division of Genetics and Development, Krembil Research Institute, University Health Network, Toronto, ON, Canada; Institute of Medical Science, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada; Department of Surgery, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada

Daniela Ferrari

Biotechnology and Bioscience Department, Bicocca University, Milan, Italy

William J. Freed

Department of Biology, Lebanon Valley College, Annville, PA, United States

Sabrina Ghosh

Center for Regenerative Medicine of Boston University and Boston Medical Center, Boston, MA, United States

Richard M. Giadone

Center for Regenerative Medicine of Boston University and Boston Medical Center, Boston, MA, United States

Anke Hoffmann

Department of Translational Research in Psychiatry, Max Planck Institute of Psychiatry, Munich, Germany

Che-Yu Hsu

Hastings Center for Pulmonary Research, Division of Pulmonary, Critical Care and Sleep Medicine, Department of Medicine, University of Southern California, Los Angeles, CA, United States

T.S.E. Hung-Fat

Cardiology Division, Department of Medicine, LKS Faculty of Medicine and Queen Mary Hospital, The University of Hong Kong, Hong Kong, China

Zhour Jazouli

Institute for Neurosciences of Montpellier, University of Montpellier, Inserm, Montpellier, France

Vasiliki Kalatzis

Institute for Neurosciences of Montpellier, University of Montpellier, Inserm, Montpellier, France

Mohamad Khazaei

Division of Genetics and Development, Krembil Research Institute, University Health Network, Toronto, ON, Canada

Sinem Koc-Gunel

Hastings Center for Pulmonary Research, Division of Pulmonary, Critical Care and Sleep Medicine, Department of Medicine, University of Southern California, Los Angeles, CA, United States

Ajay Kumar

Department of Ophthalmology, University of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, PA, United States

N.G. Kwong-Man

Cardiology Division, Department of Medicine, LKS Faculty of Medicine and Queen Mary Hospital, The University of Hong Kong, Hong Kong, China

Chun-Ting Lee

Cellular Neurobiology Branch, Intramural Research Program, National Institute on Drug Abuse, National Institutes of Health, Baltimore, MD, United States

Zareeb Lorenzana

Hastings Center for Pulmonary Research, Division of Pulmonary, Critical Care and Sleep Medicine, Department of Medicine, University of Southern California, Los Angeles, CA, United States

Takeru Makiyama

Department of Cardiovascular Medicine, Kyoto University Graduate School of Medicine, Sakyo-ku, Kyoto, Japan

William Brett McIntyre

Division of Genetics and Development, Krembil Research Institute, University Health Network, Toronto, ON, Canada; Institute of Medical Science, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada

George J. Murphy

Center for Regenerative Medicine of Boston University and Boston Medical Center, Boston, MA, United States; Section of Hematology and Oncology, Department of Medicine, Boston University School of Medicine, Boston, MA, United States

M. Paulina Ordonez

Department of Pediatrics, University of California, San Diego, CA, United States

E. Padilla-Camberos

Department of Medical and Pharmaceutical Biotechnology, Center for Research and Assistance in Technology and Design of the State of Jalisco, Guadalajara, Jalisco, Mexico

Katarzyna Pieczonka

Division of Genetics and Development, Krembil Research Institute, University Health Network, Toronto, ON, Canada; Institute of Medical Science, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada

Erik J. Quiroz

Hastings Center for Pulmonary Research, Division of Pulmonary, Critical Care and Sleep Medicine, Department of Medicine, University of Southern California, Los Angeles, CA, United States; Department of Stem Cell Biology and Regenerative Medicine, University of Southern California, Los Angeles, CA, United States

Edward Robinson

Division of Genetics and Development, Krembil Research Institute, University Health Network, Toronto, ON, Canada

Jessica Rosati

Cellular Reprogramming Unit, IRCCS Casa Sollievo della Sofferenza, San Giovanni Rotondo, Italy

Amy L. Ryan

Hastings Center for Pulmonary Research, Division of Pulmonary, Critical Care and Sleep Medicine, Department of Medicine, University of Southern California, Los Angeles, CA, United States; Department of Stem Cell Biology and Regenerative Medicine, University of Southern California, Los Angeles, CA, United States

Christiana N. Senger

Hastings Center for Pulmonary Research, Division of Pulmonary, Critical Care and Sleep Medicine, Department of Medicine, University of Southern California, Los Angeles, CA, United States

Dietmar Spengler

Department of Translational Research in Psychiatry, Max Planck Institute of Psychiatry, Munich, Germany

John Steele

Department of Biological Sciences, Humboldt State University, Arcata, CA, United States

Ada Maria Tata

Dept Biology and Biotechnologies Charles Darwin, Sapienza University of Rome, Rome, Italy

Simona Torriano

Jules Stein Eye Institute, Department of Ophthalmology, UCLA David Geffen School of Medicine, Los Angeles, CA, United States

V. Valadez-Barba

Department of Medical and Pharmaceutical Biotechnology, Center for Research and Assistance in Technology and Design of the State of Jalisco, Guadalajara, Jalisco, Mexico

Angelo Luigi Vescovi

Biotechnology and Bioscience Department, Bicocca University, Milan, Italy; Cellular Reprogramming Unit, IRCCS Casa Sollievo della Sofferenza, San Giovanni Rotondo, Italy

R.A.N. Xinru

Cardiology Division, Department of Medicine, LKS Faculty of Medicine and Queen Mary Hospital, The University of Hong Kong, Hong Kong, China

T.S.E. Yiu-Lam

Cardiology Division, Department of Medicine, LKS Faculty of Medicine and Queen Mary Hospital, The University of Hong Kong, Hong Kong, China

Emma Y. Wu

Pennsylania State University College of Medicine, Hershey, PA, United States

Michael J. Ziller

Department of Translational Research in Psychiatry, Max Planck Institute of Psychiatry, Munich, Germany

This page intentionally left blank

About the editor

Alexander Birbrair

Dr. Alexander Birbrair received his bachelor's biomedical degree from Santa Cruz State University in Brazil. He completed his PhD in Neuroscience, in the field of stem cell biology, at the Wake Forest School of Medicine under the mentorship of Osvaldo Delbono. Then, he joined as a postdoc in stem cell biology at Paul Frenette's laboratory at Albert Einstein School of Medicine in New York. In 2016, he was appointed faculty at Federal University of Minas Gerais in Brazil, where he started his own lab. His laboratory is interested in understanding how the cellular components of different tissues function and control disease progression. His group explores the roles of specific cell populations in the tissue microenvironment by using state-of-the-art techniques. His research is funded by the Serrapilheira Institute, CNPq, CAPES, and FAPEMIG. In 2018, Alexander was elected affiliate member of the Brazilian Academy of Sciences, in 2019, he was elected member of the Global Young Academy (GYA), and in 2021 he was elected affiliate member of The World Academy of Sciences (TWAS). He is the Founding Editor and Editorin-Chief of Current Tissue Microenvironment Reports, and Associate Editor of Molecular Biotechnology. Alexander also serves in the editorial board of several other international journals: Stem Cell Reviews and Reports, Stem Cell Research, Stem Cells and Development, and Histology and Histopathology.

This page intentionally left blank

Preface

This book's initial title was "iPSCs: Recent Advances." Nevertheless, because of the ongoing strong interest in this theme, we were able to collect more chapters than would fit in one single volume, covering induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs) biology from different perspectives. Therefore, the book was subdivided into several volumes.

This volume "Novel Concepts in iPSC Disease Modeling" offers contributions by known scientists and clinicians in the multidisciplinary areas of biological and medical research. The chapters bring up-to-date comprehensive overviews of current advances in the field. This book describes the use of iPSCs to model several diseases in vitro, enabling us to study the cellular and molecular mechanisms involved in different pathologies. Further insights into these mechanisms will have important implications for our understanding of disease appearance, development, and progression. The authors focus on the modern state-of-the-art methodologies and the leading-edge concepts in the field of stem cell biology. In recent years, remarkable progress has been made in the obtention of iPSCs and their differentiation into several cell types, tissues, and organs using state-of-the-art techniques. These advantages facilitated identification of key targets and definition of the molecular basis of several disorders. Thus, this book is an attempt to describe the most recent developments in the area of iPSCs biology, which is one of the rising hot topics in the field of molecular and cellular biology today. Here, we present a selected collection of detailed chapters on what we know so far about the use of iPSCs for modeling multiple diseases. Twelve chapters written by experts in the field summarize the present knowledge about iPSC Disease Modeling.

Amy L Ryan and colleagues from University of Southern California discuss iPSCs for modeling respiratory disease. N. Emmanuel Díaz-Martínez and colleagues from Center for Research and Assistance in Technology and Design of the State of Jalisco describe iPSCs for modeling metabolic and neurodegenerative disorders. Yiqin Du and colleagues from University of Pittsburgh compile our understanding of iPSCs for modeling Open-Angle Glaucoma. George J. Murphy and colleagues from Boston University School of Medicine update us with what we know about patient-specific iPSCs for modeling amyloid disease. Vasiliki Kalatzis and colleagues from University of Montpellier summarize current knowledge on modeling choroideremia with iPSCs. Kristen L. Boeshore and colleagues from National Institute of Health talk about the modeling of substance use disorders using iPSCs. Takeru Makiyama from Kyoto University Graduate School of Medicine addresses the importance of iPSCs for modeling Cardiac Sodium Channelopathies. Hung-fat Tse and colleagues from The University of Hong Kong present the modeling of Danon Disease using iPSCs. Paulina Ordonez from University of California San Diego gives an overview of iPSCs for modeling of Niemann-Pick Disease type C1. Dietmar Spengler and colleagues from Max-Planck Institute of Psychiatry introduce what we know so far about iPSCs for modeling of psychiatric

disorders. Michael G. Fehlings and colleagues from University of Toronto discuss iPSCs for Modeling of Spinal Cord Injury. Finally, Jessica Rosati and colleagues from Sapienza University of Rome focus on iPSCs for modeling functional outcomes of copy number variations in *chrna7* gene.

It is hoped that the chapters published in this book will become a source of reference and inspiration for future research ideas. I would like to express my deep gratitude to my wife, Veranika Ushakova, and Ms. Billie Jean Fernandez and Ms. Elisabeth Brown from Elsevier, who helped at every step of the execution of this project.

Alexander Birbrair Editor

Induced pluripotent stem cells: novel concepts for respiratory disease modeling

Ben A. Calvert^{1,a}, Zareeb Lorenzana¹, Christiana N. Senger¹, Che-Yu Hsu¹, Shana N. Busch¹, Sinem Koc-Gunel¹, Erik J. Quiroz^{1,2}, Amy L. Ryan^{1,2,a}

¹Hastings Center for Pulmonary Research, Division of Pulmonary, Critical Care and Sleep Medicine, Department of Medicine, University of Southern California, Los Angeles, CA, United States; ²Department of Stem Cell Biology and Regenerative Medicine, University of Southern California, Los Angeles, CA, United States

Chapter outline

.2
.5
.7
8
10
11
13
15
15
18
18
20
22
25
25
27
29
30
31

^a Equally contributed.

Novel Concepts in iPSC Disease Modeling, Volume 15. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-823882-0.00003-5 Copyright © 2022 Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved.

Concluding remarks	
Acknowledgments	
References	

Abstract

2

The past decade has witnessed the advent of induced pluripotency and methodology to direct these pluripotent stem cells to differentiate into many tissue-specific cell types, including those comprising the respiratory epithelium. Induced pluripotent stem cell-derived, (iPSC-derived), airway cells have expanded our capacity to replicate both respiratory development and disease. These relevant and reproducible models provide options to study disease-specific changes occurring in humans, which rodent models often do not readily recapitulate. Not only do these models use human cells, but they can also be patient-specific or engineered to reflect precise disease-causing mutations in controlled and isogenic cellular systems. Such advances represent a new era of precision medicine approaches for the evaluation and treatment of respiratory disease. This chapter presents a summary of recent advances in the generation of iPSC-derived cells, and their use in modeling human respiratory disease.

Keywords: Airways; Alveolar; Cystic fibrosis; Differentiation; Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis; Induced pluripotent stem cells; Lung development; Organoids; Primary ciliary dyskinesia; Stem cells.

List of abbreviations

2-D	2-dimensional
3-D	3-dimensional
AAT	alpha-1-antitrypsin
AATD	alpha-1-antitrypsin deficiency
AAV6	adeno-associated virus 6
ABCA3	adenosine triphosphate binding cassette subfamily A member 3
ACE2	angiotensin-converting enzyme 2
AFE	anterior foregut endoderm
ALI	air-liquid interface
AM	alveolar macrophage
AQP5	aquaporin 5
ARDS	acute respiratory distress syndrome
AT1	alveolar type 1 cells
AT2	alveolar type 2 cells
ATP11A	ATPase phospholipid transporting 11A
BC	basal cells
BMP	bone morphogenic protein
C-KIT	tyrosine-protein kinase KIT (aka CD117, cluster of differentiation 117)
cAMP	cyclic adenosine monophosphate
Cas9	CRISPR associated protein 9
CC	club cells

CDX2	caudal type homeobox 2
CF	cystic fibrosis
CFTR	cystic fibrosis transmembrane regulator
CHIR	CHRI99021, (a GSK-3 inhibitor)
CLP	common lymphoid progenitor
CMP	common myeloid progenitor
COPD	chronic obstructive pulmonary disease
CPM	carboxypeptidase M
CRISPR	clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeats
CSF	colony stimulating factors
CXCR4	C-X-C motif chemokine receptor 4
DE	definitive endoderm
DMH-1	dorsomorphin homolog 1
DNAH5	dynein heavy chain 5
DPP9	dipeptidyl peptidase 9
DSP	desmoplakin
ECM	extracellular matrix
EGF	epidermal growth factor
EHT	endothelial-to-hematopoietic-transition
ERG	erythroblast transformation-specific (ETS)-related gene
ETV5	ATS variant transcription factor 5
FACS	flow activated cell sorting
FGF	fibroblast growth factor
FLT3	Fms like tyrosine kinase 3
FOXA2/M1/P2	forkhead box A2/M1/P2
GATA6	GATA binding factor 6
GFP	green fluorescent protein
GM-CSF	granulocyte-macrophage colony stimulating factor
GSK	glycogen synthase kinase
GWAS	genome-wide association studies
HAECs	human airway endothelial cells
HOPX	homeodomain-only protein homeobox
HOXA5/9/10	Homeobox A5/9/10
HPS1	Hermansky-pudlak syndrome 1 protein
HSC	hematopoietic stem cells
iAT2	induced AT2 cell
IBMX	3-isobutyl-1-methylxanthine
Id2	inhibitor of differentiation 2
IL	interleukin
ILD	interstitial lung diseases
IM	interstitial macrophage
IPF	idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis
iPSC	induced pluripotent stem cells
IRF7	interferon regulatory factor 7
JAK2	janus kinase 2
KGF	keratinocyte growth factor (or FGF7)

4 CHAPTER 1 Induced pluripotent stem cells

KLF4	krüppel like factor 4
KRT	cytokeratin
MCC	multiciliated cells
MIXL1	mix paired-like homeobox 1
MUC5B	mucin 5B
NANCI	NKX2.1 associated noncoding intergenic RNA
NDA	deoxyribonucleic acid
NGFR	nerve growth factor receptor
NKX2.1	NK2 homeobox 1
OBFC1	oligonucleotide-binding fold-containing protein 1
PAP	pulmonary alveolar proteinosis
PAX8	paired box 8
PC	phosphatidylcholine
PCD	primary ciliary dyskinesia
PDPN	podoplanin, aka T1alpha
PG	phosphatidylglycerol
PNEC	pulmonary neuroendocrine cells
POU5F1 (OCT4)	octamer-binding protein 4
PRR	pattern recognition receptor
PSC	pluripotent stem cells
RA	retinoic acid
RB	retinoblastoma protein
RNP	ribonucleoprotein
RUNX1	runt-related transcription factor 1
SARS-CoV-2	severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2
SCF	stem cell factor
SERPINA1	serpin family A member 1
SFTPC	surfactant protein C
Shh	sonic hedgehog
SMAD	similarity to drosophila gene mothers against decapentaplegic (MAD)
SOX2/17	SRY (sex determining region Y)-box 2/17
SPI1	transcription factor PU.1
STAT3	signal transducer and activator of transcription 3
TERC	telomerase RNA component
TERT	telomerase reverse transcriptase
TGFβ	transforming growth factor beta
TMPSSR2	transmembrane protease serene 2
TOLLIP	toll interacting protein
TP63	tumor protein 63
TPO	thrombopoietin
vCC	variant club cells
VEGF	vascular endothelial growth factor
Wnt	wingless/int family
WT	wild-type

5

While other diseases, such as cardiovascular disease, have seen a regression in morbidity and mortality rates due to an increased number of therapeutic approaches successfully reaching the clinic, respiratory disease rates continue to increase. Despite numerous promising therapeutics emerging from preclinical trials, respiratory disease has far fewer new drugs eventually being approved for patient use. One contributing factor is the limited number of disease and patient-specific model systems available to study human respiratory disease onset and progression. Murine models have provided some of the most informative data on lung development, reviewed in Rawlins and Perl (2012). For example, lineage tracing of SRY (sex-determining region Y)-box 2 (SOX2) helped to elucidate its role in lung budding and differentiation of tracheal mesenchyme and epithelium (Que et al., 2009). Unfortunately, for many respiratory diseases, differences in human and rodent lung structure and function reflect in models that do not fully capture disease phenotypes as they occur in humans. Models of cystic fibrosis (CF) in mice, for example, complete knockouts (O'Neal et al., 1993; Snouwaert et al., 1992), Δ F508 mutants (Colledge et al., 1995; van Doorninck et al., 1995), G551D mutants (Delaney et al., 1996; Semaniakou et al., 2018), variably represent the human manifestation of the disease (reviewed extensively in McCarron et al., 2018; Wilke et al., 2011). Similarly, idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis (IPF) models, often induced by intratracheal instillation of bleomycin in rodents (Antoniu and Kolb, 2009; Carrington et al., 2018; Williamson et al., 2015), share dissimilar pathogenesis, and vary in detectable alveolar cell death and inflammation. While characterized by the development of fibrotic foci, the distribution of fibrosis differs from that in humans (reviewed in Williamson et al., 2015). Such differences in the pathophysiology of IPF in rodent models are likely one of the reasons for a complete absence of therapeutics available to increase survival in patients with IPF (Raghu et al., 2011). While some lung diseases are better recapitulated in larger animal models, such as pig and ferret models of CF (Li et al., 2006; Meyerholz et al., 2018; Pezzulo et al., 2012; Rogers et al., 2008a; Rosen et al., 2018; Sun et al., 2010; Welsh et al., 2009; Xie et al., 2018), these are costly models to develop and are therefore not suitable for high throughput studies. While these models may increase our knowledge of disease onset and pathogenesis, the value of such models in translating therapeutics successfully into the clinic is still largely unknown. Establishing a reproducible human and patient-specific model that is sustainable and scalable has the potential to accelerate therapeutic development for lung disease, particularly for rare lung diseases, is likely a valuable addition to the tool-kit for studying human lung disease pathogenesis.

Primary patient cells fulfill some of the criteria for modeling human lung disease ex vivo. Unfortunately, access to patient cells is restricted to the availability of explant lungs from patients with end-stage disease or small samples which can be obtained by bronchoscopy, limiting the number of cells that can be acquired. In vitro expansion of primary lung basal cells (BCs) while retaining their multipotent

6 CHAPTER 1 Induced pluripotent stem cells

stem cell phenotype is limited, recent advances in the field are starting to elucidate methods for more robust long-term expansion of lung basal stem cells (Mou et al., 2016; Reynolds et al., 2016). Access to cells representing rare lung diseases for in vitro assays remains a significant limitation due to the low number of patients available for cell procurement. The discovery of human-induced pluripotency (induced pluripotent stem cells [iPSCs]) by the laboratories of Yamanaka and Thomson in 2007 provided a new technology that could be utilized for disease modeling in human cells, with the capacity to understand disease development and pathogenic mechanisms (Okita et al., 2007; Takahashi et al., 2007a,b; Yu et al., 2007). Directed differentiation of iPSCs can recapitulate key embryonic milestones in the development of the human lung to generate cells of the airway epithelium. Crucial studies of lung development in mice allowed us to understand some of the signaling pathways that direct lung organogenesis (Bellusci et al., 1997; Chung et al., 2018; Lu et al., 2001; Mucenski et al., 2003; Okubo and Hogan, 2004; Weaver et al., 1999, 2000; Zhang et al., 2007, 2008). Protocols involving the sequential and temporal addition of factors regulating activin/nodal, bone morphogenic protein (BMP), fibroblast growth factor (FGF), transforming growth factor bets (TGFβ), wingless (Wnt), and sonic hedgehog (Shh) signaling to pluripotent cells have evolved from early studies generating a relatively immature lung epithelium (Firth et al., 2014; Ghaedi et al., 2013; Green et al., 2011; Huang et al., 2014; Wong et al., 2012), to recent advances where functional cells can be generated and used for effective disease modeling (Ghaedi and Niklason, 2019; Happle et al., 2018; Hurley et al., 2020; Leibel et al., 2019; McCauley et al., 2017; Sahabian et al., 2019; Strikoudis et al., 2019). This chapter focuses on discussing some of the most recent advances in utilizing iPSC-derived cells to model human respiratory disease (Table 1.1).

Key study features	Year	References
Generation of anterior foregut endoderm form iPSC	2011	Green et al. (2011)
First manuscript to describe differentiation of iPSC to CFTR expressing airway epithelium	2012	Wong et al. (2012)
Generation of proximal airway epithelium inclusive of abundant multiciliated cells	2014	Firth et al. (2014)
Gene correction of CFTR in iPSC-derived epithelium	2015	Crane et al. (2015), Firth et al. (2015)
Generation of airway progenitor cells from iPSC	2015	Huang et al. (2015)
Generation of lung bud organoids from iPSC	2015	Dye et al. (2015)
Multiciliated cell differentiation in iPSC-derived spheroids	2016	Konishi et al. (2016)
Dual inhibition of SMAD signaling enables long-term ex vivo expansion of epithelial basal cells	2016	Mou et al. (2016)

Table 1.1 Key studies progressing toward obtaining autologous lung cells for cell therapy and precision medicine screening.

Table 1.1	Key studies progressing toward obtaining autologous lung cells for cell
therapy and	d precision medicine screening.— <i>cont'd</i>

Key study features	Year	References
Isolation of NKX2.1 expressing lung progenitor cells from iPSC using CD47hi/CD26lo signature	2017	Hawkins et al. (2017)
Temporal regulation of Wnt signaling efficiently generated functional airway epithelium from iPSC	2017	McCauley et al. (2017)
Differentiation of iPSC to alveolar epithelial cells	2017	Jacob et al. (2017)
Single cell fate trajectories define lineage plasticity of iPSC-derived distal lung progenitors	2020	Hurley et al. (2020)
Derivation of basal stem cells from human pluripotent stem cells	2021	Hawkins et al. (2021)

CD26, cluster of differentiation 26, also known as dipeptidyl peptidase-4 (DPP4) or adenosine deaminase complexing protein 2; CD47, cluster of differentiation 47, also known as integrin associated protein (IAP); CFTR, cystic fibrosis transmembrane regulator; iPSC, induced pluripotent stem cells; NKX2.1, NK2 homeobox 1, also known as thyroid transcription factor 1 (TTF-1); SMAD, similarity to drosophila gene Mothers Against Decapentaplegic; Wnt, wingless.

Recapitulating lung development using induced pluripotent stem cells

Among the many organs that arise from the endoderm, the lung has received considerable attention over the past few years, driven by a need to develop better disease models specific to the human respiratory system. Although in depth, lineage-tracing studies have elegantly demonstrated stages of fetal lung development in rodents, human lung development is less well-understood and rodent signaling pathways guiding lung development are not necessarily conserved humans (Bellusci et al., 1997; Hogan et al., 1997; Lu et al., 2001; Morrisey, 2018; Mucenski et al., 2003; Rawlins et al., 2008; Stabler and Morrisey, 2017; Swarr and Morrisey, 2015; Wang et al., 2013; Weaver et al., 2000; Zhang et al., 2007). Consequently, there is an incomplete understanding of the underlying mechanisms involved in early human fetal lung development. In humans, the respiratory epithelium of the lung differentiates from the anterior foregut endoderm (AFE) and the splanchnic mesoderm gives rise to the pulmonary mesenchyme. Lung development begins during weeks 4-7 of embryonic development when Wnt2/Wnt2b expressing cells in the ventral anterior mesoderm are thought to interact with the cells of the AFE (Goss et al., 2009). Additionally, BMP4 expressed in the surrounding mesenchyme, inhibits SOX2 expression in these early progenitor cells which concomitantly increases NK2 homeobox 1 (NKX2.1) expression, a key transcription factor that specifies thyroid and lung development (Domyan et al., 2011). The embryonic stage is followed by the fetal period consisting of the pseudoglandular stage (weeks 5-17), the canalicular stage (weeks 16-26), and finally the saccular stage (weeks 24 to birth). Lung alveolarization occurs during the postpartum period and continues throughout childhood (weeks 36 up to 8 years Narayanan et al., 2012). The lung is partitioned into two core regions, the airways and parenchyma. The airways form the conduits between the outside world and the primary gas exchanging unit, the alveoli. The conducting airways comprise of the trachea which divides into two primary bronchi that enter the lung at each hilus. The primary bronchi then branch repeatedly into smaller bronchi and bronchioles eventually enter a terminal bronchiole. Distal airways comprise of those with a diameter of less than 2 mm leading to the terminal bronchioles and the alveolar ducts (Jain and Sznajder, 2007).

In 2007, Takahashi and Yamanaka discovered that a combination of four transcriptions factors (POU5F1 (OCT4), krüppel like factor 4 (KLF4), c-Myc and SOX2) could be used to reprogram somatic, differentiated cells into pluripotent cells akin to embryonic stem cells (Takahashi et al., 2007a,b). These cells are known as iPSCs and can be generated from any accessible and proliferating cell source including fibroblasts, keratinocytes, and peripheral blood mononuclear cells (Aasen et al., 2008; Loh et al., 2009; Takahashi et al., 2007b). iPSCs have the same unique properties as embryonic stem cells including a seemingly unlimited self-renewal capacity and differentiation into all three germ layers. The differentiated progeny is attractive for the creation of disease-specific models enabling analysis of complex cellular and molecular interactions occurring during human lung development and disease manifestation and progression, in addition to being a promising source of cells for tissue regeneration. iPSCs can be patient-specific and, therefore, provide an autologous cell source that is genetically identical to the patient, allowing for the potential to engraft cells or tissue generated from these cells while avoiding the need for immune suppression. Specific differentiation of iPSCs toward cells comprising the adult lung follows a stepwise strategy striving to mimic the abovementioned stages of lung development and maturation in vitro. This results in compression of the timeline from months to days in culture. This challenge is not trivial and over the past 10 years methodology has been established and protocols refined to generate cells and structures that resemble the human adult conducting airways and more distal alveolar cells (Dye et al., 2015; Firth et al., 2014; Hawkins et al., 2017; Huang et al., 2015; Jacob et al., 2017; Konishi et al., 2016; McCauley et al., 2018; Wong et al., 2012). These methodologies will be discussed in more detail below, and lung development is summarized in Fig. 1.1.

Early lung specification: definitive endoderm and anterior foregut endoderm

Definitive endoderm (DE) consists of the first cells in the developing foregut that can give rise to tissues of the lung, liver, pancreas, and thyroid (Cardoso and Kotton, 2008). Induction of Nodal signaling through addition of Activin A in pluripotent stem cells (PSCs) is able to robustly induce expression of DE-associated genes, including primitive streak marker, MIXL1 (mix paired-like homeobox 1), transcription factors, SRY-box 17 (SOX17) and forkhead box A2 (FOXA2) and cell surface markers, cellular homolog of the feline sarcoma viral oncogene v-kit (c-KIT), and C-X-C motif chemokine receptor 4 (CXCR4) (Green et al., 2011). This step



FIGURE 1.1 Timeline of lung development showing the developmental stages and key events.

During the embryonic stage, cells on the ventral side of the AFE begin to express NKX2.1, a key marker that specifies lung and by the end of this stage, the trachea has completely separated from the esophagus forming two tracheal buds. During the pseudoglandular stage, the tracheal buds begin to form thousands of terminal bronchioles in a highly ordered process called branching morphogenesis. Finally, during the canalicular and saccular stages, these terminal branches narrow further forming epithelial sacs that will ultimately develop into alveoli and mature during the alveolarization stage. Highlighted above the timeline are key genes that identify cells at the specific stages.

efficiently generates >95% DE cells; however, cell surface markers can be used to purify DE further via fluorescence-activated cell sorting (FACS) (Diekmann et al., 2017). Subsequent generation of AFE, the most rostral part of the endoderm has proven more challenging. AFE is critical to generating trachea and lung tissue which rise from the caudal region of the AFE (Que et al., 2006). Through examination of the morphogens that were able to augment anterior endoderm, associated with reemergence of pluripotency factor SOX2 and suppression of posterior endoderm markers such as caudal type homeobox 2 (CDX2), Green and colleagues were able to define a cocktail comprising Noggin, an inhibitor of BMP signaling, and SB-431542, an inhibitor of Activin/Nodal and TGFβ signaling to support SOX2⁺, CDX2⁻, and FOXA2⁺ AFE (Green et al., 2011). PSCs can also be advanced through AFE using a three-dimensional (3-D) organoid differentiation protocol where similarly inhibition of BMP/TGFβ signaling pathways, with the simultaneous

10 CHAPTER 1 Induced pluripotent stem cells

stimulation of Wnt and FGF signaling, is able to favor specification of SOX2 expressing AFE over an intestinal fate (Dye et al., 2015). While these protocols are reproducible, improvements are still needed to refine the efficiency of AFE generation through tight regulation of the concentration and temporal application of exogenous cytokines and growth factors.

Generation of the NKX2.1 expressing primordial lung progenitor cells

As mentioned above, the adult lung comprises of a complex branched network of proximally located conducting airways and the parenchyma comprising of more distally located smaller airways and the alveolar air spaces. During branching morphogenesis in the human fetal lung, bud tip progenitor cells are rapidly proliferating cells found at the branch tips that are able to give rise to both proximal airway cells during the earlier branching stages and to alveolar cells at later branching stages (Rawlins et al., 2009). All cells must first progress through a primordial progenitor stage defined by the upregulation of the ventral marker NKX2.1 (homeodomain-containing transcription factor). NKX2.1 is the earliest known transcription factor associated with commitment to thyroid and lung lineages, occurring around 28 days gestation in human development (Goss et al., 2009; Herriges et al., 2014; Yuan et al., 2000). The mesenchyme plays a critical role in lung development providing key morphogens, such as FGFs and Wnts, demonstrated in mouse models of lung development where cell lineages are traced in transgenic mice (Goss et al., 2009; Harris-Johnson et al., 2009). FGF signaling followed by induction of sonic hedgehog signaling (Shh) has been shown to correlate with induction of NKX2.1 in lung progenitors emerging from the foregut endoderm (Hebrok et al., 1998; Morrisey and Hogan, 2010; Rankin and Zorn, 2014). Similarly, in foregut spheroids generated from developing human embryonic bud tips, or from human iPSCs, addition of FGF2 is able to induce NKX2.1, in addition to both Shh and thyroid lineage marker, paired box-8 (PAX8) (Miller et al., 2018). Through systematic evaluation, FGF and hedgehog signaling pathways Shh was shown to be downstream of FGF2 signaling and capable of selectively activating NKX2.1 without concomitant specification of PAX8⁺ thyroid cells (Miller et al., 2018). Similar induction of lung progenitors was also achieved in 2-D cultures by a number of research groups (Firth et al., 2014; Huang et al., 2014; Wong et al., 2015). These initial protocols used several combinations of FGFs (Abo et al., 2020; Antony et al., 2013; Bartoszewska et al., 2017), BMP4, and CHIR (a glycogen synthase kinase (GSK) 3 inhibitor which induces Wnt signaling) to stimulate proximal lung progenitor cell induction from AFE, all succeeded with variable efficiencies across multiple iPSC lines. To date, the efficient specification of lung NKX2.1 expressing progenitor cells remains highly variable, a problem that can be circumnavigated by purification of the lung progenitor cells. Through a prospective analysis of green fluorescent protein (GFP)-tagged NKX2.1 expressing cells, a cell surface signature of CD47ⁿ¹ and CD26^{lo} was found to be capable of selecting NKX2.1 expressing lung progenitor



FIGURE 1.2 Differentiation of iPSC-derived lung progenitor cells to mature airway cells.

Differentiation pathways strive to follow that of airway development. iPSCs can be induced into proximal or distal fates through the activation (green) or inhibition (red) of the identified signaling pathways. Basal cells, Club cells, Goblet cells, multiciliated cells, AT1, and AT2 cells are all shown in the differentiation process toward a pseudostratified proximal airway epithelium or an alveolar epithelium. Key genes specific to each cell type are indicated in parentheses after the cell name.

cells with over 90% efficiency (Hawkins et al., 2017). In addition, membrane-bound enzyme Carboxypeptidase M (CPM) is expressed on NKX2.1⁺ AFE cells, and also able to purify lung progenitor cells from directed lung differentiation of iPSCs. CPM is also capable of identifying the same cells during human and murine embryonic development (Gotoh et al., 2014). These sorted cells are able to differentiate to multiciliated proximal airway epithelium and distal alveolar epithelium, in both 3-D organoid structures and cells at the air—liquid interface (ALI) (Gotoh et al., 2014; Konishi et al., 2016). Interestingly, at the pseudo-glandular stage of fetal human lung development, epithelial progenitors at the tips have been shown to coexpress SOX2 and SOX9 (Danopoulos et al., 2018), differing from those originally identified as being $Sox9^+$ and $Id2^+$ in mice (Nikolic et al., 2017). Using 3-D in vitro models, these cells have been shown to be critical for proximal-distal patterning and lung branching in the human lung (Nikolic et al., 2017). Divergence of proximal and distal lineage fates of iPSC-derived lung progenitor cells will be discussed in more detail below and summarized in Fig. 1.2.

Specification of proximal airway basal stem cells

BCs are self-renewing populations of epithelial progenitor cells capable of differentiating into all the cells comprising of the surface airway epithelium. As such, they are regarded as key stem cells of pulmonary epithelium and are a desirable cell to generate from iPSC-differentiation methods. BCs can be expanded, although to a
limited capacity, in vitro and are capable of both self-renewal and differentiation. Several studies have demonstrated the generation of functional airway epithelium derived from PSCs (Dye et al., 2015; Firth et al., 2014; Konishi et al., 2016; McCauley et al., 2017; Wong et al., 2012); however, currently none have purified a self-sustaining culture of BCs akin to primary human or murine counterparts. Methods are robustly established for the isolation and expansion of primary airway BCs in vitro (Fulcher and Randell, 2013; Mou et al., 2016), and these primary cells are used routinely in human lung biology research. BCs are chiefly characterized through expression of tumor protein 63 (TP63) and cytokeratin 5 (KRT5) (Warner et al., 2013); however, a number of recent studies have indicated a potential heterogeneity in BCs with subpopulations existing within the proximal airways (Carraro et al., 2020a; Deprez et al., 2020; Duclos et al., 2019) with the putative multipotent BC expressing nerve growth factor receptor (NGFR) and KRT15. The precise identity and function of the other subpopulations is currently being investigated and may provide valuable insight into airway regeneration in response to disease and aging (Carraro et al., 2020b). In situ BCs are located typically beneath the pseudostratified epithelium of upper airway structures lining the basolateral membrane. In lineage traced mouse models, TP63 activity is present early during fetal development and key in generating NKX2.1-specific lung progenitor cells. However, these cells lack the genetic profile of BCs in adult tissues and are regarded as basal progenitors. Isolating BCs is challenging as the molecular pathways that control their specification and maintenance of multipotency are not well established. Studies have shown that FGF10 may help to maintain BCs by inhibiting differentiation to mature epithelium (Volckaert et al., 2013), though it is important to note that these studies are predominantly based on information in rodent models whose signaling pathways and cellular interactions can be different to that of human tissues (Danopoulos et al., 2019). Specification of iPSC-derived BCs from lung progenitors likely involves temporal regulation of Wnt signaling found to be high in human lung progenitors (McCauley et al., 2017). Additionally, TGF β /BMP/similarity to drosophila gene mothers against decapentaplegic (SMAD) pathway signaling is suppressed in multipotent TP63 expressing BCs compared to much higher activity in both luminal and suprabasal cells in the trachea: dual inhibition of SMAD with DMH-1 (dorsomorphin, a selective inhibitor of BMP signaling) and A-8301 (TGF_β kinase/activin receptor-like kinase inhibitor) was recently shown to be important in the sustained expansion of a multipotent BC in vitro (Mou et al., 2016). Although several studies have demonstrated generation of basal cells (Dye et al., 2015; Firth et al., 2014; Konishi et al., 2016; McCauley et al., 2017; Wong et al., 2012), it was only recently that the first study was published in which BCs were able to be purified and expanded (Hawkins et al., 2021). In this study, Hawkins and colleagues expanded their original differentiation protocol pushing BC-specific differentiation of purified lung progenitors in 3-D spheroid cultures. Using a TP63-TdTomato reporter iPSC line, the NKx2.1-expressing lung progenitor cells can be pushed to a proximal fate in the presence of FGF2, FGF10, cAMP, dexamethasone, and IBMX, BCs are then specified and matured in the presence of commercially available pneumacult Ex+ media supplemented with DMH1 and A8301 (dual SMAD inhibition) and rho-A kinase inhibition (ROCKi) (Hawkins et al., 2021). Over a period of 40+ days, the spheroids upregulated nerve growth factor expression (NGFR) while maintaining TP63 expression and these cells could be dissociated and successfully differentiated at the ALI (Hawkins et al., 2021). Differentiation resembled that of primary cells and generated functional multiciliated cells. As a final proof-of-principle, the authors also demonstrated differentiation upon engraftment into a tracheal xenograft. It is important to note that this protocol expands the BCs in a 3-D culture, when the BCs are placed in a more traditional 2-D culture system they tend to undergo a phenotypic switch and adopt a more squamous epithelial phenotype, more akin to high passaged primary BCs (unpublished data, Ryan laboratory). To understand the differences between primary and iPSC-derived BCs, a complete characterization of iBCs and their primary human counterparts is still ongoing and will be critical in determining their utility in both modeling disease and their potential for regenerative cellular therapy. There is still a need to address fundamental knowledge-gaps in lung epithelial stem/ progenitor cell biology to develop successful gene-editing and cell-based therapies for lung disease. Such knowledge gaps include precise identification and functional understanding of endogenous stem/progenitor cell populations of the airway epithelium, including the regional-specific cues that control their undifferentiated state. Furthermore, there are no studies that have yet considered the impact of epigenetic regulation on BC stemness and fate decisions, this may be particularly important when comparing iPSC-derived to primary airway-isolated BC which have very different environmental exposures likely regulating cellular function.

Specification of distal airway alveolar type 2 stem cells

The alveolar epithelium comprises of two specialized cell types: alveolar type 1 (AT1) cells, elongated cells covering over 95% of the alveolar surface to facilitate gas exchange into the capillaries, and alveolar type 2 (AT2) cells, smaller cuboidal cells that produce and secrete pulmonary surfactant to reduce surface tension. These two cell types form a protective epithelial barrier that allows for the passive leakage of fluid between the interstitium and vasculature, and the alveolar space. During development, a bipotent progenitor cell expressing both At1 and AT2 cell markers is able to give rise to both mature cell types (Desai et al., 2014; Treutlein et al., 2014) AT1 cells are generally considered terminally differentiated although, under specific conditions such as pneumonectomy, some plasticity had been observed in which a dedifferentiation of AT1 cells to AT2 cells may occur (Jain et al., 2015). AT2 cells are typically considered the stem cell of the distal airways, with the capacity to differentiate and replenish damaged AT1 cells (Whitsett and Weaver, 2002). In embryogenesis, AT2 cell differentiation begins at gestational week 24 in humans, derived from the endoderm. NKX2.1 remains a critical transcription factor in alveolar morphogenesis by regulating key functional properties of differentiated alveolar cells, for example, the synthesis of surfactant proteins (DeFelice et al., 2003).

14 CHAPTER 1 Induced pluripotent stem cells

Additionally, NKX2.1-associated noncoding intergenic RNA (NANCI), which was recently identified as a long noncoding RNA required for AT2 differentiation, is also regulated by NKX2.1 (Herriges et al., 2017). In vitro studies of AT2 cells have been limited due to our capacity to isolate and expand them in culture. AT2s poorly proliferate ex vivo and differentiate into podoplanin (PDPN/T1 α), aquaporin 5 (AQP5), and homeodomain-only protein homeobox (HOPX) AT1-like cells within 4–7 days of isolation from human lung tissues (Bove et al., 2014; Liebler et al., 2016; Marconett et al., 2014; Sucre et al., 2018; Wang et al., 2018a). Adapted protocols for more successful culture have included evaluating the addition of dexamethasone, cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP), growth factors (such as keratinocyte growth factor, KGF/FGF7), and 3-D culture; none of these, however, provides an ideal system for ex vivo sustainment of AT2 cells (Borok et al., 1998; Isakson et al., 2001; Qiao et al., 2008). Most recently new serum and feeder-free protocols for the 3-D expansion of AT2 cells have been developed, capitalizing on data showing that inhibition of BMP signaling can prevent AT2 cell differentiation (Chung et al., 2018; Katsura et al., 2020; Salahudeen et al., 2020). While enhancing the capacity to study primary AT2 cells ex vivo, the techniques are still challenging and limited to available donor lungs. Directed differentiation of iPSCs to generate AT2s de novo would provide increased opportunity to study normal human AT2 development and to understand the pathogenesis of alveolar diseases (Korogi et al., 2019; Yamamoto et al., 2017).

Recently, scientists have reported methodology to generate AT2 cells from iPSCderived lung primordial lung progenitor cells (Ghaedi et al., 2013, 2014; Gotoh et al., 2014; Jacob et al., 2017; McCauley et al., 2017). After induction of the NKX2.1, primordial progenitor cells are cultured as 3-D spheroids in Matrigel and distal/alveolar differentiation was performed in "CK+DCI" medium, consisting of a custom serum-free differentiation media base (cSFDM) supplemented with CHIR99021, KGF, dexamethasone, cAMP, and 3-Isobutyl-1-methylxanthine (IBMX). Complex and temporal regulation of cellular signaling, specifically Wnt signaling (McCauley et al., 2017) and gene transcription networks, is involved in the fate decisions of lung progenitor cells with NKX2.1, FOXA family members, KLF5, GATA6, STAT3, ETV5, FOXM1, and FOXP2 genes all interact in gene networks active during the differentiation of AT2 cells (Whitsett et al., 2019). Development of robust protocols has been greatly enhanced through the generation of a dual NKX2.1-GFP and surfactant protein C (SFTPC)-TdTomato reporter iPSC line (Jacob et al., 2017) enabling purification of putative AT2 cells through sorting. Such purification would be otherwise challenging due to a current lack of specific cell surface markers for AT2 cells. Using this reporter, putative AT2 cells have been isolated and successfully expanded long term in 3-D spheroid cultures (Jacob et al., 2019). Other protocols for 3-D expansion of iPSC-derived spheroids have also been developed with varying levels of AT2 cell maturity and differentiation capacity observed (Gotoh et al., 2014; Yamamoto et al., 2017, 2020). The restricted differentiation capacity of iPSC-derived AT2 cells to AT1 cells may, in part, be due to the lack of an air interface within the 3-D cultures. Through use of a rotating bioreactor,

differentiation of iPSC-derived AT2 cells to AT1 cells was stimulated: this system creates an ALI providing a cellular microenvironment more akin to the human lung (Ghaedi et al., 2014). Other studies have generated AT2 cells through development of more complex organoids, generating branching-like structures (Chen et al., 2017); analysis of these organoids alongside human lung fetal tissues suggested that the cells present resembled the second trimester of development more closely than a mature alveolar cell. A greater understanding of the differentiation trajectories of NKX2.1 expressing primordial lung progenitors to AT2 cells has highlighted a cellular plasticity that can be regulated during the earlier fate decisions to produce a more stable AT2 phenotype (Hurley et al., 2020). AT2 dysfunction underlies the pathogenesis of several lung diseases, and we will discuss surfactant disorders resulting in neonatal respiratory distress and early onset interstitial lung disease and IPF later in this chapter (Gong et al., 2004; Hong et al., 2017; Katzen et al., 2019; Kinting et al., 2018; Kroner et al., 2017; Peca et al., 2011; Rindler et al., 2017; Schindlbeck et al., 2018).

Specification of pulmonary neuroendocrine cells

Differentiation to some of the rarer cell types in the lung, including pulmonary neuroendocrine cells (PNECs) and ionocytes, has not been a primary focus of many of the pioneering studies using iPSC to study lung disease and development. The rarity of these cells in the human lung and a lack of specific cell surface markers for their isolation had made them virtually impossible to study ex vivo. As these cells become of increased interest in lung developmental biology and disease, studies are starting to emerge, demonstrating the successful differentiation to these infrequent cells. iPSC-derived PNECs have been shown sporadically in several of the original airway differentiation protocols; however, it was not until the last year that iPSC-derived PNECs were generated. The first study focused on the generation of PNEC as the putative precursor cell for small cell lung cancers and generated PNECs with retinoblastoma protein (RB) and TP53 mutations induced (Chen et al., 2019). A subsequent study focused on the specification of PNECs through inhibition of Notch signaling and culture at the ALI (Hor et al., 2020). These cells expressed PNEC specific markers and were transcriptomically similar to primary fetal PNEC's (Hor et al., 2020). iPSC generation of cell types such as PNECs allows for the potential of an indefinite cell pool of these otherwise incredibly rare primary cell populations. Purification, expansion, and direct functional comparison of induced PNECs to primary airway PNECs remain a challenge to the field.

Cellular plasticity in iPSC-derived airway progenitors

Despite specification of cells which are transcriptomically and functionally similar to their primary counterparts, there is still notable plasticity in the differentiated iPSC progeny. Hurley et al. (2020) used single-cell RNAseq analysis to determine cell fate trajectories identifying plasticity in iPSC differentiation that leads to lung

and nonlung endodermal cell fates. At day 17 of differentiation toward AT2 cells, the iPSC-progenitors showed 4 distinct cell clusters based on expression of identity marker genes for the distal lung epithelium, nonlung endoderm, and 2 smaller clusters of pulmonary neuroendocrine cells and gut (Hurley et al., 2020). These data suggest that maintaining a lung-fate throughout differentiation is perhaps more complex and challenging than initially presumed. As mentioned above, NKX2-1 is a core transcription factor regulating lung specification, its expression is unstable in iPSC-derived lung progenitor cells and can be lost in a subset of cells in which Wnt target genes LEF1, NKD1, and AXIN2 become upregulated deviating cells away from the lung lineage (Hurley et al., 2020). As such, inhibition of the Wnt pathway has been pursued as a means to reduce the percentage of cells deviating from lung fate. Downregulation at the NKX2.1⁺ primordial progenitor stage (iPSC day 15) induces proximal airway patterning, while downregulation in the later stages of differentiation is associated with distal lung maturation. Withdrawal of Wnt activator, CHIR, beginning on differentiation day 17 of differentiation is able to specify a distal lung epithelial fate, maintaining NKX2-1, and acquiring SFTPC expression. Temporal regulation of NKX2.1 expression is, therefore, a critical factor in determining both lung and nonlung fate. When sorting by NKX2-1 at day 30 of differentiation, for example, a mixed population of lung and nonlung cells results. All of which have the capacity to eventually form epithelial spheres with alveolar specification. This suggests a time-dependent loss of plasticity and stabilization or restriction of the cell lineage in such iPSC models (Hurley et al., 2020).

In vivo, cell fate decisions are largely regulated by the immediate cellular environment in addition to responding to morphogens secreted by neighboring cells. To date, the direct role of the cellular microenvironment, or niche, in specifying iPSC fate decisions and sustaining stem cell function has been largely overlooked in current protocols and, from our understanding of lung development and disease pathogenesis, is a critical component in defining cellular function. Cell: cell and cell: matrix interactions are important considerations when considering the stability of airway stem cells and their potential for functional airway restoration to establish effective mucociliary clearance (reviewed extensively in Burgstaller et al., 2017; Meiners et al., 2018). With specific reference to the performance of iPSC-derived lung stem cells, Ghaedi et al. (2014) have shown that the culture matrix used for ALI differentiation has a substantial impact on the expression of key AT2 cell markers in iPSC-derived AT2 cells. They compared several extracellular matrices (ECMs) including collagen IV, collagen I, fibronectin, Matrigel, and native human lung ECM (Aasen et al., 2008). iPSC-derived AT2 cells expressed higher levels of prosurfactant protein C (SFTPC), surfactant protein A (SPC), and surfactant protein B (SPB) when cultured on collagen IV, a prevalent matrix protein in the alveolar basement membrane (Ghaedi et al., 2014). In addition, the authors found that when the cultures were continuously and alternately exposed to media and air, iPSC-derived AT2 cells are able to differentiate to become AT1-like as indicated by expression of aquaporin 5 (AQP5), podoplanin (PDPN), and caveolin-1 (Ghaedi et al., 2014). Several groups have evaluated cellular engraftment through repopulation of decellularized lung scaffolds with cells representing a variety of iPSC-derived lung progenitor cells (Ghaedi et al., 2018; Gilpin et al., 2014). In these models, the cells have variable differentiation capacity and phenotype compared to traditional culture techniques; however, overall epithelial gene expression in the scaffold cultures is generally much lower than that of native lung samples (Ghaedi et al., 2018; Gilpin et al., 2014). iPSC-derived AT2 and airway epithelium progenitors are able to attach and differentiate on acellular human and rat lung scaffolds, diffusing into both the alveolar structures and conducting airways (Ghaedi et al., 2018; Gilpin et al., 2014). On human scaffolds, in the airways, differentiation to secretory and ciliated cells was confirmed by expression of club cell secretory protein (CCSP) and FOXJ1, and cells in the alveolar compartments expressed SFTPC (Ghaedi et al., 2018), polarization of the cells, and functional differentiation was not fully confirmed in these studies. Furthermore, regional-specific localization of the cells was not discrete with airway cells differentiating in the alveolar region and vice versa (Ghaedi et al., 2018). While these studies report some engraftment, none performed an extensive analysis of mucociliary function or validated the impact of the cellular microenvironment on cell adhesion and differentiation. It should be noted that differentiation protocols for iPSC-derived lung cells have been modified and improved since these initial recellularization studies were completed; however, functional engraftment of primary airway cells still remains a challenge to the field. Further studies are necessary to understand cell: cell and cell: matrix interactions to improve upon generation a repopulates lung tissues, such as the trachea, capable of long-term functional mucociliary clearance in a clinical setting. More recently, a tracheal xenograft model has proven successful in generating a pseudostratified epithelium from iPSC-derived BCs (iBCs) (Hawkins et al., 2021). Decellularized rat tracheas were seeded with iBCs and implanted subcutaneously into the flanks of immunecompromised mice. Airflow was maintained through tracheas using open-ended tubing. After 3 weeks, a pseudostratified epithelial layer of cells had formed with BCs (KRT5⁺) occupying their expected position along the basement membrane, and secretory cells (SCGB1A1⁺, MUC5AC⁺, and MUC5B⁺) and multiciliated cells (ATUB⁺) oriented toward the air-filled tracheal lumen (Hawkins et al., 2021). These results show that iBCs can form an airway epithelium that resembles the structure and function of native airways. However, the functionality of such repopulated tracheas has not been demonstrated. Taken together, these results indicate that while the region-specific lung ECM helps to further direct iPSC-derived lung progenitors toward the regional phenotype (i.e., airway progenitors to airway epithelial cells in the airways), it does not prevent the attachment or change the fate of cells intended for another region (i.e., alveolar cells in the airways). Importantly, when compared to cells grown on traditional culture plates, cells seeded onto the lung scaffolds generally exhibited higher expression of lung epithelial markers including SFTPC, PDPN, KRT5, MUC5AC, FOXJ1, and TP63 (Ghaedi et al., 2018). NKx2.1 expression also increased in the scaffold-cultured cells proportionally to the length of time in culture (Gilpin et al., 2014), and the proliferative capacity, as indicated by Ki67, was also maintained (Gilpin et al., 2014).

While progress has been made in terms of successfully generating airway progenitor cells from iPSCs and directing their differentiation toward specific cell types, evaluation of their function in context of their cellular microenvironment will be critical before clinical applications can be explored. Indeed, the iPSC field is largely dependent on advances made in this area through the understanding of endogenous airway stem and progenitor cells in the adult human lung. Fundamental details of cell: matrix and cell: cell, such as inflammatory cell, interactions remain to be elucidated. Understanding the endogenous human airway stem cell regulation will allow for better maintenance of differentiated iPSCs leading to regeneration of functional lung tissues.

Modeling lung disease in the conducting airways

iPSCs have been used to model the proximal airways with studies focusing on disease modeling, therapeutic development, and cellular therapeutics. Application of iPSC-derived lung models has been more prominent in genetic and rare lung diseases such as CF and primary ciliary dyskinesia (PCD), in addition to inflammatory airway disease. Each of these will be discussed in more detail below.

Cystic fibrosis

CF is an autosomal recessive disorder affecting approximately 30,000 Americans. Disease pathogenesis is driven by mutations in the cystic fibrosis transmembrane regulator (CFTR) leading to impaired chloride and bicarbonate conductance, dehydration of the airway mucus, impaired mucociliary clearance and bacterial colonization, eventually leading to chronic lung infection and fibrosis. While recent developments in small molecule therapeutics have improved quality of life for many CF patients, there remain at least 10% who have no therapeutic options and no existing cure (Egan, 2020; McGarry, 2020). These patients typically fall into the class 1 CFTR mutations, which result in no CFTR protein production, due to the presence of nonsense mutations (Cooney et al., 2018; Sharma et al., 2018). iPSCs have already been generated from CF patients (Firth et al., 2015; Fleischer et al., 2018; Merkert et al., 2017) allowing for a seemingly infinite pool of CF mutant and patient-specific cells for research. Refining of the iPSC differentiation protocols, discussed above, should enable iPSC-derived models to be applied to understanding CF pathogenesis and developing patient and mutation-specific models for targeted screening and efficacy studies. Studying rare mutations, present in only a small number of individuals in the USA, significantly limits access to primary cellular material for targeted studies. Fortunately, the advances in gene-editing technologies have made possible the site-specific correction of mutant genes or the targeted insertion of specific disease-causing mutations into iPSC (Firth et al., 2015; Fleischer et al., 2020; Merkert et al., 2019; Suzuki et al., 2016). While the original studies to successfully correct CFTR in iPSCs used zinc finger nucleases (ZFNs) (Crane et al., 2015) or Tal effector nucleases (TALENs) (Firth et al., 2015) it has been the invention of CRISPR-Ca9 (clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeats and CRISPR-associated protein) that has made gene-editing accessible to all research laboratories (Cong et al., 2013; Jinek et al., 2012; Ran et al., 2013). This technology had evolved rapidly in its wide range of geneediting applications (reviewed in Hille and Charpentier, 2016; Nidhi et al., 2021). CRISPR-based editing technology has been applied to correct CFTR in a number of human cellular models including patient-BCs, using different gene-editing strategies (Geurts et al., 2020; Vaidyanathan et al., 2020). One study used Cas9 ribonucleo proteins (RNP) in combination with adeno-associated virus 6 (AAV6) to deliver a donor vector to airway BCs with $\sim 28\%$ efficiency. The second study adapted Cas9 fusion proteins, known as base editors, which work through a fusion of a cytidine deaminase or a TadA heterodimer to partially inactive the nickase Cas9 protein; this enables efficient C-G to T-A base editing on single-stranded DNA, using this they demonstrate functional rescue of CFTR activity but potentially traded efficiency for specificity achieving a 1%-9% correction rate (Geurts et al., 2020; Ryan, 2020; Vaidyanathan et al., 2020). However, there are limitations in the use of corrected primary airway stem cells in autologous cellular therapies. Primary cells from CF patients are difficult to obtain and are usually entangled with bacterial infections that are challenging for establishing cell culture (Peters-Hall et al., 2018). For this reason, researchers have developed strategies to gene correct patient-derived iPSCs (Cardoso and Kotton, 2008; Cindric et al., 2020). Successfully, CFTR restoration is evaluated through its mature glycosylation and the measurement of chloride conductance. Wild type (WT) and successfully edited CFTR proteins undergo N-glycosylation, which causes conformational changes, and is needed for the protein to translocate to the cell membrane (Firth et al., 2015). The specific sites of glycosylation can be detected through western blots, where they produce bands of 150kDA (core glycosylation) and 170kDA (complex glycosylation) (Crane et al., 2015; Firth et al., 2015). CFTR chloride conductance can be measured through methods such as patch-clamp assays, Ussing chamber analysis, and iodine efflux assays (Crane et al., 2015; Firth et al., 2015; Simsek et al., 2016; Suzuki et al., 2016). The availability of autologous pairs of mutant and edited iPSC provides human and patient/mutation specific models for a precision medicine approach to drug screening and additionally provides hope for the future development of a cellular therapy to restore function in the CF lung.

Studies employing animal models are being developed and applied to evaluate practical methods of deploying cellular therapy to CF patients. In 2018, the first *in vivo* iPSC-derived lung epithelial cell engraftment into a mouse lung injury was reported (Miller et al., 2018). In this study, iPSC-derived lung-bud tip cells were engrafted intratracheal into immunocompromised mice after a naphthalene-induced airway injury. The engrafted cells persisted for 6 weeks and endured a secretory cell fate with a small number of ciliated cells. Although informative of the practicality of cell engraftment, the systemic differences between mouse and human fetal lung is significant, illuminating rodents as a poor model for lung

disease therapeutics. However, due to their similarities in airway epithelium structure, physiology, and pathophysiology, ferret and pig have proven to be exemplary animal models. CF models of both organisms have been established, along with protocols for deriving iPSCs, indicating a clear step toward developing an autologous cell therapy animal model for CF (Gao et al., 2020; Godehardt et al., 2018; Rogers et al., 2008b; Sun et al., 2014).

Aside from cellular therapies, iPSCs have the potential to provide a therapeutic benefit for CF patients through patient-specific theratype modeling. The existence of many CFTR mutant variants producing multiple molecular phenotypes creates difficulty for the development of uniform treatments. Moreover, less common variants are not as thoroughly investigated, characterized, or pursued for CF therapeutics. Patient-specific iPSCs provide a unique opportunity to analyze CFTR variants and test their responsiveness to modulators through methods such as high-throughput screening (Clancy et al., 2019; Merkert et al., 2019). In a recent study performed by Merkert et al. (2019) CF disease-specific iPSC-based highthroughput assays were performed to identify functional modulators of CFTR Δ F508 mutants. The authors identified multiple modulators that partially rescued CFTR function, providing evidence for the success of iPSC-based screening methods. Further validation of mutant theratypes could help to predict in vivo clinical response of variants and provide patients with rare mutations, access to modulators that cater to their specific needs. To fully develop functional treatments for CF, more research is needed to address causality for differing levels of severity among CF patients; including the role of microRNA, epigenetic changes and consideration of other organs affected by CFTR mutations. Patient-specific iPSC-derived models have been a practical starting point to evaluate these questions as shown in a recent study that developed iPSC-derived airway organoids from CF and gene-corrected cell lines. Here microRNAs known to regulate CFTR were indicated to have differing levels of expression, indicating a possible role of microRNAs in CF development and severity (Bartoszewska et al., 2017; Mitash et al., 2019). It is hoped that iPSC-derived cells representative of mutations in CF will provide opportunities to learn more about the regulation of the airway in CF and increase effective strategies for drug discovery, toxicology, and therapeutic development.

Primary ciliary dyskinesia

As a genetically recessive and heterogeneous lung disease, PCD has been recognized as a potential target for patient-specific iPSC disease modeling and iPSC-based gene and cellular therapies. Like CF, PCD patients have impaired motile cilia and mucociliary clearance, resulting in situ inversus, a loss of host defense in the lung, chronic infection, and bronchiectasis (Knowles et al., 2013a, 2016). Characterization and diagnosis of PCD is challenging because of the broad range of similar symptoms that are found in other respiratory diseases, coupled with the lack of universally accepted screening tests available. Screening is now available for 36 genetic mutations; however, this will fail to capture defects in patients with

unidentified underlying mutations, where over one-third of patients fall into this category. Most of these known causative mutations are in genes that encode proteins involved in cytoplasmic preassembly of axonemal components, axonemal structure, or cilia motility and can lead to structural defects and dysfunctional phenotypes of cilia motility (Antony et al., 2013; Boon et al., 2014; Chivukula et al., 2020; Cindric et al., 2020; Daniels et al., 2013; Dougherty et al., 2016; Hjeij et al., 2013; Horani et al., 2018; Knowles et al., 2012, 2013b,c, 2014; Loges et al., 2018; Paff et al., 2017; Zariwala et al., 2013). The current gold standards for diagnosis are nasal nitric oxide measurements, cilia ultrastructure, and beat frequency, all of which require significant expertise to successfully perform. With limited cells for analysis and the high rate of inconclusive test results, having an unlimited supply of iPSC-derived multiciliated cells from patients can provide the capacity for extensive analysis of cilia function and could enable precise genotype/phenotype correlations to be fully evaluated. Moreover, an increasingly important strategy for the diagnosis of PCD is likely to be personalized medicine based on high throughput sequencing, especially as the cost of deep sequencing continues to decline dramatically. Several models have been used to study PCD, including unicellular, multicellular, mammal, human bronchial epithelial cells (HBECs), and, most recently. iPSC-derived epithelium. Cellular organisms such as Chlamydomonas reinhardtii and Tetrahymena thermo*phila* are easy to culture and expand and have well-characterized phenotypes; however, studies have shown major differences in their cilia and flagella structure, protein composition, and function compared to human airway epithelial cells (O'Toole et al., 2012; Pennarun et al., 1999). This causes major discrepancies between model and patient PCD phenotypes, making the evaluation of potential therapies challenging. Mammalian models are more similar in cilia structure and function; however, differences in lung physiology and pathophysiology result in an inability to recapitulate PCD pleiotropic phenotypes. Murine models have been found to show ciliary dyskinesia, and substandard mucociliary clearance, but do not develop bronchiectasis (Fricker et al., 2014; Mall, 2008). Furthermore, many murine PCD models develop hydrocephalus and cardiac defects, which are not seen in human PCD patients (Fricker et al., 2014).

Cell culture models such as primary HBECs and iPSC-derived airway epithelial cells allow *for* in vitro modeling of PCD. Primary HBECs differentiated at the ALI and 3-D organoid models closely resembling the in vivo airway epithelium and provide patient-specific models to evaluate the variances in disease phenotypes (Marthin et al., 2017). Multiple studies have demonstrated the ability of human iPSCs to undergo directed differentiation to functional airway epithelium and multiciliated cells (Firth et al., 2014; Konishi et al., 2016; McCauley et al., 2017). Differentiation of these cells resulted in functional beating cilia, that can be characterized based on the correct 9 + 2 microtubule doublet arrangement (Konishi et al., 2016). Moreover, similar results were reported from a recent study investigating the generation and differentiation of iPSCs from a PCD patient homozygous for a common dynein heavy chain mutation in the DNAH5 gene (Hawkins et al., 2021). Multiciliated cells derived from these iPSCs were found to recapitulate

the lower ciliary beat, hypokinetic cilia, and outer dynein arm structural defects observed in the donor primary nasal epithelium (Hawkins et al., 2021). These results provide evidence for an iPSC model that can represent multiple PCD-related genetic variants. This model could open doors for providing significant new insights into mechanisms underlying inherited and acquired disease characterized by ciliary dysfunction.

Inflammatory airway disease

Most respiratory disorders have facets of immune-inflammation including chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD, comprising of bronchitis and emphysema) (Eapen et al., 2017; Wang et al., 2018b), asthma (Gillissen and Paparoupa, 2015; Mishra et al., 2018), CF (Cantin et al., 2015; Nichols and Chmiel, 2015) and lung cancer (Gomes et al., 2014), as well as being a more obvious characteristic of pneumonia and bronchiectasis (Fuschillo et al., 2008; Kang et al., 2009; Martinez-Garcia et al., 2015). Inflammation is a typical homeostatic response of the host immune system toward pathogenic infection or mechanical injury. Upon infection or injury, the epithelium responds by secreting an array of cytokines and chemokines to orchestrate an immune response. As a result, innervated blood vessels become dilated, allowing fluid and leukocytes to migrate to the site of injury, causing swelling, heat, and pain. This is typically known as the acute-phase inflammatory response. Under pathological conditions, such as those in respiratory disease, inflammatory responses persist and, if left unresolved, chronic inflammation ensues exacerbating disease. Chronic inflammation is a primary component of respiratory disease, suggestive of an underlying pathological dysregulation of tissue-resident immune cells.

As inflammation is a cellular response to a pathogenic challenge, be it infection or mechanical, it is somewhat ambiguous to model inflammation with iPSCs. Instead, the challenge is focused on generating leukocytes responsible for specific lung inflammatory diseases from iPSCs. All leukocytes are generated from hematopoietic stem cells (HSCs) In situ, HSCs are first derived from endothelial precursor cells in a bio-process known as endothelial-to-hematopoietic-transition (EHT) (Ottersbach, 2019) and are subsequently maintained in the bone marrow, a vascular rich microenvironment. Generating HSCs from iPSCs de novo is challenging and, although possible, most methods do not maintain the multipotent level of HSC and instead push to a more differentiated and stable population of mature leukocytes over attempting to maintain HSCs in vitro (Cherry and Daley, 2013; Choi et al., 2011; Lim et al., 2013; Sugimura et al., 2017). Generation of HSC from iPSC was recently demonstrated using seven transcription factors (ERG, HOXA5, HOXA9, HOXA10, LCOR, RUNX1, and SPI1) (Sugimura et al., 2017) and while this seemingly represents the current gold standard for generating HSC from iPSC, there is still much to be desired in the increased complexity and lack of efficiency using this method. Instead, the propagating stem cell cultures are typically maintained at the more specific progenitor cells, depending on the ultimate cell of interest. In simple terms, HSCs diverge into two separate lineages. The lymphoid lineage, which results in B-cells, T-cells, and Natural Killer (NK) cells, and the Myeloid lineage which produces innate leukocytes, such as neutrophils, monocytes and their derivative cells, macrophages and dendritic cells, eosinophils, basophils and mast cells. Each arm has its own common progenitor, the common lymphoid progenitor and common myeloid progenitor (CMP), respectively, and it is from here that cultures are typically propagated and maintained.

It is challenging to justify the use of iPSC-derived leukocytes to model respiratory inflammatory diseases. The majority of these leukocytes can be isolated relatively easily from donated human blood draws and yield much purer populations of cells that are more physiologically relevant than their iPSC counterparts. Furthermore, isolating these cells from blood is much quicker, utilizing FACS or magneticactivated cell sorting (MACS) technology, yielding cells of interest in a matter of hours as opposed to weeks using iPSC-based techniques. Indeed, the focus of generating iPSC-derived leukocytes is better applied in the field of cell-based therapies. There is, however, an exception to this. In the lungs, the primary tissue-resident cells are macrophages, of which there are two major subtypes. The tissue resident, often labeled as "alveolar macrophages" (AMs), which reside within the respiratory airspaces, and the interstitial macrophages (IMs), which reside within the tissue parenchyma. Interestingly, these macrophage subtypes have two distinct developmental stem origins, during embryonic development and only the IMs are derived from their common precursor, circulating monocytes (Tan and Krasnow, 2016). Instead, the AMs are derived from fetal liver monocytes and migrate to the tissue and subsequent airspaces before birth. These AMs then reside within the airspaces and propagate throughout life, with a slow turnover that is a-typical in other macrophage populations, which are primarily postmitotic. Conversely, the interstitial macrophages are derived from bone marrow-derived blood monocytes and migrate into the tissue upon stimulation (Guilliams et al., 2013; van de Laar et al., 2016). It is regarded that the primary function of the AM is to maintain homeostasis in the airways, rather than respond to pathogens. Rationally, the IM's response to pathogens or mechanical stress would require significant damage to the epithelial barrier. Due to its developmental origin, utilizing these lung-specific tissue-resident AMs for inflammatory modeling and research can be quite challenging due to the fact that this specific macrophage population is not derived from circulating monocytes, and instead would require explanted or postmortem lung tissue in order to isolate, which can be quite a rare commodity. As a result, a strong case could be made for generating alveolar-like macrophages from iPSC and understanding the AM responses to respiratory diseases would benefit from an AM-like iPSC model.

Macrophages have been a primary focus in respiratory inflammatory research, including research centered around iPSCs. As myeloid cells are the primary source of inflammation in respiratory disease, research has focused on generating myeloid lineage cells from iPSCs. Cells that typically resemble macrophages are generally derived from circulating monocytes. In turn, monocytes are derived from the common myeloid progenitor cell which is the first step required for generating mature myeloid effector cells (Karlsson et al., 2008). BMP4 and FGF2 are used to commit iPSC to mesendoderm (Yu et al., 2011), followed by vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) to support EHT and maintain the HSCs (Leung et al., 2013). Wnt activation and Activin A stimulation of nodal signaling has also been shown to be required for EHT and HSC maintenance (Pandya et al., 2017; Takata et al., 2017). Maturation of HSC to myeloid progenitors is promoted by the addition of cytokines, including interleukins 6, 3 (IL-6, IL-3) and stem cell factor (SCF) (Metcalf, 2008). These CMPs can be purified by sorting for CD38+, CD123+, CD10-, CD45RA-, with other potential markers available (Will and Steidl, 2010). After EHT, propagation can vary depending on the end-stage macrophage type required (Lee et al., 2018). Most commonly, cultures will be stimulated with colony stimulating factors (CSF) 1 and/or 3, IL-3 and IL-6 (van Wilgenburg et al., 2013). Other factors for progenitor cell propagation, including IL-34, SCF, fms-like tyrosine kinase 3 (FLT3), VEGF, and thrombopoietin (TPO), may be important. The cultures yield single cells that are released in suspension and can be harvested, and these cells are now synonymous to cells at the granulocyte-monocyte progenitor, transitioning to monocytes and require terminal differentiation. CSFs are typically used at this stage with other factors added to skew the polarization of the resulting iPSCderived macrophage cultures, including IL-3, IL-34, and TGF_β (Amos et al., 2017).

Pragmatically speaking, the protocols outlined above likely resemble the IMs of the lung and not AMs. Generation of AMs could present a potential avenue for cell-based therapy in respiratory disease and as mentioned above, a viable option for inflammatory lung disease research. In 2018, Happle et.al demonstrated that iPSC-derived human macrophages were able to reverse the pulmonary alveolar proteinosis (PAP) phenotype in a humanized mouse model (Happle et al., 2018; Mucci et al., 2018). This study demonstrates how the iPSC-derived macrophages alter their phenotype based on localized signals over prolonged time periods, demonstrating the need for correct localized signaling to correctly develop the phenotype of macrophages. Notably, this model requires the physiological, in vivo, microenvironment to fully differentiate the macrophage to a mature phenotype. However, it is important to note that whilst some of these studies have made efforts to demonstrate their findings using human material (Guilliams et al., 2013; Litvack et al., 2016), they have not been completely validated in a human system. There are naturally practical reasons restricting validating the development of lung macrophages in human embryogenesis. Therefore, we must consider the possibility that the human development does not mimic that which we have seen in limited animal models. Furthermore, animal models seldom have robust construct validity when studying human diseases in vitro. It is therefore important to develop in vitro models of human iPSC recapitulating lung macrophage development during embryogenesis and disease.

Efforts are focusing on the generation of an AM phenotype in vitro. For example, the development of a Myb-alveolar-like macrophage phenotype from mouse embryonic stem cells has been demonstrated (Litvack et al., 2016). These cells are expandable, a unique feature of tissue-resident macrophages, such as AMs,

and not synonymous with monocyte-derived macrophages. Further, Myb-alveolarlike macrophages are capable of bacterial clearance and rescuing a rat model from fecal sepsis (Jerkic et al., 2021). It is important to note, however, that while this work has shown some translatability to a human stem cell model (Litvack et al., 2016), there have always been challenges of translating promising results from animal models to human, in terms of efficiencies and complexity. Furthermore, the models that have so far generated the Myb-alveolar like macrophages have come from embryonic stem cell lines and not iPSC, including that of the human model. Translation from embryonic to iPSC has not been without its challenges also. However, the generation of an alveolar-like macrophage phenotype, that is selfreplicating, without the need of monocyte-derived replenishment is a valuable in vitro asset for lung inflammatory research.

Modeling lung disease in the distal airspace

After specification of the primordial lung progenitor cell from iPSCs, differentiation can be directed to specify distally fated lung cells comprising the alveoli, an induced AT2 cell or iAT2. These cells are increasingly being used to model distal airway disease and evaluate novel therapeutics. Most recently, they have been applied to evaluate infectivity, virulence, and lung damage caused by the novel coronavirus SARS-CoV-2. Below we will discuss genetically driven surfactant deficiencies, alpha-1-anti-trypsin deficiency (AATD), IPF, and Lymphangioleiomyomatosis (LAM).

Surfactant protein dysfunction

Secretion and concentration of surfactant within the lung airspaces can be a primary hallmark of respiratory disease, summarized in Fig. 1.3. Pulmonary surfactant dysfunction is an underlying cause of respiratory disease in both neonates and pediatric populations with significant contributions to propagating morbidity in these patient populations. Such deficiencies in natural homeostatic control of surfactant proteins can lead to Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrome (ARDS) and interstitial lung diseases (ILD) (Agrawal et al., 2012; Bullard et al., 2005; Crossno et al., 2010; Hamvas et al., 2007; Magnani and Donn, 2020; Somaschini et al., 2012). In humans, SPB and SPC are synthesized and stored in lamella bodies and secreted into the alveolar airspaces by AT2 cells. Once secreted, these proteins function by controlling surface tension, important for gaseous exchange and maintaining natural lung homeostasis (Klay et al., 2018; Whitsett and Weaver, 2002). There are also associated proteins involved such as adenosine triphosphate binding cassette subfamily A member 3 (ABCA3), which shuttles phospholipids such as phosphatidylcholine (PC) and phosphatidylglycerol (PG) toward the lamellar body structures (Ban et al., 2007; Cheong et al., 2007; Fitzgerald et al., 2007; Rindler et al., 2017).



FIGURE 1.3 Effects of disease on alveolar structure and overall lung compliance.

(A) Healthy lung alveoli showing the structural organization of AT2 and AT1 cells, pulmonary surfactant lining the apical surface, alveolar macrophages in the alveolar space, and oxygen diffusion gradients between the alveoli airways and the pulmonary microvasculature. (B) In pulmonary fibrosis, damaged lung alveoli lead to aberrant wound healing and tissue remodeling involving extensive extracellular matrix deposition. Epithelial to mesenchymal transition is enhanced by TGF- β 1 and IL-1 β signaling. (C) In diseases associated with pulmonary surfactant deficiency the alveolar space collapses. (D) AATD leads to recruitment of neutrophils and neutrophil elastase-induced alveolar damage and eventually emphysema. (E) Hypothetical graph showing changes in lung compliance expected in the above-mentioned diseases. The lower panel includes a key to the cell types included in the diagram.

Mutations within these genes are rare, however, can lead to deficiencies and potentially life-threatening illnesses.

iPSC models have successfully been generated to model surfactant deficiencies to better understand the disorder providing a promising tool for screening into novel therapies (Korogi et al., 2019; Lachmann et al., 2014; Leibel et al., 2019). Cells from a patient harboring mutations in the SFTPB gene have been isolated and reprogrammed to iPSC (Baekvad-Hansen et al., 2010; Leibel et al., 2019; Tredano et al., 1999). Organoids were successfully generated from these iPSCs and expressed

a mix of DE and vimentin expressing mesenchymal cells. Following similar protocols established for AT2 differentiation cells within the organoid were induced to produce surfactants SPB and SPC, encoded by genes SFTPB and SFTPC, respectively (Leibel et al., 2019). In comparison with WT controls, both SFTPB- and SFTPC-positive cells were significantly decreased, as well as ABCA3 expressing intracellular lamellar bodies. The phenotype could be rescued by overexpressing SFTPB in these cells. While delivery of ex vivo gene-edited cells would be an ideal therapeutic strategy for these patients, like with the other diseases discussed efficient delivery, long-term engraftment, and retention of functional AT2 cells in the human lung will require significant methodological advances to become a reality.

Accumulation of proteins and phospholipids in the alveolar space is the primary characteristic of PAP, another rare and life-threatening lung disease (Lachmann et al., 2014). In adults, PAP is primarily caused by autoimmunity toward granulocyte macrophage-colony stimulating factor (GM-CSF). However, early onset PAP or PAP like syndromes can have early onset genetic causes involving mutations in SFTPB, SFTPC (Tredano et al., 2004), ABCA3 (Young et al., 2008), NKX2.1 (Guillot et al., 2010), and GM-CSF receptor α or β subunit (Suzuki et al., 2010), among others (Borie et al., 2011). GM-CSF is a cytokine, whose function is to regulate and mature localized myeloid cells including, monocytes, neutrophils, and eosinophils. Lack of bioavailability of GM-CSF because of autoimmunity or involved mutations impairs the maturation of these myeloid cells in lung tissue, resulting in the accumulation of surfactant proteins within the lung, in particular the alveolar spaces. By utilizing patient-specific mutation, researchers have developed iPSC-derived models of PAP in vitro (Suzuki et al., 2014), which when gene-corrected reverses the PAP phenotype (Lachmann et al., 2014). iPSC technology has also demonstrated potential therapies toward ameliorating PAP. As GM-CSF primarily influences macrophage phenotype and function and is clearly impaired in PAP (Trapnell et al., 2009), studies have investigated if iPSC-derived macrophages can provide a therapeutic benefit in animal models. As described above, iPSC-derived macrophages (Happle et al., 2017; Mucci et al., 2018) can successfully reverse the PAP pathology.

Alpha-1-anti-trypsin

AATD is an inherited, autosomal codominant genetic disease that manifests as pulmonary emphysema in adults (Blank and Brantly, 1994). Like many rare diseases, it is likely underdiagnosed with an estimated prevalence of around 1 in 2,500 people in the USA today. Alpha-1-anti-trypsin (AAT) is a circulating anti-protease, coded by the gene SERPINA1, that is predominantly synthesized in the liver and circulates around the body. In the lung, it inactivates neutrophil elastase after diffusing into the alveolar lining, where it functions to modulate immune responses and protect the alveolus from protease-mediated damage, summarized in Fig. 1.3 (Fregonese et al., 2008). Excess neutrophil elastase destroys alveoli leading to ineffective gaseous exchange and increased susceptibility to further damage

from cigarette smoke and airborne particulates. In the absence of a cure, current therapeutic approaches involve weekly delivery of recombinant AAT, augmenting alveolar damage. AATD is a monogenic disorder and is therefore, an ideal target for gene and/or cell therapy. In terms of basic research to better understand the disease, AATD patient-specific iPSCs have been generated, including a relatively large repository of available AATD-specific iPSC lines available for investigative research (Kaserman et al., 2020; Kaserman and Wilson, 2018; Segeritz et al., 2018; Tafaleng et al., 2015; Wilson et al., 2015). These cells have successfully been utilized to investigate specific facets of the liver pathologies involved in AATD; however, studies using lung models have not been robustly established. Currently, studies have started to generate lung epithelium from iPSC cell lines with specific ATT deficiencies (Kaserman et al., 2020) using the dual NKX2.1/ TP63 reporter described above. This study successfully generated fully characterized iPSC lines from ATTD patients with known genotypes PiZZ and PiSZ associated with AATD, as well as generating lines from rarer genotypes. They went on to perform transcriptomic profiles of derived lung progenitors that demonstrated expression of known lineage-specific markers, including NKX2-1 and SOX9. Subsequently, they demonstrated that gene correction of SERPINA1 in iPSCs was able to restore typical AAT function in derived hepatocytes. This gene correction approach demonstrates the potential for future therapeutics, and other studies have demonstrated that specific point mutations, such as the JAK2-V617F mutation seen in AATD, can be targeted, and corrected using CRISPR/Cas9 technology (Smith et al., 2015). As for CF, the potential for in vivo gene correction or ex vivo generation of gene-corrected iPSC-derived cells for cellular therapy exists and remains the hope of many for a cure.

While the underlying pathology for AATD is centered around a deficiency in AAT secretions from hepatocytes, the primary disease phenotype is a destruction of lung parenchyma. iPSC studies have typically aimed at modeling the hepatic aspect of AATD while the respiratory disease phenotype is left to be desired. This is most likely bottlenecked through lack of robust methods and models to derive accurate lung cultures from iPSCs. Direct and modeling AATD with iPSCs would also likely require incredibly complex coculture systems, including mesenchyme and likely hepatic cultures along with epithelial structures. From a potentially therapeutic standpoint of iPSC-based cell therapy would therefore need to target the liver. Protocols generating hepatocytes from SERPINA1 mutant iPSCs have been developed (Tafaleng et al., 2015), resulting in functional hepatocytes with the pathological accumulation of the misfolded AAT associated with AATD. Furthermore, studies have successfully been able to gene correct SERPINA1 mutant iPSC which had restored AAT function in the subsequently derived hepatocytes (Yusa et al., 2011). While this provides promise in the potential for autologous cell therapies in AATD, it is bottlenecked by the limitations of common issues currently affecting this field of research, namely, successful transplantation/ engraftment of the host's iPSC-derived cells.

Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis

IPF is a chronic and progressive fibrotic lung disease in which the alveoli are destroyed, aberrant epithelial-fibroblast interactions lead to the induction of matrix-producing myofibroblasts, extracellular matrix (ECM) accumulates lead to scarring, lung remodeling, decreased lung compliance, disrupted gas exchange, and ultimately respiratory failure, summarized in Fig. 1.3A, B. IPF affects around 100,000 people in the United States, most commonly men and between the ages of 50 and 70. After diagnosis, IPF individuals are likely to only survive for an additional 3–5 years. While the exact cause of IPF is unknown, it likely involves a combination of genetic factors increasing risk and environmental exposures, for example, cigarette smoking, viral infections, and air particulates. Genome-wide association studies (GWAS) have identified common genetic variants; however, causality has yet to be thoroughly established. Potentially relevant genes identified are involved in host defense (MUC5B, ATP11A, TOLLIP), telomere maintenance (TERT, TERC, OBFC1), and barrier function (DSP, DPP9) (Allen et al., 2017; Hobbs et al., 2019; Kropski et al., 2015; Lee and Lee, 2015; Lorenzo-Salazar et al., 2019; Noth et al., 2013). A notable single-nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) located upstream of the MUC5B promoter (rs35705950) was identified as a significant risk factor associated with IPF susceptibility (Seibold et al., 2011). This variant was subsequently detected in about a third of patients with IPF (Lee and Lee, 2015). Surprisingly, despite the strong association, this MUC5B variant is also a prognostic indicator and is correlated with improved survival compared to noncarriers, although the mechanisms by which this variant increases survival remains unknown (Biondini et al., 2021; Gally et al., 2021; Hancock et al., 2018; Helling et al., 2017).

Although there are several genome-wide and linkage studies available that have identified variants that contribute to IPF susceptibility and have provided invaluable data to IPF researchers, these alone have proven insufficient in understanding the pathogenesis of IPF which has long been an obstacle in the development of effective pharmaceutical therapies (Behr et al., 2021a,b; King et al., 2014). Attempts at identifying therapeutic targets using animal models have been somewhat successful. Preclinical safety studies using animal subjects paved the way for clinical trials in humans and have resulted in FDA approval of two drugs, pirfenidone and nintedanib, which slow the progression of the disease (Behr et al., 2021a,b; Justet et al., 2021; King et al., 2014; Richeldi et al., 2014; Yoon et al., 2018). However, attempts at clarifying disease pathogenesis through traditional animal models have remained elusive as no animal model fully recapitulates the progressive nature of IPF seen in humans. Although the murine model of pulmonary fibrosis is well established and is the choice for identifying and testing new compounds (Moeller et al., 2008; Tashiro et al., 2017), it not without any disadvantages. For example, researchers investigating the effects of rare variants on telomere maintenance by challenging TERC and TERT-null mice with low-dose bleomycin, a chemotherapeutic, pro-fibrotic drug used to treat Hodgkin's lymphoma, produced mixed results, and highlights the difficulties in recapitulating IPF pathogenesis and performing mechanistic studies in animal models (Degryse et al., 2012; Liu et al., 2007; Povedano et al., 2018). Furthermore, accurate modeling of a disease with no specific identifiable etiology has always remained challenging and, given the number of common and rare variants associated with IPF susceptibility, it is clear a newer approach needs to be added, one that accounts for the subtle genetic differences between IPF patients.

Fortunately, the recent advances in stem cell technology have provided another avenue for researchers to study IPF. 3-D lung organoids have shown potential to recapitulate several features of human lung disease and lung development. 3-D cell structures have several advantages over 2-D cultures. Perhaps chief among which allows for the investigation of multitissue and complex structures that are more physiological. Indeed, a recent study was able to induce a specific HPS1 mutation, known to cause pulmonary fibrotic disease in humans which leads to the accumulation of ECM and increased volume of mesenchymal cells, key hallmarks of fibrotic lung disease (Chen et al., 2017; Mulugeta et al., 2015). Another study was able to recapitulate the progressive nature of the disease by using TGF- β 1 on fetal lung fibroblast organoids or iPSC-derived mesenchymal organoids and then demonstrated that the progressive scarring phenotype resembles that of IPF (Wilkinson et al., 2017). Using a more traditional ALI model iPSC-derived AT2-like cells, application of a cocktail of IPF relevant cytokines that mimic the milieu known to be present in IPF lungs during differentiation was able to increase secretion of known IPF biomarkers demonstrating overlap with data from IPF patients. The cocktail was able to impair AT2 differentiation and increased an airway epithelial signature, including upregulation of SOX2, FOXJ1, SCGB1A1, KRT5, and MUC5B, supporting recent data identifying a considerable number of more proximal-associated cells in the distal airspaces, a phenomenon becoming known as IPF-associated bronchiolization.

Lymphangioleiomyomatosis

LAM is a rare progressive multisystemic and cystic disease of the lung characterized by an abnormal, tumorous smooth-muscle proliferation alongside blood vessels, lymphatics, and bronchioles occurring almost exclusively in young premenopausal women. LAM is classified by the WHO as a PEComa (perivascular epithelioid cell tumor), a perivascular mesenchymal tumor coexpressing myogenic and melanocytic markers (Johnson and Tattersfield, 2000; Travis et al., 2015). This excessive smooth muscle cell proliferation is driven by a mutation in the tuberous sclerosis complex 1 and 2 (TSC1/TSC2) genes causing severe, mostly obstructive lung disease. LAM can present as part of tuberous sclerosis complex, an autosomal dominant genetic disease with a germline mutation of TSC1/TSC2 leading to benign tumors at various sides of the body with a variety of symptoms and severity levels or can occur sporadically due to a somatic mutation in these genes causing a genetic mosaicism in those patients (Carsillo et al., 2000; Sato et al., 2002). There has been little therapeutic development for the treatment of these patients, due to lack of availability of tissues and cells for research due to a rare LAM population. Recently Julian et al. successfully

differentiated LAM patient-derived iPSCs and iPSCs with TSC2 knocked out to smooth muscle cells (SMCs) (Julian et al., 2017). These SMCs recapitulated several of the molecular and functional characteristics of pulmonary LAM cells including hyperactive mTORC activation, reduced autophagy, and metabolic reprogramming. A lack of SMC integrity in the diseased cells also leads to a destabilization of the vascular network. This study was the first to report iPSC-derived LAM cells, and it will be interesting to follow work on iPSC-derived cells for studying LAM and see how closely they are able to mimic the in vivo disease state, including the multiple cellular interactions with the lymphatic endothelium and alveolar cells.

These advances overcome the missing compatibility of animal models with the actual human disease as well as the lack of biological samples needed for studying. Not only provide insight into the status quo of the disease but rather give us the possibility to decipher developmental issues from the pluripotent stem cell to the very end LAM cell and to determine the cell of origin. Delaney et al. have suggested the neural crest cell lineage as a possible cell of origin due to a high EMT ability and as an explanation for the variety of tumors in different parts of the body otherwise developing from different germ layers (Delaney et al., 2014). Further investigation at different stages of embryogenesis as well as coculture models with cell types characterizing the disease, such as airway epithelial cells and lymphatic endothelial cells, are needed to enhance our understanding of the pathogenesis of LAM.

Modeling viral infection of the lung

According to the World Health Organization, respiratory infections are the leading cause of death worldwide among communicable diseases. Viruses are typically transmitted through contact and inhalation of airborne particles and can lead to respiratory disease with a broad spectrum of disease severity. Infections of the respiratory system can generally be divided into 2 main categories, upper and lower respiratory tract infections. Upper respiratory tract infections typically include influenza and common cold viruses, such as rhino virus. The lower respiratory tract infections which tend to affect children at higher rates include the respiratory syncytial virus (RSV), adenoviruses, influenza viruses, parainfluenza viruses, and corona viruses, including the novel SARS-CoV-2. The recent coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) pandemic to sweep the world significantly accelerated the development of research models to facilitate research focusing on respiratory infections, and iPSC-based models have been proven to be a valuable addition. The multipotent potential of iPSCs has proven valuable in investigating COVID-19 as well as other viral infections, in multiple cellular and tissue types from singular genetic backgrounds. Further, iPSCs can be used to investigate genetic susceptibilities to viral infection, by either deriving iPSC from specific genetic backgrounds or by inducing mutants in WT iPSC lines

iPSCs have successfully been used to investigate several inflammatory diseases caused by viruses. These include encephalitis caused by the human cytomegalovirus (Belzile et al., 2014; D'Aiuto et al., 2012) and/or by the vesicular stomatitis virus

32 CHAPTER 1 Induced pluripotent stem cells

(Lee et al., 2012), hepatitis caused by hepatitis B and C (Liu et al., 2011; Shlomai et al., 2014; Wu et al., 2012), and myocarditis caused by the coxsackievirus (Sharma et al., 2014). iPSC models have also been used to investigate antiviral therapies, with a particular emphasis on antiretrovirals for HIV infections, using iPSC derived T-cells, monocytes, and macrophages (Jerebtsova et al., 2012; Kambal et al., 2011; Kang et al., 2015; Ni et al., 2011). A number of studies have also employed similar approaches to investigate respiratory infections. Like most iPSC modeling that studies viral infections, the respiratory models will either focus on a system of directly modeling the disease caused by the virus, or by modeling susceptibility to certain viral infection, which causes lower respiratory tract infections in infants, was utilized in an iPSC-derived lung organoid system. This model demonstrated that parainfluenza particles successfully infected SFTPC+ AT2 cells within the iPSC-derived organoid (Fig. 1.4). Further, the study was able to demonstrate



FIGURE 1.4 Models for evaluating viral infection of the human lung.

Studies of human primary tissue in situ include the analysis of fixed pathological lung tissue and analysis of peripheral blood samples or saliva for makers of inflammation as shown on the left of the diagram. Human iPSC can be used and differentiated into lung-specific models of lung tissues. Models include the commonly used air—liquid interface differentiation to a pseudostratified proximal airway epithelium, 3-D organoids which spontaneously develop mimicking lung development and branching, 3-D spheroids (tracheospheres or alveolarspheres) or more recent technologies such as the lung-lung-on chips.

viral shedding into the lumen of the organoids, which is challenging to recapitulate using primary cell counterparts (Porotto et al., 2019). This model also demonstrated how the measles virus can induce formation of syncytium in the same organoids. Susceptibility to infections has also been investigated using iPSC-derived human lung models. Patients deficient for Interferon Regulatory Factor 7 (IRF7) are known to have a severe susceptibility to infections (Zhang and Pagano, 1997), in particular to H1N1 influenza (Ciancanelli et al., 2015). IRF7 is part of the IRF superfamily of transcriptions factors important in regulating type 1 interferons (Ning et al., 2011), involved in innate and humoral responses to infections. iPSC cells derived from a patient with a heterozygous compound mutation if the IRF7 gene, resulting in a loss of function, were utilized to develop pulmonary epithelial cells (Huang et al., 2014). This model then went on to demonstrate an increase in H1N1 viral replication, compared to WT controls (Ciancanelli et al., 2015). The comparatives here were made between pulmonary epithelial cells generated from 3 iPSC clones derived from the same patient to pulmonary epithelial cells generated from an embryonic stem cell line-RUES2. Though this study does provide an excellent clinical example of the impart IRF7 has on influenza infections, it is unclear what impact donor variability may have. Generating other patient-specific IRF7 mutations, however, will be challenging due to its rarity, and that most patients are a-symptomatic in nature. Potentially, inducing IRF7-specific mutations in WT lines, including the control ESC line used here (RUES2), could provide further insights and represent better pair-matched controls.

SARS-CoV-2, the virus responsible for the COVID-19 global pandemic is of continued research interest. Much like original SARS-CoV viruses, it targets the angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 (ACE2) protein (Li et al., 2003, 2005), with subsequent data suggesting SARS-CoV-2 has a higher affinity to ACE2 resulting in the increased viral propensity for COVID-19 compared to previous SARS outbreaks (Wan et al., 2020). ACE2 is expressed on a number of different tissue types, most notably in vascular and cardiac tissue (Hamming et al., 2004). ACE2 is also expressed in the lung with high expression values noted in AT2 cells (Zhao et al., 2020), as well as expression in ciliated cells of upper airway epithelium (Lee et al., 2020). In terms of iPSC modeling, a large focus has been looking into infectious susceptibility of different tissues and a number of different iPSCderived cellular models have now been applied to advance our understanding of SARS-CoV2 infection. These iPSC models include iPSC-derived cardiomyocytes (Bojkova et al., 2020; Perez-Bermejo et al., 2021; Sharma et al., 2020), hepatocytes (Yang et al., 2020), intestinal epithelium (Lamers et al., 2020), pancreatic (Yang et al., 2020), and indeed lung organoids (Huang et al., 2020b; Leibel et al., 2020; Surendran et al., 2020; Tiwari et al., 2021). iPSC-derived AT2 (iAT2) cells as well as putative progenitors express both ACE2 and transmembrane protease serine 2 (TMPSSR2) important in SARS-CoV-2 infection (2, however, do so at a reduced capacity of their primary cell counterparts). Further studies using this model demonstrated infection with SARS-CoV-2 within the iAT2 that activates interferon-related inflammatory cascades (Huang et al., 2020a), although conflicting studies that included SARS-CoV-2 infection in iAT2 cells suggest that IFN activation is minimal (Li et al., 2021). These models are limited in their incapability of generating other pneumocytes, including AT1 cells, which have also been demonstrated to be important in SARS-CoV-2 infections. However, these lung models have provided an excellent platform for investigating potential therapeutics by providing a drug screening tool (Esmail and Danter, 2021; Han et al., 2020). This type of work has demonstrated the significant advantages that iPSC modeling has to offer. The organoid modeling that PSCs allow for can provide the necessary complexity of tissue structures in host physiology (Fig. 1.4). They also allow for the generation of multiple cell types derived from the same genetic background which is invaluable in determining viral infectivity of different tissues and the related pathology that this can cause.

Concluding remarks

While the journey to a cure for many lung diseases is still far from a reality, iPSCs and their differentiated progeny still have substantial capacity to impact lung health through patient-specific screening in a precision medicine approach to their potential as a cellular therapy. In this chapter, we have described some of the latest developments in iPSC-based modeling of the human lung and lung disease. Although new therapeutics have been developed using cell lines and animal models, translation rates into effective therapeutic approaches for human lung disease are poor with many potential therapeutics failing to make it into the clinic. iPSC-derived cells provide an opportunity for patient specific and precision medicine approaches for therapeutic development and the hope remains for a cellular therapy for a cure for all lung diseases.

Acknowledgments

A.L.R. is funded by the Hastings Foundation, Daniel Tyler Health and Education Foundation, Cystic Fibrosis Foundation Therapeutics (grant #: CFFT, Firth15XX0, Firth17XX0). **Funding**

ALR: Daniel Tyler Health and Education foundation, Cystic Fibrosis Foundation: FIRTH15XX0 and FIRTH17XX0 and The Hastings Foundation.

References

Aasen, T., Raya, A., Barrero, M.J., Garreta, E., Consiglio, A., Gonzalez, F., Vassena, R., Bilić, J., Pekarik, V., Tiscornia, G., Edel, M., Boué, S., Belmonte, J.C.I., 2008. Efficient and rapid generation of induced pluripotent stem cells from human keratinocytes. Nat. Biotechnol. 26, 1276–1284.

- Abo, K.M., Ma, L., Matte, T., Huang, J., Alysandratos, K.D., Werder, R.B., Mithal, A., Beermann, M.L., Lindstrom-Vautrin, J., Mostoslavsky, G., Ikonomou, L., Kotton, D.N., Hawkins, F., Wilson, A., Villacorta-Martin, C., 2020. Human iPSC-derived alveolar and airway epithelial cells can be cultured at air-liquid interface and express SARS-CoV-2 host factors. bioRxiv, 2020.2006.2003.132639.
- Agrawal, A., Hamvas, A., Cole, F.S., Wambach, J.A., Wegner, D., Coghill, C., Harrison, K., Nogee, L.M., 2012. An intronic ABCA3 mutation that is responsible for respiratory disease. Pediatr. Res. 71, 633–637.
- Allen, R.J., Porte, J., Braybrooke, R., Flores, C., Fingerlin, T.E., Oldham, J.M., Guillen-Guio, B., Ma, S.F., Okamoto, T., John, A.E., Obeidat, M., Yang, I.V., Henry, A., Hubbard, R.B., Navaratnam, V., Saini, G., Thompson, N., Booth, H.L., Hart, S.P., Hill, M.R., Hirani, N., Maher, T.M., McAnulty, R.J., Millar, A.B., Molyneaux, P.L., Parfrey, H., Rassl, D.M., Whyte, M.K.B., Fahy, W.A., Marshall, R.P., Oballa, E., Bosse, Y., Nickle, D.C., Sin, D.D., Timens, W., Shrine, N., Sayers, I., Hall, I.P., Noth, I., Schwartz, D.A., Tobin, M.D., Wain, L.V., Jenkins, R.G., 2017. Genetic variants associated with susceptibility to idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis in people of European ancestry: a genome-wide association study. Lancet Respir. Med. 5, 869–880.
- Amos, P.J., Fung, S., Case, A., Kifelew, J., Osnis, L., Smith, C.L., Green, K., Naydenov, A., Aloi, M., Hubbard, J.J., Ramakrishnan, A., Garden, G.A., Jayadev, S., 2017. Modulation of hematopoietic lineage specification impacts TREM2 expression in microglia-like cells derived from human stem cells. ASN Neuro 9. https://doi.org/10.1177/1759091 417716610.
- Antoniu, S.A., Kolb, M.R., 2009. Update on models of pulmonary fibrosis therapy for preclinical drug research. Expert Opin. Drug Discov. 4, 939–946.
- Antony, D., Becker-Heck, A., Zariwala, M.A., Schmidts, M., Onoufriadis, A., Forouhan, M., Wilson, R., Taylor-Cox, T., Dewar, A., Jackson, C., Goggin, P., Loges, N.T., Olbrich, H., Jaspers, M., Jorissen, M., Leigh, M.W., Wolf, W.E., Daniels, M.L., Noone, P.G., Ferkol, T.W., Sagel, S.D., Rosenfeld, M., Rutman, A., Dixit, A., O'Callaghan, C., Lucas, J.S., Hogg, C., Scambler, P.J., Emes, R.D., UK10k, Chung, E.M., Shoemark, A., Knowles, M.R., Omran, H., Mitchison, H.M., 2013. Mutations in CCDC39 and CCDC40 are the major cause of primary ciliary dyskinesia with axonemal disorganization and absent inner dynein arms. Hum. Mutat. 34, 462–472.
- Baekvad-Hansen, M., Dahl, M., Tybjaerg-Hansen, A., Nordestgaard, B.G., 2010. Surfactant protein-B 121ins2 heterozygosity, reduced pulmonary function, and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease in smokers. Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med. 181, 17–20.
- Ban, N., Matsumura, Y., Sakai, H., Takanezawa, Y., Sasaki, M., Arai, H., Inagaki, N., 2007. ABCA3 as a lipid transporter in pulmonary surfactant biogenesis. J. Biol. Chem. 282, 9628–9634.
- Bartoszewska, S., Kamysz, W., Jakiela, B., Sanak, M., Kroliczewski, J., Bebok, Z., Bartoszewski, R., Collawn, J.F., 2017. miR-200b downregulates CFTR during hypoxia in human lung epithelial cells. Cell. Mol. Biol. Lett. 22, 23.
- Behr, J., Nathan, S.D., Wuyts, W.A., Mogulkoc Bishop, N., Bouros, D.E., Antoniou, K., Guiot, J., Kramer, M.R., Kirchgaessler, K.U., Bengus, M., Gilberg, F., Perjesi, A., Harari, S., Wells, A.U., 2021a. Efficacy and safety of sildenafil added to pirfenidone in patients with advanced idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis and risk of pulmonary hypertension: a double-blind, randomised, placebo-controlled, phase 2b trial. Lancet Respir. Med. 9, 85–95.

- Behr, J., Prasse, A., Kreuter, M., Johow, J., Rabe, K.F., Bonella, F., Bonnet, R., Grohe, C., Held, M., Wilkens, H., Hammerl, P., Koschel, D., Blaas, S., Wirtz, H., Ficker, J.H., Neumeister, W., Schonfeld, N., Claussen, M., Kneidinger, N., Frankenberger, M., Hummler, S., Kahn, N., Tello, S., Freise, J., Welte, T., Neuser, P., Gunther, A., Investigators R, 2021b. Pirfenidone in patients with progressive fibrotic interstitial lung diseases other than idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis (RELIEF): a double-blind, randomised, placebo-controlled, phase 2b trial. Lancet Respir. Med.
- Bellusci, S., Furuta, Y., Rush, M.G., Henderson, R., Winnier, G., Hogan, B.L., 1997. Involvement of Sonic hedgehog (Shh) in mouse embryonic lung growth and morphogenesis. Development 124, 53–63.
- Belzile, J.P., Stark, T.J., Yeo, G.W., Spector, D.H., 2014. Human cytomegalovirus infection of human embryonic stem cell-derived primitive neural stem cells is restricted at several steps but leads to the persistence of viral DNA. J. Virol. 88, 4021–4039.
- Biondini, D., Cocconcelli, E., Bernardinello, N., Lorenzoni, G., Rigobello, C., Lococo, S., Castelli, G., Baraldo, S., Cosio, M.G., Gregori, D., Saetta, M., Balestro, E., Spagnolo, P., 2021. Prognostic role of MUC5B rs35705950 genotype in patients with idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis (IPF) on antifibrotic treatment. Respir. Res. 22, 98.
- Blank, C.A., Brantly, M., 1994. Clinical features and molecular characteristics of alpha 1-antitrypsin deficiency. Ann. Allergy 72, 105–120 quiz 120-102.
- Bojkova, D., Wagner, J.U.G., Shumliakivska, M., Aslan, G.S., Saleem, U., Hansen, A., Luxan, G., Gunther, S., Pham, M.D., Krishnan, J., Harter, P.N., Ermel, U.H., Frangakis, A.S., Milting, H., Zeiher, A.M., Klingel, K., Cinatl, J., Dendorfer, A., Eschenhagen, T., Tschope, C., Ciesek, S., Dimmeler, S., 2020. SARS-CoV-2 infects and induces cytotoxic effects in human cardiomyocytes. Cardiovasc. Res. 116, 2207–2215.
- Boon, M., Wallmeier, J., Ma, L., Loges, N.T., Jaspers, M., Olbrich, H., Dougherty, G.W., Raidt, J., Werner, C., Amirav, I., Hevroni, A., Abitbul, R., Avital, A., Soferman, R., Wessels, M., O'Callaghan, C., Chung, E.M., Rutman, A., Hirst, R.A., Moya, E., Mitchison, H.M., Van Daele, S., De Boeck, K., Jorissen, M., Kintner, C., Cuppens, H., Omran, H., 2014. MCIDAS mutations result in a mucociliary clearance disorder with reduced generation of multiple motile cilia. Nat. Commun. 5, 4418.
- Borie, R., Danel, C., Debray, M.P., Taille, C., Dombret, M.C., Aubier, M., Epaud, R., Crestani, B., 2011. Pulmonary alveolar proteinosis. Eur. Respir. Rev. 20, 98.
- Borok, Z., Lubman, R.L., Danto, S.I., Zhang, X.L., Zabski, S.M., King, L.S., Lee, D.M., Agre, P., Crandall, E.D., 1998. Keratinocyte growth factor modulates alveolar epithelial cell phenotype in vitro: expression of aquaporin 5. Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol. 18, 554–561.
- Bove, P.F., Dang, H., Cheluvaraju, C., Jones, L.C., Liu, X., O'Neal, W.K., Randell, S.H., Schlegel, R., Boucher, R.C., 2014. Breaking the in vitro alveolar type II cell proliferation barrier while retaining ion transport properties. Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol. 50, 767–776.
- Bullard, J.E., Wert, S.E., Whitsett, J.A., Dean, M., Nogee, L.M., 2005. ABCA3 mutations associated with pediatric interstitial lung disease. Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med. 172, 1026–1031.
- Burgstaller, G., Oehrle, B., Gerckens, M., White, E.S., Schiller, H.B., Eickelberg, O., 2017. The instructive extracellular matrix of the lung: basic composition and alterations in chronic lung disease. Eur. Respir. J. 50.
- Cantin, A.M., Hartl, D., Konstan, M.W., Chmiel, J.F., 2015. Inflammation in cystic fibrosis lung disease: pathogenesis and therapy. J. Cyst. Fibros. 14, 419–430.

- Cardoso, W.V., Kotton, D.N., 2008. Specification and patterning of the respiratory system. In: StemBook. Cambridge (MA).
- Carraro, G., Langerman, J., Sabri, S., Lorenzana, Z., Purkayastha, A., Konda, B., Aros, C.J., Calvert, B.A., Szymaniak, A., Wilson, E., Mulligan, M., Bhatt, P., Vijayaraj, P., Yao, C., Shia, D.W., Israely, E., Rickabaugh, T.M., Mense, M., Randell, S.H., Vladar, E.K., Ryan, A.L., Plath, K., Mahoney, J., Stripp, B.R., Gomperts, B.N., 2020a. A molecular atlas of proximal airway identifies subsets of known airway cell types revealing details of the unique molecular pathogenesis of cystic fibrosis. bioRxiv, 2020.2005.2001.072876.
- Carraro, G., Mulay, A., Yao, C., Mizuno, T., Konda, B., Petrov, M., Lafkas, D., Arron, J.R., Hogaboam, C.M., Chen, P., Jiang, D., Noble, P.W., Randell, S.H., McQualter, J.L., Stripp, B.R., 2020b. Single-cell reconstruction of human basal cell diversity in normal and idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis lungs. Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med. 202, 1540–1550.
- Carrington, R., Jordan, S., Pitchford, S.C., Page, C.P., 2018. Use of animal models in IPF research. Pulm. Pharmacol. Therapeut. 51, 73–78.
- Carsillo, T., Astrinidis, A., Henske, E.P., 2000. Mutations in the tuberous sclerosis complex gene TSC2 are a cause of sporadic pulmonary lymphangioleiomyomatosis. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 97, 6085–6090.
- Chen, Y.W., Huang, S.X., de Carvalho, A., Ho, S.H., Islam, M.N., Volpi, S., Notarangelo, L.D., Ciancanelli, M., Casanova, J.L., Bhattacharya, J., Liang, A.F., Palermo, L.M., Porotto, M., Moscona, A., Snoeck, H.W., 2017. A three-dimensional model of human lung development and disease from pluripotent stem cells. Nat. Cell Biol. 19, 542–549.
- Chen, H.J., Poran, A., Unni, A.M., Huang, S.X., Elemento, O., Snoeck, H.W., Varmus, H., 2019. Generation of pulmonary neuroendocrine cells and SCLC-like tumors from human embryonic stem cells. J. Exp. Med. 216, 674–687.
- Cheong, N., Zhang, H., Madesh, M., Zhao, M., Yu, K., Dodia, C., Fisher, A.B., Savani, R.C., Shuman, H., 2007. ABCA3 is critical for lamellar body biogenesis in vivo. J. Biol. Chem. 282, 23811–23817.
- Cherry, A.B., Daley, G.Q., 2013. Reprogrammed cells for disease modeling and regenerative medicine. Annu. Rev. Med. 64, 277–290.
- Chivukula, R.R., Montoro, D.T., Leung, H.M., Yang, J., Shamseldin, H.E., Taylor, M.S., Dougherty, G.W., Zariwala, M.A., Carson, J., Daniels, M.L.A., Sears, P.R., Black, K.E., Hariri, L.P., Almogarri, I., Frenkel, E.M., Vinarsky, V., Omran, H., Knowles, M.R., Tearney, G.J., Alkuraya, F.S., Sabatini, D.M., 2020. A human ciliopathy reveals essential functions for NEK10 in airway mucociliary clearance. Nat. Med. 26, 244–251.
- Choi, K.D., Vodyanik, M., Slukvin II, 2011. Hematopoietic differentiation and production of mature myeloid cells from human pluripotent stem cells. Nat. Protoc. 6, 296–313.
- Chung, M.I., Bujnis, M., Barkauskas, C.E., Kobayashi, Y., Hogan, B.L.M., 2018. Nichemediated BMP/SMAD signaling regulates lung alveolar stem cell proliferation and differentiation. Development 145.
- Ciancanelli, M.J., Huang, S.X., Luthra, P., Garner, H., Itan, Y., Volpi, S., Lafaille, F.G., Trouillet, C., Schmolke, M., Albrecht, R.A., Israelsson, E., Lim, H.K., Casadio, M., Hermesh, T., Lorenzo, L., Leung, L.W., Pedergnana, V., Boisson, B., Okada, S., Picard, C., Ringuier, B., Troussier, F., Chaussabel, D., Abel, L., Pellier, I., Notarangelo, L.D., Garcia-Sastre, A., Basler, C.F., Geissmann, F., Zhang, S.Y., Snoeck, H.W., Casanova, J.L., 2015. Infectious disease. Life-threatening influenza and impaired interferon amplification in human IRF7 deficiency. Science 348, 448–453.

- Cindric, S., Dougherty, G.W., Olbrich, H., Hjeij, R., Loges, N.T., Amirav, I., Philipsen, M.C., Marthin, J.K., Nielsen, K.G., Sutharsan, S., Raidt, J., Werner, C., Pennekamp, P., Dworniczak, B., Omran, H., 2020. SPEF2- and HYDIN-mutant cilia lack the central pair-associated protein SPEF2, aiding primary ciliary dyskinesia diagnostics. Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol. 62, 382–396.
- Clancy, J.P., Cotton, C.U., Donaldson, S.H., Solomon, G.M., VanDevanter, D.R., Boyle, M.P., Gentzsch, M., Nick, J.A., Illek, B., Wallenburg, J.C., Sorscher, E.J., Amaral, M.D., Beekman, J.M., Naren, A.P., Bridges, R.J., Thomas, P.J., Cutting, G., Rowe, S., Durmowicz, A.G., Mense, M., Boeck, K.D., Skach, W., Penland, C., Joseloff, E., Bihler, H., Mahoney, J., Borowitz, D., Tuggle, K.L., 2019. CFTR modulator theratyping: current status, gaps and future directions. J. Cyst. Fibros. 18, 22–34.
- Colledge, W.H., Abella, B.S., Southern, K.W., Ratcliff, R., Jiang, C., Cheng, S.H., MacVinish, L.J., Anderson, J.R., Cuthbert, A.W., Evans, M.J., 1995. Generation and characterization of a delta F508 cystic fibrosis mouse model. Nat. Genet. 10, 445–452.
- Cong, L., Ran, F.A., Cox, D., Lin, S., Barretto, R., Habib, N., Hsu, P.D., Wu, X., Jiang, W., Marraffini, L.A., Zhang, F., 2013. Multiplex genome engineering using CRISPR/Cas systems. Science 339, 819–823.
- Cooney, A.L., McCray Jr., P.B., Sinn, P.L., 2018. Cystic fibrosis gene therapy: looking back, looking forward. Genes 9.
- Crane, A.M., Kramer, P., Bui, J.H., Chung, W.J., Li, X.S., Gonzalez-Garay, M.L., Hawkins, F., Liao, W., Mora, D., Choi, S., Wang, J., Sun, H.C., Paschon, D.E., Guschin, D.Y., Gregory, P.D., Kotton, D.N., Holmes, M.C., Sorscher, E.J., Davis, B.R., 2015. Targeted correction and restored function of the CFTR gene in cystic fibrosis induced pluripotent stem cells. Stem Cell Rep. 4, 569–577.
- Crossno, P.F., Polosukhin, V.V., Blackwell, T.S., Johnson, J.E., Markin, C., Moore, P.E., Worrell, J.A., Stahlman, M.T., Phillips 3rd, J.A., Loyd, J.E., Cogan, J.D., Lawson, W.E., 2010. Identification of early interstitial lung disease in an individual with genetic variations in ABCA3 and SFTPC. Chest 137, 969–973.
- D'Aiuto, L., Di Maio, R., Heath, B., Raimondi, G., Milosevic, J., Watson, A.M., Bamne, M., Parks, W.T., Yang, L., Lin, B., Miki, T., Mich-Basso, J.D., Arav-Boger, R., Sibille, E., Sabunciyan, S., Yolken, R., Nimgaonkar, V., 2012. Human induced pluripotent stem cell-derived models to investigate human cytomegalovirus infection in neural cells. PLoS One 7, e49700.
- Daniels, M.L., Leigh, M.W., Davis, S.D., Armstrong, M.C., Carson, J.L., Hazucha, M., Dell, S.D., Eriksson, M., Collins, F.S., Knowles, M.R., Zariwala, M.A., 2013. Founder mutation in RSPH4A identified in patients of Hispanic descent with primary ciliary dyskinesia. Hum. Mutat. 34, 1352–1356.
- Danopoulos, S., Alonso, I., Thornton, M.E., Grubbs, B.H., Bellusci, S., Warburton, D., Al Alam, D., 2018. Human lung branching morphogenesis is orchestrated by the spatiotemporal distribution of ACTA2, SOX2, and SOX9. Am. J. Physiol. Lung Cell Mol. Physiol. 314, L144–L149.
- Danopoulos, S., Thornton, M.E., Grubbs, B.H., Frey, M.R., Warburton, D., Bellusci, S., Al Alam, D., 2019. Discordant roles for FGF ligands in lung branching morphogenesis between human and mouse. J. Pathol. 247, 254–265.
- DeFelice, M., Silberschmidt, D., DiLauro, R., Xu, Y., Wert, S.E., Weaver, T.E., Bachurski, C.J., Clark, J.C., Whitsett, J.A., 2003. TTF-1 phosphorylation is required for peripheral lung morphogenesis, perinatal survival, and tissue-specific gene expression. J. Biol. Chem. 278, 35574–35583.

- Degryse, A.L., Xu, X.C., Newman, J.L., Mitchell, D.B., Tanjore, H., Polosukhin, V.V., Jones, B.R., McMahon, F.B., Gleaves, L.A., Phillips 3rd, J.A., Cogan, J.D., Blackwell, T.S., Lawson, W.E., 2012. Telomerase deficiency does not alter bleomycininduced fibrosis in mice. Exp. Lung Res. 38, 124–134.
- Delaney, S.J., Alton, E.W., Smith, S.N., Lunn, D.P., Farley, R., Lovelock, P.K., Thomson, S.A., Hume, D.A., Lamb, D., Porteous, D.J., Dorin, J.R., Wainwright, B.J., 1996. Cystic fibrosis mice carrying the missense mutation G551D replicate human genotype-phenotype correlations. EMBO J. 15, 955–963.
- Delaney, S.P., Julian, L.M., Stanford, W.L., 2014. The neural crest lineage as a driver of disease heterogeneity in tuberous sclerosis complex and lymphangioleiomyomatosis. Front Cell Dev. Biol. 2, 69.
- Deprez, M., Zaragosi, L.E., Truchi, M., Becavin, C., Ruiz Garcia, S., Arguel, M.J., Plaisant, M., Magnone, V., Lebrigand, K., Abelanet, S., Brau, F., Paquet, A., Pe'er, D., Marquette, C.H., Leroy, S., Barbry, P.A., 2020. Single-cell atlas of the human Healthy airways. Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med. 202, 1636–1645.
- Desai, T.J., Brownfield, D.G., Krasnow, M.A., 2014. Alveolar progenitor and stem cells in lung development, renewal and cancer. Nature 507, 190–194.
- Diekmann, U., Davenport, C., Kresse, J., Naujok, O., 2017. Purification of definitive endoderm generated from pluripotent stem cells by magnetic cell sorting. Curr. Protoc. Stem Cell Biol. 40, 1D 9 1–1D 9 17.
- Domyan, E.T., Ferretti, E., Throckmorton, K., Mishina, Y., Nicolis, S.K., Sun, X., 2011. Signaling through BMP receptors promotes respiratory identity in the foregut via repression of Sox2. Development 138, 971–981.
- Dougherty, G.W., Loges, N.T., Klinkenbusch, J.A., Olbrich, H., Pennekamp, P., Menchen, T., Raidt, J., Wallmeier, J., Werner, C., Westermann, C., Ruckert, C., Mirra, V., Hjeij, R., Memari, Y., Durbin, R., Kolb-Kokocinski, A., Praveen, K., Kashef, M.A., Kashef, S., Eghtedari, F., Haffner, K., Valmari, P., Baktai, G., Aviram, M., Bentur, L., Amirav, I., Davis, E.E., Katsanis, N., Brueckner, M., Shaposhnykov, A., Pigino, G., Dworniczak, B., Omran, H., 2016. DNAH11 localization in the proximal region of respiratory cilia defines distinct outer dynein arm complexes. Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol. 55, 213–224.
- Duclos, G.E., Teixeira, V.H., Autissier, P., Gesthalter, Y.B., Reinders-Luinge, M.A., Terrano, R., Dumas, Y.M., Liu, G., Mazzilli, S.A., Brandsma, C.A., van den Berge, M., Janes, S.M., Timens, W., Lenburg, M.E., Spira, A., Campbell, J.D., Beane, J., 2019. Characterizing smoking-induced transcriptional heterogeneity in the human bronchial epithelium at single-cell resolution. Sci. Adv. 5, eaaw3413.
- Dye, B.R., Hill, D.R., Ferguson, M.A., Tsai, Y.H., Nagy, M.S., Dyal, R., Wells, J.M., Mayhew, C.N., Nattiv, R., Klein, O.D., White, E.S., Deutsch, G.H., Spence, J.R., 2015. In vitro generation of human pluripotent stem cell derived lung organoids. Elife 4.
- Eapen, M.S., Myers, S., Walters, E.H., Sohal, S.S., 2017. Airway inflammation in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD): a true paradox. Expert Rev. Respir. Med. 11, 827–839.
- Egan, M.E., 2020. Cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance receptor modulator therapy in cystic fibrosis, an update. Curr. Opin. Pediatr. 32, 384–388.
- Esmail, S., Danter, W., 2021. Viral pandemic preparedness: a pluripotent stem cell-based machine-learning platform for simulating SARS-CoV-2 infection to enable drug discovery and repurposing. Stem Cells Transl. Med. 10, 239–250.

- Firth, A.L., Dargitz, C.T., Qualls, S.J., Menon, T., Wright, R., Singer, O., Gage, F.H., Khanna, A., Verma, I.M., 2014. Generation of multiciliated cells in functional airway epithelia from human induced pluripotent stem cells. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 111, E1723–E1730.
- Firth, A.L., Menon, T., Parker, G.S., Qualls, S.J., Lewis, B.M., Ke, E., Dargitz, C.T., Wright, R., Khanna, A., Gage, F.H., Verma, I.M., 2015. Functional gene correction for cystic fibrosis in lung epithelial cells generated from patient iPSCs. Cell Rep. 12, 1385–1390.
- Fitzgerald, M.L., Xavier, R., Haley, K.J., Welti, R., Goss, J.L., Brown, C.E., Zhuang, D.Z., Bell, S.A., Lu, N., McKee, M., Seed, B., Freeman, M.W., 2007. ABCA3 inactivation in mice causes respiratory failure, loss of pulmonary surfactant, and depletion of lung phosphatidylglycerol. J. Lipid Res. 48, 621–632.
- Fleischer, A., Lorenzo, I.M., Palomino, E., Aasen, T., Gómez, F., Servera, M., Asensio, V.J., Gálvez, V., Izpisúa-Belmonte, J.C., Bachiller, D., 2018. Generation of two induced pluripotent stem cell (iPSC) lines from p.F508del Cystic Fibrosis patients. Stem Cell Res. 29, 1–5.
- Fleischer, A., Vallejo-Diez, S., Martin-Fernandez, J.M., Sanchez-Gilabert, A., Castresana, M., Del Pozo, A., Esquisabel, A., Avila, S., Castrillo, J.L., Gainza, E., Pedraz, J.L., Vinas, M., Bachiller, D., 2020. iPSC-derived intestinal organoids from cystic fibrosis patients acquire cftr activity upon TALEN-mediated repair of the p.F508del mutation. Mol. Ther. Methods Clin. Dev. 17, 858–870.
- Fregonese, L., Stolk, J., Frants, R.R., Veldhuisen, B., 2008. Alpha-1 antitrypsin null mutations and severity of emphysema. Respir. Med. 102, 876–884.
- Fricker, M., Deane, A., Hansbro, P.M., 2014. Animal models of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Expert Opin. Drug Discov. 9, 629–645.
- Fulcher, M.L., Randell, S.H., 2013. Human nasal and tracheo-bronchial respiratory epithelial cell culture. Methods Mol. Biol. 945, 109–121.
- Fuschillo, S., De Felice, A., Balzano, G., 2008. Mucosal inflammation in idiopathic bronchiectasis: cellular and molecular mechanisms. Eur. Respir. J. 31, 396–406.
- Gally, F., Sasse, S.K., Kurche, J.S., Gruca, M.A., Cardwell, J.H., Okamoto, T., Chu, H.W., Hou, X., Poirion, O.B., Buchanan, J., Preissl, S., Ren, B., Colgan, S.P., Dowell, R.D., Yang, I.V., Schwartz, D.A., Gerber, A.N., 2021. The MUC5B-associated variant rs35705950 resides within an enhancer subject to lineage- and disease-dependent epigenetic remodeling. JCI Insight 6.
- Gao, J., Petraki, S., Sun, X., Brooks, L.A., Lynch, T.J., Hsieh, C.L., Elteriefi, R., Lorenzana, Z., Punj, V., Engelhardt, J.F., Parekh, K.R., Ryan, A.L., 2020. Derivation of induced pluripotent stem cells from ferret somatic cells. Am. J. Physiol. Lung Cell Mol. Physiol. 318, L671–L683.
- Geurts, M.H., de Poel, E., Amatngalim, G.D., Oka, R., Meijers, F.M., Kruisselbrink, E., van Mourik, P., Berkers, G., de Winter-de Groot, K.M., Michel, S., Muilwijk, D., Aalbers, B.L., Mullenders, J., Boj, S.F., Suen, S.W.F., Brunsveld, J.E., Janssens, H.M., Mall, M.A., Graeber, S.Y., van Boxtel, R., van der Ent, C.K., Beekman, J.M., Clevers, H., 2020. CRISPR-based adenine editors correct nonsense mutations in a cystic fibrosis organoid biobank. Cell Stem Cell 26, 503 e7–510 e7.
- Ghaedi, M., Niklason, L.E., 2019. Human pluripotent stem cells (iPSC) generation, culture, and differentiation to lung progenitor cells. Methods Mol. Biol. 1576, 55–92.

- Ghaedi, M., Calle, E.A., Mendez, J.J., Gard, A.L., Balestrini, J., Booth, A., Bove, P.F., Gui, L., White, E.S., Niklason, L.E., 2013. Human iPS cell-derived alveolar epithelium repopulates lung extracellular matrix. J. Clin. Invest. 123, 4950–4962.
- Ghaedi, M., Mendez, J.J., Bove, P.F., Sivarapatna, A., Raredon, M.S., Niklason, L.E., 2014. Alveolar epithelial differentiation of human induced pluripotent stem cells in a rotating bioreactor. Biomaterials 35, 699–710.
- Ghaedi, M., Le, A.V., Hatachi, G., Beloiartsev, A., Rocco, K., Sivarapatna, A., Mendez, J.J., Baevova, P., Dyal, R.N., Leiby, K.L., White, E.S., Niklason, L.E., 2018. Bioengineered lungs generated from human iPSCs-derived epithelial cells on native extracellular matrix. J. Tissue Eng. Regen. Med. 12, e1623–e1635.
- Gillissen, A., Paparoupa, M., 2015. Inflammation and infections in asthma. Clin. Respir. J. 9, 257–269.
- Gilpin, S.E., Ren, X., Okamoto, T., Guyette, J.P., Mou, H., Rajagopal, J., Mathisen, D.J., Vacanti, J.P., Ott, H.C., 2014. Enhanced lung epithelial specification of human induced pluripotent stem cells on decellularized lung matrix. Ann. Thorac. Surg. 98, 1721–1729.
- Godehardt, A.W., Petkov, S., Gulich, B., Fischer, N., Niemann, H., Tonjes, R.R., 2018. Comparative gene expression profiling of pig-derived iPSC-like cells: effects of induced pluripotency on expression of porcine endogenous retrovirus (PERV). Xenotransplantation 25, e12429.
- Gomes, M., Teixeira, A.L., Coelho, A., Araujo, A., Medeiros, R., 2014. The role of inflammation in lung cancer. Adv. Exp. Med. Biol. 816, 1–23.
- Gong, M.N., Wei, Z., Xu, L.L., Miller, D.P., Thompson, B.T., Christiani, D.C., 2004. Polymorphism in the surfactant protein-B gene, gender, and the risk of direct pulmonary injury and ARDS. Chest 125, 203–211.
- Goss, A.M., Tian, Y., Tsukiyama, T., Cohen, E.D., Zhou, D., Lu, M.M., Yamaguchi, T.P., Morrisey, E.E., 2009. Wnt2/2b and beta-catenin signaling are necessary and sufficient to specify lung progenitors in the foregut. Dev. Cell 17, 290–298.
- Gotoh, S., Ito, I., Nagasaki, T., Yamamoto, Y., Konishi, S., Korogi, Y., Matsumoto, H., Muro, S., Hirai, T., Funato, M., Mae, S., Toyoda, T., Sato-Otsubo, A., Ogawa, S., Osafune, K., Mishima, M., 2014. Generation of alveolar epithelial spheroids via isolated progenitor cells from human pluripotent stem cells. Stem Cell Rep. 3, 394–403.
- Green, M.D., Chen, A., Nostro, M.C., d'Souza, S.L., Schaniel, C., Lemischka, I.R., Gouon-Evans, V., Keller, G., Snoeck, H.W., 2011. Generation of anterior foregut endoderm from human embryonic and induced pluripotent stem cells. Nat. Biotechnol. 29, 267–272.
- Guilliams, M., De Kleer, I., Henri, S., Post, S., Vanhoutte, L., De Prijck, S., Deswarte, K., Malissen, B., Hammad, H., Lambrecht, B.N., 2013. Alveolar macrophages develop from fetal monocytes that differentiate into long-lived cells in the first week of life via GM-CSF. J. Exp. Med. 210, 1977–1992.
- Guillot, L., Carré, A., Szinnai, G., Castanet, M., Tron, E., Jaubert, F., Broutin, I., Counil, F., Feldmann, D., Clement, A., Polak, M., Epaud, R., 2010. NKX2-1 mutations leading to surfactant protein promoter dysregulation cause interstitial lung disease in "brain-lungthyroid syndrome". Hum. Mutat. 31, E1146–E1162.
- Hamming, I., Timens, W., Bulthuis, M.L., Lely, A.T., Navis, G., van Goor, H., 2004. Tissue distribution of ACE2 protein, the functional receptor for SARS coronavirus. A first step in understanding SARS pathogenesis. J. Pathol. 203, 631–637.
- Hamvas, A., Cole, F.S., Nogee, L.M., 2007. Genetic disorders of surfactant proteins. Neonatology 91, 311–317.

- Han, Y., Yang, L., Duan, X., Duan, F., Nilsson-Payant, B.E., Yaron, T.M., Wang, P., Tang, X.,
 Zhang, T., Zhao, Z., Bram, Y., Redmond, D., Houghton, S., Nguyen, D., Xu, D., Wang, X.,
 Uhl, S., Huang, Y., Johnson, J.L., Xiang, J., Wang, H., Pan, F.C., Cantley, L.C.,
 tenOever, B.R., Ho, D.D., Evans, T., Schwartz, R.E., Chen, H.J., Chen, S., 2020.
 Identification of candidate COVID-19 therapeutics using hPSC-derived lung organoids.
 bioRxiv.
- Hancock, L.A., Hennessy, C.E., Solomon, G.M., Dobrinskikh, E., Estrella, A., Hara, N., Hill, D.B., Kissner, W.J., Markovetz, M.R., Grove Villalon, D.E., Voss, M.E., Tearney, G.J., Carroll, K.S., Shi, Y., Schwarz, M.I., Thelin, W.R., Rowe, S.M., Yang, I.V., Evans, C.M., Schwartz, D.A., 2018. Muc5b overexpression causes mucociliary dysfunction and enhances lung fibrosis in mice. Nat. Commun. 9, 5363.
- Happle, C., Lachmann, N., Ackermann, M., Wetzke, M., Mirenska, A., Mucci, A., Glomb, T., Oliver, D.-B., Moritz, T., Hansen, G., 2017. Induced pluripotent stem cell derived macrophages differentiate into AM like cells in the lungs of humanized PAP mice. Eur. Respir. J. 50.
- Happle, C., Lachmann, N., Ackermann, M., Mirenska, A., Gohring, G., Thomay, K., Mucci, A., Hetzel, M., Glomb, T., Suzuki, T., Chalk, C., Glage, S., Dittrich-Breiholz, O., Trapnell, B., Moritz, T., Hansen, G., 2018. Pulmonary transplantation of human induced pluripotent stem cell-derived macrophages ameliorates pulmonary alveolar proteinosis. Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med. 198, 350–360.
- Harris-Johnson, K.S., Domyan, E.T., Vezina, C.M., Sun, X., 2009. beta-Catenin promotes respiratory progenitor identity in mouse foregut. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 106, 16287–16292.
- Hawkins, F., Kramer, P., Jacob, A., Driver, I., Thomas, D.C., McCauley, K.B., Skvir, N., Crane, A.M., Kurmann, A.A., Hollenberg, A.N., Nguyen, S., Wong, B.G., Khalil, A.S., Huang, S.X., Guttentag, S., Rock, J.R., Shannon, J.M., Davis, B.R., Kotton, D.N., 2017. Prospective isolation of NKX2-1-expressing human lung progenitors derived from pluripotent stem cells. J. Clin. Invest. 127, 2277–2294.
- Hawkins, F.J., Suzuki, S., Beermann, M.L., Barilla, C., Wang, R., Villacorta-Martin, C., Berical, A., Jean, J.C., Le Suer, J., Matte, T., Simone-Roach, C., Tang, Y., Schlaeger, T.M., Crane, A.M., Matthias, N., Huang, S.X.L., Randell, S.H., Wu, J., Spence, J.R., Carraro, G., Stripp, B.R., Rab, A., Sorsher, E.J., Horani, A., Brody, S.L., Davis, B.R., Kotton, D.N., 2021. Derivation of airway basal stem cells from human pluripotent stem cells. Cell Stem Cell 28, 79 e78–95 e78.
- Hebrok, M., Kim, S.K., Melton, D.A., 1998. Notochord repression of endodermal Sonic hedgehog permits pancreas development. Genes Dev. 12, 1705–1713.
- Helling, B.A., Gerber, A.N., Kadiyala, V., Sasse, S.K., Pedersen, B.S., Sparks, L., Nakano, Y., Okamoto, T., Evans, C.M., Yang, I.V., Schwartz, D.A., 2017. Regulation of MUC5B expression in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol. 57, 91–99.
- Herriges, M.J., Swarr, D.T., Morley, M.P., Rathi, K.S., Peng, T., Stewart, K.M., Morrisey, E.E., 2014. Long noncoding RNAs are spatially correlated with transcription factors and regulate lung development. Genes Dev. 28, 1363–1379.
- Herriges, M.J., Tischfield, D.J., Cui, Z., Morley, M.P., Han, Y., Babu, A., Li, S., Lu, M., Cendan, I., Garcia, B.A., Anderson, S.A., Morrisey, E.E., 2017. The NANCI-Nkx2.1 gene duplex buffers Nkx2.1 expression to maintain lung development and homeostasis. Genes Dev. 31, 889–903.
- Hille, F., Charpentier, E., 2016. CRISPR-Cas: biology, mechanisms and relevance. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B Biol. Sci. 371.

- Hjeij, R., Lindstrand, A., Francis, R., Zariwala, M.A., Liu, X., Li, Y., Damerla, R., Dougherty, G.W., Abouhamed, M., Olbrich, H., Loges, N.T., Pennekamp, P., Davis, E.E., Carvalho, C.M., Pehlivan, D., Werner, C., Raidt, J., Kohler, G., Haffner, K., Reyes-Mugica, M., Lupski, J.R., Leigh, M.W., Rosenfeld, M., Morgan, L.C., Knowles, M.R., Lo, C.W., Katsanis, N., Omran, H., 2013. ARMC4 mutations cause primary ciliary dyskinesia with randomization of left/right body asymmetry. Am. J. Hum. Genet. 93, 357–367.
- Hobbs, B.D., Putman, R.K., Araki, T., Nishino, M., Gudmundsson, G., Gudnason, V., Eiriksdottir, G., Zilhao Nogueira, N.R., Dupuis, J., Xu, H., O'Connor, G.T., Manichaikul, A., Nguyen, J., Podolanczuk, A.J., Madahar, P., Rotter, J.I., Lederer, D.J., Barr, R.G., Rich, S.S., Ampleford, E.J., Ortega, V.E., Peters, S.P., O'Neal, W.K., Newell Jr., J.D., Bleecker, E.R., Meyers, D.A., Allen, R.J., Oldham, J.M., Ma, S.F., Noth, I., Jenkins, R.G., Maher, T.M., Hubbard, R.B., Wain, L.V., Fingerlin, T.E., Schwartz, D.A., Washko, G.R., Rosas, I.O., Silverman, E.K., Hatabu, H., Cho, M.H., Hunninghake, G.M., 2019. Overlap of genetic risk between interstitial lung abnormalities and idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med. 200, 1402–1413.
- Hogan, B.L., Grindley, J., Bellusci, S., Dunn, N.R., Emoto, H., Itoh, N., 1997. Branching morphogenesis of the lung: new models for a classical problem. Cold Spring Harbor Symp. Quant. Biol. 62, 249–256.
- Hong, D., Qi, Y., Liu, J., Wang, H., Wang, L., Qian, L., 2017. A novel surfactant protein C mutation resulting in aberrant protein processing and altered subcellular localization causes infantile interstitial lung disease. Pediatr. Res. 81, 891–897.
- Hor, P., Punj, V., Calvert, B.A., Castaldi, A., Miller, A.J., Carraro, G., Stripp, B.R., Brody, S.L., Spence, J.R., Ichida, J.K., Ryan Firth, A.L., Borok, Z., 2020. Efficient generation and transcriptomic profiling of human iPSC-derived pulmonary neuroendocrine cells. iScience 23, 101083.
- Horani, A., Ustione, A., Huang, T., Firth, A.L., Pan, J., Gunsten, S.P., Haspel, J.A., Piston, D.W., Brody, S.L., 2018. Establishment of the early cilia preassembly protein complex during motile ciliogenesis. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 115, E1221–E1228.
- Huang, S.X., Islam, M.N., O'Neill, J., Hu, Z., Yang, Y.G., Chen, Y.W., Mumau, M., Green, M.D., Vunjak-Novakovic, G., Bhattacharya, J., Snoeck, H.W., 2014. Efficient generation of lung and airway epithelial cells from human pluripotent stem cells. Nat. Biotechnol. 32, 84–91.
- Huang, S.X., Green, M.D., de Carvalho, A.T., Mumau, M., Chen, Y.W., D'Souza, S.L., Snoeck, H.W., 2015. The in vitro generation of lung and airway progenitor cells from human pluripotent stem cells. Nat. Protoc. 10, 413–425.
- Huang, J., Hume, A.J., Abo, K.M., Werder, R.B., Villacorta-Martin, C., Alysandratos, K.-D., Beermann, M.L., Simone-Roach, C., Lindstrom-Vautrin, J., Olejnik, J., Suder, E.L., Bullitt, E., Hinds, A., Sharma, A., Bosmann, M., Wang, R., Hawkins, F., Burks, E.J., Saeed, M., Wilson, A.A., Mühlberger, E., Kotton, D.N., 2020a. SARS-CoV-2 infection of pluripotent stem cell-derived human lung alveolar type 2 cells elicits a rapid epithelial-intrinsic inflammatory response. bioRxiv, 2020.2006.2030.175695.
- Huang, J., Hume, A.J., Abo, K.M., Werder, R.B., Villacorta-Martin, C., Alysandratos, K.D., Beermann, M.L., Simone-Roach, C., Lindstrom-Vautrin, J., Olejnik, J., Suder, E.L., Bullitt, E., Hinds, A., Sharma, A., Bosmann, M., Wang, R., Hawkins, F., Burks, E.J., Saeed, M., Wilson, A.A., Muhlberger, E., Kotton, D.N., 2020b. SARS-CoV-2 infection of pluripotent stem cell-derived human lung alveolar type 2 cells elicits a rapid epithelial-intrinsic inflammatory response. Cell Stem Cell 27, 962–973.e7.

- Hurley, K., Ding, J., Villacorta-Martin, C., Herriges, M.J., Jacob, A., Vedaie, M., Alysandratos, K.D., Sun, Y.L., Lin, C., Werder, R.B., Huang, J., Wilson, A.A., Mithal, A., Mostoslavsky, G., Oglesby, I., Caballero, I.S., Guttentag, S.H., Ahangari, F., Kaminski, N., Rodriguez-Fraticelli, A., Camargo, F., Bar-Joseph, Z., Kotton, D.N., 2020. Reconstructed single-cell fate trajectories define lineage plasticity windows during differentiation of human PSC-derived distal lung progenitors. Cell Stem Cell.
- Isakson, B.E., Lubman, R.L., Seedorf, G.J., Boitano, S., 2001. Modulation of pulmonary alveolar type II cell phenotype and communication by extracellular matrix and KGF. Am. J. Physiol. Cell Physiol. 281, C1291–C1299.
- Jacob, A., Morley, M., Hawkins, F., McCauley, K.B., Jean, J.C., Heins, H., Na, C.L., Weaver, T.E., Vedaie, M., Hurley, K., Hinds, A., Russo, S.J., Kook, S., Zacharias, W., Ochs, M., Traber, K., Quinton, L.J., Crane, A., Davis, B.R., White, F.V., Wambach, J., Whitsett, J.A., Cole, F.S., Morrisey, E.E., Guttentag, S.H., Beers, M.F., Kotton, D.N., 2017. Differentiation of human pluripotent stem cells into functional lung alveolar epithelial cells. Cell Stem Cell 21, 472–488.e10.
- Jacob, A., Vedaie, M., Roberts, D.A., Thomas, D.C., Villacorta-Martin, C., Alysandratos, K.D., Hawkins, F., Kotton, D.N., 2019. Derivation of self-renewing lung alveolar epithelial type II cells from human pluripotent stem cells. Nat. Protoc. 14, 3303–3332.
- Jain, M., Sznajder, J.I., 2007. Bench-to-bedside review: distal airways in acute respiratory distress syndrome. Crit. Care 11, 206.
- Jain, R., Barkauskas, C.E., Takeda, N., Bowie, E.J., Aghajanian, H., Wang, Q., Padmanabhan, A., Manderfield, L.J., Gupta, M., Li, D., Li, L., Trivedi, C.M., Hogan, B.L.M., Epstein, J.A., 2015. Plasticity of Hopx(+) type I alveolar cells to regenerate type II cells in the lung. Nat. Commun. 6, 6727.
- Jerebtsova, M., Kumari, N., Xu, M., de Melo, G.B., Niu, X., Jeang, K.T., Nekhai, S., 2012. HIV-1 resistant CDK2-knockdown macrophage-like cells generated from 293T cell-derived human induced pluripotent stem cells. Biology 1, 175–195.
- Jerkic, M., Litvack, M.L., Gagnon, S., Otulakowski, G., Zhang, H., Rotstein, O., Kavanagh, B.P., Post, M., Laffey, J.G., 2021. Embryonic-derived Myb(-) macrophages enhance bacterial clearance and improve survival in rat sepsis. Int. J. Mol. Sci. 22.
- Jinek, M., Chylinski, K., Fonfara, I., Hauer, M., Doudna, J.A., Charpentier, E., 2012. A programmable dual-RNA-guided DNA endonuclease in adaptive bacterial immunity. Science 337, 816–821.
- Johnson, S.R., Tattersfield, A.E., 2000. Clinical experience of lymphangioleiomyomatosis in the UK. Thorax 55, 1052–1057.
- Julian, L.M., Delaney, S.P., Wang, Y., Goldberg, A.A., Dore, C., Yockell-Lelievre, J., Tam, R.Y., Giannikou, K., McMurray, F., Shoichet, M.S., Harper, M.E., Henske, E.P., Kwiatkowski, D.J., Darling, T.N., Moss, J., Kristof, A.S., Stanford, W.L., 2017. Human pluripotent stem cell-derived TSC2-haploinsufficient smooth muscle cells recapitulate features of lymphangioleiomyomatosis. Cancer Res. 77, 5491–5502.
- Justet, A., Klay, D., Porcher, R., Cottin, V., Ahmad, K., Molina Molina, M., Nunes, H., Reynaud-Gaubert, M., Naccache, J.M., Manali, E., Froidure, A., Jouneau, S., Wemeau, L., Andrejak, C., Gondouin, A., Hirschi, S., Blanchard, E., Bondue, B., Bonniaud, P., Tromeur, C., Prevot, G., Marchand-Adam, S., Funke-Chambour, M., Gamez, A.S., Ba, I., Papiris, S., Grutters, J., Crestani, B., van Moorsel, C., Kannengiesser, C., Borie, R., OrphaLung, N., 2021. Safety and efficacy of pirfenidone and nintedanib in patients with idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis and carrying a telomererelated gene mutation. Eur. Respir. J. 57.

- Kambal, A., Mitchell, G., Cary, W., Gruenloh, W., Jung, Y., Kalomoiris, S., Nacey, C., McGee, J., Lindsey, M., Fury, B., Bauer, G., Nolta, J.A., Anderson, J.S., 2011. Generation of HIV-1 resistant and functional macrophages from hematopoietic stem cell-derived induced pluripotent stem cells. Mol. Ther. 19, 584–593.
- Kang, C.I., Rouse, M.S., Patel, R., Kita, H., Juhn, Y.J., 2009. Allergic airway inflammation and susceptibility to pneumococcal pneumonia in a murine model with real-time in vivo evaluation. Clin. Exp. Immunol. 156, 552–561.
- Kang, H., Minder, P., Park, M.A., Mesquitta, W.T., Torbett, B.E., Slukvin II, 2015. CCR5 disruption in induced pluripotent stem cells using CRISPR/Cas9 provides selective resistance of immune cells to CCR5-tropic HIV-1 virus. Mol. Ther. Nucleic Acids 4, e268.
- Karlsson, K.R., Cowley, S., Martinez, F.O., Shaw, M., Minger, S.L., James, W., 2008. Homogeneous monocytes and macrophages from human embryonic stem cells following coculture-free differentiation in M-CSF and IL-3. Exp. Hematol. 36, 1167–1175.
- Kaserman, J.E., Wilson, A.A., 2018. Patient-derived induced pluripotent stem cells for alpha-1 antitrypsin deficiency disease modeling and therapeutic discovery. Chronic Obstr. Pulm. Dis. 5, 258–266.
- Kaserman, J.E., Hurley, K., Dodge, M., Villacorta-Martin, C., Vedaie, M., Jean, J.C., Liberti, D.C., James, M.F., Higgins, M.I., Lee, N.J., Washko, G.R., San Jose Estepar, R., Teckman, J., Kotton, D.N., Wilson, A.A., 2020. A highly phenotyped open access repository of alpha-1 antitrypsin deficiency pluripotent stem cells. Stem Cell Rep. 15, 242–255.
- Katsura, H., Sontake, V., Tata, A., Kobayashi, Y., Edwards, C.E., Heaton, B.E., Konkimalla, A., Asakura, T., Mikami, Y., Fritch, E.J., Lee, P.J., Heaton, N.S., Boucher, R.C., Randell, S.H., Baric, R.S., Tata, P.R., 2020. Human lung stem cellbased alveolospheres provide insights into SARS-CoV-2-mediated interferon responses and pneumocyte dysfunction. Cell Stem Cell 27, 890–904.e8.
- Katzen, J., Wagner, B.D., Venosa, A., Kopp, M., Tomer, Y., Russo, S.J., Headen, A.C., Basil, M.C., Stark, J.M., Mulugeta, S., Deterding, R.R., Beers, M.F., 2019. An SFTPC BRICHOS mutant links epithelial ER stress and spontaneous lung fibrosis. JCI Insight 4.
- King Jr., T.E., Bradford, W.Z., Castro-Bernardini, S., Fagan, E.A., Glaspole, I., Glassberg, M.K., Gorina, E., Hopkins, P.M., Kardatzke, D., Lancaster, L., Lederer, D.J., Nathan, S.D., Pereira, C.A., Sahn, S.A., Sussman, R., Swigris, J.J., Noble, P.W., Group, A.S., 2014. A phase 3 trial of pirfenidone in patients with idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. N. Engl. J. Med. 370, 2083–2092.
- Kinting, S., Hoppner, S., Schindlbeck, U., Forstner, M.E., Harfst, J., Wittmann, T., Griese, M., 2018. Functional rescue of misfolding ABCA3 mutations by small molecular correctors. Hum. Mol. Genet. 27, 943–953.
- Klay, D., Hoffman, T.W., Harmsze, A.M., Grutters, J.C., van Moorsel, C.H.M., 2018. Systematic review of drug effects in humans and models with surfactant-processing disease. Eur. Respir. Rev. 27.
- Knowles, M.R., Leigh, M.W., Carson, J.L., Davis, S.D., Dell, S.D., Ferkol, T.W., Olivier, K.N., Sagel, S.D., Rosenfeld, M., Burns, K.A., Minnix, S.L., Armstrong, M.C., Lori, A., Hazucha, M.J., Loges, N.T., Olbrich, H., Becker-Heck, A., Schmidts, M., Werner, C., Omran, H., Zariwala, M.A., Genetic Disorders of Mucociliary Clearance C, 2012. Mutations of DNAH11 in patients with primary ciliary dyskinesia with normal ciliary ultrastructure. Thorax 67, 433–441.
- Knowles, M.R., Daniels, L.A., Davis, S.D., Zariwala, M.A., Leigh, M.W., 2013a. Primary ciliary dyskinesia. Recent advances in diagnostics, genetics, and characterization of clinical disease. Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med. 188, 913–922.

- Knowles, M.R., Leigh, M.W., Ostrowski, L.E., Huang, L., Carson, J.L., Hazucha, M.J., Yin, W., Berg, J.S., Davis, S.D., Dell, S.D., Ferkol, T.W., Rosenfeld, M., Sagel, S.D., Milla, C.E., Olivier, K.N., Turner, E.H., Lewis, A.P., Bamshad, M.J., Nickerson, D.A., Shendure, J., Zariwala, M.A., Genetic Disorders of Mucociliary Clearance C, 2013b. Exome sequencing identifies mutations in CCDC114 as a cause of primary ciliary dyskinesia. Am. J. Hum. Genet. 92, 99–106.
- Knowles, M.R., Ostrowski, L.E., Loges, N.T., Hurd, T., Leigh, M.W., Huang, L., Wolf, W.E., Carson, J.L., Hazucha, M.J., Yin, W., Davis, S.D., Dell, S.D., Ferkol, T.W., Sagel, S.D., Olivier, K.N., Jahnke, C., Olbrich, H., Werner, C., Raidt, J., Wallmeier, J., Pennekamp, P., Dougherty, G.W., Hjeij, R., Gee, H.Y., Otto, E.A., Halbritter, J., Chaki, M., Diaz, K.A., Braun, D.A., Porath, J.D., Schueler, M., Baktai, G., Griese, M., Turner, E.H., Lewis, A.P., Bamshad, M.J., Nickerson, D.A., Hildebrandt, F., Shendure, J., Omran, H., Zariwala, M.A., 2013c. Mutations in SPAG1 cause primary ciliary dyskinesia associated with defective outer and inner dynein arms. Am. J. Hum. Genet. 93, 711–720.
- Knowles, M.R., Ostrowski, L.E., Leigh, M.W., Sears, P.R., Davis, S.D., Wolf, W.E., Hazucha, M.J., Carson, J.L., Olivier, K.N., Sagel, S.D., Rosenfeld, M., Ferkol, T.W., Dell, S.D., Milla, C.E., Randell, S.H., Yin, W., Sannuti, A., Metjian, H.M., Noone, P.G., Noone, P.J., Olson, C.A., Patrone, M.V., Dang, H., Lee, H.S., Hurd, T.W., Gee, H.Y., Otto, E.A., Halbritter, J., Kohl, S., Kircher, M., Krischer, J., Bamshad, M.J., Nickerson, D.A., Hildebrandt, F., Shendure, J., Zariwala, M.A., 2014. Mutations in RSPH1 cause primary ciliary dyskinesia with a unique clinical and ciliary phenotype. Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med. 189, 707–717.
- Knowles, M.R., Zariwala, M., Leigh, M., 2016. Primary ciliary dyskinesia. Clin. Chest Med. 37, 449–461.
- Konishi, S., Gotoh, S., Tateishi, K., Yamamoto, Y., Korogi, Y., Nagasaki, T., Matsumoto, H., Muro, S., Hirai, T., Ito, I., Tsukita, S., Mishima, M., 2016. Directed induction of functional multi-ciliated cells in proximal airway epithelial spheroids from human pluripotent stem cells. Stem Cell Rep. 6, 18–25.
- Korogi, Y., Gotoh, S., Ikeo, S., Yamamoto, Y., Sone, N., Tamai, K., Konishi, S., Nagasaki, T., Matsumoto, H., Ito, I., Chen-Yoshikawa, T.F., Date, H., Hagiwara, M., Asaka, I., Hotta, A., Mishima, M., Hirai, T., 2019. In Vitro disease modeling of Hermanskypudlak syndrome type 2 using human induced pluripotent stem cell-derived alveolar organoids. Stem Cell Rep. 12, 431–440.
- Kroner, C., Wittmann, T., Reu, S., Teusch, V., Klemme, M., Rauch, D., Hengst, M., Kappler, M., Cobanoglu, N., Sismanlar, T., Aslan, A.T., Campo, I., Proesmans, M., Schaible, T., Terheggen-Lagro, S., Regamey, N., Eber, E., Seidenberg, J., Schwerk, N., Aslanidis, C., Lohse, P., Brasch, F., Zarbock, R., Griese, M., 2017. Lung disease caused by ABCA3 mutations. Thorax 72, 213–220.
- Kropski, J.A., Blackwell, T.S., Loyd, J.E., 2015. The genetic basis of idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Eur. Respir. J. 45, 1717–1727.
- Lachmann, N., Happle, C., Ackermann, M., Luttge, D., Wetzke, M., Merkert, S., Hetzel, M., Kensah, G., Jara-Avaca, M., Mucci, A., Skuljec, J., Dittrich, A.M., Pfaff, N., Brennig, S., Schambach, A., Steinemann, D., Gohring, G., Cantz, T., Martin, U., Schwerk, N., Hansen, G., Moritz, T., 2014. Gene correction of human induced pluripotent stem cells repairs the cellular phenotype in pulmonary alveolar proteinosis. Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med. 189, 167–182.

- Lamers, M.M., Beumer, J., van der Vaart, J., Knoops, K., Puschhof, J., Breugem, T.I., Ravelli, R.B.G., Paul van Schayck, J., Mykytyn, A.Z., Duimel, H.Q., van Donselaar, E., Riesebosch, S., Kuijpers, H.J.H., Schipper, D., van de Wetering, W.J., de Graaf, M., Koopmans, M., Cuppen, E., Peters, P.J., Haagmans, B.L., Clevers, H., 2020. SARS-CoV-2 productively infects human gut enterocytes. Science 369, 50–54.
- Lee, M.G., Lee, Y.H., 2015. A meta-analysis examining the association between the MUC5B rs35705950 T/G polymorphism and susceptibility to idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Inflamm. Res. 64, 463–470.
- Lee, K.S., Zhou, W., Scott-McKean, J.J., Emmerling, K.L., Cai, G.Y., Krah, D.L., Costa, A.C., Freed, C.R., Levin, M.J., 2012. Human sensory neurons derived from induced pluripotent stem cells support varicella-zoster virus infection. PLoS One 7, e53010.
- Lee, C.Z.W., Kozaki, T., Ginhoux, F., 2018. Studying tissue macrophages in vitro: are iPSC-derived cells the answer? Nat. Rev. Immunol. 18, 716–725.
- Lee, I.T., Nakayama, T., Wu, C.T., Goltsev, Y., Jiang, S., Gall, P.A., Liao, C.K., Shih, L.C., Schurch, C.M., McIlwain, D.R., Chu, P., Borchard, N.A., Zarabanda, D., Dholakia, S.S., Yang, A., Kim, D., Chen, H., Kanie, T., Lin, C.D., Tsai, M.H., Phillips, K.M., Kim, R., Overdevest, J.B., Tyler, M.A., Yan, C.H., Lin, C.F., Lin, Y.T., Bau, D.T., Tsay, G.J., Patel, Z.M., Tsou, Y.A., Tzankov, A., Matter, M.S., Tai, C.J., Yeh, T.H., Hwang, P.H., Nolan, G.P., Nayak, J.V., Jackson, P.K., 2020. ACE2 localizes to the respiratory cilia and is not increased by ACE inhibitors or ARBs. Nat. Commun. 11, 5453.
- Leibel, S.L., Winquist, A., Tseu, I., Wang, J., Luo, D., Shojaie, S., Nathan, N., Snyder, E., Post, M., 2019. Reversal of surfactant protein B deficiency in patient specific human induced pluripotent stem cell derived lung organoids by gene therapy. Sci. Rep. 9, 13450.
- Leibel, S.L., McVicar, R.N., Winquist, A.M., Niles, W.D., Snyder, E.Y., 2020. Generation of complete multi-cell type lung organoids from human embryonic and patient-specific induced pluripotent stem cells for infectious disease modeling and therapeutics validation. Curr. Protoc. Stem Cell Biol. 54, e118.
- Leung, A., Ciau-Uitz, A., Pinheiro, P., Monteiro, R., Zuo, J., Vyas, P., Patient, R., Porcher, C., 2013. Uncoupling VEGFA functions in arteriogenesis and hematopoietic stem cell specification. Dev. Cell 24, 144–158.
- Li, W., Moore, M.J., Vasilieva, N., Sui, J., Wong, S.K., Berne, M.A., Somasundaran, M., Sullivan, J.L., Luzuriaga, K., Greenough, T.C., Choe, H., Farzan, M., 2003. Angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 is a functional receptor for the SARS coronavirus. Nature 426, 450–454.
- Li, F., Li, W., Farzan, M., Harrison, S.C., 2005. Structure of SARS coronavirus spike receptorbinding domain complexed with receptor. Science 309, 1864–1868.
- Li, Z., Sun, X., Chen, J., Liu, X., Wisely, S.M., Zhou, Q., Renard, J.P., Leno, G.H., Engelhardt, J.F., 2006. Cloned ferrets produced by somatic cell nuclear transfer. Dev. Biol. 293, 439–448.
- Li, Y., Renner, D.M., Comar, C.E., Whelan, J.N., Reyes, H.M., Cardenas-Diaz, F.L., Truitt, R., Tan, L.H., Dong, B., Alysandratos, K.D., Huang, J., Palmer, J.N., Adappa, N.D., Kohanski, M.A., Kotton, D.N., Silverman, R.H., Yang, W., Morrisey, E.E., Cohen, N.A., Weiss, S.R., 2021. SARS-CoV-2 induces double-stranded RNA-mediated innate immune responses in respiratory epithelial-derived cells and cardiomyocytes. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 118.
- Liebler, J.M., Marconett, C.N., Juul, N., Wang, H., Liu, Y., Flodby, P., Laird-Offringa, I.A., Minoo, P., Zhou, B., 2016. Combinations of differentiation markers distinguish subpopulations of alveolar epithelial cells in adult lung. Am. J. Physiol. Lung Cell Mol. Physiol. 310, L114–L120.
- Lim, W.F., Inoue-Yokoo, T., Tan, K.S., Lai, M.I., Sugiyama, D., 2013. Hematopoietic cell differentiation from embryonic and induced pluripotent stem cells. Stem Cell Res. Ther. 4, 71.
- Litvack, M.L., Wigle, T.J., Lee, J., Wang, J., Ackerley, C., Grunebaum, E., Post, M., 2016. Alveolar-like stem cell-derived Myb(-) macrophages promote recovery and survival in airway disease. Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med. 193, 1219–1229.
- Liu, T., Chung, M.J., Ullenbruch, M., Yu, H., Jin, H., Hu, B., Choi, Y.Y., Ishikawa, F., Phan, S.H., 2007. Telomerase activity is required for bleomycin-induced pulmonary fibrosis in mice. J. Clin. Invest. 117, 3800–3809.
- Liu, H., Kim, Y., Sharkis, S., Marchionni, L., Jang, Y.Y., 2011. In vivo liver regeneration potential of human induced pluripotent stem cells from diverse origins. Sci. Transl. Med. 3, 82ra39.
- Loges, N.T., Antony, D., Maver, A., Deardorff, M.A., Gulec, E.Y., Gezdirici, A., Nothe-Menchen, T., Hoben, I.M., Jelten, L., Frank, D., Werner, C., Tebbe, J., Wu, K., Goldmuntz, E., Cuturilo, G., Krock, B., Ritter, A., Hjeij, R., Bakey, Z., Pennekamp, P., Dworniczak, B., Brunner, H., Peterlin, B., Tanidir, C., Olbrich, H., Omran, H., Schmidts, M., 2018. Recessive DNAH9 loss-of-function mutations cause laterality defects and subtle respiratory ciliary-beating defects. Am. J. Hum. Genet. 103, 995–1008.
- Loh, Y.H., Agarwal, S., Park, I.H., Urbach, A., Huo, H., Heffner, G.C., Kim, K., Miller, J.D., Ng, K., Daley, G.Q., 2009. Generation of induced pluripotent stem cells from human blood. Blood 113, 5476–5479.
- Lorenzo-Salazar, J.M., Ma, S.F., Jou, J., Hou, P.C., Guillen-Guio, B., Allen, R.J., Jenkins, R.G., Wain, L.V., Oldham, J.M., Noth, I., Flores, C., 2019. Novel idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis susceptibility variants revealed by deep sequencing. ERJ Open Res. 5.
- Lu, M.M., Yang, H., Zhang, L., Shu, W., Blair, D.G., Morrisey, E.E., 2001. The bone morphogenic protein antagonist gremlin regulates proximal-distal patterning of the lung. Dev. Dynam. 222, 667–680.
- Magnani, J.E., Donn, S.M., 2020. Persistent respiratory distress in the term neonate: genetic surfactant deficiency diseases. Curr. Pediatr. Rev. 16, 17–25.
- Mall, M.A., 2008. Role of cilia, mucus, and airway surface liquid in mucociliary dysfunction: lessons from mouse models. J. Aerosol Med. Pulm. Drug Deliv. 21, 13–24.
- Marconett, C.N., Zhou, B., Siegmund, K.D., Borok, Z., Laird-Offringa, I.A., 2014. Transcriptomic profiling of primary alveolar epithelial cell differentiation in human and rat. Genom Data 2, 105–109.
- Marthin, J.K., Stevens, E.M., Larsen, L.A., Christensen, S.T., Nielsen, K.G., 2017. Patient-specific three-dimensional explant spheroids derived from human nasal airway epithelium: a simple methodological approach for ex vivo studies of primary ciliary dyskinesia. Cilia 6, 3.
- Martinez-Garcia, M.A., Sanchez, C.P., Moreno, R.M., 2015. The double-edged sword of neutrophilic inflammation in bronchiectasis. Eur. Respir. J. 46, 898–900.
- McCarron, A., Donnelley, M., Parsons, D., 2018. Airway disease phenotypes in animal models of cystic fibrosis. Respir. Res. 19, 54.

- McCauley, K.B., Hawkins, F., Serra, M., Thomas, D.C., Jacob, A., Kotton, D.N., 2017. Efficient derivation of functional human airway epithelium from pluripotent stem cells via temporal regulation of Wnt signaling. Cell Stem Cell 20, 844–857.e6.
- McCauley, K.B., Hawkins, F., Kotton, D.N., 2018. Derivation of epithelial-only airway organoids from human pluripotent stem cells. Curr. Protoc. Stem Cell Biol. 45, e51.
- McGarry, M.E., 2020. Triple therapy for cystic fibrosis with a Phe508del CFTR mutation. N. Engl. J. Med. 382, 684.
- Meiners, S., Lloyd, C., Chambers, R.C., 2018. Cell-matrix interactions in lung disease and regeneration: ERS Lung Science Conference 2018 report. Eur. Respir. Rev. 27.
- Merkert, S., Bednarski, C., Gohring, G., Cathomen, T., Martin, U., 2017. Generation of a gene-corrected isogenic control iPSC line from cystic fibrosis patient-specific iPSCs homozygous for p.Phe508del mutation mediated by TALENs and ssODN. Stem Cell Res. 23, 95–97.
- Merkert, S., Schubert, M., Olmer, R., Engels, L., Radetzki, S., Veltman, M., Scholte, B.J., Zollner, J., Pedemonte, N., Galietta, L.J.V., von Kries, J.P., Martin, U., 2019. Highthroughput screening for modulators of CFTR activity based on genetically engineered cystic fibrosis disease-specific iPSCs. Stem Cell Rep. 12, 1389–1403.
- Metcalf, D., 2008. Hematopoietic cytokines. Blood 111, 485-491.
- Meyerholz, D.K., Stoltz, D.A., Gansemer, N.D., Ernst, S.E., Cook, D.P., Strub, M.D., LeClair, E.N., Barker, C.K., Adam, R.J., Leidinger, M.R., Gibson-Corley, K.N., Karp, P.H., Welsh, M.J., McCray Jr., P.B., 2018. Lack of cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator disrupts fetal airway development in pigs. Lab. Invest. 98, 825–838.
- Miller, A.J., Hill, D.R., Nagy, M.S., Aoki, Y., Dye, B.R., Chin, A.M., Huang, S., Zhu, F., White, E.S., Lama, V., Spence, J.R., 2018. In Vitro induction and in vivo engraftment of lung bud tip progenitor cells derived from human pluripotent stem cells. Stem Cell Rep. 10, 101–119.
- Mishra, V., Banga, J., Silveyra, P., 2018. Oxidative stress and cellular pathways of asthma and inflammation: therapeutic strategies and pharmacological targets. Pharmacol. Ther. 181, 169–182.
- Mitash, N., Mu, F., Donovan, J.E., Myerburg, M.M., Ranganathan, S., Greene, C.M., Swiatecka-Urban, A., 2019. Transforming growth factor-beta1 selectively recruits micro-RNAs to the RNA-induced silencing complex and degrades CFTR mRNA under permissive conditions in human bronchial epithelial cells. Int. J. Mol. Sci. 20.
- Moeller, A., Ask, K., Warburton, D., Gauldie, J., Kolb, M., 2008. The bleomycin animal model: a useful tool to investigate treatment options for idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis? Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol. 40, 362–382.
- Morrisey, E.E., Hogan, B.L., 2010. Preparing for the first breath: genetic and cellular mechanisms in lung development. Dev. Cell 18, 8–23.
- Morrisey, E.E., 2018. Basal cells in lung development and repair. Dev. Cell 44, 653–654.
- Mou, H., Vinarsky, V., Tata, P.R., Brazauskas, K., Choi, S.H., Crooke, A.K., Zhang, B., Solomon, G.M., Turner, B., Bihler, H., Harrington, J., Lapey, A., Channick, C., Keyes, C., Freund, A., Artandi, S., Mense, M., Rowe, S., Engelhardt, J.F., Hsu, Y.C., Rajagopal, J., 2016. Dual SMAD signaling inhibition enables long-term expansion of diverse epithelial basal cells. Cell Stem Cell 19, 217–231.
- Mucci, A., Lopez-Rodriguez, E., Hetzel, M., Liu, S., Suzuki, T., Happle, C., Ackermann, M., Kempf, H., Hillje, R., Kunkiel, J., Janosz, E., Brennig, S., Glage, S., Bankstahl, J.P., Dettmer, S., Rodt, T., Gohring, G., Trapnell, B., Hansen, G., Trapnell, C., Knudsen, L.,

Lachmann, N., Moritz, T., 2018. iPSC-derived macrophages effectively treat pulmonary alveolar proteinosis in csf2rb-deficient mice. Stem Cell Rep. 11, 696–710.

- Mucenski, M.L., Wert, S.E., Nation, J.M., Loudy, D.E., Huelsken, J., Birchmeier, W., Morrisey, E.E., Whitsett, J.A., 2003. beta-Catenin is required for specification of proximal/distal cell fate during lung morphogenesis. J. Biol. Chem. 278, 40231–40238.
- Mulugeta, S., Nureki, S., Beers, M.F., 2015. Lost after translation: insights from pulmonary surfactant for understanding the role of alveolar epithelial dysfunction and cellular quality control in fibrotic lung disease. Am. J. Physiol. Lung Cell Mol. Physiol. 309, L507–L525.
- Narayanan, M., Owers-Bradley, J., Beardsmore, C.S., Mada, M., Ball, I., Garipov, R., Panesar, K.S., Kuehni, C.E., Spycher, B.D., Williams, S.E., Silverman, M., 2012. Alveolarization continues during childhood and adolescence: new evidence from helium-3 magnetic resonance. Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med. 185, 186–191.
- Ni, Z., Knorr, D.A., Clouser, C.L., Hexum, M.K., Southern, P., Mansky, L.M., Park, I.H., Kaufman, D.S., 2011. Human pluripotent stem cells produce natural killer cells that mediate anti-HIV-1 activity by utilizing diverse cellular mechanisms. J. Virol. 85, 43–50.
- Nichols, D.P., Chmiel, J.F., 2015. Inflammation and its genesis in cystic fibrosis. Pediatr. Pulmonol. 40 (50 Suppl. 1), S39–S56.
- Nidhi, S., Anand, U., Oleksak, P., Tripathi, P., Lal, J.A., Thomas, G., Kuca, K., Tripathi, V., 2021. Novel CRISPR-cas systems: an updated review of the current achievements, applications, and future research perspectives. Int. J. Mol. Sci. 22.
- Nikolic, M.Z., Caritg, O., Jeng, Q., Johnson, J.A., Sun, D., Howell, K.J., Brady, J.L., Laresgoiti, U., Allen, G., Butler, R., Zilbauer, M., Giangreco, A., Rawlins, E.L., 2017. Human embryonic lung epithelial tips are multipotent progenitors that can be expanded in vitro as long-term self-renewing organoids. Elife 6.
- Ning, S., Pagano, J.S., Barber, G.N., 2011. IRF7: activation, regulation, modification and function. Gene Immun. 12, 399–414.
- Noth, I., Zhang, Y., Ma, S.F., Flores, C., Barber, M., Huang, Y., Broderick, S.M., Wade, M.S., Hysi, P., Scuirba, J., Richards, T.J., Juan-Guardela, B.M., Vij, R., Han, M.K., Martinez, F.J., Kossen, K., Seiwert, S.D., Christie, J.D., Nicolae, D., Kaminski, N., Garcia, J.G.N., 2013. Genetic variants associated with idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis susceptibility and mortality: a genome-wide association study. Lancet Respir. Med. 1, 309–317.
- Okita, K., Ichisaka, T., Yamanaka, S., 2007. Generation of germline-competent induced pluripotent stem cells. Nature 448, 313–317.
- Okubo, T., Hogan, B.L., 2004. Hyperactive Wnt signaling changes the developmental potential of embryonic lung endoderm. J. Biol. 3, 11.
- O'Neal, W.K., Hasty, P., McCray Jr., P.B., Casey, B., Rivera-Perez, J., Welsh, M.J., Beaudet, A.L., Bradley, A., 1993. A severe phenotype in mice with a duplication of exon 3 in the cystic fibrosis locus. Hum. Mol. Genet. 2, 1561–1569.
- O'Toole, E.T., Giddings Jr., T.H., Porter, M.E., Ostrowski, L.E., 2012. Computer-assisted image analysis of human cilia and Chlamydomonas flagella reveals both similarities and differences in axoneme structure. Cytoskeleton 69, 577–590.
- Ottersbach, K., 2019. Endothelial-to-haematopoietic transition: an update on the process of making blood. Biochem. Soc. Trans. 47, 591–601.
- Paff, T., Loges, N.T., Aprea, I., Wu, K., Bakey, Z., Haarman, E.G., Daniels, J.M.A., Sistermans, E.A., Bogunovic, N., Dougherty, G.W., Hoben, I.M., Grosse-Onnebrink, J., Matter, A., Olbrich, H., Werner, C., Pals, G., Schmidts, M., Omran, H., Micha, D., 2017. Mutations in PIH1D3 cause X-linked primary ciliary dyskinesia with outer and inner dynein arm defects. Am. J. Hum. Genet. 100, 160–168.

- Pandya, H., Shen, M.J., Ichikawa, D.M., Sedlock, A.B., Choi, Y., Johnson, K.R., Kim, G., Brown, M.A., Elkahloun, A.G., Maric, D., Sweeney, C.L., Gossa, S., Malech, H.L., McGavern, D.B., Park, J.K., 2017. Differentiation of human and murine induced pluripotent stem cells to microglia-like cells. Nat. Neurosci. 20, 753–759.
- Peca, D., Petrini, S., Tzialla, C., Boldrini, R., Morini, F., Stronati, M., Carnielli, V.P., Cogo, P.E., Danhaive, O., 2011. Altered surfactant homeostasis and recurrent respiratory failure secondary to TTF-1 nuclear targeting defect. Respir. Res. 12, 115.
- Pennarun, G., Escudier, E., Chapelin, C., Bridoux, A.M., Cacheux, V., Roger, G., Clement, A., Goossens, M., Amselem, S., Duriez, B., 1999. Loss-of-function mutations in a human gene related to Chlamydomonas reinhardtii dynein IC78 result in primary ciliary dyskinesia. Am. J. Hum. Genet. 65, 1508–1519.
- Perez-Bermejo, J.A., Kang, S., Rockwood, S.J., Simoneau, C.R., Joy, D.A., Silva, A.C., Ramadoss, G.N., Flanigan, W.R., Fozouni, P., Li, H., Chen, P.Y., Nakamura, K., Whitman, J.D., Hanson, P.J., McManus, B.M., Ott, M., Conklin, B.R., McDevitt, T.C., 2021. SARS-CoV-2 infection of human iPSC-derived cardiac cells reflects cytopathic features in hearts of patients with COVID-19. Sci. Transl. Med. 13.
- Peters-Hall, J.R., Coquelin, M.L., Torres, M.J., LaRanger, R., Alabi, B.R., Sho, S., Calva-Moreno, J.F., Thomas, P.J., Shay, J.W., 2018. Long-term culture and cloning of primary human bronchial basal cells that maintain multipotent differentiation capacity and CFTR channel function. Am. J. Physiol. Lung Cell Mol. Physiol. 315, L313–L327.
- Pezzulo, A.A., Tang, X.X., Hoegger, M.J., Abou Alaiwa, M.H., Ramachandran, S., Moninger, T.O., Karp, P.H., Wohlford-Lenane, C.L., Haagsman, H.P., van Eijk, M., Banfi, B., Horswill, A.R., Stoltz, D.A., McCray Jr., P.B., Welsh, M.J., Zabner, J., 2012. Reduced airway surface pH impairs bacterial killing in the porcine cystic fibrosis lung. Nature 487, 109–113.
- Porotto, M., Ferren, M., Chen, Y.W., Siu, Y., Makhsous, N., Rima, B., Briese, T., Greninger, A.L., Snoeck, H.W., Moscona, A., 2019. Authentic modeling of human respiratory virus infection in human pluripotent stem cell-derived lung organoids. mBio 10.
- Povedano, J.M., Martinez, P., Serrano, R., Tejera, A., Gomez-Lopez, G., Bobadilla, M., Flores, J.M., Bosch, F., Blasco, M.A., 2018. Therapeutic effects of telomerase in mice with pulmonary fibrosis induced by damage to the lungs and short telomeres. Elife 7.
- Qiao, R., Yan, W., Clavijo, C., Mehrian-Shai, R., Zhong, Q., Kim, K.J., Ann, D., Crandall, E.D., Borok, Z., 2008. Effects of KGF on alveolar epithelial cell transdifferentiation are mediated by JNK signaling. Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol. 38, 239–246.
- Que, J., Choi, M., Ziel, J.W., Klingensmith, J., Hogan, B.L., 2006. Morphogenesis of the trachea and esophagus: current players and new roles for noggin and Bmps. Differentiation 74, 422–437.
- Que, J., Luo, X., Schwartz, R.J., Hogan, B.L., 2009. Multiple roles for Sox2 in the developing and adult mouse trachea. Development 136, 1899–1907.
- Raghu, G., Collard, H.R., Egan, J.J., Martinez, F.J., Behr, J., Brown, K.K., Colby, T.V., Cordier, J.F., Flaherty, K.R., Lasky, J.A., Lynch, D.A., Ryu, J.H., Swigris, J.J., Wells, A.U., Ancochea, J., Bouros, D., Carvalho, C., Costabel, U., Ebina, M., Hansell, D.M., Johkoh, T., Kim, D.S., King Jr., T.E., Kondoh, Y., Myers, J., Muller, N.L., Nicholson, A.G., Richeldi, L., Selman, M., Dudden, R.F., Griss, B.S., Protzko, S.L., Schunemann, H.J., Fibrosis AEJACoIP, 2011. An official ATS/ERS/JRS/ ALAT statement: idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis: evidence-based guidelines for diagnosis and management. Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med. 183, 788–824.

52 CHAPTER 1 Induced pluripotent stem cells

- Ran, F.A., Hsu, P.D., Wright, J., Agarwala, V., Scott, D.A., Zhang, F., 2013. Genome engineering using the CRISPR-Cas9 system. Nat. Protoc. 8, 2281–2308.
- Rankin, S.A., Zorn, A.M., 2014. Gene regulatory networks governing lung specification. J. Cell. Biochem. 115, 1343–1350.
- Rawlins, E.L., Perl, A.K., 2012. The a"MAZE"ing world of lung-specific transgenic mice. Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol. 46, 269–282.
- Rawlins, E.L., Okubo, T., Que, J., Xue, Y., Clark, C., Luo, X., Hogan, B.L., 2008. Epithelial stem/progenitor cells in lung postnatal growth, maintenance, and repair. Cold Spring Harbor Symp. Quant. Biol. 73, 291–295.
- Rawlins, E.L., Clark, C.P., Xue, Y., Hogan, B.L., 2009. The Id2+ distal tip lung epithelium contains individual multipotent embryonic progenitor cells. Development 136, 3741–3745.
- Reynolds, S.D., Rios, C., Wesolowska-Andersen, A., Zhuang, Y., Pinter, M., Happoldt, C., Hill, C.L., Lallier, S.W., Cosgrove, G.P., Solomon, G.M., Nichols, D.P., Seibold, M.A., 2016. Airway progenitor clone formation is enhanced by Y-27632-dependent changes in the transcriptome. Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol. 55, 323–336.
- Richeldi, L., du Bois, R.M., Raghu, G., Azuma, A., Brown, K.K., Costabel, U., Cottin, V., Flaherty, K.R., Hansell, D.M., Inoue, Y., Kim, D.S., Kolb, M., Nicholson, A.G., Noble, P.W., Selman, M., Taniguchi, H., Brun, M., Le Maulf, F., Girard, M., Stowasser, S., Schlenker-Herceg, R., Disse, B., Collard, H.R., Investigators, I.T., 2014. Efficacy and safety of nintedanib in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. N. Engl. J. Med. 370, 2071–2082.
- Rindler, T.N., Stockman, C.A., Filuta, A.L., Brown, K.M., Snowball, J.M., Zhou, W., Veldhuizen, R., Zink, E.M., Dautel, S.E., Clair, G., Ansong, C., Xu, Y., Bridges, J.P., Whitsett, J.A., 2017. Alveolar injury and regeneration following deletion of ABCA3. JCI Insight 2.
- Rogers, C.S., Abraham, W.M., Brogden, K.A., Engelhardt, J.F., Fisher, J.T., McCray Jr., P.B., McLennan, G., Meyerholz, D.K., Namati, E., Ostedgaard, L.S., Prather, R.S., Sabater, J.R., Stoltz, D.A., Zabner, J., Welsh, M.J., 2008a. The porcine lung as a potential model for cystic fibrosis. Am. J. Physiol. Lung Cell Mol. Physiol. 295, L240–L263.
- Rogers, C.S., Stoltz, D.A., Meyerholz, D.K., Ostedgaard, L.S., Rokhlina, T., Taft, P.J., Rogan, M.P., Pezzulo, A.A., Karp, P.H., Itani, O.A., Kabel, A.C., Wohlford-Lenane, C.L., Davis, G.J., Hanfland, R.A., Smith, T.L., Samuel, M., Wax, D., Murphy, C.N., Rieke, A., Whitworth, K., Uc, A., Starner, T.D., Brogden, K.A., Shilyansky, J., McCray Jr., P.B., Zabner, J., Prather, R.S., Welsh, M.J., 2008b. Disruption of the CFTR gene produces a model of cystic fibrosis in newborn pigs. Science 321, 1837–1841.
- Rosen, B.H., Evans, T.I.A., Moll, S.R., Gray, J.S., Liang, B., Sun, X., Zhang, Y., Jensen-Cody, C.W., Swatek, A.M., Zhou, W., He, N., Rotti, P.G., Tyler, S.R., Keiser, N.W., Anderson, P.J., Brooks, L., Li, Y., Pope, R.M., Rajput, M., Hoffman, E.A., Wang, K., Harris, J.K., Parekh, K.R., Gibson-Corley, K.N., Engelhardt, J.F., 2018. Infection is not required for mucoinflammatory lung disease in CFTR-knockout ferrets. Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med. 197, 1308–1318.
- Ryan, A.L., 2020. Correcting CFTR: new gene editing strategies for rescuing CFTR function ex vivo. Cell Stem Cell 26, 476–478.
- Sahabian, A., Sgodda, M., Naujok, O., Dettmer, R., Dahlmann, J., Manstein, F., Cantz, T., Zweigerdt, R., Martin, U., Olmer, R., 2019. Chemically-defined, xeno-free, scalable production of hPSC-derived definitive endoderm aggregates with multi-lineage differentiation potential. Cells 8.

- Salahudeen, A.A., Choi, S.S., Rustagi, A., Zhu, J., van Unen, V., de la, O.S., Flynn, R.A., Margalef-Catala, M., Santos, A.J.M., Ju, J., Batish, A., Usui, T., Zheng, G.X.Y., Edwards, C.E., Wagar, L.E., Luca, V., Anchang, B., Nagendran, M., Nguyen, K., Hart, D.J., Terry, J.M., Belgrader, P., Ziraldo, S.B., Mikkelsen, T.S., Harbury, P.B., Glenn, J.S., Garcia, K.C., Davis, M.M., Baric, R.S., Sabatti, C., Amieva, M.R., Blish, C.A., Desai, T.J., Kuo, C.J., 2020. Progenitor identification and SARS-CoV-2 infection in human distal lung organoids. Nature 588, 670–675.
- Sato, T., Seyama, K., Fujii, H., Maruyama, H., Setoguchi, Y., Iwakami, S., Fukuchi, Y., Hino, O., 2002. Mutation analysis of the TSC1 and TSC2 genes in Japanese patients with pulmonary lymphangioleiomyomatosis. J. Hum. Genet. 47, 20–28.
- Schindlbeck, U., Wittmann, T., Hoppner, S., Kinting, S., Liebisch, G., Hegermann, J., Griese, M., 2018. ABCA3 missense mutations causing surfactant dysfunction disorders have distinct cellular phenotypes. Hum. Mutat. 39, 841–850.
- Segeritz, C.P., Rashid, S.T., de Brito, M.C., Serra, M.P., Ordonez, A., Morell, C.M., Kaserman, J.E., Madrigal, P., Hannan, N.R.F., Gatto, L., Tan, L., Wilson, A.A., Lilley, K., Marciniak, S.J., Gooptu, B., Lomas, D.A., Vallier, L., 2018. hiPSC hepatocyte model demonstrates the role of unfolded protein response and inflammatory networks in alpha1-antitrypsin deficiency. J. Hepatol. 69, 851–860.
- Seibold, M.A., Wise, A.L., Speer, M.C., Steele, M.P., Brown, K.K., Loyd, J.E., Fingerlin, T.E., Zhang, W., Gudmundsson, G., Groshong, S.D., Evans, C.M., Garantziotis, S., Adler, K.B., Dickey, B.F., du Bois, R.M., Yang, I.V., Herron, A., Kervitsky, D., Talbert, J.L., Markin, C., Park, J., Crews, A.L., Slifer, S.H., Auerbach, S., Roy, M.G., Lin, J., Hennessy, C.E., Schwarz, M.I., Schwartz, D.A., 2011. A common MUC5B promoter polymorphism and pulmonary fibrosis. N. Engl. J. Med. 364, 1503–1512.
- Semaniakou, A., Croll, R.P., Chappe, V., 2018. Animal models in the pathophysiology of cystic fibrosis. Front. Pharmacol. 9, 1475.
- Sharma, A., Marceau, C., Hamaguchi, R., Burridge, P.W., Rajarajan, K., Churko, J.M., Wu, H., Sallam, K.I., Matsa, E., Sturzu, A.C., Che, Y., Ebert, A., Diecke, S., Liang, P., Red-Horse, K., Carette, J.E., Wu, S.M., Wu, J.C., 2014. Human induced pluripotent stem cell-derived cardiomyocytes as an in vitro model for coxsackievirus B3-induced myocarditis and antiviral drug screening platform. Circ. Res. 115, 556–566.
- Sharma, N., Evans, T.A., Pellicore, M.J., Davis, E., Aksit, M.A., McCague, A.F., Joynt, A.T., Lu, Z., Han, S.T., Anzmann, A.F., Lam, A.N., Thaxton, A., West, N., Merlo, C., Gottschalk, L.B., Raraigh, K.S., Sosnay, P.R., Cotton, C.U., Cutting, G.R., 2018. Capitalizing on the heterogeneous effects of CFTR nonsense and frameshift variants to inform therapeutic strategy for cystic fibrosis. PLoS Genet. 14, e1007723.
- Sharma, A., Garcia Jr., G., Wang, Y., Plummer, J.T., Morizono, K., Arumugaswami, V., Svendsen, C.N., 2020. Human iPSC-derived cardiomyocytes are susceptible to SARS-CoV-2 infection. Cell Rep. Med. 1, 100052.
- Shlomai, A., Schwartz, R.E., Ramanan, V., Bhatta, A., de Jong, Y.P., Bhatia, S.N., Rice, C.M., 2014. Modeling host interactions with hepatitis B virus using primary and induced pluripotent stem cell-derived hepatocellular systems. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 111, 12193–12198.
- Simsek, S., Zhou, T., Robinson, C.L., Tsai, S.Y., Crespo, M., Amin, S., Lin, X., Hon, J., Evans, T., Chen, S., 2016. Modeling cystic fibrosis using pluripotent stem cell-derived human pancreatic ductal epithelial cells. Stem Cells Transl. Med. 5, 572–579.

54 CHAPTER 1 Induced pluripotent stem cells

- Smith, C., Abalde-Atristain, L., He, C., Brodsky, B.R., Braunstein, E.M., Chaudhari, P., Jang, Y.Y., Cheng, L., Ye, Z., 2015. Efficient and allele-specific genome editing of disease loci in human iPSCs. Mol. Ther. 23, 570–577.
- Snouwaert, J.N., Brigman, K.K., Latour, A.M., Malouf, N.N., Boucher, R.C., Smithies, O., Koller, B.H., 1992. An animal model for cystic fibrosis made by gene targeting. Science 257, 1083–1088.
- Somaschini, M., Castiglioni, E., Presi, S., Volonteri, C., Ferrari, M., Carrera, P., 2012. Genetic susceptibility to neonatal lung diseases. Acta Biomed. 83 (Suppl. 1), 10–14.
- Stabler, C.T., Morrisey, E.E., 2017. Developmental pathways in lung regeneration. Cell Tissue Res. 367, 677–685.
- Strikoudis, A., Cieslak, A., Loffredo, L., Chen, Y.W., Patel, N., Saqi, A., Lederer, D.J., Snoeck, H.W., 2019. Modeling of fibrotic lung disease using 3D organoids derived from human pluripotent stem cells. Cell Rep. 27, 3709–3723.e5.
- Sucre, J.M.S., Jetter, C.S., Loomans, H., Williams, J., Plosa, E.J., Benjamin, J.T., Young, L.R., Kropski, J.A., Calvi, C.L., Kook, S., Wang, P., Gleaves, L., Eskaros, A., Goetzl, L., Blackwell, T.S., Guttentag, S.H., Zijlstra, A., 2018. Successful establishment of primary type II alveolar epithelium with 3D organotypic coculture. Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol. 59, 158–166.
- Sugimura, R., Jha, D.K., Han, A., Soria-Valles, C., da Rocha, E.L., Lu, Y.F., Goettel, J.A., Serrao, E., Rowe, R.G., Malleshaiah, M., Wong, I., Sousa, P., Zhu, T.N., Ditadi, A., Keller, G., Engelman, A.N., Snapper, S.B., Doulatov, S., Daley, G.Q., 2017. Haematopoietic stem and progenitor cells from human pluripotent stem cells. Nature 545, 432–438.
- Sun, X., Sui, H., Fisher, J.T., Yan, Z., Liu, X., Cho, H.J., Joo, N.S., Zhang, Y., Zhou, W., Yi, Y., Kinyon, J.M., Lei-Butters, D.C., Griffin, M.A., Naumann, P., Luo, M., Ascher, J., Wang, K., Frana, T., Wine, J.J., Meyerholz, D.K., Engelhardt, J.F., 2010. Disease phenotype of a ferret CFTR-knockout model of cystic fibrosis. J. Clin. Invest. 120, 3149–3160.
- Sun, X., Olivier, A.K., Liang, B., Yi, Y., Sui, H., Evans, T.I., Zhang, Y., Zhou, W., Tyler, S.R., Fisher, J.T., Keiser, N.W., Liu, X., Yan, Z., Song, Y., Goeken, J.A., Kinyon, J.M., Fligg, D., Wang, X., Xie, W., Lynch, T.J., Kaminsky, P.M., Stewart, Z.A., Pope, R.M., Frana, T., Meyerholz, D.K., Parekh, K., Engelhardt, J.F., 2014. Lung phenotype of juvenile and adult cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator-knockout ferrets. Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol. 50, 502–512.
- Surendran, H., Nandakumar, S., Pal, R., 2020. Human induced pluripotent stem cell-derived lung epithelial system for SARS-CoV-2 infection modeling and its potential in drug repurposing. Stem Cell. Dev. 29, 1365–1369.
- Suzuki, T., Sakagami, T., Young, L.R., Carey, B.C., Wood, R.E., Luisetti, M., Wert, S.E., Rubin, B.K., Kevill, K., Chalk, C., Whitsett, J.A., Stevens, C., Nogee, L.M., Campo, I., Trapnell, B.C., 2010. Hereditary pulmonary alveolar proteinosis: pathogenesis, presentation, diagnosis, and therapy. Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med. 182, 1292–1304.
- Suzuki, T., Mayhew, C., Sallese, A., Chalk, C., Carey, B.C., Malik, P., Wood, R.E., Trapnell, B.C., 2014. Use of induced pluripotent stem cells to recapitulate pulmonary alveolar proteinosis pathogenesis. Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med. 189, 183–193.
- Suzuki, S., Sargent, R.G., Illek, B., Fischer, H., Esmaeili-Shandiz, A., Yezzi, M.J., Lee, A., Yang, Y., Kim, S., Renz, P., Qi, Z., Yu, J., Muench, M.O., Beyer, A.I., Guimaraes, A.O., Ye, L., Chang, J., Fine, E.J., Cradick, T.J., Bao, G., Rahdar, M., Porteus, M.H., Shuto, T., Kai, H., Kan, Y.W., Gruenert, D.C., 2016. TALENs facilitate single-step seamless SDF correction of F508del CFTR in airway epithelial submucosal gland cell-derived CF-iPSCs. Mol. Ther. Nucleic Acids 5, e273.

- Swarr, D.T., Morrisey, E.E., 2015. Lung endoderm morphogenesis: gasping for form and function. Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol. 31, 553–573.
- Tafaleng, E.N., Chakraborty, S., Han, B., Hale, P., Wu, W., Soto-Gutierrez, A., Feghali-Bostwick, C.A., Wilson, A.A., Kotton, D.N., Nagaya, M., Strom, S.C., Roy-Chowdhury, J., Stolz, D.B., Perlmutter, D.H., Fox, I.J., 2015. Induced pluripotent stem cells model personalized variations in liver disease resulting from alpha1-antitrypsin deficiency. Hepatology 62, 147–157.
- Takahashi, K., Okita, K., Nakagawa, M., Yamanaka, S., 2007a. Induction of pluripotent stem cells from fibroblast cultures. Nat. Protoc. 2, 3081–3089.
- Takahashi, K., Tanabe, K., Ohnuki, M., Narita, M., Ichisaka, T., Tomoda, K., Yamanaka, S., 2007b. Induction of pluripotent stem cells from adult human fibroblasts by defined factors. Cell 131, 861–872.
- Takata, K., Kozaki, T., Lee, C.Z.W., Thion, M.S., Otsuka, M., Lim, S., Utami, K.H., Fidan, K., Park, D.S., Malleret, B., Chakarov, S., See, P., Low, D., Low, G., Garcia-Miralles, M., Zeng, R., Zhang, J., Goh, C.C., Gul, A., Hubert, S., Lee, B., Chen, J., Low, I., Shadan, N.B., Lum, J., Wei, T.S., Mok, E., Kawanishi, S., Kitamura, Y., Larbi, A., Poidinger, M., Renia, L., Ng, L.G., Wolf, Y., Jung, S., Onder, T., Newell, E., Huber, T., Ashihara, E., Garel, S., Pouladi, M.A., Ginhoux, F., 2017. Induced-pluripotent-stemcell-derived primitive macrophages provide a platform for modeling tissue-resident macrophage differentiation and function. Immunity 47, 183–198.e6.
- Tan, S.Y., Krasnow, M.A., 2016. Developmental origin of lung macrophage diversity. Development 143, 1318–1327.
- Tashiro, J., Rubio, G.A., Limper, A.H., Williams, K., Elliot, S.J., Ninou, I., Aidinis, V., Tzouvelekis, A., Glassberg, M.K., 2017. Exploring animal models that resemble idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Front. Med. 4, 118.
- Tiwari, S.K., Wang, S., Smith, D., Carlin, A.F., Rana, T.M., 2021. Revealing tissue-specific SARS-CoV-2 infection and host responses using human stem cell-derived lung and cerebral organoids. Stem Cell Rep. 16, 437–445.
- Trapnell, B.C., Carey, B.C., Uchida, K., Suzuki, T., 2009. Pulmonary alveolar proteinosis, a primary immunodeficiency of impaired GM-CSF stimulation of macrophages. Curr. Opin. Immunol. 21, 514–521.
- Travis, W.D., Brambilla, E., Nicholson, A.G., Yatabe, Y., Austin, J.H.M., Beasley, M.B., Chirieac, L.R., Dacic, S., Duhig, E., Flieder, D.B., Geisinger, K., Hirsch, F.R., Ishikawa, Y., Kerr, K.M., Noguchi, M., Pelosi, G., Powell, C.A., Tsao, M.S., Wistuba, I., Panel WHO, 2015. The 2015 World Health Organization classification of lung tumors: impact of genetic, clinical and radiologic advances since the 2004 classification. J. Thorac. Oncol. 10, 1243–1260.
- Tredano, M., van Elburg, R.M., Kaspers, A.G., Zimmermann, L.J., Houdayer, C., Aymard, P., Hull, W.M., Whitsett, J.A., Elion, J., Griese, M., Bahuau, M., 1999. Compound SFTPB 1549C–>GAA (121ins2) and 457delC heterozygosity in severe congenital lung disease and surfactant protein B (SP-B) deficiency. Hum. Mutat. 14, 502–509.
- Tredano, M., Griese, M., Brasch, F., Schumacher, S., de Blic, J., Marque, S., Houdayer, C., Elion, J., Couderc, R., Bahuau, M., 2004. Mutation of SFTPC in infantile pulmonary alveolar proteinosis with or without fibrosing lung disease. Am. J. Med. Genet. A 126a, 18–26.
- Treutlein, B., Brownfield, D.G., Wu, A.R., Neff, N.F., Mantalas, G.L., Espinoza, F.H., Desai, T.J., Krasnow, M.A., Quake, S.R., 2014. Reconstructing lineage hierarchies of the distal lung epithelium using single-cell RNA-seq. Nature 509, 371–375.

- Trevisan, M., Sinigaglia, A., Desole, G., Berto, A., Pacenti, M., Palu, G., Barzon, L., 2015. Modeling viral infectious diseases and development of antiviral therapies using human induced pluripotent stem cell-derived systems. Viruses 7, 3835–3856.
- Vaidyanathan, S., Salahudeen, A.A., Sellers, Z.M., Bravo, D.T., Choi, S.S., Batish, A., Le, W., Baik, R., de la, O.S., Kaushik, M.P., Galper, N., Lee, C.M., Teran, C.A., Yoo, J.H., Bao, G., Chang, E.H., Patel, Z.M., Hwang, P.H., Wine, J.J., Milla, C.E., Desai, T.J., Nayak, J.V., Kuo, C.J., Porteus, M.H., 2020. High-efficiency, selection-free gene repair in airway stem cells from cystic fibrosis patients rescues CFTR function in differentiated epithelia. Cell Stem Cell 26, 161–171.e4.
- van de Laar, L., Saelens, W., De Prijck, S., Martens, L., Scott, C.L., Van Isterdael, G., Hoffmann, E., Beyaert, R., Saeys, Y., Lambrecht, B.N., Guilliams, M., 2016. Yolk sac macrophages, fetal liver, and adult monocytes can colonize an empty niche and develop into functional tissue-resident macrophages. Immunity 44, 755–768.
- van Doorninck, J.H., French, P.J., Verbeek, E., Peters, R.H., Morreau, H., Bijman, J., Scholte, B.J., 1995. A mouse model for the cystic fibrosis delta F508 mutation. EMBO J. 14, 4403–4411.
- van Wilgenburg, B., Browne, C., Vowles, J., Cowley, S.A., 2013. Efficient, long term production of monocyte-derived macrophages from human pluripotent stem cells under partly-defined and fully-defined conditions. PLoS One 8, e71098.
- Volckaert, T., Campbell, A., Dill, E., Li, C., Minoo, P., De Langhe, S., 2013. Localized Fgf10 expression is not required for lung branching morphogenesis but prevents differentiation of epithelial progenitors. Development 140, 3731–3742.
- Wan, Y., Shang, J., Graham, R., Baric, R.S., Li, F., 2020. Receptor recognition by the novel coronavirus from Wuhan: an analysis based on decade-long structural studies of SARS coronavirus. J. Virol. 94.
- Wang, Y., Tian, Y., Morley, M.P., Lu, M.M., Demayo, F.J., Olson, E.N., Morrisey, E.E., 2013. Development and regeneration of Sox2+ endoderm progenitors are regulated by a Hdac1/ 2-Bmp4/Rb1 regulatory pathway. Dev. Cell 24, 345–358.
- Wang, Y., Tang, Z., Huang, H., Li, J., Wang, Z., Yu, Y., Zhang, C., Li, J., Dai, H., Wang, F., Cai, T., Tang, N., 2018a. Pulmonary alveolar type I cell population consists of two distinct subtypes that differ in cell fate. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 115, 2407–2412.
- Wang, Y., Xu, J., Meng, Y., Adcock, I.M., Yao, X., 2018b. Role of inflammatory cells in airway remodeling in COPD. Int. J. Chronic Obstr. Pulm. Dis. 13, 3341–3348.
- Warner, S.M., Hackett, T.L., Shaheen, F., Hallstrand, T.S., Kicic, A., Stick, S.M., Knight, D.A., 2013. Transcription factor p63 regulates key genes and wound repair in human airway epithelial basal cells. Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol. 49, 978–988.
- Weaver, M., Yingling, J.M., Dunn, N.R., Bellusci, S., Hogan, B.L., 1999. Bmp signaling regulates proximal-distal differentiation of endoderm in mouse lung development. Development 126, 4005–4015.
- Weaver, M., Dunn, N.R., Hogan, B.L., 2000. Bmp4 and Fgf10 play opposing roles during lung bud morphogenesis. Development 127, 2695–2704.
- Welsh, M.J., Rogers, C.S., Stoltz, D.A., Meyerholz, D.K., Prather, R.S., 2009. Development of a porcine model of cystic fibrosis. Trans. Am. Clin. Climatol. Assoc. 120, 149–162.
- Whitsett, J.A., Weaver, T.E., 2002. Hydrophobic surfactant proteins in lung function and disease. N. Engl. J. Med. 347, 2141–2148.
- Whitsett, J.A., Kalin, T.V., Xu, Y., Kalinichenko, V.V., 2019. Building and regenerating the lung cell by cell. Physiol. Rev. 99, 513–554.

- Wilke, M., Buijs-Offerman, R.M., Aarbiou, J., Colledge, W.H., Sheppard, D.N., Touqui, L., Bot, A., Jorna, H., de Jonge, H.R., Scholte, B.J., 2011. Mouse models of cystic fibrosis: phenotypic analysis and research applications. J. Cyst. Fibros. 10 (Suppl. 2), S152–S171.
- Wilkinson, D.C., Alva-Ornelas, J.A., Sucre, J.M., Vijayaraj, P., Durra, A., Richardson, W., Jonas, S.J., Paul, M.K., Karumbayaram, S., Dunn, B., Gomperts, B.N., 2017. Development of a three-dimensional bioengineering technology to generate lung tissue for personalized disease modeling. Stem Cells Transl. Med. 6, 622–633.
- Will, B., Steidl, U., 2010. Multi-parameter fluorescence-activated cell sorting and analysis of stem and progenitor cells in myeloid malignancies. Best Pract. Res. Clin. Haematol. 23, 391–401.
- Williamson, J.D., Sadofsky, L.R., Hart, S.P., 2015. The pathogenesis of bleomycin-induced lung injury in animals and its applicability to human idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Exp. Lung Res. 41, 57–73.
- Wilson, A.A., Ying, L., Liesa, M., Segeritz, C.P., Mills, J.A., Shen, S.S., Jean, J., Lonza, G.C., Liberti, D.C., Lang, A.H., Nazaire, J., Gower, A.C., Mueller, F.J., Mehta, P., Ordonez, A., Lomas, D.A., Vallier, L., Murphy, G.J., Mostoslavsky, G., Spira, A., Shirihai, O.S., Ramirez, M.I., Gadue, P., Kotton, D.N., 2015. Emergence of a stage-dependent human liver disease signature with directed differentiation of alpha-1 antitrypsin-deficient iPS cells. Stem Cell Rep. 4, 873–885.
- Wong, A.P., Bear, C.E., Chin, S., Pasceri, P., Thompson, T.O., Huan, L.J., Ratjen, F., Ellis, J., Rossant, J., 2012. Directed differentiation of human pluripotent stem cells into mature airway epithelia expressing functional CFTR protein. Nat. Biotechnol. 30, 876–882.
- Wong, A.P., Chin, S., Xia, S., Garner, J., Bear, C.E., Rossant, J., 2015. Efficient generation of functional CFTR-expressing airway epithelial cells from human pluripotent stem cells. Nat. Protoc. 10, 363–381.
- Wu, X., Robotham, J.M., Lee, E., Dalton, S., Kneteman, N.M., Gilbert, D.M., Tang, H., 2012. Productive hepatitis C virus infection of stem cell-derived hepatocytes reveals a critical transition to viral permissiveness during differentiation. PLoS Pathog. 8, e1002617.
- Xie, Y., Ostedgaard, L., Abou Alaiwa, M.H., Lu, L., Fischer, A.J., Stoltz, D.A., 2018. Mucociliary transport in Healthy and cystic fibrosis pig airways. Ann. Am. Thorac. Soc. 15, S171–S176.
- Yamamoto, Y., Gotoh, S., Korogi, Y., Seki, M., Konishi, S., Ikeo, S., Sone, N., Nagasaki, T., Matsumoto, H., Muro, S., Ito, I., Hirai, T., Kohno, T., Suzuki, Y., Mishima, M., 2017. Long-term expansion of alveolar stem cells derived from human iPS cells in organoids. Nat. Methods 14, 1097–1106.
- Yamamoto, Y., Korogi, Y., Hirai, T., Gotoh, S., 2020. A method of generating alveolar organoids using human pluripotent stem cells. Methods Cell Biol. 159, 115–141.
- Yang, L., Han, Y., Nilsson-Payant, B.E., Gupta, V., Wang, P., Duan, X., Tang, X., Zhu, J., Zhao, Z., Jaffre, F., Zhang, T., Kim, T.W., Harschnitz, O., Redmond, D., Houghton, S., Liu, C., Naji, A., Ciceri, G., Guttikonda, S., Bram, Y., Nguyen, D.T., Cioffi, M., Chandar, V., Hoagland, D.A., Huang, Y., Xiang, J., Wang, H., Lyden, D., Borczuk, A., Chen, H.J., Studer, L., Pan, F.C., Ho, D.D., tenOever, B.R., Evans, T., Schwartz, R.E., Chen, S.A., 2020. Human pluripotent stem cell-based platform to study SARS-CoV-2 tropism and model virus infection in human cells and organoids. Cell Stem Cell 27, 125–136.e7.
- Yoon, H.Y., Park, S., Kim, D.S., Song, J.W., 2018. Efficacy and safety of nintedanib in advanced idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Respir. Res. 19, 203.

- Young, L.R., Nogee, L.M., Barnett, B., Panos, R.J., Colby, T.V., Deutsch, G.H., 2008. Usual interstitial pneumonia in an adolescent with ABCA3 mutations. Chest 134, 192–195.
- Yu, J., Vodyanik, M.A., Smuga-Otto, K., Antosiewicz-Bourget, J., Frane, J.L., Tian, S., Nie, J., Jonsdottir, G.A., Ruotti, V., Stewart, R., Slukvin II, Thomson, J.A., 2007. Induced pluripotent stem cell lines derived from human somatic cells. Science 318, 1917–1920.
- Yu, P., Pan, G., Yu, J., Thomson, J.A., 2011. FGF2 sustains NANOG and switches the outcome of BMP4-induced human embryonic stem cell differentiation. Cell Stem Cell 8, 326–334.
- Yuan, B., Li, C., Kimura, S., Engelhardt, R.T., Smith, B.R., Minoo, P., 2000. Inhibition of distal lung morphogenesis in Nkx2.1(-/-) embryos. Dev. Dynam. 217, 180–190.
- Yusa, K., Rashid, S.T., Strick-Marchand, H., Varela, I., Liu, P.Q., Paschon, D.E., Miranda, E., Ordonez, A., Hannan, N.R., Rouhani, F.J., Darche, S., Alexander, G., Marciniak, S.J., Fusaki, N., Hasegawa, M., Holmes, M.C., Di Santo, J.P., Lomas, D.A., Bradley, A., Vallier, L., 2011. Targeted gene correction of alpha1-antitrypsin deficiency in induced pluripotent stem cells. Nature 478, 391–394.
- Zariwala, M.A., Gee, H.Y., Kurkowiak, M., Al-Mutairi, D.A., Leigh, M.W., Hurd, T.W., Hjeij, R., Dell, S.D., Chaki, M., Dougherty, G.W., Adan, M., Spear, P.C., Esteve-Rudd, J., Loges, N.T., Rosenfeld, M., Diaz, K.A., Olbrich, H., Wolf, W.E., Sheridan, E., Batten, T.F., Halbritter, J., Porath, J.D., Kohl, S., Lovric, S., Hwang, D.Y., Pittman, J.E., Burns, K.A., Ferkol, T.W., Sagel, S.D., Olivier, K.N., Morgan, L.C., Werner, C., Raidt, J., Pennekamp, P., Sun, Z., Zhou, W., Airik, R., Natarajan, S., Allen, S.J., Amirav, I., Wieczorek, D., Landwehr, K., Nielsen, K., Schwerk, N., Sertic, J., Kohler, G., Washburn, J., Levy, S., Fan, S., Koerner-Rettberg, C., Amselem, S., Williams, D.S., Mitchell, B.J., Drummond, I.A., Otto, E.A., Omran, H., Knowles, M.R., Hildebrandt, F., 2013. ZMYND10 is mutated in primary ciliary dyskinesia and interacts with LRRC6. Am. J. Hum. Genet. 93, 336–345.
- Zhang, L., Pagano, J.S., 1997. IRF-7, a new interferon regulatory factor associated with Epstein-Barr virus latency. Mol. Cell Biol. 17, 5748–5757.
- Zhang, Y., Rath, N., Hannenhalli, S., Wang, Z., Cappola, T., Kimura, S., Atochina-Vasserman, E., Lu, M.M., Beers, M.F., Morrisey, E.E., 2007. GATA and Nkx factors synergistically regulate tissue-specific gene expression and development in vivo. Development 134, 189–198.
- Zhang, Y., Goss, A.M., Cohen, E.D., Kadzik, R., Lepore, J.J., Muthukumaraswamy, K., Yang, J., DeMayo, F.J., Whitsett, J.A., Parmacek, M.S., Morrisey, E.E., 2008. A Gata6-Wnt pathway required for epithelial stem cell development and airway regeneration. Nat. Genet. 40, 862–870.
- Zhao, Y., Zhao, Z., Wang, Y., Zhou, Y., Ma, Y., Zuo, W., 2020. Single-cell RNA expression profiling of ACE2, the receptor of SARS-CoV-2. Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med. 202, 756–759.

CHAPTER

iPSC for modeling of metabolic and neurodegenerative disorders

2

V. Valadez-Barba¹, A. Cota-Coronado^{1,2}, C.P. Barragán-Álvarez¹, E. Padilla-Camberos¹, N.E. Díaz-Martínez¹

¹Department of Medical and Pharmaceutical Biotechnology, Center for Research and Assistance in Technology and Design of the State of Jalisco, Guadalajara, Jalisco, Mexico; ²The Florey Institute for Neuroscience and Mental Health, The University of Melbourne, Parkville, VIC, Australia

Chapter outline

Introduction	60
What are iPSCs?	60
How are iPSCs obtained?	61
Current iPSCs models overview	62
Metabolic disorders	64
Cardiovascular disorders	65
Cardiomyocytes	65
Cardiomyocyte differentiation	66
CVDs modeled by iPSC-CMs	66
Diabetes	67
iPSC-based pancreatic β-cells as a model of disease	67
Neurodegenerative disorders	68
Parkinson's disease	69
Alzheimer's disease	71
Future applications	73
Limitations	74
Conclusions	75
Acknowledgment	75
Conflicts of interest	75
References	75
Further reading	83

Abstract

Metabolic and neurodegenerative disorders, such as cardiovascular dysfunction, diabetes, and Parkinson's disease, are fundamental health concerns all around the

world. The development of novel treatments and new techniques to address these disorders is being actively studied by researchers and medical personnel. In the present chapter, we will discuss the utilization of induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs) for cell-therapy replacement and disease modeling in chronic conditions of high incidence. The aim of iPSCs is to restore the functionality of the damaged tissue by replacing the death cells with competitive ones. To achieve this objective, iPSCs can be properly differentiated in virtually any cell fate and can be strongly translated into human health via in vitro and in vivo disease modeling.

Keywords: Alzheimer; Cardiovascular; Cardiovascular dysfuction; Cell diferentiation; Cell reprogramation; Cell therapy; Diabetes; Disease modeling; iPSC therapy; iPSCs; Metabolism; Neurodegenerative; Parkinson; Pluripotency; Stem cells.

Introduction

Throughout history, stem cells (SCs) have been widely employed, even before knowing their pluripotency mechanisms. The first successful therapeutic application of SCs was the bone marrow transplantation in 1968 (Bach et al., 1968), from that date to the present the development technology has preside over multiple advances on identification, understanding, and SCs applications; the best example is the breakthrough development of induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs) from somatic cells, establishing a watershed in science progress (Doss et al., 2019; Shi et al., 2017; Takahashi et al., 2006). Cell reprogramming mediated by the Yamanaka factors expanded the view around SCs, which already showed a very promising picture.

Since the isolation of human embryonic stem cells (hESC), SCs were proposed as a platform of study of human developmental biology, disease modeling, drug screening, and cell therapy (Gearhart, 1998; Thomson, 1998). Recent trends in regenerative and personalized medicine aim to develop specific metabolic disease models, where iPSCs cells can offer an additional advantage to achieve a more representative approach (Ittner et al., 2015; Chao et al., 2018; Nugraha et al., 2019; Schüssler-Fiorenza et al., 2019; Stoddard-Bennett et al., 2019). In this chapter, we will recapitulate the origins, obtention methods, novel research, applications, and future perspectives of iPSC for the modeling of neurological, cardiovascular, and diabetic metabolic disorders, since these pathologies are of major concern due to their incidence worldwide.

What are iPSCs?

iPSCs are a cell lineage with similar characteristics to embryonic SCs, they both express the same pluripotency factors, surface markers, and possess the capacity to differentiate into the three germ layers (Yu et al., 2007). The advantages of iPSCs include their human origin, accessibility, quick expansion, ability to self-renew, and pluripotent state providing the ability to form practically any cell type, in addition to the avoidance of ethical concerns associated with the obtention and management of hESCs (Shi et al., 2017).

Cell type	IPSC	ESC
Source	Any somatic cell	Embryos
Advantages	No ethical issues Easy to obtain Blood group compatibility HLA histocompatibility Disease modeling use Drug/toxicity profiling Efficient diffetentiation	Established and characterized Efficient differentiation MHC downregulation Disease modeling use
Disadvantages	Reprogramming needed Oncogene activation risk Early letality	Blastocist stage embryo destruction Limited blastocysts days Difficult obtention High mutation rate Immunosuppresants Tissue rejection

FIGURE 2.1

Induced pluripotent stem cells versus embryonic stem cells. Table indicating the differences between iPSCs and ESCs, including sources, advantages, and disadvantages.

In the early 2000s, a great discovery was achieved by Yamanaka, S. and Takahashi, K., in which they successfully generated new kinds of SCs similar to ESCs (Fig. 2.1) from mouse embryonic and adult fibroblasts cultures, these were called iPSCs. They were able to reprogram the gene expression of the fibroblasts by adding four transcription factors to the culture media: OCT4, SOX2, KLF4, and C-MYC, factors known as the Yamanaka factors, which help to induce and maintain the pluripotent state in the iPSCs generated (Shi et al., 2017; Takahashi et al., 2006). iPSCs have been widely used for disease modeling, drug screening, and cell therapy. Furthermore, the combination of iPSCs with organoids and gene editing, such as CRISPR-Cas9, turns these cells into a highly versatile tool for regenerative medicine and iPSCs-based drug screening to evaluate compounds with the potential to treat several diseases, resulting in clinical candidates being identified and some approved for their application (Shi et al., 2017; Mullard, 2015).

How are iPSCs obtained?

The generation of iPSCs was first conducted by reprogramming somatic cells, such as fibroblasts, introducing the Yamanaka factors: Oct4, Klf4, c-Myc, and Sox2, via

integrating viral vectors, in particular, retroviral and lentiviral transduction. Nevertheless, these methods might generate insertional mutagenesis in the host cells, turning these cells inadequate for their clinical application. To overcome this issue and reduce risks associated with vectors, nonintegrating methods have been developed in the later years, including episomal DNAs, synthetic mRNAs, Sendai virus, among others (Shi et al., 2017). Genome editing technologies provide the possibility to introduce genetic changes into iPSCs in a site-specific manner, generating isogenic iPSCs lines, distinctly important in sporadic and polygenic diseases (Hockemeyer et al., 2016).

iPSCs can be generated, technically, from any tissue of the body; nevertheless, the most employed sources are fibroblasts and peripheral blood mononuclear cells due to their easy access. The process of generation of iPSCs initiate by recollection of sample cells from the patient or animal model with the correct technique, then the somatic cells are transduced with the virus containing the reprogramming factors, either lentivirus, retrovirus, and sendai virus might be used. Once the reprogramming is achieved, morphological changes can be appreciated in the cultured cells forming ESCs-like colonies, which may be collected and clonally expanded. These clonal cells are cultured for several passages to ensure they conserve their characteristic morphology (Fig. 2.2; Zhang et al., 2020).

Subsequently, the obtained cells are tested for pluripotency gene expression, including Oct4, Sox2, Klf-4, c-Myc, and absence of virus derived transgenes that might compromise the iPSCs quality and functionality. Every iPSCs cell should express ESCs antigens, such as NANOG, SSEA-4, and TRA-1-80 to ensure their similarity, in addition to analyzing the alkaline phosphatase and telomerase activity to verify their cell cycle functionality. The previous steps may be achieved with the polymerase chain reaction technique. Additional steps that might be performed include the chromosomal analysis for a normal karyotype or identify possible translocations (Petrenko et al., 2020).

To verify the iPSCs pluripotency potential, it is necessary to test their capacity to form specialized tissue from the three germ layers. When cultured in suspension, the ESCs-like reprogrammed cells start to transform into embryoid bodies (EBs) and after approximately 2 weeks the EBs must have differentiated, in a spontaneous manner, to the three germ layers. This differentiation is analyzed by immunostaining of the corresponding markers of each germ layer, the most commonly used antibodies are alpha-fetoprotein for the endoderm layer, beta–III–tubulin for the ecto-dermal layer, and smooth-muscle antibody for the mesodermal layer (Holmqvist, 2016).

Current iPSCs models overview

Complex iPSC-based differentiation systems are currently being developed to conscientiously recapitulate human tissue-level and organ-level dysfunction, incorporated into disease modeling, drug screening and the study of host-pathogen



FIGURE 2.2

A graphic of human iPSCs-based therapy. Somatic cells are collected from affected patients and cultured, then the somatic cells are reprogrammed into iPSCs. Additionally, with genome editing technology or a viral transduction method it is possible to genetically correct the patient-derived iPSCs. The corrected iPSCs are differentiated into desired cell types to serve as genetically matched healthy donor cells. Finally, the genetically matched healthy cells are available for their application for research and disease modeling or clinical treatments by transplanting into patients for cell therapy.

Graphic adapted from Shi, Y., Inoue, H., Wu, J. C., Yamanaka, S., 2017. Induced pluripotent stem cell technology: a decade of progress. Nat. Rev. Drug Discov., 16 (2), 115–130. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrd.2016.245.

interactions (Rowe et al., 2019). Currently, the available models are in vitro culture and animal models. Animal models have provided several tools for modeling human diseases, contributing to the identification of pathological molecular mechanisms in an in vivo setting. However, species differences obstruct the possibility to capture the complete vision of the human disease, making urgent the need to establish human disease modeling platforms for biomedical research (Onos et al., 2016; Shi et al., 2017). Disease modeling applying iPSCs requires cells harboring the disease-causing mutation or damage, to differentiate them into the predisposed cell type needed to analyze the disease and identify the pathological mechanisms involved in its etiology. The phenotype of cells differentiated from iPSCs provides a good model for diseases with an early onset rather than late-onset due to their fetal-like properties (Studer et al., 2015). If necessary, aging in cells could be induced by treating them with cellular stressors, which target mitochondrial function or protein degradation pathways (Nguyen et al., 2011).

To improve disease modeling, it has been developed a coculture method of more than one cell type, in order to study their interaction (Shi et al., 2017). Yet, the interaction between different cell types could be better employing iPSCs-derived 3D organoids, due to their resemblance to endogenous cell organization and organ structure, enabling a cellular context that mimics physiology and development, with the potential to model drug response in a spatiotemporal context (Lancaster et al., 2014). 3D cultures still need to be improved with a more standardized culture medium and extracellular matrix, in order to correctly mimic their physiological environment, with greater vascularization, growth, maturation, and nutrient supply.

Metabolic disorders

Metabolic disorders are a heterogeneous group of disorders that may be inherited or may occur as the result of spontaneous mutation, involving failure of the metabolic pathways or intermediary metabolism leading to multiple-system manifestations, affecting millions of people worldwide (Stenton et al., 2020). They can be classified according to Dasgupta and Wahed in amino acid metabolism disorders, carbohydrate metabolism disorder, urea cycle disorder, organic acid disorders, fatty acid oxidation disorder, mitochondrial disorders, peroxisomal disorders, lysosomal storage disorders, purine or pyrimidine metabolic disorders, and disorders of porphyrin metabolism (Dasgupta et al., 2014). These disorders are also associated with lifestyle and inherited epigenetics, both altering gene and protein expression (Martínez et al., 2014).

This kind of disorder is characterized by the incapacity of usage and storage of energy derived from alimentation (Huynh et al., 2016). There is some controversial information regarding the role of microRNAs, a small class of noncoding RNAs (nc-RNAs) that regulate the expression of most protein-coding genes, in the pathogenesis of metabolic disorders, since they may represent potential biomarkers to diagnose a disease, besides possible molecular targets for their treatment (Assmann et al., 2019).

Human iPSC disease modeling provides an authentic genetic signature of human tissue and unlimited resources for identifying the mechanisms underlying the pathologies development (Park et al., 2008). In addition to the maturation setting, we can test novel pathophysiological approaches for generating patient-specific medicine. Studies involving international collaboration and increased numbers of patient samples and iPSCs quality controls would greatly facilitate the development of novel therapies (Kim, 2015). There is strong evidence of the use of iPSCs to successfully model metabolic disorders associated mainly with heart diseases (Chanana et al., 2016), neurodegenerative diseases (McKinney, 2017), and diabetes (Stepniewski et al., 2015).

Cardiovascular disorders

Cardiovascular diseases (CVD) are one of the leading causes of death worldwide with an increasing prevalence, according to the Global Burden of Disease, there were 422.7 estimated million cases of CVD and 17.92 million deaths in 2015. Some of the most significant CVD are heart failure, ischemic heart disease (IHD), myocardial infarction, stroke, hypertensive heart disease, cardiomyopathy, aortic aneurysm, atrial fibrillation, rheumatic heart disease, endocarditis, and peripheral arterial disease (Roth et al., 2017).

The cardiovascular system is complex with a broad interdependence with blood circulation, blood vessels, and blood constituents that act as the human body's transport system (Lafta Mossa, 2008; Savoji et al., 2019). The heart, considered as one of the main components of this system, is highly specialized, organized, and complex itself, it is made up of different cell types, ventricular or atrial cardiomyocytes (CMs), cardiac fibroblasts, endothelial cells (ECs), and perivascular cells (Zhou and Pu, 2016).

Since CMs are the most abundant constituent of the heart, approximately 30%–40% of mammalian heart cells are CMs, occupy around 70%–85% of the total volume and their role for generating contractile force and rhythmic beating in the heart they are considered as an important tool and approach to study the etiology of CVDs (Nakano et al., 2012; Pingzhu et al., 2016).

However, technical and ethical restrictions, as well as the limited possibility of isolation of human primary CMs hinder the establishment of models based on human surgical material (Brodehl et al., 2019), due to this, iPSC-based CMs are being studied to overcome the above difficulties.

In this section of the chapter, we will discuss the application of CMs derived from iPSC-CMs as a resource to model CVD. As well as in other metabolic diseases, motivation for developing accurate and predictive CVD models has three approaches: increasing knowledge of CVD pathophysiology; studying, testing, and discovering new treatments for CVDs; screening for adverse heart drug reactions, considered as a primary risk in drug development.

Cardiomyocytes

CMs are enigmatic and incredible highly organized cells that fulfill countless functions as they are engaged in the generation of contractile force and regulation of the heart rhythmic beating (Woodcock et al., 2005). Almost half of the total volume of a single CM is made up by myofibrils and a quarter is occupied by mitochondria's (Nakano et al., 2012). CMs are characterized by specialized structures such as sarcolemma and sarcoplasmic reticulum, whose functions remain uncertain. Along with the sarcoplasmic reticulum, sarcolemma forms the T- tubular system, forming a branched and interconnected network that is critical in calcium signaling and excitation-contraction necessary for beat-to-beat heart contraction. Sarcoplasmic reticulum regulates Ca^{2+} cytosolic concentration, and it is responsible for the Ca^{2+} source in excitation–contraction coupling (Walker et al., 1999).

Cardiomyocyte differentiation

CMs derived from embryonic stem cells (ESCs) or iPSCs can be achieved by three strategies: spontaneous differentiation, monolayer cultures, and inductive coculture (Leitolis et al., 2019).

Spontaneous differentiation based on suspension culture in vitro produces 3D aggregates named as EBs, which not only develop CM but also cells from other germ layers, according to Zhang et al. (2009), EBs can be cultured in attachment plates and treated with differentiation medium for further development of beating areas. As for inductive coculture, this method was reported for the first time by Christine et al. (2003), it basically consists of coculturing SCs with visceral endoderm (VE)like cells from the mouse. Similarly, monolayer-based protocols require the addition of growth factors to increase differentiation efficiency (Fig. 2.6). Among these protocols, it is important to consider the critical factors and signaling pathways involved such as BMP4, Wnt, and FGF (Leitolis et al., 2019).

CVDs modeled by iPSC-CMs

IHD also known as coronary heart disease (CHD) is common among developed countries and according to the American Heart Association approximately 15.4 million people older than 20 years have IHD in the United States (Ferreira-González, 2013). The term ischemia refers to the lack of oxygen and blood flow, thus CHD is due to narrowed heart arteries responsible for blood supply to the heart (Institute of Medicine (US) Committee on Social Security Cardiovascular Disability Criteria, 2010). Recently, Wei et al. (2019) developed an IHD model using CMs differentiated from human induced pluripotent cells (hiPSC-CMs) and optimizing ischemic conditions. Results were encouraging due to the observed consistencies within in vivo conditions in the heart, as the mimicry of the in vivo IL8 increased.

In addition, genome editing techniques as CRISPR/Cas9 or TALEN might be used to induce genetic mutations in iPSC-CMs development to investigate the pathological changes caused by gene mutations. Hypertrophic cardiomyopathy (HCM), a genetic disorder commonly related to left ventricular diastolic function is caused by mutations in genes associated with sarcomere proteins (Marian and Braunwald, 2017). In order to study the role of PRKAG2 mutation in the pathophysiology of this disease, patient's iPSC-CMs were generated and then the PRKAG2 mutation was corrected by CRISPR/Cas9, this emendation notably improved the electrophysiological activity in comparison with PRKAG2-mutated iPSC-CMs (Ben Jehuda et al., 2018). Diastolic dysfunction (DD) has also been modeled based on iPSC-CMs in order to unveil its mechanisms. iPSC-CMs was analyzed as well as proteins involved in its handling. Results revealed novel information about DD in HCM physiology that is useful to develop new therapeutic targets (Wu et al., 2019).

Moreover, iPSC technology has also been used to mimic rare genetic cardiac disorders that cannot be equally reproduced using animal models and remain having nonunderstood gaps such as LEOPARD syndrome, an autosomal dominant disorder caused by missense mutations in PTPN11. Research groups have developed iPSC from LEOPARD patients that could work as a platform for drug and treatment development (Carvajal-Vergara et al., 2010).

Therefore, it is crucial to consider novel disease modeling techniques as iPSC application, where derived CMs offer a new opportunity and novel approach in the study of cardiovascular pathologies and rare cardiac-related genetic disorders.

Diabetes

Diabetes mellitus (DM) is a chronic disease comprising a group of metabolic disorders involving carbohydrate, protein, and fat-causing elevated blood glucose concentrations (hyperglycemia) due to insulin deficiency or resistance. Thus, it has an elevated incidence worldwide, there are approximately almost 425 million cases reported and the rate keeps going up. DM is mainly classified into two types, type 1 and type 2 (T1DM and T2DM, respectively). T1DM is generated by an autoimmune response that destroys the insulin-secreting β -cells of the pancreas while T2DM manifests through poor insulin secretion and insulin resistance. As a result of hyperglycemia, comorbidities as CVDs, nephropathy, and tissue or organ damage might develop (Kruszynska, 2004; Dadheech et al., 2019; Harreiter et al., 2019; Hossain et al., 2016).

Since DM is a high incidence disease, efforts to study and look for new therapeutic options have been made for several years; however, there is a lack of diabetes cellular models because of the complexity of functional human pancreatic β -cells obtention. Up to date, the most representative model of human β -cells is the EndoC- β H1 cell line, generated from the human fetal pancreas by lentiviral transduction (Scharfmann et al., 2014; Tsonkova et al., 2018). However, the high costs and limited access to human pancreatic β -cells and the necessity of functional cells for DM treatment have promoted the iPSC disease modeling approach.

The obtention of insulin-producing cells derived from iPSC (INS-iPSC) is based on mimicking embryo developmental processes via multiple differentiation stages and it is important to consider the definitive endoderm (DE) differentiation and the spheroid formation for the differentiation functional pancreatic β -cells (Yabe et al., 2017).

iPSC-based pancreatic β -cells as a model of disease

Successful differentiation of iPSC to pancreatic β -cells is the first and key step for modeling DM disorders and its schematic representation can be found in Fig. 2.7. Footprint free β -cells can be obtained from healthy patients while cells carrying monogenic mutations can be obtained whether from Diabetic patients iPSCs (DiPSC) or by genome editing techniques, additionally, DiPSC genetic abnormalities can also be repaired or modified by novel genome editing techniques to explore

the viability of gene therapy (Kawser Hossain et al., 2016). In 2013, iPSC-derived β -cells that modeled diabetes due to glucokinase deficiency were successfully generated and it demonstrated that SC-derived β -cells maintained the physiological phenotype of diabetic subjects (Hua et al., 2013).

A novel example of iPSC implementation to model and study DM is the representation of neonatal or congenital diabetes which is caused by mutations in the insulin gene (INS) that can lead to β -cell apoptosis (Lemelman et al., 2018). In order to delve into the cellular mechanisms of this disorder, Balboa et al. (2018) generated β cells derived from iPSCs of patients carrying INS mutations, differentiation to pancreatic β -cell was carried out after previous correction of the mutation by CRISPR/Cas9 system. These experiments showed that INS mutations related to neonatal diabetes promote the disease development by leading to defective β -cell mass expansion.

Neurodegenerative disorders

Neurodegenerative disorders a prominent class of neurological diseases without cure, however, rather treated by pharmacological or stimulus therapy. They are characterized by an inexorable loss of a specific type of neuron according to the disease (Fu et al., 2018). Complex morphological characteristics prone those to defects, such as long-range neural projections and broad synaptic connections, making them selectively vulnerable due to increased metabolic demands to maintain the structural complexity of the cells involved. These disorders share molecular and cellular characteristics, such as protein aggregation, mitochondrial dysfunction, glutamate toxicity, calcium load, proteolytic stress, oxidative stress, neuroinflammation, and aging. All of the anterior contribute to neuronal death and disease development (Fig. 2.3; Gan et al., 2018; Pacelli et al., 2015).



FIGURE 2.3

Cellular neurodegenerative process. The neurodegeneration process is initiated by metabolic disruption events in the neurons, such as protein overexpression or misfolding. These events activate microglial cells and the BBB, sending signals (cytokines) which induce inflammation in the brain. Inflammation leads to neuronal damage and finally neurodegeneration.

Aberrant production of misfolded proteins and their aggregation in the brain may cause complex and distinctive pathophysiological profiles in several neurodegenerative proteinopathies. Some features attributed to these diseases include β -amyloid (A β) plaques, phosphorylated Tau-containing tangles, in Alzheimer's disease (AD) (Masters et al., 2015), and Lewy bodies associated with α -synuclein protein in Parkinson's disease (PD) (Dettmer et al., 2015). However, the majority of AD and PD cases are idiopathic, which causes studying these disorders mechanisms very difficult without access to damaged tissue in the patient's nervous system. Postmortem brain tissues have provided essential pathological information in order to understand neurodegenerative mechanisms, nonetheless, it is not suitable for identifying the biological changes during initial stages of the disease.

Furthermore, transgenic animals provide valuable models, but the microenvironment and the species differences may be major reasons why transgenic animals have been largely unable to sufficiently recapitulate disease phenotypes (Wu et al., 2019). Recent advances in reprogramming patient somatic cells into iPSCs have provided a novel means to generate disease-relevant cells for in vitro disease modeling reports (Hotta et al., 2015; Keller et al., 2000; Shi et al., 2017).

Parkinson's disease

The core feature of PD involves selective loss of A9-type dopaminergic neurons that project from the *substantia nigra pars compacta* (SNPc) in the midbrain to the dorsal striatum (Alexander, 2004). Dopamine dyshomeostasis is highly related to the metabolite 3,4-dihydroxyphenylacetaldehyde (DOPAL), resulting in the alteration of functional protein residues, protein aggregation, oxidative stress, and finally cell death. These fatal results are due to the DOPAL triggering of α -synuclein oligomerization leading to synapse impairment, including dopamine leakage from synaptic vesicles (Masato et al., 2019). Therefore, α -synuclein metabolism plays an important role in the development of PD, some factors that promote this protein aggregation are mitochondrial dysfunction, oxidative stress, neurotoxins, and oxidation, trafficking or mutation of α -synuclein (Hashimoto et al., 2004).

There is some clinical convergence between PD and metabolic disorders such as lysosomal storage diseases leading to systemic manifestations in the liver, spleen, and bone marrow to progressive neurodegenerative diseases, for example, cholesterol deposition in neurons (Baris et al., 2014); disorders in metal metabolism like copper or iron generating oxidative damage in basal ganglia, increased oxidative stress, toxic oligomers formation, membrane breakage, enhanced α -synuclein fibrillation, and neuronal damage (Carboni et al., 2015); aminoacid metabolism disorders influence in PD pathophysiology via chronic reduction of neurotransmitters levels, free radicals generation, suppression of brain energy metabolism through the inhibition of the respiratory chain (Sgaravatti et al., 2003; Limphaibool et al., 2018).

PD can be categorized into two types: genetic or familial and sporadic or idiopathic, the genetic form only represents the 10% of the total population diagnosed with this disease, while the other 90% represents a sporadic form. A great discovery achieved with iPSCs-PD models is the neuronal death induced by mitochondrial dysfunction due to oxidative stress, playing an important role in the sporadic PD research (Ambasudhan et al., 2013; Ludtmann et al., 2018).

The first gene that was linked to PD was the SNCA gene, which encodes the protein α -synuclein, although the function is not well understood. PD-iPSCs models have shown that SNCA is associated with α -synuclein aggregation and Lewy body-like deposition in dopaminergic neurons. One gene that has been correlated with both genetic and sporadic forms of PD is the LRRK2 gene, and it is associated with upregulation of the α -synuclein protein, elevated expression of key oxidative stress-response genes, and mitochondrial dysfunction in dopaminergic neurons that were derived from PD-iPSCs (Cooper et al., 2012). Another related gene is PARK2 or Parkin, this is an E3 ubiquitin ligase that targets mitochondria, mutations in PARK2 are associated with an autosomal recessive early onset familial PD and are correlated to loss of tyrosine hydroxylase (TH)-positive dopaminergic neurons (Shaltouki et al., 2015). One event that results in the loss of Parkin expression is exon deletion, leading to increased oxidative stress, reduced dopamine (DA) uptake and increased spontaneous DA release in dopaminergic neurons derived from PD-iPSCs. These observations suggest that Parkin is involved in controlling DA neurotransmission and suppressing DA oxidation in human midbrain dopaminergic neurons (Jiang et al., 2012). In the case of sporadic PD, GBA1 encodes a lysosomal enzyme, β -glucocerebrosidase, involved in glycolipid metabolism, mutations in GBA1 were correlated to lowered β -glucocerebrosidase activity and α -synuclein accumulation in dopaminergic neurons derived from PD-iPSCs (Woodard et al., 2014).

One alternative to study PD is through the recently developed method to generate brain organoids: these may help to create complex 3D models of midbrain tissue from iPSCs. 3D brain or midbrain organoids will allow the exploration of multiple factors that contribute to PD and broaden the potential targets for drug development to neuron-adjacent cells (Wu et al., 2019) due to the inclusion of well-characterized neurons, astroglia, and oligodendrocytes in a coculture manner (Monzel et al., 2017). A large number of studies show that human iPSCs can be used as a reliable source for the generation of disease-relevant cell types to investigate the development of patient-derived iPSCs into specific neuronal subtypes and 3D organoids, we are now able to better recapitulate the cellular progression toward neurodegeneration in vitro allowing researchers to discover new methods to manipulate iPSC-derived neurons, uncovering novel disease phenotypes and eventually identifying novel successful clinical interventions (Fig. 2.4; Wu et al., 2019).

Models of PD in the actuality focus on the two principal characteristics of the disease: loss of functionality of dopaminergic neurons and α -synuclein protein aggregates (Falkenburger et al., 2016). One of the most used models is the SH-SY5Y neuroblastoma cell line and the PC12 cell line, because they are able to produce catecholamines and develop neuron-like properties, but differentiation of these lines is difficult, they are used for pharmacological interventions (Jang et al., 2016).



Parkinson's disease model. In a model of PD, iPSCs might be genetically corrected or produced when the disorder is associated with a genetic aberration in order to generate neural progenitor cells and dopaminergic neurons by a differentiation protocol. These cells can be used for different purposes such as cryopreservation for further use, drug testing, scaling up and rodent/animal grafting for disease modeling and research.

A second line used for modeling PD is the lund human mesencephalic cell line (LUHMES), providing a more stable dopaminergic phenotype, since they show neuronal markers, long processes, and electrical properties similar to dopaminergic neurons (Lotharius et al., 2005).

Another approach is the use of iPSCs from patients to generate more accurate models of the disease, providing a better tool for understanding pathogenic mechanisms of neurological disorders, the capacity to develop personalized therapeutic strategies, and the possibility to study early pathogenic mechanisms. It has been developed a model for a comparative analysis of multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells, derived from adult bone marrow, adipose tissue, and wharton's jelly, to determine if they could be a future therapeutic tool for regenerative medicine, with a focus on neuroregenerative potential (Petrenko et al., 2020). They found that the secretome of these cells had neurotrophic potential to stimulate the neurite outgrowth and reduce death of neural SCs after oxidative stress. Also, a model generated from iPSCs of young-onset PD from patients with the disorder confirmed the implication of lysosomal degradation pathways, mitochondrial dysfunction, and impaired mitophagy in PD pathogenesis. In addition, they tested two neuroprotective compounds, phorbol esters, in their iPSCs-PD models, resulting in reduced α -synuclein aggregation, increased TH-positive neurons in mesencephalic dopaminergic neuron cultures (Laperle et al., 2020). It is important to mention that the creation of libraries of iPSCs from patients is becoming an important source of preclinical models of PD for future developments (Smith et al., 2020).

Alzheimer's disease

AD is characterized by the brain volume reduction and hippocampal degeneration. The pathological hallmarks are extracellular $A\beta$ plaques and aggregation of

hyperphosphorylated tau protein in neurofibrillary tangles, which tend to aggregate, causing neuronal dysfunction and cell death (Wray et al., 2009). Researchers found that iPSC-derived neurons from different patients showed different pathophysiology of AD, especially in the accumulation of A β oligomers (Kondo et al., 2013). Other common signs of AD include gliosis, inflammation, abnormalities of the Blood-Brain Barrier (BBB), altered pathways of cellular and endocytic degradation, and elevated DNA damage (De Strooper et al., 2016).

Glucose is the principal energy source of neurons and astrocytes in the brain requiring glucose transporters and insulin for optimal utilization, therefore type 2 diabetes is a great risk factor to AD. Oxidative stress also contributes to pathogenesis aggravating glucose dyshomeostasis, raising intracellular calcium levels, which damage DNA, interfering with gene transcription and promoter functionality, and RNA, impairing protein translation, all leading to AD development (Butterfield et al., 2019).

There are some investigations relating impaired mitochondrial energy metabolism as the defining characteristic of several cases of AD, due to a compensatory mechanism of energy production to maintain challenged neuronal cells (Demetrius et al., 2013). An increase in molecular disorder in mitochondrial metabolism in neurons and energy production in astrocytes generate higher thermodynamic entropy, thus inducing detrimental effects in molecular fidelity, such as conformational changes and covalent modifications in structure, resulting in protein misfolding and amyloid formation (Cornwell and Westermark, 1980; Demetrius et al., 2004). Regularly, mature neurons do not enter the cell cycle, nor complete mitosis, however, if there is DNA damage due to oxidative stress. Thus, leading to cell cycle entry, activation of DNA repair mechanisms, and if repair is not successful, apoptotic pathways will be triggered and cause neuronal loss (Zhu et al., 2007).

There are studies carried out for AD that use brain cells derived from iPSC, to generate neurons with a mutation that demonstrate high expression in A β , p-tau, and GABAergic neuron degeneration in APOE4 neurons, apolipoprotein E4 (APOE4) is a strong genetic risk factor for AD (Israel et al., 2012; Wang et al., 2018). The generation of neural precursors from iPSC has also been extensively studied, in the production of astrocytes, the mutation in PSEN1 increased A β production and oxidative stress, altered cytokine release and Ca2+ homeostasis, thus reducing neuronal support function in PSEN1 astrocytes (Oksanen et al., 2017). Another studied mutation has been APOE3 and APOE4 which manifests impaired A β clearance and increased cholesterol content of APOE4 astrocytes. For microglia, the isogenic APOE3 and APOE4 mutations have demonstrated a reduced A β uptake from media and organoids (Lin et al., 2018). Kondo et al. and Israel et al. report the discovery that Aβ-oligomers accumulating neurons from individual iPSC cell damage are associated with increased reactive-oxygen-species (ROS). For that, AD patient iPSC-derived neurons might be a competent therapeutic model and testing ground to find the patient's optimal pharmacological regimen and with the use of 3D in vitro cultures, explore the pathophysiology of AD (Fig. 2.5).



FIGURE 2.5

Alzheimer's disease model. Differentiation of somatic cells from patients can be reprogrammed to iPSCs and then differentiated into several brain cell types for 3D in vitro AD modeling, to examine interactions between the different cell types.



FIGURE 2.6

Cardiovascular disease models. Spontaneous differentiation based on EB formation (*blue arrows*), Inductive co-culture (green) and monolayer-based protocols employing the addition of growth factors (red).

Future applications

Massive progress has been made investigating disease mechanisms and potential treatments through patient-derived iPSCs in combination with gene-editing technologies, such as CRISPR-Cas9, making available new tools for understanding biological mechanisms underlying iPSC pluripotency, maintenance, and differentiation.



Schematic representation of iPSC-derived β -cells from healthy and diabetic patients used for modeling and studying DM pathogenesis.

Autologous iPSCs might avoid the serious side effects associated with lifelong immunosuppression required for allogeneic cell transplantation, representing a major advantage in the use of these cells for clinical purposes in the future (Pearl et al., 2012). The clinical utility of iPSCs-derived products relies on the state of the art of directed differentiation, cell state conversion, and tissue engineering (Doss et al., 2019).

In addition to pathological mechanisms of diseases via in vitro 2D modeling and future 3D models representing a better overview to pathophysiological conditions, enabling the spatiotemporal cellular interactions analysis, although there are several limitations in the present status of this technology that must be overcome in order to exploit the potential of the novel tools and techniques (Yin et al., 2016).

Limitations

Even though iPSCs are a well-established technology, there are still some obstacles associated with iPSC-based therapy before enabling it for clinical applications. One

issue is the risk of tumorigenicity due to their pluripotency state; besides, they can accumulate karyotypic abnormalities if maintained in culture for long periods of time. If these barriers are overcome, and cells have been correctly delivered, patients should be monitored for potential tumors and the immune system reactivity (Lund et al., 2012). Because of these concerns, iPSCs-derived products need to be completely characterized and screened for the lack of potentially genetic alterations and ensure their quality and innocuousness. There are still challenges to overcome for iPSCs; regarding the mechanisms of pluripotency, reprogramming and the derivation of some functional mature cells; nevertheless, several groups are looking behind these fundamental processes and it will be a hotspot for SC research in the upcoming years.

Conclusions

The iPSCs models can be induced from somatic cells and can be differentiated into specific cell types to mimic many worldwide known diseases. Novel studies generate new opportunities for medical treatments, but they also face many challenges such as the improvement of differentiation protocols of hiPSCs, in addition to prioritizing the safety and effectiveness of transplanted cells. We must keep in mind that SCs may provide an important tool for SC therapy, but it also results in some ethical concerns, the great advantage is that derivation of human-iPSCs from somatic cells avoids the destruction of human embryos and their manipulation for research, thus bypassing ethical problems arising from ESCs obtention and manipulation. iPSCs models of metabolic and neurodegenerative diseases, such as PD AD, and Diabetes, are just the beginning of a new era of medical advancements and technology that will be available for clinical treatments, disease prevention, finding novel cures for diseases, and more in a not so far future.

Acknowledgment

This work was supported by funds from Consejo Nacional de Ciencia y Tecnología (CONA-CyT; No 300638, 271307 and FODECIJAL; No. 8084-2019.

Conflicts of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

References

Alexander, G.E., 2004. Biology of Parkinson's disease: pathogenesis and pathophysiology of a multisystem neurodegenerative disorder. Dialogues Clin. Neurosci. 6 (3), 259–280.

- Ambasudhan, R., Ryan, S.D., Dolatabadi, N., Chan, S.F., Zhang, X., Akhtar, M.W., et al., 2013. Isogenic human iPSC Parkinson's model shows nitrosative stress-induced dysfunction in MEF2-PGC1α transcription. Cell 155 (6), 1351. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.cell.2013.11.009.
- Assmann, T.S., Milagro, F.I., Martínez, J.A., 2019. Crosstalk between microRNAs, the putative target genes and the lncRNA network in metabolic diseases. Mol. Med. Rep. 20 (4), 3543–3554.
- Bach, F.H., Albertini, R.J., Joo, P., Anderson, J.L., Bortin, M.M., 1968. Bone-marrow transplantation in a patient with the Wiskott-Aldrich syndrome. Lancet 2 (7583), 1364–1366. https://doi.org/10.1097/00007890-196910000-00026.
- Balboa, D., Saarimäki-Vire, J., Borshagovski, D., Survila, M., Lindholm, P., Galli, E., Eurola, S., Ustinov, J., Grym, H., Huopio, H., Partanen, J., Wartiovaara, K., Otonkoski, T., 2018. Insulin mutations impair beta-cell development in a patientderived iPSC model of neonatal diabetes. eLife 7, e38519.
- Baris, H.N., Cohen, I.J., Mistry, P.K., 2014. Gaucher disease: the metabolic defect, pathophysiology, phenotypes and natural history. Pediatr. Endocrinol. Rev. 12 (Suppl. 1(0 1)), 72–81.
- Ben Jehuda, R., Eisen, B., Shemer, Y., Mekies, L.N., Szantai, A., Reiter, I., Cui, H., Guan, K., Haron-Khun, S., Freimark, D., Sperling, S.R., Gherghiceanu, M., Arad, M., Binah, O., 2018. CRISPR correction of the PRKAG2 gene mutation in the patient's induced pluripotent stem cell-derived cardiomyocytes eliminates electrophysiological and structural abnormalities. Heart Rhythm 15 (2), 267–276. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.hrthm.2017.09.024.
- Brodehl, A., Ebbinghaus, H., Deutsch, M.A., Gummert, J., Gärtner, A., Ratnavadivel, S., Milting, H., 2019. Human induced pluripotent stem-cell-derived cardiomyocytes as models for genetic cardiomyopathies. Int. J. Mol. Sci. 20 (18), 4381. https://doi.org/ 10.3390/ijms20184381.
- Butterfield, D.A., Halliwell, B., 2019. Oxidative stress, dysfunctional glucose metabolism and Alzheimer disease. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 20 (3), 148–160. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41583-019-0132-6.
- Chao, Y., Xu, L., Liang, C., Feng, L., Xu, J., Dong, Z., Tian, L., Yi, X., Yang, K., & Liu, Z., 2018. Combined local immunostimulatory radioisotope therapy and systemic immune checkpoint blockade imparts potent antitumour responses. Nature biomedical engineering, 2(8), 611–621.
- Carboni, E., Lingor, P., 2015. Insights on the interaction of alpha-synuclein and metals in the pathophysiology of Parkinson's disease. Metallomics 7 (3), 395–404. https://doi.org/ 10.1039/c4mt00339j.
- Carvajal-Vergara, X., Sevilla, A., D'Souza, S.L., Ang, Y.S., Schaniel, C., Lee, D.F., Yang, L., Kaplan, A.D., Adler, E.D., Rozov, R., Ge, Y., Cohen, N., Edelmann, L.J., Chang, B., Waghray, A., Su, J., Pardo, S., Lichtenbelt, K.D., Tartaglia, M., Gelb, B.D., et al., 2010. Patient-specific induced pluripotent stem-cell-derived models of LEOPARD syndrome. Nature 465 (7299), 808–812. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature09005.
- Chanana, A.M., Rhee, J.W., Wu, J.C., 2016. Human-induced pluripotent stem cell approaches to model inborn and acquired metabolic heart diseases. Curr. Opin. Cardiol. 31 (3), 266–274. https://doi.org/10.1097/HCO.0000000000277.

- Christine, M., Dorien, W.O., Pieter, D., Rene, S., Stieneke, van den B., Rutger, H., Marcel, van der H., Tobias, O., Martin, P., Brutel, de la R.A., Robert, P., Leon, T., 2003. Differentiation of human embryonic stem cells to cardiomyocytes. Circulation 107 (21), 2733–2740. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.CIR.0000068356.38592.68.
- Cooper, O., Seo, H., Andrabi, S., Guardia-Laguarta, C., Graziotto, J., Sundberg, M., McLean, J.R., Carrillo-Reid, L., Xie, Z., Osborn, T., Hargus, G., Deleidi, M., Lawson, T., Bogetofte, H., Perez-Torres, E., Clark, L., Moskowitz, C., Mazzulli, J., Chen, L., Volpicelli-Daley, L., et al., 2012. Pharmacological rescue of mitochondrial deficits in iPSC-derived neural cells from patients with familial Parkinson's disease. Sci. Transl. Med. 4 (141), 141ra90. https://doi.org/10.1126/scitranslmed.3003985.
- Cornwell 3rd, C.G., Westermark, P., 1980. Senile amyloidosis: a protean manifestation of the aging process. J. Clin. Pathol. 33 (12), 1146–1152.
- Dadheech, N., James Shapiro, A.M., 2019. Human induced pluripotent stem cells in the curative treatment of diabetes and potential impediments ahead. Adv. Exp. Med. Biol. 1144, 25–35. https://doi.org/10.1007/5584_2018_30510.1007/5584_2018_305.
- Dasgupta, A., Wahed, A., 2014. Inborn errors of metabolism. In: Clinical Chemistry, Immunology and Laboratory Quality Control, pp. 213–228. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-407821-5.00012-7.
- De Strooper, B., Karran, E., 2016. The cellular phase of Alzheimer's disease. Cell 164 (4), 603–615. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2015.12.056.
- Demetrius, L.A., Driver, J., 2013. Alzheimer's as a metabolic disease. Biogerontology 14 (6), 641–649. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10522-013-9479-7.
- Demetrius, L., Gundlach, V.M., Ochs, G., 2004. Complexity and demographic stability in population models. Theor. Popul. Biol 65 (3), 211–225.
- Dettmer, U., Newman, A.J., Soldner, F., Luth, E.S., Kim, N.C., von Saucken, V.E., Sanderson, J.B., Jaenisch, R., Bartels, T., Selkoe, D., 2015. Parkinson-causing α-synuclein missense mutations shift native tetramers to monomers as a mechanism for disease initiation. Nat. Commun. 6, 7314. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms8314.
- Doss, M.X., Sachinidis, A., 2019. Current challenges of iPSC-based disease modeling and therapeutic implications. Cells 8 (5), 403. https://doi.org/10.3390/cells8050403.
- Falkenburger, B.H., Saridaki, T., Dinter, E., 2016. Cellular models for Parkinson's disease. J. Neurochem. 139 (Suppl. 1), 121–130. https://doi.org/10.1111/jnc.13618.
- Ferreira-González, I., 2013. The epidemiology of coronary heart disease. Rev. Esp. Cardiol. 67 (2), 139–144. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rec.2013.10.002.
- Fu, H., Hardy, J., Duff, K.E., 2018. Selective vulnerability in neurodegenerative diseases. Nat. Neurosci. 21 (10), 1350–1358. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41593-018-0221-2.
- Gan, L., Cookson, M.R., Petrucelli, L., La Spada, A.R., 2018. Converging pathways in neurodegeneration, from genetics to mechanisms. Nat. Neurosci. 21 (10), 1300–1309. https:// doi.org/10.1038/s41593-018-0237-7.
- Gearhart, J., 1998. Cell biology: new potential for human embryonic stem cells. Science 282 (5391), 1061–1062. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.282.5391.1061.
- Harreiter, J., Roden, M., 2019. Diabetes mellitus—definition, classification, diagnosis, screening and prevention (Update 2019). Wien Klin. Wochenschr. 131 (1), 6–15. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00508-019-1450-4.
- Hashimoto, M., Kawahara, K., Bar-On, P., Rockenstein, E., Crews, L., Masliah, E., 2004. The Role of alpha-synuclein assembly and metabolism in the pathogenesis of Lewy body disease. J. Mol. Neurosci. 24 (3), 343–352. https://doi.org/10.1385/JMN:24:3:343.

- Hockemeyer, D., Jaenisch, R., 2016. Induced pluripotent stem cells Meet genome editing. Cell Stem Cell 18 (5), 573–586. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2016.04.013.
- Holmqvist, S., Lehtonen, S., Chumarina, M., Puttonen, K.A., Azevedo, C., Lebedeva, O., Ruponen, M., Oksanen, M., Djelloul, M., Collin, A., Goldwurm, S., Meyer, M., Lagarkova, M., Kiselev, S., Koistinaho, J., Roybon, L., 2016. Creation of a library of induced pluripotent stem cells from Parkinsonian patients. NPJ Parkinsons Dis. 2, 16009. https://doi.org/10.1038/npiparkd.2016.9.
- Hotta, A., Yamanaka, S., 2015. From genomics to gene therapy: induced pluripotent stem cells Meet genome editing. Annu. Rev. Genet. 49 (1), 47–70. https://doi.org/10.1146/ annurev-genet-112414-054926.
- Hua, H., Shang, L., Martinez, H., Freeby, M., Gallagher, M.P., Ludwig, T., Deng, L., Greenberg, E., Leduc, C., Chung, W.K., Goland, R., Leibel, R.L., Egli, D., 2013. iPSCderived β cells model diabetes due to glucokinase deficiency. J. Clin. Invest. 123 (7), 3146–3153. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI67638.
- Huynh, K., Schneider, M., Gareau, M.G., 2016. The Gut-Brain Axis (Chapter 15). In: Altering the Gut Microbiome for Cognitive Benefit?. Academic Press, pp. 319–337.
- Institute of Medicine (US) Committee on Social Security Cardiovascular Disability Criteria, 2010. Heart Failure, Cardiomyopathy, and Right Heart Failure. Cardiovascular Disability: Updating the Social Security Listings. National Academies Press (US). https://doi.org/ 10.17226/12940.
- Israel, M.A., Yuan, S.H., Bardy, C., Reyna, S.M., Mu, Y., Herrera, C., Hefferan, M.P., Van Gorp, S., Nazor, K.L., Boscolo, F.S., Carson, C.T., Laurent, L.C., Marsala, M., Gage, F.H., Remes, A.M., Koo, E.H., Goldstein, L.S., 2012. Probing sporadic and familial Alzheimer's disease using induced pluripotent stem cells. Nature 482 (7384), 216–220. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature10821.
- Ittner, L.M., Halliday, G.M., Kril, J.J., Götz, J., Hodges, J.R., Kiernan, M.C., 2015. FTD and ALS-translating mouse studies into clinical trials. Nat. Rev. Neurol. 11 (6), 360–366. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrneurol.2015.65.
- Jang, W., Kim, H.J., Li, H., Jo, K.D., Lee, M.K., Yang, H.O., 2016. The neuroprotective effect of erythropoietin on rotenone-induced neurotoxicity in SH-SY5Y cells through the induction of autophagy. Mol. Neurobiol. 53 (6), 3812–3821.
- Jiang, H., Ren, Y., Yuen, E.Y., Zhong, P., Ghaedi, M., Hu, Z., Azabdaftari, G., Nakaso, K., Yan, Z., Feng, J., 2012. Parkin controls dopamine utilization in human midbrain dopaminergic neurons derived from induced pluripotent stem cells. Nat. Commun. 3, 668. https:// doi.org/10.1038/ncomms1669.
- Kawser Hossain, M., Abdal Dayem, A., Han, J., Kumar Saha, S., Yang, G.-M., Choi, H.Y., Cho, S.-G., 2016. Recent advances in disease modeling and drug discovery for diabetes mellitus using induced pluripotent stem cells. Int. J. Mol. Sci. 17 (2), 256. https:// doi.org/10.3390/ijms17020256.
- Keller, J.N., Huang, F.F., Markesbery, W.R., 2000. Decreased levels of proteasome activity and proteasome expression in aging spinal cord. Neuroscience 98 (1), 149–156. https:// doi.org/10.1016/S0306-4522(00)00067-1.
- Kim, C., 2015. iPSC technology–Powerful hand for disease modeling and therapeutic screen. BMB Rep 48 (5), 256–265.
- Kondo, T., Asai, M., Tsukita, K., Kutoku, Y., Ohsawa, Y., Sunada, Y., Imamura, K., Egawa, N., Yahata, N., Okita, K., Takahashi, K., Asaka, I., Aoi, T., Watanabe, A., Watanabe, K., Kadoya, C., Nakano, R., Watanabe, D., Maruyama, K., Hori, O., et al., 2013. Modeling Alzheimer's disease with iPSCs reveals stress phenotypes associated with intracellular Aβ and differential drug responsiveness. Cell Stem Cell 12 (4), 487–496. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2013.01.009.

- Kruszynska, Y.T., 2004. Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus : Etiology, Pathogenesis and Clinical, pp. 2–3 (Chapter 2).
- Lafta Mossa, H.A., 2008. Engineering modeling of human cardiovascular system. AlNahrain Univ. Coll. Eng. J. (NUCEJ) 11 (2), 307–314.
- Lancaster, M.A., Knoblich, J.A., 2014. Organogenesis in a dish: modeling development and disease using organoid technologies. Science 345 (6194), 1247125. https://doi.org/ 10.1126/science.1247125.
- Laperle, A.H., Sances, S., Yucer, N., Dardov, V.J., Garcia, V.J., Ho, R., Fulton, A.N., Jones, M.R., Roxas, K.M., Avalos, P., West, D., Banuelos, M.G., Shu, Z., Murali, R., Maidment, N.T., Van Eyk, J.E., Tagliati, M., Svendsen, C.N., 2020. iPSC modeling of young-onset Parkinson's disease reveals a molecular signature of disease and novel therapeutic candidates. Nat. Med 26 (2), 289–299.
- Leitolis, A., Robert, A.W., Pereira, I.T., Correa, A., Stimamiglio, M.A., 2019. Cardiomyogenesis modeling using pluripotent stem cells: the role of microenvironmental signaling. Front. Cell Dev. Biol. 7, 164. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcell.2019.00164.
- Lemelman, M.B., Letourneau, L., Greeley, S.A.W., 2018. Neonatal diabetes mellitus: an update on diagnosis and management. Clin. Perinatol. 45 (1), 41–59. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.clp.2017.10.006.
- Limphaibool, N., Iwanowski, P., Holstad, M., Perkowska, K., 2018. Parkinsonism in inherited metabolic disorders: key considerations and major features. Front. Neurol 9, 857.
- Lin, Y.T., Seo, J., Gao, F., Feldman, H.M., Wen, H.L., Penney, J., et al., 2018. APOE4 causes widespread molecular and cellular alterations associated with Alzheimer's disease phenotypes in human iPSC-derived brain cell types. Neuron 98 (6), 1141e7–1154e7. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2018.05.008.
- Lotharius, J., Falsig, J., van Beek, J., Payne, S., Dringen, R., Brundin, P., & Leist, M., 2005. Progressive degeneration of human mesencephalic neuron-derived cells triggered by dopamine-dependent oxidative stress is dependent on the mixed-lineage kinase pathway. The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience, 25(27), 6329–6342.
- Ludtmann, M., Angelova, P.R., Horrocks, M.H., Choi, M.L., Rodrigues, M., Baev, A.Y., Berezhnov, A.V., Yao, Z., Little, D., Banushi, B., Al-Menhali, A.S., Ranasinghe, R.T., Whiten, D.R., Yapom, R., Dolt, K.S., Devine, M.J., Gissen, P., Kunath, T., Jaganjac, M., Pavlov, E.V., et al., 2018. α-synuclein oligomers interact with ATP synthase and open the permeability transition pore in Parkinson's disease. Nat. Commun. 9 (1), 2293. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-018-04422-2.
- Lund, R.J., Närvä, E., Lahesmaa, R., 2012. Genetic and epigenetic stability of human pluripotent stem cells. Nat. Rev. Genet. 13 (10), 732–744. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrg3271.
- Marian, A.J., Braunwald, E., 2017. Hypertrophic cardiomyopathy: genetics, pathogenesis, clinical manifestations, diagnosis, and therapy. Circ. Res. 121 (7), 749–770. https:// doi.org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.117.311059.
- Martínez, J.A., Milagro, F.I., Claycombe, K.J., Schnalinske, K.L., 2014. Epigenetics in adipose tissue, obesity, weight loss, and diabetes. Adv. Nutr. 5 (1), 71–81.
- Masato, A., Plotegher, N., Boassa, D., Bubacco, L., 2019. Impaired dopamine metabolism in Parkinson's disease pathogenesis. Mol. Neurodegener. 14 (1), 35. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s13024-019-0332-6.

- Masters, C.L., Bateman, R., Blennow, K., Rowe, C.C., Sperling, R.A., Cummings, J.L., 2015. Alzheimer's disease. Nat. Rev. 1, 15056. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrdp.2015.56.
- McKinney, C.E., 2017. Using induced pluripotent stem cells derived neurons to model brain diseases. Neural Regen. Res. 12 (7), 1062–1067. https://doi.org/10.4103/1673-5374.211180.
- Monzel, A.S., Smits, L.M., Hemmer, K., Hachi, S., Moreno, E.L., van Wuellen, T., Jarazo, J., Walter, J., Brüggemann, I., Boussaad, I., Berger, E., Fleming, R., Bolognin, S., Schwamborn, J.C., 2017. Derivation of human midbrain-specific organoids from neuroepithelial stem cells. Stem Cell Rep. 8 (5), 1144–1154. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.stemcr.2017.03.010.
- Mullard, A., 2015. Stem-cell discovery platforms yield first clinical candidates. Nat. Rev. Drug Discov. 14 (9), 589–591. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrd4708.
- Nakano, S., Muramatsu, T., Nishimura, S., Senbonmatsu, T., 2012. Cardiomyocyte and heart failure. In: Current Basic and Pathological Approaches to the Function of Muscle Cells and Tissues - From Molecules to Humans, vol. i, p. 13. https://doi.org/10.5772/47772.
- Nguyen, H.N., Byers, B., Cord, B., Shcheglovitov, A., Byrne, J., Gujar, P., Kee, K., Schüle, B., Dolmetsch, R.E., Langston, W., Palmer, T.D., Pera, R.R., 2011. LRRK2 mutant iPSCderived DA neurons demonstrate increased susceptibility to oxidative stress. Cell Stem Cell 8 (3), 267–280. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2011.01.013.
- Nugraha, B., Buono, M.F., von Boehmer, L., Hoerstrup, S.P., Emmert, M.Y., 2019. Human cardiac organoids for disease modeling. Clin. Pharmacol. Ther. 105 (1), 79–85. https:// doi.org/10.1002/cpt.1286.
- Oksanen, M., Petersen, A.J., Naumenko, N., Puttonen, K., Lehtonen, Š., Gubert Olivé, M., Shakirzyanova, A., Leskelä, S., Sarajärvi, T., Viitanen, M., Rinne, J.O., Hiltunen, M., Haapasalo, A., Giniatullin, R., Tavi, P., Zhang, S.C., Kanninen, K.M., Hämäläinen, R.H., Koistinaho, J., 2017. PSEN1 mutant iPSC-derived model reveals severe astrocyte pathology in Alzheimer's disease. Stem Cell Rep. 9 (6), 1885–1897. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stemcr.2017.10.016.
- Onos, K.D., Sukoff Rizzo, S.J., Howell, G.R., Sasner, M., 2016. Toward more predictive genetic mouse models of Alzheimer's disease. Brain Res. Bull. 122, 1–11. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.brainresbull.2015.12.003.
- Pacelli, C., Giguère, N., Bourque, M.J., Lévesque, M., Slack, R.S., Trudeau, L.É., 2015. Elevated mitochondrial bioenergetics and axonal arborization size are key contributors to the vulnerability of dopamine neurons. Curr. Biol. 25 (18), 2349–2360. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2015.07.050.
- Park, I.H., Arora, N., Huo, H., Maherali, N., Ahfeldt, T., Shimamura, A., Lensch, M.W., Cowan, C., Hochedlinger, K., Daley, G.Q., 2008. Disease-specific induced pluripotent stem cells. Cell 134 (5), 877–886. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2008.07.041.
- Pearl, J.I., Kean, L.S., Davis, M.M., Wu, J.C., 2012. Pluripotent stem cells: immune to the immune system? Sci. Transl. Med. 4 (164), 164ps25. https://doi.org/10.1126/ scitranslmed.3005090.
- Petrenko, Y., Vackova, I., Kekulova, K., Chudickova, M., Koci, Z., Turnovcova, K., Kupcova Skalnikova, H., Vodicka, P., Kubinova, S., 2020. A comparative analysis of multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells derived from different sources, with a focus on neuroregenerative potential. Sci. Rep. 10 (1), 4290. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-61167-z.
- Roth, G.A., Johnson, C., Abajobir, A., Abd-Allah, F., Abera, S.F., Abyu, G., et al., 2017. Global, regional, and national burden of cardiovascular diseases for 10 causes, 1990 to 2015. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 70 (1), 1–25. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacc.2017.04.052.

- Rowe, R.G., Daley, G.Q., 2019. Induced pluripotent stem cells in disease modelling and drug discovery. Nat. Rev. Genet. 20 (7), 377–388. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41576-019-0100-z.
- Savoji, H., Mohammadi, M.H., Rafatian, N., Toroghi, M.K., Wang, E.Y., Zhao, Y., Korolj, A., Ahadian, S., Radisic, M., 2019. Cardiovascular disease models: a game changing paradigm in drug discovery and screening. Biomaterials 198, 3–26. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.biomaterials.2018.09.036.
- Scharfmann, R., Pechberty, S., Hazhouz, Y., von Bülow, M., Bricout-Neveu, E., Grenier-Godard, M., Guez, F., Rachdi, L., Lohmann, M., Czernichow, P., Ravassard, P., 2014. Development of a conditionally immortalized human pancreatic β cell line. J. Clin. Invest. 124 (5), 2087–2098. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI72674.
- Schüssler-Fiorenza Rose, S.M., Contrepois, K., Moneghetti, K.J., Zhou, W., Mishra, T., Mataraso, S., Dagan-Rosenfeld, O., Ganz, A.B., Dunn, J., Hornburg, D., Rego, S., Perelman, D., Ahadi, S., Sailani, M.R., Zhou, Y., Leopold, S.R., Chen, J., Ashland, M., Christle, J.W., Avina, M., et al., 2019. A longitudinal big data approach for precision health. Nat. Med. 25 (5), 792–804. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41591-019-0414-6.
- Sgaravatti, A.M., Rosa, R.B., Schuck, P.F., Ribeiro, C.A., Wannmacher, C.M., Wyse, A.T., Dutra-Filho, C.S., Wajner, M., 2003. Inhibition of brain energy metabolism by the alpha-keto acids accumulating in maple syrup urine disease. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1639 (3), 232–238. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbadis.2003.09.010.
- Shaltouki, A., Sivapatham, R., Pei, Y., Gerencser, A.A., Momčilović, O., Rao, M.S., Zeng, X., 2015. Mitochondrial alterations by PARKIN in dopaminergic neurons using PARK2 patient-specific and PARK2 knockout isogenic iPSC lines. Stem Cell Rep. 4 (5), 847–859. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stemcr.2015.02.019.
- Shi, Y., Inoue, H., Wu, J.C., Yamanaka, S., 2017. Induced pluripotent stem cell technology: a decade of progress. Nat. Rev. Drug Discov. 16 (2), 115–130. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nrd.2016.245.
- Smith, H.L., Freeman, O.J., Butcher, A.J., Holmqvist, S., Humoud, I., Schätzl, T., Hughes, D.T., Verity, N.C., Swinden, D.P., Hayes, J., de Weerd, L., Rowitch, D.H., Franklin, R., Mallucci, G.R., 2020. Astrocyte unfolded protein response induces a specific reactivity state that causes non-cell-autonomous neuronal degeneration. Neuron 105 (5), 855–866.e5.
- Stenton, S.L., Kremer, L.S., Kopajtich, R., Ludwig, C., Prokisch, H., 2020. The diagnosis of inborn errors of metabolism by an integrative "multi-omics" approach: a perspective encompassing genomics, transcriptomics, and proteomics. J. Inherit. Metab. Dis. 43 (1), 25–35. https://doi.org/10.1002/jimd.12130.
- Stepniewski, J., Kachamakova-Trojanowska, N., Ogrocki, D., Szopa, M., Matlok, M., Beilharz, M., Dyduch, G., Malecki, M.T., Jozkowicz, A., Dulak, J., 2015. Induced pluripotent stem cells as a model for diabetes investigation. Sci. Rep. 5, 8597. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/srep08597.
- Stoddard-Bennett, T., Reijo Pera, R., 2019. Treatment of Parkinson's disease through personalized medicine and induced pluripotent stem cells. Cells 8 (1), 26. https://doi.org/ 10.3390/cells8010026.
- Studer, L., Vera, E., Cornacchia, D., 2015. Programming and reprogramming cellular age in the era of induced pluripotency. Cell Stem Cell 16 (6), 591–600. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.stem.2015.05.004.
- Takahashi, K., Yamanaka, S., 2006. Induction of pluripotent stem cells from mouse embryonic and adult fibroblast cultures by defined factors. Cell 126 (4), 663–676. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2006.07.024.
- Thomson, J.A., 1998. Embryonic stem cell lines derived from human blastocysts. Science 282 (5391), 1145–1147. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.282.5391.1145.

- Tsonkova, V.G., Sand, F.W., Wolf, X.A., Grunnet, L.G., Kirstine Ringgaard, A., Ingvorsen, C., et al., 2018. The EndoC-βH1 cell line is a valid model of human beta cells and applicable for screenings to identify novel drug target candidates. Mol. Metab. 8, 144–157. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molmet.2017.12.007.
- Walker, C.A., Spinale, F.G., 1999. The structure and function of the cardiac myocyte: a review of fundamental concepts. J. Thorac. Cardiovasc. Surg. 118 (2), 375–382. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/S0022-5223(99)70233-3.
- Wang, C., Najm, R., Xu, Q., Jeong, D.E., Walker, D., Balestra, M.E., Yoon, S.Y., Yuan, H., Li, G., Miller, Z.A., Miller, B.L., Malloy, M.J., Huang, Y., 2018. Gain of toxic apolipoprotein E4 effects in human iPSC-derived neurons is ameliorated by a small-molecule structure corrector. Nat. Med. 24 (5), 647–657. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41591-018-0004-z.
- Wei, H., Wang, C., Guo, R., Takahashi, K., Naruse, K., 2019. Development of a model of ischemic heart disease using cardiomyocytes differentiated from human induced pluripotent stem cells. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 520 (3), 600–605. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.bbrc.2019.09.119.
- Woodard, C.M., Campos, B.A., Kuo, S.H., Nirenberg, M.J., Nestor, M.W., Zimmer, M., Mosharov, E.V., Sulzer, D., Zhou, H., Paull, D., Clark, L., Schadt, E.E., Sardi, S.P., Rubin, L., Eggan, K., Brock, M., Lipnick, S., Rao, M., Chang, S., Li, A., et al., 2014. iPSC-derived dopamine neurons reveal differences between monozygotic twins discordant for Parkinson's disease. Cell Rep. 9 (4), 1173–1182. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.celrep.2014.10.023.
- Woodcock, E.A., Matkovich, S.J., 2005. Cardiomyocytes structure, function and associated pathologies. Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol. 37 (9), 1746–1751. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.biocel.2005.04.011.
- Wray, S., Noble, W., 2009. Linking amyloid and tau pathology in Alzheimer's disease: the role of membrane cholesterol in Abeta-mediated tau toxicity. J. Neurosci. 29 (31), 9665–9667. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2234-09.2009.
- Wu, H., Yang, H., Rhee, J.-W., Zhang, J.Z., Lam, C.K., Sallam, K., Chang, A.C.Y., Ma, N., Lee, J., Zhang, H., Blau, H.M., Bers, D.M., Wu, J.C., 2019. Modelling diastolic dysfunction in induced pluripotent stem cell-derived cardiomyocytes from hypertrophic cardiomyopathy patients. Eur. Heart J. 40 (45), 3685–3695. https://doi.org/10.1093/eurheartj/ ehz326.
- Wu, Y.Y., Chiu, F.L., Yeh, C.S., Kuo, H.C., 2019b. Opportunities and challenges for the use of induced pluripotent stem cells in modelling neurodegenerative disease. Open Biol. 9 (1), 180177. https://doi.org/10.1098/rsob.180177.
- Yabe, S.G., Fukuda, S., Takeda, F., Nashiro, K., Shimoda, M., Okochi, H., 2017. Efficient generation of functional pancreatic β-cells from human induced pluripotent stem cells. J. Diabetes 9 (2), 168–179.
- Yin, X., Mead, B.E., Safaee, H., Langer, R., Karp, J.M., Levy, O., 2016. Engineering stem cell organoids. Cell Stem Cell 18 (1), 25–38. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2015.12.005.
- Yu, J., Vodyanik, M.A., Smuga-Otto, K., Antosiewicz-Bourget, J., Frane, J.L., Tian, S., Nie, J., Jonsdottir, G.A., Ruotti, V., Stewart, R., Slukvin, I.I., Thomson, J.A., 2007. Induced pluripotent stem cell lines derived from human somatic cells. Science 318 (5858), 1917–1920. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1151526.
- Zhang, J., Wilson, G.F., Soerens, A.G., Koonce, C.H., Yu, J., Palecek, S.P., Thomson, J.A., Kamp, T.J., 2009. Functional cardiomyocytes derived from human induced pluripotent stem cells. Circ. Res 104 (4), e30–e41.

- Zhang, L., Ren, Q., Liu, G., Wu, R., Meng, S., Xiahou, K., Jiang, N., Zhang, Y., Zhou, W., 2020. Establishment of two induced pluripotent stem cell line from healthy elderly (IPTi005-A and IPTi007-A). Stem Cell Res. 45, 101808. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.scr.2020.101808. Advance online publication.
- Zhou, P., Pu, W.T., 2016. Recounting cardiac cellular composition. Circ. Res. 118 (3), 368–370. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.116.308139.
- Zhu, X., Lee, H.G., Perry, G., Smith, M.A., 2007. Alzheimer disease, the two-hit hypothesis: an update. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1772 (4), 494–502. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.bbadis.2006.10.014.

Further reading

- Ali, H., Mossa, L., 2008. Engineering modeling of human cardiovascular system. 1st Reg. Conf. Eng. Sci. NUCEJ Spat. Issue 11 (2), 307–314.
- Anık, A., Çatlı, G., Abacı, A., Böber, E., 2015. Maturity-onset diabetes of the young (MODY): an update. J. Pediatr. Endocrinol. Metab. 28 (3–4), 251–263. https://doi.org/10.1515/ jpem-2014-0384.
- Balboa, D., Saarimäki-Vire, J., Borshagovski, D., Survila, M., Lindholm, P., Galli, E., Eurola, S., Ustinov, J., Grym, H., Huopio, H., Partanen, J., Wartiovaara, K., Otonkoski, T., 2018. Insulin mutations impair beta-cell development in a patientderived iPSC model of neonatal diabetes. eLife 7, e38519. https://doi.org/10.7554/ eLife.38519.
- Dwivedi, O.P., Lehtovirta, M., Hastoy, B., Chandra, V., Krentz, N., Kleiner, S., Jain, D., Richard, A.M., Abaitua, F., Beer, N.L., Grotz, A., Prasad, R.B., Hansson, O., Ahlqvist, E., Krus, U., Artner, I., Suoranta, A., Gomez, D., Baras, A., Champon, B., et al., 2019. Loss of ZnT8 function protects against diabetes by enhanced insulin secretion. Nat. Genet. 51 (11), 1596–1606. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41588-019-0513-9.
- Granéli, C., Hicks, R., Brolén, G., Synnergren, J., Sartipy, P., 2019. Diabetic cardiomyopathy modelling using induced pluripotent stem cell derived cardiomyocytes: recent advances and emerging models. Stem Cell Rev. Rep. 15 (1), 13–22.
- Li, R., Baskfield, A., Lin, Y., Beers, J., Zou, J., Liu, C., Jaffré, F., Roberts, A.E., Ottinger, E.A., Kontaridis, M.I., Zheng, W., 2019. Generation of an induced pluripotent stem cell line (TRNDi003-A) from a Noonan syndrome with multiple lentigines (NSML) patient carrying a p.Q510P mutation in the PTPN11 gene. Stem Cell Res. 34, 101374. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.scr.2018.101374.
- Lotharius, J., Barg, S., Wiekop, P., Lundberg, C., Raymon, H.K., Brundin, P., 2002. Effect of mutant alpha-synuclein on dopamine homeostasis in a new human mesencephalic cell line. J. Biol. Chem. 277 (41), 38884–38894. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M205518200.
- Ma, X., Zhu, S., 2017. Chemical strategies for pancreatic β cell differentiation, reprogramming, and regeneration. Acta Biochim. Biophys. Sin. 49 (4), 289–301. https://doi.org/ 10.1093/ABBS/GMX008.
- Ma, X., Liu, J., Zhu, W., Tang, M., Lawrence, N., Yu, C., Gou, M., Chen, S., 2018. 3D bioprinting of functional tissue models for personalized drug screening and in vitro disease modeling. Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 132, 235–251. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.addr.2018.06.011.
- Nakao, S., Ihara, D., Hasegawa, K., Kawamura, T., 2020. Applications for induced pluripotent stem cells in disease modelling and drug development for heart diseases. Eur. Cardiol. 15, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.15420/ecr.2019.03.
- Rajaei, B., Shamsara, M., Amirabad, L.M., Massumi, M., Sanati, M.H., 2017. Pancreatic endoderm-derived from diabetic patient-specific induced pluripotent stem cell generates glucose-responsive insulin-secreting cells. J. Cell. Physiol. 232 (10), 2616–2625. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcp.25459.
- Yabe, S.G., Fukuda, S., Takeda, F., Nashiro, K., Shimoda, M., Okochi, H., 2017. Efficient generation of functional pancreatic β-cells from human induced pluripotent stem cells.
 J. Diabetes 9 (2), 168–179. https://doi.org/10.1111/1753-0407.12400.
- Zaragoza, C., Gomez-Guerrero, C., Martin-Ventura, J.L., Blanco-Colio, L., Lavin, B., Mallavia, B., Tarin, C., Mas, S., Ortiz, A., Egido, J., 2011. Animal models of cardiovascular diseases. J. Biomed. Biotechnol. 2011, 497841. https://doi.org/10.1155/2011/ 497841.
- Zhu, Y., Liu, Q., Zhou, Z., Ikeda, Y., 2017. PDX1, Neurogenin-3, and MAFA: critical transcription regulators for beta cell development and regeneration. Stem Cell Res. Ther. 8 (1), 240. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13287-017-0694-z.

Induced pluripotent stem cells for modeling open-angle glaucoma

3

Brandon S. Cheuk¹, Ajay Kumar¹, Yiqin Du^{1,2,3}

¹Department of Ophthalmology, University of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, PA, United States; ²Department of Developmental Biology, University of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, PA, United States; ³McGowan Institute for Regenerative Medicine, University of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, PA, United States;

Chapter outline

List of abbreviations	
Introduction	
Pathophysiology of POAG	87
Genetics of POAG	
Risk factors of POAG	89
PACG	89
Current treatment options for POAG	
Medicine	89
Laser	90
Surgeries	90
Induced pluripotent stem cells as cellular models of diseases	90
iPSC-TM cells as a model of glaucoma	92
iPSC-RGCs as a model of glaucoma	95
Patient-derived iPSCs as a model of glaucoma	
Drug discovery using iPSCs as a glaucoma model	
Conclusion	
Acknowledgments	
References	99

Abstract

Glaucoma is the leading cause of irreversible blindness worldwide affecting millions of people. None of the current treatments is ideal, and investigations on new treatments are needed. In this chapter, we will review the current treatment options for glaucoma and discuss the possibility and feasibility of using induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs) to model glaucoma. The trabecular meshwork cells and retinal ganglion cells are the main cell types affected by glaucoma. iPSCs from normal subjects and from glaucoma patients have the potential to differentiate into

86 CHAPTER 3 Induced pluripotent stem cells for modeling

these cell types which can be used to mimic the cellular glaucomatous changes in vitro. These cells with glaucomatous characteristics can be used to investigate glaucoma pathophysiology and novel treatment options (Graphic Abstract shown as Fig. 3.1).



FIGURE 3.1 Graphic abstract.

iPSC can be induced to differentiate into TM cells and RGCs using different approaches to model glaucoma. Patient-derived iPSCs can differentiate into various RGC subtypes and can be used for disease modeling and drug discovery. *CM*, conditioned medium; *ECM*, extracellular matrix; *FSK*, Forskolin; *iPSCs*, induced pluripotent stem cells; *NC*, neural crest; *RGCs*, retinal ganglion cells; *TM*, trabecular meshwork.

The graphic was created partially using Biorender.com.

Keywords: Cellular model; Dexamethasone; Extracellular matrix; Glaucoma; Induced pluripotent stem cells; Neural crest; Retinal ganglion cells; Trabecular meshwork; Treatment.

List of abbreviations

CHI3L1	chitinase 3-like 1
CLANs	cross-linked actin networks
CM	conditioned media
Dex	dexamethasone
ER	endoplasmic reticulum
ESCs	embryonic stem cells
FSK	forskolin

IOP	intraocular pressure
iPSC-NC	iPSC derived neural crest cells
iPSC-NC-TM	iPSC-NC derived trabecular meshwork cells
iPSCs	Induced Pluripotent Stem Cells
MGP	matrix gla protein
MMP	matrix metalloproteinase
MYOC	myocilin
NC	neural crest
NOS	nitric oxide synthase
OPTN	optineurin
PACG	primary angle-closure glaucoma
POAG	primary open-angle glaucoma
RGCs	retinal ganglion cells
ROCK	Rho-associated kinase
TIMP3	tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase 3
TM	trabecular meshwork

Introduction

Vision is one of the most important senses that humans possess. Glaucoma is the leading cause of irreversible vision loss, affecting more than 60 million people worldwide (Khan et al., 2016; Quigley and Broman, 2006). The estimated number of people afflicted with glaucoma would be increased to 76 million in 2020 (Teotia et al., 2017). Additionally, primary open angle glaucoma (POAG) is the leading cause for vision loss in African Americans (Teotia et al., 2017). POAG causes irreversible blindness gradually and a lot of patients do not know they are suffering from POAG since it is normally asymptomatic with gradual visual field loss. Glaucoma is primarily characterized by increased intraocular pressure (IOP) in the eye which pushes against the optic nerve and damages the retinal ganglion cells (RGCs) in the retina (Chamling et al., 2016). The axons of RGCs gather in the optic nerve that is crucial for the transmission of visual information from the eyes to the brain (Chamling et al., 2016). Glaucoma is categorized as primary open-angle glaucoma (POAG), primary angle-closure glaucoma (PACG), secondary, and developmental/congenital glaucoma (Foundation, 2019). Among these, POAG is the most common type (Weinreb et al., 2016) (https://www.nei.nih.gov/learn-about-eyehealth/eye-conditions-and-diseases/glaucoma/types-glaucoma). In this chapter, we mainly focus on studies involving POAG and using stem cells to model glaucoma for exploring glaucoma pathophysiology and discovering new treatments.

Pathophysiology of POAG

POAG is a disease of two parts of the eye tissues: the trabecular meshwork (TM) and Schlemm's canal conventional outflow pathway which is responsible for IOP regulation, and the RGCs and optic nerve complex which is responsible for visual

function (Epstein, 2012). Up to 90% of the aqueous humor in the eye is drained through the conventional outflow pathway including the TM and Schlemm's canal (Wang et al., 2019; Stamer et al., 2015). The abnormality of cells and extracellular matrix (ECM) of the TM and Schlemm's canal reduces the outflow facility and increases IOP. Contrastingly, the RGC and optic nerve complex in the posterior part of the eye is the target of glaucoma damaging the vision. In POAG patients, the anterior chamber angle remains open, but the resistance of the TM and Schlemm's canal pathway is increased. So the aqueous humor cannot be drained efficiently while aqueous humor is continuously produced, leading to accumulation in the anterior chamber which elevates IOP. There is currently a knowledge gap in the exact pathogenesis of glaucoma. Researchers have not completely characterized how glaucoma is manifested, but have been working on investigating why this outflow resistance increases. The discovery will direct further effective treatment options for glaucoma. The primary hypothesis is that damage occurs to the TM tissue which compromises the ability of the tissue to regulate outflow of the aqueous humor; when the resistance increases, aqueous outflow decreases and IOP elevates. It has been discovered that, IOP elevation is associated with the TM cellularity reduction (Alvarado et al., 1984; Xiong et al., 2021), the abnormality of TM cell phagocytic function (Buller et al., 1990), and the differential deposition of extracellular matrix in the TM tissue (Gong, 2016; Keller et al., 2009). IOP elevation leads to RGC apoptosis and necrosis which interferes with the RGC's function to send visual information to the brain (Kaur et al., 2008). Another cause of RGC death in glaucoma is the occurrence of hypoxia. Hypoxia promotes the synthesis of nitric oxide synthase (NOS) which is toxic to RGCs and increases cell death (Kaur et al., 2008).

Genetics of POAG

Some POAG-associated genes have been identified such as myocilin (MYOC), optineurin (OPTN), and WDR36 (Park et al., 2006; Youngblood et al., 2019; Resch and Fautsch, 2009). Mutant MYOC can cause protein misfolding and the disfigured proteins cause stress on the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) in TM cells. TM cells with chronic stress have a higher rate of cell death which impairs the TM function, hence causing glaucoma (Jain et al., 2017). OPTN associates with the Golgi apparatus but can sometimes fragment or destroy it when OPTN undergoes a mutation called E50K (Park et al., 2006). The fragmentation of the Golgi apparatus would then interfere with the cell's ability to transport necessary proteins and promote cell death in TM cells, leading to POAG. WDR36 has been debated about its role in glaucoma. Some researchers believe that mutations in this gene cause damage to the TM tissues on the periphery of the iris (Chi et al., 2010). Other studies point to WDR36 as not being a factor that contributes to POAG because there was no significant correlation between WDR36 mutations and POAG (Liu et al., 2017). Further research is needed to explore the link of these genes with the development of glaucoma.

Risk factors of POAG

Aging is a common risk factor in the occurrence of glaucoma. Overall, most people diagnosed with POAG are older than 40 years old at first diagnosis (Quigley and Broman, 2006; Youngblood et al., 2019). People who have relatives with POAG are also at a high risk of developing the disease from around 4% to 16% if in direct family members (Youngblood et al., 2019).

PACG

Contrastingly, PACG is caused by the iris of the eye physically blocking the conventional outflow pathway, the TM and Schlemm's canal, and increasing the IOP (Foundation, 2019). Individuals of Asian or Indian descent have a higher risk of developing this condition (Chelerkar et al., 2018). In 2015, there were 15.7 million cases of PACG worldwide with projected numbers to reach 21 million in 2020. The highest risk factor that has been reported is the actual dimensions of the eye. Certain measurements that may contribute to increased likelihood of PACG are short axial length, small corneal diameter, shallow anterior chamber, steep curvature, and a lens that is closer to the anterior of the eye (Ahram et al., 2015). Researchers have identified five genes that are involved in the development of PACG which are HGF, heat shock protein 70 (HSP70), membrane-type Frizzled-relation protein (MFRP), MMP9, and NOS3 (Liu et al., 2020). Although identified, these genes have not been confirmed under genome-wide association studies so they cannot be exactly attributed for causing PACG (Liu et al., 2020). While PACG is less prevalent than POAG, it remains a common neuropathy that affects many people worldwide.

Current treatment options for POAG

Several treatment options have been used clinically for POAG including, but not limited to, medicine, laser treatment, and surgeries. All medications and procedures focus on reducing the aqueous humor production or increasing the aqueous humor outflow to lower the IOP of the eye, hence protecting the RGCs from damage and preserving visual acuity.

Medicine

Medicines that are commonly used are latanoprost, travoprost, unoprostone, and bimatoprost. All of these are classified as prostanglandin analogs and prostamides which act on the uveoscleral pathway to increase aqueous humor outflow (Bucolo et al., 2018). Another category of medicines that are used in treatment of POAG is $\alpha 2$ adrenergic agonists like brimonidine and apraclonidine that decrease aqueous humor secretion and increase outflow. A newer category of medicines for treating

POAG is Rho-associated kinase (ROCK) inhibitors, such as Netarsudil and Ripasudil. These are targeting the conventional outflow pathway to relax TM cells and affect the ECM with antifibrotic activity of the TM tissue (Inoue and Tanihara, 2013; Tanna and Johnson, 2018; Castro and Du, 2019; Li et al., 2021).

Laser

Laser treatment is another method to treat POAG. The most common method is laser trabeculoplasty which involves exposing TM cells to laser light (Young and Caprioli, 2019). This decreases their resistance to outflow of the aqueous humor. Alternatively, patients can undergo a laser diode cyclophotocoagulation. Contrasting laser trabeculoplasty, this laser is focused on the white sclera of the eye instead of the cornea and damages the pigmented ciliary processes, reducing the amount of aqueous humor secreted (Ndulue et al., 2018). These treatments are usually only temporarily effective and lose their effect after a few months, making them only a temporary solution for a long-term problem.

Surgeries

One surgical treatment option is trabeculectomy. Trabeculectomy is the most commonly used surgical procedure to promote increased drainage of the aqueous humor. It involves removing small portions of the TM and local tissue which increases the area that the aqueous humor can drain (Weinreb and Khaw, 2004; Binibrahim and Bergstrom, 2017). It has been developed minimally invasive glaucoma surgeries aiming to recover the function of outflow pathway for treating glaucoma (Xin et al., 2020). Although there are a variety of treatment methods, POAG is still difficult to treat and the exact pathophysiology of its manifestation is still under research.

Induced pluripotent stem cells as cellular models of diseases

Induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs) are commonly employed in different areas of research, ranging from disease modeling to treatment (Kumar et al., 2018; Rowe and Daley, 2019). These cells are especially attractive because they dodge the moral quandary of using embryonic stem cells. iPSCs have undergone many tests to compare them to embryonic stem cells including immunofluorescent staining, methylation assays, teratoma formation assays, karyotyping, and bisulfite genomic sequencing. Studies have provided convincing evidence that iPSCs share characteristics similar to embryonic stem cells (Raab et al., 2014; Halevy and Urbach, 2014; Marei et al., 2017). Another important aspect of iPSCs is that they can be collected from individuals who suffer from different diseases, thus recapitulating all the features of the disease and can be used as a suitable disease model. These cells

exhibit similar genetic makeup as that of the donors, making them less likely to be rejected and also mimicking the disease in the dish serving as cellular models (Raab et al., 2014). iPSCs can be generated by transfecting any somatic cells with transcription factors Oct4, Sox2, c-Myc, and Klf4 (Wuli et al., 2020; Takahashi et al., 2007; Takahashi and Yamanaka, 2006; Lin et al., 2012). Fibroblasts are usually used to culture iPSC populations because they can generate large populations easily and were the first cells used to reprogram iPSCs. Some cautions for using them are that they have a relatively low reprogramming efficiency and can cause discomfort to the donors when sample collection occurs. They are collected via skin biopsies or neonatal foreskin biopsies which cause intense pain that must be anesthetized during the procedure. These cuts can also increase risk of infection, allergic reaction, and the formation of scar tissue (Raab et al., 2014). It has been reported that iPSCs can be reprogrammed from peripheral blood mononuclear cells (Ye et al., 2013; Zhou et al., 2015) or from exfoliated renal epithelial cells present in the urine (Zhou et al., 2011, 2012; Zhang et al., 2015; Afzal and Strande, 2015). Regardless of the collection methods, iPSCs are coveted in research because of their pluripotency.

iPSCs can differentiate into a variety of somatic cell types such as neurons, adipocytes, and osteocytes (Sheyn et al., 2016; Taura et al., 2009; D'Aiuto et al., 2014). This ability allows them to be prime candidates in the modeling of diseases because they can emulate cell types and tissues that are the specific targets of diseases. By creating a microcosm of the tissue, the pathophysiology and treatment options of diseases can be studied without in vivo animal experiments. Their potential for the generation of medical and scientific knowledge is truly extraordinary. Using various methodologies, scientists can characterize diseases more coherently when they have sample tissues.

As mentioned previously, one big appeal of iPSCs is that they can generate cells that have characteristics of the donor. This then allows researchers to test treatments on these cells. Since the cells have a similar genetic makeup, the effects on the iPSC-derived organoids in vitro can provide evidence on possible effects when the donor is treated with the same procedure. One such case is the generation of iPSCs from a diagnosed glaucoma patient with OPTN E50K mutation. Synthetic mRNAs with a microRNA booster kit were transfected to the fibroblasts from the OPTN E50K mutation patient. These cells were cultured for weeks, and eventually iPSC colonies were identified and cultured independently (Ohlemacher et al., 2016). These iPSCs had the same genetic characteristics as the donor and can be differentiated into cells relevant to glaucoma studies.

In the case of POAG, iPSCs can be induced to become RGCs and TM cells which are cells primarily affected by glaucoma. These cells can be utilized for disease modeling and for drug screening to identify targets for the treatment of glaucoma. TM cells are responsive to stimulation of steroid dexamethasone (Dex) (Keller et al., 2018) which can induce glaucoma-like conditions. Dex increases the outflow resistance in TM tissue and decreases the tissue's ability to regulate outflow which are the characteristics of POAG (Tian et al., 2020). The responsive

92 CHAPTER 3 Induced pluripotent stem cells for modeling

TM cells can be exposed to substances which can be tested for regenerative capability or protein expression which are related to glaucoma pathology or treatment mechanisms. The ability of iPSCs to differentiate into RGCs and TM cells make them as prime models for exploring possible treatment options for POAG. Also, since many retinal diseases are monogenic which makes it easy to model them using iPSCs due to their low allele frequencies and high genetic variation (Lidgerwood et al., 2019). Diseases involving multiple genes, namely, as heterogeneous diseases, are difficult to be modeled using iPSCs. Due to this, there are currently efforts going on worldwide that are attempting to build banks of iPSCs that are generated to model those diseases (Lidgerwood et al., 2019).

iPSC-TM cells as a model of glaucoma

We have successfully isolated TM stem cells by side population sorting or by clonal culture (Du et al., 2012). After long-term cryopreservation, TM stem cells retain their stemness with expression of stem cell markers (CD90, CD166, CD105, CD73, OCT4, SSEA4, Notch1, KLF4, ABCG2, Nestin, HNK1), the capability to form spheroids and colonies, multipotency, and the ability to differentiate into TM cells responsive to Dex treatment (Kumar et al., 2020a,b). These cells have been approved to have the ability to home to the TM tissue and regenerate the TM tissue to reduce IOP for glaucoma treatment in mouse models (Xiong et al., 2020, 2021; Du et al., 2013; Yun et al., 2018). But there are still limitations for using TM stem cells from glaucoma patients to make in vitro disease models. Because TM stem cells are located at the insert region between the TM and the corneal endothelium (Castro and Du, 2019; Braunger et al., 2014) where biopsy needs to go inside the eye, and in vitro disease models require huge cell numbers, and it is not feasible to gather large amounts of TM stem cells by biopsy in glaucoma patients for making disease models.

Other stem cell types, such as mesenchymal stem cells (Manuguerra-Gagne et al., 2013; Roubeix et al., 2015) and adipose-derived stem cells (Zhou et al., 2020), have been discovered with the ability to regenerate the TM and reduce IOP in animal models.

iPSCs have their unique property of pluripotency with unlimited lifespan and ability to differentiate into almost all kinds of somatic cells. iPSCs have been tested for regenerative capabilities on the TM tissue to reduce IOP (Zhu et al., 2016). These iPSCs can be induced to differentiate to TM cells using various approaches, providing an autologous source of TM cells for disease modeling or transplantation for treatment. Mouse iPSCs derived from dermal fibroblasts were induced to differentiate into TM cells using a paracrine growth factor milieu from immortalized primary TM cells which were layered on the top of a cell culture insert and mouse iPSCs were seeded beneath the inserts in cell culture plates (Ding et al., 2014). The differentiation was achieved by coculturing cells for 21 days which resulted in the generation of iPSC-TM cells that expressed TM cell markers matrix gla protein, tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase 3 (TIMP3), Col4a5, and lost the expression of pluripotency markers OCT4, Nanog, and Sox2. These cells were able to

phagocytose pHrodo green-conjugated *E. coli* particles. These induced iPSC-TM like cells responded to Dex treatment with elevated expression of MYOC and matrix metalloproteinase-3 (MMP-3). This finding indicates that the iPSC-TM cells can be a great cell source as cell-based therapy to restore the TM tissue in glaucoma eyes.

We recently reported that human iPSCs can be induced into TM cells by two steps with an intermediate stage of neural crest (NC) cells. Since TM cells are derived from NC embryonically, this two-step protocol can generate a stable TM progenitor pool. The induced NC cells can then differentiate into TM-like cells, responsive to Dex treatment (Kumar et al., 2020a,b). The undifferentiated iPSCs were positive to pluripotent stem cell markers OCT4, alkaline phosphatase, SSEA4, and SSEA1 (Fig. 3.2).

This protocol employed ECM from A549 cells and N2/B27 medium to induce a NC stage from iPSCs grown in monolayer culture conditions. After induction on the A549 cell-derived ECM and in the culture medium containing N2/B27, the iPSCs differentiated into NC cells expressing NC markers HNK1 and p75 (Fig. 3.3). A549 cell ECM was used in this protocol for NC induction because A549 cells express α 5 chain of laminin-10/11 and secrete it into the conditioned medium, which is important for mediating adhesion, proliferation, and differentiation of neuronal cells after its interaction with integrin α 3 β 1 (Kikkawa et al., 1998). Laminin 511 has been isolated from the conditioned medium of A549 cells (Kikkawa et al., 1998; Gu et al., 2001). Laminin 511 can maintain self-renewal and proliferation with integrins α 1, α 6 β 1, and α 5 β 1 of ES cells, making laminin 511 an ideal surface



FIGURE 3.2 iPSC colonies express pluripotent cell markers.

Immunofluorescent staining shows expression of pluripotency markers OCT4, alkaline phosphatase, SSEA4, and SSEA1 in iPSCs grown as colonies. (A) are the magnified pictures of in framed region. (B) DAPI stains nuclei as blue. Scale bars, 100 μm. *Adopted from Kumar, A., Cheng, T., Song, W., et al., 2020a. Two-step induction of trabecular meshwork cells from induced pluripotent stem cells for glaucoma. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 529, 411–417; with*

permission





Immunofluorescent staining shows iPSC were negative to neural crest markers NGFR and HNK1, (A) while iPSC-NC cells expressed NGFR and HNK1. (B) DAPI stains nuclei as blue. Scale bars, 100 μ m. (C) Representative figures of flow cytometry analysis showing most of iPSCs were positive to SSEA4 and negative to NGFR. After induction, iPSC-NC reduced expression of SSEA4 and increased expression of NGFR. (D) Percentage of iPSCs and iPSC-NC cells labeling positive by SSEA4 and NGFR (n = 6, mean \pm SD, mean \pm SD). One-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's multiple comparisons test.

Adopted from Kumar, A., Cheng, T., Song, W., et al., 2020a. Two-step induction of trabecular meshwork cells from induced pluripotent stem cells for glaucoma. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 529, 411–417; with permission.

coating system for feeder-free maintenance of ESCs and iPSCs (Domogatskaya et al., 2008). Laminin 511 and other isoforms have been reported to induce directed differentiation of human iPSCs into cells of neural crest, neural, and retinal origin by interaction with various integrin receptors (Shibata et al., 2018), making A549 ECM including secreted laminin 511 an idea substrate for iPSC-NC induction.

The induced NC cells were grown in a conditioned medium (CM) derived from primary human TM cells, mixed with DMEM/HAM's F12 (1:1). The successfully differentiated TM cells (iPSC-NC-TM) expressed TM cell marker CHI3L1 (Fig. 3.4A and D). The iPSC-NC-TM cells were responsive to Dex treatment with increased expression of MYOC and ANGPTL7, a characteristic of primary TM cells, and reduced expression of CHI3L1 (Fig. 3.4B and D). The differentiated iPSC-NC-TM cells also formed cross-linked actin networks (CLANS) after Dex treatment (Fig. 3.4C) which is an important feature of Dex-induced primary TM cells (Keller et al., 2018).

The formation of promigratory NC cells has been reported after culturing of human pluripotent stem cells in N2B27 medium and withdrawing TGF- β inhibition for 10 days in culture (Noisa et al., 2014). These cells maintained their differentiation capacity even after 20 passages, suggesting the generation of stable NC cells. The induced cells showed expression of NC cell markers HNK1 and p75 and loss of hESC markers (Menendez et al., 2013). Our two-step protocol can generate a stable neural crest cell pool to allow the same TM cell source for further disease modeling, TM cell transplantation for glaucoma, and for drug discovering.

iPSC-RGCs as a model of glaucoma

RGCs are the other cell type that is affected by glaucoma. They are one of the important components of the retina in the posterior part of the eye. The axons of the RGCs gather together to form the optic nerve that transmits information to the brain. iPSCs have been successfully induced to differentiate into RGCs (Chamling et al., 2016). An important factor in differentiating cells from stem cells is to make them similar to the specific cells they are supposed to be imitating. It is important that the iPSC-derived cells have similar morphology, electrophysiology, and protein expression to their analogs found in humans (Lidgerwood et al., 2019).

Various steps need to be taken to differentiate the iPSCs to RGCs. As mentioned previously, iPSCs are reprogrammed from somatic cells and turned into embryoid bodies in culture. The embryoid bodies can commonly differentiate into different types of cells found in all three germ layers, including neural cells during embryonic development. iPSCs can differentiate into RGCs with a variety of methods such as utilizing culture media containing various supplements, genetic modification, and three-dimensional (3D) organization (Gill et al., 2014).

The creation of retinal cells, retinogenesis, is modulated by a variety of growth factors and proteins. Some molecules that can be added to the culture with iPSCs to induce RGC differentiation are fibroblast growth factor 2 (FGF2), insulin-like growth factor 1 (IFG1), epidermal growth factor (EGF), bone morphogenetic protein antagonist noggin, nodal antagonist left-right determination factor 2 (LEFTY2), Wnt signaling pathway inhibitor dickkopf 1 (DKK1), forskolin, and vitamin supplements N2 and B27. These growth factors and proteins can induce iPSCs to differentiate into RGCs (Gill et al., 2014).



FIGURE 3.4 iPSC-NC cells can differentiate into TM-like cells.

(A) Immunofluorescent staining shows iPSC-NC differentiated TM-like cells (iPSC-TM) expressed TM cell marker CHI3L1 and after treatment with Dex, the cells (iPSC-TM-Dex) reduced CHI3L1 expression. (B) iPSC-TM-Dex cells had increased expression of MYOC. DAPI stains nuclei as blue. Scale bars, 50 μ m. (C) Phalloidin staining shows F-actin in the iPSC-TM-Dex cells formed cross-linked actin networks (CLANs) and the enlarged figure. (D) qPCR shows mRNA expression of CHI3L1, MYOC, ANGPTL7 comparing iPSC-TM and iPSC-TM-Dex, TM cells and TM-Dex treated cells (n = 6, mean \pm SD). One-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's multiple comparisons test.

Adopted from Kumar, A., Cheng, T., Song, W., et al., 2020a. Two-step induction of trabecular meshwork cells from induced pluripotent stem cells for glaucoma. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 529, 411–417; with permission. 96

Another method that can be used for RGC differentiation is genetic modification. This method relies on the overexpression of transcription factors that shift the iPSC cell fate toward RGCs (Gill et al., 2014). Transcription factor, Pax6, is an example of these. ESCs transfected with Pax6 were shown to express markers of retinal neuron progenitor cells. These markers were Tubb3, Nefm, Nestin, Brn3, Thy1, Isl1, and Opn4 (Kayama et al., 2010). These markers provide evidence that after transfection with Pax6, stem cells can be induced to differentiate into RGCs. In another study, Pax6 was also concluded to induce iPSC differentiation into RGCs. The differentiated cells expressed nestin, Tubb3, Nefm, Brn3, and cone-rod homebox (Suzuki et al., 2012). Other transcription factors that have been tested for RGC reduction are Atoh7 and Math5 (Chen et al., 2011). Cells induced with these transcription factors expressed common RGC markers (Chen et al., 2011), hence reflecting the genetic modification of iPSCs to RGCs.

iPSCs can also be induced to differentiate to RGCs using 3D organization. When the eye is forming the retina, there is a process organizing the cells in neat structure systems in a 3D space (Chamling et al., 2016). This process allows stem cells to aggregate into a structure called optic cup which then can differentiate into the multilayered structure found in a fully developed eye. This multilayered structure includes cells such as RGCs and photoreceptors (Chamling et al., 2016). This method involves placing iPSCs on Matrigel plates and culturing them. The arrangement of the cells will promote the formation of the optic cup and develop the complex 3D structure (Maekawa et al., 2016). But RGCs are produced in low populations as compared to other cell populations in this 3D structure (Chamling et al., 2016). The limited cell number is not ideal for testing pathologies of diseases or generating simulation tissue. This method is still being studied to determine if this technique has potential to generate large amounts of RGCs.

Once RGCs have been properly differentiated and their populations are high enough, these cells can be used to study retinal diseases like POAG. Although increased IOP is commonly associated with glaucoma, it is possible that those afflicted with POAG may not have high IOP but still have the effects of POAG. This is known as normal-tension glaucoma. Two genes, OPTN and TBK1, have been identified as factors that cause normal-tension glaucoma and RGC death. TBK1 is involved in the activation of a pathway that regulates autophagy; the increased levels of TBK1 induce this pathway into hyperactivity which causes an increased rate of autophagy and cell death (Giacalone et al., 2016). iPSC-derived RGCs can be used to study various genes, proteins, and transcription factors like TBK1 and characterize their effects or contributions toward retinal diseases like glaucoma.

Patient-derived iPSCs as a model of glaucoma

iPSCs can be isolated from many sources around the body, such as skin fibroblasts, peripheral blood mononuclear cells, or exfoliated cells in the urine. Although using these iPSCs for modeling diseases is useful, it would be ideal if the iPSCs being used

come from the person afflicted with the disease, in this case, glaucoma. Cells collected from these patients could shed light on pertinent information relevant to finding treatment options for these specific patients, meaning personalized medicine. Some characteristics of these cells to consider scrutinizing are the specific mutations and pathophysiologic mechanisms, the effects of novel gene augmentation, gene silencing, small molecule therapies, and the restoration of function posttransplantation of iPSC-derived cells and tissues (Giacalone et al., 2016). This allows researchers and doctors to get a better understanding of the specific genetic landscape of the individual they are trying to treat. Since all the cells produced from these patients will contain the same genetic information, this would also reduce the possibility of tissue rejection and destruction because the donor's body would recognize these patient-derived cells as their own. These patient-derived cells also have the same genetic markers as the donor, so these cells can be created to form tissues that simulate those found in the donor. This can be used to run tests to glean more information about the pathophysiology of POAG. This may involve inducing mutations, exposure to drugs and stressors, or simulation of glaucoma-like conditions. Patient-derived iPSCs are an emerging type of cells that is becoming increasingly attractive for research into the characterization and modeling of diseases.

Drug discovery using iPSCs as a glaucoma model

Patient-derived iPSCs are ideal sources for drug discovery because they can provide information about donors that cannot be collected normally. As discussed in the previous section, it is hard or impossible to collect glaucoma-associated TM cells or RGCs from living patients due to the damage extraction would cause to the tissues, especially the RGCs. Patient-derived iPSCs are very useful in learning new information and exploring personalized medicine. It has been discovered that RGCs exist in different subtypes. These subtypes may have slightly different structures and function so single cell RNA sequencing (scRNA-seq) was used to identify specific gene variations between these RGC subtypes (Langer et al., 2018). Based on this finding, patient-derived iPSCs could be controlled to differentiate into more specific RGC subtypes (Langer et al., 2018). Characterization of these RGC subtypes can offer more information in discovering new possible drug targets. Drugs could eventually be designed to target specific transcription factors or genes found only in those RGC subtypes that POAG affects.

The drug development process is a long, expensive undertaking that involves much testing on both human and animal models. In the existing system, iPSC-derived stem cells can modify the second and third clinical trial phases by allowing the drugs to be tested on tissues from humans (Ko and Gelb, 2014). In the second phase of clinical trials, iPSCs can be used to test for drug efficacy. During the third phase of clinical trials, iPSCs can be used to determine the drug efficacy on populations of individuals from a multitude of genetic backgrounds (Ko and Gelb, 2014). These cells populations could be cultivated from a variety of people both

with and without diseases to establish a vast bank of cells from different genetic profiles. Glaucoma studies can also utilize this method and test drug efficacy for multiple genetic backgrounds and their effects on healthy and glaucoma-afflicted individuals.

Some factors may disrupt this process and make it difficult to use patient-derived iPSCs. One challenge is that iPSC reprogramming may be insufficient for differentiation into desirable cell types (Ko and Gelb, 2014). This study drew increased emphasis in understanding the cellular processes and machinery necessary for iPSC differentiation. Currently, we only understand the differentiation procedure for a few cell types but not all of them (Ko and Gelb, 2014). If more is understood about these functions, more types of patient-derived iPSCs can be used for novel drug development. Drug discovery is a crucial step in the exploration of treatment of diseases and patient-derived iPSCs look like an attractive avenue for modeling of disease targets.

Conclusion

iPSCs can be reprogrammed from normal subjects or from patients with a specific disease and can be induced to differentiate into specific functional cell types, such an TM cells and RGCs in glaucoma, for modeling diseases, exploring disease pathophysiology, discovering novel drug treatments, and cell replacement for regeneration to treat glaucoma (Fig. 3.1 Graphical abstract).

Acknowledgments

The work reported in this chapter was supported by US National Institutes of Health (Bethesda, MD, USA) grants EY025643 and P30-EY008098, the Eye and Ear Foundation (Pittsburgh, PA, USA), and Research to Prevent Blindness (New York City, NY, USA).

References

- Afzal, M.Z., Strande, J.L., 2015. Generation of Induced Pluripotent Stem Cells from Muscular Dystrophy Patients: Efficient Integration-free Reprogramming of Urine Derived Cells, p. e52032.
- Ahram, D.F., Alward, W.L., Kuehn, M.H., 2015. The genetic mechanisms of primary angle closure glaucoma. Eye 29, 1251–1259.
- Alvarado, J., Murphy, C., Juster, R., 1984. Trabecular meshwork cellularity in primary openangle glaucoma and nonglaucomatous normals. Ophthalmology 91, 564–579.
- Binibrahim, I.H., Bergstrom, A.K., 2017. The role of trabeculectomy in enhancing glaucoma patient's quality of life. Oman J. Ophthalmol. 10, 150–154.

- Braunger, B.M., Ademoglu, B., Koschade, S.E., et al., 2014. Identification of adult stem cells in Schwalbe's line region of the primate eye. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 55, 7499–7507.
- Bucolo, C., Platania, C.B.M., Drago, F., et al., 2018. Novel therapeutics in glaucoma management. Curr. Neuropharmacol. 16, 978–992.
- Buller, C., Johnson, D.H., Tschumper, R.C., 1990. Human trabecular meshwork phagocytosis. Observations in an organ culture system. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 31, 2156–2163.
- Castro, A., Du, Y., 2019. Trabecular meshwork regeneration a potential treatment for glaucoma. Curr. Ophthalmol. Rep. 7, 80–88.
- Chamling, X., Sluch, V.M., Zack, D.J., 2016. The potential of human stem cells for the study and treatment of glaucoma. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 57. ORSFi1-6.
- Chelerkar, V., Parekh, P., Kalyani, V.K.S., Deshpande, M., Khandekar, R., 2018. Comparative clinical study of medically controlled nonsevere chronic primary angle-closure glaucoma with coexisting cataract surgically managed by phacoemulsification as against combined phacotrabeculectomy. Middle East Afr. J. Ophthalmol. 25, 119–125.
- Chen, M., Chen, Q., Sun, X., et al., 2011. Generation of retinal ganglion-like cells from reprogrammed mouse fibroblasts. IOVS 2010; 51(11): 5970-5978 Ann. Neurosci. 18, 64–65.
- Chi, Z.L., Yasumoto, F., Sergeev, Y., et al., 2010. Mutant WDR36 directly affects axon growth of retinal ganglion cells leading to progressive retinal degeneration in mice. Hum. Mol. Genet. 19, 3806–3815.
- D'Aiuto, L., Zhi, Y., Kumar Das, D., et al., 2014. Large-scale generation of human iPSCderived neural stem cells/early neural progenitor cells and their neuronal differentiation. Organogenesis 10, 365–377.
- Ding, Q.J., Zhu, W., Cook, A.C., Anfinson, K.R., Tucker, B.A., Kuehn, M.H., 2014. Induction of trabecular meshwork cells from induced pluripotent stem cells. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 55, 7065–7072.
- Domogatskaya, A., Rodin, S., Boutaud, A., Tryggvason, K., 2008. Laminin-511 but not -332, -111, or -411 enables mouse embryonic stem cell self-renewal in vitro. Stem Cell. 26, 2800–2809.
- Du, Y., Roh, D.S., Mann, M.M., Funderburgh, M.L., Funderburgh, J.L., Schuman, J.S., 2012. Multipotent stem cells from trabecular meshwork become phagocytic TM cells. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 53, 1566–1575.
- Du, Y., Yun, H., Yang, E., Schuman, J.S., 2013. Stem cells from trabecular meshwork home to TM tissue in vivo. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 54, 1450–1459.
- Epstein, D.L., 2012. Framing glaucoma questions: what are the opportunities for glaucoma treatment? A personal perspective. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 53, 2462–2463.
- Foundation, I.G., 2019. Types of Glaucoma.
- Giacalone, J.C., Wiley, L.A., Burnight, E.R., et al., 2016. Concise review: patient-specific stem cells to interrogate inherited eye disease. Stem Cells Transl. Med. 5, 132–140.
- Gill, K.P., Hewitt, A.W., Davidson, K.C., Pebay, A., Wong, R.C., 2014. Methods of retinal ganglion cell differentiation from pluripotent stem cells. Transl. Vis. Sci. Technol. 3, 7.
- Gong, H.S.D., 2016. The histopathological changes in the trabecular outflow pathway and their possible effects on aqueous outflow in eyes with primary open-angle glaucoma. In: Knepper, P.A., Samples, J.R. (Eds.), Glaucoma Research and Clinical Advances 2016–2018. Kugler, Amsterdam, pp. 17–40.

- Gu, J., Sumida, Y., Sanzen, N., Sekiguchi, K., 2001. Laminin-10/11 and fibronectin differentially regulate integrin-dependent Rho and Rac activation via p130(Cas)-CrkII-DOCK180 pathway. J. Biol. Chem. 276, 27090–27097.
- Halevy, T., Urbach, A., 2014. Comparing ESC and iPSC-based models for human genetic disorders. J. Clin. Med. 3, 1146–1162.
- Inoue, T., Tanihara, H., 2013. Rho-associated kinase inhibitors: a novel glaucoma therapy. Prog. Retin. Eye Res. 37, 1–12.
- Jain, A., Zode, G., Kasetti, R.B., et al., 2017. CRISPR-Cas9-based treatment of myocilinassociated glaucoma. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 114, 11199–11204.
- Kaur, C., Foulds, W.S., Ling, E.A., 2008. Hypoxia-ischemia and retinal ganglion cell damage. Clin. Ophthalmol. 2, 879–889.
- Kayama, M., Kurokawa, M.S., Ueda, Y., et al., 2010. Transfection with pax6 gene of mouse embryonic stem cells and subsequent cell cloning induced retinal neuron progenitors, including retinal ganglion cell-like cells, in vitro. Ophthalmic Res. 43, 79–91.
- Keller, K.E., Aga, M., Bradley, J.M., Kelley, M.J., Acott, T.S., 2009. Extracellular matrix turnover and outflow resistance. Exp. Eye Res. 88, 676–682.
- Keller, K.E., Bhattacharya, S.K., Borras, T., et al., 2018. Consensus recommendations for trabecular meshwork cell isolation, characterization and culture. Exp. Eye Res. 171, 164–173.
- Khan, S., Hung, S.S., Wong, R.C., 2016. The use of induced pluripotent stem cells for studying and treating optic neuropathies. Curr. Opin. Organ Transplant. 21, 484–489.
- Kikkawa, Y., Sanzen, N., Sekiguchi, K., 1998. Isolation and characterization of laminin-10/11 secreted by human lung carcinoma cells. laminin-10/11 mediates cell adhesion through integrin alpha3 beta1. J. Biol. Chem. 273, 15854–15859.
- Ko, H.C., Gelb, B.D., 2014. Concise review: drug discovery in the age of the induced pluripotent stem cell. Stem Cell. Transl. Med. 3, 500–509.
- Kumar, S., Blangero, J., Curran, J.E., 2018. Induced pluripotent stem cells in disease modeling and gene identification. Methods Mol. Biol. 1706, 17–38.
- Kumar, A., Cheng, T., Song, W., et al., 2020a. Two-step induction of trabecular meshwork cells from induced pluripotent stem cells for glaucoma. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 529, 411–417.
- Kumar, A., Xu, Y., Du, Y., 2020b. Stem cells from human trabecular meshwork hold the potential to develop into ocular and non-ocular lineages after long-term storage. Stem Cell. Dev. 29, 49–61.
- Langer, K.B., Ohlemacher, S.K., Phillips, M.J., et al., 2018. Retinal ganglion cell diversity and subtype specification from human pluripotent stem cells. Stem Cell Rep. 10, 1282–1293.
- Li, G., Lee, C., Read, A.T., et al., 2021. Anti-fibrotic activity of a rho-kinase inhibitor restores outflow function and intraocular pressure homeostasis. Elife 10, e60831.
- Lidgerwood, G.E., Hewitt, A.W., Pebay, A., 2019. Human pluripotent stem cells for the modelling of diseases of the retina and optic nerve: toward a retina in a dish. Curr. Opin. Pharmacol. 48, 114–119.
- Lin, B., Kim, J., Li, Y., et al., 2012. High-purity enrichment of functional cardiovascular cells from human iPS cells. Cardiovasc. Res. 95, 327–335.
- Liu, K., He, W., Zhao, J., Zeng, Y., Cheng, H., 2017. Association of WDR36 polymorphisms with primary open angle glaucoma: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Medicine (Baltim.) 96, e7291.

102 CHAPTER 3 Induced pluripotent stem cells for modeling

- Liu, C., Nongpiur, M.E., Khor, C.C., Vithana, E.N., Aung, T., 2020. Primary angle closure glaucoma genomic associations and disease mechanism. Curr. Opin. Ophthalmol. 31, 101–106.
- Maekawa, Y., Onishi, A., Matsushita, K., et al., 2016. Optimized culture system to induce neurite outgrowth from retinal ganglion cells in three-dimensional retinal aggregates differentiated from mouse and human embryonic stem cells. Curr. Eye Res. 41, 558–568.
- Manuguerra-Gagne, R., Boulos, P.R., Ammar, A., et al., 2013. Transplantation of mesenchymal stem cells promotes tissue regeneration in a glaucoma model through laserinduced paracrine factor secretion and progenitor cell recruitment. Stem Cell. 31, 1136–1148.
- Marei, H.E., Althani, A., Lashen, S., Cenciarelli, C., Hasan, A., 2017. Genetically unmatched human iPSC and ESC exhibit equivalent gene expression and neuronal differentiation potential. Sci. Rep. 7, 17504.
- Menendez, L., Kulik, M.J., Page, A.T., et al., 2013. Directed differentiation of human pluripotent cells to neural crest stem cells. Nat. Protoc. 8, 203–212.
- Ndulue, J.K., Rahmatnejad, K., Sanvicente, C., Wizov, S.S., Moster, M.R., 2018. Evolution of cyclophotocoagulation. J. Ophthalmic Vis. Res. 13, 55–61.
- Noisa, P., Lund, C., Kanduri, K., et al., 2014. Notch signaling regulates the differentiation of neural crest from human pluripotent stem cells. J. Cell Sci. 127, 2083–2094.
- Ohlemacher, S.K., Sridhar, A., Xiao, Y., et al., 2016. Stepwise differentiation of retinal ganglion cells from human pluripotent stem cells enables analysis of glaucomatous neurodegeneration. Stem Cell. 34, 1553–1562.
- Park, B.C., Shen, X., Samaraweera, M., Yue, B.Y., 2006. Studies of optineurin, a glaucoma gene: Golgi fragmentation and cell death from overexpression of wild-type and mutant optineurin in two ocular cell types. Am. J. Pathol. 169, 1976–1989.
- Quigley, H.A., Broman, A.T., 2006. The number of people with glaucoma worldwide in 2010 and 2020. Br. J. Ophthalmol. 90, 262–267.
- Raab, S., Klingenstein, M., Liebau, S., Linta, L., 2014. A comparative view on human somatic cell sources for iPSC generation. Stem Cell. Int. 2014, 768391.
- Resch, Z.T., Fautsch, M.P., 2009. Glaucoma-associated myocilin: a better understanding but much more to learn. Exp. Eye Res. 88, 704–712.
- Roubeix, C., Godefroy, D., Mias, C., et al., 2015. Intraocular pressure reduction and neuroprotection conferred by bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells in an animal model of glaucoma. Stem Cell Res. Ther. 6, 177.
- Rowe, R.G., Daley, G.Q., 2019. Induced pluripotent stem cells in disease modelling and drug discovery. Nat. Rev. Genet. 20, 377–388.
- Sheyn, D., Ben-David, S., Shapiro, G., et al., 2016. Human induced pluripotent stem cells differentiate into functional mesenchymal stem cells and repair bone defects. Stem Cell. Transl. Med. 5, 1447–1460.
- Shibata, S., Hayashi, R., Okubo, T., et al., 2018. Selective laminin-directed differentiation of human induced pluripotent stem cells into distinct ocular lineages. Cell Rep. 25, 1668–1679 e1665.
- Stamer, W.D., Braakman, S.T., Zhou, E.H., et al., 2015. Biomechanics of Schlemm's canal endothelium and intraocular pressure reduction. Prog. Retin. Eye Res. 44, 86–98.
- Suzuki, N., Shimizu, J., Takai, K., et al., 2012. Establishment of retinal progenitor cell clones by transfection with Pax6 gene of mouse induced pluripotent stem (iPS) cells. Neurosci. Lett. 509, 116–120.

- Takahashi, K., Yamanaka, S., 2006. Induction of pluripotent stem cells from mouse embryonic and adult fibroblast cultures by defined factors. Cell 126, 663–676.
- Takahashi, K., Tanabe, K., Ohnuki, M., et al., 2007. Induction of pluripotent stem cells from adult human fibroblasts by defined factors. Cell 131, 861–872.
- Tanna, A.P., Johnson, M., 2018. Rho kinase inhibitors as a novel treatment for glaucoma and ocular hypertension. Ophthalmology 125, 1741–1756.
- Taura, D., Noguchi, M., Sone, M., et al., 2009. Adipogenic differentiation of human induced pluripotent stem cells: comparison with that of human embryonic stem cells. FEBS Lett. 583, 1029–1033.
- Teotia, P., Van Hook, M.J., Wichman, C.S., Allingham, R.R., Hauser, M.A., Ahmad, I., 2017. Modeling glaucoma: retinal ganglion cells generated from induced pluripotent stem cells of patients with SIX6 risk allele show developmental abnormalities. Stem Cell. 35, 2239–2252.
- Tian, Y.I., Zhang, X., Torrejon, K., et al., 2020. A bioengineering approach to Schlemm's canal-like stem cell differentiation for in vitro glaucoma drug screening. Acta Biomater. 105, 203–213.
- Wang, Y., Osakue, D., Yang, E., et al., 2019. Endoplasmic reticulum stress response of trabecular meshwork stem cells and trabecular meshwork cells and protective effects of activated PERK pathway. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 60, 265–273.
- Weinreb, R.N., Khaw, P.T., 2004. Primary open-angle glaucoma. Lancet 363, 1711-1720.
- Weinreb, R.N., Leung, C.K., Crowston, J.G., et al., 2016. Primary open-angle glaucoma. Nat. Rev. Dis. Primers 2, 16067.
- Wuli, W., Tsai, S.T., Chiou, T.W., Harn, H.J., 2020. Human-induced pluripotent stem cells and herbal small-molecule drugs for treatment of alzheimer's disease. Int. J. Mol. Sci. 21 (4), 1327.
- Xin, C., Wang, H., Wang, N., 2020. Minimally invasive glaucoma surgery: what do we know? Where should we go? Transl. Vis. Sci. Technol. 9, 15.
- Xiong, S., Xu, Y., Wang, Y., Kumar, A., Peters, D.M., Du, Y., 2020. alpha5beta1 integrin promotes anchoring and integration of transplanted stem cells to the trabecular meshwork in the eye for regeneration. Stem Cell. Dev. 29 (5), 290–300.
- Xiong, S., Kumar, A., Tian, S., et al., 2021. Stem cell transplantation rescued a primary open-angle glaucoma mouse model. Elife 10, e63677.
- Ye, L., Muench, M.O., Fusaki, N., et al., 2013. Blood cell-derived induced pluripotent stem cells free of reprogramming factors generated by Sendai viral vectors. Stem Cell. Transl. Med. 2, 558–566.
- Young, J.W., Caprioli, J., 2019. Laser trabeculoplasty as first-line glaucoma treatment. Lancet 393, 1479–1480.
- Youngblood, H., Hauser, M.A., Liu, Y., 2019. Update on the genetics of primary open-angle glaucoma. Exp. Eye Res. 188, 107795.
- Yun, H., Wang, Y., Zhou, Y., et al., 2018. Human stem cells home to and repair laser-damaged trabecular meshwork in a mouse model. Commun. Biol. 1, 216.
- Zhang, S.-Z., Li, H.-F., Ma, L.-X., Qian, W.-J., Wang, Z.-F., Wu, Z.-Y., 2015. Urine-derived induced pluripotent stem cells as a modeling tool for paroxysmal kinesigenic dyskinesia. Biol. Open 4, 1744–1752.
- Zhou, T., Benda, C., Duzinger, S., et al., 2011. Generation of induced pluripotent stem cells from urine. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 22, 1221–1228.

104 CHAPTER 3 Induced pluripotent stem cells for modeling

- Zhou, T., Benda, C., Dunzinger, S., et al., 2012. Generation of human induced pluripotent stem cells from urine samples. Nat. Protoc. 7, 2080–2089.
- Zhou, H., Martinez, H., Sun, B., et al., 2015. Rapid and efficient generation of transgene-free iPSC from a small volume of cryopreserved blood. Stem Cell Rev. Rep. 11, 652–665.
- Zhou, Y., Xia, X., Yang, E., et al., 2020. Adipose-derived stem cells integrate into trabecular meshwork with glaucoma treatment potential. FASEB. J. 34, 7160–7177.
- Zhu, W., Gramlich, O.W., Laboissonniere, L., et al., 2016. Transplantation of iPSC-derived TM cells rescues glaucoma phenotypes in vivo. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 113, E3492–E3500.

CHAPTER

Patient-specific induced pluripotent stem cells for understanding and assessing novel therapeutics for multisystem transthyretin amyloid disease

4

Richard M. Giadone¹, Sabrina Ghosh¹, George J. Murphy^{1,2}

¹Center for Regenerative Medicine of Boston University and Boston Medical Center, Boston, MA, United States; ²Section of Hematology and Oncology, Department of Medicine, Boston University School of Medicine, Boston, MA, United States

Chapter outline

Introduction	106
ATTR amyloidosis pathogenesis	
Current standards of care for patients with ATTR amyloidosis	
Limitations of current pre-clinical disease models	110
Developing IPSC-based models of hereditary ATTR amyloidosis	112
Hepatic proteostasis remodeling in IPSC-based models of ATTR amyloidosis	113
The clinical trial in a test tube: revolutionizing the drug discovery pathway	
for systemic amyloid disease	116
Future directions	116
Developing novel biomarkers for ATTR amyloidosis	116
Evaluating small molecule activators of the UPR	117
Building an iPSC-based model for light chain amyloidosis	117
Profiling misfolded protein-mediated signatures of cellular stress and	
toxicity	118
Conclusions	
References	118

Abstract

The systemic amyloidoses represent a devastating class of multisystem protein folding disorders whose etiologies involve complex interactions between multiple tissue types (e.g., aberrant protein producing effector and downstream damaged target organs). Problematically, this hallmark multiorgan involvement presents unique challenges for developing robust *in vitro* and *in vivo* preclinical models of these diseases, ultimately slowing the discovery of novel therapeutics. To these ends, induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs), capable of differentiating into any cell type of the body while at the same time maintaining the entire genetic context of the individual from which the line was derived, have the potential to allow for novel insights into systemic amyloid diseases such as transthyretin amyloidosis (ATTR amyloidosis). In this chapter, we will discuss the contribution of iPSCs to the study of this class of complex, devastating disorders, with a special emphasis on ATTR amyloidosis. In the process, we will highlight how patient-specific iPSC-based models of amyloid disease can lend novel insight into disease progression, revolutionize the drug discovery pipeline, and improve clinical management of disease through development of novel diagnostic biomarkers.

Keywords: Amyloid; Directed differentiation; Disease modeling; Drug discovery; Gene editing; Hereditary ATTR amyloidosis; Induced pluripotent stem cells; Light chain amyloidosis; Precision medicine; Protein folding disorders; Proteostasis; Systemic amyloid disease; Transthyretin (ATTR) amyloidosis; Unfolded protein response; Wild-type ATTR amyloidosis.

Introduction

Systemic amyloid disease refers to a class of complex, devastating protein folding disorders impacting over one million individuals worldwide (Blancas-Mejía and Ramirez-Alvarado, 2013; Buxbaum, 2004; Merlini and Westermark, 2004; Wechalekar et al., 2016; Falk et al., 1997). In these diseases, effector cells secrete proteins which misfold and travel throughout circulation, eventually depositing at downstream target tissues resulting in cell death and organ dysfunction (Fig. 4.1) (Blancas-Mejía and Ramirez-Alvarado, 2013; Buxbaum, 2004; Merlini and Westermark, 2004; Wechalekar et al., 2016; Falk et al., 1997). These disorders are often heritable, with destabilizing mutations increasing the propensity of proteins to misfold and eventually aggregate into proteotoxic species. At the same time, the quantity and functionality of many protein homeostasis (proteostasis) mechanisms decrease throughout aging, increasing the abundance of misfolded protein species in circulation, and resulting in pathologies which mimic many of the systemic amyloid diseases (Reixach et al., 2004; Ruberg and Berk, 2012; Benson, 2012; Ando et al., 2005; Gertz et al., 2015; Hipp et al., 2019; Kaushik and Cuervo, 2015; Labbadia and Morimoto, 2015). In turn, insights gained through studying these complex disorders can have wide reaching implications—ranging from the development of broad-acting, novel therapeutics for many disorders to the understanding of cellular and molecular mechanisms of multisystem agingassociated biological decline.

One of the most common systemic amyloid diseases, transthyretin amyloidosis (ATTR amyloidosis), can be caused by over 100 described destabilizing mutations in the transthyretin (TTR) gene or the sporadic misfolding of the wild-type protein in an aging-related fashion (termed hereditary or hATTR amyloidosis, and wild-type or



FIGURE 4.1 Systemic amyloid disease pathogenesis.

(Top) Representation of the overall steps comprising systemic amyloid disease pathogenesis, from protein production and initial folding, to secretion and misfolding, followed by deposition at diverse tissue types. (Bottom) Descriptions of light chainassociated AL and ATTR amyloidosis including effector organs, overall formation of amyloid species, and target organs impacted.

wtATTR amyloidosis, respectively) (Reixach et al., 2004; Ruberg and Berk, 2012; Benson, 2012; Ando et al., 2005; Gertz et al., 2015; Giadone et al., 2018). In both forms of the disease, the liver produces misfolded TTR which subsequently travels throughout circulation and deposits extracellularly at downstream target organs (e.g., peripheral nerves and/or cardiac tissue), most often resulting in cardiomyopathy and/or peripheral neuropathy (Reixach et al., 2004; Ruberg and Berk, 2012; Benson, 2012; Ando et al., 2005; Gertz et al., 2015; Giadone et al., 2018). Although historically, both wild-type and hereditary ATTR amyloidosis have been considered rare diseases, recent advances in clinical treatment, diagnostic technologies, and awareness for the disease will likely lead to an accelerated rise in prevalence (Schmidt et al., 2018; Grogan et al., 2017).

ATTR amyloidosis (both hATTR and wtATTR) is a complex disorder involving interaction of multiple target organs (i.e., TTR-producing effector tissues such as the liver, and target organs such as the heart and peripheral nerves). Moreover, patients with hATTR amyloidosis exhibit further complexity as seen in diverse pathologies (e.g., target organs impacted) and disease progression, due in part to the sex and genetic background of the patient (Reixach et al., 2004; Ruberg and Berk, 2012; Benson, 2012; Ando et al., 2005; Gertz et al., 2015). Due to the multitissue etiology

of the disease and the strong association with the age and genetic background of the affected individual (hurdles common to many other systemic amyloid diseases), preclinical models of ATTR amyloidosis (both *in vivo* and *in vitro*) have remained extremely limited. In turn, cellular and molecular understandings of the fundamental processes involving ATTR amyloidosis disease ontogeny (e.g., proteotoxic TTR secretion and deposition) remain elusive. In an effort to combat this, researchers now employ induced pluripotent stem cell (iPSC)-based models in a *precision medicine* approach to study and develop novel therapeutics for TTR-mediated and other systemic amyloid diseases (Giadone et al., 2018, 2020; Leung et al., 2013; Leung and Murphy, 2016).

Here, we will describe current therapeutic and investigative approaches for ATTR amyloidosis, including present limitations and considerations for developing novel models of the disease. We will also discuss the potential for iPSCs to model systemic amyloid diseases and improve the efficiency of drug discovery in the field. In doing so, we will survey recent achievements in iPSC platforms for modeling protein folding disorders as well as discuss future applications for the technology in the modeling of ATTR amyloidosis and other systemic amyloid diseases.

ATTR amyloidosis pathogenesis

ATTR amyloidosis pathogenesis involves the concentration-dependent aggregation of misfolded TTR at downstream target organs (Reixach et al., 2004; Ruberg and Berk, 2012; Benson, 2012; Ando et al., 2005; Gertz et al., 2015; Giadone et al., 2018, 2020). TTR is produced chiefly by the liver (with some synthesis in the pancreas and choroid plexus), where it comes together to form a tetramer and serves its normal physiological role as a minimal transporter of thyroxine and retinol-binding protein throughout the body (Power et al., 2000). In both wtATTR and hATTR amyloidosis, tetrameric TTR is destabilized, resulting in monomer formation. Dissociated monomers can subsequently misfold, aggregate into low molecular weight oligomers, travel throughout circulation, and deposit extracellularly at downstream target organs such as the heart and peripheral nerves as large, insoluble Congophilic amyloid fibrils (Reixach et al., 2004; Ruberg and Berk, 2012; Benson, 2012; Ando et al., 2005; Gertz et al., 2015).

Hereditary ATTR amyloidosis (resulting from destabilizing mutations) is understood to be a rare disease, with an estimated prevalence of 50,000 cases worldwide (Gertz, 2017). Aging-associated wtATTR amyloidosis, involving the deposition of wild-type TTR fibrils, is thought to be much more common, with postmortem studies identifying cardiac TTR amyloid fibrils (associated with late-stage disease progression) in 25% of individuals over 80 years of age (Ruberg and Berk, 2012; Tanskanen et al., 2008). Clinically, hATTR amyloidosis symptoms typically manifest in the fifth or sixth decade of life (though dependent on the mutation), while wild-type disease manifests in the 8th decade (Reixach et al., 2004; Ruberg and Berk, 2012; Benson, 2012; Ando et al., 2005; Gertz et al., 2015). Presently, TTR amyloid disease is diagnosed by histologically staining fat aspirate biopsies with Congo Red—a dye which preferentially stains amyloid fibrils. Mass spectrometry (MS) is then performed to identify Congophilic protein species. Complicating our understanding, treatment, and accurate assessment of the prevalence and penetrance of the disease, a lack of approved diagnostic biomarkers coupled with a subtle and systemic onset of symptomatology makes the disease notoriously difficult to diagnose (Reixach et al., 2004; Ruberg and Berk, 2012; Benson, 2012; Ando et al., 2005; Gertz et al., 2015; Giadone et al., 2018, 2020).

Current standards of care for patients with ATTR amyloidosis

Historically, standards of care for patients with ATTR amyloidosis have included liver transplantation in an effort to decrease the concentration of misfolded, amyloidogenic TTR in circulation (Fig. 4.2). Despite this, however, not all patients are candidates for surgery due to age or disease progression, while at the same time donor organ deficits exist. Alternatively, small molecule kinetic stabilizers such as diflunisal (a repurposed NSAID) and tafamidis (a synthetic compound, Vyndagel) work by binding and stabilizing tetrameric TTR, limiting monomerization and subsequent misfolding from occurring (Berk et al., 2013; Ando et al., 2016; Maurer et al., 2017, 2018; Buxbaum, 2019; Coelho et al., 2012). Tafamidis recently received FDA approval for treatment of peripheral neuropathy, while diffunisal is approved for both cardiomyopathy and peripheral neuropathy (Berk et al., 2013; Coelho et al., 2012). Despite success in clinical trials for both compounds, patients exhibit large variations in responsiveness, likely due to their inherited TTR mutation or other disease modifying factors (Berk et al., 2013; Ando et al., 2016; Maurer et al., 2017, 2018; Buxbaum, 2019; Coelho et al., 2012). In addition, first-in-class RNA interference (RNAi)-based therapeutics, Inotersen and Patisiran, have been





Mechanisms of ATTR amyloidosis pathogenesis including novel therapeutic strategies for treating the disorder.

developed for hATTR amyloidosis. Inotersen (TEGSEDI) and Patisiran (ONPAT-TRO) work via slightly different mechanisms (antisense oligonucleotide vs. siRNA, respectively), but are both delivered via GalNac-coated lipid nanoparticles which selectively target the liver (Adams et al., 2018; Butler et al., 2016; Benson et al., 2018; Buxbaum, 2018). Both have recently received FDA approval for use in patients with ATTR amyloidosis-associated polyneuropathy. Despite the recent advent of therapeutics for the disease, the most effective treatment regimen (including multi-drug combination and dosage) is likely dependent on the individual.

Complicating the development of broadly efficacious therapeutics is that the genetics of ATTR amyloidosis are highly complex, with wide-ranging prevalence and penetrance depending on the inherited mutation, sex, and/or ethnicity. Worldwide, the most prevalent TTR mutation is the peripheral-neuropathy associated TTR^{V30M} variant. In the United States, however, it is estimated that approximately 4% of African Americans are carriers for the TTR^{V1221} mutation, primarily associated with cardiomyopathy (i.e., TTR amyloid fibrils deposited in the cardiac tissue) (Buxbaum and Ruberg, 2017). Interestingly, the penetrance of certain mutations changes drastically depending on geography. Penetrance of the peripheral neuropathy-associated TTR^{V30M} mutation, for example, ranges from 18% of carriers developing the disease by age of 50 in France to 80% by the age of 50 in Portugal (Parman et al., 2016; Hellman et al., 2008). At the same time, there appears to be correlations between inheritance pattern (i.e., paternal vs. maternal origin) and age-of-onset as well as sex of the patient (e.g., a majority of wtATTR amyloidosis being male) (Lemos et al., 2014; Connors et al., 2009).

In addition to variation in disease progression dependent upon geographic location, a substantial amount of variability in clinical manifestation and responsiveness to treatments depends on the inherited TTR mutation. This is largely due to the relative stabilities of the natively folded monomer and/or tetramer conferred by the mutation. Highly destabilizing mutations such as TTR^{A25T} and TTR^{L55P}, for example, have a large propensity to misfold, and as a result, are less responsive to kinetic stabilizers which rely on physical interactions with the natively folded tetramer (Sekijima et al., 2003; McCutchen et al., 1993). This is contrasted to the relatively successful stabilization of homo- and heterotetramers made up of TTR^{WT} and/or TTR^{V30M} (Waddington Cruz and Benson, 2015). In order to develop broadly effective therapeutics for ATTR amyloidosis, preclinical models and the drug discovery pipeline must take into account the diverse genetic backgrounds and driver mutations of the affected patient population — a prospect enabled by iPSC technology.

Limitations of current pre-clinical disease models

Hindering the development of effective treatments for diseases such as ATTR amyloidosis, the current drug discovery and clinical trial paradigm is both costly and time-consuming (Brodniewicz and Grynkiewicz, 2010; Wong et al., 2019; Avorn, 2015; Roses, 2008). Potential candidate compounds are first identified for

follow-up study and subsequently evaluated for efficacy and toxicity in preclinical models, consisting of both *in vitro* immortalized cell culture-based experiments and *in vivo* animal models, prior to entering multiphase clinical trials (Giadone et al., 2018; Brodniewicz and Grynkiewicz, 2010; Roses, 2008).

Traditionally, *in vitro* cell culture-based studies rely on the use of immortalized cell lines often derived from human primary tissue (Giadone et al., 2018; Brodnie-wicz and Grynkiewicz, 2010). Though insightful, cell lines represent the genetic background of a single person and as a result, make it difficult to extrapolate findings made in one individual cell line to other lines, animals, and eventually humans. This limitation is likely a contributor to the large failure rates seen in drug discovery. At the same time, the process of generating immortalized cell lines often leads to large, karyotypic abnormalities — an additional source of factors confounding investigations into the cells or tissues from which these lines are derived (Toouli et al., 2002).

Alternatively, in vivo animal models have long been valued as a gold standard for understanding disease and determining the efficacy of preclinical pharmaceutical agents (Ericsson et al., 2013; Rosenthal and Brown, 2007). For most animal models of human disease to be effective, the model should recapitulate some aspect of the human disease-associated phenotype and that this phenotype should be driven by etiological mechanisms shared by both the human and model organism (McGonigle and Ruggeri, 2014). Problematically, however, this limits the robustness of animal models for diseases whose causal mechanisms are unclear. Similarly, animal models of complex diseases, whose causes are either unknown or involve combinatorial interactions of multiple driver mutations and/or noncoding variants (e.g., Alzheimer's disease, Parkinson's, multiple sclerosis, etc.) have had limited success in predicting efficacy of novel therapeutic compounds (McGonigle and Ruggeri, 2014). Lastly, as with immortalized cell lines, animal models that require knocking-in diseaseassociated mutations are developed from overexpression of a mutation in a single genetic background — severely limiting the understanding of how diverse genetic backgrounds affect therapeutic potential.

ATTR amyloidosis has proven difficult to study both *in vitro* and *in vivo* due to the multitissue etiology and highly aging-related component of the disease (Giadone et al., 2018, 2020; Leung et al., 2013; Leung and Murphy, 2016; Buxbaum, 2009). To this point, several mouse models of the disease have been developed; however, none currently recapitulates key aspects of ATTR amyloidosis pathogenesis (Buxbaum, 2009). The earliest models, involving knocking-in human TTR^{V30M} cDNA or genomic DNA (including upstream regulatory sequences), had no amyloid fibrils formed in the peripheral nerves (Buxbaum, 2009). Later mouse models, involving introducing a large number of copies of genomic wild-type and TTR^{L35P}, achieve fibril deposition with approximately 100 copies of transgene (Buxbaum, 2009). Curiously, upon transferring TTR^{V30M} mice to a sterile facility, the mice no longer formed amyloid fibrils — implying an importance of the immune system in the formation of fibrils and disease (Buxbaum, 2009; Inoue et al., 2008).

In addition to the limitations of ATTR amyloidosis mouse models for recapitulating disease phenotype, present animal models are also unable to consider the genetic background of the individual, which has strong effects on the progression of the disease. Developing more robust, patient-specific preclinical models, better equipped to determine efficacy and toxicity of a novel compound in multiple genetic backgrounds and cell types, represent a potential avenue for reducing the failure rate, time, and cost of drug discovery for ATTR amyloidosis and other systemic amyloid diseases.

Developing IPSC-based models of hereditary ATTR amyloidosis

In order to address the limitations of current mouse models, while also taking into account the importance of genetic backgrounds of patients, several groups now employ iPSCs to model various aspects of ATTR amyloidosis. In 2013, Leung et al. developed the first iPSC-based platform for studying hereditary ATTR amyloidosis (Fig. 4.3) (Leung et al., 2013). In the model, peripheral blood



Modified from Leung et al. 2014, Stem Cell Reports

FIGURE 4.3 Multisystem iPSC-based modeling of hereditary ATTR amyloidosis recapitulates key aspects of human disease pathogenesis.

(A) Schematic representation of model consisting of the reprogramming of patientspecific iPSCs and differentiation into hepatocyte-like, neuronal, and cardiac cells to measure responsiveness to TTR-containing hepatic supernatant. (B) Flow cytometrybased, PI viability assay representing an increase in toxicity upon exposing iPSC-derived motor neurons to ATTR amyloidosis hepatic supernatant compared to cells dosed with wild-type control hepatic supernatant (40.5% dead/dying vs. 17.8%). Upon exposing motor neurons to ATTR amyloidosis hepatic supernatant with diflunisal, toxicity returned to levels comparable to wild-type control (12.6%).

Modified from Leung, A., Nah, S.K., Reid, W., et al., 2013. Induced pluripotent stem cell modeling of multisystemic, hereditary transthyretin amyloidosis. Stem Cell Rep. 1 (5), 451–463. (Published 2013 Oct 31). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stemcr.2013.10.003, the Murphy laboratory's iPSC-based platform for modeling ATTR amyloidosis. mononuclear cells (PBMCs) or fibroblasts are obtained from diagnosed patients and subsequently reprogrammed into iPSCs. Patient-specific iPSCs are then directed to differentiate into effector hepatocyte-like cells (HLCs) via a two-dimensional, chemically defined feeder-free directed differentiation protocol. Importantly, these HLCs produce and secrete destabilized, amyloidogenic mutant TTR variants into their supernatants, which are detected through proteomics methods like MS (Giadone et al., 2018, 2020; Leung et al., 2013). Concurrently, patient-matched iPSCs are directed to differentiate into the target cells involved in the disease, including neuronal and cardiac lineage cells. The TTR-containing supernatant from iPSC-derived HLCs is dosed onto iPSC-derived target cells and toxicity can be measured via flow cytometry-based cell death assays or expression of stress marker genes via qRT-PCR. Models such as these can be used to assess the efficacy of novel therapeutics in decreasing toxicity seen at downstream target cell types. To this end, upon combining TTR^{L55P} iPSC-derived hepatic supernatant with kinetic stabilizer diflunisal, and subsequently dosing patient-matched iPSC-derived neuronal cells, toxicity in exposed neuronal cells decreases in the presence of the stabilizer compared to cells dosed with mutant supernatant without stabilizer (Fig. 4.3) (Leung et al., 2013).

For genetically complex disorders such as hereditary ATTR amyloidosis, with disease progression varying with ethnicity and driver mutation, it is important to perform experiments in a number of different iPSC lines. Due to both time (e.g., length of differentiation protocols) and cost restrictions, however, this can be unrealistic. It is therefore worthwhile to carefully choose iPSC lines that are most appropriate to answer the biological question at hand (e.g., a cardiomyopathy-associated mutation when studying cardiac system dysfunction). In order to facilitate this, a library of genetically diverse iPSC lines derived from ATTR amyloidosis patients with a variety of driver mutations, ethnicities, and pathologies has been recently developed (Giadone et al., 2018).

Hepatic proteostasis remodeling in IPSC-based models of ATTR amyloidosis

Utilization of the above described patient-specific iPSC-based model of ATTR amyloidosis has furthered investigations into the contribution of proteostasis and hepatic disease modifying factors to the peripheral organ toxicity observed in patients with the disease.

Recent work utilizing the previously described iPSC-based platform demonstrates the potential for UPR-associated signaling pathways in modulating ATTR amyloidosis pathogenesis (Giadone et al., 2020). To this end, TALEN-mediated gene editing was utilized to generate isogenic, corrected, and uncorrected syngeneic iPSCs derived from a patient with the TTR^{L55P} mutation. Uncorrected and corrected iPSCs were directed to differentiate into HLCs, and single-cell RNA sequencing (scRNAseq) was performed in order to identify a transcriptional signature resulting

114 CHAPTER 4 Patient-specific induced pluripotent stem cells

from expression of disease-causing TTR^{L55P}. HLCs expressing mutant TTR were found to upregulate expression of chaperone genes and genes associated with the adaptive (ATF6 and IRE1) arms of the unfolded protein response (UPR). It was further shown that ATF6 branch-specific activation of the UPR in ATTR amyloidosis patient-specific iPSC-derived HLCs selectively reduced secretion of the toxic TTR^{L55P} (Giadone et al., 2020). After being transcribed and translated, nascent polypeptides are shuttled into the ER to undergo a number of complex chaperonemediated folding events, eventually forming a functional protein product. Proper folding of newly translated polypeptides and degradation of misfolded protein products is regulated by complex signaling pathways collectively termed proteostasis networks (Hipp et al., 2019; Giadone et al., 2020; Chen et al., 2014; Plate et al., 2016; Shoulders et al., 2013; Hetz, 2012; Walter and Ron, 2011; Glembotski et al., 2019; Romine and Wiseman, 2020; Christis et al., 2010). These networks, including the UPR, play important roles in maintaining the fidelity of the proteome in instances of homeostasis, stress, and disease. The UPR is regulated by three transmembrane receptors within the lumen of the ER: IRE1, ATF6, and PERK (Fig. 4.4) (Hipp et al., 2019; Giadone et al., 2020; Chen et al., 2014; Plate et al., 2016; Shoulders et al., 2013; Hetz, 2012; Walter and Ron, 2011; Glembotski et al., 2019; Romine and Wiseman, 2020; Christis et al., 2010). When unfolded or misfolded proteins accumulate within the cell (perhaps due to destabilizing mutations), molecular chaperones such as HSPA5 (BiP) interact with these proteins and can in turn activate the three arms of the UPR. Activation of these pathways leads to translocation of cognate transcription factors to the nucleus, upregulation of distinct, yet overlapping transcriptional signatures, and various functional consequences. The adaptive arms



FIGURE 4.4 Activation of UPR-associated signaling pathways upon detection of misfolded proteins.

The detection of misfolded proteins within the lumen of the ER by molecular chaperones such as *HSPA5* (*BiP*) results in activation of IRE1, ATF6, or PERK signaling. Activation of each arm results in transcriptional activation of specific target genes as well as activation of functional pathways to cope with the production of misfolded protein.

of the UPR, mediated by IRE1 and ATF6 signaling, lead to upregulation of components of the ubiquitin proteasome system and ER-associated degradation (ERAD) pathway (Hipp et al., 2019; Giadone et al., 2020; Chen et al., 2014; Plate et al., 2016; Shoulders et al., 2013; Hetz, 2012; Walter and Ron, 2011; Glembotski et al., 2019; Romine and Wiseman, 2020; Christis et al., 2010). Functionally, these pathways work to selectively target and degrade misfolded, potentially toxic, protein species, thereby limiting their secretion. At the same time, adaptive UPR activation leads to upregulation of genes associated with chaperone function as well as an increase in the overall size of the ER to facilitate an increase in folding capacity (Hetz, 2012; Walter and Ron, 2011; Christis et al., 2010). Alternatively, chronic UPR activation, triggered by excessively large quantities of misfolded proteins, activates the PERK signaling pathway, whose functional downstream consequence includes synthesis and activation of pro-apoptotic machinery (Hetz, 2012; Walter and Ron, 2011).

Employing a novel iPSC-based model for ATTR amyloidosis has demonstrated that expression of amyloidogenic TTR results in transcriptional and functional changes in patient-specific hepatic cells. This result is surprising to many, as the field currently holds that the livers of patients with ATTR amyloidosis are the same as healthy livers (a fact underscored by the use of domino liver transplantations using ATTR amyloidosis donor livers) (Ruberg and Berk, 2012; Benson, 2012; Ando et al., 2005; Gertz et al., 2015; Adams, 2013; Monteiro et al., 2004). Additionally, these experiments suggest that the liver employs protective mechanisms via adaptive UPR-associated signaling pathways in order to cope with the production of misfolding-prone TTRs. Furthermore, this work provides evidence that modulation of UPR-associated ATF6 signaling results in a selective decrease in the secretion of misfolded proteins in patient-specific HLCs, and therefore, potentially represents a broadly applicable therapeutic strategy for ATTR amyloidosis and other systemic amyloid disorders. To this end, much work is currently underway to develop small molecules which selectively target each arm of the UPR in a stressindependent manner (Chen et al., 2014; Plate et al., 2016; Shoulders et al., 2013; Glembotski et al., 2019; Romine and Wiseman, 2020). The systemic amyloid diseases, including both forms of ATTR amyloidosis, can result from the misfolding of over 20 structurally distinct proteins. This variation in protein structure limits the broad utility of current therapeutics (e.g., kinetic stabilizers targeting natively folded proteins, antiamyloid breaking antibodies, etc.) for these disorders, thereby slowing the drug discovery pipeline. In spite of this large diversity, however, the common pathway shared by all is the production and secretion of destabilized proteins via effector organs. As a result, studies seeking to understand proteostasis machinery within systemic amyloid disease effector cells (e.g., HLCs in ATTR amyloidosis) aim to identify common endogenous signaling pathways which may represent druggable, broadly efficacious therapeutic strategies capable of decreasing distal aggregation of toxic protein species (Giadone et al., 2018, 2020; Chen et al., 2014; Plate et al., 2016; Shoulders et al., 2013; Glembotski et al., 2019; Romine and Wiseman, 2020).

The clinical trial in a test tube: revolutionizing the drug discovery pathway for systemic amyloid disease

In previous sections, we discussed how data using iPSC-based models of ATTR amyloidosis suggest the utility of UPR modulating therapeutics in potentially treating systemic amyloid disease. With the advent of iPSC technology, it is now possible to evaluate the efficacy and toxicity of a new chemical entity such as small molecule activators of the UPR in a number of diverse genetic backgrounds and cell types (Chen et al., 2014; Plate et al., 2016; Shoulders et al., 2013; Glembotski et al., 2019; Romine and Wiseman, 2020). For example, putative small molecules can be added to proteotoxic TTR-secreting patient-specific iPSC-derived HLCs from diverse backgrounds. Supernatant from these cells could then be interrogated for the presence and quantities of secreted TTR species in order to determine the ability of the novel compound to limit their secretion into circulation. Effectiveness can be further interrogated by dosing conditioned hepatic supernatant onto patient-matched iPSC-derived target (e.g., neuronal or cardiac) cells, and assessing toxicity.

The utility of iPSCs in preclinical evaluations of novel compounds can be further understood by evaluating their toxicity in a number of different cell types. Regarding hepatic cells, patient-derived HLCs could be generated, drug could be administered, and metabolomics could be performed to assess potentially deleterious metabolic side effects of the drug. Alternatively, if a novel compound has the potential to cross the blood—brain barrier, patient-specific iPSC-derived neuronal cells or threedimensional organoids could be exposed to the compound in an effort to assess off-target effects and toxicity.

Implementing iPSC technology in preclinical evaluations of novel therapeutics has the potential for revolutionizing the drug discovery pipeline by identifying problematic toxicity and efficacy issues prior to entering the investigational new drug and clinical trial phases. Precision medicine-based approaches for preclinical models of pharmacologic efficacy and toxicity can decrease the overall time and cost of drug development.

Future directions Developing novel biomarkers for ATTR amyloidosis

In addition to assessing therapeutic strategies, iPSC-based platforms can also be utilized to aid in the development of novel biomarkers for ATTR amyloidosis. To this end, recent work has proposed the use of serum levels of TTR as a potential marker for disease progression in patients with cardiomyopathy-associated ATTR amyloidosis (Hanson et al., 2018). Healthy individuals have circulating levels of TTR of approximately 0.2–0.4 mg/mL, while decreased concentrations are often associated with worse disease outcome (Hanson et al., 2018). The mechanism of this inverse correlation of serum TTR levels and disease progression, however, remains unclear. An alternative approach being developed utilizes TTR tetramer-specific fluorescently labeled small molecules to assess the percentage of natively folded tetrameric TTR relative to total serum levels (Chen et al., 2016). With this method, the ratio of circulating tetramer to total TTR could assist in detecting early stages of TTR misfolding and disease progression (Chen et al., 2016). Future studies could involve measuring in vitro equivalents of the abovementioned putative biomarkers in iPSCderived cell types (e.g., HLCs) derived from patients with varying levels of disease severity in order to assess diagnostic efficacy.

Evaluating small molecule activators of the UPR

As discussed, achieving stress-independent activation of the UPR-associated ATF6 signaling pathway through small molecule activators is capable of selectively decreasing the secretion of toxic TTRs (Chen et al., 2014; Plate et al., 2016; Shoulders et al., 2013; Glembotski et al., 2019; Romine and Wiseman, 2020). Toward a *clinical trial in a test tube* approach, future studies should employ libraries of diverse patient-specific iPSCs to determine the efficacy of this approach in decreasing hepatic secretion of mutant TTR across a number of genetic backgrounds (Giadone et al., 2018; Park et al., 2017). In the case of chronic stress, UPR activation can be linked to employment of pro-apoptotic machinery via PERK signaling (Hetz, 2012; Walter and Ron, 2011). Going forward, it will be critical to evaluate the potential for activators of the adaptive UPR to trigger cell death pathways.

Building an iPSC-based model for light chain amyloidosis

Like ATTR amyloidosis, the most prevalent systemic amyloid disease, light chain (AL) amyloidosis, suffers from a lack of robust *in vitro* and *in vivo* preclinical models (Fig. 4.1). In the disease, cancerous plasma (B) cells rapidly proliferate and secrete quantities of antibody light chains (Merlini et al., 2018; Sanchorawala, 2006). Free light chains subsequently misfold and aggregate, depositing in distal target tissues (e.g., the heart, kidney, and liver) (Merlini et al., 2018; Sanchorawala, 2006). Current treatment options for patients with the disease are both highly limited and invasive — involving administration of chemotherapeutic agents to limit malignant plasma cell growth, coupled with autologous bone marrow transplantation (Merlini et al., 2018; Sanchorawala, 2006). In an iPSC-based model for AL amyloidosis, PBMCs could be isolated from patients and subsequently reprogrammed. Reprogrammed clones would subsequently need to be screened for the presence of the pathology-driving mutation to ensure that the model contains the genetic background of the malignant plasma cell. As with models of ATTR amyloidosis, AL amyloidosis iPSCs could be differentiated into the respective effector cell (i.e., plasma/B cells), and secretion of light chain species and requisite downstream cell type toxicity could be evaluated via MS and flow cytometry-based cell death assays, respectively.

Profiling misfolded protein-mediated signatures of cellular stress and toxicity

Investigating the secretion and deposition of TTR aggregates in ATTR amyloidosis using iPSC-derived cell types has the potential to lend insight into other multisystem protein folding disorders. To this end, the development of gene signatures resulting from the interaction of mutant, misfolded TTR aggregates with multiple cell types can potentially aid in the development of robust *in vitro* models of systemic amyloid diseases (also involving the interaction of diverse cell types with misfolded proteins). Future work should aim to understand similarities in transcriptional signatures resulting from exposure to diverse proteotoxic aggregates — from ATTR to LCs. Once accomplished, these profiles can be employed as outputs for tracking damage and toxicity in future cell-based models for other protein folding disorders.

Conclusions

The systemic amyloid diseases are a class of highly complex disorders involving the production of proteins which misfold, travel throughout circulation, and deposit as proteotoxic aggregates at distal target organs — mechanisms broadly applicable to many aspects of human biology. Investigations into multisystem protein folding disorders such as ATTR amyloidosis, through iPSC-based platforms, have the potential to lend novel insight into many aspects of general biological dysfunction at the cell and molecular levels, while at the same time lay the foundation for novel therapeutics such as proteostasis network remodeling agents.

References

- Adams, D., Gonzalez-Duarte, A., O'Riordan, W.D., et al., 2018. Patisiran, an RNAi therapeutic, for hereditary transthyretin amyloidosis. N. Engl. J. Med. 379 (1), 11–21. https:// doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1716153.
- Adams, D., 2013. Recent advances in the treatment of familial amyloid polyneuropathy. Ther. Adv. Neurol. Disord. 6 (2), 129–139. https://doi.org/10.1177/1756285612470192.
- Ando, Y., Nakamura, M., Araki, S., 2005. Transthyretin-related familial amyloidotic polyneuropathy. Arch. Neurol. 62 (7), 1057–1062. https://doi.org/10.1001/archneur.62.7.1057.
- Ando, Y., Sekijima, Y., Obayashi, K., et al., 2016. Effects of tafamidis treatment on transthyretin (TTR) stabilization, efficacy, and safety in Japanese patients with familial amyloid polyneuropathy (TTR-FAP) with Val30Met and non-Val30Met: a phase III, open-label study. J. Neurol. Sci. 362, 266–271. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jns.2016.01.046.
- Avorn, J., 2015. The \$2.6 billion pill—methodologic and policy considerations. N. Engl. J. Med. 372 (20), 1877–1879. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMp1500848.
- Benson, M.D., Waddington-Cruz, M., Berk, J.L., et al., 2018. Inotersen treatment for patients with hereditary transthyretin amyloidosis. N. Engl. J. Med. 379 (1), 22–31. https:// doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1716793.

- Benson, M.D., 2012. Pathogenesis of transthyretin amyloidosis. Amyloid 19 (Suppl. 1), 14–15. https://doi.org/10.3109/13506129.2012.668501.
- Berk, J.L., Suhr, O.B., Obici, L., et al., 2013. Repurposing diflunisal for familial amyloid polyneuropathy: a randomized clinical trial. J. Am. Med. Assoc. 310 (24), 2658–2667. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2013.283815.
- Blancas-Mejía, L.M., Ramirez-Alvarado, M., 2013. Systemic amyloidoses. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 82, 745–774. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-biochem-072611-130030.
- Brodniewicz, T., Grynkiewicz, G., 2010. Preclinical drug development. Acta Pol. Pharm. 67 (6), 578–585.
- Butler, J.S., Chan, A., Costelha, S., et al., 2016. Preclinical evaluation of RNAi as a treatment for transthyretin-mediated amyloidosis. Amyloid 23 (2), 109–118. https://doi.org/ 10.3109/13506129.2016.1160882.
- Buxbaum, J.N., Ruberg, F.L., 2017. Transthyretin V122I (pV142I)* cardiac amyloidosis: an age-dependent autosomal dominant cardiomyopathy too common to be overlooked as a cause of significant heart disease in elderly African Americans. Genet. Med. 19 (7), 733-742. https://doi.org/10.1038/gim.2016.200.
- Buxbaum, J.N., 2004. The systemic amyloidoses. Curr. Opin. Rheumatol. 16 (1), 67–75. https://doi.org/10.1097/00002281-200401000-00013.
- Buxbaum, J.N., 2009. Animal models of human amyloidoses: are transgenic mice worth the time and trouble? FEBS Lett. 583 (16), 2663–2673. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.febslet.2009.07.031.
- Buxbaum, J.N., 2018. Oligonucleotide drugs for transthyretin amyloidosis. N. Engl. J. Med. 379 (1), 82–85. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMe1805499.
- Buxbaum, J.N., 2019. Treatment of hereditary and acquired forms of transthyretin amyloidosis in the era of personalized medicine: the role of randomized controlled trials. Amyloid 26 (2), 55–65. https://doi.org/10.1080/13506129.2019.1575201.
- Chen, J.J., Genereux, J.C., Qu, S., Hulleman, J.D., Shoulders, M.D., Wiseman, R.L., 2014. ATF6 activation reduces the secretion and extracellular aggregation of destabilized variants of an amyloidogenic protein. Chem. Biol. 21 (11), 1564–1574. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.chembiol.2014.09.009.
- Chen, J.J., Genereux, J.C., Suh, E.H., et al., 2016. Endoplasmic reticulum proteostasis influences the oligomeric state of an amyloidogenic protein secreted from mammalian cells. Cell Chem. Biol. 23 (10), 1282–1293. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chembiol.2016.09.001.
- Christis, C., Fullaondo, A., Schildknegt, D., Mkrtchian, S., Heck, A.J., Braakman, I., 2010. Regulated increase in folding capacity prevents unfolded protein stress in the ER. J. Cell Sci. 123 (Pt 5), 787–794. https://doi.org/10.1242/jcs.041111.
- Coelho, T., Maia, L.F., Martins da Silva, A., et al., 2012. Tafamidis for transthyretin familial amyloid polyneuropathy: a randomized, controlled trial. Neurology 79 (8), 785–792. https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.0b013e3182661eb1.
- Connors, L.H., Prokaeva, T., Lim, A., et al., 2009. Cardiac amyloidosis in African Americans: comparison of clinical and laboratory features of transthyretin V122I amyloidosis and immunoglobulin light chain amyloidosis. Am. Heart J. 158 (4), 607–614. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.ahj.2009.08.006.
- Ericsson, A.C., Crim, M.J., Franklin, C.L., 2013. A brief history of animal modeling. Mo. Med. 110 (3), 201–205.
- Falk, R.H., Comenzo, R.L., Skinner, M., 1997. The systemic amyloidoses. N. Engl. J. Med. 337 (13), 898–909. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJM199709253371306.
- Gertz, M.A., Benson, M.D., Dyck, P.J., et al., 2015. Diagnosis, prognosis, and therapy of transthyretin amyloidosis. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 66 (21), 2451–2466. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.jacc.2015.09.075.
- Gertz, M.A., 2017. Hereditary ATTR amyloidosis: burden of illness and diagnostic challenges. Am. J. Manag. Care 23 (7 Suppl.), S107–S112.
- Giadone, R.M., Liberti, D.C., Matte, T.M., et al., 2020. Expression of amyloidogenic transthyretin drives hepatic proteostasis remodeling in an induced pluripotent stem cell Model of systemic amyloid disease. Stem Cell Rep. 152, 515–528. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.stemcr.2020.07.003.
- Giadone, R.M., Rosarda, J.D., Akepati, P.R., et al., 2018. A library of ATTR amyloidosis patient-specific induced pluripotent stem cells for disease modelling and in vitro testing of novel therapeutics. Amyloid 25 (3), 148–155. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 13506129.2018.1489228.
- Glembotski, C.C., Rosarda, J.D., Wiseman, R.L., 2019. Proteostasis and beyond: ATF6 in ischemic disease. Trends Mol. Med. 25 (6), 538–550. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.molmed.2019.03.005.
- Grogan, M., Siepen, F.A., Carter, J.A., et al., 2017. Estimating population-level prevalence of wild-type and variant transthyretin amyloid cardiomyopathy. J. Card. Fail. 23 (8), S73. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cardfail.2017.07.207.
- Hanson, J.L.S., Arvanitis, M., Koch, C.M., et al., 2018. Use of serum transthyretin as a prognostic indicator and predictor of outcome in cardiac amyloid disease associated with wildtype transthyretin. Circ. Heart Fail. 11 (2), e004000. https://doi.org/10.1161/ CIRCHEARTFAILURE.117.004000.
- Hellman, U., Alarcon, F., Lundgren, H.E., Suhr, O.B., Bonaiti-Pellié, C., Planté-Bordeneuve, V., 2008. Heterogeneity of penetrance in familial amyloid polyneuropathy, ATTR Val30Met, in the Swedish population. Amyloid 15 (3), 181–186. https://doi.org/ 10.1080/13506120802193720.
- Hetz, C., 2012. The unfolded protein response: controlling cell fate decisions under ER stress and beyond. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 13 (2), 89–102. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm3270. Published 2012 January 18.
- Hipp, M.S., Kasturi, P., Hartl, F.U., 2019. The proteostasis network and its decline in ageing. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 20 (7), 421–435. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41580-019-0101-y.
- Inoue, S., Ohta, M., Li, Z., et al., 2008. Specific pathogen free conditions prevent transthyretin amyloidosis in mouse models. Transgenic Res. 17 (5), 817–826. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s11248-008-9180-9.
- Kaushik, S., Cuervo, A.M., 2015. Proteostasis and aging. Nat. Med. 21 (12), 1406–1415. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm.4001.
- Labbadia, J., Morimoto, R.I., 2015. The biology of proteostasis in aging and disease. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 84, 435–464. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-biochem-060614-033955.
- Lemos, C., Coelho, T., Alves-Ferreira, M., et al., 2014. Overcoming artefact: anticipation in 284 Portuguese kindreds with familial amyloid polyneuropathy (FAP) ATTRV30M. J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatr. 85 (3), 326–330. https://doi.org/10.1136/jnnp-2013-305383.
- Leung, A., Murphy, G.J., 2016. Multisystemic disease modeling of liver-derived protein folding disorders using induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs). Methods Mol. Biol. 1353, 261–270. https://doi.org/10.1007/7651_2014_194.

- Leung, A., Nah, S.K., Reid, W., et al., 2013. Induced pluripotent stem cell modeling of multisystemic, hereditary transthyretin amyloidosis. Stem Cell Rep. 1 (5), 451–463. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.stemcr.2013.10.003. Published 2013 October 31.
- Maurer, M.S., Elliott, P., Merlini, G., et al., 2017. Design and rationale of the phase 3 ATTR-ACT clinical trial (tafamidis in transthyretin cardiomyopathy clinical trial). Circ. Heart Fail. 10 (6), e003815. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCHEARTFAILURE.116.003815.
- Maurer, M.S., Schwartz, J.H., Gundapaneni, B., et al., 2018. Tafamidis treatment for patients with transthyretin amyloid cardiomyopathy. N. Engl. J. Med. 379 (11), 1007–1016. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1805689.
- McCutchen, S.L., Colon, W., Kelly, J.W., 1993. Transthyretin mutation Leu-55-Pro significantly alters tetramer stability and increases amyloidogenicity. Biochemistry 32 (45), 12119–12127. https://doi.org/10.1021/bi00096a024.
- McGonigle, P., Ruggeri, B., 2014. Animal models of human disease: challenges in enabling translation. Biochem. Pharmacol. 87 (1), 162–171. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.bcp.2013.08.006.
- Merlini, G., Westermark, P., 2004. The systemic amyloidoses: clearer understanding of the molecular mechanisms offers hope for more effective therapies. J. Intern. Med. 255 (2), 159–178. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2796.2003.01262.x.
- Merlini, G., Dispenzieri, A., Sanchorawala, V., et al., 2018. Systemic immunoglobulin light chain amyloidosis. Nat. Rev. Dis. Primers 4 (1), 38. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41572-018-0034-3. Published 2018 October 25.
- Monteiro, E., Freire, A., Barroso, E., 2004. Familial amyloid polyneuropathy and liver transplantation. J. Hepatol. 41 (2), 188–194. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhep.2004.06.004.
- Park, S., Gianotti-Sommer, A., Molina-Estevez, F.J., et al., 2017. A comprehensive, ethnically diverse library of sickle cell disease-specific induced pluripotent stem cells. Stem Cell Rep. 8 (4), 1076–1085. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stemcr.2016.12.017.
- Parman, Y., Adams, D., Obici, L., et al., 2016. Sixty years of transthyretin familial amyloid polyneuropathy (TTR-FAP) in Europe: where are we now? A European network approach to defining the epidemiology and management patterns for TTR-FAP. Curr. Opin. Neurol. 29 (Suppl. 1), S3–S13. https://doi.org/10.1097/WCO.00000000000288. Suppl. 1.
- Plate, L., Cooley, C.B., Chen, J.J., et al., 2016. Small molecule proteostasis regulators that reprogram the ER to reduce extracellular protein aggregation. Elife 5, e15550. https:// doi.org/10.7554/eLife.15550. Published 2016 July 20.
- Power, D.M., Elias, N.P., Richardson, S.J., et al., 2000. Evolution of the thyroid hormonebinding protein, Transthyretin. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 199 (3), 241–255. https:// doi.org/10.1006/gcen.2000.7520.
- Reixach, N., Deechongkit, S., Jiang, X., Kelly, J.W., Buxbaum, J.N., 2004. Tissue damage in the amyloidoses: transthyretin monomers and nonnative oligomers are the major cytotoxic species in tissue culture. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 101 (9), 2817–2822. https:// doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0400062101.
- Romine, I.C., Wiseman, R.L., 2020. Starting at the beginning: endoplasmic reticulum proteostasis and systemic amyloid disease. Biochem. J. 477 (9), 1721–1732. https://doi.org/ 10.1042/BCJ20190312.
- Rosenthal, N., Brown, S., 2007. The mouse ascending: perspectives for human-disease models. Nat. Cell Biol. 9 (9), 993–999. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb437.
- Roses, A.D., 2008. Pharmacogenetics in drug discovery and development: a translational perspective. Nat. Rev. Drug Discov. 7 (10), 807–817. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrd2593.

- Ruberg, F.L., Berk, J.L., 2012. Transthyretin (TTR) cardiac amyloidosis. Circulation 126 (10), 1286–1300. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.111.078915.
- Sanchorawala, V., 2006. Light-chain (AL) amyloidosis: diagnosis and treatment. Clin. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 1 (6), 1331–1341. https://doi.org/10.2215/CJN.02740806.
- Schmidt, H.H., Waddington-Cruz, M., Botteman, M.F., et al., 2018. Estimating the global prevalence of transthyretin familial amyloid polyneuropathy. Muscle Nerve 57 (5), 829–837. https://doi.org/10.1002/mus.26034.
- Sekijima, Y., Hammarström, P., Matsumura, M., et al., 2003. Energetic characteristics of the new transthyretin variant A25T may explain its atypical central nervous system pathology. Lab. Invest. 83 (3), 409–417. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.lab.0000059937.11023.1f.
- Shoulders, M.D., Ryno, L.M., Genereux, J.C., et al., 2013. Stress-independent activation of XBP1s and/or ATF6 reveals three functionally diverse ER proteostasis environments. Cell Rep. 3 (4), 1279–1292. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2013.03.024.
- Tanskanen, M., Peuralinna, T., Polvikoski, T., et al., 2008. Senile systemic amyloidosis affects 25% of the very aged and associates with genetic variation in alpha2-macroglobulin and tau: a population-based autopsy study. Ann. Med. 40 (3), 232–239. https://doi.org/ 10.1080/07853890701842988.
- Toouli, C.D., Huschtscha, L.I., Neumann, A.A., et al., 2002. Comparison of human mammary epithelial cells immortalized by simian virus 40 T-Antigen or by the telomerase catalytic subunit. Oncogene 21 (1), 128–139. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.onc.1205014.
- Waddington Cruz, M., Benson, M.D., 2015. A review of tafamidis for the treatment of transthyretin-related amyloidosis. Neurol. Ther. 4 (2), 61–79. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s40120-015-0031-3.
- Walter, P., Ron, D., 2011. The unfolded protein response: from stress pathway to homeostatic regulation. Science 334 (6059), 1081–1086. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1209038.
- Wechalekar, A.D., Gillmore, J.D., Hawkins, P.N., 2016. Systemic amyloidosis. Lancet 387 (10038), 2641–2654. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(15)01274-X.
- Wong, C.H., Siah, K.W., Lo, A.W., 2019. Corrigendum: estimation of clinical trial success rates and related parameters. Biostatistics 20 (2), 366. https://doi.org/10.1093/biostatistics/kxy072.

CHAPTER

iPSCs for modeling choroideremia

5

Zhour Jazouli¹, Simona Torriano², Vasiliki Kalatzis¹

¹Institute for Neurosciences of Montpellier, University of Montpellier, Inserm, Montpellier, France; ²Jules Stein Eye Institute, Department of Ophthalmology, UCLA David Geffen School of Medicine, Los Angeles, CA, United States

Chapter outline

Eye structure and function	124
Inherited retinal dystrophies	127
Choroideremia	128
Genetics of choroideremia	129
Pathophysiology of choroideremia	130
Animal models of choroideremia	133
Cellular models of choroideremia	134
Human induced pluripotent stem cells	135
Human iPSCs for choroideremia	136
Human iPSC-derived retinal pigment epithelium	139
Human iPSC-derived RPE for modeling choroideremia	140
Human iPSC-derived RPE for proof-of-concept studies of gene supplementation for	
choroideremia	141
Human iPSC-derived RPE for proof-of-concept studies of translational read-through	
for choroideremia	142
Future directions for modeling choroideremia	143
References	145

Abstract

This chapter will cover the ways that induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs) have been used to study the inherited retinal dystrophy choroideremia (CHM). Following a general introduction into the eye and its diseases, the chapter will more specifically focus on the clinical phenotype, genetics, and pathophysiology of CHM. Previous efforts to study the disease using diverse animal and cellular models, will then be covered. Then, following a brief introduction into iPSC generation and characteristics, studies using iPSCs specifically in the context of CHM will be outlined. Furthermore, and particularly pertinent for the disease, is the description of iPSC-derived retinal models for CHM, namely, the retinal pigment epithelium. The chapter will cover the characteristics of this tissue and the ways it has been used, to date, for modeling CHM and testing the efficacy of novel therapies (gene supplementation and translational read-through). Future directions for iPSC-based modeling of CHM will be discussed.

Keywords: AAV; CHM; Choroid; Choroideremia; Inherited retinal dystrophies; iPSCs; Phagocytosis; Photoreceptors; Prenylation; PTC124; Rab27a; REP1; Retina; Retinal pigment epithelium; Trafficking.

Eye structure and function

The human eye is a liquid-filled sphere (Fig. 5.1A) made up of an anterior segment (the cornea, iris, and lens) and a posterior segment (the vitreous, retina, choroid, and sclera) (Hejtmancik and Nickerson, 2015). The **sclera** constitutes the outermost layer of the posterior eye. It is a white fibrous tissue, which maintains eye shape. It becomes the transparent cornea on the anterior side. The **cornea** acts as a protective barrier to physical and pathogenic injury and also constitutes the major surface





(A) The human eye comprises the cornea, iris and lens, on the anterior side and the vitreous, retina, choroid, and sclera, on the posterior side. (B) The retina lines the back of the eye. It consists of the retinal pigment epithelium (RPE) and the neuroretina containing the photoreceptors, namely the rods, and the *red* (R), *green* (G) and *blue* (B) cones. From posterior to anterior, the multilayered neuroretina comprises: the outer segments of the photoreceptors; the outer nuclear layer (ONL) with the nuclei-containing cell bodies and inner segments of the photoreceptors, which are connected to the outer segments by the connecting cilium; the outer plexiform layer (OPL) containing the synapses between the axons of the photoreceptors and the neuronal cells; the inner nuclear layer (INL) containing the bipolar, amacrine, and horizontal cells; the inner plexiform layer (IPL) containing the synapses between the neuronal cells and the retinal ganglion cells (RGCs), and the ganglion cell layer (GCL) containing the RGCs. The axons of the RGCs converge to form the optic nerve.

Reproduced with minor modifications from Sanjurjo-Soriano and Kalatzis (2018), under the license http:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/. for light entry and refraction (Eghrari et al., 2015). The **iris** is the colored ring of tissue of the eye that surrounds the pupil, which dilates or constricts to regulate the amount of light entering the eye. The light then traverses the **lens**, situated just behind the pupil, which changes its shape to allow correct focus onto the retina (Hejtmancik and Shiels, 2015). The **retina** is the tissue that lines the posterior segment. It is composed on the posterior side by the retinal pigment epithelium (RPE) and on the anterior side, by the multilayered neuroretina (Grossniklaus et al., 2015). Lastly, between the retina and sclera is situated the **choroid**, a highly vascularized and pigmented tissue, which is important for the health of the retina (Zhang and Wildsoet, 2015).

The neuroretina is composed of three layers of specialized neurons that are interconnected by two synaptic layers (Fig. 5.1B). On the poster side and adjacent to the RPE are the light-sensing **photoreceptors**, which constitute the outer nuclear layer. There are two types of photoreceptors, rods and cones, which are used predominantly under dim or bright light, respectively. Furthermore, there is only one type of rod that allows us to see in black and white, whereas there are three types of cones (red, green, and blue) that allow us to see in color. The photoreceptors have a characteristic morphology comprising an axon, a cell body containing the nucleus, an inner segment rich in mitochondria and which is attached, via a connecting cilium, to an outer segment filled with lipid discs. It is within these outer segment discs that the phototransduction process to convert the light signal into an electrophysiological signal takes place (Grossniklaus et al., 2015). On the anterior side, the photoreceptors synapse with the **bipolar cells**, which are situated in the inner nuclear layer (INL). This synaptic layer is known as the outer plexiform layer. The bipolar cells then transmit the electrophysiological signal to the **retinal gan**glion cells (RGCs) via a second set of synapses in the inner plexiform layer (IPL). Lateral connections also exist within the INL via horizontal and amacrine cells, thus further modulating the signaling pathway from photoreceptors to RGCs. The RGCs constitute the most anterior layer of the neuroretina and, as their axons merge together to form the optic nerve, the electrophysiological signal is hence transmitted from the eye to the brain for image interpretation.

The outermost layer of the retina is the **RPE**, a polarized cuboidal epithelium. The RPE lies upon the highly collagenous Bruch's membrane, which separates it from the underlying choroid (Fig. 5.2). On the apical side, the RPE has numerous microvilli that are in are in close contact with the photoreceptor outer segments (POS). The apical pole of each RPE cell contains a high level of melanosomes that contribute to its pigmentation, and the basal pole contains a nucleus and predominant mitochondria. The RPE is essential for the support and survival of the neuroretina (Sparrow et al., 2010). Via its pigmentation, the RPE provides protection by absorbing excess light to prevent light-induced toxicity (Fig. 5.2). The apical microvilli are involved in the phagocytosis of the most-aged tips of the POS that are shed daily to prevent the build-up of photo-oxidative radicals. Furthermore, the RPE forms a close partnership with the photoreceptors for regeneration of the chromophore 11-*cis*-retinal following light interaction by a process known as the





The RPE is in close contact with the photoreceptors on the apical side and is separated from the underlying choroid on the basal side by Bruch's membrane (BM). Each RPE cell has apical microvilli (MV) in close contact with the POS, apical melanosomes (filled black ovals), a basal nucleus (N) and basal mitochondria (open circles). Apical tight junctions (TJs) and basal gap junctions (GJs) exist between cells. The RPE is responsible for the: absorption of excess light (indicated by brown arrows) that cannot be processed by the photoreceptors; phagocytosis of the shed tips (blue ovals) of the POS; regeneration of the chromophore 11-*cis* retinal via the visual cycle; epithelial transport of nutrients toward the photoreceptors and evacuation of water toward the choroid, and the polarized secretion of growth factors. PEDF, pigment epithelial-derived factor. VEGF, vascular endothelial growth factor.

visual cycle (Strauss, 2005). Each RPE cell is in close contact with its neighbor via a series of gap junctions on the basolateral side and tight junctions on the apical side. Consequently, the RPE is capable of polarized epithelial transport, which is highly regulated by a series of ion channels (Reichhart and Strauss, 2014). Via this polarized transport, the RPE removes water and by-products of retinal metabolism from the photoreceptors and provides them with glucose and other nutrients from the choriocapillaris (Fig. 5.2). Similarly, by polarized growth factor secretion, the RPE maintains the structure and integrity of the retina and underlying choroid.

Lastly, the **choroid** is a highly vascularized conjunctive tissue. It contains collagen fibers for maintaining its structure and pigmented melanocytes to help prevent light-mediated toxicity. Its vascular network, the choriocapillaris, is made up of fenestrated capillaries, which feed the outer retina. However, a distinct barrier sequesters the eye from the systemic circulation (Fields et al., 2019). This is referred to as the **blood**—**retinal barrier** (BRB), and it is composed of the tight junctions of the RPE, the highly collagenous underlying Bruch's membrane, and the nonfenes-trated retinal vessels. The BRB thus prevents unhindered travel of any molecule to and from the eye and renders this organ relatively immune-privileged.

Inherited retinal dystrophies

An interruption in the conversion or transmission of the light signal within the retina is a primary cause of visual impairment worldwide. This can be due to trauma, combinatorial risk factors including age (two common examples are age-related macular degeneration and glaucoma) or a secondary effect of another pathology (e.g., diabetes). Another important cause is the inheritance of a genetic defect that affects the development, structure, or function of the retina, either exclusively (nonsyndromic) or conjunctly (syndromic) with other tissues (Berger et al., 2010). Such diseases are generally referred to as inherited retinal dystrophies (IRDs) and, although some stationary forms do exist, IRDs are most often characterized by a progressive loss of vision due to photoreceptor death. Although the RGCs are part of the retina, their degeneration generally gives rise to an atrophy of the optic nerve with a normal retinal aspect, thus these disorders are not classified as IRDs but as hereditary optic neuropathies (Hamel, 2014).

IRDs are a large group of clinically and genetically heterogeneous disorders (Sullivan and Daiger, 1996). Collectively, they have a prevalence of approximately 1/2000 live births, but individually they fall under the category of rare diseases. IRDs have been linked to mutations in over 270 genes and their mode of transmission can be autosomal dominant, recessive, or X-linked (https://sph.uth.edu/retnet/). Intriguingly, mutations in the same gene can be responsible for either dominant or recessive forms, as well as for distinct clinical phenotypes. In some cases, this can be either due to the type of mutation, with deleterious mutations leading to a more severe phenotype, whereas missense mutations lead to a milder phenotype, or the localization of the mutation with regard to domains important for the function of the encoded protein (Dias et al., 2018).

The majority of causative IRD genes have been described to affect the structure of the photoreceptor, most notably the connecting cilium (Hamel, 2014). These pathologies are also referred to as ciliopathies and are often syndromic, as extraretinal symptoms in other ciliated tissues, such as the ear or kidney, can also be associated. Another prevalent group of causative IRD genes comprises those that affect the phototransduction process. The third group comprises genes affecting photoreceptor development or gene and protein regulation. In addition, IRD causative genes can also directly affect the function of the RPE, notably phagocytosis and retinoid metabolism. Lastly, some causative IRD genes are ubiquitously expressed but with a restricted retinal phenotype, which is thought to be due to the intense metabolic activity of this tissue.

Clinically, IRDs are categorized into subgroups based on the type of photoreceptor that degenerates first. Rod-cone dystrophies are initially characterized by night blindness and peripheral vision loss due to the degeneration of rods, which are more highly concentrated in the peripheral retina. The most common example is retinitis pigmentosa (Verbakel et al., 2018). By contrast, cone-rod dystrophies are initially characterized by a loss of fine vision due to the degeneration of cones, which are more highly concentrated towards the center of the retina (Hamel, 2007). A specific subclass of cone dystrophies purely affects the central cone-rich macula and is hence referred to as maculopathies. The most common example is Stargardt disease (Tanna et al., 2017). Furthermore, one particular subgroup of IRDs is characterized by an early and severe onset of peripheral and central vision loss and is referred to as Leber congenital amaurosis (Kondkar and Abu-Amero, 2019). Lastly, in some IRDs, the retinal degeneration can be also associated with a degeneration of the choroid (Berger et al., 2010). These disorders are referred to as chorioretinopathies, and the most common example is choroideremia.

Choroideremia

Choroideremia (CHM), meaning the total absence of choroidal vessels in the fundus, was first described in 1872. In 1952, Sorby et al. established that CHM was a progressive disease, distinct from retinitis pigmentosa, and inherited as an X-linked recessive trait, primarily affecting males (Sorsby et al., 1952). The disease prevalence is estimated to be 1/50,000 (Kalatzis et al., 2013). Affected boys have difficulty seeing at night in the first decade of life and then progressively lose peripheral vision by their teens and in their twenties. By their fourth decade of life, CHM males have a significantly constricted peripheral visual field and many are considered legally blind. In the fourth to fifth decade of life, the majority of patients continue to have preserved central vision. Impairment of visual acuity occurs at a late age and, beyond the sixth decade, only a few patients retain any central vision (Roberts et al., 2002).

Accompanying this disease course, areas of RPE hypopigmentation and thinning throughout the fundus are early manifestations of the disease, already seen in boys younger than 10 years of age (Kalatzis et al., 2013). Optical coherence tomographic imaging in later phases shows shortening of the inner and outer segments of the photoreceptors, reduced thickness of the outer nuclear layer, and depigmentation of the RPE. Areas of chorioretinal atrophy with loss of the RPE and of the choriocapillaris appear over time. These expose large choroidal vessels and, due to the disappearance of RPE and choroidal melanocytes, give the characteristic whitish appearance of the fundus of CHM patients (Fig. 5.3A).

Most heterozygous female carriers are asymptomatic in childhood and, even later in life, present a milder phenotype without serious visual impairment and good preservation of the visual field (Preising et al., 2009). They can, however, be identified clinically by the presence of patchy areas of RPE atrophy (Fig. 5.3B), which progress mildly with age. Rarely, female carriers with more severe phenotypes similar to affected males have been described (Potter et al., 2004). The clinical findings in affected females could be explained by the Lyon hypothesis of unbalanced X chromosome inactivation (Vajaranant et al., 2008). Alternatively, it has been proposed that the causative gene can escape X-linked inactivation and maintain detectable but reduced expression in different cell lines from the inactivated X (Carrel and Willard, 1999). Both hypotheses could explain why the phenotype is so heterogeneous and, generally, milder.





(A) Typical whitish appearance of the fundus of a male choroideremia patient showing large atrophic areas of the retina and choroid. (B) Fundus of an asymptomatic female carrier showing pigment mottling in the peripheral retina.

Images courtesy of Pr. C.P. Hamel.

Genetics of choroideremia

Like most IRDs, CHM is a monogenic disease. The causative gene, CHM, is located at Xq21.2 and spans a 186-kb region (Cremers et al., 1990). CHM consists of 15 exons encoding a 653-aa polypeptide, the Rab Escort Protein 1, REP1 (van Bokhoven et al., 1994). The majority of reported CHM mutations lead to truncated or absent REP1 and are thus considered as loss-of-function mutations. Currently, 430 unique pathogenic CHM variants, and 731 total variants, have been reported (https://databases.lovd.nl/shared/genes/CHM). These variants most commonly comprise substitutions and deletions, followed by duplications, indels and insertions. Atypical variants have also been reported: deep intronic mutations resulting in pseudoexon insertion and exon skipping (van den Hurk, 2003); L1 retrotransposon (van den Hurk, 2003) and SINE (Vache et al., 2019) insertions that alter splicing; large X chromosome translocations (Garcia-Hoyos et al., 2005; Lorda-Sanchez et al., 2000; Mukkamala et al., 2010; Siu et al., 1990) and contiguous gene deletions (Merry et al., 1989; Yntema et al., 1999) that result in extraretinal symptoms; exon duplications (Chi et al., 2013; Edwards et al., 2018), and mutations in the CHM promoter (Vache et al., 2019; Radziwon et al., 2017). Furthermore, somewhat strikingly, missense mutations are rarely associated with CHM, as only three such mutations, p.Leu550Pro (Sergeev et al., 2009), p.His507Arg (Esposito et al., 2011), and p.Leu457Pro (Torriano et al., 2017) have been validated as pathogenic to date. Thus, as most CHM mutations are loss-of-function, there is no real evidence for a genotype-phenotype correlation (Freund et al., 2016; Sanchez-Alcudia et al., 2016; Simunovic et al., 2016). The only exception is a recent study showing that a patient with a milder phenotype carried a splice site mutation with residual fulllength transcript production (Fry et al., 2019).

Interestingly, a second gene that encodes a protein highly homologous to REP1 has also been identified in mammals. Considering its similarity, this gene was called

CHM-like (*CHML*). Human *CHML* is located on chromosome one and encodes a protein named REP2. This 656-aa polypeptide shares \sim 75% homology with REP1 and has the same biochemical role (Cremers et al., 1992). *CHML* is a gene that lacks introns, and it is thought to arise from a retrogene insertion of the *CHM* mRNA transcript during vertebrate evolution. Both REP1 and REP2 are ubiquitously expressed in human tissues, including the retina.

Pathophysiology of choroideremia

REP1 is responsible for the posttranslational prenylation of the Rab GTPase protein superfamily and, hence, plays a major role as a regulator of intracellular vesicular trafficking (Alexandrov et al., 1994; Andres et al., 1993; Seabra et al., 1993, 1992). Currently, more than 60 Rab proteins have been identified (Hutagalung and Novick, 2011). Rabs are characteristic of certain cellular compartments (Fig. 5.4) and are known to be involved in the transport, secretion, and fusion of vesicles (Seabra et al., 2002). To accomplish this role, Rabs need to be activated by both GTP binding and the addition of a hydrophobic prenyl group (Pereira-Leal et al., 2001). REP1 recognizes unprenylated cytosolic Rabs and acts as a chaperon presenting them to the enzyme Rab geranyl-geranyl transferase II (RGGTaseII). RGGTaseII recognizes the REP1-Rab complex, and promotes its prenylation by adding one or two 20-carbon geranylgeranyl groups via a stable thioether linkage. This binding occurs in two cysteines situated in the Rab carboxyl terminal domain. The recognition is mediated by the α subunit of the RGGTaseII, while the enzymatic activity resides in the β subunit. The prenyl donor is a molecule of geranylgeranyl pyrophosphate (GGPP), which, once added, acts as a negative regulator of the prenylation cycle, as the REP1-Rab complex then dissociates from the enzyme. REP1 can then chaperon the prenylated Rab to its target membrane and, once delivered, the prenylation cycle is complete (Fig. 5.5), and REP1 is free to associate with another unprenylated Rab (Alexandrov et al., 1994; Seabra et al., 2002; Pereira-Leal et al., 2001; Alory and Balch, 2001).

Both REP1 and REP2 share the same chaperon function in Rab prenylation and, as their substrate specificity can overlap, they seem to be able to substitute for each other in certain contexts. When REP1 is absent, as in CHM, REP2 activity appears to compensate REP1 deficiency in almost all the tissues of the body, with the exception of the retina (Cremers et al., 1994); this would explain the associated retina-specific phenotype. Although Rab proteins can be prenylated in vitro by both REPs, in the context of CHM, all Rabs are in competition for binding and prenylation by REP2. Therefore, Rabs that present a lower affinity for REP2 may be underprenylated.

Seabra et al. showed that Rab27a was the underprenylated Rab protein associated with CHM in patient lymphoblasts (Seabra et al., 1995). Furthermore, they consistently showed that Rab27a was highly expressed in the RPE and the choroid of the rat retina. It was subsequently demonstrated that, although Rab27a binds REP1 and





Non exhaustive representation of Rab proteins involved in the different pathways of trafficking, fusion and secretion of vesicles in the RPE. Each Rab protein is localized to a specific compartment within the cell. Particularly relevant to CHM, Rab27, as well as Rab38 and Rab32, are involved in melanosome biogenesis and trafficking. Rab27 is also involved in secretion and exocytosis. Rab5, Rab14 and Rab22 are involved in phagocytosis and endocytosis. Rab7 mediates late endosome and phagosome maturation and lysosomal fusion. TGN, *trans*-Golgi network. ER, endoplasmic reticulum.

REP2 with equal affinity, the REP2-Rab27a complex has a lower affinity for RGGTaseII than the REP1-Rab27a complex (Larijani et al., 2003). Moreover, the REP2-Rab27a reaction can be effectively inhibited by other Rab proteins (Rak et al., 2004). However, despite the undisputed connection between REP1 and Rab27a, it is not clear how underprenylation of Rab27a gives rise to the clinical phenotype of CHM.

One of the major roles of Rab27a is to regulate melanosome distribution to the apical pole of RPE cells. It acts as part of a molecular complex with MYRIP and myosin VIIA, to likely bridge retinal melanosomes to the actin cytoskeleton, thus mediating their local trafficking (Klomp et al., 2007; Lopes et al., 2007). In addition,





Step 1, the prenylation cycle is initiated by REP1 binding an unprenylated Rab. Step 2, the REP1-Rab complex is recognized by the enzyme RGGTaseII, made up of its α and β subunit. Step 3, RGGTaseII adds the GGPP donor to the Rab. Step 4, RGGTaseII dissociates from the complex. Step 5, REP1 escorts the prenylated Rab to the acceptor membrane and is then free to associate with another unprenylated Rab.

Rab27a is used by secretory vesicles and granules to exocytose their cargo (Ejlerskov et al., 2012; Munafo et al., 2007; Yamaoka et al., 2016; Yi et al., 2002). This is consistent with a recent report showing that Rab27a modulates the L-type calcium channel, $Ca_v1.3$, which underlies secretory processes in various cell types (Catterall, 2011). $Ca_v1.3$ and Rab27a were shown to colocalize and physically interact at the basolateral membrane of the RPE. Furthermore, overexpression of Rab27a was found to inhibit channel function and reduce secretion of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) (Reichhart et al., 2015).

A subsequent study showed that, in addition to Rab27a, Rab27b, Rab38, and Rab42 (also known as Rab7b) have much slower prenylation rates in vitro than the majority of other Rab proteins studied (Kohnke et al., 2013). Rab27b and Rab38, like Rab27a, are also localized to melanosomes (Hutagalung and Novick, 2011). More recently, Rab42 was shown in keratinocytes to be localized to

compartments containing melanosomes, where it is involved in protein degradation (Marubashi and Fukuda, 2020). Therefore, it is possible that the underprenylation of other Rabs, in addition to Rab27a, may also be involved in the pathophysiology of CHM.

To conclude, to date, although the underlying gene and biochemical defect of CHM is well characterized, it is still unknown how the underprenylated Rab pool leads to the associated chorioretinal degeneration.

Animal models of choroideremia

Many spontaneous or generated mouse models carrying mutations in IRD genes exist that have helped advance research (Baehr and Frederick, 2009; Dalke and Graw, 2005). However, numerous mouse models that have been generated do not mimic the patient phenotype nor undergo photoreceptor degeneration. This may be due to the short lifespan of the mouse or to the difference in retinal structure between the two species. An excellent example of the latter are the murine models generated for the family of IRD genes responsible for Usher syndrome (USH). In humans, mutations in these genes associate with vision and hearing loss. However, the mouse models do not present with a retinal phenotype (Williams, 2008). This is because the USH family proteins are localized to calyceal processes, microvillus-like structures that form a collar around the base of the outer segment at the level of the connecting cilium in the primate retina. By contrast, murine photoreceptors lack these processes (Sahly et al., 2012).

Furthermore, the murine retina contains only two (green and blue) types of cones compared to the three types in humans, and the distribution pattern of cones and rods varies between the two species with the absence of a cone-rich macula in mice. The dog eye has proven more suitable for studying IRDs as it resembles the human eye in both size and structure, and many IRDs in man have canine counterparts (Tsai et al., 2007). However, for certain diseases, the identification of a corresponding canine model has proven elusive. In recent years, zebrafish have become more popular for modeling IRDs. This is because the zebrafish retina contains all the major cell and tissue layers found in the human retina, including the calyceal processes and the three cone types (Slijkerman et al., 2015). Furthermore, zebrafish have a short reproductive cycle and their offspring develop *ex utero*, thus eye development can be monitored easily.

The first animal model for CHM was identified from a mutagenic screen in zebrafish (Starr et al., 2004). This model, referred to as chm^{ru848} , carries a nucleotide change in the second exon of the *chm* gene, which gives rise to a premature UAA stop codon at position 33 (p.Gln33*) of the encoded rep1. The phenotype is severe and systemic, resulting in lethality at 5- to 6-days postfertilization (dpf). The cause of this extreme phenotype is explained by the fact that zebrafish lack a homolog of the human *CHML* gene (Moosajee et al., 2009). Up until six dpf, *chm*^{*ru848*} larvae can survive because the mutant zebrafish still benefit from *chm* expression provided by the yolk sac and present in different tissues, including the eye. Survival thus continues until the maternal transcript is degraded (Starr et al., 2004). Mutant zebrafish larvae show degeneration in both RPE and photoreceptors, with ineffective phagocytosis of POS observed in the mutant RPE (Krock et al., 2007). Furthermore, it was reported that photoreceptor degeneration was nonautonomous and required contact with the mutant RPE, suggesting that photoreceptor death was a secondary consequence.

The first Chm knock-out mouse model was generated in 1997 (van den Hurk et al., 1997). However, *Chm* inactivation was discovered to be lethal at the embryonic stages in hemizygous male mice due to a defective trophoblast development and vascularization in extraembryonic tissues (Shi et al., 2004). The viable heterozygous females, which were equivalent to human female carriers, showed a mild loss of photoreceptors (van den Hurk et al., 1997). A subsequent conditional knockout mouse model, whereby *Chm* was inactivated in photoreceptors and/or the RPE, was then generated in 2006 to overcome the embryonic lethality (Tolmachova et al., 2006). Heterozygous *Chm^{null/WT}* females showed progressive degeneration of the photoreceptors accompanied by reduced eletroretinogram responses, patchy depigmentation of the RPE and Rab prenylation defects, similar to patients. Furthermore, when *Chm* was knocked out specifically in the RPE, this tissue degenerated without major effects observed on the photoreceptors. Similarly, when *Chm* was knocked out specifically in the photoreceptors, these cells degenerated without significant effects on the RPE. These results suggested that a Chm defect can give rise to cell autonomous degeneration of both the RPE and photoreceptors. However, when a *Chm* defect is present in the photoreceptors and RPE concurrently, the diseased RPE accelerated photoreceptor degeneration (Tolmachova et al., 2010).

Interestingly, although the majority of pathogenic *CHM* variants in humans are loss-of-function mutations that result in a retinal-specific phenotype, the invalidation of *CHM* homologs in zebrafish and mice is lethal. Similarly, the identification of a canine model for CHM also proved elusive, suggesting that *CHM* invalidation may also be lethal in this species (Robert et al., 2010). Thus, in the absence of an appropriate animal model for CHM, human cell culture is an essential complement for research (Seymour and Fisher, 2009).

Cellular models of choroideremia

In an effort to further unravel the pathophysiology of CHM, initial studies were carried out on primary cell lines generated from patients. It was shown that intracellular transport was affected in fibroblasts and monocytes of CHM patients (Strunnikova et al., 2009). These studies identified a defect in the proteolytic degradation of FluoroSphere beads, which was associated with an increased lysosomal pH. A decrease in the secretion of cytokines and growth factors, such as monocyte chemoattractant protein (MCP)-1, interleukin (IL)-8, tumor necrosis factor alpha, basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF), and pigment epithelial-derived factor (PEDF), was also identified, whereas VEGF secretion was unchanged.

These results were confirmed later by studies on human fetal RPE (hfRPE) cells. Following REP1 depletion in hfRPE, mediated by siRNA knockdown, a delay in the clearance of POS due to reduced phagosomal acidification was observed following phagocytosis (Gordiyenko et al., 2010). Furthermore, there was a decrease in the association of the phagosomes with the late endosomal markers, Rab7 and LAMP-1, suggesting defective phagosome-lysosome fusion. In addition, an increase in the production of MCP-1 and IL-8 was observed, suggesting an onset of inflammation, which could be correlated with the infiltration of inflammatory cells in the choroicapillaris of CHM patients (MacDonald et al., 2009).

Although these studies did provide insights into CHM pathophysiology, the results were somewhat contradictory. This is likely due to the fact that the model systems were either cells that were not truly affected in the disease or nondiseased tissue. The subsequent advent of induced pluripotent stem cell (iPSC) technology held the promise of generating retinal tissue from CHM patients, which represents a more pertinent model for studying the disease.

Human induced pluripotent stem cells

As CHM is characterized by a retinal-specific phenotype, the information that can be gleamed from nonretinal cells is limiting. This coupled to the lack of a pertinent animal model that reproduces the human condition in affected males has pushed for the development of an alternative human model. Along this line, pluripotent stem cells (PSCs), in particular those induced from somatic tissues (iPSCs), have revolutionized the field of biomedical research. The fact that iPSCs can be generated from somatic cells of patients with inherited disorders, and that these cells can be differentiated theoretically into any tissues, has made these iPSCderived tissues or even organs an invaluable tool for disease modeling and therapeutic studies.

The ground-breaking work of Yamanaka showed that a somatic cell, whether murine (Takahashi and Yamanaka, 2006) or human (Takahashi et al., 2007), could be reprogrammed into iPSCs with a cocktail of four transcription factors: OCT3/4, SOX2, KLF4, and c-MYC. The first step of reprogramming is heterochromatin reorganization to allow for a more open conformation, which is characterized by higher plasticity. c-MYC plays a major role in this process because it can recruit the histone acetyltransferase to promote transcription of target genes. KLF4 is a zinc finger transcription factor for maintenance of self-renewal. It binds the *NANOG* promoter and, with SOX2 and OCT3/4, mediates *NANOG* expression. SOX2 and OCT3/4 heterodimerize together and they are associated with self-renewal, pluripotency, and the maintenance of an undifferentiated phenotype.

The initial vectors used to vehicle the transcription factor cocktail into somatic cells were retro- and lentiviral vectors, which were characterized by an efficiency of <0.1% and represented downstream safety risks, as well as potential interference with read-outs, due to the random integration of exogenous genes into the host genome (Gonzalez et al., 2011). Nonviral delivery of reprogramming factors (such as plasmids, mRNAs, proteins) was subsequently investigated, and although safer, they showed a lower efficiency when compared to virus-based vectors. The most popular method today, which represents an interesting compromise between safety and high efficiency, is the use of Sendai virus (SeV)-based vectors (Fusaki et al., 2009). SeV vectors are nonintegrative; thus, the vectors and exogenous genes are progressively lost during cell division and result in a reprogramming efficiency of up to 1%.

Once reprogrammed, iPSCs represent an indefinite supply of self-renewing cells that can undergo multilineage differentiation (ectoderm, mesoderm, and endoderm). Despite the significant advantages associated with their renewal capacities, iPSCs do harbor some limitations. The renewal potential of PSCs in the blastocyst is only a transient step of embryogenesis (Weissbein et al., 2014). By contrast, with iPSCs, this renewal characteristic is exploited indefinitely and, hence, is associated with the risk of the occurrence of genetic instability. PSCs have shorter cell cycles than differentiated cells due to a shortened G1 phase (Becker et al., 2006). Thus, when iPSCs are reprogrammed from somatic cells, they begin to proliferate rapidly and acquire short cell cycles. This, in turn, incurs a high risk of acquiring genetic aberrations. The DNA machinery is challenged due to the increase in successive rounds of DNA replication, and, consequently, replication defects and defective chromosomal segregation slip through weakened checkpoints (Weissbein et al., 2014). The highly documented genetic instability associated with iPSCs, $\sim 20\%$ of human iPSC lines generated exhibit at least one large chromosomal aberration, can have unforeseen consequences on pathophysiological or therapeutic read-outs. Therefore, it is essential to check the genetic stability of iPSCs once they have been generated and regularly thereafter during culture.

Human iPSCs for choroideremia

To date, we have generated a bank of genetically stable iPSC lines from over five patients with CHM (Torriano et al., 2017; Cereso et al., 2014; Erkilic et al., 2019; Torriano et al., 2018) and unpublished data). In our experience, preservation of the genetic integrity of these lines in recent years was helped by technological advances that allowed us to reprogram under feeder-free conditions and to subculture cells rapidly using chemical dissociation protocols. The first of the CHM lines that we generated was reprogrammed using an inefficient lentiviral method (Cereso et al., 2014), but the remainder have been generated using the highly efficient SeV method. When we first switched to the SeV method, we were unprepared for the contrast in efficiency, and, consequently, we were confronted with a large

number of clones simultaneously emerging and requiring subculture. As a result, many of the newly generated iPSC lines showed evidence of genetic instability and would normally have been discarded.

However, an intriguingly high level of complex genetic instability was detected in the iPSCs generated from two brothers of a CHM family carrying a large deletion of the entire *CHM* gene (Erkilic et al., 2019). The karyotype anomalies were complex and involved combinations of the chromosomes 12, 20, and/or 5. A core translocation, t(12; 20) (q24.3; q11.2), was found to be common among all the iPSC clones. We thus performed complementary karyotype analyses on blood cells of all family members and determined that this novel reciprocal translocation was segregating in the family. Therefore, its presence in the original somatic cells bred further instability following reprogramming into iPSCs. This study teaches us that unstable iPSCs should not be automatically discarded, as they can uncover chromosomal aberrations segregating in unsuspecting families. This in turn has important consequences for genetic counseling, due to the high rate of association of such rearrangements with reproductive failure or birth defects.

Generally, iPSC lines for CHM have been generated from patient peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC) (Duong et al., 2018; Vasireddy et al., 2013) or fibroblasts isolated from punch biopsies (Torriano et al., 2017; Cereso et al., 2014; Erkilic et al., 2019; Torriano et al., 2018). As CHM is ubiquitously expressed, patient fibroblasts have also proven useful as an intermediate step to assay the effect of unusual mutations on *CHM* transcript and REP1 protein levels (Vache et al., 2019; Torriano et al., 2017). Furthermore, fibroblasts can also be used to study the underprenylation defect characteristic of CHM using an in vitro prenylation assay (Fig. 5.6A). Prenylation allows Rabs to attach to vesicular membranes to accomplish their roles as regulators of intracellular transport, whereas unprenylated Rabs remain free, and nonfunctional, in the cytosol. In the in vitro prenylation assay, the cytosolic fraction of the cell lysate is incubated with recombinant REP1, RGGTaseII, and a biotinylated prenyl donor. The free, cytosolic Rab pool can thus be prenylated in vitro and the biotinylated Rabs subsequently detected by western blot analysis. The intensity of the signal provides a semiquantitative analysis of the original unprenylated Rab pool; the stronger the signal, the more cytosolic Rabs present.

We previously showed that regardless of the type of mutation, CHM patient fibroblasts contain 4-10-fold higher unprenylated Rab levels than control cells (Torriano et al., 2017; Sanchez-Alcudia et al., 2016). Similarly, iPSCs (Fig. 5.6B) generated from CHM patient fibroblasts also show higher unprenylated Rab levels, as compared to controls (Fig. 5.6C and D). Furthermore, using immunofluorescence studies, Vasireddy et al. suggested a trafficking defect of Rab27a in iPSCs generated from PBMC of a CHM patient. In the REP1-deficient iPSCs, Rab27a showed a perinuclear localization, whereas in the presence of REP1, Rab27a appeared localized to the membrane (Vasireddy et al., 2013).

In conclusion, although not a true model of the disease, CHM fibroblasts and even iPSCs have helped to further CHM research by addressing questions that did not require a retinal context to be answered.



FIGURE 5.6

In vitro prenylation of choroideremia iPSCs.

(A) Simplified schematic representation of the prenylation status in wild type (WT, left panel) and CHM (middle panel) cells. REP1 presents Rab proteins to the enzyme RGGTasell for addition of a prenyl donor (in red). As this is a dynamic process, the WT cell will contain a majority of prenylated Rabs (in *blue* and *red*) and a minority of Rabs destined for prenylation (in *blue*). By contrast, the CHM cell, which is deficient in REP1, will contain an excess of unprenylated Rabs (in *blue*); a proportion of prenylated Rabs (in blue and red) will be present due to prenylation via REP2. In the in vitro prenylation test (right panel), the cytosol containing the unprenylated Rab pool is incubated with recombinant REP1 (rREP1), RGGTaseII (rα and rβ) and a biotinylated prenyl donor (rGGPP; yellow star). In this way, the unprenylated Rabs (in blue) undergo in vitro prenylation (in *blue*, *red* and *yellow*), and the addition of the biotinylated prenyl group allows their subsequent detection via western blot analysis. (B) iPSCs of a CHM patient generated using SeV vectors and cultured under feeder-free conditions. Scale bar, 200 µm. (C) Western blot analysis following in vitro prenylation of iPSCs from the same patient showing a readily detectable biotinylated Rab population, as compared to WT iPSCs. (D) Graph showing the semi-quantification of the biotinylated Rab levels, normalized to β -actin levels and expressed as relative units, in the WT (gray bar) and CHM (*black* bar) iPSCs shown in (C); data are expressed as mean \pm SEM (n = 2).

Human iPSC-derived retinal pigment epithelium

As mentioned above, it is not yet definitively accepted as to whether the retinal defects associated with CHM are due to autonomous degeneration of the photoreceptors or RPE, but it does seem that the diseased RPE exacerbates photoreceptor degeneration. Moreover, it is generally accepted that the choroid is a secondary consequence of RPE degeneration. Therefore, a highly pertinent model to study CHM is iPSC-derived RPE. RPE was initially generated from iPSCs as early as 2009 (Buchholz et al., 2009; Hirami et al., 2009; Meyer et al., 2009), only 2 years after the initial reports of human iPSC generation. The particular advantage of RPE is that it can be spontaneously differentiated from iPSCs (Buchholz et al., 2009). Following removal of bFGF from iPSC culture media, pigmented foci spontaneously appear in culture plates (Fig. 5.7A). These can be manually dissected using a light microscope and further subcultured to obtain a homogenous tissue.

iPSC-derived RPE is comprised of a monolayer of cells with a pigmentation visible to the naked eye (Fig. 5.7B). The monolayer is composed of tightly packed cells with a characteristic cobblestone morphology (Fig. 5.7C). iPSC-derived RPE cells have numerous microvilli on their apical surface and a basally located nucleus (Fig. 5.7D). Furthermore, the pigmentation is due to the presence of numerous apically located melanosomes. iPSC-derived RPE cells also express characteristic RPE markers in a polarized fashion: on the apical side, the tight junction marker ZO1 and the microvilli marker MERTK; in the cytosol, the visual cycle proteins LRAT, CRALBP, and RPE65; on the basolateral side, the integral membrane protein Bestrophin-1 (Torriano et al., 2017; Schwarz et al., 2015). Moreover, iPSC-derived



FIGURE 5.7 Generation and morphology of choroideremia iPSC-derived RPE.

(A) Pigmented foci spontaneously appearing in a 35-mm dish of confluent CHM iPSCs during the differentiation protocol. (B) Visibly pigmented iPSC-derived RPE cultured in a 75 cm² culture flask (on the right) compared to non-pigmented cultured fibroblasts (on the left). (C) Pigmented cobblestone appearance of a CHM iPSC-derived RPE monolayer. Scale bar, 40 μ m. (D) Transmission electron micrograph of a CHM iPSC-derived monolayer showing two adjacent cells with, on the apical side, microvilli, tight junctions (asterisks) and melanosomes, and, on the basal side, nuclei and underlying secreted deposits (arrows). Scale bar, 2 μ m.

Images courtesy of N. Erkilic.

RPE reproduces the functions of the RPE in vivo. It is capable of active apico-basal fluid transport due to the presence of apical tight junctions (Cereso et al., 2014), consistent with ZO1 labeling. Similarly, iPSC-derived RPE is capable of polarized growth factor secretion, such as PEDF apically and VEGF basally (Simonin et al., 2019). Furthermore, this tissue can perform phagocytosis of POS via its apical microvilli (Singh et al., 2013) and can actively participate in the visual cycle following the addition of recombinant all-*trans* retinol to the culture media (Maeda et al., 2013; Muniz et al., 2014).

Taken together, a morphologically characteristic and functional iPSC-derived RPE model would potentially hold much interest for CHM, both in terms of pathophysiology studies, as well as for the testing of novel therapeutic molecules.

Human iPSC-derived RPE for modeling choroideremia

The first example of iPSC-derived RPE generated for CHM was published in 2014 (Cereso et al., 2014). We generated iPSCs from a patient carrying a complex duplication-deletion event, which resulted in the skipping of exon eight and premature REP1 termination. The CHM iPSC-derived RPE showed a normal morphology, expressed characteristic markers, and was capable of fluid transport and internalization of fluorescently labeled microspheres. Moreover, we showed that the patient iPSC-derived RPE mimicked the biochemical defect of CHM. Firstly, using the invitro biotinylated prenylation assay detailed above, only a faint biotinvlated Rab signal could be detected in control iPSC-derived RPE. By contrast, a fourfold stronger signal could be detected in the CHM iPSC-derived RPE, indicative of a larger unprenylated Rab pool in these cells. Secondly, by differential centrifugation and western blot analysis, we showed that the CHM iPSC-derived RPE contained a significantly higher content of cytosolic Rab27a, and a lower content of membrane-bound Rab27a, as compared to control RPE. Thus, taken together, iPSC-derived RPE from CHM patients mimics the underprenylation defect associated with the disease.

In a complementary study in 2018, Duong et al. suggested that CHM iPSCderived RPE from four patients carrying loss-of-function mutations showed decreased phagolysosomal activation (Duong et al., 2018), similar to what had been previously reported in patient lymphoblasts (Strunnikova et al., 2009). After internalization of pHrodo Biospheres, the fluorescence of which increases within the lysosome, the fluorescence of CHM iPSC-derived RPE did decrease over time as in control RPE, but the fluorescence levels were lower at all time points (Duong et al., 2018). Furthermore, the authors reported a differential distribution pattern of Rab27a in iPSC-derived RPE by immunofluorescence studies, as was previously reported in iPSCs (Vasireddy et al., 2013). In control RPE, Rab27a showed a diffuse labeling in the majority of cells, whereas in a minority (20%), Rab27a labeling was found to be perinuclear. This was similar in patient iPSC-derived RPE, except that a slightly but significantly higher proportion of cells (30%) showed a perinuclear Rab27a localization (Duong et al., 2018), thus suggestive of defective trafficking of Rab27a.

In conclusion, the differential phenotypes observed between control and patient iPSC-derived RPE provide an insight into CHM pathophysiology, as well as pertinent readouts to assess the efficacy of novel therapies.

Human iPSC-derived RPE for proof-of-concept studies of gene supplementation for choroideremia

Currently, clinical trials for gene supplementation in CHM are ongoing using an AAV2/2 vector expressing *CHM* (MacLaren et al., 2014). However, as mentioned above, an appropriate animal model reproducing the disease in affected males does not exist. Thus, preclinical proof-of-concept studies prior to these clinical trials were performed initially on patient fibroblasts and on heterozygous *Chm^{wt/null}* females (Tolmachova et al., 2013). Although the use of these models showed that the therapeutic vector could reduce unprenylated Rab levels in patient cells and that it was safe in wild-type mice, the studies were not highly informative in terms of functional rescue of electroretinogram responses in *Chm^{wt/null}* females at 4 weeks of age.

A similar study was performed on this animal model using an AAV2/8 vector expressing *CHM*. The authors showed the appearance of functional anomalies using pupilometry tests from 32 weeks of age, and histological anomalies at 50 weeks of age, that were corrected by the therapeutic vector. Thus, the late appearance of anomalies in this heterozygous animal model renders it challenging for proof-of-concept studies. As an intermediate step between fibroblasts and iPSC-derived retinal cells, Vasireddy et al. showed that patient iPSCs could be used to assess the efficacy of therapeutic vectors. By transducing CHM iPSCs (as well as fibroblasts) with an AAV2/2 vector expressing *CHM*, the authors showed that they could induce Rab27a out of the perinuclear region to the membrane of the cells 48-h posttreatment (Vasireddy et al., 2013).

In 2014, Cereso et al. were the first to show the pertinence of human iPSCderived RPE for testing the efficiency of AAV vectors (Cereso et al., 2014), the most currently used vectors for gene supplementation in IRDs (Trapani et al., 2014). By studying the transduction efficiency of a panel of AAV serotypes in control iPSC-derived RPE, we showed that transduction efficiency increased over time and that AAV2/5 was the most efficient serotype (Cereso et al., 2014). By fourweeks posttransduction, AAV2/5 showed the highest percentage of transduced cells, followed by AAV2/2, then 2/4, and lastly 2/8 and 2/9. These results were particularly thought-provoking due to the fact that *CHM* gene supplementation trials had already begun using an AAV2/2 vector. We then developed an AAV2/5 vector expressing the *CHM* gene and, following transduction of the aforementioned patient iPSC-derived RPE, the unprenylated Rab pool was reduced to control levels. Similarly, following transduction, the membrane-associated Rab27a pool in CHM iPSC-derived RPE was increased significantly compared to untreated cells.

Furthermore, in 2017, Torriano et al. generated iPSC-derived RPE carrying the pathogenic missense mutation p.Leu457Pro and performed proof-of-concept studies using the aforementioned AAV2/5 vector expressing *CHM* (Torriano et al., 2017). We showed that transduction of patient iPSC-derived RPE significantly reduced unprenylated Rab levels, as compared to nontreated RPE, despite the presence of a mutant protein (expressed at ~14% of control levels). Thus, the p.Leu457Pro mutation did not hinder the function of the exogenous REP1 protein. This topical observation confirmed that CHM patients carrying missense mutations could be included in ongoing clinical trials. In addition, this study showed the predictive value of iPSC-derived RPE for therapy screening prior to inclusion.

In 2018, Duong et al. performed a short-term comparative study between AAV2/5 and a novel serotype, AAV2/7m8, in iPSC-derived RPE and showed a higher transduction efficiency of AAV7m8 at 96-h posttransduction (Duong et al., 2018). Furthermore, they suggested an improvement in phagolysosomal degradation and Rab27a trafficking following transduction of CHM iPSC-derived RPE. Interestingly, the authors report that there is a delayed onset of transgene expression from AAV2/7m8 at 24-h posttransduction in CHM iPSC-derived RPE as compared to control. They suggest that this could be due to a defective endocytosis, of which Rab27a is considered to be a mediator (Yamaoka et al., 2016). This observation could have implications for the potential efficiency of AAV-mediated gene therapy in the case of CHM compared to other IRDs.

Taken together, even in the absence of an appropriate animal model, relevant proof-of-concept studies of *CHM* gene supplementation were made possible by pertinent iPSC-derived RPE models. Moreover, these studies raised observations that could be of relevance for current and future clinical trials.

Human iPSC-derived RPE for proof-of-concept studies of translational read-through for choroideremia

Strikingly, 30% of the mutations associated with CHM are nonsense mutations (Moosajee et al., 2014). CHM thus lends itself to treatment by a particular class of therapeutic compounds known as translational read-through inducing drugs or TRIDs. TRIDs promote ribosomal misreading of premature stop codons and enhance incorporation of a near-cognate amino acid (Davies et al., 1965). This can result in the production of a full-length protein, which in some cases could be functional. As the zebrafish chm^{ru848} model carries a nonsense UAA mutation, p.Gln33*, in exon two of *chm*, it has been used to test the efficiency of TRID therapy with promising results (Moosajee et al., 2008). Treatment with one particular TRID,

PTC124, resulted in increased survival, preservation of retinal structure, and an increase in rep1 expression of $\sim 20\%$ over the residual maternal rep1 deriving from the yolk sac (Moosajee et al., 2016).

As a clinically pertinent complement to this study, we generated iPSC-derived RPE from a patient carrying a UAA nonsense mutation, p.Lys258*, in exon six of CHM (Torriano et al., 2018). The p.Lys258* variant was associated with low mutant RNA levels, no detectable REP1 protein and an increase in the unprenylated Rab pool, similar to that observed with other loss-of-function mutations (Sanchez-Alcudia et al., 2016; Cereso et al., 2014; Erkilic et al., 2019). Although treatment with PTC124 showed a tendency to decrease the unprenylated Rab pool in the iPSC-derived RPE, there was no significant difference from untreated cells (Torriano et al., 2018). Furthermore, treatment did not result in the production of a detectable REP1. It has been shown that during translational read-through, not all mino acids are introduced into the target site at the same frequency (Keeling et al., 2012). In the case of a UAA nonsense mutation, either a tyrosine (60%)or a glutamine (40%) are most frequently introduced. However, in the case of REP1, in silico predictions showed that both of these substitutions would be damaging, as the lysine at position 258 is highly conserved (Torriano et al., 2018). By contrast, in the case of the zebrafish p.Gln33* mutation, the wild-type glutamine would be incorporated relatively frequently. Furthermore, this amino acid is not evolutionarily conserved, suggesting that even incorporation of a tyrosine would be tolerated. These factors, coupled to the presence of residual maternal rep1 derived from the persistent yolk sac, could account for the partial rescue observed posttreatment in the zebrafish chm^{ru848} model, and explain why these results were not translatable to a human context.

To conclude, to render TRID therapy more effective, a personalized approach may need to be considered, whereby patient iPSC-derived RPE is screened for drug efficiency prior to inclusion in a potential clinical trial. Only by such a model can effectiveness in the context of the patient's genetic mutation be truly evaluated.

Future directions for modeling choroideremia

Taken together, CHM is an ideal candidate for an iPSC-based approach due to the absence of a relevant animal model. A further advantage is that the primary defect of the disorder affects the RPE, which is readily differentiated from iPSCs. To date, work on iPSC-derived RPE from CHM patients has been highly informative for proof-of-concept studies and has shown its predictive value for personalized screening of drug efficacy. Although insights into CHM pathophysiology have been obtained, there are still many exciting avenues that can be studied using iPSC-derived retinal models.

The functionality of CHM iPSC-derived RPE has not yet been fully explored and could hold potential clues to disease pathophysiology. There still remains work to be done concerning phagolysosomal degradation following internalization of POS, which would be biologically more relevant than the work performed to date using biospheres. Due to the capacity of iPSC-derived RPE to be cultured long term without loss of morphology or functionality, one could study the degradation kinetics of the ingested POS over multiple days or even weeks and thus evaluate the consequential effects of oxidative stress linked to defective degradation (Singh et al., 2013).

Furthermore, if Rab27a trafficking is truly affected in CHM, then this should have downstream functional or morphological consequences. For example, there have been rare cases of neovascularization observed in CHM (Endo et al., 2000; Robinson and Tiedeman, 1987; Sawa et al., 2006), which could be explained by secretory dysregulation of pro-angiogenic cytokines that is consistent with the role of Rab27a in secretory processes. Polarized cytokine and growth factor secretion can be finely studied in iPSC-derived RPE by assaying apical and basal secretion separately following compartmentalized culture (Simonin et al., 2019). The results obtained could also be correlated to the activity of specific ion channels known to regulate RPE functions (Reichhart and Strauss, 2014). For example, intracellular calcium imaging could be used to assay the activity of calcium channels and whole-cell patch-clamp electrophysiology studies to assay a wider spectrum, such as potassium or chloride channels (Mamaeva et al., 2021).

In addition, the eye fundus of CHM patients is initially characterized by pigment mottling, which then gives way to RPE atrophy (Hoyng et al., 2004). It is tempting to speculate that the pigment mottling could be associated with dysregulation of melanosomes. This would be consistent with the observation that decreased Rab27a expression is linked with melanosome aggregation (Kawasaki et al., 2008). Alternatively, the pigment mottling could be due to subretinal deposits, as have been observed in the conditional knockout *Chm* mouse model (Wavre-Shapton et al., 2013). To address these possibilities, ultrastructural analyses can be performed on iPSC-derived RPE, in which melanosome biogenesis (Simonin et al., 2019), as well as basal deposits (Galloway et al., 2017), can be quantitatively and/or qualitatively assayed in comparison with controls.

Moreover, a major question surrounding CHM is if photoreceptors autonomously degenerate or if degeneration is due to the diseased RPE. Emerging techniques will now pave the way to generating other iPSC-derived retinal models, which may help answering this question. It is already possible to recapitulate eye development in vitro with the generation of an optic cup and formation of a stratified retina containing all retinal cell types (Eiraku et al., 2011; Nakano et al., 2012). Technological advances over the years have allowed the generation of so-called "retinal organoids" containing a mature outer nuclear layer comprising photoreceptors with an inner segment, connecting cilium, and nascent outer segment (Gonzalez-Cordero et al., 2017; Parfitt et al., 2016). Furthermore, these organoids mature in the absence of an RPE layer. Thus, retinal organoids derived from CHM patients would be an ideal model to determine whether REP1 is essential for photoreceptor integrity and/or function independently of the RPE. In addition, RPE and endothelial coculture models used to mimic RPE-choroid interactions have been investigated with encouraging results (Skottman et al., 2017). Along this line, a recent study reported an iPSC-derived RPE-choroid model generated by bioprinting iPSC-derived endothelial cells, pericytes, and fibroblasts on the one side of a biodegradable scaffold, and seeding iPSC-derived RPE on the other side (Song et al., 2017). The endothelial cells reportedly organize into a vascularized tissue that resembles the native choroid. The biodegradable scaffold provides the framework for the RPE and endothelial cells to secrete extracellular matrices and to communicate. Such a coculture model would be highly pertinent for CHM to address the effect of the diseased RPE on the health of the choroid and proliferation of the choriocapillaris. Moreover, the coculture of varying combinations of control and CHM RPE or choroid may help determine whether the diseased choroid also plays a role in RPE degeneration.

These novel models further expand the possibilities for better modeling CHM in the future. It is vital to understand the link between the underlying molecular/ biochemical defect and the clinical phenotype, as this in turn may lead to complementary, albeit noncurative, therapeutic possibilities, aimed at either slowing or halting retinal degeneration. The ultimate way to fully recapitulate CHM in vitro would be an iPSC-derived model comprising an intact neuroretina, RPE, and choroidal layer. To our knowledge, such a model has not yet been developed, but the advances in bioprinting on biodegradable scaffolds hold much promise for the future and it may only be a matter of time.

References

- Alexandrov, K., Horiuchi, H., Steele-Mortimer, O., Seabra, M.C., Zerial, M., 1994. Rab escort protein-1 is a multifunctional protein that accompanies newly prenylated rab proteins to their target membranes. EMBO J. 13 (22), 5262–5273.
- Alory, C., Balch, W.E., 2001. Organization of the Rab-GDI/CHM superfamily: the functional basis for choroideremia disease. Traffic 2 (8), 532–543.
- Andres, D.A., et al., 1993. cDNA cloning of component A of Rab geranylgeranyl transferase and demonstration of its role as a Rab escort protein. Cell 73 (6), 1091–1099.
- Baehr, W., Frederick, J.M., 2009. Naturally occurring animal models with outer retina phenotypes. Vis. Res. 49 (22), 2636–2652.
- Becker, K.A., et al., 2006. Self-renewal of human embryonic stem cells is supported by a shortened G1 cell cycle phase. J. Cell. Physiol. 209 (3), 883–893.
- Berger, W., Kloeckener-Gruissem, B., Neidhardt, J., 2010. The molecular basis of human retinal and vitreoretinal diseases. Prog. Retin. Eye Res. 29 (5), 335–375.
- Buchholz, D.E., et al., 2009. Derivation of functional retinal pigmented epithelium from induced pluripotent stem cells. Stem Cell. 27 (10), 2427–2434.
- Carrel, L., Willard, H.F., 1999. Heterogeneous gene expression from the inactive X chromosome: an X-linked gene that escapes X inactivation in some human cell lines but is inactivated in others. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 96 (13), 7364–7369.

- Catterall, W.A., 2011. Voltage-gated calcium channels. Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol. 3 (8), a003947.
- Cereso, N., et al., 2014. Proof of concept for AAV2/5-mediated gene therapy in iPSc-derived retinal pigment epithelium of choroideremia patients. Mol. Ther. Methods Clin. Dev. 1, 14011.
- Chi, J.Y., MacDonald, I.M., Hume, S., 2013. Copy number variant analysis in CHM to detect duplications underlying choroideremia. Ophthalmic Genet. 34 (4), 229–233.
- Cremers, F.P., et al., 1992. An autosomal homologue of the choroideremia gene colocalizes with the Usher syndrome type II locus on the distal part of chromosome 1q. Hum. Mol. Genet. 1 (2), 71–75.
- Cremers, F.P., van de Pol, D.J., van Kerkhoff, L.P., Wieringa, B., Ropers, H.H., 1990. Cloning of a gene that is rearranged in patients with choroideraemia. Nature 347 (6294), 674–677.
- Cremers, F.P., Armstrong, S.A., Seabra, M.C., Brown, M.S., Goldstein, J.L., 1994. REP-2, a Rab escort protein encoded by the choroideremia-like gene. J. Biol. Chem. 269 (3), 2111–2117.
- Dalke, C., Graw, J., 2005. Mouse mutants as models for congenital retinal disorders. Exp. Eye Res. 81 (5), 503–512.
- Davies, J., Gorini, L., Davis, B.D., 1965. Misreading of RNA codewords induced by aminoglycoside antibiotics. Mol. Pharmacol. 1 (1), 93–106.
- Dias, M.F., et al., 2018. Molecular genetics and emerging therapies for retinitis pigmentosa: basic research and clinical perspectives. Prog. Retin. Eye Res. 63, 107–131.
- Duong, T.T., et al., 2018. Use of induced pluripotent stem cell models to probe the pathogenesis of Choroideremia and to develop a potential treatment. Stem Cell Res. 27, 140–150.
- Edwards, T.L., et al., 2018. Novel non-contiguous exon duplication in choroideremia. Clin. Genet. 93 (1), 144–148.
- Eghrari, A.O., Riazuddin, S.A., Gottsch, J.D., 2015. Overview of the cornea: structure, function, and development. Prog. Mol. Biol. Transl. Sci. 134, 7–23.
- Eiraku, M., et al., 2011. Self-organizing optic-cup morphogenesis in three-dimensional culture. Nature 472 (7341), 51–56.
- Ejlerskov, P., et al., 2012. NADPH oxidase is internalized by clathrin-coated pits and localizes to a Rab27A/B GTPase-regulated secretory compartment in activated macrophages. J. Biol. Chem. 287 (7), 4835–4852.
- Endo, K., Yuzawa, M., Ohba, N., 2000. Choroideremia associated with subretinal neovascular membrane. Acta Ophthalmol. Scand. 78 (4), 483–486.
- Erkilic, N., et al., 2019. A novel chromosomal translocation identified due to complex genetic instability in iPSC generated for choroideremia. Cells 8 (9), 1068.
- Esposito, G., et al., 2011. Comprehensive mutation analysis (20 families) of the choroideremia gene reveals a missense variant that prevents the binding of REP1 with Rab geranylgeranyl transferase. Hum. Mutat. 32 (12), 1460–1469.
- Fields, M.A., Del Priore, L.V., Adelman, R.A., Rizzolo, L.J., 2019. Interactions of the choroid, Bruch's membrane, retinal pigment epithelium, and neurosensory retina collaborate to form the outer blood-retinal-barrier. Prog. Retin. Eye Res. 100803.
- Freund, P.R., Sergeev, Y.V., MacDonald, I.M., 2016. Analysis of a large choroideremia dataset does not suggest a preference for inclusion of certain genotypes in future trials of gene therapy. Mol. Genet. Genomic Med. 4 (3), 344–358.
- Fry, L.E., et al., 2019. Association of messenger RNA level with phenotype in patients with choroideremia: potential implications for gene therapy dose. JAMA ophthalmol. 138 (2), 128–135.

- Fusaki, N., Ban, H., Nishiyama, A., Saeki, K., Hasegawa, M., 2009. Efficient induction of transgene-free human pluripotent stem cells using a vector based on Sendai virus, an RNA virus that does not integrate into the host genome. Proc. Jpn. Acad. Ser. B Phys. Biol. Sci. 85 (8), 348–362.
- Galloway, C.A., et al., 2017. Drusen in patient-derived hiPSC-RPE models of macular dystrophies. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 114 (39), E8214–E8223.
- Garcia-Hoyos, M., et al., 2005. New approach for the refinement of the location of the Xchromosome breakpoint in a previously described female patient with choroideremia carrying a X;4 translocation. Am. J. Med. Genet. 138 (4), 365–368.
- Gonzalez, F., Boue, S., Izpisua Belmonte, J.C., 2011. Methods for making induced pluripotent stem cells: reprogramming a la carte. Nat. Rev. Genet. 12 (4), 231–242.
- Gonzalez-Cordero, A., et al., 2017. Recapitulation of human retinal development from human pluripotent stem cells generates transplantable populations of cone photoreceptors. Stem Cell Rep. 9 (3), 820–837.
- Gordiyenko, N.V., Fariss, R.N., Zhi, C., MacDonald, I.M., 2010. Silencing of the CHM gene alters phagocytic and secretory pathways in the retinal pigment epithelium. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 51 (2), 1143–1150.
- Grossniklaus, H.E., Geisert, E.E., Nickerson, J.M., 2015. Introduction to the retina. Prog. Mol. Biol. Transl. Sci. 134, 383–396.
- Hamel, C.P., 2007. Cone rod dystrophies. Orphanet J. Rare Dis. 2, 7.
- Hamel, C.P., 2014. Gene discovery and prevalence in inherited retinal dystrophies. C. R. Biol. 337 (3), 160–166.
- Hejtmancik, J.F., Nickerson, J.M., 2015. Overview of the visual system. Prog. Mol. Biol. Transl. Sci. 134, 1–4.
- Hejtmancik, J.F., Shiels, A., 2015. Overview of the lens. Prog. Mol. Biol. Transl. Sci. 134, 119–127.
- Hirami, Y., et al., 2009. Generation of retinal cells from mouse and human induced pluripotent stem cells. Neurosci. Lett. 458 (3), 126–131.
- Hoyng, C.B., van den Hurk, J.A., Seabra, M.C., Cremers, F.P.M., 2004. Choroideremia. Orphanet Encyclopedia.
- Hutagalung, A.H., Novick, P.J., 2011. Role of Rab GTPases in membrane traffic and cell physiology. Physiol. Rev. 91 (1), 119–149.
- Kalatzis, V., Hamel, C.P., MacDonald, I.M., Symposium, obotFICR., 2013. Choroideremia: towards a therapy. Am. J. Ophthalmol. 156 (3), 433–437 e433.
- Kawasaki, A., et al., 2008. Mitf contributes to melanosome distribution and melanophore dendricity. Pigment Cell Melanoma Res. 21 (1), 56–62.
- Keeling, K.M., Wang, D., Conard, S.E., Bedwell, D.M., 2012. Suppression of premature termination codons as a therapeutic approach. Crit. Rev. Biochem. Mol. Biol. 47 (5), 444–463.
- Klomp, A.E., Teofilo, K., Legacki, E., Williams, D.S., 2007. Analysis of the linkage of MYRIP and MYO7A to melanosomes by RAB27A in retinal pigment epithelial cells. Cell Motil. Cytoskeleton 64 (6), 474–487.
- Kohnke, M., et al., 2013. Rab GTPase prenylation hierarchy and its potential role in choroideremia disease. PLoS One 8 (12), e81758.
- Kondkar, A.A., Abu-Amero, K.K., 2019. Leber congenital amaurosis: current genetic basis, scope for genetic testing and personalized medicine. Exp. Eye Res. 189, 107834.

- Krock, B.L., Bilotta, J., Perkins, B.D., 2007. Noncell-autonomous photoreceptor degeneration in a zebrafish model of choroideremia. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 104 (11), 4600–4605.
- Larijani, B., Hume, A.N., Tarafder, A.K., Seabra, M.C., 2003. Multiple factors contribute to inefficient prenylation of Rab27a in Rab prenylation diseases. J. Biol. Chem. 278 (47), 46798–46804.
- Lopes, V.S., et al., 2007. The ternary Rab27a-Myrip-Myosin VIIa complex regulates melanosome motility in the retinal pigment epithelium. Traffic 8 (5), 486–499.
- Lorda-Sanchez, I.J., et al., 2000. Choroideremia, sensorineural deafness, and primary ovarian failure in a woman with a balanced X-4 translocation. Ophthalmic Genet. 21 (3), 185–189.
- MacDonald, I.M., Russell, L., Chan, C.C., 2009. Choroideremia: new findings from ocular pathology and review of recent literature. Surv. Ophthalmol. 54 (3), 401–407.
- MacLaren, R.E., et al., 2014. Retinal gene therapy in patients with choroideremia: initial findings from a phase 1/2 clinical trial. Lancet 383 (9923), 1129–1137.
- Maeda, T., et al., 2013. Retinal pigmented epithelial cells obtained from human induced pluripotent stem cells possess functional visual cycle enzymes in vitro and in vivo. J. Biol. Chem. 288 (48), 34484–34493.
- Mamaeva, D., et al., 2021. Novel roles for voltage-gated T-type Ca²⁺ and ClC-2 channels in phagocytosis and angiogenic factor balance identified in human iPSC-derived RPE. FASEB J. 35 (4), e21406. https://doi.org/10.1096/fj.202002754R.
- Marubashi, S., Fukuda, M., 2020. Rab7B/42 is functionally involved in protein degradation on melanosomes in keratinocytes. Cell Struct. Funct. 45 (1), 45–55.
- Merry, D.E., et al., 1989. Choroideremia and deafness with stapes fixation: a contiguous gene deletion syndrome in Xq21. Am. J. Hum. Genet. 45 (4), 530–540.
- Meyer, J.S., et al., 2009. Modeling early retinal development with human embryonic and induced pluripotent stem cells. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 106 (39), 16698–16703.
- Moosajee, M., et al., 2009. Single choroideremia gene in nonmammalian vertebrates explains early embryonic lethality of the zebrafish model of choroideremia. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 50 (6), 3009–3016.
- Moosajee, M., et al., 2016. Functional rescue of REP1 following treatment with PTC124 and novel derivative PTC-414 in human choroideremia fibroblasts and the nonsense-mediated zebrafish model. Hum. Mol. Genet. 25 (16), 3416–3431.
- Moosajee, M., Gregory-Evans, K., Ellis, C.D., Seabra, M.C., Gregory-Evans, C.Y., 2008. Translational bypass of nonsense mutations in zebrafish rep1, pax2.1 and lamb1 highlights a viable therapeutic option for untreatable genetic eye disease. Hum. Mol. Genet. 17 (24), 3987–4000.
- Moosajee, M., Ramsden, S.C., Black, G.C., Seabra, M.C., Webster, A.R., 2014. Clinical utility gene card for: choroideremia. Eur. J. Hum. Genet. 22 (4).
- Mukkamala, K., Gentile, R.C., Willner, J., Tsang, S., 2010. Choroideremia in a woman with ectodermal dysplasia and complex translocations involving chromosomes X, 1, and 3. Ophthalmic Genet. 31 (4), 178–182.
- Munafo, D.B., et al., 2007. Rab27a is a key component of the secretory machinery of azurophilic granules in granulocytes. Biochem. J. 402 (2), 229–239.
- Muniz, A., et al., 2014. Retinoid uptake, processing, and secretion in human iPS-RPE support the visual cycle. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 55 (1), 198–209.
- Nakano, T., et al., 2012. Self-formation of optic cups and storable stratified neural retina from human ESCs. Cell Stem Cell 10 (6), 771–785.

- Parfitt, D.A., et al., 2016. Identification and correction of mechanisms underlying inherited blindness in human iPSC-derived optic cups. Cell Stem Cell 18 (6), 769–781.
- Pereira-Leal, J.B., Hume, A.N., Seabra, M.C., 2001. Prenylation of Rab GTPases: molecular mechanisms and involvement in genetic disease. FEBS Lett. 498 (2–3), 197–200.
- Potter, M.J., Wong, E., Szabo, S.M., McTaggart, K.E., 2004. Clinical findings in a carrier of a new mutation in the choroideremia gene. Ophthalmology 111 (10), 1905–1909.
- Preising, M.N., et al., 2009. Fundus autofluorescence in carriers of choroideremia and correlation with electrophysiologic and psychophysical data. Ophthalmology 116 (6), 1201–1209 e1201-1202.
- Radziwon, A., et al., 2017. Single-base substitutions in the CHM promoter as a cause of choroideremia. Hum. Mutat. 38 (6), 704–715.
- Rak, A., et al., 2004. Structure of the Rab7:REP-1 complex: insights into the mechanism of Rab prenylation and choroideremia disease. Cell 117 (6), 749–760.
- Reichhart, N., et al., 2015. Rab27a GTPase modulates L-type Ca²⁺ channel function via interaction with the II-III linker of CaV1.3 subunit. Cell. Signal. 27 (11), 2231–2240.
- Reichhart, N., Strauss, O., 2014. Ion channels and transporters of the retinal pigment epithelium. Exp. Eye Res. 126, 27–37.
- Robert, L., et al., 2010. Screening for a canine model of choroideremia exclusively identifies non-pathogenic CHM variants. Ophthalmic Res. 23, 155–163.
- Roberts, M.F., et al., 2002. Retrospective, longitudinal, and cross sectional study of visual acuity impairment in choroideraemia. Br. J. Ophthalmol. 86 (6), 658–662.
- Robinson, D., Tiedeman, J., 1987. Choroideremia associated with a subretinal neovascular membrane. Case report Retina 7 (2), 70–74.
- Sahly, I., et al., 2012. Localization of Usher 1 proteins to the photoreceptor calyceal processes, which are absent from mice. J. Cell Biol. 199 (2), 381–399.
- Sanchez-Alcudia, R., et al., 2016. A comprehensive analysis of choroideremia: from genetic characterization to clinical practice. PLoS One 11 (4), e0151943.
- Sawa, M., Tamaki, Y., Klancnik Jr., J.M., Yannuzzi, L.A., 2006. Intraretinal foveal neovascularization in choroideremia. Retina 26 (5), 585–588.
- Schwarz, N., et al., 2015. Translational read-through of the RP2 Arg120stop mutation in patient iPSC-derived retinal pigment epithelium cells. Hum. Mol. Genet. 24 (4), 972–986.
- Seabra, M.C., Brown, M.S., Slaughter, C.A., Sudhof, T.C., Goldstein, J.L., 1992. Purification of component A of Rab geranylgeranyl transferase: possible identity with the choroideremia gene product. Cell 70 (6), 1049–1057.
- Seabra, M.C., Brown, M.S., Goldstein, J.L., 1993. Retinal degeneration in choroideremia: deficiency of rab geranylgeranyl transferase. Science 259 (5093), 377–381.
- Seabra, M.C., Ho, Y.K., Anant, J.S., 1995. Deficient geranylgeranylation of Ram/Rab27 in choroideremia. J. Biol. Chem. 270 (41), 24420–24427.
- Seabra, M.C., Mules, E.H., Hume, A.N., 2002. Rab GTPases, intracellular traffic and disease. Trends Mol. Med. 8 (1), 23–30.
- Sergeev, Y.V., et al., 2009. The functional effect of pathogenic mutations in Rab escort protein 1. Mutat. Res. 665 (1–2), 44–50.
- Seymour, L.W., Fisher, K.D., 2009. Preclinical screening of gene therapy in human tissues. Hum. Gene Ther. 20 (4), 291–292.
- Shi, W., et al., 2004. Choroideremia gene product affects trophoblast development and vascularization in mouse extra-embryonic tissues. Dev. Biol. 272 (1), 53–65.

- Simonin, Y., et al., 2019. Zika virus induces strong inflammatory responses and impairs homeostasis and function of the human retinal pigment epithelium. EBioMedicine 39, 315–331.
- Simunovic, M.P., et al., 2016. The spectrum of CHM gene mutations in choroideremia and their relationship to clinical phenotype. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 57 (14), 6033–6039.
- Singh, R., et al., 2013. iPS cell modeling of Best disease: insights into the pathophysiology of an inherited macular degeneration. Hum. Mol. Genet. 22 (3), 593–607.
- Siu, V.M., Gonder, J.R., Jung, J.H., Sergovich, F.R., Flintoff, W.F., 1990. Choroideremia associated with an X-autosomal translocation. Hum. Genet. 84 (5), 459–464.
- Skottman, H., et al., 2017. Contacting co-culture of human retinal microvascular endothelial cells alters barrier function of human embryonic stem cell derived retinal pigment epithelial cells. Exp. Cell Res. 359 (1), 101–111.
- Slijkerman, R.W., et al., 2015. The pros and cons of vertebrate animal models for functional and therapeutic research on inherited retinal dystrophies. Prog. Retin. Eye Res. 48, 137–159.
- Song, M.J., Quinn, R., Dejene, R., Bharti, K., 2017. 3D tissue engineered RPE/"choroid" to identify mechanism of AMD-disease initiation and progression. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 58, 3760.
- Sorsby, A., Franceschetti, A., Joseph, R., Davey, J.B., 1952. Choroideremia; clinical and genetic aspects. Br. J. Ophthalmol. 36 (10), 547–581.
- Sparrow, J.R., Hicks, D., Hamel, C.P., 2010. The retinal pigment epithelium in health and disease. Curr. Mol. Med. 10 (9), 802–823.
- Starr, C.J., Kappler, J.A., Chan, D.K., Kollmar, R., Hudspeth, A.J., 2004. Mutation of the zebrafish choroideremia gene encoding Rab escort protein 1 devastates hair cells. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 101 (8), 2572–2577.
- Strauss, O., 2005. The retinal pigment epithelium in visual function. Physiol. Rev. 85 (3), 845–881.
- Strunnikova, N.V., et al., 2009. Loss-of-function mutations in Rab escort protein 1 (REP-1) affect intracellular transport in fibroblasts and monocytes of choroideremia patients. PLoS One 4 (12), e8402.
- Sullivan, L.S., Daiger, S.P., 1996. Inherited retinal degeneration: exceptional genetic and clinical heterogeneity. Mol. Med. Today 2 (9), 380–386.
- Takahashi, K., et al., 2007. Induction of pluripotent stem cells from adult human fibroblasts by defined factors. Cell 131 (5), 861–872.
- Takahashi, K., Yamanaka, S., 2006. Induction of pluripotent stem cells from mouse embryonic and adult fibroblast cultures by defined factors. Cell 126 (4), 663–676.
- Tanna, P., Strauss, R.W., Fujinami, K., Michaelides, M., 2017. Stargardt disease: clinical features, molecular genetics, animal models and therapeutic options. Br. J. Ophthalmol. 101 (1), 25–30.
- Tolmachova, T., et al., 2006. Independent degeneration of photoreceptors and retinal pigment epithelium in conditional knockout mouse models of choroideremia. J. Clin. Invest. 116 (2), 386–394.
- Tolmachova, T., et al., 2010. Retinal pigment epithelium defects accelerate photoreceptor degeneration in cell type-specific knockout mouse models of choroideremia. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 51 (10), 4913–4920.
- Tolmachova, T., et al., 2013. Functional expression of Rab escort protein 1 following AAV2mediated gene delivery in the retina of choroideremia mice and human cells ex vivo. J. Mol. Med. 91 (7), 825–837.

- Torriano, S., et al., 2017. Pathogenicity of a novel missense variant associated with choroideremia and its impact on gene replacement therapy. Hum. Mol. Genet. 26 (18), 3573–3584.
- Torriano, S., et al., 2018. The effect of PTC124 on choroideremia fibroblasts and iPSC-derived RPE raises considerations for therapy. Sci. Rep. 8 (1), 8234.
- Trapani, I., Puppo, A., Auricchio, A., 2014. Vector platforms for gene therapy of inherited retinopathies. Prog. Retin. Eye Res. 43, 108–128.
- Tsai, K.L., Clark, L.A., Murphy, K.E., 2007. Understanding hereditary diseases using the dog and human as companion model systems. Mamm. Genome 18 (6–7), 444–451.
- Vache, C., et al., 2019. Pathogenicity of novel atypical variants leading to choroideremia as determined by functional analyses. Hum. Mutat. 40 (1), 31–35.
- Vajaranant, T.S., et al., 2008. Detection of mosaic retinal dysfunction in choroideremia carriers electroretinographic and psychophysical testing. Ophthalmology 115 (4), 723–729.
- van Bokhoven, H., et al., 1994. Cloning and characterization of the human choroideremia gene. Hum. Mol. Genet. 3 (7), 1041–1046.
- van den Hurk, J.A., et al., 1997. Mouse choroideremia gene mutation causes photoreceptor cell degeneration and is not transmitted through the female germline. Hum. Mol. Genet. 6 (6), 851–858.
- van den Hurk, J.A., et al., 2003. Novel types of mutation in the choroideremia (CHM) gene: a full-length L1 insertion and an intronic mutation activating a cryptic exon. Hum. Genet. 113 (3), 268–275.
- Vasireddy, V., et al., 2013. AAV-mediated gene therapy for choroideremia: preclinical studies in personalized models. PLoS One 8 (5), e61396.
- Verbakel, S.K., et al., 2018. Non-syndromic retinitis pigmentosa. Prog. Retin. Eye Res. 66, 157–186.
- Wavre-Shapton, S.T., Tolmachova, T., Lopes da Silva, M., Futter, C.E., Seabra, M.C., 2013. Conditional ablation of the choroideremia gene causes age-related changes in mouse retinal pigment epithelium. PLoS One 8 (2), e57769.
- Weissbein, U., Benvenisty, N., Ben-David, U., 2014. Quality control: genome maintenance in pluripotent stem cells. J. Cell Biol. 204 (2), 153–163.
- Williams, D.S., 2008. Usher syndrome: animal models, retinal function of Usher proteins, and prospects for gene therapy. Vis. Res. 48 (3), 433–441.
- Yamaoka, M., et al., 2016. PI3K regulates endocytosis after insulin secretion by mediating signaling crosstalk between Arf6 and Rab27a. J. Cell Sci. 129 (3), 637–649.
- Yi, Z., et al., 2002. The Rab27a/granuphilin complex regulates the exocytosis of insulincontaining dense-core granules. Mol. Cell Biol. 22 (6), 1858–1867.
- Yntema, H.G., et al., 1999. A novel ribosomal S6-kinase (RSK4; RPS6KA6) is commonly deleted in patients with complex X-linked mental retardation. Genomics 62 (3), 332–343.
- Zhang, Y., Wildsoet, C.F., 2015. RPE and choroid mechanisms underlying ocular growth and myopia. Prog. Mol. Biol. Transl. Sci. 134, 221–240.

This page intentionally left blank

CHAPTER

Applications of human induced pluripotent stem cell and human embryonic stem cell models for substance use disorders: addiction and neurodevelopmental toxicity

6

Kristen L. Boeshore¹, Chun-Ting Lee², William J. Freed¹

¹Department of Biology, Lebanon Valley College, Annville, PA, United States; ²Cellular Neurobiology Branch, Intramural Research Program, National Institute on Drug Abuse, National Institutes of Health, Baltimore, MD, United States

Chapter outline

Introduction	154
The epidemic of drug abuse and addiction	155
Identification of genetic targets for treatment of substance use disorders	155
Generation of human induced pluripotent stem cell-derived neuronal cell lines as	
models for drug addiction	157
Limitations of human induced pluripotent stem cell models of drug abuse	162
Use of human embryonic stem cells and human induced pluripotent stem cells as	
models for neurodevelopmental effects	162
Conclusions	168
References	168

Abstract

Drug abuse is a major public health concern throughout the United States and the rest of the world, both due to the adverse effects of addiction in drug-taking adults and because of neurodevelopmental toxicity in children exposed in utero. Model systems derived from either human embryonic stem cells or induced pluripotent stem cells (hiPSC) can be used to examine the mechanisms underlying both addiction in adults and drug-induced neurodevelopmental deficits. Here we discuss

the use of hiPSC to examine genetic factors that influence the susceptibility of an individual to addiction. In the past several years, the approach of comparing induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSC) derived from individual drug-addicted patients to those of nonaddicted individuals after in vitro differentiation to specific neuronal subtypes, such as dopaminergic neurons, has been developed. This approach can be used to examine the effects of specific suspected allelic variations of genes involved in neurotransmitter systems common to the mesolimbic reward pathway. Initial studies of this type have been used to verify the correlation of specific genetic polymorphisms with addiction to a drug of abuse. Additionally, iPSC-derived neurons have been used to test drugs for potential efficacy in treatment of addiction. In terms of studying the neurodevelopmental effects of drugs of abuse, the use of stem cell technology is especially promising. For example, we have generated three-dimensional (3D) neocortical organoids from human pluripotent stem cells to examine the effects of cocaine on neocortical development, demonstrating an important and selective role of the cytochrome P450 enzyme CYP3A5 in adverse neurodevelopmental effects of cocaine. The use of in vitro neuronal differentiation models and 3D brain organoids generated from hiPSC allows for a direct study of genetic risk factors and cellular mechanisms that underlie substance-induced developmental abnormalities of the brain.

Keywords: 3D brain organoid; Addiction; Alcohol; Cocaine; Copy number variations (CNVs); CYP3A5; Dopaminergic neurons; Human induced pluripotent stem cells (hiPSC); Neocortical development; Single-nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs).

Introduction

In this chapter, recent studies utilizing neuronal cell lines derived from both human embryonic stem cells (hESC) and human induced pluripotent stem cells (hiPSC) as models for drug addiction and toxicity will be reviewed. hiPSC lines derived from addicts and nonaddicts can potentially be used to examine the effects of putative or known addiction-related genetic variations such as single-nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) or copy number variations (CNVs) on responsiveness to certain pharmacological treatments, such as anticraving drugs. The use of hiPSC from individual users could also potentially be informative for developing therapeutic regimens specifically tailored for that individual, taking into account the individual's unique genetic background.

A more immediate application of both hiPSC and hESC is that these cells can be employed to examine mechanisms involved in the neurodevelopmental toxicity of drugs of abuse. Many drugs of abuse, especially nicotine, alcohol, and cocaine have adverse effects on development of the brain. Neurodevelopmental effects may involve entirely different mechanisms, separate from those that mediate drug abuse and addiction in adults. Although such effects can be detected in humans, it is difficult or impossible to determine the relevant neurobiological and molecular mechanisms using animal material or human surveys. Especially for development of the cerebral cortex, developmental mechanisms that are present in human brain are not adequately modeled in rodents. Thus, hiPSC- and hESC-based models can provide a method for understanding toxicity of drugs on development of the human brain that allows for examination of molecular and biological processes.

The epidemic of drug abuse and addiction

Drug abuse and addiction continues to be one of the largest public health challenges in the United States. According to the National Vital Statistics System-Mortality (NVSS-M), a total of 70,237 individuals died of drug overdose in 2017, with 39% of deaths involving the potent synthetic opioid fentanyl, 23% involving heroin, 21% involving cocaine, and 13% involving methamphetamine (Hedegaard et al., 2019; Kariisa et al., 2019). The overall number of drug overdose deaths increased 70% from 2011 to 2017 (Hedegaard et al., 2018, 2019), and throughout that 6-year period the majority of overdose deaths were due to opioids, including fentanyl, heroin, oxycodone, and methadone. The death toll, however, only tells part of the story. It can be estimated that approximately 22.7 million people in the United States are substance dependent (National Survey on Drug Use and Health; https://www.drugabuse.gov/publications/drugfacts/ nationwide-trends), resulting in an estimated annual economic burden of \$740B (National Institute of Drug Abuse; https://www.drugabuse.gov/related-topics/ trends-statistics#supplemental-references-for-economic-costs). This burden includes not only health care costs, but also loss of productivity in the workplace and costs related to crime.

Identification of genetic targets for treatment of substance use disorders

Drugs of abuse affect the mesolimbic pathway, otherwise known as the reward pathway, in the brain, mediated by the neurotransmitter dopamine (Berridge and Kringelbach, 2015; Dackis and O'Brien, 2001; Koob and Volkow, 2016; Wise, 1987, 1998). The process of "reward" has recently become understood to involve two main components, usually designated as "liking" and "wanting." The meso-limbic pathway is believed to mediate the "wanting" component of reward (Berridge and Kringelbach, 2015). Long periods of drug abuse lead to alterations in brain circuitry and chronic dysregulation of neurotransmitter systems even after withdrawal (e.g., Grimm et al., 2001; Mendez et al., 2009). Lasting alterations in brain chemistry result in patients being highly susceptible to relapse, for example, when confronted with environmental cues associated with previous drug use (Volkow et al., 2006). Opioids, cocaine, amphetamines, nicotine, and alcohol all seem to elicit their rewarding effects or desire to repeatedly use the drug, at least in part, by increasing the amount of available dopamine at synapses between the ventral tegmental area (VTA) and the nucleus accumbens in the ventral striatum
(Dackis and O'Brien, 2001; Koob and Volkow, 2016; Wise, 1987, 1998); thus, there have been many attempts to develop anticraving drugs that modulate the increased availability of dopamine (Douaihy et al., 2013; Lin, 2013; O'Brien, 2005).

The knowledge that many different drugs of abuse co-opt overlapping elements of neurotransmitter pathways in the midbrain has led to the search for genetic markers that may make individuals particularly vulnerable to development of addiction, and many research groups have focused on dopaminergic pathway genes as candidates for therapy. In addition to this traditional candidate gene approach, genome-wide association studies (GWAS) utilizing high-throughput methodologies to interrogate thousands of sequences simultaneously can identify SNPs that correlate with the progression of specific substance use disorders. Most of these GWAS studies have focused on alcohol or nicotine dependence (Hancock et al., 2019; Hart and Kranzler, 2015), but studies have also been carried out for opioids (Jensen, 2016; Smith et al., 2017), cocaine and other stimulants (Gelernter et al., 2014; Jensen, 2016; Sun et al., 2020), and cannabis (Agrawal et al., 2018). These studies have identified new candidate genes and SNPs to examine further in the context of substance use disorders (reviewed by Palmer et al., 2015; Prom-Worley et al., 2017). However, genetic variation between individuals occurs in several forms. In addition to SNPs, CNV accounts for a major proportion of genetic variation between individuals (Iafrate et al., 2004; Hastings et al., 2009). Additional potential variations include variable tandem DNA repeats and epigenetic effects such as imprinting (Chuang et al., 2017; Haggarty, 2015; Talseth-Palmer and Scott, 2011).

All of the aforementioned types of genetic variations are likely contributors to drug addiction susceptibility. Although some genetic factors may contribute substantially, it is probable that there are also many that contribute only a minimal or negligible effect, making drug addiction a polygenic disorder. Most other common human disorders, such as heart disease, high blood pressure, bipolar depression, and schizophrenia, are also believed to be polygenic. Like these disorders, drug abuse should not be thought of as being caused directly by genetic factors; rather, genetic factors may increase an individual's susceptibility. For any individual drug-abusing subject, the number of contributing genetic factors is likely to be large, perhaps with hundreds of contributing genetic factors and a similar number of contributing environmental factors. The smaller the contribution of any individual genetic variant, the more difficult it is to identify.

Provided the potential genetic risk factors are known, identification of combinations of contributing genetic factors can be used to determine a polygenic risk score (PRS) for addiction. Similar scores have been developed for other complex health conditions like schizophrenia and bipolar disorder (Dudbridge, 2013; Purcell, 2009). However, since the number of genetic variants that are important for drug abuse susceptibility is likely to be large compared to other human disorders, each individual variant may make less of a contribution to overall drug abuse. Importantly, there are also other nongenetic factors that contribute to drug abuse, including environmental factors, prenatal drug exposure (see below), and epigenetic factors that alter gene expression. The relative contribution of genetic versus nongenetic factors to overall drug abuse is currently unknown and may vary between individuals. Contributions of these other factors would be missed in a measure like a PRS. Because of the complexity of the genetic and nongenetic contributions to drug abuse, it is unlikely that genetic factors could be identified solely by comparing hiPSC lines from drug abusers to those of nondrug abusers. Nonetheless, hiPSC models may provide an important avenue of research for genetic studies of drug abuse in that genetic factors that are identified by other means may be modeled by genetically modifying hiPSC lines or by comparing preexisting hESC lines. These may be differentiated to appropriate neural lines and used to examine mechanisms involved in the functioning of neurotransmitter systems or potential therapeutic agents. Furthermore, genetic factors that are only suspected to contribute to drug abuse, but that cannot be verified statistically, can be tested for their effects on development of neurons or even brain systems.

Finally, one might imagine that a large number of different and unrelated genetic aberrations could influence one final common pathway; for example, there might be many genetic mechanisms that could all influence one neurotransmitter system, or even expression of a single protein. The dopamine transporter (DAT) gene, to use one example, could be altered by mutations in the coding or noncoding regions, CNVs, differential methylation of promoter sequences, changes in expression of transcriptional regulators, or changes in pathways that regulate differentiation or plasticity of dopaminergic neurons expressing DAT. The number of genetic variations involved in DAT expression could be very large. In this manner, there could be genetic or epigenetic effects on drug abuse that are mediated by a single protein in a single neuronal subtype that are, therefore, essentially undetectable by GWAS or association studies. One might employ hiPSCs to examine differences in, for example, dopaminergic neuron function or dopamine transport using hiPSC lines from drug abuse subjects as compared to controls. The studies by Sheng et al. (2016a, 2016b) were an initial step directed at this approach.

It is now possible to differentiate almost any type of neuron, glial cell, or brain cell assembly, from either hESC or hiPSC. If a genetic factor is known, or suspected, to be involved in drug abuse, these differentiated neurons or brain cell structures can be employed to study how that genetic factor affects the functioning of hiPSC or hESC-derived neurons in vitro, or even after transplantation in rodent models.

Generation of human induced pluripotent stem cell-derived neuronal cell lines as models for drug addiction

hiPSC are derived by genetically reprogramming adult somatic cells (e.g., fibroblasts) to a pluripotent state (Takahashi and Yamanaka, 2006). hiPSC can subsequently be differentiated to specific adult cell types of choice in vitro by adding differentiating factors in the appropriate sequence and manipulating other culture conditions. Virtually any brain cell type can be differentiated from human pluripotent stem cells (hPSC), both hESC or hiPSC (Liu and Zhang, 2011), including midbrain dopaminergic neurons (Arenas et al., 2015; Cai et al., 2010; Hartfield et al., 2014; Nolbrant et al., 2017; Sundberg et al., 2013; Vazin et al., 2009; Lee et al., 2015b; Kriks et al., 2011; Yan et al., 2005) forebrain glutamatergic and GABAergic neurons (Lieberman et al., 2012; Shi et al., 2012), cultures of interconnecting neurons of different types (Lee et al., 2015a), and even complete two-dimensional (2D) or three-dimensional (3D) structures such as layered cortical organoids (Kindberg et al., 2014; Lancaster et al., 2013; Lee et al., 2017; Velasco et al., 2019). In most models, either hESC or hiPSC lines can be employed with similar results, although in some cases hiPSC lines can differ markedly in differentiation capacity (e.g., Lee et al., 2015b). Generation of iPSC is intended to revert cells back to pluripotency, including a restoration of embryonic DNA methylation patterns. However, several studies have shown low-passage iPSC has a residual epigenetic memory in which some adult methylation patterns of the donor tissue are preserved (Chin et al., 2009; Ji et al., 2015; Kim et al., 2010; Lister et al., 2011). This epigenetic memory may influence the differentiative ability of iPSCs derived from different somatic tissues. A further complication is the tendency of hiPSC lines to undergo chromosomal aberrations during reprogramming. iPSC have been shown to have an increased incidence of chromosomal duplications (Mayshar et al., 2010), an increased incidence of CNVs (Hussein et al., 2011), and an increased incidence of mutation to coding regions (Ji et al., 2012).

In 2012, Lieberman and colleagues were the first to produce neuronal cell lines from iPSC of addicted and nonaddicted subjects. They aimed to model the effects of alcohol, looking specifically at alcohol's effects on the NMDA receptor (Lieberman et al., 2012). The NMDA receptor mediates the excitatory effects of the neurotransmitter glutamate within the brain and is inhibited by ethanol (reviewed by Chandrasekar, 2013). Previous research carried out in rodents has shown that acute ethanol exposure leads to decreased responsiveness of NMDA receptors, and thus an inhibition of glutamatergic excitatory transmission (Nie et al., 1994; Puglia and Valenzuela, 2010) while chronic exposure leads to increased NMDA receptor expression and enhanced functioning (reviewed by Nagy, 2008). This increase in expression and function of NMDA receptors leads to ethanol tolerance. Lieberman and colleagues (2012) were interested to see if they could show the same chronic effects of ethanol on NMDA receptor responsiveness and expression in iPSC-derived neuronal lines from alcohol-addicted human subjects. In their study, hiPSC were derived from skin punch biopsies of four alcohol-addicted subjects (according to established DSM-IV criteria) and three nonaddicted social drinkers. Differentiation to neural cultures containing both neurons and glial cells was verified by immunostaining for neuronal, glial cell, and synaptic markers. Electrical activity characteristic of glutamate signaling via NMDA and AMPA receptors and GABA signaling via GABAA receptors was observed, and the ability of the neurons to produce action potentials was verified. Chronic 7-day exposure to 50 mM ethanol significantly increased the expression level of several NMDA receptor subunits (NR1, NR2A, NR2D) in cultures derived from addicted individuals but not in cultures derived from social drinkers. The results support the hypothesis that increased expression of NMDA receptors in chronic drinkers may lead to tolerance and addiction. Furthermore, the fact that significant changes in NMDA receptor expression after chronic exposure were only observed in cells derived from alcohol-addicted subjects and not from nonaddicted social drinkers may reflect an underlying heritable difference in the addicted individuals that predisposes them to addiction.

Further studies by Lieberman et al. (2015) used neural cultures derived from iPSC of 9 social drinkers and 12 heavy drinkers to analyze expression levels of GABA_A receptor subunits. In adults, GABA (γ -amino butyric acid) is a major inhibitory neurotransmitter in the brain, and its effects are mediated via the ionotropic GABA_A receptor, which, when bound to GABA, allows Cl- to enter neurons and inhibit their firing (Olsen and Sieghart, 2009). However, during early brain development, the chloride gradient is reversed, and GABA_A therefore mediates excitatory effects by allowing Cl- to exit and depolarize the neuron (Lee et al., 2005; Wang and Kriegstein, 2009). Genes encoding the $GABA_A$ receptor subunits are found in clusters on four different human chromosomes, allowing for coordinated regulation of the clustered genes (Steiger and Russek, 2004). The GABRA2 gene, located in a cluster on chromosome 4p12, encodes the $\alpha 2$ subunit of GABA_A and exists as two distinct alleles which arise from a T-to-C SNP within exon 5. The C polymorphism (rs279858*C) had been previously indicated through GWAS as a heritable factor associated with not only addiction to alcohol (Olfson and Bierut, 2012), but also addiction to other drugs of abuse (Agrawal et al., 2006), indicating a common mechanism for addiction to several drugs.

Lieberman and coworkers (2015) produced a total of 36 iPSC lines from skin punch biopsies of 12 heavy drinkers and 9 social drinkers and differentiated them to neuronal lines as described previously (Lieberman et al., 2012). Quantitative RT-PCR analysis was used to determine the genotypic expression of GABRA2 in neuronal lines, which were then categorized as either T/T, T/C, or C/C. Expression of GABRA2 receptor expression was shown to be significantly decreased in both the T/C heterozygotes and the C/C homozygotes compared to T/T homozygotes. Furthermore, qRT-PCR and RNA sequencing revealed a positive correlation between frequency of the C allele and low expression of all GABAA subunit genes in the chromosome 4p12 cluster. This correlation was not seen when the expression of GABA_A receptor genes on the other three chromosomal clusters was examined. This suggests that the rs279858*C polymorphism within GABRA2 negatively effects the expression of the entire cluster of GABA_A receptor genes on chromosome 4. Interestingly, when Lieberman and colleagues analyzed a dataset of postmortem adult brain tissues, no correlation between rs279858*C, GABRA2, and the other 4p12 GABAA genes was found. Since gene expression profiles of the neuronal lines derived from iPSC more closely resemble embryonic gene expression profiles, this suggests that T-to-C polymorphism has its effect on increasing susceptibility to alcoholism via a developmental mechanism. Taken together, the initial and subsequent studies of Lieberman et al. (2012, 2015) using iPSC-derived neural cell lines have suggested that allelic differences at several loci, including loci for NMDA and GABA_A receptors, could predispose an individual to alcohol addiction.

A recent study has also used neural cell lines derived from iPSC to examine the role of rs1799971, an A118G SNP in the OPRM1 gene that encodes the μ -opioid receptor (MOR) (Halikere et al., 2019). The MOR mediates the highly addictive effects of the opioids. Expressed on GABAergic neurons, an agonist-bound MOR will inhibit the firing of these inhibitory interneurons, resulting in an indirect disinhibition of dopaminergic neurons (Fields and Margolis, 2015). The A118 allele of OPRM1 encodes a MOR variant with an asparagine at position 40 (the N40 variant) while the G118 allele encodes a variant with an aspartate at position 40 (the D40 variant). The D40 variant leads to greater inhibition of GABAergic neurons (Popova et al., 2019) and has therefore been linked to greater susceptibility to addiction (Mague et al., 2010; LaForge et al., 2000). Halikere and coworkers (2019) obtained lymphocyte samples from individuals of similar backgrounds and representing both sexes. These individuals were not identified as either opioid-addicted or nonaddicted, and their opioid use status was not known. The cells were reprogrammed to form hiPSC and then differentiated to GABAergic neurons. Differentiation was verified via qRT-PCR to look for expression of general neuronal markers, inhibitory neuronal markers, synaptic markers, and MOR. Cell lines were identified as either N40 or D40 expressers and were then tested with exposure to the MOR agonist DAMGO. While DAMGO inhibited GABAergic neurons in both the N40 and D40 lines, the inhibitory effect was significantly greater in the D40 line, which would be expected to result in a greater disinhibitory effect downstream. This suggests that individuals expressing the D40 MOR variant would exhibit greater responsiveness to opioids and therefore be more susceptible to addiction.

Halikere and coworkers took their analysis a step further by using CRISPR/Cas9 editing to convert a human ES cell line homozygous for the A118 allele to an isogenic line that is homozygous for the G118 allele (Halikere et al., 2019). They also used one of the lines produced in their study from a homozygous G118 donor and used CRISPR/Cas9 editing to convert it to an isogenic line that is homozygous for the A118 allele. Subsequent differentiation of the parental and edited lines to GABAergic neural cells was performed and verified as before, and the neural lines were then subjected to DAMGO exposure. Within both pairs of isogenic cell lines, the DAMGO resulted in a greater inhibition of GABAergic neurons expressing the D40 MOR variant than in those expressing the N40 MOR variant. The use of CRISPR/Cas9 editing to generate isogenic lines that differed only in the expression of the MOR allele is a robust way to control for other potentially confounding genetic influences.

Another recent example of iPSC-derived neurons as models for addiction comes from Sheng and coworkers (2016a, 2016b), who modeled opioid addiction in iPSC-derived dopaminergic neurons. The human DAT1, which clears dopamine from a synapse by transporting it back into presynaptic terminals, is encoded by a gene that contains polymorphisms in the 3'VNTR (variable number tandem repeat)

region that results in 3-13 repeats, with most individuals containing either the 9- or 10-repeat alleles (Kang et al., 1999). Overexpression studies of 9- or 10-repeat alleles have led to conflicting results on the potentially modulatory effect of the number of repeats on DAT1 expression (Fuke et al., 2001; Mill et al., 2005; Miller and Madras, 2002; VanNess et al., 2005). Sheng and colleagues (2016a, 2016b) aimed to overcome obstacles inherent to overexpression studies by producing neuronal lines from iPSC of four individuals: one nonaddicted control subject homozygous for the 9-repeat allele, one opioid-addicted subject homozygous for the 9-repeat allele, one nonaddicted control subject homozygous for the 10-repeat allele, and one opioidaddicted subject homozygous for the 10-repeat allele. Differentiation of the iPSC lines into dopaminergic neurons was carried out following the methods of Kriks and colleagues (2011) and was verified by both immunohistochemistry and qRT-PCR for expression of general neuronal markers and dopaminergic neuronal markers (Sheng et al., 2016a, 2016b). Dopamine release from the cells was also verified by HPLC and was shown to be greater for opioid-dependent lines than for control lines (Sheng et al., 2016a, 2016b). When examining expression of neuronal marker TUJ-1 and dopaminergic marker TH, no significant differences were observed between the 4 cell lines (Sheng et al., 2016a, 2016b).

Lines derived from the control and addicted individuals homozygous for the 9-repeat 3'VNTR allele of DAT exhibited greater expression of DAT than lines from individuals homozygous for the 10-repeat allele, indicating that the number of repeats affects DAT density (Sheng et al., 2016b). There were no observed differences in DAT expression between the control and addicted lines from individuals homozygous for the 9-repeat allele or between control and addicted lines from individuals homozygous for the 10-repeat allele, indicating no effect of drug addiction on DAT expression levels in individuals with the same number of repeats (Sheng et al., 2016b). An effect of drug usage was seen for expression of dopamine receptor D2 (Drd2). Specifically, Drd2 expression was significantly decreased in the opioid-dependent lines compared to the control lines, regardless of repeat number (Sheng et al., 2016a). This finding is in agreement with previously reported decreases in Drd2 in opioid-addicted patients detected by neuroimaging studies (Volkow et al., 2004).

Having established the dopaminergic cell lines, Sheng and coworkers then used them to test the effects of valproic acid (VPA) on the expression of proteins of the dopaminergic pathway (Sheng et al., 2016b). VPA treatment increased the expression of DAT, TH, and Drd2 in all 4 cell lines, while it decreased the expression of Nurr1 in all cell lines. Interestingly, VPA had a significantly greater effect on Drd2 expression in the opioid-dependent lines, regardless of DAT 3'VNTR repeat number. Finally, VPA significantly decreased DA release in all 4 cell lines. Taken together, these results have demonstrated the effect of 3'VNTR repeat number on the expression of DAT, suggesting that individuals with nine repeats have a greater expression of DAT and therefore an increased intrinsic ability to clear DA from synapses than individuals with 10 repeats. They have also demonstrated an effect of VPA in increasing DAT levels and decreasing dopamine release in all lines of dopaminergic neurons, regardless of repeat number. This suggests the use of VPA as a potential therapy for opioid-addicted patients, as it could decrease amounts of dopamine in the synapses via mechanisms affecting release and re-uptake. The study also serves as a proof of principle that neuronal cultures derived from addicted patients could be used as model system to test for mechanism and efficacy of treatments.

Limitations of human induced pluripotent stem cell models of drug abuse

As noted above, drug addiction is polygenic, and there are many heritable changes that predispose an individual to addiction, with each one by itself having a minimal effect. Identification of all genetic risk variants in an individual and elucidating those that are critical for the subject's disease will be difficult or perhaps impossible. GWAS studies may provide information regarding combinations of individual heritable changes that predispose an individual to addiction. Such combinations may differ from one individual to another. However, performing GWAS studies on drug addicts proves challenging because of (1) the likelihood that the addict uses multiple different drugs of abuse and (2) the importance of nongenetic contributing factors. Identifying a significantly large GWAS cohort of cocaine abusers, for example, who do not also abuse other substances or are not significantly confounded by other nonheritable factors, such as elements of socioeconomic status, is difficult to say the least.

Use of human embryonic stem cells and human induced pluripotent stem cells as models for neurodevelopmental effects

Various drugs of abuse, especially alcohol, nicotine, and cocaine, are believed to have deleterious effects on development of the human brain. Unraveling the nature of these effects and the pathophysiological mechanisms has been fraught with difficulty for several reasons. First, animal studies and especially rodent studies do not adequately reflect development of the human cerebral cortex. Surveys in humans are complicated by difficulties in obtaining adequate information on prior drug abuse during pregnancy. Usually, neurodevelopmental effects are separate from those that mediate drug abuse.

In the case of cocaine, one of the most thoroughly studied drugs, there is a large and conflicting literature on neurodevelopmental effects. Some laboratory studies suggest that cocaine has minimal effects on progenitor cell proliferation (McCarthy and Bhide, 2012) while others suggest that cell proliferation is a principal mechanism of neurodevelopmental defects (Kosofsky et al., 1994; Lidow et al., 2001; Lidow and Song, 2001a, 2001b; Rando et al., 2013). Since the studies by Lidow et al. (2001) and Lidow and Song (2001a; 2001b) involved subhuman primates rather than rats, their conclusions may be suspected to be more relevant to humans. Grewen et al. (2014) identified substantial effects of prenatal cocaine on brain structure in early infancy. Bateman and Chiriboga (2000) found that cocaine significantly decreased overall head circumference, strongly suggesting a deleterious effect of cocaine on overall development of brain size.

Large-scale surveys of prenatal cocaine exposure in humans have detected adverse effects of cocaine. Some of the effects of prenatal cocaine have been reported to be modest (Richardson and Day, 1994), but others were relatively severe (Bandstra et al., 2004, 2011; Chiriboga et al., 2014; Richardson et al., 2015; Singer et al., 2000). Although post hoc determination of dose, time of exposure, and the role of other contributing factors are difficult, most studies have carefully attempted to control for other contributing factors. It is, of course, impossible to determine biological mechanisms in human surveys; thus, if there are contributing genetic factors these would have to be identified by other means prior to examining their contribution to variation in cocaine's developmental toxicity in developing human subjects.

It is worth noting that when children in these studies were followed up for long periods, into teenage years, some of the adverse effects of prenatal cocaine were found to be serious or debilitating. Substantial deficits in executive function, for example, decision making, were noted in several studies (Conradt et al., 2014; Min et al., 2014; Minnes et al., 2016; Noland et al., 2003; Richardson et al., 2015). Numerous studies have consistently found substantial increases in the frequency of drug abuse in adolescents exposed prenatally to cocaine (Delaney-Black et al., 2011; Frank et al., 2011; Min et al., 2014; Minnes et al., 2014; Richardson et al., 2013, 2019). Although there has been some dispute concerning whether these increases in drug abuse liability were due to other factors, such as the presence of drugs in the household (Warner et al., 2011), most studies have attempted to control for these factors and have nonetheless detected substantial effects of prenatal cocaine. We might note that the increases in drug abuse liability caused by prenatal cocaine exposure were in some studies, and for certain drugs, more than twofold, thus exceeding the contribution of any known genetic risk factor.

To address the uncertainty regarding mechanisms mediating the effects of cocaine on brain development, we initially employed a nondopaminergic neural progenitor cell line derived from the rat mesencephalon, AF5, to examine effects of cocaine on neural progenitor cell proliferation (Lee et al., 2008; Truckenmiller et al., 2002). Cocaine inhibited proliferation of this neural progenitor cell line by causing cell cycle arrest in G1 without causing apoptosis. This effect was associated with decreased expression of cyclin A2. The findings in AF5 cells were confirmed in primary human fetal CNS cells (Lee et al., 2008). Cocaine decreased cyclin A2 expression in primary human neural progenitor cells and A2B5 progenitor cells only, with no effect in primary human microglia or neurons. Primary human astrocytes, in contrast, exhibited increased cyclin A2 in response to cocaine, associated with activation of the JNK pathway and increased rates of cell proliferation

(Lee et al., 2008, 2016). The pathway involved in the inhibition of cell proliferation by cocaine in neural progenitor cells was found to involve increased ROS production due to CYP450-mediated N-oxidative metabolism of cocaine, ER stress, and activation of PERK, causing increased ATF4 and thereby decreasing cyclin A2 and cell proliferation. Furthermore, cocaine-induced down-regulation of cyclin A2 and interruption of progenitor cell-cycle progression were confirmed in fetal rat brains (Lee et al., 2008).

Due to the species' differences in brain development and CYP450-dependent drug metabolism, it has been difficult to translate findings from rat models directly to humans (Rakic, 2009; Hill and Walsh, 2005; Martignoni et al., 2006). We therefore used hPSC to investigate the relationship of CYP450 and the effects of cocaine on human neocorticogenesis. We established a 2D in vitro model of human neocortical development using hPSC, which generated radial glia scaffolding that supported cortical glutamatergic and GABAergic neuronal migration (Fig. 6.1) (Kindberg et al., 2014). Notably, the sequential development of the glutamatergic projection neurons, with deep-layer $CTIP2^+$ neurons appearing first, followed by generation of upper-layer SATB2⁺ neurons, mimicked in vivo human neocortical development (Rakic, 2009; Hill and Walsh, 2005). Cocaine was found to induce oxidative stress, interrupt neural progenitor proliferation, and induce premature neuronal differentiation of various cortical neuronal subtypes in this 2D model (Kindberg et al., 2014). This 2D cell culture is unable to recapitulate *in vivo*-like cytoarchitectural organization and connectivity of the brain, limiting its possibilities for determining mechanisms of cocaine-induced brain developmental pathogenesis.

We recently adapted this 2D model system to recapitulate the 3D cytoarchitecture of the developing human neocortex. We established a human PSC-based 3D





(A–C) Expression of TUJ1, glutamate, and GABA by immunocytochemistry.
Data from Kindberg, A.A., Bendriem, R.M., Spivak, C.E., Chen, J., Handreck, A., Lupica, C.R., Liu, J., Freed, W.J., Lee, C.-T., 2014. An in vitro model of human neocortical development using pluripotent stem cells: cocaine-induced cytoarchitectural alterations. Dis. Model. Mech. 7, 1397–1405.



FIGURE 6.2 Generation of 3D neocortical organoids with single ventricle-like cavities from hPSCs.

(A) Phase-contrast image of a floating neocortical organoid derived from hPSCs. (B, C) Cryosections of neocortical structures immunostained for various cortical markers (B) NEUN/TUJ1 and (C) CTIP2/TUJ1.

Data from Lee, C.-T., Chen, J., Kindberg, A.A., Bendriem, R.M., Spivak, C.E., Williams, M.P., Richie, C.T., Handreck, A., Mallon, B.S., Lupica, C.R., Lin, D.T., Harvey, B.K., Mash, D.C., Freed, W.J., 2017. CYP3A5 mediates effects of cocaine on human neocorticogenesis: studies using an in vitro 3D self-organized hPSC model with a single cortex-like unit. Neuropsychopharmacology 42, 774–784.

neocortical organoid model that comprises a single rosette-like structure (Fig. 6.2) (Lee et al., 2017). Using a single rosette, rather than aggregates, allows for the development of measurable cortical layers. This 3D neocortical organoid model retains essential features of human neocortical development, including proliferative neuroepithelium during the earlier differentiation stage, neurogenesis, neuronal migration, and later expansion of the neocortical region. The model was similarly effective using either hESC or hiPSC lines (Lee et al., 2017). Significantly, expression of markers of cortical layer formation, including reelin expression in superficial layers, was retained and organized appropriately in this model. In that respect, this model is an advance over other 3D brain organoid methods in which multiple aggregates are combined (Lancaster et al., 2013; Pasca et al., 2015; Kadoshima et al., 2013). In addition, other models use embedding in a Matrigel scaffold (Lancaster et al., 2013; Pasca et al., 2015; Qian et al., 2016), which would interfere with drug diffusion and thus complicate administration of drugs. Using this 3D hPSC-based brain organoid model, we identified a single, specific isoform of the cytochrome P450 3A (CYP3A) family, CYP3A5, as being responsible for the adverse effects of cocaine on cerebral cortical development (Lee et al., 2017).

It is worth noting that the cytochrome P450 inhibitor cimetidine was effective in blocking the adverse effects of cocaine in each of the models that were tested, including AF5 cells (Lee et al., 2008), the developing rat brain (Lee et al., 2008), and the 2D neocortical development model (Kindberg et al., 2014). Cimetidine has previously been used to inhibit toxicity of other drugs mediated by cytochrome P450 (e.g., Dreyfuss et al., 1996; Lewis et al., 1992; Sztajnkrycer et al., 2003). Cimetidine, marketed under the name Tagamet, is used primarily to inhibit

production of stomach acid and is not toxic even in very high doses (Freston, 1982). Cimetidine is a general cytochrome P450 inhibitor, not selective for CYP3A5. Also, the dosages that would be required to prevent cocaine neurodevelopmental toxicity in humans are unknown, and determination of its potential efficacy would require studies in subhuman primates. On the other hand, the use of cimetidine to prevent cocaine toxicity during pregnancy could have adverse consequences, such as potentiation of cocaine's primary pharmacological effects or increasing the severity of cocaine toxicities that occur via CYP3A5-independent mechanisms. Another approach could be the development of selective CYP3A5 inhibitors for use during pregnancy to prevent cocaine toxicity. It would also be difficult to predict cocaine abuse during pregnancy, although at-risk individuals could be selected for prophylactic treatment. If such an approach was found to be effective there is, however, a possibility of alleviating not only the toxicity of cocaine for brain development, but also the increased risk of later drug abuse that is consistently seen in the offspring of cocaine-abusing mothers.

Interestingly, the CYP3A5 gene shows wide variations in expression in different human populations. There are common mutations which cause a loss of expression in groups of European heritage, whereas ethnic groups with African heritage generally lack these mutations. For example, the original study by Kuehl et al. (2001) found that 60% of African-Americans, but only 33% of Caucasians, express normal CYP3A5. Other studies in specific or localized ethnic groups within Africa and Europe have found even larger differences, while other groups, such as Asians, tend to show frequencies between these extremes (Lamba et al., 2012; Lee et al., 2003; Kurose et al., 2012; Thompson et al., 2004). Recognizing the influence of CYP3A5 polymorphisms on cocaine-induced adverse developmental effects may explain individual differences in cocaine-induced developmental disorders and help identify cocaine-exposed infants at risk for adverse neuropsychological outcomes (Fig. 6.3). It may be possible to develop compounds with selective effect of CYP3A5 which can serve to ameliorate adverse developmental effects of cocaine in at-risk individuals.

These studies also provide a potential target for hiPSC-based studies of developmental mechanisms related to cocaine. The principal function of CPY3A5 in the brain is, of course, not metabolism of cocaine. hiPSC with genetic CYP3A5 variants could therefore be used to examine the function of CYP3A5 in brain development, and the potential role in effects of cocaine.

Notably, although we proposed that this genetic factor might account for cocaine's adverse effects on neocortical development, we do not maintain that this is the only mechanism whereby cocaine might alter brain development. In our in vitro microarray studies of cocaine on gene expression in various human CNS cell types, changes in cyclin A were only one of many changes that were observed (Lee et al., 2009). For example, there have been a number of studies linking WNTs to cocaine-induced abnormalities in brain cytoarchitecture (Cuesta et al., 2017a, 2017b; Dias et al., 2015; Novikova et al., 2005). We recently reported that hPSC lines with a duplication of 17q21.31–17q21.32, including WNT3 and WNT9B,



FIGURE 6.3 A hypothesis regarding the role of CYP3A5 polymorphisms in cocaine-induced neocortical developmental impairment.

Several single-nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) are known to result in variant CYP3A enzyme expression and activity. Using hPSC-derived 3D brain organoids, we previously found that CYP3A5 might play a dominant role in the N-oxidative metabolism of cocaine and associated adverse effects in the developing human neocortex. Therefore, individuals expressing wildtype CYP3A5 might be more sensitive to cocaine-induced brain development disorder as compared to individuals with the mutant allele of CYP3A5.

exhibit enhanced neuronal differentiation (Lee et al., 2015a, 2015b). Therefore, changes in WNT signaling could be another biological driver of pathogenesis of cocaine-induced brain developmental disorder.

In terms of changes in the developing brain, there appear to be several distinct effects of cocaine, which are probably at least to some degree mediated by different mechanisms. The first is an alteration in dendritic development and organization, which seems to be related to the presence of dopamine D1 receptors, although the transduction mechanism still is unclear (Jones et al., 1996, 2000). A second effect, reported by Crandall et al. (2004), is a decrease in the migration of GABAergic neurons from the medial ganglionic eminence to the cerebral cortex, and this has been associated with dopaminergic mechanisms as well (Crandall et al., 2007). Cocaine also increases parvalbumin-positive interneurons and causes changes in pyramidal neuron morphology (Thompson et al., 2010). Finally, there is a decrease in neural progenitor proliferation reported by our group which is entirely independent of dopaminergic mechanisms, depending instead on cocaine metabolism by CYP3A5 (Lee et al., 2015b).

Prenatal nicotine exposure has also been found to have adverse neurodevelopmental effects (Lewis et al., 2007; Noland et al., 2003). Recently, a pluripotent human stem cell model has been employed to examine the neurodevelopmental effects of nicotine (Wang et al., 2018). Nicotine caused a decrease in neural progenitor proliferation and premature neuronal differentiation similar to that caused by cocaine (Lee et al., 2008, 2011). Whether the molecular mechanisms through which nicotine produces these effects are entirely separate from, or similar to, those of cocaine have not yet been reported.

Conclusions

For certain disorders, the genetic factors that underlie disease are best examined by the direct study of human patients. In schizophrenia, for example, there is no clearcut animal model, and certainly no cellular model that fully recapitulates the disorder. In contrast, animals can readily be used to mimic substance abuse; however, the study of genetic predisposition is complicated by the highly polygenic nature of the disorder and by the myriad epigenetic and environmental factors that contribute to susceptibility. The use of hiPSC from addicted subjects is one way of modeling substance abuse to examine the contribution of specific genetic variants or combinations of variants in vulnerability to addiction. As shown in the recent work by Sheng and colleagues (2016a, 2016b), these models can also be used to test the effects of potential new drug treatments.

For substance-induced neurodevelopmental impairment in the developing fetus, pathophysiological mechanisms and genetic contributions to the disorder cannot be understood solely through direct study of human subjects. Furthermore, it is difficult or impossible to precisely determine the amount of exposure of any individual subject who is suspected of having been exposed to substances prenatally. Also, it is difficult to determine the baseline level of intellectual function for that individual. Thus, although prenatal exposure to some substances is known to have adverse effects on brain development and intellectual function, little is known about the mechanisms and genetic factors that are involved. The use of in vitro 3D brain organoid models based on hiPSC affords an uncomplicated study of genetic risk factors and cellular mechanisms that underlie substance-induced developmental abnormalities of the brain. Moreover, the use of the 3D organoid methodology can readily be adapted for use in a wide range of neurodevelopmental disorders with toxic or genetic etiologies (Amin and Pasca, 2018).

References

Agrawal, A., Chou, Y.-L., Carey, C.E., Baranger, D.A.A., Zhang, B., Sherva, R., Wetherill, L., Kapoor, M., Wang, J.-C., Bertelsen, S., Anokhin, A.P., Hesselbrock, V., Kramer, J., Lynskey, M.T., Meyers, J.L., Nurnberger, J.I., Rice, J.P., Tischfield, J., Bierut, L.J., Degenhardt, L., Farrer, L.A., Gelernter, J., Hariri, A.R., Heath, A.C., Kranzler, H.R., Madden, P.A.F., Martin, N.G., Montgomery, G.W., Porjesz, B., Wang, T., Whitfield, J.B., Edenberg, H.J., Fouroud, T., Goate, A.M., Bogdan, R., Nelsen, E.C., 2018. Genome-wide association study identifies a novel locus for cannabis dependence. Mol. Psychiatr. 23 (5), 1293–1302.

- Agrawal, A., Edenberg, H.J., Foroud, T., Bierut, L.J., Dunne, G., Hinrichs, A.L., Nurnberger, J.I., Crowe, R., Kuperman, S., Schuckit, M.A., Begleiter, H., Porjesz, B., Dick, D.M., 2006. Association of GABRA2 with drug dependence in the collaborative study of the genetics of alcoholism sample. Behav. Genet. 36 (5), 640–650.
- Amin, N.D., Paşca, S.P., 2018. Building models of brain disorders with three-dimensional organoids. Neuron 100 (2), 389–405.
- Arenas, E., Denham, M., Villaescusa, J.C., 2015. How to make a midbrain dopaminergic neuron. Development 142, 1918–1936.
- Bandstra, E.S., Morrow, C.E., Accornero, V.H., Mansoor, E., Xue, L., Anthony, J.C., 2011. Estimated effects of in utero cocaine exposure on language development through early adolescence. Neurotoxicol. Teratol. 33, 25–35.
- Bandstra, E.S., Vogel, A.L., Morrow, C.E., Xue, L., Anthony, J.C., 2004. Severity of prenatal cocaine exposure and child language functioning through age seven years: a longitudinal latent growth curve analysis. Subst. Use Misuse 39, 25–59.
- Bateman, D.A., Chiriboga, C.A., 2000. Dose-response effect of cocaine on newborn head circumference. Pediatrics 106 (3), E33.
- Berridge, K.C., Kringelbach, M.L., 2015. Pleasure systems in the brain. Neuron 86 (3), 646-664.
- Cai, J., Yang, M., Poremsky, E., Kidd, S., Schneider, J.S., Iacovitti, L., 2010. Dopaminergic neurons derived from human induced pluripotent stem cells survive and integrate into 6-OHDA-lesioned rats. Stem Cell. Dev. 19, 1017–1023.
- Chandrasekar, R., 2013. Alcohol and NMDA receptor: current research and future direction. Front. Mol. Neurosci. 6, 14.
- Chin, M.H., Mason, M.J., Xie, W., Volinia, S., Singer, M., Peterson, C., Ambartsumyan, G., Aimiuwu, O., Richter, L., Zhang, H., Khvorstov, I., Ott, V., Grunstein, M., Lavon, N., Benvenisty, N., Croce, C.M., Clark, A.T., Baxter, T., Lowry, W.E., 2009. Induced pluripotent stem cells and embryonic stem cells are distinguished by gene expression signatures. Cell Stem Cell 5 (1), 111–123.
- Chiriboga, C.A., Kuhn, L., Wasserman, G.A., 2014. Neurobehavioral and developmental trajectories associated with level of prenatal cocaine exposure. J. Neurol. Psychol. 2 (3), 12.
- Chuang, T.J., Tseng, Y.H., Chen, C.Y., Wang, Y.D., 2017. Assessment of imprinting- and genetic variation-dependent monoallelic expression using reciprocal allele descendants between human family trios. Sci. Rep. 7, 7038.
- Conradt, E., Lagasse, L.L., Shankaran, S., Bada, H., Bauer, C.R., Whitaker, T.M., Hammond, J.A., Lester, B.M., 2014. Physiological correlates of neurobehavioral disinhibition that relate to drug use and risky sexual behavior in adolescents with prenatal substance exposure. Dev. Neurosci. 36, 306–315.
- Crandall, J.E., Hackett, H.E., Tobet, S.A., Kosofsky, B.E., Bhide, P.G., 2004. Cocaine exposure decreases GABA neuron migration from the ganglionic eminence to the cerebral cortex in embryonic mice. Cerebr. Cortex 14 (6), 665–675.
- Crandall, J.E., McCarthy, D.M., Araki, K.Y., Sims, J.R., Ren, J.Q., Bhide, P.G., 2007. Dopamine receptor activation modulates GABA neuron migration from the basal forebrain to the cerebral cortex. J. Neurosci. 27 (14), 3813–3822.
- Cuesta, S., Batuecas, J., Severin, M.J., Funes, A., Rosso, S.B., Pacchioni, A.M., 2017a. Role of Wnt/β-catenin pathway in the nucleus accumbens in long-term cocaine-induced neuroplasticity: a possible novel target for addiction treatment. J. Neurochem. 140 (1), 114–125.

170 CHAPTER 6 Applications of human induced pluripotent stem

- Cuesta, S., Severin, M.J., Batuecas, J., Rosso, S.B., Pacchioni, A.M., 2017b. Wnt/β-catenin pathway in the prefrontal cortex is required for cocaine-induced neuroadaptations. Addiction Biol. 22 (4), 933–945.
- Dackis, C.A., O'Brien, C.P., 2001. Cocaine dependence: a disease of the brain's reward centers. J. Subst. Abuse Treat. 21, 111–117.
- Delaney-Black, V., Chiodo, L.M., Hannigan, J.H., Greenwald, M.K., Janisse, J., Patterson, G., Huestis, M.A., Partridge, R.T., Ager, J., Sokol, R.J., 2011. Prenatal and postnatal cocaine exposure predict teen cocaine use. Neurotoxicol. Teratol. 33, 110–119.
- Dias, C., Dietz, D., Mazei-Robison, M., Sun, H., Damez-Werno, D., Ferguson, D., Wilkinson, M., Magida, J., Gao, V., Neve, R., Nestler, E.J., 2015. Dishevelled-2 regulates cocaine-induced structural plasticity and Rac1 activity in the nucleus accumbens. Neurosci. Lett. 598, 23–28.
- Douaihy, A.B., Kelly, T.M., Sullivan, C., 2013. Medications for substance use disorders. Soc. Work. Publ. Health 28 (3–4), 264–278.
- Dreyfuss, A.I., Clark, J.R., Norris, C.M., Rossi, R.M., Lucarini, J.W., Busse, P.M., Poulin, M.D., Thornhill, L., Costello, R., Posner, M.R., 1996. Docetaxel: an active drug for squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck. J. Clin. Oncol. 14 (5), 1672–1678.
- Dudbridge, F., 2013. Power and predictive accuracy of polygenic risk scores. PLoS Genet. 9 (3), e1003348. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgen.1003348.
- Fields, H.L., Margolis, E.B., 2015. Understanding opioid reward. Trends Neurosci. 38 (4), 17–25.
- Frank, D.A., Rose-Jacobs, R., Crooks, D., Cabral, H.J., Gerteis, J., Hacker, K.A., Martin, B., Weinstein, Z.B., Heeren, T., 2011. Adolescent initiation of licit and illicit substance use: impact of intrauterine exposures and post-natal exposure to violence. Neurotoxicol. Teratol. 33, 100–109.
- Freston, J.W., 1982. Cimetidine. I. Developments, pharmacology, and efficacy. Ann. Intern. Med. 97 (4), 573–580.
- Fuke, S., Suo, S., Takahashi, N., Koike, H., Sasagawa, N., Ishiura, S., 2001. The VNTR polymorphism of the human dopamine transporter (DAT1) gene affects gene expression. Pharmacogenetics J. 1 (2), 152–156.
- Gelernter, J., Sherva, R., Koesterer, R., Almasy, L., Zhao, H., Kranzler, H.R., Farrer, L., 2014. Genomewide association study of cocaine dependence and related traits: FAM53B identified as a risk gene. Mol. Psychiatr. 19 (6), 717–723.
- Grewen, K., Burchinal, M., Vachet, C., Gouttard, S., Gilmore, J.H., Lin, W., Johns, J., Elam, M., Gerig, G., 2014. Prenatal cocaine effects on brain structure in early infancy. Neuroimage 101, 114–123.
- Grimm, J.W., Hope, B.T., Wise, R.A., Shaham, Y., 2001. Neuroadaptation. Incubation of cocaine craving after withdrawal. Nature 412 (6843), 141–142. https://doi.org/10.1038/ 35084134. PMID:11449260; PMCID: PMC2889613.
- Haggarty, P., 2015. Genetic and metabolic determinants of human epigenetic variation. Curr. Opin. Clin. Nutr. Metab. Care 18, 334–338.
- Halikere, A., Popova, D., Scarnati, M.S., Hamod, A., Swerdel, M.R., Moore, J.C., Tischfield, J.A., Hart, R.P., Pang, Z.P., 2019. Addiction associated N40D mu-opioid receptor variant modulates synaptic function in human neurons. Mol. Psychiatr. 25 (7), 1406–1419. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41380-019-0507-0.
- Hancock, D.B., Markunas, C.A., Bierut, L.J., Johnson, E.O., 2019. Human genetics of addiction: new insights and future directions. Curr. Psychiatr. Rep. 20 (2), 8. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s11920-018-0873-3.

- Hart, A.B., Kranzler, H.R., 2015. Alcohol dependence genetics: lessons learned from genome wide association studies (GWAS) and post-GWAS analyses. Alcohol Clin. Exp. Res. 39 (8), 1312–1327.
- Hartfield, E.M., Yamasaki-Mann, M., Fernandes, H.J.R., Vowles, J., James, W.S., Cowley, S.A., Wades-Martin, R., 2014. Physiological characterisation of human iPSderived dopaminergic neurons. PLoS One 9 (2), e87388. https://doi.org/10.1371/ journal.pone.0087388.
- Hastings, P.J., Lupski, J.R., Rosenberg, S.M., Ira, G., 2009. Mechanisms of change in gene copy number. Nat. Rev. Genet. 10, 551–564.
- Hedegaard, H., Bastian, B.A., Trinidad, J.P., Spencer, M., Warner, M., 2018. Drugs most frequently involved in drug overdose deaths: United States, 2011-2016. Natl. Vital Stat. Rep. 67 (9), 1–14.
- Hedegaard, H., Bastian, B.A., Trinidad, J.P., Spencer, M.R., Warner, M., 2019. Regional differences in the drugs most frequently involved in drug overdose deaths: United States, 2017. Natl. Vital Stat. Rep. 68 (12), 1–11.
- Hill, R.S., Walsh, C.A., 2005. Molecular insights into human brain evolution. Nature 437, 64–67.
- Hussein, S.M., Batada, N.N., Vuoristo, S., Ching, R.W., Autio, R., Narva, E., Ng, S., Sourour, M., Hamalainen, R., Olsson, C., Lundin, K., Mikkola, M., Trokovic, R., Peitz, M., Brustle, O., Bazett-Jones, D.P., Alitalo, K., Lahesmaa, R., Nagy, A., Otonkoski, T., 2011. Copy number variation and selection during reprogramming to pluripotency. Nature 471 (7336), 58–62.
- Iafrate, A.J., Feuk, L., Rivera, M.N., Listewnik, M.L., Donahoe, P.K., Qi, Y., Scherer, S.W., Lee, C., 2004. Detection of large-scale variation in the human genome. Nat. Genet. 36, 949–951.
- Jensen, K.P., 2016. A review of genome-wide association studies of stimulant and opioid use disorders. Mol. Neuropsychiatry 2, 37–45.
- Ji, J., Ng, S.H., Sharma, V., Neculai, D., Hussein, S., Sam, M., Trinh, Q., Church, G.M., McPherson, J.D., Nagy, A., Batada, N.N., 2012. Elevated coding mutation rate during the reprogramming of human somatic cells into induced pluripotent stem cells. Stem Cell. 30, 435–440.
- Ji, H., Zhang, X., Oh, S., Mayhew, C.N., Ulm, A., Hari, K., Somineni, M.S., Erickson, M., Wells, J.M., Khurana Hershey, G.K., 2015. Dynamic transcriptional and epigenomic reprogramming from pediatric nasal epithelial cells to induced pluripotent stem cells. J. Clin. Immunol. 135 (1), 236–244.
- Jones, L., Fischer, I., Levitt, P., 1996. Nonuniform alteration of dendritic development in the cerebral cortex following prenatal cocaine exposure. Cerebr. Cortex 6 (3), 431–445.
- Jones, L.B., Stanwood, G.D., Reinoso, B.S., Washington, R.A., Wang, H.Y., Friedman, E., Levitt, P., 2000. In utero cocaine-induced dysfunction of dopamine D1 receptor signaling and abnormal differentiation of cerebral cortical neurons. J. Neurosci. 20 (12), 4606–4614.
- Kadoshima, T., Sakaguchi, H., Nakano, T., Soen, M., Ando, S., Eiraku, M., Sasai, Y., 2013. Self-organization of axial polarity, inside-out layer pattern, and species-specific progenitor dynamics in human ES cell-derived neocortex. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 110 (50), 20284–20289.
- Kang, A.M., Palmatier, M.A., Kidd, K.K., 1999. Global variation of a 40-bp VNTR in the 3'untranslated region of the dopamine transporter gene (SLC6A3). Biol. Psychiatr. 46, 151–160.

- Kariisa, M., Scholl, L., Wilson, N., Seth, P., Hoots, B., 2019. Drug overdose deaths involving cocaine and psychostimulants with abuse potential – United States, 2003-2017. MMWR Morb. Mortal. Wkly. Rep. 68, 388–395. https://doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm6817a3.
- Kim, K., Doi, A., Wen, B., Ng, K., Zhao, R., Cahan, P., Kim, J., Aryee, M.J., Ji, H., Ehrlich, L.I., Yabuuch, A., Takeuchi, A., Cunniff, K.C., Hongguang, H., McKinney-Freeman, S., Naveiras, O., Yoon, T.J., Irizarry, R.A., Jung, N., Seita, J., Hanna, J., Murakami, P., Jaenisch, R., Weissleder, R., Orkin, S.H., Weissman, I.L., Feinberg, A.P., Daly, G.Q., 2010. Epigenetic memory in induced pluripotent stem cells. Nature 467 (7313), 285–290.
- Kindberg, A.A., Bendriem, R.M., Spivak, C.E., Chen, J., Handreck, A., Lupica, C.R., Liu, J., Freed, W.J., Lee, C.-T., 2014. An in vitro model of human neocortical development using pluripotent stem cells: cocaine-induced cytoarchitectural alterations. Dis. Model. Mech. 7, 1397–1405.
- Koob, G.F., Volkow, N.D., 2016. Neurobiology of addiction: a neurocircuitry analysis. Lancet Psychiatry 3 (8), 760–773.
- Kosofsky, B.E., Wilkins, A.S., Gressens, P., Evrard, P., 1994. Transplacental cocaine exposure: a mouse model demonstrating neuroanatomic and behavioral abnormalities. J. Child Neurol. 9, 234–241.
- Kriks, S., Shim, J.W., Piao, J., Ganat, Y.M., Wakeman, D.R., Xie, Z., Carillo-Reid, L., Auyeung, G., Antonacci, C., Buch, A., Yang, L., Beal, M.F., Surmeier, D.J., Kordower, J.H., Tabar, V., Studer, L., 2011. Dopamine neurons derived from human ES cells efficiently engraft in animal models of Parkinson's disease. Nature 480 (7378), 547–551.
- Kuehl, P., Zhang, J., Lin, Y., Lamba, J., Assem, M., Schuetz, J., Watkins, P.B., Daly, A., Wrighton, S.A., Hall, S.D., Maurel, P., Relling, M., Brimer, C., Yasuda, K., Venkataramanan, R., Strom, S., Thummel, K., Boguski, M.S., &Schuetz, E., 2001. Sequence diversity in CYP3A promoters and characterization of the genetic basis of polymorphic CYP3A5 expression. Nat. Genet. 27, 383–391.
- Kurose, K., Sugiyama, E., Saito, Y., 2012. Population differences in major functional polymorphisms of pharmacokinetics/pharmacodynamics-related genes in Eastern Asians and Europeans: implications in the clinical trials for novel drug development. Drug Metabol. Pharmacokinet. 27, 9–54.
- LaForge, K.S., Yuferov, V., Kreek, M.J., 2000. Opioid receptor and peptide gene polymorphisms: potential implications for addictions. Eur. J. Pharmacol. 410, 249–268.
- Lamba, J., Hebert, J.M., Schuetz, E.G., Klein, T.E., Altman, R.B., 2012. PharmGKB summary: very important pharmacogenetic information for CYP3A5. Pharmacogenetics Genom. 22 (7), 555–558.
- Lancaster, M.A., Renner, M., Martin, C.A., Wenzel, D., Bicknell, L.S., Hurles, M.E., Homfray, T., Penninger, J.M., Jackson, A.P., Knoblich, J.A., 2013. Cerebral organoids model human brain development and microcephaly. Nature 501, 373–379.
- Lee, C.-T., Bendriem, R.M., Freed, W.J., 2015a. A new technique for modeling neuronal connectivity using human pluripotent stem cells. Restor. Neurol. Neurosci. 33, 347–356.
- Lee, C.-T., Bendriem, R.M., Kindberg, A.A., Worden, L.T., Williams, M.P., Drgon, T., Mallon, B.S., Harvey, B.K., Richie, C.T., Hamilton, R.S., Chen, J., Errico, S.L., Tsai, S.Y., Uhl, G.R., Freed, W.J., 2015b. Functional consequences of 17q21.31/ WNT3-WNT9B amplification in hPSCs with respect to neural differentiation. Cell Rep. 10, 616–632.

- Lee, C.-T., Boeshore, K.L., Wu, C., Becker, K.G., Errico, S.L., Mash, D.C., Freed, W.J., 2016. Cocaine promotes primary human astrocyte proliferation via JNK-dependent upregulation of cyclin A2. Restor. Neurol. Neurosci. 34, 965–976.
- Lee, C.-T., Chen, J., Hayashi, T., Tsai, S.-Y., Sanchez, J.F., Errico, S.L., Amable, R., Su, T.P., Lowe, R.H., Huestis, M.A., Shen, J., Becker, K.G., Geller, H.M., Freed, W.J., 2008. A mechanism for the inhibition of neural progenitor cell proliferation by cocaine. PLoS Med. 5 (6), e117.
- Lee, C.-T., Chen, J., Kindberg, A.A., Bendriem, R.M., Spivak, C.E., Williams, M.P., Richie, C.T., Handreck, A., Mallon, B.S., Lupica, C.R., Lin, D.T., Harvey, B.K., Mash, D.C., Freed, W.J., 2017. CYP3A5 mediates effects of cocaine on human neocorticogenesis: studies using an in vitro 3D self-organized hPSC model with a single cortexlike unit. Neuropsychopharmacology 42, 774–784.
- Lee, C.-T., Chen, J., Worden, L.T., Freed, W.J., 2011. Cocaine causes deficits in radial migration and alters the distribution of glutamate and GABA neurons in the developing rat cerebral cortex. Synapse 65 (1), 21–34. https://doi.org/10.1002/syn.20814.
- Lee, C.-T., Lehrmann, E., Hayashi, T., Amable, R., Tsai, S.Y., Chen, J., Sanchez, J.F., Shen, J., Becker, K.G., Freed, W.J., 2009. Gene expression profiling reveals distinct cocaineresponsive genes in human fetal CNS cell types. J. Addiction Med. 3 (4), 218–226.
- Lee, H., Chen, C.X., Liu, Y.J., Aizenman, E., Kandler, K., 2005. KCC2 expression in immature rat cortical neurons is sufficient to switch the polarity of GABA responses. Eur. J. Neurosci. 21, 2593–2599.
- Lee, S.J., Usmani, K.A., Chanas, B., Ghanayem, B., Xi, T., Hodgson, E., Mohrenweiser, H.W., Goldstein, J.A., 2003. Genetic findings and functional studies of human CYP3A5 single nucleotide polymorphisms in different ethnic groups. Pharmacogenetics 13, 461–467.
- Lewis, B.A., Kirchner, H.L., Short, E.J., Minnes, S., Weishampel, P., Satayathum, S., Singer, L.T., 2007. Prenatal cocaine and tobacco effects on children's language trajectories. Pediatrics 120, e78.
- Lewis, A.D., Lau, D.H., Durán, G.E., Wolf, C.R., Sikic, B.I., 1992. Role of cytochrome P-450 from the human CYP3A gene family in the potentiation of morpholino doxorubicin by human liver microsomes. Can. Res. 52 (16), 4379–4384.
- Lidow, M.S., Bozian, D., Song, Z.M., 2001. Cocaine affects cerebral neocortical cytoarchitecture in primates only if administered during neocortical neuronogenesis. Brain Res. Dev. Brain Res. 128, 45–52.
- Lidow, M.S., Song, Z.M., 2001a. Primates exposed to cocaine in utero display reduced density and number of cerebral cortical neurons. J. Comp. Neurol. 435, 263–275.
- Lidow, M.S., Song, Z.M., 2001b. Effect of cocaine on cell proliferation in the cerebral wall of monkey fetuses. Cerebr. Cortex 11, 545–551.
- Lieberman, R., Kranzler, H.R., Joshi, P., Shin, D.-G., Covault, J., 2015. GABRA2 alcohol dependence risk allele is associated with reduced expression of chromosome 4p12 GABA_A subunit genes in human neural cultures. Alcohol Clin. Exp. Res. 39 (9), 1654–1664.
- Lieberman, R., Levine, E.S., Kranzler, H.R., Abreu, C., Covault, J., 2012. Pilot study of iPSderived neural cells to examine biological effects of alcohol on human neurons in vitro. Alcohol Clin. Exp. Res. 36 (10), 1678–1687.
- Lin, S.-K., 2013. Pharmacological means of reducing human drug dependence: a selective and narrative review of the clinical literature. Br. J. Clin. Pharmacol. 77 (2), 242–252.
- Lister, R., Pelizzola, M., Kida, Y.S., Hawkins, R.D., Nery, J.R., Hon, G., Antosiewicz-Bourget, J., O'Malley, R., Castanon, R., Klugman, S., Downes, M., Yu, R., Steward, R.,

Ren, B., Thomson, J.A., Evans, R.M., Ecker, J.R., 2011. Hotspots of aberrant epigenetic reprogramming in human induced pluripotent stem cells. Nature 471 (7336), 68–73.

- Liu, H., Zhang, S.C., 2011. Specification of neuronal and glial subtypes from human pluripotent stem cells. Cell. Mol. Life Sci. 68, 3995–4008.
- Mague, S.D., Blendy, J.A., 2010. OPRM1 SNP (A118G): involvement in disease development, treatment response, and animal models. Drug Alcohol Depend. 108, 172–182.
- Martignoni, M., Groothuis, G.M., de Kanter, R., 2006. Species differences between mouse, rat, dog, monkey and human CYP-mediated drug metabolism, inhibition and induction. Expet Opin. Drug Metabol. Toxicol. 2, 875–894.
- Mayshar, Y., Ben-David, U., Lavon, N., Biancotti, J.-C., Yakir, B., Clark, A.T., Plath, K., Lowry, W.E., Benvenisty, N., 2010. Identification and classification of chromosomal aberrations in human induced pluripotent stem cells. Cell Stem Cell 7, 521–531.
- McCarthy, D.M., Bhide, P.G., 2012. Prenatal cocaine exposure decreases parvalbuminimmunoreactive neurons and GABA-to-projection neuron ratio in the medial prefrontal cortex. Dev. Neurosci. 34, 174–183.
- Mendez, I.A., Williams, M.T., Bhavsar, A., Lu, A.P., Bizon, J.L., Setlow, B., 2009. Longlasting sensitization of reward-directed behavior by amphetamine. Behav. Brain Res. 201 (1), 74–79.
- Mill, J., Asherson, P., Craig, I., D'Souza, U.M., 2005. Transient expression analysis of a VNTR in the dopamine transporter gene (DAT1). BMC Genet. 6, 3.
- Miller, G.M., Madras, B.K., 2002. Polymorphisms in the 3'-untranslated region of human and monkey dopamine transporter genes affect reporter gene expression. Mol. Psychiatr. 7, 44–55.
- Min, M.O., Minnes, S., Lang, A., Weishampel, P., Short, E.J., Yoon, S., Singer, L.T., 2014. Externalizing behavior and substance use related problems at 15 years in prenatally cocaine exposed adolescents exposed adolescents. J. Adolesc. 37, 269–279.
- Minnes, S., Min, M.O., Short, E.J., Wu, M., Lang, A., Yoon, S., Singer, L.T., 2016. Executive function in children with prenatal cocaine exposure (12–15 years). Neurotoxicol. Teratol. 57, 79–86.
- Minnes, S., Singer, L., Min, M.O., Wu, M., Lang, A., Yoon, S., 2014. Effects of prenatal cocaine/polydrug exposure on substance use by age 15. Drug Alcohol Depend. 134, 201–210.
- Nagy, J., 2008. Alcohol related changes in regulation of NMDA receptor functions. Curr. Neuropharmacol. 6, 39–54.
- National Institute of Drug Abuse, February 19, 2020. https://www.drugabuse.gov/relatedtopics/trends-statistics#supplemental-references-for-economic-costs.
- National Survey on Drug Use and Health, February 19, 2020. https://www.drugabuse.gov/ publications/drugfacts/nationwide-trends.
- Nie, Z., Madamba, S.G., Siggins, G.R., 1994. Ethanol inhibits glutamatergic neurotransmission in nucleus accumbens neurons by multiple mechanisms. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Therapeut. 271, 1566–1573.
- Noland, J.S., Singer, L.T., Mehta, S.K., Super, D.M., 2003. Prenatal cocaine/polydrug exposure and infant performance on an executive functioning task. Dev. Neuropsychol. 24, 499–517.
- Nolbrant, S., Heuer, A., Parmar, M., Kirkeby, A., 2017. Generation of high-purity human ventral midbrain dopaminergic progenitors for in vitro maturation and intracerebral transplantation. Nat. Protoc. 12 (9), 1962–1979.

- Novikova, S.I., He, F., Bai, J., Lidow, M.S., 2005. Neuropathology of the cerebral cortex observed in a range of animal models of prenatal cocaine exposure may reflect alterations in genes involved in the Wnt and cadherin systems. Synapse 56 (2), 105–116.
- O'Brien, C.P., 2005. Anticraving medications for relapse prevention: a possible new class of psychoactive medications. Am. J. Psychiatr. 162, 1423–1431.
- Olfson, E., Bierut, L.J., 2012. Convergence of genome-wide association and candidate gene studies for alcoholism. Alcohol Clin. Exp. Res. 36 (12), 2086–2094.
- Olsen, R.W., Sieghart, W., 2009. GABA_A receptors: subtypes provide diversity of function and pharmacology. Neuropharmacology 56 (1), 141–148.
- Palmer, R.H.C., Brick, L., Nugent, N.R., Bidwell, L.C., McGeary, J.E., Knopik, V.S., Keller, M.C., 2015. Examining the role of common genetic variants on alcohol, tobacco, cannabis, and illicit drug dependence. Addiction 110 (3), 530–537.
- Paşca, A.M., Sloan, S.A., Clarke, L.E., Tian, Y., Makinson, C.D., Huber, N., Kim, C.H., Park, J.Y., O'Rourke, N.A., Nguyen, K.D., Smith, S.J., Huguenard, J.R., Geschwind, D.H., Barres, B.A., Pasca, S.P., 2015. Functional cortical neurons and astrocytes from human pluripotent stem cells in 3D culture. Nat. Methods 12 (7), 671–678.
- Popova, D., Desai, N., Blendy, J.A., Pang, Z.P., 2019. Synaptic regulation by OPRM1 variants in reward neurocircuitry. J. Neurosci. 39 (29), 5685–5696.
- Prom-Worley, E.C., Ebejer, J., Dick, D.M., Bowers, M.S., 2017. The genetic epidemiology of substance use disorder: a review. Drug Alcohol Depend. 180, 241–259.
- Puglia, M.P., Valenzuela, C.F., 2010. Ethanol acutely inhibits ionotropic glutamate receptormediated responses and long-term potentiation in the developing CA1 hippocampus. Alcohol Clin. Exp. Res. 34, 594–606.
- Purcell, S.M., Wray, N.R., Stone, J.L., Visscher, P.M., O'Donovan, M.C., Sullivan, P.F., Sklar, P., Ruderfer, D.M., McQuillin, A., Morris, D.W., 2009. Common polygenic variation contributes to risk of schizophrenia and bipolar disorder. Nature 460, 748–752.
- Qian, X., Nguyen, H.N., Song, M.M., Hadiano, C., Ogden, S.C., Hammack, C., Yao, B., Hamersky, G.R., Jacob, F., Zhong, C., Yoon, K.J., Jeang, W., Lin, L., Li, Y., Thakor, J., Berg, D.A., Zhang, C., Kang, E., Chickering, M., Nauen, D., Ho, C.Y., Wen, Z., Christian, K.M., Shi, P.Y., Maher, P.J., Wu, H., Jin, P., Tang, H., Song, H., Ming, G.L., 2016. Brain-region-specific organoids using mini-bioreactors for modeling ZIKV exposure. Cell 165 (5), 1238–1254.
- Rakic, P., 2009. Evolution of the neocortex: a perspective from developmental biology. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 10 (10), 724–735.
- Rando, K., Chaplin, T.M., Potenza, M.N., Mayes, L., Sinha, R., 2013. Prenatal cocaine exposure and gray matter volume in adolescent boys and girls: relationship to substance use initiation. Biol. Psychiatr. 74, 482–489.
- Richardson, G.A., Day, N.L., 1994. Detrimental effects of prenatal cocaine exposure: illusion or reality? J. Am. Acad. Child Adolesc. Psychiatry 33 (1), 28–34.
- Richardson, G.A., De Genna, N.M., Goldschmidt, L., Larkby, C., Donovan, J.E., 2019. Prenatal cocaine exposure: direct and indirect associations with 21-year-old offspring substance use and behavior problems. Drug Alcohol Depend. 195, 121–131.
- Richardson, G.A., Goldschmidt, L., Larkby, C., Day, N.L., 2015. Effects of prenatal cocaine exposure on adolescent development. Neurotoxicol. Teratol. 49, 41–48.
- Richardson, G.A., Larkby, C., Goldschmidt, L., Day, N.L., 2013. Adolescent initiation of drug use: effects of prenatal cocaine exposure. J. Am. Acad. Child Adolesc. Psychiatry 52 (1), 37–46.

- Sheng, Y., Filichia, E., Shick, E., Preston, K.L., Phillips, K.A., Cooperman, L., Lin, Z., Tesar, P., Hoffer, B., Luo, Y., 2016a. Using iPSC-derived human DA neurons from opioid-dependent subjects to study dopamine dynamics. Brain Behav. 6 (8), e00491. https://doi.org/10.1002/brb3.491.
- Sheng, Y., Filichia, E., Shick, E., Preston, K.L., Phillips, K.A., Cooperman, L., Lin, Z., Tesar, P., Hoffer, B., Luo, Y., 2016b. Lower dopamine D2 receptor expression levels in human dopaminergic neurons derived from opioid-dependent iPSCs. Am. J. Psychiatr. 173 (4), 429–431.
- Shi, Y., Kirwan, P., Smith, J., Robinson, H.P., Livesey, F.J., 2012. Human cerebral cortex development from pluripotent stem cells to functional excitatory synapses. Nat. Neurosci. 15 (3), 477–486.
- Singer, L.T., Arendt, R., Minnes, S., Farkas, K., Salvator, A., 2000. Neurobehavioral outcomes of cocaine-exposed infants. Neurotoxicol. Teratol. 22, 653–666.
- Smith, A.H., Jensen, K.P., Li, J., Nunez, Y., Farrer, L.A., Hakonarson, H., Cook-Sather, S.D., Kranzler, H.R., 2017. Genome-wide association study of therapeutic opioid dosing identifies a novel locus upstream of OPRM1. Mol. Psychiatr. 22 (3), 346–352.
- Steiger, J.L., Russek, S.J., 2004. GABA_A receptors: building the bridge between subunit mRNAs, their promoters, and cognate transcription factors. Pharmacol. Ther. 101, 259–281.
- Sun, J., Kranzler, H.R., Gelernter, J., Bi, J., 2020. A genome-wide association study of cocaine use disorder accounting for phenotypic heterogeneity and gene-environment interaction. J. Psychiatry Neurosci. 45 (1), 34–44.
- Sundberg, M., Bogetofte, H., Lawson, T., Jansson, J., Smith, G., Astradsson, A., Moore, M., Osborn, T., Cooper, O., Spealman, R., Hallett, P., Isacson, O., 2013. Improved cell therapy protocols for Parkinson's disease based on differentiation efficiency and safety of hESC-, hiPSC-and non-human primate iPSC-derived dopaminergic neurons. Stem Cell. 31, 1548–1562.
- Sztajnkrycer, M.D., Otten, E.J., Bond, G.R., Lindsell, C.J., Goetz, R.J., 2003. Mitigation of pennyroyal oil hepatotoxicity in the mouse. Acad. Emerg. Med. 10 (10), 1024–1028.
- Takahashi, K., Yamanaka, S., 2006. Induction of pluripotent stem cells from mouse embryonic and adult fibroblast cultures by defined factors. Cell 126, 663–676.
- Talseth-Palmer, B.A., Scott, R.J., 2011. Genetic variation and its role in malignancy. Int. J. Biomed. Sci. 7, 158–171.
- Thompson, B.L., Stanwood, G.D., Levitt, P., 2010. Specificity of prenatal cocaine exposure effects on cortical interneurons is independent from dopamine D1 receptor colocalization. J. Chem. Neuroanat. 39, 228–234.
- Thompson, E.E., Kuttab-Boulos, H., Witonsky, D., Yang, L., Roe, B.A., Di Rienzo, A., 2004. CYP3A variation and the evolution of salt-sensitivity variants. Am. J. Hum. Genet. 75, 1059–1069.
- Truckenmiller, M.E., Vawter, M.P., Zhang, P., Conejero-Goldberg, C., Dillon-Carter, O., Morales, N., Cheadle, C., Becker, K.G., Freed, W.J., 2002. AF5, a CNS cell line immortalized with an N-terminal fragment of SV40 large T: growth, differentiation, genetic stability, and gene expression. Exp. Neurol. 175, 318–337.
- VanNess, S.H., Owens, M.J., Kilts, C.D., 2005. The variable number of tandem repeats element in DAT1 regulates in vitro dopamine transporter density. BMC Genet. 6, 55.
- Vazin, T., Becker, K.G., Chen, J., Spivak, C.E., Lupica, C.R., Zhang, Y., Worden, L., Freed, W.J., 2009. A novel combination of factors, termed SPIE, which promotes dopaminergic neuron differentiation from human embryonic stem cells. PLoS One 4, e6606.

- Velasco, S., Kedaigle, A.J., Simmons, S.K., Nash, A., Rocha, M., Quadrato, G., Paulsen, B., Nguyen, L., Adiconis, X., Regev, A., Levin, J.Z., Arlotta, P., 2019. Individual brain organoids reproducibly form cell diversity of the human cerebral cortex. Nature 570, 523–527.
- Volkow, N.D., Fowler, J.S., Wang, G.J., Swanson, J.M., 2004. Dopamine in drug abuse and addiction: results from imaging studies and treatment implications. Mol. Psychiatr. 9 (6), 557–569.
- Volkow, N.D., Wang, G.-J., Telang, F., Fowler, J.S., Logan, J., Childress, A.-R., Jayne, M., Ma, Y., Wang, C., 2006. Cocaine cues and dopamine in dorsal striatum: mechanism of craving in cocaine addiction. J. Neurosci. 26, 6583–6588.
- Wang, D.D., Kriegstein, A.R., 2009. Defining the role of GABA in cortical development. J. Physiol. 587, 1873–1879.
- Wang, Y., Wang, L., Zhu, Y., Qin, J., 2018. Human brain organoid-on-a-chip to model prenatal nicotine exposure. Lab Chip 18 (6), 851–860.
- Warner, T.D., Behnke, M., Eyler, F.D., Szabo, N.J., 2011. Early adolescent cocaine use as determined by hair analysis in a prenatal cocaine exposure cohort. Neurotoxicol. Teratol. 33, 88–99.
- Wise, R.A., 1987. The role of reward pathways in the development of drug dependence. Pharmacol. Ther. 35, 227–263.
- Wise, R.A., 1998. Drug-activation of brain reward pathways. Drug Alcohol Depend. 51, 13–22.
- Yan, Y., Yang, D., Zarnowska, E.D., Du, Z., Werbel, B., Valliere, C., Pearce, R.A., Thomson, J.A., Zhang, S.C., 2005. Directed differentiation of dopaminergic neuronal subtypes from human embryonic stem cells. Stem Cell. 23, 781–790.

This page intentionally left blank

CHAPTER

Induced pluripotent stem cells for modeling cardiac sodium channelopathies

Takeru Makiyama

Department of Cardiovascular Medicine, Kyoto University Graduate School of Medicine, Sakyo-ku, Kyoto, Japan

Chapter outline

Introduction	
Induced pluripotent stem cell model of sodium channelopathies	
LQT type 3	
Brugada syndrome	
Other phenotypes of cardiac sodium channelopathies (e.g., CCD, DCM).	
Summary and future perspectives	
References	

Abstract

Cardiac sodium channelopathies are caused by mutations in the *SCN5A* gene, coding α subunit of voltage-gated cardiac sodium channels, and has been reported to be associated with a variety of phenotypes, including long QT syndrome type 3, Brugada syndrome, cardiac conduction disease, and dilated cardiomyopathy, as well as overlap between these phenotypes. The disease-causing mechanisms have been analyzed in cultured cells, using a heterologous expression system, which posed limitations in analysis as it is a non-myocardial model and is unable to completely emulate the myocardial electrical activity including action potential. However, the recently developed induced pluripotent stem cell technology offers the possibility to produce the relevant cell types and enables us to analyze the humanderived in vitro models of genetic diseases including cardiac ion channel diseases. In this chapter, we review the iPSC model of cardiac sodium channelopathies.

Keywords: Arrhythmia; Brugada syndrome; Cardiac sodium channel; Induced pluripotent stem cell; Long QT syndrome.

Introduction

The cardiac voltage-gated sodium channel, Nav1.5, is responsible for the generation and subsequent propagation of cardiac action potential (AP) through the heart (Balser, 1999; Benson et al., 2003). The α subunit of Nav1.5 is encoded by the *SCN5A* gene. *SCN5A* is located on chromosome 3p21 which contains 28 exons and is associated with two, non-pore forming, β subunits. Mutations in *SCN5A* reportedly cause a variety of cardiac arrhythmia disorders; "cardiac sodium channelopathies," including long QT syndrome (LQT) type 3³ (Bennett et al., 1995), Brugada syndrome (BrS) (Brugada and Brugada, 1992), atrial fibrillation (Darbar, 2008; Ellinor et al., 2008; Makiyama et al., 2008), sinus node dysfunction (SND) (Schott et al., 1999), cardiac conduction disease (CCD) (Benson et al., 2003), and, in rare cases, dilated cardiomyopathy (DCM) (Bezzina et al., 2003; Frigo et al., 2007). In addition, single *SCN5A* mutations often present with multiple clinical manifestations as a consequence of the various biophysical defects associated with the mutations, known as overlap syndromes (Remme et al., 2006).

Human-induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs) (Takahashi and Yamanaka, 2006; Takahashi et al., 2007) have a pluripotency almost equal to that of embryonic stem cells. There is a great deal of ongoing research in regenerative and transplantation therapy, drug discovery, and elucidation of the pathogenesis of diseases using iPSC techniques.

iereditary arrhythmia disease studies have traditionally involved mutant channel current recordings using the patch-clamp method in a heterologous expression system in cultured cells. However, the interaction with myocardial-specific proteins and APs could not be measured because there is a discrepancy between noncardiomyocyte (CM) model and real human CMs. iPSC technology enables us to analyze the disease-causing mechanisms of inherited arrhythmia disorder using self-beating CMs with the same genetic background as the patient. A number of studies of disease-specific iPSC-based disease modeling have been reported (LQT1 (Moretti et al., 2010), LQT2 (Itzhaki et al., 2011), Timothy syndrome (Yazawa et al., 2012, etc.). In this chapter, the current state of research on cardiac sodium channelopathies using iPSCs is described.

Induced pluripotent stem cell model of sodium channelopathies (Table 7.1) LQT type 3

Congenital LQT is an inherited arrhythmogenic disease associated with lethal arrhythmic events and sudden cardiac death. Patients with LQT are currently classified into over 15 genetic subtypes, LQT1-3 accounts for approximately 90% of the genotyped patients, specifically: 40-55%, 30-45%, and 5-10% are LQT1, LQT2, and LQT3, respectively (Schwartz et al., 2012; Mizusawa et al., 2014). LQT1 and LQT2 are caused by loss-of-function mutations in *KCNQ1* and *KCNH2*, which encode cardiac slowly (I_{Ks}) and rapidly (I_{Kr}) activating delayed rectifier potassium

Phenotype	Gene	Mutation (amino acid)	Function (compared to control cells)	Drug testing	Comments	Refs.
LQT3	SCN5A	1795insD, mouse 1798insD	Increased I_{NaL} reduced $I_{Na},$ Prolonged APD, reduced V_{max}	GS-458967 (GS967, I _{NaL} inhibitor) (Portero et al., 2017)	Overlapping phenotypes	(Davis et al., 2012), (Portero et al., 2017)
	SCN5A	F1473C	Increased I _{NaL} , right-shifted steady- state inactivation, Faster recovery from inactivation, Prolonged APD	Mexiletine		Terrenoire et al. (2013)
	SCN5A	V1763M	Increased I _{NaL} , right-shifted steady- state inactivation, Faster recovery from inactivation, prolonged APD	Mexiletine		Ma et al. (2013)
	SCN5A	V240M, R535Q	I_{Na} : Longer time to 90% inactivation tendency for prolonged APD in R535Q,			Fatima et al. (2013)
	SCN5A	N406K	Prolonged APD, Ca ²⁺ transient, FPD (Yoshinaga et al., 2019)	Tetrodotoxin (Spencer et al., 2014), mexiletine (Yoshinaga et al., 2019)	E _m was hyperpolarized by LiCl via NCX blockade, Cyclopiazonic acid prolonged plateau phase of cytosolic Ca ²⁺ via SERCA blockade	(Spencer et al., 2014), (Yoshinaga et al., 2019)
	SCN5A	R1644H	Faster recovery from inactivation, Prolonged APD and FPD, A high incidence of EADs	Mexiletine, ranolazine, phenytoin		Malan et al. (2016)
	SCN5A	N1774D	Prolonged APD, hyperpolarized shift of steady-state activation, increased late sodium current	Propranolol	I _{NaL} inhibition by propranolol was unrelated to β-adrenergic receptor signaling pathway.	Hirose et al. (2020)

Table 7.1	nduced plu	ripotent ste	m cell	model	of cardia	c sodium	cha	nnelopathies.	

Continued

Phenotype	Gene	Mutation (amino acid)	Function (compared to control cells)	Drug testing	Comments	Refs.
BrS	SCN5A	R620H/ R811H, K1397fs	Reduced I _{Na} , reduced V _{max} , increased triggered activity, abnormal Ca ²⁺ transients, Peak-to-peak interval variability.			Liang et al. (2016)
	SCN5A	A226V/ R1629X, T1620M	Reduced I _{Na} , Reduced V _{max} and APA, An increased phase-1 repolarization pro-arrhythmic AP morphology		Dynamic clamp was employed to electronically express ${\sf I}_{{\sf K}1}$	Ma et al. (2018)
	SCN5A	R367H	Reduced I _{Na} , Right-shifted activation and left- shifted inactivation, Faster recovery from inactivation		I _{Na} kinetics changes were not observed in tsA201 cells.	Selga et al. (2018)
	SCN1B	L210P/ P213T	Reduced I _{Na} , APA and V _{max} , Right-shifted activation and left- shifted inactivation, Slow recovery from inactivation		Ajmaline showed stronger I _{Na} suppression effect, Carbacol increased beating rates and arrhythmia-like events	El-Battrawy et al. (2019)
CCD	SCN5A	D1275N	Reduced I _{Na} , beating frequency, APA and V _{max} , Right-shifted activation Reduced the ratio of membrane/ cytosolic Na _V 1.5 Levels	MG132, a proteasome inhibitor	Abnormal I _{Na} properties were not obvious in a heterologous expression system.	Hayano et al. (2017)
	SCN5A	I230T (homo, hetero; located in exon 6)	Reduced I _{Na} , V _{max} , and right-shifted activation in long culture		Long culture increased the fraction of adult <i>SCN5A</i> isoform (exon 6/6a), dynamic clamp was employed	Veerman et al. (2017)
DCM	SCN5A	R219H	Gating pore current at hyperpolarized potentials Prolonged APD and depolarized RMP More acidic in intracellular pH Higher diastolic Ca ²⁺ levels Abnormal sarcomere organization Impaired contractility by AFM			Moreau et al. (2018)

 Table 7.1
 Induced pluripotent stem cell model of cardiac sodium channelopathies.
 cont'd

AFM, atomic force microscopy; APD, action potential duration; BrS, Brugada syndrome; CCD, cardiac conduction disease; DCM, dilated cardiomyopathy; EAD, early after depolarization; Em, membrane potential; FPD, field potential duration; I_{Na}, sodium current; I_{NaL}, late sodium current; LQT, long QT syndrome; RMP, resting membrane potential; V_{max}, maximum upstroke velocity. channels, respectively (Moss et al., 2007; Shimizu et al., 2009). On the other hand, LQT3 is caused by gain-of-function mutations in *SCN5A*, which encodes cardiac voltage-gated sodium channels (Bennett et al., 1995).

In 2012, Davis et al. firstly reported an SCN5A-related human iPSC (hiPSC)model derived from a patient with SCN5A-1795insD (Davis et al., 2012). The SCN5A-1795insD mutation was originally identified in a Dutch family with overlapping features of LQT3, BrS, and CCD (Bezzina et al., 1999; van den Berg et al., 2001). Transgenic mice carrying the mouse equivalent (1798insD) of the human SCN5A-1795insD mutation, displayed SND accompanied with conduction defect and QTc prolongation (Remme et al., 2006, 2009). Davis et al. (Davis et al., 2012) generated iPSCs from Scn5a-heterozygous mice and the differentiated CMs demonstrated a significant decrease in sodium current (I_{Na}) density, a larger late sodium current (I_{NaL}), a prolonged AP duration (APD), and a decreased AP upstroke velocity (V_{max}) compared to those in wild-type (WT) mice which recapitulated findings from primary CMs isolated directly from adult Scn5a-het mice. Finally, hiPSCs were generated from a patient with the equivalent SCN5A-1795insD mutation, the patient-derived hiPSC-CMs exhibited similar electrophysiological changes to the mouse iPSC-CMs.

Thus far, several LQT3-related hiPSCs have been reported to recapitulate the electrophysiological abnormal features of the patients (V240M, R533Q (Fatima et al., 2013), F1473C (Terrenoire et al., 2013), V1763M (Ma et al., 2013), N406K (Spencer et al., 2014), R1644H (Malan et al., 2016)). The hiPSC model is a useful platform not only for studying the pathophysiological mechanisms, but also for evaluating the efficacy of candidate drugs and developing novel diagnostic and therapeutic strategies for LQT3.

Recently, we investigated the cellular mechanism by which β -blockers affected I_{NaL} currents in human LQT3 CMs (Hirose et al., 2020). We established a hiPSCs from a young male carrying the SCN5A-N1774D mutaion and whose repetitive torsades de pointes were effectively treated with propranolol. In N1774D-hiPSC-derived CMs, prolonged APDs and increased I_{NaL} at baseline were attenuated after propranolol administration (Fig. 7.1). In addition, using guanosine diphosphate β s (a G protein inhibitor), we determined that propranolol blocked sodium channels by means of a unique mechanism unrelated to β -adrenergic signaling pathway, by preferentially inhibiting late rather than peak I_{Na}. Terrenoire et al. established LQT3-related hiPSCs carrying SCN5A-F1473C and which exhibited increased I_{NaL} resulting in prolonged depolarization (Terrenoire et al., 2013). Using the hiPSC model, they demonstrated that a sodium channel blocker, mexiletine, reduced I_{NaL} . Mexiletine was also effective in reducing I_{NaL} in SCN5A-V1763M hiPSC-CMs (Ma et al., 2013). Similarly, mexiletine, phenytoin, and ranolazine attenuated prolonged repolarization and the high incidence of early after depolarizations in SCN5A-R1644H hiPSC-CMs (Malan et al., 2016). In addition, administration of a specific I_{NaL} inhibitor, GS-458967 (GS967), did not affect the amplitude of peak I_{Na} , but attenuated I_{NaL} and prolonged APDs in SCN5A-1795insD hiPSC-CMs (Portero et al., 2017). As for its application as a diagnostic





(A) Representative traces of paced ventricular-type action potential (AP) at 1 Hz pacing at baseline (black line) and after the administration 5 μ M propranolol (red line) in control (201B7 and 253G1, left) and N1774D-hiPSC-CMs (right). (B) Summarized data in effects of propranolol on AP duration of control and N1774D-hiPSC-CMs. The data pooled from different lines or clones among the control and N1774D group were analyzed. **p* < 0.001, vs. control. APD₉₀ was measured at 90% repolarization (APD₉₀). APD90 values in N1774D-hiPSC-CMs were significantly prolonged compared with those in control. Propranolol significantly shortened the values of APD₉₀ in N1774D-hiPSC-CMs. **p* < 0.001, vs. baseline. (C) Representative traces of sodium currents in control and N1774D-hiPSC-CMs. The pulse protocol is shown in the inset.

tool to recognize pathogenic variants and distinguish multiple subtypes of LQT, we proposed a phenotypic cell-based diagnostic assay using hiPSC-CMs by specific ion-channel blockade (e.g., mexiletine for LQT3) (Yoshinaga et al., 2019).

Brugada syndrome

Brugada syndrome is an inherited disorder, characterized by sudden death from ventricular tachyarrhythmias (especially during sleep), ST-segment elevation in the right precordial leads, and conduction slowing in the absence of structural heart diseases (Brugada and Brugada, 1992, 1997). In approximately 15% of Brugada patients, mutations of *SCN5A* have been identified, functional analyses of some of these mutations revealed a loss-of-function type modulation (Chen et al., 1998; Priori et al., 2000; Antzelevitch, 2001; Makiyama et al., 2005).

In 2016, Liang et al. firstly reported a BrS hiPSC model carrying R620H/R811H (a compound heterozygous mutation) and K1397fs (Liang et al., 2016). BrS hiPSC-CMs showed reductions in inward I_{Na} density and reduced V_{max} of AP compared with healthy control hiPSC-CMs. Furthermore, BrS hiPSC-CMs demonstrated an increased burden of triggered activity, abnormal Ca²⁺ transients, and peak-to-peak interval variability. Thus, the patient-specific hiPSC-CMs were able to recapitulate single-cell phenotype features of BrS.

The second study reporting a BrS hiPSC model was performed by Ma et al. (Ma et al., 2018). BrS hiPSCs were generated from patients with A226V/R1629X (a compound heterozygous mutation) and T1620M. Dynamic was employed to "electronically express" I_{K1} to restore normal resting membrane potentials and allow normal recovery of the inactivating currents: I_{Na} , I_{Ca} , and I_{to} . BrS hiPSC-CMs exhibited a loss of peak sodium current density and a loss-of-INa basal AP morphology manifested by a reduced maximum upstroke velocity and AP amplitude, as well as an increased phase-1 repolarization pro-arrhythmic AP morphology. Moreover, Ito densities of BrS and control hiPSC-CMs were similar. This study indicates that a repolarization deficit could be a mechanism underlying BrS. Selga et al. (Selga et al., 2018) studied the biophysical properties of I_{Na} in BrS

⁽D) Voltage dependence of steady-state inactivation and activation in control and N1774D-hiPSC-CMs. Curves were fit using the Boltzmann equation. The activation curve negatively shifted by 13 mV. (E) Representative traces of sodium currents in the absence (black line) and presence (gray line) of 20 μ M tetrodotoxin (TTX). The used protocol is shown in the lower panel. Inset shows late sodium current between 500 and 600 ms. Tetrodotoxin-sensitive current was calculated by subtraction. (F) Mean late sodium current of control and N1774D channels. Late sodium current is presented as the percentage of late sodium current to peak sodium current. The data pooled from different lines or clones among the control and N1774D group were analyzed. The late sodium current was significantly increased. *p < 0.001, vs. control.

SCN5A-R367H hiPSCs and demonstrated a reduction in I_{Na} density, a shift in both activation and inactivation voltage-dependence curves, and faster recovery from inactivation. Interestingly, the changes in the kinetics of I_{Na} were not observed in a conventional heterologous expression system using tsA201 cells. Their work highlighted the need for assessment of the pathophysiological mechanisms of sodium channel mutations in a cardiac- and patient-specific model.

In rare cases, variants in *SCN1B*, encoding the β subunit of sodium channels, have been reported to be implicated in BrS (Watanabe et al., 2008). El-Battrawy et al. (El-Battrawy et al., 2019) investigated the cellular phenotype of BrS with *SCN1B* variants using hiPSC-CMs. They generated hiPSCs from a patient with recurrent syncope harboring two heterozygous variants, L210P and P213T. BrS SCN1B hiPSCs showed significantly reduced peak I_{Na} and I_{NaL} level, a positive shift of the activation curve, a negative shift of the inactivation curve, and decelerated recovery from inactivation. In AP recordings, AP amplitude and V_{max} were reduced, and ajmaline (a sodium channel blocker) showed a stronger suppressive effect on I_{Na} in BrS cells as compared to cells from healthy donors. Interestingly, carbachol, a parasympathetic stimulator, increased the beating frequency and arrhythmia-like events in BrS hiPSC-CMs. Thus, hiPSCs with *SCN1B* variants successfully recapitulated some key features of BrS.

Other phenotypes of cardiac sodium channelopathies (e.g., CCD, DCM)

The SCN5A missense mutation, D1275N, has been associated with several unusual phenotypes involved in reduced sodium channel function, including DCM, SND, CCD, and atrial and ventricular tachyarrhythmias (McNair et al., 2004; Olson et al., 2005; Laitinen-Forsblom et al., 2006). The reported electrophysiological properties of SCN5A-D1275N channels vary with experimental system; studies using heterologous expression systems showed no major differences between the mutant and WT channels, whereas peak I_{Na} densities were lower in SCN5A-D1275N knock-in mice than in WT ones (Watanabe et al., 2011). To investigate the biophysiological properties of D1275N channels in human in vitro model, we generated hiPSCs from a patient with familial CCD and demonstrated that D1275N hiPSC-CMs exhibit reduced $Na_V 1.5$ protein expression and reduced the maximum sodium conductance, which was consistent with the SCN5A phenotypes associated with reduced sodium channel function observed in the patient (Hayano et al., 2017). Furthermore, treatment with a proteasome inhibitor, MG132, rescued the membrane $Na_V 1.5$ protein levels, suggesting that ubiquitin-dependent proteolysis might be the major underlying mechanism resulting in Nav1.5 loss-of-function in D1275N channels.

In fetal and infant heart, alternatively spliced Na_V1.5 which contains exon 6a is dominantly expressed instead of the adult Nav1.5 isoform with exon 6 (Murphy et al. 2012). Veerman et al. (Veerman et al., 2017) generated hiPSCs from one heterozygous and one homozygous SCN5A-I230T (located in exon 6) individual, both from a family with recessive CCD. In patient-derived hiPSC-CMs after short-term culture (20 days), the alternatively spliced exon 6a was dominant instead of the exon 6. Heterozygous I230T hiPSC-CMs displayed no reduction in sodium current. Following prolonged culture for 66 days in I230T hiPSC-CMs, the fraction of the adult *SCN5A* isoform increased while I_{Na} was decreased, especially the changes were marked in homozygous cells. The results suggest that the electrophysiological immaturity associated with low-level expression of the adult sodium channel isoform should be taken into account in modeling *SCN5A* variants in exon 6.

DCM is a structural heart disease that causes dilatation of cardiac chambers and impairs cardiac contractility. SCN5A mutations have been identified in patients with arrhythmic disorders associated with DCM (Hershberger and Siegfried, 2011). Moreau et al., (Moreau et al., 2018) studied the hiPSC-CMs generated from a patient with complex cardiac arrhythmias and DCM carrying SCN5A-R219H located in the voltage sensor domain. The biophysical properties of I_{Na} recorded from R219H CMs were not altered by the presence of the Nav1.5 R219H mutation. Interestingly, R219H hiPSC-CMs exhibited a gating pore current at hyperpolarized potentials which was absent in WT hiPSC-CMs, this was consistent with the previously reported results regarding heterologous expression systems (Gosselin-Badaroudine et al., 2012). In AP recordings, APD was prolonged, resting membrane potential was depolarized in R219H hiPSC-CMs, and in intracellular pH recordings, R219H cells were more acidic than WT cells. In addition, R219H cells showed poorly organized sarcomere striation and impaired contractility by atomic force microscopy. In this study, they described electrical, structural, and contractile disturbances which could explain the cardiac arrhythmias associated with DCM.

Summary and future perspectives

Cardiac sodium channelopathy presents with a variety of phenotypes ranging from arrhythmias to cardiomyopathy, with overlapping syndromes. Electrophysiological findings have also been reported for a variety of mechanisms, including gain, loss, and mixed function modulation by electrophysiological changes in I_{Na}, I_{NaL}, and channel availability, trafficking defect, ubiquitination abnormality, etc. Indeed, the detailed mechanisms of disease causative mechanisms, including why they present with such a variety of clinical phenotypes, are not well understood, future analysis in a more patient-like model of hiPSC-CMs is highly necessary. The iPSC model has the advantage of being an in vitro human-derived CMs, but attention must be paid to the limitations; purity, immaturity, interclonal variation, as well as mixed types of differentiated CMs. These challenges have been gradually addressed with improved methods of cardiac differentiation and maturation (Parikh et al., 2017; Ronaldson-Bouchard et al., 2018), as well as methods of differentiation into specific types of CMs such as atrial cells and sino-atrial cells (Devalla et al., 2015; Lee et al., 2017; Protze et al., 2017). As more mature and specific types of CM differentiation

methods are characterized, more accurate recapitulations of cardiac sodium channelopathies in hiPSC-CMs will be possible, accelerating their application as models in pathophysiological analysis and drug discovery.

References

- Antzelevitch, C., 2001. The Brugada syndrome: ionic basis and arrhythmia mechanisms. J. Cardiovasc. Electrophysiol. 12, 268–272. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1540-8167.2001.00268.x.
- Balser, J.R., 1999. Structure and function of the cardiac sodium channels. Cardiovasc. Res. 42, 327–338. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0008-6363(99)00031-0.
- Bennett, P.B., Yazawa, K., Makita, N., George Jr., A.L., 1995. Molecular mechanism for an inherited cardiac arrhythmia. Nature 376, 683–685. https://doi.org/10.1038/376683a0.
- Benson, D.W., et al., 2003. Congenital sick sinus syndrome caused by recessive mutations in the cardiac sodium channel gene (SCN5A). J. Clin. Invest. 112, 1019–1028. https:// doi.org/10.1172/JCI18062.
- Bezzina, C., et al., 1999. A single Na(+) channel mutation causing both long-QT and Brugada syndromes. Circ. Res. 85, 1206–1213. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.res.85.12.1206.
- Bezzina, C.R., et al., 2003. Compound heterozygosity for mutations (W156X and R225W) in SCN5A associated with severe cardiac conduction disturbances and degenerative changes in the conduction system. Circ. Res. 92, 159–168. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.res.0000052672.97759.36.
- Brugada, P., Brugada, J., 1992. Right bundle branch block, persistent ST segment elevation and sudden cardiac death: a distinct clinical and electrocardiographic syndrome. A multicenter report. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 20, 1391–1396. https://doi.org/10.1016/0735-1097(92)90253-j.
- Brugada, J., Brugada, P., 1997. Further characterization of the syndrome of right bundle branch block, ST segment elevation, and sudden cardiac death. J. Cardiovasc. Electrophysiol. 8, 325–331. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-8167.1997.tb00796.x.
- Chen, Q., et al., 1998. Genetic basis and molecular mechanism for idiopathic ventricular fibrillation. Nature 392, 293–296. https://doi.org/10.1038/32675.
- Darbar, D., 2008. Cardiac sodium channel variants: action players with many faces. Heart Rhythm 5, 1441–1443. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hrthm.2008.08.008.
- Davis, R.P., et al., 2012. Cardiomyocytes derived from pluripotent stem cells recapitulate electrophysiological characteristics of an overlap syndrome of cardiac sodium channel disease. Circulation 125, 3079–3091. https://doi.org/10.1161/ CIRCULATIONAHA.111.066092.
- Devalla, H.D., et al., 2015. Atrial-like cardiomyocytes from human pluripotent stem cells are a robust preclinical model for assessing atrial-selective pharmacology. EMBO Mol. Med. 7, 394–410. https://doi.org/10.15252/emmm.201404757.
- El-Battrawy, I., et al., 2019. Studying Brugada syndrome with an SCN1B variants in humaninduced pluripotent stem cell-derived cardiomyocytes. Front. Cell Dev. Biol. 7, 261. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcell.2019.00261.
- Ellinor, P.T., et al., 2008. Cardiac sodium channel mutation in atrial fibrillation. Heart Rhythm 5, 99–105. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hrthm.2007.09.015.

- Fatima, A., et al., 2013. The disease-specific phenotype in cardiomyocytes derived from induced pluripotent stem cells of two long QT syndrome type 3 patients. PLoS One 8, e83005. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0083005.
- Frigo, G., et al., 2007. Homozygous SCN5A mutation in Brugada syndrome with monomorphic ventricular tachycardia and structural heart abnormalities. Europace 9, 391–397. https://doi.org/10.1093/europace/eum053.
- Gosselin-Badaroudine, P., et al., 2012. A proton leak current through the cardiac sodium channel is linked to mixed arrhythmia and the dilated cardiomyopathy phenotype. PLoS One 7, e38331. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0038331.
- Hayano, M., et al., 2017. Development of a patient-derived induced pluripotent stem cell model for the investigation of SCN5A-d1275N-related cardiac sodium channelopathy. Circ. J. 81, 1783–1791. https://doi.org/10.1253/circj.CJ-17-0064.
- Hershberger, R.E., Siegfried, J.D., 2011. Update 2011: clinical and genetic issues in familial dilated cardiomyopathy. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 57, 1641–1649. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.jacc.2011.01.015.
- Hirose S., Makiyama T., Melgari D., Yamamoto Y., Wuriyanghai Y., Yokoi F., et al., Propranolol Attenuates Late Sodium Current in a Long QT Syndrome Type 3-Human Induced Pluripotent Stem Cell Model. Front Cell Dev Biol. 2020 Aug 13;8:761. https://doi.org/ 10.3389/fcell.2020.00761. eCollection 2020.PMID: 32903469
- Itzhaki, I., et al., 2011. Modelling the long QT syndrome with induced pluripotent stem cells. Nature 471, 225–229. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature09747.
- Itzhaki, I., et al., 2012. Modeling of catecholaminergic polymorphic ventricular tachycardia with patient-specific human-induced pluripotent stem cells. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 60, 990–1000. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacc.2012.02.066.
- Laitinen-Forsblom, P.J., et al., 2006. SCN5A mutation associated with cardiac conduction defect and atrial arrhythmias. J. Cardiovasc. Electrophysiol. 17, 480–485. https:// doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-8167.2006.00411.x.
- Lee, J.H., Protze, S.I., Laksman, Z., Backx, P.H., Keller, G.M., 2017. Human pluripotent stem cell-derived atrial and ventricular cardiomyocytes develop from distinct mesoderm populations. Cell Stem Cell 21, 179–194 e174. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.stem.2017.07.003.
- Liang, P., et al., 2016. Patient-specific and genome-edited induced pluripotent stem cellderived cardiomyocytes elucidate single-cell phenotype of Brugada syndrome. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 68, 2086–2096. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacc.2016.07.779.
- Ma, D., et al., 2013. Modeling type 3 long QT syndrome with cardiomyocytes derived from patient-specific induced pluripotent stem cells. Int. J. Cardiol. 168, 5277–5286. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.ijcard.2013.08.015.
- Ma, D., et al., 2018. Identification of an INa-dependent and Ito-mediated proarrhythmic mechanism in cardiomyocytes derived from pluripotent stem cells of a Brugada syndrome patient. Sci. Rep. 8, 11246. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-29574-5.
- Makiyama, T., et al., 2005. High risk for bradyarrhythmic complications in patients with Brugada syndrome caused by SCN5A gene mutations. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 46, 2100–2106. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacc.2005.08.043.
- Makiyama, T., et al., 2008. A novel SCN5A gain-of-function mutation M1875T associated with familial atrial fibrillation. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 52, 1326–1334. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.jacc.2008.07.013.

- Malan, D., et al., 2016. Human iPS cell model of type 3 long QT syndrome recapitulates drugbased phenotype correction. Basic Res. Cardiol. 111, 14. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00395-016-0530-0.
- McNair, W.P., et al., 2004. SCN5A mutation associated with dilated cardiomyopathy, conduction disorder, and arrhythmia. Circulation 110, 2163–2167. https://doi.org/10.1161/ 01.CIR.0000144458.58660.BB.
- Mizusawa, Y., Horie, M., Wilde, A.A., 2014. Genetic and clinical advances in congenital long QT syndrome. Circ. J. 78, 2827–2833. https://doi.org/10.1253/circj.cj-14-0905.
- Moreau, A., et al., 2018. A leaky voltage sensor domain of cardiac sodium channels causes arrhythmias associated with dilated cardiomyopathy. Sci. Rep. 8, 13804. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/s41598-018-31772-0.
- Moretti, A., et al., 2010. Patient-specific induced pluripotent stem-cell models for long-QT syndrome. N. Engl. J. Med. 363, 1397–1409. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa0908679.
- Moss, A.J., et al., 2007. Clinical aspects of type-1 long-QT syndrome by location, coding type, and biophysical function of mutations involving the KCNQ1 gene. Circulation 115, 2481–2489. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.106.665406.
- Murphy, L.L., et al., 2012. Developmentally regulated SCN5A splice variant potentiates dysfunction of a novel mutation associated with severe fetal arrhythmia. Heart Rhythm 9, 590–597. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hrthm.2011.11.006.
- Olson, T.M., et al., 2005. Sodium channel mutations and susceptibility to heart failure and atrial fibrillation. J. Am. Med. Assoc. 293, 447–454. https://doi.org/10.1001/ jama.293.4.447.
- Parikh, S.S., et al., 2017. Thyroid and glucocorticoid hormones promote functional T-tubule development in human-induced pluripotent stem cell-derived cardiomyocytes. Circ. Res. 121, 1323–1330. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.117.311920.
- Portero, V., et al., 2017. Anti-arrhythmic potential of the late sodium current inhibitor GS-458967 in murine Scn5a-1798insD+/- and human SCN5A-1795insD+/- iPSC-derived cardiomyocytes. Cardiovasc. Res. 113, 829–838. https://doi.org/10.1093/cvr/cvx077.
- Priori, S.G., et al., 2000. Clinical and genetic heterogeneity of right bundle branch block and ST-segment elevation syndrome: a prospective evaluation of 52 families. Circulation 102, 2509–2515. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.cir.102.20.2509.
- Protze, S.I., et al., 2017. Sinoatrial node cardiomyocytes derived from human pluripotent cells function as a biological pacemaker. Nat. Biotechnol. 35, 56–68. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nbt.3745.
- Remme, C.A., et al., 2006. Overlap syndrome of cardiac sodium channel disease in mice carrying the equivalent mutation of human SCN5A-1795insD. Circulation 114, 2584–2594. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.106.653949.
- Remme, C.A., et al., 2009. Genetically determined differences in sodium current characteristics modulate conduction disease severity in mice with cardiac sodium channelopathy. Circ. Res. 104, 1283–1292. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.109.194423.
- Ronaldson-Bouchard, K., et al., 2018. Advanced maturation of human cardiac tissue grown from pluripotent stem cells. Nature 556, 239–243. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-018-0016-3.
- Schott, J.J., et al., 1999. Cardiac conduction defects associate with mutations in SCN5A. Nat. Genet. 23, 20–21. https://doi.org/10.1038/12618.
- Schwartz, P.J., Crotti, L., Insolia, R., 2012. Long-QT syndrome: from genetics to management. Circ. Arrhythm Electrophysiol. 5, 868–877. https://doi.org/10.1161/ CIRCEP.111.962019.

- Selga, E., et al., 2018. Sodium channel current loss of function in induced pluripotent stem cell-derived cardiomyocytes from a Brugada syndrome patient. J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol. 114, 10–19. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yjmcc.2017.10.002.
- Shimizu, W., et al., 2009. Genotype-phenotype aspects of type 2 long QT syndrome. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 54, 2052–2062. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacc.2009.08.028.
- Spencer, C.I., et al., 2014. Calcium transients closely reflect prolonged action potentials in iPSC models of inherited cardiac arrhythmia. Stem Cell Rep. 3, 269–281. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.stemcr.2014.06.003.
- Takahashi, K., et al., 2007. Induction of pluripotent stem cells from adult human fibroblasts by defined factors. Cell 131, 861–872. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2007.11.019.
- Takahashi, K., Yamanaka, S., 2006. Induction of pluripotent stem cells from mouse embryonic and adult fibroblast cultures by defined factors. Cell 126, 663–676. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.cell.2006.07.024.
- Terrenoire, C., et al., 2013. Induced pluripotent stem cells used to reveal drug actions in a long QT syndrome family with complex genetics. J. Gen. Physiol. 141, 61–72. https://doi.org/ 10.1085/jgp.201210899.
- van den Berg, M.P., et al., 2001. Possible bradycardic mode of death and successful pacemaker treatment in a large family with features of long QT syndrome type 3 and Brugada syndrome. J. Cardiovasc. Electrophysiol. 12, 630–636. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1540-8167.2001.00630.x.
- Veerman, C.C., et al., 2017. Switch from fetal to adult SCN5A isoform in human induced pluripotent stem cell-derived cardiomyocytes unmasks the cellular phenotype of a conduction disease-causing mutation. J. Am. Heart Assoc. 6, e005135. https://doi.org/ 10.1161/JAHA.116.005135.
- Watanabe, H., et al., 2008. Sodium channel beta1 subunit mutations associated with Brugada syndrome and cardiac conduction disease in humans. J. Clin. Invest. 118, 2260–2268. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI33891.
- Watanabe, H., et al., 2011. Striking in vivo phenotype of a disease-associated human SCN5A mutation producing minimal changes in vitro. Circulation 124, 1001–1011. https:// doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.110.987248.
- Yazawa, M., et al., 2011. Using induced pluripotent stem cells to investigate cardiac phenotypes in Timothy syndrome. Nature 471, 230–234. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature09855.
- Yoshinaga, D., et al., 2019. Phenotype-based high-throughput classification of long QT syndrome subtypes using human induced pluripotent stem cells. Stem Cell Rep. 13, 394–404. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stemcr.2019.06.007.
This page intentionally left blank

CHAPTER

iPSCs for modeling Danon disease



N.G. Kwong-Man, T.S.E. Yiu-Lam, R.A.N. Xinru, T.S.E. Hung-Fat

Cardiology Division, Department of Medicine, LKS Faculty of Medicine and Queen Mary Hospital, The University of Hong Kong, Hong Kong, China

Chapter outline

Introduction	194
The application of iPSC-based modeling of Danon disease	195
Limitations of current animal models of Danon disease	195
A brief introduction of iPSCs	195
The advantages of an iPSC-based model	196
The procedures for producing iPSCs	196
Differentiation of established iPSC lines to cardiomyocytes	197
Application of iPSC-cardiomyocytes to evaluate autophagic dysfunction	199
The application of an iPSC-based model for drug testing	203
Future perspectives	203
Acknowledgment	204
References	204

Abstract

Danon disease is a dominant X-linked disorder caused by a mutation of the LAMP2 gene that is located on the X-chromosome and encodes the lysosome-associated membrane protein-2 (LAMP2). LAMP2 plays important roles in mediating autophagy. Deficiency in LAMP2 leads to the accumulation of autophagic waste in affected cells. Clinically, affected male patients have early onset of symptoms during their teenage years and present with proximal myopathy, hypertrophic cardiomyopathy, retinopathy, and varying degrees of mental retardation. Almost all patients develop progressive cardiomyopathy and fatal ventricular arrhythmia and are unlikely to survive beyond 30 years of age without cardiac transplantation. Female patients with Danon disease usually have later onset of the disease due to random inactivation of the X-chromosome in somatic cells and thus only a proportion of the somatic cells, including cardiomyocytes, will manifest the phenotypes of Danon disease. Nonetheless the majority of affected female patients will develop progressive cardiomyopathy, fatal arrhythmia, and death. Unfortunately, due to the lack of a human cardiomyocyte-based model of Danon disease, there is no clear understanding of its pathophysiology and thus no effective therapy.

Adult somatic cells can be reprogrammed into induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs) by transient overexpression of four specific factors. These iPSC-lines can be further differentiated into various cell types, including cardiomyocytes, and so provide a new and important source of human cardiomyocytes for disease modeling and drug development.

In this chapter, we will summarize the latest development in the application of iPSC-based technologies for modeling Danon disease. It should be noted that like other X-linked diseases, the somatic cells of a female heterozygous carrier contain a population of cells with a mosaic pattern of X-chromosome inactivation. Making use of this property, we will be able to produce an isogenic iPSC-line for better modeling of disease phenotype. The technical aspects of this method will also be described in this chapter.

Keywords: Autophagy dysfunction; Calcium handling dysfunction; Danon disease; Dilated and hypertrophic cardiomyopathies; Glycogen accumulation; Intracellular vacuole; Isogenic iPSCs; LAMP2; LAMP2protein deficiency; LC3function; Lysosomal membrane instability; Random X-chromosome inactivation; Reactivation of the silenced X-chromosome; Transgenic mouse model; X-linked inheritance.

Introduction

Danon disease is a dominant X-linked disorder caused by a primary deficiency of the lysosome-associated membrane protein-2 (LAMP2) due to loss-of-function *LAMP2* mutations(Danon et al., 1981; Nishino et al., 2000). LAMP2 mediates the transport of materials across the lysosomal membrane and autophagy (Saftig et al., 2008; Ruivo et al., 2009). Although the exact pathophysiological mechanisms of Danon disease may vary with different *LAMP2* mutations, studies from our group and others have shown that autophagic failure and associated lysosomal instability are two important pathways that contribute to the cell injury or death associated with LAMP2 deficiency (Nishino et al., 2000; Ng et al., 2016; Law et al., 2016; Tanaka et al., 2000).

Clinically, Danon disease is characterized by proximal muscle weakness, severe cardiomyopathy, and varying degrees of mental retardation (Danon et al., 1981). Although Danon disease appears to be a rare condition, it is widely reported around the world (Cheng and Fang, 2012), including Hong Kong and China (Cheng et al., 2012; Tse et al., 1996) and associated with high morbidity and early mortality (Boucek et al., 2011). In male patients, cardiac symptoms such as hypertrophic cardiomyopathy typically appear during the teenage years (Cheng and Fang, 2012; Boucek et al., 2011). They rapidly progress to end-stage cardiac failure and fatal ventricular arrhythmias. *Affected individuals seldom survive beyond 30 years of age without cardiac transplantation* (Maron et al., 2009).

Owing to the random X-chromosome inactivation, heterozygous female patients usually experience later disease onset (Boucek et al., 2011). Nonetheless progressive dilated cardiomyopathy and fatal arrhythmias will eventually develop at around age 50 years.

The application of iPSC-based modeling of Danon disease Limitations of current animal models of Danon disease

Animal and cell-based models are important for revealing disease mechanisms and drug discovery. In 2000, Tanaka et al. described the first animal model for studying Danon disease (Tanaka et al., 2000). They created a transgenic mouse deficient in LAMP2 protein to mimic the genetic condition of Danon disease. Using this model, they provided evidence that the cardiac hypertrophy and the accumulation of autophagic vacuoles were directly associated with a lack of LAMP2 protein. Nonetheless although transgenic mice are widely used for disease modeling, some diseases may not develop in the same way in a mouse as they do in humans because of the large physiologic and genetic differences. As confirmed by Ueda et al., animal models of conditions such as paroxysmal nocturnal hemoglobinuria have not been able to completely replicate the disease phenotype of humans (Ueda et al., 2016). The difference between mice and humans also means a particular drug that works in mice may be ineffective in humans. In addition, many genetic disorders such as Danon disease may be caused by a multitude of mutations. Although some treatments may work for patients with specific mutations, they may not work for other patients with different mutations. To test a specific treatment for an individual patient, a unique model would need to be created for each patient. This would be highly labor and capital intensive, and impractical for most laboratories. Finally, specifically for many heart diseases, it is more difficult to study arrhythmia in mouse models. This is because the heart rate of a mouse, around 580 bpm as measured by Uechi et al. (1998), is much faster than the normal 60–100 bpm of humans. This makes it difficult to observe and isolate abnormalities on a mouse ECG.

A brief introduction of iPSCs

Induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSC) are a type of pluripotent stem cell that can be reprogrammed directly from a terminally differentiated somatic cell. The technology was first introduced in 2006 by Shinya Yamanaka's lab in Japan, and the first human iPSCs were produced by overexpressing the four factors: Oct4, Sox2, Klf4, and cMyc, and these factors were referred to as the Yamanaka factors. Pluripotent stem cells are used mostly for research in regenerative medicine since they possess the ability to propagate indefinitely and are able to differentiate into every cell type in the body (neurons, hepatocytes, cardiomyocytes, etc.).

Prior to the introduction of iPSCs, embryonic stem cells (ESCs), another type of pluripotent stem cell derived from embryos, were used for research in regenerative medicine. There were many limitations to their use as preimplantation stage embryos were required for their production. As a result, there was much controversy as well as ethical issues surrounding the production and use of ESCs. In addition, it was neither feasible nor practical to create patient-specific ESC lines, as they could only be differentiated from embryos.

The introduction of iPSCs eliminated these ethical issues since embryos were no longer required to create pluripotent stem cells for research. The creation of patientspecific cell lines was made possible, as they could be derived directly from the patient's own cells. This made it possible to test and create treatments specific to the patient.

The advantages of an iPSC-based model

Although iPSC-based disease models are unable to simulate multiorgan disease progression in the body, they have many advantages over mouse models. First, as mentioned above, it is easier to create a patient-specific model. By correcting the mutation in the patient's cell line and using the corrected cell line as a control for experiments, irregularities and inconsistencies observed in the results caused by individual genetic variations can be eliminated, producing more accurate results and conclusions. Second, it is much cheaper to create and maintain iPSC models than mouse models. To create a mouse model, materials for gene editing and many mice embryos are needed, whereas only Sendai virus and patient cells are needed to create an iPSC model. The cost of maintaining mice (food, housing, breeding, etc.) is also higher than that of the Sendai virus (USD \sim 3500 for seven to eight cell lines) and of maintaining the cell lines (cell culture medium, plasticware, etc.). Third, it is easier to test drugs in iPSC models. The drug to be tested can be dissolved in an appropriate solvent (water, PBS, DMSO) and added to the cells. In contrast, in a mouse model, a variety of methods may be required that may range from simply feeding the drug to the animal to injecting the drug capsulated in a vehicle into the target region of interest. Finally, as mentioned above, the many differences between mice and humans, both genetic and physiological, may cause drugs to react differently. The working concentration, effectiveness, and efficacy of drugs can be tested more accurately if a human patient cell-based iPSC model is used.

The procedures for producing iPSCs

Most iPSC lines in current use are produced by introducing the four Yamanaka factors into donor cells using Sendai virus as the vector. Common donor cell types include fibroblasts, renal epithelial cells, and peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) such as lymphocytes and monocytes. Obtaining donor fibroblasts involves a painful skin biopsy, so most iPSCs produced in recent years have been generated from renal epithelial cells or PBMCs. The procedures for producing iPSCs are shown and illustrated in Fig. 8.1.

It should be noted that as soon as a sufficient number of cells is available, genotyping of every picked colony should be carried out to check if the desired mutation is present in the iPSCs of that colony. This is especially important for X-linked diseases such as Danon disease. If the patient is a male, the cell lines will usually contain the mutation since males have only one X-chromosome. Nonetheless if



FIGURE 8.1

The generation of iPSC-colonies from PBMCs. At Day 0: PBMCs are isolated from the patient's blood sample and cultured on a 15 cm round dish. At Day 3: Sendai virus is added to the cells and seeded on matrigel and feeder cells (MEFs) in PBMC medium. At Day 8: Colonies start to form from transduced cells and medium used is changed to iPSC medium. At Day 28 (a): Large cell colonies are formed. These colonies will then be passaged, expanded and maintained.

the patient is a heterozygous female, the generation of iPSCs with specific active allele may be less predictable due to the mosaic pattern of X-chromosome inactivation. Based on our observation that the X-chromosome inactivation status remains unchanged during reprogramming, one should consider separating cells (skin fibroblasts or PBMCs) with different X-chromosome inactivation status before proceeding to reprogramming. This can be achieved by diluting the cells into single cells and then checking the expression of wild-type or mutant LAMP2 by immunostaining or mRNA-based methods (Fig. 8.2). Using this approach, we were able to create an isogenic pair of iPSCs that were genetically identical but differed only in the expression of the specific *LAMP2* allele and use it to model Danon disease (Ng et al., 2016).

Differentiation of established iPSC lines to cardiomyocytes

For our studies of Danon disease, we are interested in producing iPSC-derived cardiomyocytes for drug testing. There are many ways to do this, with most of them involving regulation of the WNT signaling pathways. One protocol similar to that developed by Lian et al. (2013) is briefly described below:

- 1. iPSCs are initially cultured on plates coated with matrigel in iPSC medium until they reach 80% confluence
- **2.** iPSC medium is removed and RPMI/B27 medium without insulin and containing a Gsk3 inhibitor (e.g., CHIR99021) is added and cells cultured for 24 h
- **3.** The Canonical Wnt pathway is then inhibited by adding Wnt signaling inhibitors such as IWP2 and IWP4
- **4.** Functional contracting cardiomyocytes are then developed when cultured in RPMI/B27 medium



The generation of isogenic iPSCs with different X-chromosome inactivation status.

Although other similar protocols exist, commercial differentiation kits have been developed recently and made cardiac differentiation much easier with less time required to prepare the medium.

Immunostaining of cardiac markers such as cardiac Troponin-T (cTnT) could be used to verify that the cells have differentiated into cardiomyocytes (Fig. 8.3).



Immunostaining of the iPSCs-derived cardiomyocytes. Scale bar: 50 µm.

Application of iPSC-cardiomyocytes to evaluate autophagic dysfunction

Although Danon disease is a severe disorder, it is also very rare. Fewer than five studies have been published on the application of patient-specific iPSCs to model the cardiac dysfunction associated with *LAMP2* mutations (See Table 8.1).

In 2015, Hashem et al. provided the first report on the generation of iPSC-lines from Danon disease patients (Hashem et al., 2015). In their study, iPSC lines were generated from two patients with different LAMP2 mutations (129-130 insAT and IVS-1 c.64 + 1 G > A). Although the two mutations were located at different regions (the former in exon 2 and the later in intron 1), both abolished the production of LAMP2 protein. Both iPSC lines were differentiated into cardiomyocytes and used for functional evaluation. Compared with the wild type, the cardiomyocytes with LAMP2 mutations exhibited various pathological hallmarks of Danon disease, such as increased cell size, accumulation of vacuoles, and autophagy impairment. More interestingly, the authors also demonstrated the mitochondrial dysfunctions in the iPSC-derived cardiomyocytes with LAMP2 mutations, which likely contributes to the increased oxidative stress and apoptosis. Nonetheless it should be noted that since physiological parameters may vary among individuals, some differences observed between the wild type and the LAMP2-deficient cardiomyocytes may have been due to the different genetic backgrounds of the samples. This is especially important when one looks at parameters such as internal calcium transient, where the observed difference was less than 10%.

Addressing this issue, our laboratory has used the isogenic iPSC-lines generated from a heterozygous Danon disease female as a unique platform to model the cardiomyopathy associated with Danon disease. In brief, due to the mosaic pattern of X-chromosome inactivation in somatic cells, skin fibroblasts obtained from our heterozygous female Danon disease patient consisted of two populations of cells that expressed the genes from two X-chromosomes. Although the two populations of cells are genetically identical, the one with the wild-type *LAMP2* allele on the active

Target phenotype	Mutation	Reference	Year
Cardiomyocytes apoptosis, Increased cell size, Impaired calcium transient	Exon 2129–130 insAT, IVS-1 c.64 + 1 G > A	PMID: 25826782	2015
Isogenic iPSCs	c.520C > T	PMID: 27678261	2016
Mitochondrial dysfunction	Exon 2129–130 insAT, IVS-1 c.64 + 1 G > a	PMID: 28526246	2017
Impaired autophagy, no cardiac functions provided	IVS6+1_4delGTGA	PMID: 29175505	2018

Table 8.1 iPSCs-based Danon disease models.

X-chromosome will produce LAMP2 protein while the one with mutant *LAMP2* allele will be deficient in LAMP2 protein. By reprogramming these cells individually, we were able to obtain a pair of isogenic iPSC lines that differed only in the production of LAMP2. Since the iPSCs lines are genetically identical, this allows us to evaluate the functional differences in the absence of any other factors that may arise with different genetic backgrounds.

Using this isogenic iPSC-based platform and some other LAMP2-deficient lines derived from the same family, we were able to show that the cardiomyocytes derived from the LAMP2-deficient iPSCs recapitulated the physiological hallmarks of Danon disease. For example, using electron microscopy, we were able to observe the abnormal accumulation of glycogen and autophagic vacuoles inside the LAMP2-deficient cardiomyocytes (Fig. 8.4).

Probably due to the accumulation of this autophagic waste, the LAMP2-deficient cardiomyocytes were significantly larger in size and more likely to have disorganized myofibrils (Fig. 8.5). Functionally, although we observed no significant difference in the action potential profile, the LAMP2-deficient cardiomyocytes exhibited significantly impaired calcium handling ability, notably the reuptake of calcium, in accordance with the observation reported by another research group (Hashem et al., 2015). Using special-line scan analysis, the delayed calcium reuptake is probably due to the accumulation of autophagic vacuole that physically hinders the local transfer of calcium (Ng et al., 2016) (Fig. 8.6).

One of the key questions about Danon disease is how does a deficiency of LAMP2 protein cause autophagic dysfunction. It is now clear that the three isoforms of LAMP2 protein may participate in different processes associated with autophagy, although it should be noted that in most patients, the *LAMP2* mutation occurs in exons one to eight, which leads to the disruption of all forms of LAMP2 isoform. As such, it is not surprising that most LAMP2 mutations cause severe autophagy



FIGURE 8.4

Electron microscopy analysis of the iPSCs-derived cardiomyocytes. *A*, Autophagosome; *G*, glycogen granules; *S*, sarcomere; *V*, vacuoles.

LAMP2-LAMP2wildtype mutant n=200 n=150 20,000-17% •:. 31% Cell size (µM²) 15,000 ٩. ; 10,000 size>5000 µM² size<5000 µM² 5,000 LAMP2-LAMP2wildtype mutant В LAMP2-wildtype cTnT SAC Merged mutant LAMP2-



Α

Morphological features of LAMP2-deficient iPSCs-derived cardiomyocytes. (A) Size distribution of the iPSC-derived cardiomyocytes expressing wildtype- or mutant- *LAMP2* alleles. (B) Immunostaining analysis. cTnt: cardiac troponin T, sAcT: sarcomeric α -actinin. Scale bar: 50 μ M.

dysfunction. In the iPSC-based system, Western blot analysis is one of the most frequent methods used to access autophagic dysfunction and evaluate the LC3-II/LC3-I ratio. Theoretically, the formation of autophagosomes involves cleavage of LC3-I to LC3-II, where LC3-II is the membrane component of the autophagosome (Glick et al., 2010). As such, the accumulation of autophagosome is reflected by the decrease in LC3-I level and increase in level of LC3-II. Nonetheless since autophagy is a very dynamic process, the increase in LC3-II may also be due to activation of autophagy rather than failure in the clearance of autophagosome. Therefore, to evaluate autophagic flux, it may be necessary to examine the effects of autophagy



(A) recordings of intracellular calcium transient. (B) Linescan analysis of the calcium transients across the cells.

activation and blockade of autophagosome clearance. To achieve this, cells can be treated with rapamycin and bafilomycin before determining LC3-II levels. Using this approach, we have demonstrated that even in the absence of bafilomycin, LC3-II accumulated in the LAMP2-deficient cardiomyocytes in the presence of rapamycin, indicating that the LAMP2-deficient cardiomyocytes failed to clear the autophagosome. This was supported by the observation that P62 (autophagosome cargo protein) accumulated in the LAMP2-deficient cells in the absence of bafilomycin (Ng et al., 2016).

Although the role of LAMP2 in mediating autophagy is well documented, its involvement in the degradation of autophagosomes remains unclear. We hope that in the near future, the iPSC-based model may facilitate exploration of the mechanism involved.

The application of an iPSC-based model for drug testing

In addition to disease modeling, cardiomyocytes derived from LAMP2-deficient iPSCs also provide a platform for drug testing and development of personalized medicine. For example, using the iPSC-based model of Danon disease, Hashem et al. demonstrated the involvement of increased oxidative stress in cardiomyocytes derived from Danon disease-specific iPSCs. Based on this observation, they tested the effects of antioxidants in reducing the cardiac dysfunction associated with Danon disease. They reported that NAC, a clinically approved agent, can be used to prevent the apoptosis of LAMP2-deficient cardiomyocytes (Hashem et al., 2015). In addition, using the isogenic iPSC pairs generated from a heterozygous female Danon disease patient, our group demonstrated that reactivation of the silenced wild-type LAMP2 allele by global demethylating treatment may restore LAMP2 protein production and attenuate the cardiac dysfunction (Ng et al., 2016). It is possible that cardiomyocytes derived from this patient may also help in the evaluation of therapeutic and side effects of particular drugs prior to their use in patients. Nonetheless it should be noted that cardiomyocytes derived in vitro are usually less mature than adult cardiomyocytes so their use when testing antiarrhythmic agents should be cautious since they may not reflect the actual condition.

Future perspectives

Danon disease is a fatal disorder with no cure. As cardiac manifestations are the major cause of death, treatment strategies principally aim to attenuate the cardiac dysfunction. This mainly involves the use of antiarrhythmic drugs as well as the insertion of artificial pacemakers. As the disease progresses, cardiac transplantation is the only and final means of expanding the life of an affected individual. Currently, AAV-based gene therapy to restore LAMP2B expression (RP-A501) is undergoing PHASE 1 clinical trials, ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT03882437. From the perspective of an iPSC-based model, and with the development of the CAS9/CRISPR-based gene editing technique, any mutations can be corrected in vitro. Such an approach may enable correction of the pathogenic LAMP2 mutations in iPSCs generated from the Danon disease patient. These gene-corrected iPSCs could then be differentiated into a desired cell type for autologous transplantation. These represent important tools in regenerative medicine for treating Danon disease as well as other genetic disorders.

Acknowledgment

We thank the Hong Kong research grant council (project numbers: 17106917 and 17111320) for supporting our work.

References

- Boucek, D., Jirikowic, J., Taylor, M., 2011. Natural history of Danon disease. Genet. Med. 13, 563–568.
- Cheng, Z., Fang, Q., 2012. Danon disease: focusing on heart. J. Hum. Genet. 57, 407-410.
- Cheng, Z., Cui, Q., Tian, Z., Xie, H., Chen, L., Fang, L., Zhu, K., Fang, Q., 2012. Danon disease as a cause of concentric left ventricular hypertrophy in patients who underwent endomyocardial biopsy. Eur. Heart J. 33, 649–656.
- Danon, M.J., Oh, S.J., DiMauro, S., Manaligod, J.R., Eastwood, A., Naidu, S., Schliselfeld, L.H., 1981. Lysosomal glycogen storage disease with normal acid maltase. Neurology 31, 51–57.
- Glick, D., Barth, S., Macleod, K.F., 2010. Autophagy: cellular and molecular mechanisms. J. Pathol. 221, 3–12.
- Hashem, S.I., Perry, C.N., Bauer, M., Han, S., Clegg, S.D., Ouyang, K., Deacon, D.C., Spinharney, M., Panopoulos, A.D., Izpisua Belmonte, J.C., Frazer, K.A., Chen, J., Gong, Q., Zhou, Z., Chi, N.C., Adler, E.D., 2015. Brief report: oxidative stress mediates cardiomyocyte apoptosis in a human model of Danon disease and heart failure. Stem Cell. 33, 2343–2350.
- Law, C.Y., Siu, C.W., Fan, K., Lai, W.H., Au, K.W., Lau, Y.M., Wong, L.Y., Ho, J.C.Y., Lee, Y.K., Tse, H.F., Ng, K.M., 2016. Lysosomal membrane permeabilization is involved in oxidative stress-induced apoptotic cell death in LAMP2-deficient iPSCs-derived cerebral cortical neurons. Biochem. Biophys. Rep. 5, 335–345.
- Lian, X., Zhang, J., Azarin, S.M., Zhu, K., Hazeltine, L.B., Bao, X., Hsiao, C., Kamp, T.J., Palecek, S.P., 2013. Directed cardiomyocyte differentiation from human pluripotent stem cells by modulating wnt/beta-catenin signaling under fully defined conditions. Nat. Protoc. 8, 162–175.
- Maron, B.J., Roberts, W.C., Arad, M., Haas, T.S., Spirito, P., Wright, G.B., Almquist, A.K., Baffa, J.M., Saul, J.P., Ho, C.Y., Seidman, J., Seidman, C.E., 2009. Clinical outcome and phenotypic expression in LAMP2 cardiomyopathy. J. Am. Med. Assoc. 301, 1253–1259.

- Ng, K.M., Mok, P.Y., Butler, A.W., Ho, J.C., Choi, S.W., Lee, Y.K., Lai, W.H., Au, K.W., Lau, Y.M., Wong, L.Y., Esteban, M.A., Siu, C.W., Sham, P.C., Colman, A., Tse, H.F., 2016. Amelioration of X-linked related autophagy failure in Danon disease with DNA methylation inhibitor. Circulation 134, 1373–1389.
- Nishino, I., Fu, J., Tanji, K., Yamada, T., Shimojo, S., Koori, T., Mora, M., Riggs, J.E., Oh, S.J., Koga, Y., Sue, C.M., Yamamoto, A., Murakami, N., Shanske, S., Byrne, E., Bonilla, E., Nonaka, I., DiMauro, S., Hirano, M., 2000. Primary LAMP-2 deficiency causes X-linked vacuolar cardiomyopathy and myopathy (Danon disease). Nature 406, 906–910.
- Ruivo, R., Anne, C., Sagne, C., Gasnier, B., 2009. Molecular and cellular basis of lysosomal transmembrane protein dysfunction. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1793, 636–649.
- Saftig, P., Beertsen, W., Eskelinen, E.L., 2008. LAMP-2: a control step for phagosome and autophagosome maturation. Autophagy 4, 510–512.
- Tanaka, Y., Guhde, G., Suter, A., Eskelinen, E.L., Hartmann, D., Lullmann-Rauch, R., Janssen, P.M., Blanz, J., von Figura, K., Saftig, P., 2000. Accumulation of autophagic vacuoles and cardiomyopathy in LAMP-2-deficient mice. Nature 406, 902–906.
- Tse, H.F., Shek, T.W., Tai, Y.T., Lau, Y.K., Ma, L., 1996. Case report: lysosomal glycogen storage disease with normal acid maltase: an unusual form of hypertrophic cardiomyopathy with rapidly progressive heart failure. Am. J. Med. Sci. 312, 182–186.
- Uechi, M., Asai, K., Osaka, M., Smith, A., Sato, N., Wagner, T.E., Ishikawa, Y., Hayakawa, H., Vatner, D.E., Shannon, R.P., et al., 1998. Depressed heart rate variability and arterial baroreflex in conscious transgenic mice with overexpression of cardiac gsalpha. Circ. Res. 82, 416–423.
- Ueda, Y., Gullipalli, D., Song, W.C., 2016. Modeling complement-driven diseases in transgenic mice: values and limitations. Immunobiology 221, 1080–1090.

This page intentionally left blank

Human-induced pluripotent stem cells for modeling of Niemann-Pick disease type C1

M. Paulina Ordonez¹, John Steele², Emma Y. Wu³

¹Department of Pediatrics, University of California, San Diego, CA, United States; ²Department of Biological Sciences, Humboldt State University, Arcata, CA, United States; ³Pennsylania State University College of Medicine, Hershey, PA, United States

Chapter outline

Introduction	.208
Traditional models of NPC1 and rationale for human stem cell-derived models	.209
Human-induced pluripotent stem cell-derived models of NPC1	.210
Patient-specific hiPSC-derived neural cells and glia	.210
Patient-specific hiPSC-derived hepatocytes.	.212
Gene-edited hiPSC lines for the study of NPC1D	.213
Drug discovery applications	.214
Conclusions and future directions	.214
References	.215

Abstract

Advances in the generation, differentiation and genetic manipulation of induced pluripotent stem cells (IPSCs) have expanded the approaches available to model disease in a dish. Neural cells derived from IPSC offer the unprecedented opportunity to analyze and target early pathologic events leading to neurodegeneration in disease-relevant cells. Niemann Pick type C1 (NPC1) is a rare but devastating neurodegenerative disease that shares many similarities with Alzheimer's disease (AD). Unlike AD, onset of NPC1 typically occurs in childhood and progression can be rapid, leading to significant disability early in life. Most IPSC-based models of NPC1 have been generated from reprograming patient-derived fibroblasts. However, ablation of NPC1 expression by knockdown of NPC1 or gene-editing is a feasible strategy, as NPC1 is a loss of function disorder. Other than satisfying the urgent need to identify new therapeutic targets, IPSC-based models of NPC1 can help us understand the role of lysosomal failure in the disruption of neuronal homeostasis that leads to neurodegenration and death in these patients. Differentiation protocols to generate specific populations of neurons and glial cells from IPSCs are readily available. Furthermore, novel technologies to generate brain organoids from

IPSCs add to the potential of using IPSC technology to model NPC1 and related neurodegenerative disorders.

Keywords: Autophagy; Disease modeling; Drug discovery; Human-induced pluripotent stem cell; Neurodegeneration; Niemann-Pick type C1 disease.

Introduction

Niemann-Pick type C1 disease (NPC1D) is a rare, progressive, and incurable pediatric neurodegenerative disease leading to significant morbidity and death. NPC1D is a lysosomal storage disease, as one of the hallmark abnormalities include accumulation of unesterified cholesterol in lysosomes (Sturley et al., 2004; Vanier, 2010); however, the mechanism underlying neurodegeneration in NPC1D is likely to reach beyond the accumulation of lipids in the lysosome. Multiple downstream effects of abnormal cholesterol distribution within the cell have been described including abnormalities of neurotransmission, autophagy, and mitochondrial failure, among others (Ordonez et al., 2012; Maetzel et al., 2014; Davis et al., 2021). NPC1D affects about 1:100,000 live births and is caused by mutations in the NPC1 gene (Imrie et al., 2015; Sturley et al., 2004) encoding for the cholesterol transporter NPC1 which resides within the lysosomal membrane. There are currently over 300 described NPC1 mutations associated with human disease (McKay Bounford and Gissen, 2014). These highly heterogeneous mutations cause total or partial loss of function of NPC1 with resulting entrapment of cholesterol in lysosomes and ultimately neuronal death (Sturley et al., 2004). However, the exact mechanism or mechanisms underlying neurodegeneration in NPC1D have not been fully elucidated and are a subject of active research.

The spectrum of clinical presentation of NPC1D resembles its genetic heterogeneity, as more than one organ system can be affected, and manifestations vary significantly among individuals (Walkley and Suzuki, 2004). Common clinical features include but are not limited to: ataxia, lack of coordination, dysphagia, dystonia, hepatosplenomegaly, developmental delay, and cognitive decline (Imrie et al., 2015; Vanier, 2010). To further illustrate the wide clinical spectrum of NPC1D, clinical onset of disease can range from the first few months of life to late childhood (Imrie et al., 2015; Vanier, 2010), and patients with mild mutations can survive into adulthood, albeit with significant disability.

There are currently no FDA-approved treatments for NPC1D. The most promising therapy, 2-hydroxypropyl-β-cyclodextrin (2HPBCD), is currently in Phase 2b/3 clinical trials (https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT04958642). Earlier clinical trials of 2HPBCD showed beneficial results in managing NPC1D, however, the drug does not cross the blood—brain barrier making it necessary to use an intrathecal route of administration (Ory et al., 2017). Another potential therapy that has undergone clinical studies and is approved for treatment of NPC1D outside of the US is miglustat. The main role of miglustat is to stabilize disease and slow symptom progression, underscoring the need for early diagnosis and initiation of therapy (Wraith et al., 2010). Other potential therapies are in the pipeline, including the compelling possibility of gene therapy (Chandler et al., 2017). The complex pathophysiology of neuronal failure in NPC1D suggests that patients will benefit from more than one therapeutic approach, and there is still room for the development of new therapies.

Traditional models of NPC1 and rationale for human stem cell-derived models

The NPC1 gene is highly conserved among species, creating opportunities to establish a variety of cell-based and animal models to study NPC1D (Fog & Kirkegaard, 2019). A large repository of NPC1D patient-derived fibroblasts is available to a highly collaborative community of NPC1 researchers (https:// catalog.coriell.org/1/NIGMS), and these have been widely used to dissect the pathogenesis of cholesterol sequestration and for drug screening assays. Many mouse models have been established, including the standard Npc1^{nih} mouse model described by Pentchev et al. in 1980, and the more recent Npc1^{11061T} mouse engineered to harbor the I1061T mutation of NPC1 that is responsible for most cases of human disease (Praggastis et al., 2015). Colonies of cats with spontaneous mutations of NPC1 have been established and are well suited for drug studies due to their larger size and well-defined natural history (Vite et al., 2008). NPC1 cats have been used to delineate the effects, dosing strategy, and toxicity of candidate therapeutic compounds. Both mouse and cat models of NPC1D have been central to the efforts for therapeutic development in NPC1D, with special mention to the success in advancing 2HPBCD to human trials.

Despite the remarkable progress made to date in characterizing the molecular and cellular phenotypes of NPC1D, the field still lacks sufficient understanding of the exact pathogenesis of neuronal failure in NPC1D. Perhaps more urgently, the number of clinically available therapies is fairly limited, stressing the need to identify therapeutic targets that are direct effectors of neuronal failure in response to abnormal cholesterol trafficking. For these reasons, there is an urgent need for further research in models that are relevant to disease pathogenesis and clinical outcome, such as human neurons. Human-induced pluripotent stem cell (hiPSC) technology allows for the unique ability to observe and learn from human cells in healthy and diseased states. Despite its neuronal selectivity, NPC1D can affect different organ systems and types of cells in the body (Imrie et al., 2007; Wraith et al., 2009); therefore, hiPSCs are a powerful disease-modeling platform as they can differentiate into a variety of cell types. Even though utilizing hiPSC-derived platforms to study NPC1D is relatively new, a variety of hiPSC-derived cell types have been described in the literature to study NPC1D. Different groups have demonstrated the ability to successfully culture NPC1D hiPSCs, neural progenitor cells (NPCs), neurons, hepatocytes, and glial cells (Efthymiou et al., 2015; Maetzel et al., 2014; Peter et al., 2017; Soga et al., 2015; Trilck et al., 2013; Yu et al., 2014, Lee et al., 2020). The variety of hiPSC-derived cellular platforms developed by research groups in the field is being used to investigate the pathogenesis of NPC1D and aid in the development of potential new therapies.

Human-induced pluripotent stem cell-derived models of NPC1

Patient-specific hiPSC-derived neural cells and glia

Because mutations of NPC1 disrupt primarily neuronal health and cause neurodegeneration, most patient-specific hiPSC models created to study the disease have focused on the generation of neural cells. Neural progenitor cells (NPCs) are neural precursor cells that can be generated from hiPSCs (Mertens et al., 2018). Their ability to undergo cell division and proliferate makes them a robust modeling platform; however, it is possible that certain phenotypes of disease are not evident in actively proliferating cells that have not completed neuronal differentiation. The highly polarized and postmitotic nature of neurons makes them especially vulnerable to phenotypes of disease that have been postulated in NPC1D, such as those involving vesicular trafficking and cellular disposal pathways such as autophagy. Using lineage-specific expression markers, multiple groups have demonstrated the ability to successfully generate NPC1D NPCs (Efthymiou et al., 2015; Soga et al., 2015; Trilck et al., 2013; Yu et al., 2014; Sung et al., 2017). Gene expression analysis by microarray did not find significant differences between NPC1D NPC and control lines (Efthymiou et al., 2015). Most of the described NPC1D NPC models recapitulate the hallmark phenotype of NPC1D; cholesterol accumulation (Soga et al., 2015; Trilck et al., 2013; Yu et al., 2014), which provides basic validation of these NPCs as viable models for the study of NPC1D. In addition to observing abnormal cholesterol phenotypes, autophagy has been investigated as a driver of disease in NPC1D (Soga et al., 2015). By probing the indicators of autophagic activity and progression LC3-II and p62 (Klionsky et al., 2016; Soga et al., 2015), it has been shown that autophagy is impaired in NPC1D NPCs. This autophagy dysfunction mimics the same abnormalities seen in other cell type models of NPC1D such as hiPSC-derived neurons and hepatocytes (Maetzel et al., 2014; Soga et al., 2015) that are discussed below. Saito et al. (2021) showed accumulation of cholesterol and glycolipids in both undifferentiated hiPSCs and derived NPCs, however abnormalities of lysosomal morphology and autophagic activity were only observed in differentiated NPC1 neurons. Lipid droplet accumulation and enlarged lysosomes were more prominent in neuronal cells rather than NSCs. Similarly, it was only in NPC1 neurons that phenotypes indicative of autophagy dysfunction were obvious, such as the accumulation of membranous cytoplasmic bodies and disruption of the p62/SQSTM1-KEAP1-NRF2 axis.

Human iPSC-derived neurons constitute the most common and relevant hiPSCderived model to study NPC1D. As previously noted, mutations of NPC1 preferentially affect neurons and neurodegeneration is the main source of morbidity and mortality in NPC1D (Sturley et al., 2004). Multiple groups have demonstrated the ability to successfully generate NPC1D neuronal cell lines from hiPSC. Basic characterization of neuronal identity includes documentation of typical morphology and expression of neuron-specific markers. Some groups have also provided functional characterization indicative of incipient electrophysiological activity of NPC1D neurons such as presence of voltage-dependent Na⁺ and K⁺ channels and spontaneous action potentials after prolonged differentiation (Trilck et al., 2013). NPC1D neurons have been reported to have decreased viability (Efthymiou et al., 2015; Lee et al., 2014; Maetzel et al., 2014) which is a cellular phenotype that aligns with the neurodegeneration observed in NPC1D patients (Sturley et al., 2004). Of note, Efthymiou et al. reported decreased viability in NPC1D neurons but not in glia derived from the same hiPSC lines, consistent with our own observations of decreased survival in NPC1D hiPSC neurons but not in parental fibroblast lines of similar genetic background (unpublished data). Similar to NPC1D NPC models, most neuronal models described in the literature demonstrate the hallmark characteristics of cholesterol accumulation and increased numbers of enlarged lysosomes (Lee et al., 2014; Maetzel et al., 2014; Trilck et al., 2017).

Replicating the established phenotypes of NPC1D in human neurons is necessary and can provide readouts for drug screening experiments in disease-relevant cells. An even more compelling application of a neuronal modeling platform is to identify the mechanism(s) that underlie the preferential neuronal failure caused by mutations of NPC1. A common abnormal phenotype that has recently gained attention in the field is autophagy dysfunction (Davis et al., 2021; Ordonez et al., 2012; Lee et al., 2014; Maetzel et al., 2014). Various groups have reported impaired autophagy flow in NPC1D neurons as measured by abnormal levels of LC3-II and p62, two proteins that are turned over by autophagy (Klionsky et al., 2016; Lee et al., 2014; Maetzel et al., 2014). Basal autophagy is restored in NPC1D neurons and hepatocytes after genetic correction of the NPC1 mutation (Maetzel et al., 2014), providing further evidence that autophagy disruption is directly linked to loss of NPC1 function. Recently, an elegant study by Davis et al. used non-neuronal cells and NPC1 knockout (KO) hiPSC-derived neurons to characterize the role of the master autophagy regulator mTORC1 in NPC1 disease pathogenesis as an effector downstream of cholesterol sequestration (Davis et al., 2021). Lysosomes from NPC1 null non-neuronal cells display widespread proteolytic defects and increased lysosomal membrane fragility as evidenced by increased susceptibility to membrane damage. Data generated in this study suggest that loss of NPC1 function and the subsequent failure to export cholesterol out of the lysosome underlie dysregulated mTORC1 signaling and lysosomal defects in enzyme-mediated degradation and membrane integrity. Because mitochondrial turnover is specifically dependent on efficient autophagy progression involving the lysosome, mitochondrial function was probed in NPC1 knockout hiPSC-derived neurons. NPC1 neurons showed mitochondrial fragmentation and loss of mitochondrial membrane potential, suggesting that loss of NPC1 function impairs mitochondrial function by interfering with mitochondrial turnover by mitophagy. Supportive of these findings, we have observed accumulation of cholesterol, decreased neuronal viability, and autophagy dysfunction in NPC1D patient-specific neurons (unpublished data). Using NPC1D patient-derived hiPSC neurons, we have observed phenotypes consistent with autophagy dysregulation including upregulation of Beclin-1, impaired turnover of

212 CHAPTER 9 Human-induced pluripotent stem cells

autolysosomes and autophagosomes, and mitochondrial dysfunction. Our findings suggest NPC1D patient-specific neurons have dysregulation of autophagy that is likely to impact mitochondrial turnover and neuronal health. We have documented loss of mitochondrial membrane potential and increased oxidative stress in NPC1 neurons. Consistent with this, Jurs et al. (2020) found increased reactive oxygen species (ROS) in NPC1 patient-derived neurons coupled with decreased antioxidative activity mediated by catalase. Furthermore, other irregularities seen in NPC1D neuronal models include but are not limited to abnormal expression of genes involved in calcium and WNT signaling (Efthymiou et al., 2015; Rabenstein et al., 2017), as well as aberrant VEGF characteristics, dysfunctional sphingolipid processing (Lee et al., 2014), and abnormal ganglioside accumulation (Trilck et al., 2017). A brain organoid model of NPC1 was developed and characterized by Lee et al. (2020). NPC1 organoids were smaller and had reduced proliferative capacity. They exhibited accumulation of cholesterol, impaired autophagic flux and lysosomal dysfunction, showing that they can recapitulate the main phenotypes of NPC1 patients. Interestingly, NPC1 organoids also showed deficient neuronal differentiation, a phenotype that is not obvious in 2D NPC1 neuronal cultures. Pathological phenotypes were reversed by treatment with valproic acid and HPBCD, both of which are postulated as treatments for NPC1 patients. Brain organoids are interesting models that may better reflect the interaction between different cell types in a disease state, and improve the accuracy of drug screening studies.

To our knowledge, only one well-characterized NPC1D hiPSC-derived glial model has been documented in the literature (Peter et al., 2017). Similar to all other NPC1D models previously described, the glial model demonstrates the hallmark phenotype of cholesterol sequestration, thus validating its ability to reflect NPC1D pathology. This group reported increased number of proliferative glial cells and increased number of GFAP⁺ and vimentin⁺ cells, suggestive of gliosis in NPC1D hiPSC-derived glial cells, as well as irregular phosphorylation and bundling of astrocyte-related intermediate filament proteins, GFAP, and vimentin. Of note, pharmacologic activation of protein kinase C rescued gliosis and restored the pattern of cholesterol distribution in NPC1D glial cells. These data suggest that despite been preferentially affected, neurons may not be the only cell type in the brain affected by NPC1D.

Patient-specific hiPSC-derived hepatocytes

While NPC1D is a neurodegenerative disorder, it also affects other organ systems and is known to cause liver dysfunction (Imrie et al., 2007; Wraith et al., 2009). Therefore, studying the cellular and molecular mechanisms of NPC1D in hepatocytes is relevant, both to dissect mechanisms of cholesterol trafficking and to identify pathways that can be targeted to treat the fraction of NPC1D patients that develop debilitating liver disease. NPC1D hepatocytes with typical morphology and expression of cell-specific markers have been successfully generated from hiPSC (Maetzel et al., 2014; Soga et al., 2015). Maetzel et al. showed that

sequestration of cholesterol in the lysosomal compartment of NPC1D hepatocytes impairs cholesterol esterification as measured by decreased incorporation of radiolabeled oleate into cholesteryl esters. The cholesterol sensing machinery was also found to be impaired in these cells as shown by lack of SREBP2 cleavage suppression upon serum treatment. These defects were rescued by genetic correction or by treatment with HPBCD. Similar to what has been described in neurons, NPC1D hepatocytes have abnormal autophagy flow as shown by accumulation of LC3-II and p62 that was not explained by increased synthesis but rather to insufficient clearance. Maetzel et al. also observed decreased hepatocyte viability, suggesting that despite of the striking neurodegeneration that drives progression of disease in NPC1D patients, impaired cell viability may not be neuron-specific but rather a phenotype seen in other cell types that are more sensitive to NPC1 mutations such as hepatocytes. Analysis of NPC1 hiPSC-derived hepatocytes by Soga et al. also reported abnormalities of the autophagy pathway as shown by higher expression levels of LC3-II and p62 proteins and excessive p62 aggregation in NPC1D hepatocytes, suggestive of upregulation of autophagy and impaired autophagy flow.

Gene-edited hiPSC lines for the study of NPC1D

Gene-editing using TALENs or CRISPR technology has been used to generate isogenic hiPSC lines to study NPC1D. Gene-editing allows for induction or correction of disease-causing point mutations for modeling or therapeutic applications. Maetzel et al. (2014) used TALENs to repair the most common disease-causing mutations of NPC1 in humans (NPC1^{11061 \hat{T}} mutation) in two heterozygous hiPSC lines with one affected allele. Corrected hiPSC lines did not lose pluripotency and were capable of differentiation into neurons and hepatocytes. The authors confirmed restoration of NPC1 protein levels, normal cholesterol distribution, and recovery of cholesterol sensing as shown by serum-induced suppression of SREBP2 cleavage in edited NPC1 hiPSC lines. Furthermore, basal autophagy was examined in NPC1 hiPSC-derived neurons and hepatocytes, and their isogenic controls. Genetic correction of the NPC1^{11061T} mutation was sufficient to restore autophagic flux in NPC1 neurons and hepatocytes, suggesting that impaired autophagy is directly caused by loss of NPC1 function. Our lab has taken an inverse approach by using CRISPR- Cas9 technology to generate isogenic lines with complete knockout of NPC1. This strategy allows us to study the effects of ablation of NPC1 without the genetic bias that can be associated with patient-derived lines. We used CRISPR/Cas9 gene-editing to generate an NPC1 knock-out (KO) hiPSC line by inserting a frame-shift mutation in Exon 4 that engineered a premature stop codon leading to complete ablation of NPC1 (Davis et al., 2021). CRISPR-engineered *NPC1* KO neurons show established phenotypes of NPC1D such as sequestration of cholesterol in lysosomes and decreased neuronal viability, as well as novel phenotypes of NPC1D such as autophagy and mitochondrial dysfunction.

Drug discovery applications

In addition to expanding our understanding of the molecular and cellular abnormalities involved in NPC1D pathogenesis, hiPSC technology has contributed to efforts in developing new therapies for NPC1D. As a relatively new method to model NPC1D, hiPSC-derived models have been used to further investigate already identified potential therapies for NPC1D such as 2HPBCD and Miglustat (Soga et al., 2015; Yu et al., 2014). Additionally, new potential therapies and treatment strategies have been identified by targeting pathological phenotypes that have been identified using hiPSC models (Efflymiou et al., 2015; Lee et al., 2014; Maetzel et al., 2014; Peter et al., 2017). As an example, Maetzel et al. (2014) characterized abnormal autophagy phenotypes in their NPC1D hiPSC-derived neurons and hepatocytes. These observations drove them to investigate the ability of autophagy enhancers and regulators to rescue NPC1D models, alone or in conjunction with agents that mobilize lysosomal cholesterol such as 2HPBCD. Similarly, our group has engaged in hypothesis-driven investigation into potential NPC1D therapies with a focus on regulation of mitochondrial turnover by autophagy (Davis et al., 2021, Ordonez et al., 2012, and unpublished data). Using rescue of autophagy and mitochondrial dysfunction as primary outcomes, we have systematically screened hundreds of compounds and identified various candidates that rescue viability of NPC1D hiPSC-derived neurons by providing mitochondrial protection, including some that are FDA-approved for other applications and can be repurposed for the treatment of NPC1D (unpublished data). In addition, strategies that modulate mTORC1 activity while avoiding off-target effects resulting from complete mTORC1 inhibition are attractive therapeutic options that bypass the effects of cholesterol sequestration while preserving normal autophagy and other important metabolic queues arising from the lysosome. Other strategies that have been studied in NPC1D neurons include compounds that regulate the WNT pathway, calcium flux, and calcium signaling. Taken together, these studies highlight the potential of using hiPSC-derived cell lines, in conjunction with established animal models, as platforms for drug screening and validation.

Conclusions and future directions

Reprogramming and gene-editing technologies are powerful tools that have dramatically expanded the development of cell-based human models of disease. These strategies have been exploited to generate modeling platforms for multiple monogenic and multifactorial diseases. The case for hiPSC-based models for the study of NPC1D is especially compelling. The deleterious effects of *NPC1* mutations have strong neuronal selectivity, despite the fact that the NPC1 transporter is ubiquitously distributed in all cell types where it has a universal role in cholesterol homeostasis. Despite of the enormous contribution of traditional models to our knowledge of NPC1D, it is evident that undertaking mechanistic studies and drug testing in a disease-relevant system such as human neurons can increase the odds to successfully identify much needed therapeutic targets. Challenges remain, such as imperfect differentiation protocols, the potential for off-target effects from genetic manipulation inherent to reprogramming, and limitations inherent to disease-modeling in a dish. Progress has been made in the generation of specific subpopulations of neurons that are relevant to the study of NPC1D such as cortical (Shi et al., 2012) and cerebellar neurons (Wang et al., 2015); however, variability of differentiation can be observed between individual hiPSC lines and may be affected by genetic background, reprogramming strategy, or technical issues. Variability of differentiation and lack of maturity is especially problematic in hepatocyte differentiation, another disease-relevant cell type for the study of NPC1D. Multiple studies have documented off-target genetic or epigenetic changes induced by reprogramming of somatic cells to hIPSCs, or propagated by selection of preexisting mutations in parental fibroblasts. It is therefore indispensable to perform rigorous quality control of patient-specific hiPSC lines and their products. Generation of isogenic hiPSC lines by gene-editing is a complementary strategy that can help avoid off-target effects by more precisely modifying a chosen locus with minimal impact on the remaining genome (Howden et al., 2018). Lastly, we strongly believe that a mutually complementary approach that includes hIPSC-derived, other cell-based, and animal models of NPC1D will offer the best chance for success in our quest to develop new treatments for this devastating disease.

References

- Chandler, R.J., Williams, I.M., Gibson, A.L., Davidson, C.D., Incao, A.A., Hubbard, B.T., Porter, F.D., Pavan, W.J., Venditti, C.P., 2017. Systemic AAV9 gene therapy improves the lifespan of mice with Niemann-Pick disease, type C1. Human Molec. Genet. 26 (1), 52–64. https://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/ddw367, 27798114.
- Davis, O.B., Shin, H.R., Lim, C.-Y., Wu, E.Y., Kukurugya, M., Maher, C.F., Perera, R.M., Ordonez, M.P., Zoncu, R., 2021. NPC1-mTORC1 signaling couples cholesterol sensing to organelle homeostasis and is a targetable pathway in Niemann-Pick Type C. Dev. Cell 56 (3), 260–276. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.devcel.2020.11.016, 33308480.
- Efthymiou, A.G., Steiner, J., Pavan, W.J., Wincovitch, S., Larson, D.M., Porter, F.D., Rao, M.S., Malik, N., 2015. Rescue of an in vitro neuron phenotype identified in Niemann-Pick disease, type C1 induced pluripotent stem cell-derived neurons by modulating the WNT pathway and calcium signaling: rescue of an in vitro neuron phenotype in NPC1. Stem Cells Transl. Med. 4 (3), 230–238. https://doi.org/10.5966/sctm.2014-0127.
- Fog, C.K., Kirkegaard, T., 2019. Animal models for Niemann-Pick type C: Implications for drug discovery & development. Expert Opinion Drug Discov. 14 (5), 499–509. https:// doi.org/10.1080/17460441.2019.1588882, 30887840.
- Howden, S.E., Thomson, J.A., Little, M.H., 2018. Simultaneous reprogramming and gene editing of human fibroblasts. Nature Protocols 13 (5), 875–898. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/nprot.2018.007, 29622803.
- Imrie, J., Dasgupta, S., Besley, G.T.N., Harris, C., Heptinstall, L., Knight, S., Vanier, M.T., Fensom, A.H., Ward, C., Jacklin, E., Whitehouse, C., Wraith, J.E., 2007. The natural history of Niemann–Pick disease type C in the UK. J. Inherit. Metab. Dis. 30 (1), 51–59. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10545-006-0384-7.

- Imrie, J., Heptinstall, L., Knight, S., Strong, K., 2015. Observational cohort study of the natural history of Niemann-Pick disease type C in the UK: a 5-year update from the UK clinical database. BMC Neurol. 15 (1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12883-015-0511-1.
- Jurs, A.V., Volkner, C., Lieftke, M., Huth, K., Lukas, J., Hermann, A., Frech, M.J., 2020. Oxidative stress and alterations in the antioxidative defense system in neuronal cells derived from NPC1 patient-specific induced pluripotent stem cells. Int. J. Molec. Sci. 21 (20), 7667. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms21207667, 33081384.
- Klionsky, D.J., Abdelmohsen, K., Abe, A., Abedin, M.J., Abeliovich, H., Acevedo Arozena, A., Adachi, H., Adams, C.M., Adams, P.D., Adeli, K., Adhihetty, P.J., Adler, S.G., Agam, G., Agarwal, R., Aghi, M.K., Agnello, M., Agostinis, P., Aguilar, P.V., Aguirre-Ghiso, J., et al., 2016. Guidelines for the use and interpretation of assays for monitoring autophagy (3rd edition). Autophagy 12 (1), 1–222. https:// doi.org/10.1080/15548627.2015.1100356.
- Lee, H., Lee, J.K., Park, M.H., Hong, Y.R., Marti, H.H., Kim, H., Okada, Y., Otsu, M., Seo, E.-J., Park, J.-H., Bae, J.-H., Okino, N., He, X., Schuchman, E.H., Bae, J., Jin, H.K., 2014. Pathological roles of the VEGF/SphK pathway in Niemann–Pick type C neurons. Nat. Commun. 5 (1). https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms6514.
- Lee, S.-E., Shin, N., Kook, M.G., Kong, D., Kim, N.G., Choi, S.W., Kang, K.-S., 2020. Human iNSC-derived brain organoid model of lysosomal storage disorder in Niemann-Pick disease type C. Cell Death Dis. 11 (12), 1059. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ymgmr.2021.100784, 34377675.
- Maetzel, D., Sarkar, S., Wang, H., Abi-Mosleh, L., Xu, P., Cheng, A.W., Gao, Q., Mitalipova, M., Jaenisch, R., 2014. Genetic and chemical correction of cholesterol accumulation and impaired autophagy in hepatic and neural cells derived from Niemann-Pick type C patient-specific iPS cells. Stem Cell Rep 2 (6), 866–880. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.stemcr.2014.03.014.
- McKay Bounford, K., Gissen, P., 2014. Genetic and laboratory diagnostic approach in Niemann Pick disease type C. J. Neurol. 261 (S2), 569–575. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00415-014-7386-8.
- Mertens, J., Reid, D., Lau, S., Kim, Y., Gage, F.H., 2018. Aging in a dish: IPSC-derived and directly induced neurons for studying brain aging and age-related neurodegenerative diseases. Annu. Rev. Genet. 52 (1), 271–293. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-genet-120417-031534.
- Ordonez, M.P., Roberts, E.A., Kidwell, C.U., Yuan, S.H., Plaisted, W.C., Goldstein, L.S.B., 2012. Disruption and therapeutic rescue of autophagy in a human neuronal model of Niemann Pick type C1. Human Molec. Genet. 21 (12), 2651–2662. https://doi.org/ 10.1093/hmg/dds090, 22437840.
- Ory, D.S., Ottinger, E.A., Farhat, N.Y., King, K.A., Jiang, X., Weissfeld, L., Berry-Kravis, E., Davidson, C.D., Bianconi, S., Keener, L.A., Rao, R., Soldatos, A., Sidhu, R., Walters, K.A., Xu, X., Thurm, A., Solomon, B., Pavan, W.J., Machielse, B.N., et al., 2017. Intrathecal 2-hydroxypropyl-β-cyclodextrin decreases neurological disease progression in Niemann-Pick disease, type C1: a non-randomised, open-label, phase 1–2 trial. Lancet 390 (10104), 1758–1768. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(17)31465-4.
- Peter, F., Rost, S., Rolfs, A., Frech, M.J., 2017. Activation of PKC triggers rescue of NPC1 patient specific iPSC derived glial cells from gliosis. Orphanet J. Rare Dis. 12 (1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s13023-017-0697-y.

- Praggastis, M., et al., 2015. A Murine Niemann-Pick C1 I1061T knock-in model recapitulates the pathological features of the most prevalent human disease allele. J. Neurosci. 35 (21), 8091–8106. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4173-14.2015, 26019327.
- Rabenstein, M., Franziska, P., Joost, S., Trilck, M., Rolfs, A., Frech, M.J., 2017. Decreased calcium flux in Niemann-Pick type C1 patient-specific iPSC-derived neurons due to higher amount of calcium-impermeable AMPA receptors. Molec. Cell Neurosci. 83, 27–36. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mcn.2017.06.007, 28666962.
- Saito, R., et al., 2021. A neuropathological cell model derived from Niemann-Pick disease type C patient-specific iPSCs shows disruption of the p62/SQSTM1-KEAP1-NRF2 Axis and impaired formation of neuronal networks. Molec. Genet. Metab. Rep. 28 (SI), 100784. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ymgmr.2021.100784, 34377675.
- Shi, Y., Kirwan, P., Livesey, F.J., 2012. Directed differentiation of human pluripotent stem cells to cerebral cortex neurons and neural networks. Nature Protocols 7 (10), 1836–1846. https://doi.org/10.1038/nprot.2012.116, 22976355.
- Soga, M., Ishitsuka, Y., Hamasaki, M., Yoneda, K., Furuya, H., Matsuo, M., Ihn, H., Fusaki, N., Nakamura, K., Nakagata, N., Endo, F., Irie, T., Era, T., 2015. HPGCD outperforms HPBCD as a potential treatment for Niemann-Pick disease type C during disease modeling with iPS cells: HPGCD for NPC treatment. Stem Cell. 33 (4), 1075–1088. https://doi.org/10.1002/stem.1917.
- Sturley, S.L., Patterson, M.C., Balch, W., Liscum, L., 2004. The pathophysiology and mechanisms of NP-C disease. Biochim. Biophys. Acta Mol. Cell Biol. Lipids 1685 (1–3), 83–87. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbalip.2004.08.014.
- Sung, Eun-Ah, et al., 2017. Generation of patient specific human neural stem cells from Niemann-Pick disease type C patient-derived fibroblasts. Oncotarget 8 (49), 85428-85441. https://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.19976, 29156730. In this issue.
- Trilck, M., Hübner, R., Seibler, P., Klein, C., Rolfs, A., Frech, M.J., 2013. Niemann-Pick type C1 patient-specific induced pluripotent stem cells display disease specific hallmarks. Orphanet J. Rare Dis. 8 (1), 144. https://doi.org/10.1186/1750-1172-8-144.
- Trilck, M., Peter, F., Zheng, C., Frank, M., Dobrenis, K., Mascher, H., Rolfs, A., Frech, M.J., 2017. Diversity of glycosphingolipid GM2 and cholesterol accumulation in NPC1 patientspecific iPSC-derived neurons. Brain Res. 1657, 52–61. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.brainres.2016.11.031.
- Vanier, M.T., 2010. Niemann-Pick disease type C. Orphanet J. Rare Dis. 5 (1). https://doi.org/ 10.1186/1750-1172-5-16.
- Vite, C.H., Ding, W., Bryan, C., O'Donnell, P., Cullen, K., Aleman, D., Haskins, M.E., Van Winkle, T., 2008. Clinical, electrophysiological, and serum biochemical measures of progressive neurological and hepatic dysfunction in feline Niemann-Pick type C disease. Pediatr. Res. 64 (5), 544–549. https://doi.org/10.1203/PDR.0b013e318184d2ce, 18614965.
- Walkley, S.U., Suzuki, K., 2004. Consequences of NPC1 and NPC2 loss of function in mammalian neurons. Biochim. Biophys. Acta Mol. Cell Biol. Lipids 1685 (1–3), 48–62. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbalip.2004.08.011.
- Wang, S., et al., 2015. Differentiation of human induced pluripotent stem cells to mature functional Purkinje neurons. Sci. Rep. 18 (5), 9232. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep09232, 25782665.
- Wraith, J.E., Baumgartner, M.R., Bembi, B., Covanis, A., Levade, T., Mengel, E., Pineda, M., Sedel, F., Topçu, M., Vanier, M.T., 2009. Recommendations on the diagnosis and management of Niemann-Pick disease type C. Mol. Genet. Metabol. 98 (1–2), 152–165. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.ymgme.2009.06.008.

- Wraith, J.E., Vecchio, D., Jacklin, E., Abel, L., Chadha-Boreham, H., Luzy, C., Giorgino, R., Patterson, M.C., 2010. Miglustat in adult and juvenile patients with Niemann–Pick disease type C: long-term data from a clinical trial. Mol. Genet. Metabol. 99 (4), 351–357. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ymgme.2009.12.006.
- Yu, D., Swaroop, M., Wang, M., Baxa, U., Yang, R., Yan, Y., Coksaygan, T., DeTolla, L., Marugan, J.J., Austin, C.P., McKew, J.C., Gong, D.-W., Zheng, W., 2014. Niemann-pick disease type C: induced pluripotent stem cell-derived neuronal cells for modeling neural disease and evaluating drug efficacy. J. Biomol. Screen 19 (8), 1164–1173. https:// doi.org/10.1177/1087057114537378.

CHAPTER

iPSC-based modeling in psychiatric disorders: opportunities and challenges

Anke Hoffmann, Michael J. Ziller, Dietmar Spengler

Department of Translational Research in Psychiatry, Max Planck Institute of Psychiatry, Munich, Germany

Chapter outline

List of abbreviations	220
Introduction	221
The rationale of iPSC-based disease modeling	223
Major results from iPSC-based modeling of psychiatric disorders	224
Advances in cell culture systems for iPSC-based modeling of psychiatric disorders	225
Toward microcircuitries and complex cell—cell interactions	225
Toward in vivo systems for iPSC-based modeling of psychiatric disorders	228
Uncovering causality in iPSC-based modeling of psychiatric disorders	231
Genetic editing of GWAS risk SNPs in iPSC-based modeling of psychiatric	
disorders	231
Epigenetic editing of GWAS risk variants in iPSC-based modeling of	
psychiatric disorders	232
Conclusion and outlook	235
Author contributions	236
Funding	236
Acknowledgments	236
References	236

Abstract

The high heritability of major psychiatric disorders suggests that disease risk is significantly encoded in the human genome. Patient-specific iPSCs capture a donor's genotype and enable to investigate genetic risk in disease-relevant cell types at varying stages of neural development in vitro. A body of iPSC studies from recent years has provided a wealth of information on molecular and cellular phenotypes that are thought to recapitulate alterations from patients' brains including deficits in neural proliferation, migration, differentiation, and maturation among others. Despite this remarkable progress, cardinal features of major psychiatric disorders comprising impairments in local and distant connectivity, complex cell–cell interactions beyond a purely neurocentric view, and above all, the uncharted territory of polygenicity, are still understudied. Here, we discuss recent progress to expand our knowledge in this direction, as well as potential caveats in the interpretation of current findings.

Keywords: (epi-) genetic editing (n = 7); Cerebral organoid; iPSC; Microcircuit; Neurodevelopment; Psychiatric disorders; Synapse; Transplantation.

List of abbreviations

2D, 3D	two dimensional, three dimensional
ASD	autism spectrum disorder
ATAC	assay for transposase-accessible chromatin
BD	bipolar disorder
CA3	cornu ammonis
cIN	cortical interneurons
CLCN3	chloride voltage-gated channel 3
CNTN4	contactin 4
CNV	copy number variation
COS	childhood onset of schizophrenia
CRISPR/CAS9	clustered regulatory interspaced short palindromic repeats/CRISPR associ-
	ated protein 9
CRISPRa	CRISPR mediated gene activation
dCAS9	dead CAS9 (endonuclease deficient)
DG	dentate gyrus
E/I	excitation/inhibition balance
eQTL	expression quantitative trait locus
FURIN	paired basic amino acid cleaving enzyme
GABA	γ-aminobutyric
GPC	glia precursor cell
GWAS	genome-wide association study
iN	induced neuron
iPSC	induced pluripotent stem cell
MD	major depressive disorder
NPC	neural progenitor cells
OCR	open chromatin region
SCZ	schizophrenia
SNAP91	synaptosomal-associated protein 91-Kd
SNP	single nucleotide polymorphism
TF	transcription factor
TSNARE1	t-SNARE domain containing 1

Introduction

All of us are touched, directly or indirectly, by major psychiatric disorders. In 2015, \sim 300 m people were affected by major depression (MD), \sim 60 m by bipolar disorder (BD), and \sim 21 m by schizophrenia (SCZ). For comparison, less than \sim 35 m people were affected by cancer (WHO). First episodes of thought disorders like SCZ and mood disorders like MD and BD occur typically in adolescence to early adulthood. Thereafter, episodes tend to recur, disease-free intervals to shorten, and successive episodes to get worse. All of these factors contribute to insidious hospitalization over time. Although mainstay psychopharmacological drugs and adjuvant psychotherapy can ameliorate symptoms in most patients, remission remains often incomplete, and up to one-third of patients with SCZ do not respond at all. With no cure in sight, major psychiatric disorders place an enormous burden on family and society and are among the leading cause of disability worldwide (James et al., 2018; Mental Health). This situation is expected to worsen as a result from demographic aging and will increase the need for advances on diagnosis, therapy, and prevention.

In the last decades, our knowledge of psychiatric disorders has grown stepwise (Charney et al., 2018; Principles of neural science, 2013; Sadock, 2017) despite the intricacy of the human brain, its inaccessibility in life, and a shortage of histopathological clues to disease mechanisms. For instance, the introduction of structural magnetic resonance imaging has been evidenced in patients with SCZ thinning of prefrontal and temporal cerebral cortices (Cannon et al., 2002). Yet, contrary to other common diseases (e.g., hypertension, diabetes), causal mechanisms remain still elusive with barely any insight into primary molecular and cellular risk factors in psychiatric disorders. This deficit reflects in major part the fact that the substrates of our thoughts, emotions, perceptions, actions, and memories are far more difficult to localize, quantify, and model than other somatic functions. Diagnosis of psychiatric disorders is usually based on patients' self-report and physicians' observation of cognitive and behavioral symptoms rather than on direct measurement of any etiological factor. This descriptive approach has led to numerous discontinuous categories for psychiatric disorders (Diagnostic and statistical, 2013) that are better conceptualized as complex syndromes cutting across historically grown diagnostic boundaries (Stephan et al., 2016).

Until recently, our lack of insight into primary risk factors resulted also from a paucity of genetic data and of methods for the investigation of living brain cells from diseased and healthy individuals. In the last century, there have been persistent efforts to understand the genetics of psychiatric disorders (Sullivan et al., 2012); however, it took decades to pass till advances in the field of molecular genetics and bioinformatics enabled for querying the entire human genome in a hypothesis-free manner for the identification of genetic variations associated with disease. These genome-wide association studies (GWASs) have detected an increasing number of common single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) that interact with rare gene-coding mutations and structural variants (i.e., copy number

variations, CNVs) in the mediation of genetic risk (McIntosh et al., 2019; Sullivan and Geschwind, 2019). Individually, disease-associated SNPs have only small effect size; however, in sum they account for a significant part of heritability. Interestingly, disease-associated SNPs are also shared significantly among SCZ, BD, and MD showing that these disorders are genetically closely related (Cross-Disorder, 2019). This outcome strengthens the recent conceptualization (Stephan et al., 2016) that major psychiatric disorders represent quantitative deviations from health rather than distinct nosologies.

In contrast to recent insights into genetics, causal mechanisms of psychiatric disorders still linger in the dark. This reflects the circumstance that the vast majority of disease-associated SNPs maps to noncoding regions and thus fulfills possibly a gene-regulatory role (Freedman et al., 2011). Further studies are needed to narrow down candidate causal genes regulated by disease-associated SNPs and the celltype(s) in which this regulation takes place. The complex correlation structure of numerous variants within the implicated GWAS loci poses a major challenge for fine-mapping of potential candidates yet. More promisingly, bioinformatic tools have allowed to infer cell types and biological pathways through which diseaseassociated SNPs may operate. These studies suggest that common risk SNPs tag genomic loci that are enriched for genes with a role in neuronal tissues and cell types from early development to adulthood (Bryois et al., 2019; Coleman et al., 2019; Collado-Torres et al., 2019; Nagel et al., 2018; Polioudakis et al., 2019; Schork et al., 2019; Skene et al., 2018). Integrative network and pathway level analyses further support that these genes converge on mechanisms relevant to ion channel activity, synaptic plasticity, nervous system development, and neuronal differentiation (Girdhar et al., 2018; O'Dushlaine, 2015). Latter predictions match well previous epidemiological and clinical evidence that early neurodevelopmental deviations could contribute to the formation of a vulnerable brain that interacts with adolescent maturation processes in the onset of disease (Owen and O'Donovan, 2017).

Despite this significant gain of information on pathways, cell types, and developmental periods associated with polygenic risk, we would like to caution that most, if not all, of these findings are merely correlative in nature. Accordingly, they cannot answer the question which molecular and cellular mechanisms are causally affected by polygenic risk, how they converge on altered neurocircuitries, and how these translate into perturbed higher brain function in patients. Until recently, this shortcoming reflected also a dearth of suitable human model systems to dissect the functional consequences of polygenic risk in disease-relevant cell types.

In this chapter, we will discuss how the advance of patient-specific induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs) has provided a powerful tool to start to address these questions. Firstly, we will highlight the rational of iPSC-based modeling of psychiatric disorders. Following this, major findings from case/control studies on SCZ and BD, and more recently, on MD, will be briefly surveyed. Against this backdrop, we will explore the question how current in vitro systems can be improved to

approximate higher level brain functions. Progress on cell culture techniques and transplantation studies in mice may offer new opportunities to address this topic. Looking forward causality, we discuss how the use of (epi-) genetic editing techniques can help to uncover causal variants and mechanisms in iPSC-based modeling. Finally, potential caveats of these emergent developments are considered.

The rationale of iPSC-based disease modeling

The advent of patient-specific iPSCs has opened the opportunity to break up barriers that prevented studies on cellular and molecular abnormalities in living neurons from patients with psychiatric disorders. As a matter of fact, brain tissues from live patients are inaccessible, while postmortem tissues are confounded by secondary disease processes, psychopharmacological drugs, and life history. Nowadays, iPSCs can be generated from various sources of somatic cells, preferentially, from nuclear cells contained in blood samples routinely drawn from in-patients (Induced pluripotent, 2016). Importantly, iPSCs capture the donor's genotype and allow for investigation of the corresponding polygenic disease architecture in a wide range of disease-relevant neuronal and glial cells. Comparative gene expression profiling of differentiating iPSCs and postmortem brains supports that iPSC-derived cells closely track progression from early embryogenic to perinatal stages in vivo and produce neuronal and glial cells of varying maturity (Brennand et al., 2015; Burke et al., 2018; Mariani et al., 2012; Nicholas et al., 2013; Paşca et al., 2015; Stein et al., 2014). These data also suggest that iPSC-derived cells match early neural stages in vitro rather than stages of the mature brain. Hence, iPSCs are an opportunity to model the role of GWAS risk genes in early neural development in vitro, and by extrapolation, in increasing the risk for later disease (Brennand and Gage, 2011).

Moreover, patient-specific iPSCs can serve as versatile platform to chart the largely unknown territory of polygenicity in major psychiatric disorders. At present, single, or at best a small number, of GWAS variants can be introduced into human embryonic stem cells (ESCs) or iPSCs from healthy donors to study their effect on cellular and molecular phenotypes. This approach is of particular interest to rare high-penetrance CNVs associated with psychiatric disorders (Hoffmann et al., 2018a, 2020). By contrast, genetic engineering can barely embrace the huge amount of common risk variants identified in current GWAS. This reservation applies alike to the generation of transgenic animal models carrying human risk variants. Beyond the question of sheer numbers, GWAS risk variants also localize typically to noncoding regions, which are less conserved among species than their coding regions, and thus less likely to reproduce faithfully regulatory features from humans.

Collectively, iPSCs offer the possibility to identify and dissect genetically encoded molecular and cellular phenotypes during early neural stages in vitro, and by inference, to elucidate potential disease processes in the human brain.

Major results from iPSC-based modeling of psychiatric disorders

In a seminal study, Brennand et al. (2011) firstly introduced iPSC-based modeling in the realm of psychiatric disorders. The researchers measured reduced neuronal connectivity, neurite numbers, synaptic maturation, and glutamate receptor expression in iPSC-derived forebrain neurons from patients with familial SCZ relative to neurons from healthy donors. In support of clinical relevance, this phenotype was partly ameliorated by treatment in vitro with the antipsychotic loxapine. These findings have sparked off a number of subsequent studies reviewed comprehensively elsewhere (Hoffmann et al., 2018a; Ahmad et al., 2018). Briefly, neuronal progenitors (NPCs) from patients with SCZ were found to show aberrant migration and cellular polarity (Brennand et al., 2015; Yoon et al., 2014), perturbed wingless signaling (Srikanth et al., 2015; Topol et al., 2015), increased oxidative stress (Brennand et al., 2015; Ni et al., 2020; Paulsen et al., 2012; Robicsek et al., 2013), and altered responses to environmental stressors (Hashimoto-Torii et al., 2014). Beyond NPCs, iPSC-derived cortical, hippocampal or dopaminergic neurons from patients with SCZ exhibited reduced synaptic maturation and neuronal activity (Brennand et al., 2011; Robicsek et al., 2013; Wen et al., 2014; Yu et al., 2014), as well as attenuated neuronal activity-dependent transcription when compared to samples from healthy donors (Roussos et al., 2016). Additional reports have identified abnormal miRNA profiles (Narla et al., 2017; Siegert et al., 2015; Topol et al., 2016; Zhao et al., 2015) and increased L1 retrotransposition (Bundo et al., 2014) in patientderived neuronal cells.

A similar picture has emerged for iPSC-based modeling of BD (for review (Hoffmann et al., 2018b) with alterations in developmental patterning (Chen et al., 2014), cell adhesion (Wang et al., 2014), NPC proliferation, wingless signaling (Madison et al., 2015), neuronal excitability, mitochondrial function (Mertens et al., 2015), miRNA profiles (Bavamian et al., 2015), and immune-regulatory pathways (Vizlin-Hodzic et al., 2017). Interestingly, many of these alterations were ameliorated by treatment in vitro with lithium (Chen et al., 2014; Wang et al., 2014; Mertens et al., 2015; Stern et al., 2018; Tobe et al., 2017), a medication used only in patients with BD.

In contrast to SCZ and BD, patient-specific iPSC-based modeling of MD has been only recently explored by Vadodaria et al. (2019a,b), who focused on responders and nonresponders to serotonin-uptake inhibitors. More specifically, iPSC-derived serotonergic neurons from responders formed more refined circuitries compared to nonresponders and were less active following application of serotonin.

Overall, these studies have provided important insights into molecular and cellular alterations in iPSC-derived cells from patients with major psychiatric disorders at various stages of differentiation (neural stem cells, NPCs, and neurons) and of various identities (cortical, hippocampal, dopaminergic, and serotonergic neurons). Broadly speaking, they support the hypothesis that deficits in early neural

development and differentiation contribute to major psychiatric disorders. Moreover, these cellular and molecular deficits coupled in part to signaling pathways and subcellular structures thought to be potentially affected in psychiatric disorders.

Advances in cell culture systems for iPSC-based modeling of psychiatric disorders

It is important to stay aware that above findings from iPSC-based modeling of psychiatric disorders can only serve as a distant proxy to impaired higher system-level functions in patients. In the living brain, each GWAS variant confers only tiny effects at the molecular and cellular level, mostly in a tissue-specific manner (Collado-Torres et al., 2019; Skene et al., 2018). These effects will converge on the formation of altered microcircuit and macrolevel connectivity during early brain development and beyond. Neurocircuitries are the substrate from which higher system-level functions like cognition, mood, and behavior among others, emerge (Principles of neural science, 2013). Conversely, changes in the activity of neurocircuitries are hypothesized to contribute to impairments in higher level functions, singly or globally, in patients with psychiatric disorders (Schmitt et al., 2011). Therefore, it will become necessary to use iPSC-based techniques additionally for the modeling of neurocircuitries to approximate differences in higher level functions between patients and healthy individuals, and to gain new insights into actionable therapeutic targets.

Toward microcircuitries and complex cell-cell interactions

Conventional iPSC-derived culture systems reflect only poorly the cellular complexity of the living brain, and even less, do they recapitulate local and distant connectivity. Almost all studies from above have sought to establish neuronal monolayer cultures (hereafter referred to as 2-dimensional (2D) cultures) containing fairly homogenous populations of a defined subtype (e.g., excitatory cortical neurons), yet lacking the complex in vivo network architecture. For example, accumulating evidence from neuroimaging studies suggests that neuronal connectivity in the prefrontal cortex is impaired in SCZ and could underpin reduced hippocampus-dependent cognitive functions (Wadehra et al., 2013). The hippocampus consists of distinct cell types, whose gene expression profiles and connectivity are well-characterized. More specifically, presynaptic dentate gyrus (DG) axons connect via the mossy fiber pathway to postsynaptic cornu ammonis (CA3) neurons. This local circuitry is reshaped by developmental and environmental cues in a highly plastic manner that impacts hippocampal information processing and memory formation. Recent progress on compartmentalized microfluidic devices allows for modeling human brain circuitry in vitro by segregating cell bodies of different neural subtypes while axonal connections can still develop between compartments (Rothbauer et al., 2018). In this regard, Sarkar et al. (2018) introduced recently a microfluid chip platform to investigate the DG-CA3 circuit of iPSC-derived hippocampal neurons from patients with SCZ in comparison with healthy donors. Presynaptic DG neurons were seeded in one compartment and postsynaptic CA3 neurons in the opposing compartment of a microfluid device with both compartments connected by narrow channels (Fig. 10.1). This allowed for the formation of synaptic connections as shown by rabies virus tracing experiments. Importantly, multielectrode array (MEA) recordings and whole-cell patch clamping techniques further evidenced that CA3 neurons derived from patients with SCZ exhibited reduced spontaneous and electrophysiological activities following circuit formation in CA3/DG cocultures. Collectively, this study firstly introduced a reductionist microfluid chip platform for studying the polygenetic effects of psychiatric disorders on microcircuit formation in vitro (Fig. 10.1).

As an alternative to microfluid chip devices, multiple cell lineages can be combined in 3D aggregates (so-called brain spheroids) (Paşca, 2019) to investigate complex cell–cell interactions in vitro. This is of interest to excitatory and inhibitory



FIGURE 10.1

Microfluid device for investigation of CA3/DG cocultures. The microfluid device consists of two separate chambers connected by narrow channels. iPSC-derived DG neurons are seeded in one compartment and postsynaptic CA3 neurons in the opposing compartment. DG axons connect to CA3 neurons via narrow channels. Thus, this device enables investigation of CA3/DG circuit formation in vitro and of potential differences between neurons from patients with SCZ and healthy controls.

Adapted from Sarkar, A., Mei, A., Paquola, A.C.M., Stern, S., Bardy, C., Klug, J.R., Kim, S., Neshat, N., Kim, H.J., Ku, M., et al., 2018. Efficient generation of CA3 neurons from human pluripotent stem cells enables modeling of hippocampal connectivity in vitro. Cell Stem Cell 22, 684–697.e9; attributable license 4780771131092. neurons of the cerebral cortex that are derived from the germinal zones of the dorsal and ventral telencephalon, respectively. These neurons populate cortical layers at defined ratios in vivo that cannot be recapitulated by conventional 2D-culture or 3D-brain organoids (see below). Altered neuronal connectivity and changes in the excitation/inhibition (E/I) balance of cortical microcircuits have long been suspected to play a key role in SCZ etiology (Anticevic and Lisman, 2017; Foss-Feig et al., 2017). Brain spheroids could offer the possibility to study differences in the E/I balance of iPSC-derived neurons from patients with SCZ relative to healthy donors.

In another approach, brain organoids are derived from neural precursors that are differentiated in the presence of external patterning cues into specific brain regions. They contain a broad array of cell types that resemble in vivo counterparts (Quadrato et al., 2017) and many of these seem to track developmental trajectories from the human brain with similar variability (Velasco et al., 2019). As of yet, only one study (Stachowiak et al., 2017) has sought to explore this new technique for the study of psychiatric disorders by investigating potential differences in forebrain organoid formation between patients with familial SCZ and healthy controls. The researchers observed that in cases proliferative NPCs were retained in the subcortical intermediate zone and developed into atypically placed deep subcortical neurons. Moreover, T-box brain one positive pioneer neurons were delayed in entering upper cortical layers, while calretinin-positive interneurons exhibited perturbed intercortical connectivity. Taken together, this study takes previous findings on impaired migration and differentiation of iPSC-derived neurons from patients with SCZ (Major results from iPSC-based modeling of psychiatric disorders) an important step further by linking them to aberrant subcortical neurogenesis in a reductionist model of human brain development.

The work of Stachowiak et al. (2017) raises further the question of whether patient-specific brain organoids could also enable insight into disease-associated alterations in neuronal connectivity. Extracellular recording of brain organoids has evidenced spontaneous action potentials and coordinated bursting activity in support of functional neuronal networks (Quadrato et al., 2017). Moreover, from 6 months onward in culture, cortical organoids exhibit nested oscillatory network activity raising the prospect to model the development of neural networks (Trujillo et al., 2019). As encouraging these findings are, we would like to caution that the hurdle for case/control studies in psychiatric disorders remains still high at the level of organoids. In addition to high costs for extended organoid cell culture, organoidto-organoid variability is high and increases over time. A possible explanation for this variability is that brain organoids do not recapitulate faithfully distinct cellular subtype identities and appropriate progenitor maturation from cortical development in vivo (Bhaduri et al., 2020). Moreover, molecular signatures of cortical areas emerging in organoid neurons are less spatially segregated than in primary samples. Hence, future studies are necessary to clarify to what degree brain organoids can be used to model microcircuit formation in health and disease.
Toward in vivo systems for iPSC-based modeling of psychiatric disorders

While the study by Bhaduri et al. (2020) revived the debate on the fidelity of brain organoids for modeling early brain development in vitro, the same researchers also showed that abnormal development in vitro was rescued following transplantation of dissected brain organoids into the cortex of newborn mice brain. This result is of particular relevance to two recent iPSC-based case/control studies on SCZ that have applied transplantation of human precursor cells into mice (Shao et al., 2019; Windrem et al., 2017). These studies were originally based on the rationale that the microenvironment in mice cortices might be more permissive to unmask rather subtle neurodevelopmental phenotypes expected from psychiatric disorders. Additionally, Windrem et al. (2017) chose children with early onset of SCZ (COS), who show greater neurodevelopmental deviance early in life, while the clinical and neurobiological course of the disease is continuous with adult onset SCZ (Gogtay, 2008). Human glial precursor cells (hGPCs) derived from iPSCs of patients with COS or age-matched healthy individuals were engrafted into neonatal immunedeficient shiverer mice (Fig. 10.2). Owing to the lack of myelin basic protein (MBP), this strain of mice develops congenital hypomyelination. Control transplanted hGPCs gave rise to both astrocytes and myelinogenic oligodendrocytes that efficiently populated the host forebrain. By contrast, hGPCs from COS entered the host cortex prematurely, produced less donor cells, and developed into less differentiated oligodendrocytes and astrocytes (Fig. 10.2).

Interestingly, myelin wild-type mice engrafted with hGPCs from COS showed a significantly reduced auditory prepulse inhibition (a proxy to sensorimotor gating deficits in some patients with SCZ) when compared to counterparts engrafted with hGPCs from healthy donors. Furthermore, glial chimerization with hGPCs from COS was associated with increased anxiety and fear in recipient mice and concomitant deficits in socialization, cognition, and sleep patterning, relative to mice counterparts engrafted with hGPCs from healthy individuals (Fig. 10.2). All of these behavioral symptoms are frequently found in patients with SCZ and suggest altered circuit and synapse formation in mice engrafted with hGPCs from patients with COS.

In another transplantation study in mice, Shao et al. (2019) sought to address the E/I balance of cortical microcircuits in SCZ. For this purpose, patients with SCZ were selected based on prior clozapine treatment, a second line medication for severe SCZ. Firstly, the researchers showed that iPSC-derived GABA-ergic cortical interneurons (cINs) from both controls and cases undistinguishably developed into authentic and fully functional interneurons in engrafted mice. In a complementary approach, RNA-sequencing of in vitro differentiated cINs from controls and cases uncovered downregulation of the protocadherin alpha family in cases, which was specific to GABA-ergic fate. Well-fitting, in vitro differentiated cINs from cases showed reductions in somatic neurite numbers, total branch numbers, and total neurite length when compared to healthy controls. Consistent with these in vitro results,



FIGURE 10.2

Flowchart for the investigation of iPSCs-derived glial precursor cells from age-matched healthy children and children with COS. In vitro differentiated glial precursor cells were engrafted in myelin-deficient shiverer or myelin wild-type neonate mice. The distribution of donor cells in the recipient mice brains was assessed by histological analysis. In addition, the extent of myelination and of differentiation into astrocytes was investigated (*left*). In a complementary set of experiments, control or case glial precursor cells were engrafted in myelin wild-type neonate mice that underwent a battery of behavioral tests thought to mimic symptoms from patients with SCZ.

Adapted from Windrem, M.S., Osipovitch, M., Liu, Z., Bates, J., Chandler-Militello, D., Zou, L., Munir, J., Schanz, S., McCoy, K., Miller, R.H., et al., 2017. Human iPSC glial mouse chimeras reveal glial contributions to schizophrenia. Cell Stem Cell 21, 195–208.e6; attributable license 4780780133937. cINs from case-engrafted mice showed a significant reduction in inhibitory synapse formation in vivo relative to control-engrafted mice. Overall, Shao et al. (2019) established an integrated iPSC-based approach for the investigation of the E/I balance of cortical microcircuits in SCZ. Remarkably, iPSC-derived cINs from patients with SCZ formed less inhibitory synapses in transplanted mice and in vitro culture. This phenotype developed in the absence of other potential abnormalities in cortical circuitry and thus pointed to a cell autonomous defect of iPSC-derived cINs from patients with SCZ.

While both iPSC-transplantation studies (Shao et al., 2019; Windrem et al., 2017) support a role of disrupted neural circuits in SCZ, it is important to realize that neurons, and the networks they form, do not operated outside the world of other cell types populating the living brain. In fact, Windrem et al. (2017) argued that impaired oligodendrocytic and/or astrocytic differentiation may be a primary cause of impaired neuronal network function in transplanted mice. Oligodendrocytes perform myelination of axons in white mater to boost neuron conduction, while astrocytic networks enhance synaptic efficacy and plasticity and underpin the differential competence of hominid glia (Han et al., 2013; Oberheim et al., 2009). Taking these considerations into account, it will become important to study microcircuit function under more naturalistic conditions than afforded by current 2D/3D systems. An ideal in vitro system should contain neural, glial, immune, and vascular cells in appropriate proportions to recapitulate the intricate balance of interactions between these cell types in vivo. This would allow to assess iPSC-derived cells from patients and cases with greater fidelity for differences in neuronal circuits, and potentially affected high level systems functions. While we are aware that rebuilding multicellular systems ab initio is a daunting task (Park et al., 2018), refinements in transplantation studies appear more feasible on intermediate terms. In fact, two recent reports (Mansour et al., 2018; Real et al., 2018) on transplantation of human stem cellderived cortical progenitors/neurons or brain organoids into adult mice brain lend further support to this suggestion. Engrafted brain organoids developed corticothalamic, subcerebral, and intracortical projections neurons, though these neurons did not faithfully trace the laminar organization of the host cortex. Additionally, engrafted human organoids gave rise to astrocytes and oligodendrocytes, were vascularized within 2 weeks by the host tissue, and were invaded by host microglia. Cortical and subcortical long-range connections from transplanted neurons underwent with maturation structural refinements and integrated functionally into existing host circuits (Mansour et al., 2018). Lastly, engrafted brain organoids acquired progressively synchronous network activity and oscillatory patterns, and responded to sensory stimuli indicating circuit-level maturation (Real et al., 2018). This finding may open the perspective to investigate iPSC-derived case/control cells not only under resting conditions, but also in response to environmental exposures of recipient mice. If yes, circuit-level integration of human iPSC-derived cells may also offer a tool to dissect genes environment interactions in a living model system.

Uncovering causality in iPSC-based modeling of psychiatric disorders

In contrast to our rapidly expanding knowledge on genetic risk variants associated with major psychiatric disorders, our insight into how these variants contribute causally to disease is still in its infancy. This is due to the fact that risk SNPs typically localize to noncoding regions and capture all the genetic variation localized in an SNP-associated haplotype block (Sullivan and Geschwind, 2019). Hence, risk-associated SNPs do not encode necessarily the causal regulatory variation in disease, but may merely flag a critical genomic region. The advance of genetic and epigenetic editing techniques has provided powerful tools to narrow down and dissect the causal role of single, or multiple SNPs, on molecular and cellular phenotypes in disease-relevant living cells from diseased and healthy donors. While editing techniques have been readily embraced for the investigation of monogenic diseases (Soldner and Jaenisch, 2018), their potential for the exploration of polygenic psychiatric diseases has been recognized only recently.

Genetic editing of GWAS risk SNPs in iPSC-based modeling of psychiatric disorders

Mature micro-RNAs (miRNAs) are noncoding RNAs of ~22 nucleotides in size (Bartel, 2009) that associate with the cytoplasmatic RISC complex (RNA induced silencing complex). Subsequently, miRNAs target through a 6- to 8-base pair complementary seed region single or multiple mRNAs and downregulate their expression. Although miRNAs have been originally recognized for their roles in cell lineage and cell fate decisions during (neuro-) development, more recent evidence supports additional roles in neuronal differentiation and maturation (Rajman and Schratt, 2017; Sun et al., 2013), and possibly, in higher brain functions (O'Connor et al., 2016). Compatible with this view, postmortem brains from patients with SCZ, MD, or ASD (autism spectrum disorder) showed altered miRNAs expression profiles. Among these, miR-137 maps to a locus previously implicated in SCZ (Lee et al., 2013; Ripke et al., 2013). In further support of a potentially causal role in SCZ, miR-137 regulates the expression of additional GWAS risk genes like *TCF4* (transcription factor 4) and *CACNA1C* (calcium channel voltage-dependent, 1-type, α -1C subunit) (Kwon et al., 2013; Lett et al., 2013).

To gain insight into the role of *MIR137* risk SNPs for gene expression, Siegert et al. (2015) converted directly fibroblasts containing either the major or minor allele (each carrying all four noncoding risk SNPs) into early neuron-like cells. In the presence of the minor allele, miR-137 expression was significantly increased when compared to the major allele and associated with a stronger downregulation of neuronal activity-dependent synaptic vesicle release and of presynaptic plasticity genes. Since these experiments left unanswered, which *MIR137* allele was actually involved in disease, as well as which SNPs contributed causally to gene expression,

Forrest et al. (2017) sought to prioritize GWAS risk SNPs prior to functional analyzes in iPSC-derived neuronal cells. For this purpose, the researchers used chromatin analysis (ATAC-sequencing) of neurally differentiated iPSCs to map open chromatin regions (OCRs). Differentiation into excitatory cortical neurons associated with dynamic changes in OCRs and both neuronal OCRs and transcription factor (TF) binding sites revealed a significant enrichment for GWAS risk variants from SCZ (Fig. 10.3). More relevant to this section, OCR mapping allowed assigning to a rare large effect SNP (rs1198588) at *MIR137* a potential regulatory role. To explore the hypothesized mechanistic link between the OCR at this risk SNP and *MIR137* expression, CRISPR/CAS9 editing was used to convert this SNP into a nonrisk allele in an iPSC line derived from a patient with SCZ. When compared to iPSCs containing the risk allele, isogenic iPSCs harboring the nonrisk allele exhibited altered chromatic dynamics at the *MIR137* locus and increased gene expression in cortical induced neurons (iNs). In turn, elevated levels of miR-137 associated with signs of reduced cortical maturation.

Taken together, this study (Forrest et al., 2017) firstly defined a causal role for a rare GWAS risk SNP in SCZ by integrating chromatin mapping, SNP editing, and comparative differentiation of isogenic iPSCs. Notably, presence of the risk allele associated with improved cortical maturation when compared to the nonrisk allele. While this result appears at first sight counterintuitive, gene-editing in a patient-specific iPSC-line support its relevance. Yet, the present study did not examine additional *MIR137* risk SNPs with a potential regulatory role in the same or opposite direction in cortical neurons. In fact, given the extraordinary genetic complexity of psychiatric disorders, we should not feel surprised when (epi-) genetic editing of single risk SNPs or genes (see below) produces molecular or cellular phenotypes opposite to "common sense".

Epigenetic editing of GWAS risk variants in iPSC-based modeling of psychiatric disorders

Polygenicity of psychiatric disorders implicates that many common variants of small effect size act together in disease manifestation. The nature of these interactions and the mechanisms involved are largely unknown at present. In a recent study, Schrode et al. (2019) sough to throw new light on this question by perturbing singly or jointly the expression of candidate genes nearby SCZ risk variants in isogenic iPSC-derived neuronal cells. For this purpose, variants and associated genes (Pardiñas et al., 2018; Ripke et al., 2014) were prioritized by integrating GWAS data and postmortem gene expression profiles. This strategy enabled for identifying variants predicted to impact risk for SCZ owing to their effect on gene expression (i.e., so-called expression quantitative trait loci; eQTLs) (Fig. 10.4). Among the prioritized candidate loci, five contained a single protein-coding gene: *FURIN*, *TSNARE1*, *CNTN4*, *CLCN3*, and *SNAP91*. In a nutshell, the proprotein convertase FURIN activates various regulatory proteins in the constitutive exocytic and endocytic pathway; TSNARE1 (t-SNARE domain containing 1) regulates intracellular protein transport and



FIGURE 10.3

A common GWAS risk SNP at *MIR137* regulates dendritic arborization in vitro. (A) Open chromatin regions (OCRs) are defined by ATAC-sequencing during differentiation of human iPSCs toward excitatory cortical neurons. (B) GWAS SNPs from SCZ are enriched in OCRs and are prioritized accordingly. (C) CRIPSR/CAS9 editing was used to generate an isogenic iPSC line from a patient with SCZ differing solely at the predicted functional GWAS risk SNP in *MIR137*. When compared to the risk allele (left), conversion to a nonrisk allele enhanced chromatin dynamics at the MIR137 locus and associated with increased miR-137 expression in excitatory iNs (right). Presence of the risk allele also associated with more mature dendritic arbors and neuronal protrusion of excitatory iNs relative to isogenic cells carrying the nonrisk allele.

Adapted from Forrest, M.P., Zhang, H., Moy, W., McGowan, H., Leites, C., Dionisio, L.E., Xu, Z., Shi, J., Sanders, A.R., Greenleaf, W.J., et al., 2017. Open chromatin profiling in hiPSC-derived neurons prioritizes functional noncoding psychiatric risk variants and highlights neurodevelopmental loci. Cell Stem Cell 21, 305–318.e8; attributable license 4780780427601.



FIGURE 10.4

Functional genomics of psychiatric disorders. GWAS enable identification of common genetic variants, typically SNPs, associated with disease. These risk variants can be prioritized by eQTL analysis (or any other method) to narrow down potentially regulatory SNPs affecting gene expression. Such credible SNPs are gene-edited by means of CRISPR/CAS to generate nonrisk alleles in human iPSCs. Then isogenic iPSCs are differentiated into distinct disease-relevant neuronal and glial cell types for further analysis including electrophysiology, gene expression, and histology, among other methods. In case prioritization of candidate SNPs is inapplicable, potential candidate genes can be regulated, singly or jointly, by CRISPR/CAS mediated activation or inhibition. Taken together, this strategy allows the identification and functional characterization of causal regulatory risk variants in disease-relevant cells in vitro.

synaptic exocytosis; CNTN4 (contactin 4) is an axon-associated cell adhesion molecule with a role in neuronal network formation; CLCN3 is a chloride voltage-gated channel; and SNAP91 (synaptosomal-associated protein, 91-KD) regulates synaptogenesis and presynaptic maturation.

In order to assess the role of the prioritized cis-eQTL in the 3' untranslated region of *FURIN*, CRISPR/CAS9 editing was used to produce homozygous nonrisk alleles in iPSCs from healthy donors. Thereafter, isogenic iPSCs were differentiated into glutamatergic or GABAergic iNs, or induced astrocytes. Among terminal differentiated cells, conversion to the nonrisk allele associated with *FURIN* downregulation concomitant to reduced neurite length and neuronal activity solely in excitatory neurons. By contrast, the nonrisk alleles associated with *FURIN* upregulation concomitant to increased cell migration at the NPC stage.

Since no single cis-eQTL could be defined for *TSNARE1*, *CLCN3*, and *SNAP91*, disease-relevant CRISPR/dCAS9-mediated activation (CRISPRa) of each candidate gene singly or jointly (including FURIN downregulation via RNAi) was used to assess their role for iPSC-derived neural cells from healthy donors. Remarkably, single perturbations resulted in transcriptional effects opposite to disease-associated

changes in iPSC-derived neurons and postmortem brain tissues from patients with SCZ. By contrast, joint regulation in the direction of disease, converged on transcriptional changes concordant with those from disease. Under this condition, a subgroup of upregulated (7%) and downregulated (11%) genes were more strongly regulated than predicted by the additive effects of singly regulated risk genes. These subgroups were enriched in genes relevant to synaptic functions, genes harboring rare CNVs or nonsynonymous de novo mutations in SCZ, and genes identified in SCZ GWAS.

Collectively, Schrode et al. (2019) tied up three complementary lines of experiments to gain insight into the nature of polygenicity in SCZ: Prioritization of risk SNPs based on their effect on gene expression in postmortem brains, comparative differentiation of risk SNP-edited isogenic iPSCs, and joint CRISPRa-mediated regulation of GWAS risk genes in the direction of disease in differentiated iPSCs. Beyond current findings, this proof of concept study provides a blueprint for future investigations in the field of functional genomics of psychiatric disorders (Fig. 10.4).

Conclusion and outlook

Patient-specific iPSC modeling of major psychiatric disorders has provided a wealth of information on molecular and cellular phenotypes that are thought to recapitulate to varying degrees alterations from diseased brains (for recent reviews, see (Hoffmann et al., 2018a,b; Ahmad et al., 2018). Progress on differentiation protocols, high throughput measurements (e.g., high content imaging, multielectrode systems), and patient stratification is expected to increase reproducibility within and across iPSC studies further and thus to strengthen statistical power.

Irrespective of these upcoming advancements, we argued here that cardinal features of major psychiatric disorders are neglected by so far owing to technical challenges deemed unsurmountable in iPSC-base modeling until recently. These include impairments in local and distant connectivity, complex cell-cell interactions that extend beyond a purely neurocentric view, and above all, the uncharted territory of polygenicity. We discussed key studies that open up the horizon to expand our knowledge in this direction, but that also raise new questions in terms of feasibility and interpretation. Undoubtedly, progress on microfluid systems, 3D-culture, transplantation, and (epi-) genetic editing involves cost-intensive techniques that require a high degree of technical skills and analytical training unaffordable to many laboratories. Even then, when these limitations do not apply, we need to accept that whatsoever sophisticated experimental in vitro and in vivo systems remain models that cannot recapitulate the complexity of the living brain in its entirety. In fact, these models can yield results difficult to reconcile with those from independent research lines. Examples discussed here include unexpected "beneficial" effects from risk alleles when compared to nonrisk alleles (e.g., MIR137 and FURIN Forrest et al., 2017; Schrode et al., 2019) or unexpected synergistic effects of SCZ GWAS risk variants at the transcriptional level (Schrode et al., 2019). As we poorly know how single cellular effects cascade up- and downstream on higher level systems function in living brains or how the transcriptional logic of cellular in vitro systems couples to polygenicity in psychiatric disorder, we have to abstain from premature conclusions—exciting as these may appear. As the human brain functions as a whole, not as the sum of its parts, no single iPSC-based experimental approach is likely to deliver final answers to all the challenges outlaid here. Nonetheless, the combination of different levels of iPSC-based modeling, and their integration with clinical and genetic findings, bears a high potential to accelerate progress on psychiatric disorders and therapy on intermediate terms.

Author contributions

All authors contributed to the conceptualization, literature search, draft preparation, and review and editing. A.H. performed visualization.

Funding

M.Z. is supported by BMBF, grant number 01ZX1504.

Acknowledgments

We are thankful to our colleagues for thoughtful discussions and advice. Fig. 10.1 is adapted after (Sarkar et al., 2018), attributable license 4780771131092; Fig. 10.2 is adapted after (Windrem et al., 2017), attributable license 4780780133937; Fig. 10.3 is adapted after (Forrest et al., 2017), attributable license 4780780427601; and Fig. 10.4 is partly adapted after (Ikram et al., 2010), attributable open access.

References

- Ahmad, R., Sportelli, V., Ziller, M., Spengler, D., Hoffmann, A., 2018. Tracing early neurodevelopment in schizophrenia with induced pluripotent stem cells. Cells 7.
- Anticevic, A., Lisman, J., 2017. How can global alteration of excitation/inhibition balance lead to the local dysfunctions that underlie schizophrenia? Biol. Psychiatry 81, 818–820.
- Bartel, D.P., 2009. MicroRNAs: target recognition and regulatory functions. Cell 136, 215–233.
- Bavamian, S., Mellios, N., Lalonde, J., Fass, D.M., Wang, J., Sheridan, S.D., Madison, J.M., Zhou, F., Rueckert, E.H., Barker, D., et al., 2015. Dysregulation of miR-34a links neuronal development to genetic risk factors for bipolar disorder. Mol. Psychiatry 20, 573–584.
- Bhaduri, A., Andrews, M.G., Mancia Leon, W., Jung, D., Shin, D., Allen, D., Jung, D., Schmunk, G., Haeussler, M., Salma, J., et al., 2020. Cell stress in cortical organoids impairs molecular subtype specification. Nature 578, 142–148.

- Brennand, K.J., Gage, F.H., 2011. Concise review: the promise of human induced pluripotent stem cell-based studies of schizophrenia. Stem Cell. 29, 1915–1922.
- Brennand, K.J., Simone, A., Jou, J., Gelboin-Burkhart, C., Tran, N., Sangar, S., Li, Y., Mu, Y., Chen, G., Yu, D., et al., 2011. Modelling schizophrenia using human induced pluripotent stem cells. Nature 473, 221–225.
- Brennand, K., Savas, J.N., Kim, Y., Tran, N., Simone, A., Hashimoto-Torii, K., Beaumont, K.G., Kim, H.J., Topol, A., Ladran, I., et al., 2015. Phenotypic differences in hiPSC NPCs derived from patients with schizophrenia. Mol. Psychiatry 20, 361–368.
- Bryois, J., Skene, N.G., Folkmann Hansen, T., Kogelman, L.J.A., Watson, H.J., Brueggeman, L., Breen, G., Bulik, C.M., Arenas, E., Hjerling-Leffler, J., et al., 2019. Genetic identification of cell types underlying brain complex traits yields novel insights into the etiology of Parkinson's disease. bioRxiv 528463.
- Bundo, M., Toyoshima, M., Okada, Y., Akamatsu, W., Ueda, J., Nemoto-Miyauchi, T., Sunaga, F., Toritsuka, M., Ikawa, D., Kakita, A., et al., 2014. Increased 11 retrotransposition in the neuronal genome in schizophrenia. Neuron 81, 306–313.
- Burke, E.E., Chenoweth, J.G., Shin, J.H., Collado-Torres, L., Kim, S.K., Micali, N., Wang, Y., Straub, R.E., Hoeppner, D.J., Chen, H.-Y., 2018. Dissecting transcriptomic signatures of neuronal differentiation and maturation using iPSCs. bioRxiv 380758.
- Cannon, T.D., Thompson, P.M., van Erp, T.G.M., Toga, A.W., Poutanen, V.-P., Huttunen, M., Lonnqvist, J., Standerskjold-Nordenstam, C.-G., Narr, K.L., Khaledy, M., et al., 2002. Cortex mapping reveals regionally specific patterns of genetic and disease-specific gray-matter deficits in twins discordant for schizophrenia. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 99, 3228–3233.
- Charney, D.S., Sklar, P.B., Buxbaum, J.D., Nestler, E.J., 2018. Charney & Nestler's Neurobiology of Mental Illness. ISBN 978-0-19-069885-0.
- Chen, H.M., DeLong, C.J., Bame, M., Rajapakse, I., Herron, T.J., McInnis, M.G., O'Shea, K.S., 2014. Transcripts involved in calcium signaling and telencephalic neuronal fate are altered in induced pluripotent stem cells from bipolar disorder patients. Transl. Psychiatry 4, e375.
- Coleman, J.R.I., Gaspar, H.A., Bryois, J., Breen, G., 2019. The genetics of the mood disorder spectrum: genome-wide association analyses of over 185,000 cases and 439,000 controls. bioRxiv 383331.
- Collado-Torres, L., Burke, E.E., Peterson, A., Shin, J., Straub, R.E., Rajpurohit, A., Semick, S.A., Ulrich, W.S., Consortium, B.S., Price, A.J., et al., 2019. Regional heterogeneity in gene expression, regulation, and coherence in the frontal cortex and Hippocampus across development and schizophrenia. Neuron 103 (2), 203–216.
- Cross-disorder group of the psychiatric genomics consortium moller genomic relationships, novel loci, and pleiotropic mechanisms across eight psychiatric disorders. Cell 179, 2019, 1469–1482 e11.
- Diagnostic and statistical, 2013. Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders: DSM-5; American Psychiatric Association. In: Development; 5. American Psychiatric Publishing, Washington, DC. ISBN 978-0-89042-555-8.
- Forrest, M.P., Zhang, H., Moy, W., McGowan, H., Leites, C., Dionisio, L.E., Xu, Z., Shi, J., Sanders, A.R., Greenleaf, W.J., et al., 2017. Open chromatin profiling in hiPSC-derived neurons prioritizes functional noncoding psychiatric risk variants and highlights neurodevelopmental loci. Cell Stem Cell 21, 305–318 e8.

- Foss-Feig, J.H., Adkinson, B.D., Ji, J.L., Yang, G., Srihari, V.H., McPartland, J.C., Krystal, J.H., Murray, J.D., Anticevic, A., 2017. Searching for cross-diagnostic convergence: neural mechanisms governing excitation and inhibition balance in schizophrenia and autism spectrum disorders. Biol. Psychiatry 81, 848–861.
- Freedman, M.L., Monteiro, A.N.A., Gayther, S.A., Coetzee, G.A., Risch, A., Plass, C., Casey, G., De Biasi, M., Carlson, C., Duggan, D., et al., 2011. Principles for the post-GWAS functional characterization of cancer risk loci. Nat. Genet. 43, 513–518.
- Girdhar, K., Hoffman, G.E., Jiang, Y., Brown, L., Kundakovic, M., Hauberg, M.E., Francoeur, N.J., Wang, Y.-C., Shah, H., Kavanagh, D.H., et al., 2018. Cell-specific histone modification maps in the human frontal lobe link schizophrenia risk to the neuronal epigenome. Nat. Neurosci. 21, 1126–1136.
- Gogtay, N., 2008. Cortical brain development in schizophrenia: insights from neuroimaging studies in childhood-onset schizophrenia. Schizophr. Bull. 34, 30–36.
- Han, X., Chen, M., Wang, F., Windrem, M., Wang, S., Shanz, S., Xu, Q., Oberheim, N.A., Bekar, L., Betstadt, S., et al., 2013. Forebrain engraftment by human glial progenitor cells enhances synaptic plasticity and learning in adult mice. Cell Stem Cell 12, 342–353.
- Hashimoto-Torii, K., Torii, M., Fujimoto, M., Nakai, A., El Fatimy, R., Mezger, V., Ju, M.J., Ishii, S., Chao, S.-H., Brennand, K.J., et al., 2014. Roles of heat shock factor 1 in neuronal response to fetal environmental risks and its relevance to brain disorders. Neuron 82, 560–572.
- Hoffmann, A., Ziller, M., Spengler, D., 2018a. Childhood-onset schizophrenia: insights from induced pluripotent stem cells. Int. J. Mol. Sci. 19.
- Hoffmann, A., Sportelli, V., Ziller, M., Spengler, D., 2018b. From the psychiatrist's couch to induced pluripotent stem cells: bipolar disease in a dish. Int. J. Mol. Sci. 19.
- Hoffmann, A., Ziller, M., Spengler, D., 2020. Focus on causality in ESC/iPSC-Based modeling of psychiatric disorders. Cells 9.
- Ikram, M.K., Sim, X., Xueling, S., Jensen, R.A., Cotch, M.F., Hewitt, A.W., Ikram, M.A., Wang, J.J., Klein, R., Klein, B.E.K., et al., 2010. Four novel Loci (19q13, 6q24, 12q24, and 5q14) influence the microcirculation in vivo. PLoS Genet. 6, e1001184.
- Induced pluripotent Induced pluripotent stem (iPS) cells: methods and protocols. In: Turksen, K., Nagy, A. (Eds.), 2016. Methods in Molecular Biology. Humana Press, New York. ISBN 978-1-4939-3055-5.
- James, S.L., Abate, D., Abate, K.H., Abay, S.M., Abbafati, C., Abbasi, N., Abbastabar, H., Abd-Allah, F., Abdela, J., Abdelalim, A., et al., 2018. Global, regional, and national incidence, prevalence, and years lived with disability for 354 diseases and injuries for 195 countries and territories, 1990-2017: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017. Lancet 392, 1789–1858.
- Kwon, E., Wang, W., Tsai, L.-H., 2013. Validation of schizophrenia-associated genes CSMD1, C10orf26, CACNA1C and TCF4 as miR-137 targets. Mol. Psychiatry 18, 11–12.
- Lee, S.H., Neale, B.M., Faraone, S.V., Purcell, S.M., Perlis, R.H., Mowry, B.J., Thapar, A., Goddard, M.E., Witte, J.S., Absher, D., et al., 2013. Genetic relationship between five psychiatric disorders estimated from genome-wide SNPs. Cross-Disorder Group Psychiatric Genom. Consortium. Nat. Genet. 45, 984–994.
- Lett, T.A., Chakravarty, M.M., Chakavarty, M.M., Felsky, D., Brandl, E.J., Tiwari, A.K., Gonçalves, V.F., Rajji, T.K., Daskalakis, Z.J., Meltzer, H.Y., et al., 2013. The genomewide supported microRNA-137 variant predicts phenotypic heterogeneity within schizophrenia. Mol. Psychiatry 18, 443–450.

- Madison, J.M., Zhou, F., Nigam, A., Hussain, A., Barker, D.D., Nehme, R., van der Ven, K., Hsu, J., Wolf, P., Fleishman, M., et al., 2015. Characterization of bipolar disorder patientspecific induced pluripotent stem cells from a family reveals neurodevelopmental and mRNA expression abnormalities. Mol. Psychiatry 20, 703–717.
- Mansour, A.A., Gonçalves, J.T., Bloyd, C.W., Li, H., Fernandes, S., Quang, D., Johnston, S., Parylak, S.L., Jin, X., Gage, F.H., 2018. An in vivo model of functional and vascularized human brain organoids. Nat. Biotechnol. 36, 432.
- Mariani, J., Simonini, M.V., Palejev, D., Tomasini, L., Coppola, G., Szekely, A.M., Horvath, T.L., Vaccarino, F.M., 2012. Modeling human cortical development in vitro using induced pluripotent stem cells. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 109, 12770–12775.
- McIntosh, A.M., Sullivan, P.F., Lewis, C.M., 2019. Uncovering the genetic architecture of major depression. Neuron 102, 91–103.
- Mental Health and Development | United Nations Enable. Available online: https://www.un. org/development/desa/disabilities/issues/mental-health-and-development.html. (Accessed on Sepiember 18, 2019).
- Mertens, J., Wang, Q.-W., Kim, Y., Yu, D.X., Pham, S., Yang, B., Zheng, Y., Diffenderfer, K.E., Zhang, J., Soltani, S., et al., 2015. Differential responses to lithium in hyperexcitable neurons from patients with bipolar disorder. Nature 527, 95–99.
- Nagel, M., Jansen, P.R., Stringer, S., Watanabe, K., de Leeuw, C.A., Bryois, J., Savage, J.E., Hammerschlag, A.R., Skene, N.G., Muñoz-Manchado, A.B., et al., 2018. Meta-analysis of genome-wide association studies for neuroticism in 449,484 individuals identifies novel genetic loci and pathways. Nat. Genet. 50, 920–927.
- Narla, S.T., Lee, Y.-W., Benson, C.A., Sarder, P., Brennand, K.J., Stachowiak, E.K., Stachowiak, M.K., 2017. Common developmental genome deprogramming in schizophrenia - role of integrative nuclear FGFR1 signaling (INFS). Schizophr. Res. 185, 17–32.
- Ni, P., Noh, H., Park, G.-H., Shao, Z., Guan, Y., Park, J.M., Yu, S., Park, J.S., Coyle, J.T., Weinberger, D.R., et al., 2020. iPSC-derived homogeneous populations of developing schizophrenia cortical interneurons have compromised mitochondrial function. Mol. Psychiatry 25 (11), 3103–3104.
- Nicholas, C.R., Chen, J., Tang, Y., Southwell, D.G., Chalmers, N., Vogt, D., Arnold, C.M., Chen, Y.-J.J., Stanley, E.G., Elefanty, A.G., et al., 2013. Functional maturation of hPSC-derived forebrain interneurons requires an extended timeline and mimics human neural development. Cell Stem Cell 12, 573–586.
- O'Connor, R.M., Gururajan, A., Dinan, T.G., Kenny, P.J., Cryan, J.F., 2016. All roads lead to the miRNome: miRNAs have a central role in the molecular pathophysiology of psychiatric disorders. Trends Pharmacol. Sci. 37, 1029–1044.
- O'Dushlaine, C., 2015. The network and pathway analysis subgroup of the psychiatric genomics consortium psychiatric genome-wide association study analyses implicate neuronal, immune and histone pathways. Nat. Neurosci. 18, 199–209.
- Oberheim, N.A., Takano, T., Han, X., He, W., Lin, J.H.C., Wang, F., Xu, Q., Wyatt, J.D., Pilcher, W., Ojemann, J.G., et al., 2009. Uniquely hominid features of adult human astrocytes. J. Neurosci. 29, 3276–3287.
- Owen, M.J., O'Donovan, M.C., 2017. Schizophrenia and the neurodevelopmental continuum: evidence from genomics. World Psychiatry 16, 227–235.

- Pardiñas, A.F., Holmans, P., Pocklington, A.J., Escott-Price, V., Ripke, S., Carrera, N., Legge, S.E., Bishop, S., Cameron, D., Hamshere, M.L., et al., 2018. Common schizophrenia alleles are enriched in mutation-intolerant genes and in regions under strong background selection. Nat. Genet. 50, 381–389.
- Park, J., Wetzel, I., Marriott, I., Dréau, D., D'Avanzo, C., Kim, D.Y., Tanzi, R.E., Cho, H., 2018. A 3D human triculture system modeling neurodegeneration and neuroinflammation in Alzheimer's disease. Nat. Neurosci. 21, 941–951.
- Paşca, A.M., Sloan, S.A., Clarke, L.E., Tian, Y., Makinson, C.D., Huber, N., Kim, C.H., Park, J.-Y., O'Rourke, N.A., Nguyen, K.D., et al., 2015. Functional cortical neurons and astrocytes from human pluripotent stem cells in 3D culture. Nat. Methods 12, 671–678.
- Paşca, S.P., 2019. Assembling human brain organoids. Science 363, 126–127.
- Paulsen, B. da S., de Moraes Maciel, R., Galina, A., Souza da Silveira, M., dos Santos Souza, C., Drummond, H., Nascimento Pozzatto, E., Silva, H., Chicaybam, L., Massuda, R., et al., 2012. Altered oxygen metabolism associated to neurogenesis of induced pluripotent stem cells derived from a schizophrenic patient. Cell Transplant. 21, 1547–1559.
- Polioudakis, D., de la Torre-Ubieta, L., Langerman, J., Elkins, A.G., Shi, X., Stein, J.L., Vuong, C.K., Nichterwitz, S., Gevorgian, M., Opland, C.K., et al., 2019. A single-cell transcriptomic atlas of human neocortical development during mid-gestation. Neuron 103, 785–801 e8.
- Kandel, E.R., Schwartz, J.H., Jessel, T.M., Siegelbaum, S.A., Hudspeth, A.J., Mack, S. (Eds.), 2013. Principles of Neural Science, fifth ed. McGraw-Hill Medical, New York Lisbon London. ISBN 978-0-07-139011-8.
- Quadrato, G., Nguyen, T., Macosko, E.Z., Sherwood, J.L., Min Yang, S., Berger, D.R., Maria, N., Scholvin, J., Goldman, M., Kinney, J.P., et al., 2017. Cell diversity and network dynamics in photosensitive human brain organoids. Nature 545, 48–53.
- Rajman, M., Schratt, G., 2017. MicroRNAs in neural development: from master regulators to fine-tuners. Development 144, 2310–2322.
- Real, R., Peter, M., Trabalza, A., Khan, S., Smith, M.A., Dopp, J., Barnes, S.J., Momoh, A., Strano, A., Volpi, E., et al., 2018. In vivo modeling of human neuron dynamics and Down syndrome. Science 362 (6416), 1–9.
- Ripke, S., O'Dushlaine, C., Chambert, K., Moran, J.L., Kähler, A.K., Akterin, S., Bergen, S.E., Collins, A.L., Crowley, J.J., Fromer, M., et al., 2013. Genome-wide association analysis identifies 13 new risk loci for schizophrenia. Nat. Genet. 45, 1150–1159.
- Ripke, S., Neale, B.M., Corvin, A., Walters, J.T., Farh, K.-H., Holmans, P.A., Lee, P., Bulik-Sullivan, B., Collier, D.A., Huang, H., 2014. Biological insights from 108 schizophreniaassociated genetic loci. Nature 511, 421.
- Robicsek, O., Karry, R., Petit, I., Salman-Kesner, N., Müller, F.-J., Klein, E., Aberdam, D., Ben-Shachar, D., 2013. Abnormal neuronal differentiation and mitochondrial dysfunction in hair follicle-derived induced pluripotent stem cells of schizophrenia patients. Mol. Psychiatry 18, 1067–1076.
- Rothbauer, M., Zirath, H., Ertl, P., 2018. Recent advances in microfluidic technologies for cell-to-cell interaction studies. Lab Chip 18, 249–270.
- Roussos, P., Guennewig, B., Kaczorowski, D.C., Barry, G., Brennand, K.J., 2016. Activitydependent changes in gene expression in schizophrenia human-induced pluripotent stem cell neurons. JAMA Psychiatry 73, 1180–1188.

- Sadock, V.A., 2017. Concise Textbook of Clinical Psychiatry. Lippincott Williams & Wilkins. ISBN 978-1-4963-4525-7.
- Sarkar, A., Mei, A., Paquola, A.C.M., Stern, S., Bardy, C., Klug, J.R., Kim, S., Neshat, N., Kim, H.J., Ku, M., et al., 2018. Efficient generation of CA3 neurons from human pluripotent stem cells enables modeling of hippocampal connectivity in vitro. Cell Stem Cell 22, 684–697 e9.
- Schmitt, A., Hasan, A., Gruber, O., Falkai, P., 2011. Schizophrenia as a disorder of disconnectivity. Eur. Arch. Psychiatry Clin. Neurosci. 261 (Suppl. 2), S150–S154.
- Schork, A.J., Won, H., Appadurai, V., Nudel, R., Gandal, M., Delaneau, O., Revsbech Christiansen, M., Hougaard, D.M., Bækved-Hansen, M., Bybjerg-Grauholm, J., et al., 2019. A genome-wide association study of shared risk across psychiatric disorders implicates gene regulation during fetal neurodevelopment. Nat. Neurosci. 22 (3), 353–361.
- Schrode, N., Ho, S.-M., Yamamuro, K., Dobbyn, A., Huckins, L., Matos, M.R., Cheng, E., Deans, P.J.M., Flaherty, E., Barretto, N., et al., 2019. Synergistic effects of common schizophrenia risk variants. Nat. Genet. 51 (10), 1475–1485.
- Shao, Z., Noh, H., Bin Kim, W., Ni, P., Nguyen, C., Cote, S.E., Noyes, E., Zhao, J., Parsons, T., Park, J.M., et al., 2019. Dysregulated protocadherin-pathway activity as an intrinsic defect in induced pluripotent stem cell-derived cortical interneurons from subjects with schizophrenia. Nat. Neurosci. 22 (2), 229–242.
- Siegert, S., Seo, J., Kwon, E.J., Rudenko, A., Cho, S., Wang, W., Flood, Z., Martorell, A.J., Ericsson, M., Mungenast, A.E., et al., 2015. The schizophrenia risk gene product miR-137 alters presynaptic plasticity. Nat. Neurosci. 18, 1008–1016.
- Skene, N.G., Bryois, J., Bakken, T.E., Breen, G., Crowley, J.J., Gaspar, H.A., Giusti-Rodriguez, P., Hodge, R.D., Miller, J.A., Muñoz-Manchado, A.B., et al., 2018. Genetic identification of brain cell types underlying schizophrenia. Nat. Genet. 50, 825–833.
- Soldner, F., Jaenisch, R., 2018. Stem cells, genome editing, and the path to translational medicine. Cell 175, 615–632.
- Srikanth, P., Han, K., Callahan, D.G., Makovkina, E., Muratore, C.R., Lalli, M.A., Zhou, H., Boyd, J.D., Kosik, K.S., Selkoe, D.J., et al., 2015. Genomic DISC1 disruption in hiPSCs alters Wnt signaling and neural cell fate. Cell Rep. 12, 1414–1429.
- Stachowiak, E., Benson, C., Narla, S., Dimitri, A., Chuye, L.B., Dhiman, S., Harikrishnan, K., Elahi, S., Freedman, D., Brennand, K., 2017. Cerebral organoids reveal early cortical maldevelopment in schizophrenia—computational anatomy and genomics, role of FGFR1. Transl. Psychiatry 7, 6.
- Stein, J.L., de la Torre-Ubieta, L., Tian, Y., Parikshak, N.N., Hernández, I.A., Marchetto, M.C., Baker, D.K., Lu, D., Hinman, C.R., Lowe, J.K., et al., 2014. A quantitative framework to evaluate modeling of cortical development by neural stem cells. Neuron 83, 69–86.
- Stephan, K.E., Bach, D.R., Fletcher, P.C., Flint, J., Frank, M.J., Friston, K.J., Heinz, A., Huys, Q.J.M., Owen, M.J., Binder, E.B., et al., 2016. Charting the landscape of priority problems in psychiatry, part 1: classification and diagnosis. Lancet Psychiatry 3, 77–83.
- Sullivan, P.F., Geschwind, D.H., 2019. Defining the genetic, genomic, cellular, and diagnostic architectures of psychiatric disorders. Cell 177, 162–183.
- Stern, S., Santos, R., Marchetto, M.C., Mendes, A.P.D., Rouleau, G.A., Biesmans, S., Wang, Q.-W., Yao, J., Charnay, P., Bang, A.G., et al., 2018. Neurons derived from patients with bipolar disorder divide into intrinsically different sub-populations of neurons, predicting the patients' responsiveness to lithium. Mol. Psychiatry 23, 1453–1465.

242 CHAPTER 10 iPSC-based modeling in psychiatric disorders

- Sullivan, P.F., Daly, M.J., O'Donovan, M., 2012. Genetic architectures of psychiatric disorders: the emerging picture and its implications. Nat. Rev. Genet. 13, 537–551.
- Sun, A.X., Crabtree, G.R., Yoo, A.S., 2013. MicroRNAs: regulators of neuronal fate. Curr. Opin. Cell Biol. 25, 215–221.
- Tobe, B.T.D., Crain, A.M., Winquist, A.M., Calabrese, B., Makihara, H., Zhao, W.-N., Lalonde, J., Nakamura, H., Konopaske, G., Sidor, M., et al., 2017. Probing the lithiumresponse pathway in hiPSCs implicates the phosphoregulatory set-point for a cytoskeletal modulator in bipolar pathogenesis. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 114, E4462–E4471.
- Topol, A., Zhu, S., Tran, N., Simone, A., Fang, G., Brennand, K.J., 2015. Altered WNT signaling in human induced pluripotent stem cell neural progenitor cells derived from four schizophrenia patients. Biol. Psychiatry 78, e29–34.
- Topol, A., Zhu, S., Hartley, B.J., English, J., Hauberg, M.E., Tran, N., Rittenhouse, C.A., Simone, A., Ruderfer, D.M., Johnson, J., et al., 2016. Dysregulation of miRNA-9 in a subset of schizophrenia patient-derived neural progenitor cells. Cell Rep. 15, 1024–1036.
- Trujillo, C.A., Gao, R., Negraes, P.D., Gu, J., Buchanan, J., Preissl, S., Wang, A., Wu, W., Haddad, G.G., Chaim, I.A., et al., 2019. Complex oscillatory waves emerging from cortical organoids model early human brain network development. Cell Stem Cell 25, 558–569 e7.
- Vadodaria, K.C., Ji, Y., Skime, M., Paquola, A., Nelson, T., Hall-Flavin, D., Fredlender, C., Heard, K.J., Deng, Y., Le, A.T., et al., 2019a. Serotonin-induced hyperactivity in SSRIresistant major depressive disorder patient-derived neurons. Mol. Psychiatry 24 (6), 795–807.
- Vadodaria, K.C., Ji, Y., Skime, M., Paquola, A.C., Nelson, T., Hall-Flavin, D., Heard, K.J., Fredlender, C., Deng, Y., Elkins, J., et al., 2019b. Altered serotonergic circuitry in SSRI-resistant major depressive disorder patient-derived neurons. Mol. Psychiatry 24 (6), 808-818.
- Velasco, S., Kedaigle, A.J., Simmons, S.K., Nash, A., Rocha, M., Quadrato, G., Paulsen, B., Nguyen, L., Adiconis, X., Regev, A., et al., 2019. Individual brain organoids reproducibly form cell diversity of the human cerebral cortex. Nature 570, 523–527.
- Vizlin-Hodzic, D., Zhai, Q., Illes, S., Södersten, K., Truvé, K., Parris, T.Z., Sobhan, P.K., Salmela, S., Kosalai, S.T., Kanduri, C., et al., 2017. Early onset of inflammation during ontogeny of bipolar disorder: the NLRP2 inflammasome gene distinctly differentiates between patients and healthy controls in the transition between iPS cell and neural stem cell stages. Transl. Psychiatry 7, e1010.
- Wadehra, S., Pruitt, P., Murphy, E.R., Diwadkar, V.A., 2013. Network dysfunction during associative learning in schizophrenia: increased activation, but decreased connectivity: an fMRI study. Schizophr. Res. 148, 38–49.
- Wang, J.L., Shamah, S.M., Sun, A.X., Waldman, I.D., Haggarty, S.J., Perlis, R.H., 2014. Label-free, live optical imaging of reprogrammed bipolar disorder patient-derived cells reveals a functional correlate of lithium responsiveness. Transl. Psychiatry 4, e428.
- Wen, Z., Nguyen, H.N., Guo, Z., Lalli, M.A., Wang, X., Su, Y., Kim, N.-S., Yoon, K.-J., Shin, J., Zhang, C., et al., 2014. Synaptic dysregulation in a human iPS cell model of mental disorders. Nature 515, 414–418.
- WHO | Fact sheets: mental health. Available online: http://www.who.int/topics/mental_ health/factsheets/en/. (Accessed on September 18, 2019).
- Windrem, M.S., Osipovitch, M., Liu, Z., Bates, J., Chandler-Militello, D., Zou, L., Munir, J., Schanz, S., McCoy, K., Miller, R.H., et al., 2017. Human iPSC glial mouse chimeras reveal glial contributions to schizophrenia. Cell Stem Cell 21, 195–208 e6.

- Yoon, K.-J., Nguyen, H.N., Ursini, G., Zhang, F., Kim, N.-S., Wen, Z., Makri, G., Nauen, D., Shin, J.H., Park, Y., et al., 2014. Modeling a genetic risk for schizophrenia in iPSCs and mice reveals neural stem cell deficits associated with adherens junctions and polarity. Cell Stem Cell 15, 79–91.
- Yu, D.X., Di Giorgio, F.P., Yao, J., Marchetto, M.C., Brennand, K., Wright, R., Mei, A., McHenry, L., Lisuk, D., Grasmick, J.M., et al., 2014. Modeling hippocampal neurogenesis using human pluripotent stem cells. Stem Cell Rep. 2, 295–310.
- Zhao, D., Lin, M., Chen, J., Pedrosa, E., Hrabovsky, A., Fourcade, H.M., Zheng, D., Lachman, H.M., 2015. MicroRNA profiling of neurons generated using induced pluripotent stem cells derived from patients with schizophrenia and schizoaffective disorder, and 22q11.2 Del. PLoS One 10, e0132387.

This page intentionally left blank

Research applications of induced pluripotent stem cells for treatment and modeling of spinal cord injury

Katarzyna Pieczonka^{1,2,*}, William Brett McIntyre^{1,2,*}, Edward Robinson¹, Mohamad Khazaei^{1,**}, Michael G. Fehlings^{1,2,3,**}

¹Division of Genetics and Development, Krembil Research Institute, University Health Network, Toronto, ON, Canada; ²Institute of Medical Science, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada; ³Department of Surgery, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada

Chapter outline

Introduction	246
Molecular SCI pathophysiology	246
Current induced pluripotent stem cell treatment of spinal cord injury	247
Application of iPSCs for SCI cell-based therapies	248
iPSC-derived oligodendrocyte precursor cells	248
iPSC-derived neural cells	250
iPSC-derived Schwann cells	251
iPSC-derived mesenchymal stem cells	252
iPSC-derived pericytes	253
iPSC-derived inflammatory mediators	254
Application of iPSCs to generate 3D tissue for grafting into SCI	255
Bridging large gaps in the injured spinal cord using 3D-printed tissue	255
Engraftment and transplantation of human organoids for SCI	256
Application of iPSC-derived organoids for spinal cord modeling and research	257
Using iPSCs-organoids to model spinal cord injury in vitro	257
Injury modeling to organoid culture	258
Organoid model optimization: microfluidic platforms	259
Organoid model optimization: neurovascular units	. 259
Using iPSC organoids to model development	260

^{*} Equal contribution.

^{**} Mohamad Khazaei and Michael Fehlings are co-correponding authors.

Novel Concepts in iPSC Disease Modeling, Volume 15. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-823882-0.00004-7 Copyright © 2022 Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved.

Conclusion	
References	

Abstract

Spinal cord injury introduces complex pathophysiological consequences that contribute to devastating behavioral outcomes. In recent years, induced pluripotent stem cell (iPSC)-based technologies have emerged as tools that can advance cell-based therapeutics and disease modeling for SCI. iPSCs can be used as the starting source for a number of potential cell therapies, including oligodendrocyte precursor cells, neural cells, Schwann cells, mesenchymal stem cells, pericytes, and inflammatory cells, all of which aim to ameliorate the injury milieu. Threedimensional tissues and organoids can also be developed using iPSCs in an effort to promote bridge formation across the lesion. Moreover, iPSC-derived organoids introduce novel strategies for injury modeling, which can ultimately help guide research efforts. As such, iPSC-based cell therapies and disease models can help to advance SCI therapeutics.

Keywords: Induced pluripotent stem cells; Neural cells; Oligodendrocyte precursor cells; Organoids; Schwann cells; Spinal cord injury.

Introduction Molecular SCI pathophysiology

Spinal cord injury (SCI) pathology is biphasic in nature, comprising an initial primary mechanical trauma and a secondary phase, which constitutes the induction of detrimental injury cascades. Overall, the postinjury spinal cord milieu represents a harsh, pro-inflammatory microenvironment that inhibits central nervous system (CNS) regeneration and impairs functional recovery. Acute and subacute pathophysiology is characterized by apoptosis, demyelination, excitotoxicity, hemorrhaging, ionic imbalance, ischemia, necrosis, neuroinflammation, neuronal loss, and oxidative stress (Alizadeh et al., 2019, Oyinbo, 2011). One of the earliest sequalae of the primary injury is the disruption of spinal cord vasculature (Popa et al., 2010), which results in ischemia, hemorrhaging, and subsequent cellular death due to ATP deprivation, oxygen loss, and oxidative stress (Alizadeh et al., 2019). Neuronal and glial necrosis occurs as a result of direct plasma membrane disruption (Alizadeh et al., 2019), as well as ionic imbalance. The cellular disruption causes an increase in the extracellular glutamate concentration. Glutamatergic excitotoxicity in neurons and oligodendrocytes results in caspase-3 mediated apoptosis and an associated reduction in the perilesional cellular density by day seven (Xu et al., 2008). Moreover, the resultant ionic imbalance also damages axons by impeding mitochondrial ATP production via cytotoxic increases in [Ca²⁺]i. This permits an increase in [Na+]i via the impairment of Na^+/K^+ ATPases, which in turn activates voltagegated Na^+ channels (Li and Stys, 2001). Na^+ influx facilitates the entry of chloride and water down their electrochemical gradients, resulting in cellular swelling and membrane permeation (Alizadeh et al., 2019). Immediately after injury (0-2 day)postinjury (dpi)), damage-associated molecular pattern signaling activates astrocytes and microglia, which act to contain the lesion epicenter (Alizadeh et al., 2019). Signaling the secondary stage of inflammation (≈ 3 dpi), astrocytes upregulate the production of molecules that promote the extravasation and polarization of bloodborne monocytes (David and Kroner, 2011). Invading monocytes form macrophages which, depending on signals within their microenvironment, adopt either a neuroprotective M2-like, or pro-inflammatory M1-like, phenotype. The extracellular environment postinjury, mediated by TNF- α , tends to favor M1-like adoption (Kroner et al., 2014). Depending on their polarization, macrophages accordingly implement either remedial or inflammatory processes. M1-like macrophage contributions include axonal repulsion, pro-inflammatory cytokine production (e.g., IL-1 β , IL-6, TNF- α) and inducible nitric oxide synthase expression, which is linked with exacerbated glial and neuronal apoptosis. M2 macrophages, however, contribute to debris scavenging, lesion containment, and antiinflammatory cytokine production (e.g., IL-4, CD206). Microglia adopt similar markers and roles to monocyte-derived macrophages but are to be treated as distinct. SCI triggers the establishment of a glial scar that separates the penumbra from the epicenter (Kroner and Almanza, 2019). The glial scar is complex in nature and includes hypertrophied reactive astrocytes, pericytes, and the deposition of extracellular matrix molecules, which form an inhibitory chemophysical mesh barrier of intersecting filaments that acutely reduce the lesion and inflammatory expansion but chronically prevent axonal regeneration (Kroner and Almanza, 2019).

Current induced pluripotent stem cell treatment of spinal cord injury

Cell therapies in traumatic SCI have faced a number of difficulties. There is a lack of readily accessible CNS cells, and the expansion of remedial, multipotent, and pluripotent cell types is arduous. Embryonic stem cells, while rich in proliferative capacity, introduce issues of immunogenicity as well as those of an ethical nature, limiting their clinical viability (Jin et al., 2019, Khazaei et al., 2017). Due to their limitless supply, proliferative capacity, and ability to circumvent the aforementioned obstacles facing ESC-based methods, induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs) represent the current front runner of stem cell therapy in SCI treatment. Human iPSC-derived (hiPSC) cells can be derived from somatic cells following the addition of four Yamanaka factors (c-Myc, Klf4, Sox2, and Oct4) (Takahashi et al., 2007). Importantly, these cells have demonstrated a robust therapeutic capacity in preclinical models of subacute SCI, as compared to chronic SCI, which appears less targetable. While the specific cell types used differ between studies, the reported benefits of hiPSC-derived transplantation include axonal outgrowth, axonal sparing, angiogenesis, modulation of the extracellular environment, relay formation, sensorimotor recovery, and trophic support (Fujimoto et al., 2012, Lu et al., 2014). Fujimoto et al. generated hiPSC-derived neural progenitor cells (NPCs) that reconstructed corticospinal circuitry to ameliorate hindlimb motor functionality following a contusive, subacute, thoracic injury (Fujimoto et al., 2012). Romanyuk et al. showed how hiPSC-derived NPCs in rodent models provide rapid improvements in motor functionality (<14 days of postinjury, dpi) as well as long term, widespread white matter sparing (Romanyuk et al., 2014). Tuszynski's group further showed that caudalized hiPSC-derived NPCs with spinal cord properties also exhibit a strong capacity for corticospinal tract reconstruction and motor recovery (Kumamaru et al., 2018, Kadoya et al., 2016). These studies report on the purported prospect of hiPSCs to generate donor neural cells in the treatment of SCI. iPSCs have also shown utility in other avenues of SCI research.

Appropriate disease modeling of SCI pathophysiology is instrumental for the development of novel therapeutics. However, in vivo modeling of SCI is expensive, time-consuming, and impractical due to the high maintenance and mortality rates incurred via current injury models. Moreover, the ability to reconstruct complex, 3D, cytoarchitectural structures, comprising diverse cellular populations, represents a key advantage of iPSCs in SCI disease modeling. It therefore stands to reason that hiPSC-derived spinal organoids represent an alternative, more phylogenetically relevant, method of modeling isolated pathophysiological processes in vitro. Briefly, in vitro human models of SCI pathology may possess superior anatomical and synaptic relevance as compared to current animal models, as well as the ability to study individual pathological events. Moreover, iPSC technology permits the study of developmental cellular interactions in the healthy spinal cord; knowledge that is pivotal to the mechanistic understanding underpinning the reported benefits of iPSC therapy. Ultimately, iPSC applications may facilitate the continued advancement of SCI research, which is currently encumbered with inefficient methods of studying SCI pathology (Fig. 11.1).

Application of iPSCs for SCI cell-based therapies

Depending on several factors, including level of injury, force of impact, and type of external force, SCI patients may experience a myriad of functional deficits. Moreover, the overwhelming pathophysiological response is further complicated by the diverse cellular niche of the healthy spinal cord. As such, the convoluted pathology of SCI demands an equally complex solution. Biasing or differentiating iPSCs toward different terminal cell fates can help address the modalities of SCI, including the reduction of cellular death, restoring appropriate neural circuitry and myelination patterns, promoting a time-pertinent response to inflammation, as well as supporting angiogenesis.

iPSC-derived oligodendrocyte precursor cells

Oligodendrocytes are highly sensitive to unfavorable changes in the spinal microenvironment, and thus are highly susceptible to cellular death postinjury. As a result, a prominent feature of SCI is the disruption of white matter tissue, in which injured





iPSCs have a number of potential applications in SCI. They can be differentiated into mature cells that can be transplanted into the site of injury, or used for the derivation of organoids. Organoids can be transplanted into the site of injury or they can be used as models of development or injury in vitro.

axons become progressively demyelinated (Pukos et al., 2019). Surviving postmitotic oligodendrocytes are unable to remyelinate injured axons, and thus the majority of endogenous remyelination that occurs is through the recruitment of NG2+ oligodendrocyte precursor cells (OPCs). Native OPCs in the spinal cord are robustly recruited to the lesion border from progenitor cell niches, which initiates shortly after injury (Zai and Wrathall, 2005). Despite the correlation of OPC recruitment to remyelination postinjury, endogenous remyelination is insufficient in itself to restore functional recovery (Hassannejad et al., 2019). Regardless, insufficient endogenous remyelination may require supplemental OPC transplantation.

Although the majority of studies utilize primary embryonic tissue, few studies have derived OPCs from iPSCs. OPCs can be produced from iPSCs following the induction of embryoid bodies (EBs) and subsequent induction of neural-like supplements (DMEM/F12, N2, basic fibroblast growth factor, and heparin), followed by caudalization with retinoic acid (RA). Once colonies of neural stem/progenitor cells have formed from neural rosettes (PAX6+/SOX1+), isolating colonies are introduced to purmorphamine (sonic hedgehog agonist) and vitamin B27 supplements for 27 days. Isolated colonies of OPCs (OLIG2+ or NKX2.2+) can then be used to induce a neuroglial phenotype (Wang et al., 2013). Similar to embryonically

derived tissue, iPSC-OPCs can functionally improve Basso, Beattie, Bresnahan (BBB) Locomotor Rating Scale scores, mechanical allodynia/pain sensation, reduce cavity size, and promote a greater extent of remyelinated axons in traumatically injured animals (Yang et al., 2018, All et al., 2015, Kim et al., 2017a). Apart from traumatic injury, iPSC-derived OPCs can also rescue hypomyelinated states (Wang et al., 2013, Fan et al., 2017), which suggests they can be applied to similar demyelinated states such as SCI. While prepared in culture, differentiated human iPSC-OPCs express mature oligodendrocyte markers (Livesey et al., 2016, Magnani et al., 2019) where differentiation can be improved by supplementing culturing protocols with neurotrophic support. This can promote oligodendrocyte survival, differentiation, and remyelination posttransplantation but does not consistently improve locomotor recovery (Cao et al., 2010).

An important caveat of iPSC-OPC generation is encountered during the culturing process, as the cells are time-consuming to grow in culture, thus translating to challenges from a logistical and financial perspective. Longer OPC generation protocols also present a higher risk of contamination, as well as a greater extent of variation in cell identity with higher passage numbers (Myers et al., 2016). However, relatively new methods that select OPCs using PDGF/insulin-like growth factor and sonic hedgehog signaling can reduce the time needed for these culturing methods by half (Kim et al., 2017a). The harsh microenvironment also presents as an issue for clinical translation, in which myelin promotes a prolonged activation of pro-inflammatory macrophages. This is particularly troubling, as the extent to which myelin can stifle or facilitate repair through macrophage activation is currently unknown. In isolated culturing paradigms, myelin debris can promote a pro-inflammatory macrophagic reaction, where pro-regenerative activation can be observed over time. However, in an already pro-inflammatory state, myelin activation potentiates the pro-inflammatory polarization (Gaudet and Fonken, 2018, Kopper and Gensel, 2018). Ultimately, this suggests that recruited OPCs, alongside exogenous OPC transplantation, may worsen macrophage polarization, which is highly dependent on specific injury microenvironments. Most notably, OPC transplantation does not restore the diverse cellular niche of neurons that are present before injury, as OPCs only differentiate into mature neuroglia. Thus, OPCs may be beneficial in injured patients who have primarily damaged axons with limited neuronal death. Future studies are warranted to directly compare the effects of iPSC-derived OPCs and NPCs to determine if restoring neuronal loss, or promoting remyelination in injured axons, could present an optimal improvement to functional recovery.

iPSC-derived neural cells

NPCs are the developmental precursors that give rise to the three neural cells found in the CNS: neurons, oligodendrocytes, and astrocytes. As such, NPCs are particularly suitable for neural repair and regeneration following SCI. NPCs can be easily derived for use in preclinical studies due to their existence in the subventricular and hippocampal regions of the adult nervous system (Nagoshi and Okano, 2018). Such preclinical studies have shown that NPCs not only survive, but migrate, myelinate, promote signal conduction, reduce astrogliosis, and ultimately promote functional recovery (Wilcox et al., 2014). Nonetheless, adult CNS-derived NPCs do not represent a practical option for clinical application, as CNS tissue is not safely accessible in adult humans. Similarly, embryonic tissue is not a suitable NPC source for transplantation into humans due to logistical and ethical concerns. As such, iPSCs represent an ideal alternative source of NPCs. Indeed, various protocols have been generated for the differentiation of human iPSCs into NPCs (hiPSC-NPCs) by imitating developmental signaling cascades via dual small mothers against decapentaplegic (SMAD) inhibition (Chambers et al., 2009) or neural rosette differentiation from EBs (Zeng and et al., 2010). Moreover, these hiPSC-NPCs can be further caudalized toward a spinal identity using RA in order to more closely recapitulate the lost spinal cells (Nutt et al., 2013). Notably, hiPSC-NPC transplantation has contributed to trophic support, myelination, synaptogenesis, axonal outgrowth, and functional recovery at varying degrees, depending on the injury severity and animal model (Qin et al., 2018). While autologous hiPSC-NPCs represent a promising emerging therapy, there are important limitations that need to be optimally addressed in order to promote clinical translation. To begin, the capacity of NPCs to contribute to repair and regeneration is often inhibited by the intense SCI microenvironment, which both alters the ultimate NPC differentiation and physically restricts repair across the lesion site. Indeed, NPC differentiation following transplantation remains inconsistent, and it often favors the maladaptive astrocytic lineage. Therefore, recent advances have been aimed at further restricting NPCs in vitro along an intended oligodendrogenic (Nagoshi et al., 2018, Biswas et al., 2019) or neuronal lineage (Chu et al., 2015). Furthermore, iPSC derived neurons can be specified into either motor neuron progenitors (Du et al., 2015) or interneurons (Butts et al., 2019) in order to optimally address particular functional deficits; however, further investigation is needed to clarify how these particular neuronal subtypes would be able to integrate with the appropriate endogenous circuitry. In addition, the accumulation of chondroitin sulfate glycosaminoglycans forms a glial scar that physically restricts the integration of the transplanted cells and their bridging of neural circuits. Nonetheless, NPCs can be transduced with chondroitinase ABC an enzyme that digests the scar via cleavage (Jin et al., 2011). This process promotes the bridging of circuits across the scar cavity by eliminating the scar tissue that inhibits regeneration. As such, NPCs can be manipulated in order to overcome the intense SCI microenvironment and to optimally promote repair and regeneration through the replacement of particular cell types and the digestion of physical barriers. These advances will inevitably inspire future clinical trials.

iPSC-derived Schwann cells

Schwann cells represent a therapeutically relevant cell therapy for SCI. As these cells develop from the neural crest, they inhabit the peripheral nervous system where they myelinate neurons. However, following SCI, the cells display plasticity such

that they are able to contribute to remyelination of the CNS (Kim et al., 2017b). Importantly, transplantation of Schwann cells in SCI models has revealed that these cells protect and remyelinate neurons, restore signal conduction and, ultimately, promote locomotor behavior (Honmou et al. 1996, Mousavi et al., 2019). As such, clinical trials have been launched and completed in order to assess the safety of Schwann cells in both subacute (Anderson et al., 2017) and chronic SCI patients (ClinicalTrials.gov Identifiers: NCT01739023, NCT02354625). In these studies, Schwann cells have been isolated from autologous peripheral nerves, thus allowing for patient-specific treatments. While these studies have confirmed the safety, autologous peripheral Schwann cells must be expanded in culture prior to transplantation. Such expansion of autologous peripheral Schwann cells is often limited by inefficient division as well as fibroblast contamination in culture (Kim et al., 2017b). As such, iPSCs introduce an alternative method by which autologous Schwann cells can be generated for transplantation into SCI models. The proliferative capacity of iPSCs makes them an excellent candidate for derivation of Schwann cells for SCI (Ma et al., 2015). Lineage specification of iPSCs has been reported in two-step protocols, which first differentiate iPSCs into neural crest cells followed by further Schwann cell specification (Lee et al., 2010, Kim et al., 2017b). Although such iPSC-derived Schwann cells have not been tested in the context of SCI, they are able to secrete neurotrophic factors, promote myelination, and promote peripheral nerve regeneration in vivo (Kim et al., 2017b). As such, iPSC-derived Schwann cells represent a plausible treatment strategy that should be tested for SCI.

iPSC-derived mesenchymal stem cells

Mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) are defined as multipotent cells that have a mesodermal identity as well as self-renewal capacity (Uccelli et al., 2008). They are an attractive cell candidate for cell replacement therapy as they can be isolated from a number of tissues including adipose tissue, bone marrow, umbilical cord blood, and dental pulp (Lv et al., 2014), which give rise to osteoblasts, chondrocytes, and adipocytes (Lv et al., 2014, Dominici et al., 2006). Moreover, MSCs can modulate the nonpermissive SCI environment and promote neural regeneration and survival by secreting antiinflammatory and neurotrophic factors such as BDNF, GDNF, and NTF (Cofano et al., 2019). Additionally, MSCs play an important role in immunomodulation following SCI. MSCs have been shown to mitigate circulating and splenic cytokine levels as well as immune cell responses, ultimately reducing signs of inflammation (Badner et al., 2018, Vawda et al., 2019, DePaul et al., 2015, Nakajima et al., 2012). Such changes are associated with locomotor benefits (Vawda et al., 2019, DePaul et al., 2015, Nakajima et al., 2012) and reduced pain (Watanabe et al., 2015), thus contributing to a plethora of MSC clinical trials on ClinicalTrials.gov. Of note, variations in MSC derivation introduce limitations that may complicate their application in a clinical setting. In an effort to promote personalized treatments, MSCs can be derived from patients' bone marrow or adipose tissue (Vawda and Fehlings, 2013). However, these tissues are not easily accessible and require invasive procedures that may not be suitable for immunocompromised SCI patients. An easier alternative involves deriving MSCs from cord blood which has been banked by the patient, yet this introduces limitations for individuals that have not banked their MSCs (Cofano et al., 2019, Vawda and Fehlings, 2013). Even with the successful isolation of autologous MSCs from one of these sources, the cells are often difficult to expand in culture (Wang et al., 2018). Considering cell therapies require a large number of cells for transplantation, a source of MSCs that is not only easily accessible, but also easily expandable, is required. In addition to this, MSC derivation heterogeneity contributes to variations in differentiation, and MSCs also display considerable differences in gene expression across individuals (Frobel et al., 2014). Together, these factors may potentially give rise to variable therapeutic outcomes posttransplantation. For this reason, standardization of MSCs can be achieved through the development of iPSC-derived MSCs (Frobel et al., 2014). Derivation of MSCs from iPSCs has been described by many groups using several unique differentiation protocols (Chen et al., 2012, Giuliani et al., 2011, Hynes et al., 2013, Lian et al., 2010, Liu et al., 2013, Moslem et al., 2013, Sun et al., 2012, Tang et al., 2014, TheinHan et al., Dec. 2013). One of these protocols involves culturing iPSCs in nonadherent conditions to make EBs, followed by treatment with Activin and BMP4 (Bloor et al., 2020). Although such iPSC-derived MSCs have yet to be used in the context of SCI, they have previously been shown to have a similar gene expression profile to MSCs and have proven their capacity for immunomodulation in other contexts, thus making them applicable for future testing in SCI (Wang et al., 2018, Frobel et al., 2014, Ng et al., 2016).

iPSC-derived pericytes

Pericytes are a perivascular cell type that regulate angiogenic functions throughout the CNS, which involves the integrity of microvasculature and the blood-brain/spinal cord barrier (BBSB) through the lining of blood capillaries (Armulik et al., 2010, Bergers and Song, 2005). Pericytes can also promote neuronal regeneration in the context of injury, where they recruit immune cells, contribute to the formation of the fibrotic glial scar, and establish microvasculature growth as late as 21 dpi (Hesp et al., 2018). Improving microvascular integrity can potentially restore blood flow surrounding the traumatic lesion, which can reduce hypoxia and nutrient deprivation to the spinal cord.

Considering the roles of pericytes in the healthy and damaged spinal cord, iPSCderived pericytes could potentially address the angiogenic deficits of SCI. Thus, it is theoretically practical to develop iPSC-derived pericytes to investigate their potential therapeutic benefit in SCI. Subsequent purification in culture can be obtained through cell separation via flow cytometry of PDGFR β + NG2+ cells (Jamieson et al., 2019), with further neuronal pericyte characterization using either FOXF2+, VTN+, and FOXC1+ cell types (Faal et al., 2019). Thus far, iPSC-pericytes have contributed to in vitro cell aggregation models of neurovascular units, which contain essential features of the CNS including neurons, neuroglia, and endothelial cells to model development. In these models, the therapeutic potential of iPSC-pericytes is outlined through their ability to increase barrier properties by regulating isogenic pressure through sodium-potassium fluxes (Stebbins et al., 2019). Maintenance of ionic pressure is important because it can restore hemodynamic and cellular metabolic functions impaired in SCI. Apart from human-iPSC literature, peripherally injected murine pericyte-like stromal cells can mitigate BBSB disruption by providing structural support to CNS-vasculature, thus reducing BBSB permeability (Badner et al., 2016). Altogether, the aforementioned studies suggest that pericyte-like cells can be therapeutically useful to maintain endothelial vasculature integrity, which can reduce the angiogenesis functionality. Despite not restoring neuronal circuitry, iPSC-derived pericytes could potentially restore microvasculature permeability, thereby promoting a healthier microenvironment for regeneration of neuronal tissue to occur.

iPSC-derived inflammatory mediators

The endogenous tissue repair that occurs in the CNS following trauma is at most, insufficient. At a molecular level, tissue repair and wound healing involves phases of macrophage subtype activation. The coordination between a pro-inflammatory cascade of M1 macrophages, followed by pro-regenerative M2 macrophage activation, can aid in wound healing through initial debris clearance and subsequent inflammatory homeostasis, respectively (Gensel and Zhang, 2015). However, the disruption of the BBB in neuronal injury can lead to an overwhelming inflammatory response of resident (microglia) and infiltrating macrophages. This leads to excessive and prolonged M1 activation, which inhibits the initiation of tissue remodeling through limited M2 activation. As a result, an imbalance of phagocytosis, reactive oxygen species (ROS) accumulation, and pro-inflammatory cytokines contributes to the subpar regenerative microenvironment of the CNS following trauma (Zhang et al., 2016). Thus, restoring the imbalance in macrophage phenotypes present after neuronal injury presents a promising therapeutic strategy to combat excessive inflammation in SCI.

Transplantation of macrophages may be beneficial when considering the antagonizing effects excessive M1 has on M2 activation. Experimentally increasing M2 activation following SCI through pharmacological treatment correlates with improved functional locomotor recovery and reduced pro-inflammatory signaling (Pomeshchik et al., 2015, Francos-Quijorna et al., 2017). Thus, transplantation of terminally differentiated human M2 identifying macrophages presents a unique approach to address the phenotype imbalance in neuronal injury. Deriving iPSCmacrophages (iMacs) can yield an undefined, embryonic-like macrophage phenotype (M0). This macrophagic state can be derived through a stepwise induction of pluripotent cell gastrulation, the development of hemogenic endothelial cells, and expansion of erythromyeloid progenitors (Lee et al., 2018). Theoretically, iMacs can be further differentiated into terminal, mature tissue repairing macrophages through introducing M2-stimulating ligands (IL-4, IL-10, glucocorticoids, among others) into the culturing protocol (Martinez and Gordon, 2014, p. 2). Considering the sensitivity of macrophage phenotypes to environmental cues, transplantation of terminally differentiated M2-iMacs provides a unique dual benefit of using more translational human tissue, while transplanting a more rigid macrophage phenotype. Despite the lack of applications using iMacs in the context of SCI, information regarding the potential therapeutic benefit of macrophage transplantation and culturing purification can be cumulated to create a potential therapeutic avenue for SCI therapy. Future studies investigating how iMacs behave in the transplantation environment can elucidate if they retain their pro-repair macrophage phenotypeidentity, which is required to restore the homeostatic balance of macrophage activation following SCI.

Application of iPSCs to generate 3D tissue for grafting into SCI Bridging large gaps in the injured spinal cord using 3D-prints

Bridging large gaps in the injured spinal cord using 3D-printed tissue

The idea of bridging the physical tissue gap in SCI using a support for successful nerve regeneration via three-dimensional (3D) tissue-like structure has produced moderate success (Kim et al., 2019, Zhu et al., 2015). During these extraneous efforts, various parameters, including the shape of the tissue-like structure, inner channel configuration, and pore size of the scaffold tissue have been tested. Neuro-Spinal Scaffolds have even entered Phase I clinical trials (Kim et al., 2019). However, one of the largest criticisms for using this approach is that it requires removal of a piece of host tissue in order to make enough space for the insertion of the scaffold. This may damage some of the spared tissue surrounding the scar and lead to more functional deficits. Despite this, the cavity space created from SCI trauma may be a potential space that can be filled by the 3D bio-printed tissue, if the 3D printed tissue can be carefully inserted in the cavity area without damaging the surrounding tissue.

Recent advances in tomography imaging and 3D bio-printing methods can increase the opportunity to carefully print 3D scaffolds and fabricate scaffolds with cells based on the exact dimensions and cavity shape in each patient. With this technology, a biological structure that highly mimics natural tissue properties can be fabricated using "bio-inks." By combining bio-printed scaffolds with NPCs or neural cells, it is now possible to make cellular 3D tissues that can be inserted into the cavity in order to fill the gap (Chen et al., 2017). Exemplifying their potential efficacy, the Tuszynski lab has recently transplanted a biomimetic 3D printed scaffold combined with NPCs (Koffler et al., 2019). They found that injured host axons can regenerate into 3D biomimetic scaffolds and synapse onto transplanted NPCs. In turn, transplanted NPCs extend axons out of the scaffold and into the host spinal



FIGURE 11.2 Generating 3D Tissues for Spinal Cord Injury (SCI).

3D tissues can be generated by loading 3D scaffolds with iPSCs or using iPSCs to create 3D organoids to physically, and literally, bridge the gap of neural tissue that follows SCI.

cord to restore synaptic transmission and significantly improve functional outcomes (Koffler et al., 2019). In a recent effort, Joung et al. attempted to combine a 3D bioprinted scaffold with hiPSC-NPCs, biased toward a spinal identity, as well as hiPSC-OPCs to generate a tissue with a similar structure to the spinal cord (Joung et al., 2018). Although promising, the challenge of safely inserting this bio-printed tissue in the cavity is yet to be optimized (Fig. 11.2).

Engraftment and transplantation of human organoids for SCI

Neural organoids have recently gained a lot of popularity in regenerative medicine. Neural organoids are 3D mini organ mimetics that can be derived from hiPSCs in vitro. Neural organoids are excellent physiological models for human neurological diseases, which cannot be recapitulated using animal models. The most feasible applications for organoid technologies at the moment are drug testing, disease modeling (see next section for SCI modeling), and studying human development. Recent success with engineering human organoids has created great enthusiasm and expectations, especially for their potential as tissue substitutes. Several studies have shown that transplantation of cells in the form of tissue and 3D matrices has a higher rate of cell survival compared to transplantation of single cells (Sekine et al., 2011, Daviaud et al., 2018). Brain organoids have also been tested in several studies for the treatment of rat brain injury, which demonstrated the feasibility and efficacy of organoid transplantation for traumatic neuronal injury (Wang et al., 2020). Although generation of region-specific brain organoids is well established and several optimized protocols have been developed, generation of spinal organoids is still in the beginning of its field. Besides their identity, the spinal cord organoids should have distinct morphology and tissue architecture that suit the damaged tissue it is meant to replace. Recently, Hor et al. established a protocol to generate spinal organoids (Hor et al., 2018) using RA-treated and caudalized EBs within Matrigel droplets. These spinal organoids resembled the ventral spinal cord containing different spinal cell types including limb-innervating motor neurons, excitatory V2a interneurons, inhibitory Renshaw interneurons, and spinal-identifying astrocytes (Hor et al., 2018). This is a promising step, yet further refinement is required to derive spinal organoids that are best suited for transplantation for SCI. Once protocols have been optimized, organoids will provide an opportunistic method by which the cavity area in the injured spinal cord can be filled (Fig. 11.2).

Application of iPSC-derived organoids for spinal cord modeling and research

Using iPSCs-organoids to model spinal cord injury in vitro

Traumatic SCI leads to a diverse cellular response, involving an imbalance of extracellular components and excitotoxicity of neural cells, programmed cell death signaling, and immune cell infiltration. Thus, the premise surrounding SCI research suggests that this complex and step-wise pathophysiology can only be modeled through in vivo paradigms. Notably, in vivo modeling cannot isolate the direct pathological consequences that result from the mechanical trauma. Appropriately, in vitro injury paradigms have been developed to compartmentalize the pathophysiological consequences of SCI, such as the primary injury response to trauma, secondary injury inflammatory cascade, and the chronic glial scar formation. Current in vitro modeling of traumatic CNS-injuries has been aptly characterized through ex vivo organotypic slice cultures. In addition to being a comparable SCI model to in vivo exemplars, in vitro modeling of SCI presents several advantages over animal modeling of SCI. Primarily, animal models rely on spinal tissue for the coordination of muscle movement, respiratory and diaphragmic activity, sensory processing, and bladder control. When introduced to experimental injury, animals correspondingly exhibit functional deficits that require high maintenance of pain mitigation and physical rehabilitation of motor, sensory, respiratory, and urinary functions. Due to invasive modeling and extensive postoperative care, a large subset of these animals often do not survive. Thus, in vitro modeling provides a flexible and less time-consuming method to investigate SCI pathology.

Despite these illustrated benefits, limitations to ex vivo slice culture may impact their use and translation to human physiology. To date, in vitro modeling of SCI is conducted solely in murine CNS tissue. Species diversity presents a confounding factor in translating in vitro modeling to the clinic, as murine models are commonly used to study neuronal injury, despite drastic anatomical and synaptic differences between quadrupeds and bipeds (Filipp et al., 2019). Additionally, modeling injury in quadruped animals may underestimate the extent of innate neuroplasticity and recovery in humans (Filipp et al., 2019). To circumvent this translational concern, human iPSC-derived organoids provide a unique alternative. Human iPSC-derived organoids can reflect diverse cell populations that accurately capture the in vivo environment following experimental injury, all the while ensuring the aforementioned benefits including high reproducibility, low maintenance, and high-throughput modeling.

Injury modeling to organoid culture

Pluripotent stem cells exhibit a remarkable ability to self-organize and assemble into miniature organ-like structures. Specifically, cervical Homeobox (HOX) B4+ and thoracic HOXC8+ identifying cells can be developed in spinal organoids that represent the morphogen gradient of cellular rostral-caudal positioning (Fig. 11.3) (Hor et al., 2018). Considering their proper cellular positioning,



FIGURE 11.3 Cultured Spinal Organoids Recapitulate a Rostral-Caudal Axis.

During development of the mammalian central nervous system (CNS), segmentation of all cell types is dictated by Homeobox (HOX) genes. In the spinal cord, these factors regionalize the spinal cord into three main segments: cervical, thoracic, and lumbar regions. Remarkably, spinal organoids in culture can mimic this same developmental process, suggesting that these organoids can develop structural and functional components similar to the mature, adult spinal cord.

modeling of a variety of traumatic lesions can be sufficiently applied to these spinal-like structures. Similar to in vivo archetypes, primary injury mechanisms have been modeled through compression and transection forces using ex vivo cultures. Theoretically, mechanical injury models can be developed using organoids. Transection and axotomy can also be modeled with a scalpel blade to the organoid's surface, which models aspects of mechanical injury, with modest reproducibility of experimental results (Weightman et al., 2014, Slovinska et al., 2016). Considering there is limited description of how spinal organoids respond to mechanical injury, the potential efficacy of this injury design can be supported by comparisons with hypoxia-induced neural injury on cerebral organoids. Cortical organoids exposed to trauma can effectively model astrogliosis, as well as an increase in Tau pathology, which is correlated with a majority of neurodegenerative diseases (Lai et al., 2020). Specifically, the response to hypoxia in cerebralregion organoids can be mimicked in primary human tissue (Pasca et al., 2019), which illustrates how environmental factors can impact CNS-derived organoids similar to an in vivo injury environment.

Organoid model optimization: microfluidic platforms

Microfluidics presents a robust tool to introduce into a culturing system that can optimize the current modest injury reproducibility (Ao et al., 2020). Briefly, this may involve embedded organoid cultures in a 3D gel equipped with media channels that can regulate the biochemical environment, as well as outlet channels that can isolate axons to measure distance outgrowth and axonal guidance. Platforms can be incorporated into a single-dish protocol that involves EB formation, cellular embedment, and subsequent proliferation of organoids, which are equipped with an air-liquid interface to reduce hypoxia of medial organoid tissues (Ao et al., 2020, Srinivasan et al., 2014). Complex mechanisms involving synaptogenesis require axon terminals to identify appropriate synaptic targets. Axonal guidance, as well as axonal fascicle formation, is a crucially underdeveloped concept that is complicated by the complexity of in vivo cellular populations releasing extracellular factors, many of which include cellular adhesion proteins, growth factors, and morphogen gradients (Mukherjee et al., 2020, Kawada et al., 2017). In addition to chemical cues, microfluidics can also mimic the flow of cerebrospinal fluid in vivo. This is especially important, as fluid flow can shape organogenesis through axonal migration and turning angles (Gu et al., 2014, Sawamoto, 2006). Theoretically, these platforms can be used to model injury mechanisms, as well as ligandbased drug screening, to treat inflammatory and excitotoxicity consequences of neuronal injury.

Organoid model optimization: neurovascular units

Organoids exhibit neuronal maturation through diverse neurotransmitter and synaptic protein expression, but they do not typically contain a diverse population of neuroglia nor vasculature. As a result, it is difficult to represent immune or angiogenic dysregulation following injury. This presents another area of interest in spinal organoid modeling to coordinate an accurate and translational response to mechanical injury. An assembloid, or a combination of cerebrospinal organoids with nonneuronal cell types such as microglia, endothelial cells, or pericytes, can appropriately recapitulate the complex cell environment of the CNS. Recently, an assembloid comprised of a human brain organoid and iPSC-derived microglial cells helped determine that iPSC-microglia respond similarly to mechanical injury through iPSC-derived organoid modeling, where they secreted cytokines in response to inflammatory cues, as well as contributed to synaptic pruning in organoid development (Abud et al., 2017). The fusion of organoids can promote a more translational model of human disease, which may involve the interaction of organ systems such as BBB disruption (Nzou et al., 2018), or domain-specific modeling within the human cortex (Xiang et al., 2017).

Using iPSC organoids to model development

The spinal cord is a very intricate system in which bundles of neural circuits are organized into distinct tracts that govern unique functions. These circuits involve coordinated interactions between sensory organs, sensory neurons, interneurons, motor neurons, and muscle (Chédotal, 2019). When the relay of these circuits is disrupted in SCI, function is lost accordingly. As previously mentioned, advances using iPSC technology have aimed to restore these relays through the generation and replacement of particular neuronal cell types, such as motor neurons (Du et al., 2015) or V2A interneurons (Butts et al., 2019). Although preliminary evidence suggests that transplanted cells seem to be able to integrate within appropriate circuits while avoiding the pathways that are irrelevant, the mechanisms underlying such integration require further research (Kadoya et al., 2016). The absence of such instructive cues would have important implications in the context of regeneration, and it may imply that transplanted cells need to be instructed by external artificial cues. Nonetheless, the investigation of this integration process is complicated by the fact that there is an inadequate understanding of how these cellular interactions are programmed during the development of the healthy cord (Chédotal, 2019). To optimize repair following injury, pluripotent cells, including ESCs and iPSCs, can be beneficial due to their ability to self-organize into 3D organoid structures, which can allow researchers to study interactions between multiple cells. Since their discovery in 2013, cerebral organoids (first described using ESCs) have provided an important platform by which axon guidance, synaptogenesis, and circuit formation can be studied (Giandomenico et al., 2019). For example, cerebral organoids have been shown to display various guidance molecules that help instruct and manipulate neuronal connectivity, such as WNT5A, Netrin, EphrinB1, L1CAM, and NRN1(Giandomenico et al., 2019). Similar studies using spinal cord organoids would help elucidate the mechanisms that govern interactions between different subtypes of neurons in order to achieve spinal circuit formation (Hor et al., 2018). Indeed, self-organizing motor nerve organoids have been generated. Importantly, the resulting nerve organoids mimic the unidirectional motor pathways seen in vivo (Kawada et al., 2017). Moreover, iPSC-derived neuromuscular organoids can be used to further elucidate motor system formation by modeling the neuromuscular junction (Faustino Martins et al., 2020). This may allow us to gain an understanding about how motor neuron axons exit the CNS and interact with muscle. Most importantly, such circuit-mimicking organoids could then be screened and analyzed in order to identify the particular cues that may instruct circuit formation. This knowledge—generated with iPSC-derived organoids—would help optimize iPSC therapies by advising researchers whether or not transplanted cells need to be extrinsically guided toward the intended tracts.

Conclusion

Although SCI presents a complex and multifaceted disease etiology, iPSC technology aims to advance the therapeutic field by enhancing cell-based therapies and developing new injury models. Notably, iPSCs can be used for the derivation of optimal mature cells or 3D organoids that can be transplanted into the site of injury in order to promote repair. In addition, iPSC-derived organoids may present unique models that can aid in the development of SCI research. As such, iPSC technologies hold the potential to significantly advance SCI prognosis in the future.

References

- Abud, E.M., et al., 2017. iPSC-derived human microglia-like cells to study neurological diseases. Neuron 94 (2), 278–293. e9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2017.03.042.
- Alizadeh, A., Dyck, S.M., Karimi-Abdolrezaee, S., 2019. Traumatic spinal cord injury: an overview of pathophysiology, models and acute injury mechanisms. Front. Neurol. 10, 282. https://doi.org/10.3389/fneur.2019.00282.
- All, A.H., et al., 2015. Early intervention for spinal cord injury with human induced pluripotent stem cells oligodendrocyte progenitors. PLoS One 10 (1), e0116933. https:// doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0116933.
- Anderson, K.D., et al., 2017. Safety of autologous human Schwann cell transplantation in subacute thoracic spinal cord injury. J. Neurotrauma 34 (21), 2950–2963. https://doi.org/ 10.1089/neu.2016.4895.
- Ao, Z., et al., 2020. One-stop microfluidic assembly of human brain organoids to model prenatal cannabis exposure. Anal. Chem. 92 (6), 4630–4638. https://doi.org/10.1021/ acs.analchem.0c00205.
- Armulik, A., et al., 2010. Pericytes regulate the blood-brain barrier. Nature 468 (7323), 557–561. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature09522.
- Badner, A., et al., 2016. Early intravenous delivery of human brain stromal cells modulates systemic inflammation and leads to vasoprotection in traumatic spinal cord injury. Stem Cell. Transl. Med. 5 (8), 991–1003. https://doi.org/10.5966/sctm.2015-0295.

- Badner, A., Hacker, J., Hong, J., Mikhail, M., Vawda, R., Fehlings, M.G., 2018. Splenic involvement in umbilical cord matrix-derived mesenchymal stromal cell-mediated effects following traumatic spinal cord injury. J. Neuroinflammation 15 (1), 219. https://doi.org/ 10.1186/s12974-018-1243-0.
- Bergers, G., Song, S., 2005. The role of pericytes in blood-vessel formation and maintenance. Neuro Oncol. 7 (4), 452–464. https://doi.org/10.1215/S1152851705000232.
- Biswas, S., Chung, S.H., Jiang, P., Dehghan, S., Deng, W., 2019. Development of glial restricted human neural stem cells for oligodendrocyte differentiation in vitro and in vivo. Sci. Rep. 9 (1), 9013. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-45247-3.
- Bloor, A.J.C., et al., 2020. Production, safety and efficacy of iPSC-derived mesenchymal stromal cells in acute steroid-resistant graft versus host disease: a phase I, multicenter, openlabel, dose-escalation study. Nat. Med. 26 (11), 1720–1725. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41591-020-1050-x.
- Butts, J.C., Iyer, N., White, N., Thompson, R., Sakiyama-Elbert, S., McDevitt, T.C., 2019. V2a interneuron differentiation from mouse and human pluripotent stem cells. Nat. Protoc. 14 (11), 3033–3058. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41596-019-0203-1.
- Cao, Q., et al., 2010. Transplantation of ciliary neurotrophic factor-expressing adult oligodendrocyte precursor cells promotes remyelination and functional recovery after SpinalCord injury. J. Neurosci. 30 (8), 2989–3001. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3174-09.2010.
- Chambers, S.M., Fasano, C.A., Papapetrou, E.P., Tomishima, M., Sadelain, M., Studer, L., 2009. Highly efficient neural conversion of human ES and iPS cells by dual inhibition of SMAD signaling. Nat. Biotechnol. 27 (3), 275–280. https://doi.org/10.1038/nbt.1529.
- Chédotal, A., 2019. Roles of axon guidance molecules in neuronal wiring in the developing spinal cord. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 20 (7), 380–396. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41583-019-0168-7.
- Chen, C., et al., 2017. Collagen/heparin sulfate scaffolds fabricated by a 3D bioprinter improved mechanical properties and neurological function after spinal cord injury in rats. J. Biomed. Mater. Res. 105 (5), 1324–1332. https://doi.org/10.1002/jbm.a.36011.
- Chen, Y.S., Pelekanos, R.A., Ellis, R.L., Horne, R., Wolvetang, E.J., Fisk, N.M., 2012. Small molecule mesengenic induction of human induced pluripotent stem cells to generate mesenchymal stem/stromal cells. Stem Cell. Transl. Med. 1 (2), 83–95. https://doi.org/ 10.5966/sctm.2011-0022.
- Chu, T., et al., 2015. In vitro characteristics of Valproic acid and all-trans-retinoic acid and their combined use in promoting neuronal differentiation while suppressing astrocytic differentiation in neural stem cells. Brain Res. 1596, 31–47. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.brainres.2014.11.029.
- Cofano, F., et al., 2019. Mesenchymal stem cells for spinal cord injury: current options, limitations, and future of cell therapy. Int. J. Mol. Sci. 20 (11), 2698. https://doi.org/10.3390/ ijms20112698.
- Daviaud, N., Friedel, R.H., Zou, H., 2018. Vascularization and engraftment of transplanted human cerebral organoids in mouse cortex. eNeuro 5 (6). https://doi.org/10.1523/ ENEURO.0219-18.2018.
- David, S., Kroner, A., 2011. Repertoire of microglial and macrophage responses after spinal cord injury. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 12 (7), 388–399. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn3053.
- DePaul, M.A., et al., 2015. Intravenous multipotent adult progenitor cell treatment decreases inflammation leading to functional recovery following spinal cord injury. Sci. Rep. 5 (1), 16795. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep16795.

- Dominici, M., et al., 2006. Minimal criteria for defining multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells. The international society for cellular therapy position statement. Cytotherapy 8 (4), 315–317. https://doi.org/10.1080/14653240600855905.
- Du, Z.-W., et al., 2015. Generation and expansion of highly pure motor neuron progenitors from human pluripotent stem cells. Nat. Commun. 6 (1), 6626. https://doi.org/10.1038/ ncomms7626.
- Faal, T., et al., 2019. Induction of mesoderm and neural crest-derived pericytes from human pluripotent stem cells to study blood-brain barrier interactions. Stem Cell Rep. 12 (3), 451–460. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stemcr.2019.01.005.
- Fan, H.-B., et al., 2017. Transplanted miR-219-overexpressing oligodendrocyte precursor cells promoted remyelination and improved functional recovery in a chronic demyelinated model. Sci. Rep. 7, 41407. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep41407.
- Faustino Martins, J.-M., et al., 2020. Self-organizing 3D human trunk neuromuscular organoids. Cell Stem Cell 26 (2), 172–186. e6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2019. 12.007.
- Filipp, M.E., et al., 2019. Differences in neuroplasticity after spinal cord injury in varying animal models and humans. Neural Regen. Res. 14 (1), 7–19. https://doi.org/10.4103/1673-5374.243694.
- Francos-Quijorna, I., et al., 2017. Maresin 1 promotes inflammatory resolution, neuroprotection, and functional neurological recovery after spinal cord injury. J. Neurosci. 37 (48), 11731–11743. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1395-17.2017.
- Frobel, J., et al., 2014. Epigenetic rejuvenation of mesenchymal stromal cells derived from induced pluripotent stem cells. Stem Cell Rep. 3 (3), 414–422. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.stemcr.2014.07.003.
- Fujimoto, Y., et al., 2012. Treatment of a mouse model of spinal cord injury by transplantation of human induced pluripotent stem cell-derived long-term self-renewing neuroepitheliallike stem cells. Stem Cells 30 (6), 1163–1173. https://doi.org/10.1002/stem.1083. Dayton, Ohio.
- Gaudet, A.D., Fonken, L.K., 2018. Glial cells shape pathology and repair after spinal cord injury. Neurotherapeutics 15 (3), 554–577. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13311-018-0630-7.
- Gensel, J.C., Zhang, B., 2015. Macrophage activation and its role in repair and pathology after spinal cord injury. Brain Res. 1619, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainres.2014.12.045.
- Giandomenico, S.L., et al., 2019. Cerebral organoids at the air-liquid interface generate diverse nerve tracts with functional output. Nat. Neurosci. 22 (4), 669–679. https:// doi.org/10.1038/s41593-019-0350-2.
- Giuliani, M., et al., 2011. Human mesenchymal stem cells derived from induced pluripotent stem cells down-regulate NK-cell cytolytic machinery. Blood 118 (12), 3254–3262. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2010-12-325324.
- Gu, L., Black, B., Ordonez, S., Mondal, A., Jain, A., Mohanty, S., 2014. Microfluidic control of axonal guidance. Sci. Rep. 4 (1), 6457. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep06457. Art. no. 1.
- Hassannejad, Z., et al., 2019. Axonal degeneration and demyelination following traumatic spinal cord injury: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J. Chem. Neuroanat. 97, 9–22. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jchemneu.2019.01.009.
- Hesp, Z.C., et al., 2018. Proliferating NG2-cell-dependent angiogenesis and scar formation alter axon growth and functional recovery after spinal cord injury in mice. J. Neurosci. 38 (6), 1366–1382. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3953-16.2017.
- Honmou, O., Felts, P.A., Waxman, G., Kocsis, D., 1996. Restoration of normal conduction properties in demyelinated spinal cord axons in the adult rat by iransplantation of exogenous schwann cells. J. Neurosci. 16 (10), 3199–3208.
- Hor, J.H., et al., 2018. Cell cycle inhibitors protect motor neurons in an organoid model of Spinal Muscular Atrophy. Cell Death Dis. 9 (11), 1100. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41419-018-1081-0.
- Hynes, K., et al., 2013. Mesenchymal stem cells from iPS cells facilitate periodontal regeneration. J. Dent. Res. 92 (9), 833–839. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022034513498258.
- Jamieson, J.J., Linville, R.M., Ding, Y.Y., Gerecht, S., Searson, P.C., 2019. Role of iPSCderived pericytes on barrier function of iPSC-derived brain microvascular endothelial cells in 2D and 3D. Fluids Barriers CNS 16 (1), 15. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12987-019-0136-7.
- Jin, M.C., Medress, Z.A., Azad, T.D., Doulames, V.M., Veeravagu, A., 2019. Stem cell therapies for acute spinal cord injury in humans: a review. Neurosurg. Focus 46 (3), E10. https://doi.org/10.3171/2018.12.FOCUS18602.
- Jin, Y., Ketschek, A., Jiang, Z., Smith, G., Fischer, I., 2011. Chondroitinase activity can be transduced by a lentiviral vector in vitro and in vivo. J. Neurosci. Methods 199 (2), 208–213. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneumeth.2011.05.007.
- Joung, D., et al., 2018. 3D printed stem-cell derived neural progenitors generate spinal cord scaffolds. Adv. Funct. Mater. 28 (39), 1801850. https://doi.org/10.1002/adfm.201801850.
- Kadoya, K., et al., 2016. Spinal cord reconstitution with homologous neural grafts enables robust corticospinal regeneration. Nat. Med. Mar. 22 (5), 479–487. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/nm.4066.
- Kawada, J., et al., 2017. Generation of a motor nerve organoid with human stem cell-derived neurons. Stem Cell Rep. 9 (5), 1441–1449. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stemcr.2017.09.021.
- Khazaei, M., Ahuja, C.S., Fehlings, M.G., 2017. Induced pluripotent stem cells for traumatic spinal cord injury. Front. Cell Dev. Biol. 4, 152. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcell.2016.00152.
- Kim, D.S., Jung, S.J., Lee, J.S., Lim, B.Y., Kim, H.A., Yoo, J.E., Kim, D.W., Leem, J.W., 2017a. Rapid generation of OPC-like cells from human pluripotent stem cells for treating spinal cord injury. Exp. Mol. Med. 49 (7), e361. https://doi.org/10.1038/emm.2017.106. https://www.nature.com/articles/emm2017106. (Accessed 15 September 2020).
- Kim, H.-S., et al., 2017b. Schwann cell precursors from human pluripotent stem cells as a potential therapeutic target for myelin repair. Stem Cell Rep. 8 (6), 1714–1726. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.stemcr.2017.04.011.
- Kim, K.D., Lee, K.S., Chang, J.J., Toselli, R.M., 2019. Neuro-spinal scaffold! Implantation in patients with acute traumatic thoracic complete spinal cord injury: 24 Month results from the INSPIRE study. Neurosurgery 66 (Suppl. 1). https://doi.org/10.1093/neuros/ nyz310_334.
- Koffler, J., et al., 2019. Biomimetic 3D-printed scaffolds for spinal cord injury repair. Nat. Med. 25 (2), 263–269. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41591-018-0296-z. Art. no. 2.
- Kopper, T.J., Gensel, J.C., 2018. Myelin as an inflammatory mediator: myelin interactions with complement, macrophages, and microglia in spinal cord injury. J. Neurosci. Res. 96 (6), 969–977. https://doi.org/10.1002/jnr.24114.
- Kroner, A., Almanza, J.R., 2019. Role of microglia in spinal cord injury. Neurosci. Lett. 709 (14), 134370. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neulet.2019.134370.

- Kroner, A., Greenhalgh, A.D., Zarruk, J.G., Passos Dos Santos, R., Gaestel, M., David, S., 2014. TNF and increased intracellular iron alter macrophage polarization to a detrimental M1 phenotype in the injured spinal cord. Neuron 83 (5), 1098–1116. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.neuron.2014.07.027.
- Kumamaru, H., et al., 2018. Generation and post-injury integration of human spinal cord neural stem cells. Nat. Methods 15 (9), 723–731. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41592-018-0074-3.
- Lai, J.D., et al., 2020. A model of traumatic brain injury using human iPSC-derived cortical brain organoids. Neuroscience. https://doi.org/10.1101/2020.07.05.180299. preprint.
- Lee, G., Chambers, S.M., Tomishima, M.J., Studer, L., 2010. Derivation of neural crest cells from human pluripotent stem cells. Nat. Protoc. 5 (4), 688–701. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nprot.2010.35.
- Lee, C.Z.W., Kozaki, T., Ginhoux, F., 2018. Studying tissue macrophages in vitro: are iPSCderived cells the answer? Nat. Rev. Immunol. 18 (11). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41577-018-0054-y. Art. no. 11.
- Li, S., Stys, P.K., 2001. Na(+)-K(+)-ATPase inhibition and depolarization induce glutamate release via reverse Na(+)-dependent transport in spinal cord white matter. Neuroscience 107 (4), 675–683. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0306-4522(01)00385-2.
- Lian, Q., et al., 2010. Functional mesenchymal stem cells derived from human induced pluripotent stem cells attenuate limb ischemia in mice. Circulation 121 (9), 1113–1123. https:// doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.109.898312.
- Liu, J., Chen, W., Zhao, Z., Xu, H.H.K., 2013. Reprogramming of mesenchymal stem cells derived from iPSCs seeded on biofunctionalized calcium phosphate scaffold for bone engineering. Biomaterials 34 (32), 7862–7872. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.biomaterials.2013.07.029.
- Livesey, M.R., et al., 2016. "Maturation and electrophysiological properties of human pluripotent stem cell-derived oligodendrocytes. Stem Cells 34 (4), 1040–1053. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/stem.2273. Dayton, Ohio.
- Lu, P., et al., 2014. Long-distance axonal growth from human induced pluripotent stem cells after spinal cord injury. Neuron 83 (4), 789–796. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.neuron.2014.07.014.
- Lv, F.-J., Tuan, R.S., Cheung, K.M.C., Leung, V.Y.L., 2014. Concise review: the surface markers and identity of human mesenchymal stem cells: markers and identity of MSCs. Stem Cell. 32 (6), 1408–1419. https://doi.org/10.1002/stem.1681.
- Ma, M.-S., Boddeke, E., Copray, S., 2015. Pluripotent stem cells for Schwann cell engineering. Stem Cell Rev. Rep. 11 (2), 205–218. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12015-014-9577-1.
- Magnani, D., Chandran, S., Wyllie, D.J.A., Livesey, M.R., 2019. In vitro generation and electrophysiological characterization of OPCs and oligodendrocytes from human pluripotent stem cells. In: Lyons, D.A., Kegel, L. (Eds.), Oligodendrocytes: Methods and Protocols. Springer, New York, NY, pp. 65–77.
- Martinez, F.O., Gordon, S., 2014. The M1 and M2 paradigm of macrophage activation: time for reassessment. F1000Prime Rep. 6 (13). https://doi.org/10.12703/P6-13.
- Moslem, M., Valojerdi, M.R., Pournasr, B., Muhammadnejad, A., Baharvand, H., 2013. Therapeutic potential of human induced pluripotent stem cell-derived mesenchymal stem cells in mice with lethal fulminant hepatic failure. Cell Transplant. 22 (10), 1785–1799. https://doi.org/10.3727/096368912X662462.

- Mousavi, M., Hedayatpour, A., Mortezaee, K., Mohamadi, Y., Abolhassani, F., Hassanzadeh, G., 2019. Schwann cell transplantation exerts neuroprotective roles in rat model of spinal cord injury by combating inflammasome activation and improving motor recovery and remyelination. Metab. Brain Dis. 34 (4), 1117–1130. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s11011-019-00433-0.
- Mukherjee, N., Nandi, S., Ghosh, S., Garg, S., Ghosh, S., 2020. Three-dimensional microfluidic platform with neural organoids: model system for unraveling synapses. ACS Chem. Neurosci. 11 (2), 101–102. https://doi.org/10.1021/acschemneuro.9b00654.
- Myers, S.A., Bankston, A.N., Burke, D.A., Ohri, S.S., Whittemore, S.R., 2016. Does the preclinical evidence for functional remyelination following engraftment into the injured spinal cord support progression to clinical trials? Exp. Neurol. 283, 560–572. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.expneurol.2016.04.009. Pt B.
- Nagoshi, N., et al., 2018. Human spinal oligodendrogenic neural progenitor cells promote functional recovery after spinal cord injury by axonal remyelination and tissue sparing: oligodendrogenic NPCs for spinal cord injury. Stem Cell. Transl. Med. 7 (11), 806-818. https://doi.org/10.1002/sctm.17-0269.
- Nagoshi, N., Okano, H., 2018. iPSC-derived neural precursor cells: potential for cell transplantation therapy in spinal cord injury. Cell. Mol. Life Sci. 75 (6), 989–1000. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s00018-017-2676-9.
- Nakajima, H., et al., 2012. Transplantation of mesenchymal stem cells promotes an alternative pathway of macrophage activation and functional recovery after spinal cord injury. J. Neurotrauma 29 (8), 1614–1625. https://doi.org/10.1089/neu.2011.2109.
- Ng, J., et al., 2016. Immunomodulatory properties of induced pluripotent stem cell-derived mesenchymal cells. J. Cell. Biochem. 117 (12), 2844–2853. https://doi.org/10.1002/ jcb.25596.
- Nutt, S.E., et al., 2013. Caudalized human iPSC-derived neural progenitor cells produce neurons and glia but fail to restore function in an early chronic spinal cord injury model. Exp. Neurol. 248, 491–503. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.expneurol.2013.07.010.
- Nzou, G., et al., 2018. Human cortex spheroid with a functional blood brain barrier for highthroughput neurotoxicity screening and disease modeling. Sci. Rep. 8 (1). https://doi.org/ 10.1038/s41598-018-25603-5. Art. no. 1.
- Oyinbo, C.A., 2011. Secondary injury mechanisms in traumatic spinal cord injury: a nugget of this multiply cascade. Acta Neurobiol. Exp. 71 (2), 281–299.
- Paşca, A.M., et al., 2019. Human 3D cellular model of hypoxic brain injury of prematurity. Nat. Med. 25 (5), 784–791. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41591-019-0436-0.
- Pomeshchik, Y., et al., 2015. Interleukin-33 treatment reduces secondary injury and improves functional recovery after contusion spinal cord injury. Brain Behav. Immun. 44, 68–81. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbi.2014.08.002.
- Popa, C., et al., 2010. Vascular dysfunctions following spinal cord injury. J. Med. Life 3 (3), 275–285.
- Pukos, N., Goodus, M.T., Sahinkaya, F.R., McTigue, D.M., 2019. Myelin status and oligodendrocyte lineage cells over time after spinal cord injury: what do we know and what still needs to be unwrapped? Glia 67 (11), 2178–2202. https://doi.org/10.1002/glia.23702.
- Qin, C., Guo, Y., Yang, D.-G., Yang, M.-L., Du, L.-J., Li, J.-J., 2018. Induced pluripotent stem cell transplantation improves locomotor recovery in rat models of spinal cord injury: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Cell. Physiol. Biochem. 47 (5), 1835–1852. https://doi.org/10.1159/000491064.

- Romanyuk, N., et al., 2014. Beneficial effect of human induced pluripotent stem cell-derived neural precursors in spinal cord injury repair. Cell Transplant. 24 (9), 1781–1797. https:// doi.org/10.3727/096368914X684042.
- Sawamoto, K., 2006. New neurons follow the flow of cerebrospinal fluid in the adult brain. Science 311 (5761), 629–632. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1119133.
- Sekine, H., et al., 2011. Cardiac cell sheet transplantation improves damaged heart function via superior cell survival in comparison with dissociated cell injection. Tissue Eng. 17 (23–24), 2973–2980. https://doi.org/10.1089/ten.tea.2010.0659.
- Slovinska, L., Blasko, J., Nagyova, M., Szekiova, E., Cizkova, D., 2016. In vitro models of spinal cord injury. In: Recovery of Motor Function Following Spinal Cord Injury. https://doi.org/10.5772/63459.
- Srinivasan, P., Zervantonakis, I.K., Kothapalli, C.R., 2014. Synergistic effects of 3D ECM and chemogradients on neurite outgrowth and guidance: a simple modeling and microfluidic framework. PLoS One 9 (6). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0099640.
- Stebbins, M.J., et al., 2019. "Human pluripotent stem cell-derived brain pericyte-like cells induce blood-brain barrier properties. Sci. Adv. 5 (3), eaau7375. https://doi.org/10.1126/ sciadv.aau7375.
- Sun, Y.-Q., et al., 2012. Human pluripotent stem cell-derived mesenchymal stem cells prevent allergic airway inflammation in mice. Stem Cell. 30 (12), 2692–2699. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/stem.1241.
- Takahashi, K., et al., 2007. Induction of pluripotent stem cells from adult human fibroblasts by defined factors. Cell 131 (5), 861–872. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2007.11.019.
- Tang, M., Chen, W., Liu, J., Weir, M.D., Cheng, L., Xu, H.H.K., 2014. Human induced pluripotent stem cell-derived mesenchymal stem cell seeding on calcium phosphate scaffold for bone regeneration. Tissue Eng. 20 (7–8), 1295–1305. https://doi.org/10.1089/ ten.tea.2013.0211.
- TheinHan, W., Liu, J., Tang, M., Chen, W., Cheng, L., Xu, H.H.K., 2013. Induced pluripotent stem cell-derived mesenchymal stem cell seeding on biofunctionalized calcium phosphate cements. Bone Res. 1 (4), 371–384. https://doi.org/10.4248/BR201304008.
- Uccelli, A., Moretta, L., Pistoia, V., 2008. Mesenchymal stem cells in health and disease. Nat. Rev. Immunol. 8 (9), 726–736. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri2395.
- Vawda, R., et al., 2019. "Early intravenous infusion of mesenchymal stromal cells exerts a tissue source age-dependent beneficial effect on neurovascular integrity and neurobehavioral recovery after traumatic cervical spinal cord injury. Stem Cell. Transl. Med. 8 (7), 639–649. https://doi.org/10.1002/sctm.18-0192 p. sctm.18-0192.
- Vawda, R., Fehlings, M.G., 2013. Mesenchymal cells in the treatment of spinal cord injury: current & future perspectives. Curr. Stem Cell Res. Ther. 8 (1), 25–38. https://doi.org/ 10.2174/1574888X11308010005.
- Wang, S., et al., 2013. Human iPSC-derived oligodendrocyte progenitors can myelinate and rescue a mouse model of congenital hypomyelination. Cell Stem Cell 12 (2), 252–264. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2012.12.002.
- Wang, Z., et al., 2020. Cerebral organoids transplantation improves neurological motor function in rat brain injury. CNS Neurosci. Ther. 26 (7), 682–697. https://doi.org/10.1111/ cns.13286.
- Wang, L.-T., et al., 2018. Differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells from human induced pluripotent stem cells results in downregulation of c-myc and DNA replication pathways with immunomodulation toward CD4 and CD8 cells: iPSC-MSCs are low in c-myc, suppress CD4 and 8 cells. Stem Cell. 36 (6), 903–914. https://doi.org/10.1002/stem.2795.

- Watanabe, S., et al., 2015. Early transplantation of mesenchymal stem cells after spinal cord injury relieves pain hypersensitivity through suppression of pain-related signaling cascades and reduced inflammatory cell recruitment: transplanted MSC reduce hypersensitivity after SCI. Stem Cell. 33 (6), 1902–1914. https://doi.org/10.1002/stem.2006.
- Weightman, A.P., Pickard, M.R., Yang, Y., Chari, D.M., 2014. An in vitro spinal cord injury model to screen neuroregenerative materials. Biomaterials 35 (12), 3756–3765. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2014.01.022.
- Wilcox, J.T., Satkunendrarajah, K., Zuccato, J.A., Nassiri, F., Fehlings, M.G., 2014. Neural precursor cell transplantation enhances functional recovery and reduces astrogliosis in bilateral compressive/contusive cervical spinal cord injury: neural stem cells improve recovery in cervical SCI. Stem Cell. Transl. Med. 3 (10), 1148–1159. https://doi.org/ 10.5966/sctm.2014-0029.
- Xiang, Y., et al., 2017. Fusion of regionally specified hPSC-derived organoids models human brain development and interneuron migration. Cell Stem Cell 21 (3), 383–398.e7. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2017.07.007.
- Xu, G.-Y., Liu, S., Hughes, M.G., McAdoo, D.J., 2008. Glutamate-induced losses of oligodendrocytes and neurons and activation of caspase-3 in the rat spinal cord. Neuroscience 153 (4), 1034–1047. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2008.02.065.
- Yang, J., Xiong, L.-L., Wang, Y.-C., He, X., Jiang, L., Fu, S.-J., Han, X.-F., Liu, J., Wang, T.-H., 2018. Oligodendrocyte precursor cell transplantation promotes functional recovery following contusive spinal cord injury in rats and is associated with altered microRNA expression. Mol. Med. Rep. 17 (1), 771–782. https://doi.org/10.3892/ mmr.2017.7957.
- Zai, L.J., Wrathall, J.R., 2005. Cell proliferation and replacement following contusive spinal cord injury. Glia 50 (3), 247–257. https://doi.org/10.1002/glia.20176.
- Zeng, H., et al., 2010. Specification of region-specific neurons including forebrain glutamatergic neurons from human induced pluripotent stem cells. PLoS One 5 (7), e11853. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0011853.
- Zhang, B., Bailey, W.M., McVicar, A.L., Gensel, J.C., 2016. Age increases reactive oxygen species production in macrophages and potentiates oxidative damage after spinal cord injury. Neurobiol. Aging 47, 157–167. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2016.07.029.
- Zhu, W., Castro, N.J., Zhang, L.G., 2015. Nanotechnology and 3D bioprinting for neural tissue regeneration. In: Zhang, L.G., Fisher, J.P., Leong, K.W. (Eds.), 3D Bioprinting and Nanotechnology in Tissue Engineering and Regenerative Medicine. Academic Press, pp. 307–331.

Functional outcomes of copy number variations of Chrna7 gene: current knowledge and new insight from induced pluripotent stem cells studies

Daniela Ferrari¹, Angela D'Anzi², Alessia Casamassa², Laura Bernardini⁴, Ada Maria Tata³, Angelo Luigi Vescovi^{1,2}, Jessica Rosati²

¹Biotechnology and Bioscience Department, Bicocca University, Milan, Italy; ²Cellular Reprogramming Unit, IRCCS Casa Sollievo della Sofferenza, San Giovanni Rotondo, Italy; ³Dept Biology and Biotechnologies Charles Darwin, Sapienza University of Rome, Rome, Italy; ⁴Medical Genetics Unit, Fondazione IRCCS Casa Sollievo della Sofferenza, San Giovanni Rotondo, Italy

Chapter outline

Introduction	.270
CHRNA7 locus and CNVs (copy number variations)	.271
Nicotinic receptors	.275
α-7 nicotinic receptor subtype: functional characteristics and pharmacology	.278
Distribution and functions of α 7 nicotinic receptors in the nervous system	.281
Clinical characteristics of CHRNA7 CNV in human patients: heterozygous deletion	
and duplication, homozygous deletion	.283
Functional aspects of CHRNA7 mutation in animal models: modeling CNS	
features	.285
α7-nAChR knock-out mice	. 285
15q13.3 microdeletion models	. 291
Transgenic CHRFAM7A models	. 292
Novel concepts on the functions of the α 7nAChR obtained through the use of	
iPSC models	.293
Conclusions	.296
References	.298

Abstract

The discovery of genomic rearrangements, known as copy number variations (CNVs), is relatively new; their contribution to genetic heterogeneity and their impact on human diseases is still largely unknown. CNVs within the human 15q13.3 region have been associated with neuropsychiatric and neuro-developmental disorders such as schizophrenia, autism spectrum disorders (ASD), intellectual disability, and epilepsy. Several recent studies suggest that, within this chromosomic region, the gene *CHRNA7*, encoding for the human alfa7 subunit of the nicotinic acetylcholine receptor, plays a major role in the observed pathological phenotypes. Consistently, patients carrying deletions or duplications of CHRNA7 present symptoms comparable to patients with a larger 1.5 Mb deletion of the 15q13.3 region. The penetrance of CHRNA7 CNVs is variable, and the exact pathogenic mechanisms are currently being elucidated.

In this chapter, we have critically reviewed all up-to-date studies regarding the functional outcomes of CNVs involving the alpha7-nicontinic receptor (α 7nAChR), highlighting the advantages and disadvantages of the methodologies and models utilized. We have described the structure, functionality, and physiological role of the α 7nAChR, analyzing the mechanisms that determine the occurrence of CNVs and the clinical features of patients carrying *CNRNA7* CNVs. We have examined and compared the mice models used to study the role of these CNVs and the new human model of induced pluripotent stem cells, which is proving very useful in clarifying the clinical and phenotypic features pertaining specifically to humans.

Keywords: alpha7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor; CHRNA7; CNV; Copynumber variation; Epilepsy; Induced pluripotent stem cell; iPSC; Microdeletion; Microduplication; nAChR; NAHR; Neural stem cells; Neurodevelopmental disease; Neuropsychiatric disease; Schizophrenia.

Introduction

Genetic variations in the human genome are responsible for the great variability in the inheritance of human traits. In 2007, during the first sequencing of the human genome, it first became evident that genetic content varied within the chromosomal regions (Levy et al., 2007). These structural variations are now known as Copy Number Variations (CNVs). In the following years, the ability to detect CNVs improved progressively, and the recent development of higher resolution genomic technologies, in particular in the field of clinical diagnostics, has led to the discovery of new CNV-dependent disorders (Pang et al., 2010; Conrad et al., 2010). It has thus become clear that CNVs are not only an important source of genetic diversity within the general population but are also significantly associated with many human diseases, the so-called genomic disorders. Although the role of certain CNVs in the human genome appears to be benign, numerous CNVs have been implicated in the etiology of a wide variety of human diseases, among which neurodevelopmental disorders, multiple congenital anomaly syndromes, complex neurodegenerative and neuropsychiatric disorders, cancer and immune deficiency (Stankiewicz and Lupski, 2010; Girirajan et al., 2012; Karaca et al., 2015; Larson et al., 2018; Pizzo et al., 2019). When present, these genomic variants can modify specific phenotypic traits, which would explain why individuals presenting the same CNV(s) might not display a pathological phenotype (incomplete penetrance) or why individuals carrying the same variant might show different phenotypes (variable expressivity). This model could be also applied to single-gene disorders, in as much as further hits caused by CNV(s) could potentially explain why there may be discordant clinical features reported among affected carriers of the same molecular alteration. To further complicate the landscape, it is emerging that the same disorder can be caused by different CNVs (genetic heterogeneity) and that a specific CNV can be associated with different disorders (pleiotropy).

This chapter on genetic disorders arising from CNVs hitting the CHRNA7 genomic region of chromosome 15 will be divided into three parts:

In the first part, we will focus on the mechanisms that determine the occurrence of these CNVs, observing the chromosome structure that mediates their formation, and we will explore the genetic conditions that might lead to disease development by influencing gene/protein expression.

Secondly, we will be taking a closer look at nicotinic receptors with particular attention to α 7. We will examine the protein structure of nicotinic receptors, the mechanism at the base of the action of α 7, its pharmacological characteristics, its role during normal brain development, and the clinical features of patients carrying CNVs on the alpha7-nicotinic acetylcholine receptor (α 7nAChR).

Subsequently, we will consider the mice models used to study the role of these CNVs in the brain and then describe how the new human model of induced pluripotent stem cells has helped to clarify the clinical and phenotypic features pertaining specifically to humans. The iPSC lines, obtained directly from patients, provide an excellent human model for studying the role of this receptor during neuron differentiation and for developing pharmacological molecules capable of influencing human pathological behavior dependent on these CNVs.

In the conclusion, we will discuss a new approach for considering CNVdependent diseases, thanks to the studies developed on iPSC lines.

CHRNA7 locus and CNVs (copy number variations)

Taking a more detailed look at these variations, we will take up the following questions regarding the exact definition of these CNVs, the consequences of their presence, and what causes them to form inside the human genome.

Copy number variations (CNVs) are defined as changes in large DNA regions, differing among individuals, which consist of duplications and/or deletions larger than 1 Kb of one or both alleles (Feuk et al., 2006; Chance et al., 1994; Stan-kiewicz and Lupski, 2002). CNVs play an important role in modulating the pheno-typic spectrum, both in monogenic and polygenic diseases, and are most likely responsible for about one-fifth of the known neurodevelopmental disorders

(Stankiewicz and Lupski, 2002), including autism, schizophrenia, intellectual disability, attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder, developmental delay, and epilepsy (Battaglia et al., 2013). CNVs are located both in chromosomal regions containing genes and in regions without genes. Rather than being randomly distributed across the genome, their presence correlates with specific structural features of the chromosomes (e.g., inverted repeats, segmental duplications or low copy repeats (LCRs), highly homologous small regions, etc.) (Chance et al., 1994; Cooper et al., 2007; Perry et al., 2006; Sharp et al., 2005; Shaw et al., 2002).

LCRs, or segmental duplications, are duplicated genomic sequences of a size ranging from 1 to 400 Kb, with a sequence homology >95% (Sharp et al., 2005), mainly located in peri-centromeric and subtelomeric regions (Zarrei et al., 2015). These sequences, which, from an evolutionary point of view, are themselves CNVs, cause several genomic regions to be particularly prone to genomic rearrangements. These sequences, in fact, are *in cis* substrates that mediate the nonallelic homologous recombination mechanism (NAHR). NAHR is a recombination event in which, during meiosis or mitosis in these regions, nonallelic copies of LCR may align themselves irregularly. This misalignment can take place between different loci, either on the same chromosome or on different chromosomes. The result of these ectopic recombination events is the main mechanism of further CNVs (Stankiewicz and Lupski, 2002).

In this chapter, we will focus on the CNVs affecting the 15q13.3 chromosomal region encompassing the CHRNA7 gene (CHRNA7-CNVs). CHRNA7 encodes for the α 7 subunit of nicotinic acetylcholine receptors (nAChRs), which represents a family of ligand-gated ion channels (Schaaf, 2014). This gene includes ten exons: exon 1 encodes the signal peptide sequence, which allows the α 7 protein to enter into the endoplasmic reticulum (ER), where it undergoes a maturation process; exons 2 through 6 contribute to the formation of the extracellular ligand-binding domain, which contains the glycosylation sites, which are necessary for the correct functioning of the α 7 homomeric receptors (Chen et al., 1998). Exons 7-8 encode for the membrane spanning region, while the last two exons encode for the intracellular portion. These exons produce a transcript that is translated into a protein of approximately 57 kDa (OMIM number * 118,511). CHRNA7 gene maps into the proximal region of the long arm of chromosome 15, particularly enriched by a series of Low Copy Repeats (LCRs), whose members are called BP1-BP5. In particular, BP4 and BP5 members share a large amount of homology, with three regions (in inverted orientation from one another) of 95 kb, 140 kb, and 218 kb, containing sequences which are 99.6% identical. Moreover, a further LCR element distal to CHRNA7 has been mapped between exons 1 and 2 of OTUD7A (D-CHRNA7-LCR). The region involved in the rearrangement can vary in size, depending on which members of these LCRs pair during meiosis. NAHR between the BP4 and BP5 members leads to the formation of the most frequent reciprocal 1.6 Mb 15q13.3 microdeletion/microduplication, encompassing six genes, MTMR15, MTMR10, TRPM1, KLF13, OTUD7A, and CHRNA7 and one microRNA: hsamiR-211 (van Bon et al., 2009). Moreover, the smallest recurrent CNVs encompassing only the *CHRNA7* gene have been described, mediated by BP4 and D-CHRNA7-LCR, as measuring approximately 680 Kb (Shinawi et al., 2009; Sza-franski et al., 2010) (Fig. 12.1).

This genomic region is complicated by the presence of the chimeric *CHRFAM7A* gene, composed of exons 5–10 of the *CHRNA7* gene fused with four exons of *FAM7A* gene, located 1.6 Mb upstream of the CHRNA7 gene (Gault et al., 1998; Sinkus et al., 2009; Sinkus et al., 2015). The four exons of FAM7 gene encode 27 amino acids while exons belonging to CHRNA7, encode for a protein which has lost the sequence motif for endoplasmic translocation (Goder and Spiess, 2001; Kozak, 1999). The formation of *CHRFAM7A* is human specific and relatively recent in human evolution, as it is not found in either rodents or in primates. It is expressed in the human brain at low levels (approximately one order of magnitude less than *CHRNA7* in the hippocampus), but more abundantly in peripheral lymphocytic cells and in numerous other tissues (Gault et al., 1998; Sinkus et al., 2009; Riley et al., 2002; Flomen et al., 2006). The *CHRFAM7A* copy number differs among individuals, ranging from zero to three copies, and encodes for a product lacking part of the *CHRNA7* ligand binding site (Sinkus et al., 2009).



FIGURE 12.1

Schematic overview of the regions 15q13.2 and 15q13.3: (A) Nonallelic homologous recombination between BP4 and BP5 members leads to the formation of the reciprocal 1.6 Mb 15q13.3 microdeletion/microduplication; (B) Nonallelic homologous recombination mediated by BP4 and D-CHRNA7-LCR.

The ancestral allele lacking the fusion gene is rare in the population today (1% circa), while nearly the entire human population harbors the fusion gene, which might imply a selective advantage. The CHRFAM7A null allele is probably part of a chromosome structure that precedes the emergence of CHRFAM7A: two possible haplotypes are illustrated in Fig. 12.2A.

Regarding the CHRFAM7A genotype, two differing hypotheses were proposed (Riley et al., 2002; Flomen et al., 2008) to explain its emergence: the researchers modeled two possible routes through which successive rounds of deletion, duplication, and inversion might have produced the chromosome that we have today. Interestingly, when present, *CHRFAM7A* exists in two orientations with reference to *CHRNA7* (Flomen et al., 2008) (Fig. 12.2B). When the orientation of CHRFAM7A is the same with respect to CHRNA7, it is generally accompanied by a 2-bp deletion functional polymorphism, within exon 6, which has been associated with schizophrenia and bipolar disorder (Fig. 12.2C).



FIGURE 12.2

Genomic map of CHRNA7 and its partial duplication, CHRFAM7A: (A) two possible haplotypes of CHRFAM7A null allele; (B) wild-type CHRFAM7A allele; (C) 2 bp polymorphism and inversion of CHRFAM7A.

The mechanisms of action in CNVs can be multiple. It is possible that CNVs, altering gene expression, can create, on the one hand, a neutral phenotype if the genes affected are not dosage sensitive. On the other hand, the alteration in gene expression can create a pathological phenotype in the case of dosage-sensitive genes mapping within the CNV (Lupski and Stankiewicz, 2005). A dosage sensitivity model implies that a 50% increase or decrease in gene copy number is deleterious. Various mechanisms can bring this about: (1) a change in stoichiometric balance between CNV-dependent gene products and other proteins. When the gene is duplicated, the protein product aggregates pathologically because it is present in too high concentrations. When the gene is deleted, protein function may be compromised because it cannot reach the minimum required concentration; (2) the unmasking of a mutated recessive-allele, which can be understood as follows: when a CNV creates a deletion on an allele, and there is a pathological mutation on the allele situated on the homologous chromosome, this sole remaining recessive (mutated) allele is unmasked, becoming functionally dominant, and causing the disease; (3) the perturbation of chromosome functional domains interfering with right gene expression regulation, through the modification of the relative distance between the gene and its regulatory region, in the case of a duplication, or the removal of regulatory elements, such as enhancers, in the case of a deletion (Rice and McLysaght, 2017) (Fig. 12.3).

Nicotinic receptors

In the next paragraphs, we will focus on the structure of nicotinic receptors, with a closer look at α 7nAChR, at its structure, at the pharmaceutical molecules that have been developed on this protein, and finally on its role in brain development and maintenance. The nAChRs belong to the family called "cholinergic receptors," thanks to their ability to bind to the neurotransmitter acetylcholine (ACh). These ionotropic receptors are channels that conduct Na⁺, K⁺, and Ca²⁺ ions across the plasma membrane, subsequent to the ligand binding. Nicotinic receptors were first identified in muscle; the first four muscle-type nAChR subunits were called $\alpha 1$, $\beta 1$, γ , and δ . The other subunits, correspondently called $\alpha 2 - \alpha 10$ and $\beta 2 - \beta 4$, are largely expressed in the nervous system, both in neurons and glial cells (Changeux and Edelstein, 2005). The α and non- α subunits are encoded by separate genes and display around 30%-40% of amino acid sequence homology. In the membrane, these subunits are organized as heteropentamers or homopentamers, forming the receptor channel (Fig. 12.4A). The functional and structural diversity of nicotinic receptors depends on the possible combinations of these subunits. Each subunit is made up of different domains: the N-terminal extracellular domain, which carries the agonist-binding site, four transmembrane domains (TM1, TM2, TM3, TM4) with the TM2 domain forming the walls of the ion pore, and a variable intracellular cytoplasmic loop that contains sites for receptor modulation and channel conductance determinants (Morales-Perez et al., 2016; Lendvai et al., 2013; Corradi and Bouzat, 2016). Interfacing between the extracellular and



FIGURE 12.3

Various mechanisms of dosage sensitivity: (A) When the gene is duplicated, the protein product aggregates pathologically; (B) when the gene is deleted, protein function may be compromised; (C) a CNV creates a deletion in an allele, and there is a pathological mutation on the allele situated on the homologous chromosome; the remaining recessive (mutated) allele is unmasked; (D) in the case of a duplication or a deletion, the relative distance between the gene and its regulatory region is modified.

transmembrane domains, there is a disulfide-linked loop which makes an essential contact with the loop connecting the TM2 and TM3 sequences, forming a network that relays structural changes from the binding site toward the pore. This region, named the coupling region, contributes to the fundamental mechanism of receptor



FIGURE 12.4

(A) Schematic representation of some of homo- and heteromeric nicotinic receptors types; (B) The organization of α -7 nicotinic receptor subtype; (C) Coding sequence of α -7 nicotinic receptor and relative organization of NH₂-, COOH- and transmembrane domains.

activation (Bouzat et al., 2004; Lee and Sine, 2005; Bartos et al., 2009). In particular, each binding site is formed at the interfaces between pairs of subunits, while each coupling region is confined within each subunit. In particular, the homomeric α 7 receptor has five identical ACh-binding sites; however, ACh occupancy of only one site is sufficient for activation (Andersen et al., 2013). In heteromeric receptors, the non- α subunits (β , γ , ε , γ) do not participate in the ACh binding but may be relevant for the binding of allosteric ligands (De Jaco et al., 2017). The composition of the subunits confers the pharmacological and functional properties of each receptor subtype (Fig. 12.4).

α -7 nicotinic receptor subtype: functional characteristics and pharmacology

α7nAChR is one of the main receptor subtypes expressed in the brain, where it has a central role in correct fetal brain development and also, in correct adult brain functioning, such as learning and synaptic plasticity. Numerous papers have been published in the last 40 years on this protein and on the development of molecules designed to influence its functions. The first approach taken was to mutagenize single residues or to delete part of the protein and use these recombinant proteins in order to measure calcium flux associated with the binding of acetylcholine (Ach); these experiments gave the researchers the capacity to define important regions, such as ligand-binding sites, antagonist-binding sites, allosteric sites modifying the protein structure, and intracellular sites implicated in protein—protein interaction. Later, numerous molecules (agonists, antagonists, positive allosteric modulators [PAMs]) were analyzed for their capacity to influence channel function.

Compared to other nicotinic receptors, α 7 exhibits unique functional characteristics which include:

- a high permeability to calcium. Generally, the binding of the acetylcholine with α 7nAChRs triggers a flow of Ca²⁺ and Na⁺, which enter the cells through the opened channel. Normally this gradient also involves the increased release of Ca²⁺ from intracellular storage, for example, from the ER.
- A rapid activation and desensitization phase (in the order of milliseconds). The calcium current has a short duration and rapidly brings the channel receptor to its desensitized state, in which, even if the ligand is present at the binding site, it is not able to conduct the ionic flow. In neurons, the release of intracellular Ca²⁺ mediated by α 7 contributes to the mechanisms of synaptic plasticity (Shen and Yakel, 2009).
- a selective inhibition given by α -bungarotoxin and methylcyconitin (MLA) and a low affinity for nicotine.

Recently, many papers have shown that α 7nAChR-mediated calcium signaling occurs via ionotropic calcium influx, due to the opening of the α 7 channel and, also, via metabotropic activity, through G protein coupling (King et al., 2015; King and Kabbani, 2016; King et al., 2018) (Fig. 12.5). In neurons, both ionotropic and metabotropic α 7nAChR functions are observed. Activated ionotropic α 7nAChRs in synapses can involve a wide range of Ca²⁺ sensitive targets, including enzymes such as cyclic-dependent AMP protein kinase (PKA) and Ca²⁺/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase. These kinases are sensitive to Ca²⁺ levels and can regulate various synaptic ion channels as well as cytoskeletal and trafficking proteins, which control vesicle release and mobility (Shen and Yakel, 2009). Furthermore, cell calcium signaling



FIGURE 12.5

 $\alpha\text{-}7$ nicotinic receptor subtype: calcium signaling and pharmacology. On the left, orthosteric agonists and $\alpha\text{7}nAChR$ -mediated calcium signaling via ionotropic and metabotropic activities. On the right, classes of ligands that selectively modulate the α7 nicotinic receptor activity: positive allosteric modulators (PAMs), allosteric activators, and silent agonists.

mediated by nAChR regulates gene expression in neurons, controlling the activation of transcription factors such as CREB, which play an important role in memory and learning (Chang and Berg, 2001).

It has been suggested that ligand-driven structural transition of the α 7nAChR to the open channel state can also enable a metabotropic signaling state during channel desensitization. In this regard, metabotropic signaling by the α 7 receptor can provide greater spatial and temporal receptor influence in the cell (Kabbani and Nichols, 2018). King and collaborators defined a G protein-binding cluster (GPBC) within the TM3–TM4 loop of the α 7nAChR, which mediates interactions with G protein. The lack of the G protein-binding cluster generates a dominant negative α 7nAChR mutant (a7345–348A), impaired in downstream G protein signaling (King et al., 2015). An interesting feature of this receptor is that it exhibits ligand-mediated metabotropic-like signal transduction behavior, which appears to be independent of detectable ion-currents (Kabbani and Nichols, 2018). This can be pharmacologically significant, as explained below.

A large number of ligands that selectively modulate the α 7 nicotinic receptor activity were initially developed and tested for their actions on the functionality of this receptor. Subsequently, their therapeutic properties were tested on those

mechanisms in which this receptor is implicated, regarding inflammation, memory, and behavioral disorders. Today, several drugs targeting the nAChRs are currently in the clinical trial stage. Several α 7 full agonists have been characterized: the natural neurotransmitter acetylcholine, SEN 12333/WAY-317538; PNU- 282907; AR-R17779 (Levin et al., 1999), EVP6124 and TC5619; their functions are to bind the orthosteric ligand site and to drive conformational transitions through openchannel states, then into desensitized states (Hibbs et al., 2009). Agonist activation of nAChRs may also occur via an allosteric site (Direct Allosteric Activation, DAA). Moreover, several studies also focused on partial agonists for nAChRs, ligands that activate the ion channel with lower efficacy than the endogenous agonists (i.e., nicotine, GST-21 (Meyer et al., 1997). Among these ligands, the S24795 has been studied for AD. Recently, attention has been drawn to a new class of drugs, termed silent agonists (Horenstein and Papke, 2017), which produce very little channel activation (having < 10% efficacy compared to Ach) but are profoundly desensitizing. One example is NS6740 (Papke et al., 2018), which produces very stable and long-lived desensitization (Godin, 2019). PAMs are another kind of potential drug candidate. PAMs can selectively modulate the activity of Ach at α 7nAChRs, preserving the activation and deactivation kinetics of the receptor, without leading to desensitization after prolonged binding to the receptor (Eskildsen et al., 2014; Unal et al., 2020) (Fig. 12.5).

A few words should be said regarding the protein product of the CHRFAM7 gene found inside the CNV, which is associated with α 7. In recent years, its role has been allotted more and more importance as its presence/absence/duplication provokes pharmacological responses quite different from those resulting in mouse models.

In humans only, the CHRFAM7A gene encodes a specific deleted isoform of the α 7nAChR called dup α 7 subunit. Several investigators have demonstrated that the dup α 7 subunit alters the assembly and function of the α 7nAchR complex by forming a heteropentamer of α 7/dup α 7 subunits, which alters ligand binding to the receptor (Sinkus et al., 2015; Costantini et al., 2015). Lasala and collaborators (Lasala et al., 2018) demonstrated in recipient cells, following a quantitative dup α 7 overexpression, that: (1) dup α 7 alone does not form functional ion channels; (2) the dup α 7 subunit can assemble with α 7, forming a variety of heteromeric α 7/dup α 7 receptors, whose functional capacity depends on stoichiometric subunit binding. For functional heteromeric α 7/dup α 7 receptors, in fact, at least two α 7 subunits are required and the activation of heterometric receptors requires a $\alpha 7/\alpha 7$ interfacial-binding site. Heteromers containing four dup α 7 subunits are nonfunctional and those with three or less dup α 7 subunits, despite being functional, have reduced Ach sensitivity, due to the reduced number of active Ach-binding sites (Andersen et al., 2013; Andersen et al., 2011). An additional negative modulatory action of dup α 7 might be associated with a decrease in the number of surface α 7 receptors. The authors focused their attention on ionotropic responses; no data are as yet available regarding the dual ionotropic/metabotropic receptor function. It has further been reported that CHRFAM7A expression likewise alters binding to the α 7nAChR in neuronal cells as well (Chan et al., 2019) (Fig. 12.6).



FIGURE 12.6

(A) Structure of CHRNA7 and CHRFAM7A gene products; (B) Pentameric structure of the normal α 7nAChR and three type of pentamer containing the peptide of the duplicated subunit (dup α 7).

Distribution and functions of $\alpha 7$ nicotinic receptors in the nervous system

Three approaches have been developed to study a7nAChR in mice models: (1) studies on the expression and function of this receptor during prenatal development and, following birth, during adult-onset neurogenesis (Otto and Yakel, 2019; Broide et al., 2019); (2) behavioral and functional studies performed on transgenic mice through the deletion and mutagenesis of CHRNA7; (3) studies using molecules targeting α 7nAChR, directly infused into normal mice and mice carrying several pathological conditions, such as neurodevelopmental/neuropsychiatric/neurodegenerative diseases, in which nicotinic receptor involvement was demonstrated by the therapeutic effects (De Jaco et al., 2017; Lykhmus et al., 2020; Wang, 2017; Neves and Grace, 2019). The analysis of α 7nAChR mRNA expression throughout normal mouse whole-body during embryonic and neonatal development, published in 2019, highlighted information on the brain, previously established in other articles on chickens (Erkman et al., 2000; Keiger et al., 2003), rodents (Broide et al., 1995; Messi et al., 1997; Adams et al., 2002), and humans (Hellström-Lindahl et al., 1998; Falk et al., 2002), regarding its abundant distribution in the central (CNS), peripheral (PNS), and enteric nervous systems. During brain development in mice, in fact, it was found that there was an overall increase in α 7 mRNA expression, in particular in the autonomic and parasympathetic ganglia, as well as in cortical structures, comprising the hippocampal anlage expression, which became more committed to specific brain structures and nuclei. Low a7 mRNA expression was also observed in various nonneural tissues throughout the body, including adrenal medulla, kidney, tongue, tooth, nasal epithelium, prostate, testis, and muscle, while expression levels were higher in the adrenal medulla. This widespread expression of α 7nAChRs throughout the developing nervous system and the adrenal medulla suggests that these receptors have important functions during development. Great attention was given to α 7nAChRs distribution in the hippocampus during development. In this region, the α 7nAChR, located pre- and postsynaptically, contributes to cognition, attention, learning, and memory (Hasselmo, 2006; Levin, 2012). Moreover, this receptor, mediating the stimulus of Ach, is implicated in hippocampal adult-neurogenesis, a life-long process whereby neural stem cells (NSCs), located in both the subventricular zone (SVZ) and the subgranular zone (SGZ) of the mammalian dentate gyrus (DG) divide, differentiate, mature, and integrate into the local circuitry (Aimone et al., 2014; Altman and Das, 1965; Bonaguidi et al., 2012; Eriksson et al., 1998; Gonçalves et al., 2016; Spalding et al., 2013). α 7nAChRs, present in the SVZ, are also important for cell proliferation, differentiation, and survival (Inestrosa and Arenas, 2010; Kaneko et al., 2006). Two interesting articles published in 2019 and 2020 (Otto and Yakel, 2019; Baradaran, 2020), respectively, have taken into consideration the influence of α 7nAChRs in hippocampal lateralization. Two characteristics are typical of the hippocampus: asymmetry and sexual dimorphism in structure and function. It is believed that hippocampal asymmetry developed for the purpose of simplifying functions such as memory and navigation (Eichenbaum and Cohen, 2014). In humans, a high level of cognitive capacity is associated with increased hippocampal lateralization (Gotts et al., 2013), while defects in left-right asymmetry have been observed in autism and schizophrenia ((Schumann et al., 2004; Hanlon et al., 2005). Sexual dymorphism may contribute to cognition, influencing hippocampal adult neurogenesis. Concerning mice models, there was an association between levels of adult neurogenesis and performance in tasks measuring pattern separation, spatial discrimination, or cognitive flexibility (Clelland et al., 2009; Cushman et al., 2012; Hollands et al., 2017; Pan et al., 2012; Sahay et al., 2011). Interestingly, these papers demonstrated that: (1) the expression of the α 7nAChR subunits in the left hippocampus was significantly higher than those on the right side; (2) sexual dimorphism disappeared when a7nAChR was removed. Male mice showed both loss of neural stem cells and

decreased performance in the task subsequent to the loss of α 7nAChR, while this was not seen in females. These results highlighted that the presence of a7 receptors is important for correct hippocampal homeostasis.

Another important aspect in brain structure that has been reported is that functional nAChR responses can be found not only in neurons but also in nonexcitable cells, including microglia, astrocytes, and myelinating glial cells (De Simone et al., 2005; Fields et al., 2017). The expression of α 7nAChRs in the immune system and in microglia is of particular interest, owing to its crucial role in the regulation of the cholinergic antiinflammatory pathway, both in peripheral areas and in the brain, which has been largely demonstrated (Fields et al., 2017; Reale et al., 2015). Moreover, α 7nAchR appears to be one of the major regulators in the initiation, progression, and metastasis of various forms of cancer.

Clinical characteristics of CHRNA7 CNV in human patients: heterozygous deletion and duplication, homozygous deletion

The clinical features of individuals carrying CHRNA7-CNVs are highly variable. Our description is based on papers selected from the literature in which the observation of the phenotypic characteristics is accomplished via genetic analyses. We will examine the clinical phenotypes of the entire spectrum of CHRNA7-CNVs, including heterozygous deletions, homozygous deletions, heterozygous duplications, and triplications.

Several published articles have reported that the deletion of the one copy of CHRNA7 gene (Masurel-Paulet et al., 2010) or of the region comprehending the CHRNA7 gene (van Bon et al., 2009; Ben-Shachar et al., 2009; Miller et al., 2009; Sharp et al., 2008; Stefansson et al., 2008) produces a clear pathological phenotype which becomes much more evident when the deletion is present in homozygosis (Hoppman-Chaney et al., 2013). There are no evident clinical differences among CNVs of the single CHRNA7 gene or of the largest, and most common CNVs comprehending several genes including CHRNA7 (Lowther et al., 2015). Thus, the size of the deletion does not consistently correlate with the severity of symptoms, corroborating the hypothesis that *CHRNA7* is the most significant gene in all of these genomic alterations. The heterozygous BP4-BP5 microdeletion, 1.6 Mb in size, represents the most frequent CNV affecting CHRNA7. Described for the first time in 2008 by Sharp et al. (2008), it is associated with a wide range of neurodevelopmental disorders, such as intellectual disability (ID), developmental delay (DD) with language or speech impairments and idiopathic generalized epilepsies, whereas congenital abnormalities are less common (<5%) and do not present with distinctive dysmorphic features. Neuropsychiatric phenotypes are very common, affecting more than 80% of individuals, and include ASD, attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) or attention difficulties, mood disorders, such as anxiety and bipolar disorder, abnormal behaviors, including aggression and hyperphagia and schizophrenia. This deletion is inherited in approximately 85% of the cases, with significantly more cases with maternal segregation (Lowther et al., 2015; Dibbens et al., 2009; Helbig et al., 2009). Such microdeletion has also been found in apparently normal individuals, consistent with incomplete penetrance. To conclude, the high clinical variability also present among close family members, exposed to similar environmental factors, yet differing significantly in their clinical manifestations (Hassfurther et al., 2016), demonstrates that the clinical symptomatology derives from a multifactorial origin, part of which will be explained further on (in the section discussing iPS and mice). The few patients carrying homozygous 1.5 Mb microdeletion had similar clinical features consisting of epilepsy, profound intellectual disability, muscular hypotonia, and congenital retinal dysfunction (Hoppman-Chaney et al., 2013; Le Pichon et al., 2013; Liao et al., 2011; Spielmann et al., 2011; Endris et al., 2010; Lepichon et al., 2010; Prasun et al., 2014).

While loss of *CHRNA7* has been found to have a variable phenotype but highly pathological penetrance, gains of *CHRNA7* have been more enigmatic. Their clinical significance and pathogenicity is less well understood, mainly due to the fact that BP4–BP5 reciprocal microduplications, as well as nested duplications only encompassing *CHRNA7* have been found in control individuals without clinical impairment (van Bon et al., 2009; Miller et al., 2009; Zhou et al., 2016; Turco et al., 2018), with a frequency not significantly different with respect to affected subjects. Affected individuals present cognitive deficits; language or speech impairment was reported. As in the case of CHRNA7 microdeletions, neuropsychiatric phenotypes included schizophrenia, ASD, ADHD, and mood disorders, abnormal behaviors, including disruptive behavior disorder, pica, and alcohol abuse seizures. Epilepsy was also recorded. Finally, some patients showed dysmorphic features, although not specific.

There is only one case report of CHRNA7 triplication (Soler-Alfonso et al., 2014), regarding four affected individuals spanning three generations. The family members were affected by cognitive disabilities in the borderline intellectual functioning range, and various degrees of neuropsychiatric pathologies. Both the proband and his twin brother were affected with a pervasive developmental disorder not otherwise specified (PDD-NOS), dysthymia, and anxiety disorder. Their mother had been diagnosed in her twenties with bipolar disorder, anxiety disorder, attention deficit disorder, learning disability, and seizures. The maternal grandfather, who carried the triplication, was impacted by alcoholism and drug addiction, and characterized by abusive behavior toward others, including his own family members. Despite very high variability in expressivity within the family, the penetrance of behavioral phenotypes was complete.

In conclusion, patients with either *CHRNA7* gains or losses have been found to manifest a similar range of neuropsychiatric phenotypes, suggesting that the human brain is sensitive to *CHRNA7* dosage. This idea is supported by the fact that the low number of patients showing Childhood-Onset-Schizophrenia are carriers of deletions as well as duplications, which occur at overlapping sites containing the last two introns plus one exon of the *CHRNA7* gene (Zhou et al., 2016; Ahn et al., 2014).

Two independent CNVs genome-wide association studies (GWAS) reported an association between *CHRFAM7A* dosage and Alzheimer's Disease; lower copy number and, as a consequence, lower levels of the fusion gene expression have been found associated with AD (Lew et al., 2018; Szigeti et al., 2014; Swaminathan et al., 2012). In contrast, upregulation of *CHRFAM7A* was observed in the brain of individuals affected by schizophrenia and bipolar disorder (Kunii et al., 2015) and association studies suggest a correlation with inverted orientation (2 bp deletion).

Functional aspects of CHRNA7 mutation in animal models: modeling CNS features

The role of CHRNA7 CNVs in neurodevelopmental and neuropsychiatric diseases has been modeled in animals by testing three genotype modifications (Fig. 12.7):

- Single deletion of the CHRNA7 gene (CHRNA7-ko).
- Deletion of the 15q13.3 orthologous region in the murine genome, to mimic patients with the 15q13.3 microdeletion syndrome (1.5-MB deletion).
- Insertion in the mouse genome of the human gene *CHRFAM7A* (*CHRFAM7A* transgenic mice).

We will focus on: (1) the reliability and accuracy of behavioral phenotypes observed in mice models with respect to patients' symptomatology and (2) the assessment of CNV-induced pathogenic pathways.

α7-nAChR knock-out mice

Human studies have led to the hypothesis that *CHRNA7* is the key element causative for the 15q13.3 microdeletion syndrome. The first *CHRNA7-ko* model was created on mice back in 1997, by deleting exons 8–10, which encode for its transmembrane domain (Orr-Urtreger et al., 1997).

Behavioral impairments

This same mouse model has not been changed since 1997, so investigations have continued to be carried out on the behavioral, physiological, and electrophysiological phenotypes based on this model. Regarding behavior, most of the studies on mice models, showed that *CHRNA7*-ko mice were by and large normal, with no overt deficits in sensorimotor reflexes, anxiety levels, motor function, learning, and memory auditory sensory gating (Paylor et al., 1998; Yin et al., 2017; Azzopardi et al., 2013), thus suggesting that loss of function in *CHRNA7* is not sufficient to cause statistically significant social behavioral or neuropsychiatric-like alterations in mice. Only a few studies showed subtle impairments in working memory, attention, and/or visual acuity accompanied by depression-like behavior (Fernandes et al., 2006; Hoyle et al., 2006; Young et al., 2007; Young et al., 2011; Origlia et al., 2012; Zhang et al., 2016; Lewis et al., 2018; Young et al., 2004). These variable results (Table 12.1) may be due to the use of different behavioral tests/mouse

286 CHAPTER 12 Functional outcomes of copy number variations



Mouse models and IPSC lines carrying CNVs in the chromosome 15q13.2-q13.3. Area above chromosome band: mouse models syntenic to human chromosome 15q13.2-q13.3; area below chromosome band: IPSC lines obtained from patients carrying 15q13.2-q13.3 CNVs.

strains used to assess pathogenic phenotypes. For instance, Lewis and colleagues (Lewis et al., 2018) demonstrated that CHRNA7-ko mice present with an enhanced propensity for aggressive behavior, a phenotypic tract that was previously overlooked in the same model (Yin et al., 2017). The study by Lewis showed that aggressivity can be recapitulated in animals by transferring the mutation on an intrinsically more aggressive mouse strain - from C57BL/6 (Orr-Urtreger et al., 1997) to Balb/c mice (Lewis et al., 2018) and provoking mice aggressivity with a more stressful test (resident intruder test after a social-isolation period).

Brain circuitry and neuronal electrophysiology

Beyond behavioral evaluation, *CHRNA7*-ko mice did not show electrophysiological phenotypic differences with respect to wild-type animals (Yin et al., 2017). Other studies (Zhang et al., 2016; Lewis et al., 2018; Campbell et al., 2010; Adams et al., 2012; Lin et al., 2014) focused on the individuation of possible entangled

Table 12.1 The table resumes and compares the main behavioral phenotypes linked to CHRNA7 ko mice (Orr-Urtreger et al., 1997; Paylor et al., 1998; Yin et al., 2017; Azzopardi et al., 2013; Fernandes et al., 2006; Hoyle et al., 2006; Young et al., 2007; Origlia et al., 2012; Zhang et al., 2016; Lewis et al., 2018; Young et al., 2004) and 15q13.3 microdeletion mice models (Kogan et al., 2015; Forsingdal et al., 2016; Nilsson et al., 2016; Fejgin et al., 2014).

Behavioral phenotypes patient- related	CHRNA7-KO	15Q13.3 microdeletion models		
Basic physiological features				
Basic behavior: Locomotion, exploration, rearing, sniffing, body weight, rotarod	No significant differences respect to wt were detected. In (Paylor et al., 1998), KO mice were slightly less active.	HET Df(h15q13)/+ (Fejgin et al., 2014) and D/+ (Kogan et al., 2015) mice were overall normal with mildly reduced locomotion, the hypoactive phenotype was more pronounced in Df(h15q13)/- mice (Forsingdal et al., 2016). Df(h15q13)/+ (Fejgin et al., 2014), but not, D/+ (Kogan et al., 2015) mice showed slightly increased body weight.		
Anxiety				
Reduced propensity to explore "open" and/or uncomfortable (elevated/dark) spaces: Locomotion in open field, light/dark transition, zero-maze task	No significant differences respect to wt were detected in light/dark exploration (Paylor et al., 1998), elevated plus maze (Yin et al., 2017) or open field. In (Paylor et al., 1998), KO showed a trend toward walking in the center in the open field test (low anxiety); an opposite indication was shown in (Fernandes et al., 2006).	No significant differences respect to wt were detected in open field. D/+ (Kogan et al., 2015) mice spend significantly more time in open arms of the zero-maze (low anxiety).		
Schizophrenia related features				
Deficits in auditory- sensory processing: Startle-response to auditory stimulus and prepulse inhibition	No significant differences respect to wt were detected in tactile- (Paylor et al., 1998) or auditory-evoked (Paylor et al., 1998; Yin et al., 2017), mild impairments were observed when comparing only males animals (Azzopardi et al., 2013).	Deficits were detected in Df(h15q13)/+ (Fejgin et al., 2014) mice. Df(h15q13)/- (Forsingdal et al., 2016) showed a more severe phenotype.		

Table 12.1 The table resumes and compares the main behavioral phenotypes linked to CHRNA7 ko mice (Orr-Urtreger et al., 1997; Paylor et al., 1998; Yin et al., 2017; Azzopardi et al., 2013; Fernandes et al., 2006; Hoyle et al., 2006; Young et al., 2007; Origlia et al., 2012; Zhang et al., 2016; Lewis et al., 2018; Young et al., 2004) and 15q13.3 microdeletion mice models (Kogan et al., 2015; Forsingdal et al., 2016; Nilsson et al., 2016; Fejgin et al., 2014).—*cont'd*

Behavioral phenotypes patient- related	CHRNA7-KO	15Q13.3 microdeletion models	
Attention deficits: 5 choice serial reaction time	Mild impairments in visual attention were more evident in KO mice respect to HET (Hoyle et al., 2006; Young et al., 2007; Young et al., 2011; Young et al., 2004), and in tasks with an elevated attentional load (Young et al., 2007).	Impairments in visual attention were detected in Df(h15q13)/+ (Nilsson et al., 2016) mice.	
Nest building		Df(h15q13)/+, Df(h15q13)/- mice showed a (Forsingdal et al., 2016) <i>r</i> educed nest building activity. The phenotype was more severe for Df(h15q13)/- mice.	
Cognitive impairments			
Deficit in memory and learning: spatial memory and learning (water maze test, Y-maze tests); olfactory memory and learning (odor span test); Fear conditioning	No significant deficits were detected in basic test (Paylor et al., 1998; Azzopardi et al., 2013), deficits were detected only in more complex tasks (Fernandes et al., 2006; Young et al., 2011), olfactory working memory (Young et al., 2007) and procedural learning (Young et al., 2011).	No or mild deficits detected for Df(h15q13)/+ (Fejgin et al., 2014) or D/+ (Kogan et al., 2015), significant impairments were detected for Df(h15q13)/- (Forsingdal et al., 2016).	
Visual acuity			
Behavior-based measure of visual acuity: Visual water task	Significant reduction of visual acuity detected in KO mice (Origlia et al., 2012).		

Table 12.1 The table resumes and compares the main behavioral phenotypes linked to CHRNA7 ko mice (Orr-Urtreger et al., 1997; Paylor et al., 1998; Yin et al., 2017; Azzopardi et al., 2013; Fernandes et al., 2006; Hoyle et al., 2006; Young et al., 2007; Origlia et al., 2012; Zhang et al., 2016; Lewis et al., 2018; Young et al., 2004) and 15q13.3 microdeletion mice models (Kogan et al., 2015; Forsingdal et al., 2016; Nilsson et al., 2016; Fejgin et al., 2014).—*cont'd*

Behavioral phenotypes patient- related	CHRNA7-KO	15Q13.3 microdeletion models
Depression		
Propensity to behavioral despair: tail suspension test, forced swimming test	Significant propensity to behavioral despair detected in KO mice (Zhang et al., 2016). In (Yin et al., 2017) only KO female mice showed depressed behavior in one task.	
Impairment in reward mechanisms (anhedonia): Sucrose preference test	Anhedonia detected in KO mice (Zhang et al., 2016).	
Aggressive behavior		
Tube test or resident induced test	No significant deficits were shown (Yin et al., 2017). Significantly more aggressive behavior detected in more stressing test, when mice are backcrossed for BalbC mice (Lewis et al., 2018).	Df(h15q13)/+ were more aggressive when returned to the cages (Fejgin et al., 2014).
Autism spectrum disorders		
Repetitive behavior: Self- grooming, holeboard exploration, marble burying test, jumping	No significant differences respect to wt were detected in HET or KO mice. Impairments were limited to KO males in some task (Yin et al., 2017).	D/+ (Kogan et al., 2015) and Df(h15q13)/- (Forsingdal et al., 2016) mice showed repetitive behavior.
Impairments in social interactions: Preference of social/nonsocial object, familiar/new partners, nonsocial/ social behavior	No significant differences respect to wt were shown in HET or KO mice (Yin et al., 2017).	No significant impairments in social interaction were shown for Df(h15q13)/+ (Forsingdal et al., 2016), while phenotype was significantly detected for D/+ (Kogan et al., 2015) and Df(h15q13)/- (Forsingdal et al., 2016).
Continued		

Table 12.1 The table resumes and compares the main behavioral phenotypes linked to CHRNA7 ko mice (Orr-Urtreger et al., 1997; Paylor et al., 1998; Yin et al., 2017; Azzopardi et al., 2013; Fernandes et al., 2006; Hoyle et al., 2006; Young et al., 2007; Origlia et al., 2012; Zhang et al., 2016; Lewis et al., 2018; Young et al., 2004) and 15q13.3 microdeletion mice models (Kogan et al., 2015; Forsingdal et al., 2016; Nilsson et al., 2016; Fejgin et al., 2014).—*cont'd*

Behavioral phenotypes patient- related	CHRNA7-KO	15Q13.3 microdeletion models
Impairments in communication skills: Ultrasonic vocalization in pups		Not significant impairments detected in Df(h15q13)/+, significant deficits detected in Df(h15q13)/ – (Forsingdal et al., 2016) and in D/+ mice (Kogan et al., 2015).
Hepilepsy		
Convulsant-induced seizure: three stages of epilepsy (early stage seizure, myoclonic jerks, clonic seizure)		Df(h15q13)/+ (Fejgin et al., 2014) mice showed mostly early stage seizure and myoclonic jerks, resistant to clonic seizure. Analogous phenotype for D/+ (Kogan et al., 2015). The phenotype was more strongly indicated among Df(h15q13)/- (Forsingdal et al., 2016): With no myoclonic jerks or clonic seizure. Epilepsy phenotype more likely to be absence seizure as in microdeletion patients.

In the first column, the behavioral tests most commonly used to assess the specific patient-related feature are listed as examples, in each of the studies different versions/tests may have been used to assess the same impairment. CHRFAM7A transgenic mice (Costantini et al., 2019; Jiang et al., 2019) did not show behavioral impairments, therefore are not listed in the table. Het, heterozygous; KO, homozygous; Wt, wild type.

pathogenic cellular and molecular pathways in *CHRNA7* loss in mice, evidencing alterations in specific brain circuitry (hippocampus, nucleus accumbens, cortical inhibitory pathways) compatible with the pathological phenotypes encountered in patients.

Campbell and collaborators evaluated the impact of CHRNA7 loss on hippocampal neuronogenesis in the mature nervous system (Campbell et al., 2010). The generation of new neurons in adult mice and their integration into the hippocampal circuitry is a crucial mechanism for sustaining hippocampal-dependent learning and memory tasks and may also play a role in diminishing addictive behavior (Noonan et al., 2010). In CHRNA7-ko mice, adult-born neurons presented with short and less complex dendritic arbours, retained an immature electrophysiological state longer than wild-type animals and were more prone to die during the critical period, when adult-born neurons are normally integrated into behaviorally relevant networks. A prolonged condition in adulthood of a reduced availability of new neurons could determine a progressive failure of hippocampal functionality that might in turn be responsible for the cognitive and behavioral symptoms of CHRNA7 patients. Consistently, findings from wild-type and CHRNA7-ko mice suggest that also aggressive behavior, a recurrent feature in patients, could be caused by the imbalance of another hippocampal network modulated by cholinergic signaling through alfa7 receptors (Lewis et al., 2018, 2015). Cholinergic stimulation of GABAergic interneurons reduces the activation of a specific subset of dentate gyrus neurons involved in aggressive behavior. Lewis et al. (2018) showed that hostile behavior is enhanced in CHRNA7-ko mice and cannot be corrected by partial agonists or nicotine (as happens in wild-type animals). These results suggest that genetic-induced imbalance of the cholinergic modulation of hippocampus might strongly contribute to the pathogenic phenotype in patients.

Finally, Zhang et al. (2016) showed a possible association between *CHRNA7* loss and molecular pathogenic mechanisms involved in depression. Considering that inflammation and deregulation of brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) pathway through the TrkB receptor, in specific brain areas (nucleus accumbens), have been observed in depressed patients, these factors may be implicated in the development of this psychiatric disorder. Research was thus carried out on CHRNA7-ko mice whose behavior suggested a possible depressed phenotype. Interestingly, these mice showed an elevated level of tumor necrosis factor- α and interlukin-1 β in the serum (two cytochines that are altered in patients) and an increased activation of BDNF/TrkB signaling. Anatomically, an increase in synaptogenesis and spine density in the nucleus accumbens was observed. These findings suggest that the loss of CHRNA7 might induce a depression-like phenotype by increasing BDNF-TrkB signaling and, consequently, synaptogenesis in the nucleus accumbens.

15q13.3 microdeletion models

Additional studies have addressed the possibility of modeling the 15q13.3 microdeletion syndrome in mice, by removing the genome segment syntenic to the deleted 1.5 MB-region in patients. The corresponding orthologous region is present in the mouse genome on chromosome 7 (7qC) and is partially conserved among humans and mice. Recently, two mouse models of the 15q13.3 microdeletion have been described: the Df(h15q13)/+ (Gass et al., 2016; Lewis et al., 2005; Daskalakis et al., 2007; Javitt et al., 2008) and the D/+ (Kogan et al., 2015) models. The first model (Df(h15q13)/+) was obtained by Cre/Lox-mediated excision of a 1.28 megabase region on Chromosome 7, spanning from a breakpoint between exon 9 and 10 of the *Chrna7* gene to a breakpoint between exon 3 and 4 of the *Fan1* gene, while the second model (D/+) was generated by a slightly different approach: by FLP/FRTmediated deletion of a 1.2 megabase region between exon 10 of *Chrna7* and exon 1 of *Fan1*. Both methodologies caused an overall deletion of the genes *Fan1*, *Mtmr10*, *Trpm1*, *Klf13*, *OTUD7a*, and *Chrna7*.

Behavioral phenotype

The deletion did not affect basic behavior or physiological functions, such as locomotion, exploration, rearing, or sniffing. However, when animals were tested for specific behavioral tasks to unmask autism (stereotypic repetitive behavior, alteration of social interaction), schizophrenia (irregular auditory sensory processing), cognitive impairments (long-term spatial memory), or epilepsy (absence seizure, i.e., freezing), they showed altered functionality comparable to the symptomatic spectrum of human patients (Table 12.1), although with slight differences between the two models (Df(h15q13)/+ and D/+), which might reflect the phenotypic diversity in human subjects bearing the 15q13.3 microdeletion. In addition, the phenotype was more accentuated in the homozygous animals with respect to heterozygous mice (Forsingdal et al., 2016), suggesting a dose-dependent effect of the deletion, thus reproducing the human pathology (Table 12.1).

Brain circuitry and neuronal electrophysiology

More recently (Nilsson et al., 2016), the physiology of brain circuitry functioning was examined in more depth on Df(h15q13)/+, focusing on schizophrenia-related imbalances within prefrontal cortical circuitry, usually observed as reduction in markers for cortical inhibitory signaling (Lewis et al., 2005; Daskalakis et al., 2007; Javitt et al., 2008). This 15q13.3 feature is particularly interesting in the context of CHRNA7, because of its involvement in cortical inhibitory transmission (Adams et al., 2012; Lin et al., 2014). Similar to symptoms in human patients, Df(h15q13)/+ animals showed marked, medial prefrontal cortical dysfunctions, as measured by multiple parallel tests of inhibitory transmission and attentional functioning. These dysfunctions were observed as decreased baseline activity of putative interneurons and reduced interneuronal and pyramidal neuronal sensitivity to auditory stimulation.

Transgenic CHRFAM7A models

Results obtained from clinical and in vitro studies (Lasala et al., 2018; Chan et al., 2019; Kunii et al., 2015; Lasala et al., 2019; de Lucas-Cerrillo et al., 2011; Maldifassi et al., 2018; Wang et al., 2014) point to a substantial contribution of the *CHRFAM7A* gene to the modulation of α 7nAchR-mediated physiological and pathophysiological pathways. The lack of the *CHRFAM7A* in the mouse genome might account for the incomplete phenotype observed in *CHRNA7*-ko mice and for the unreliable clinical translatability of pharmacological treatments developed in animal models and impinging on α 7nAchR (Lewis et al., 2017). In order to unravel these issues, a humanized transgenic model was developed to study the role of CHRNA7 and CHRFAM7A more comprehensively in human

health and disease (Costantini et al., 2019; Jiang et al., 2019). Transgenic animals did not show any pathogenic/peculiar feature regarding general health and behavior. Initial studies (Costantini et al., 2019) focused on hematopoiesis and showed that the presence of CHRFAM7A increases the stem cell compartment in the bone marrow and protects mice from depletion of the hematopoietic stem cell reservoir caused by the systemic inflammatory response syndrome. Concerning the neurological role of CHRFAM7A, Jiang et al. (2019) showed that expression of CHRFAM7A into the brain did not alter the CHRNA7A expression level, but decreased the percentage of α -bungarotoxin-binding brain cells, thus suggesting that in the central nervous system as well, CHRFAM7A expression modulates the functionality of α 7nAchR. Proteomic profiling of whole brain tissue showed that almost 100 proteins were differentially expressed in transgenic versus wildtype animals. In agreement with the potential role of CHRFAM7A in the pathogenesis of neuropsychiatric and/or neurodegenerative diseases, in the group of the most up/down-regulated proteins, mitochondria-associated enzymes/proteins were present, whose dysfunction likely plays a critical role in the occurrence and progression of these diseases.

Novel concepts on the functions of the $\alpha7nAChR$ obtained through the use of iPSC models

Studies on neurodevelopmental and neuropsychiatric diseases, which up to roughly a decade ago could only be carried out on animal models and on postmortem sections of the human brain, have made a quantum leap in recent times, thanks to the techniques provided by the production of induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs). In particular, the use of human-induced pluripotent stem cells to generate neural cells has, in fact, revolutionized our ability to access and study human neurons and glial cells directly from patients affected by neuropsychiatric diseases, where rare but penetrant genetic abnormalities are likely to play a role (Dolmetsch and Geschwind, 2011; Grskovic et al., 2011; Marchetto et al., 2010; Park et al., 2008; Paşca et al., 2011).

To date, only six papers have been published regarding iPSCs and the role of CHRNA7/CHRFAM7 during development (Turco et al., 2018; Larsen et al., 2019; Ihnatovych et al., 2019; Gillentine et al., 2017; Chatzidaki et al., 2015; Gill et al., 2013) Four of them defined the role of this receptor in healthy donors and two focused on its deregulation caused by a Copy Number Variation which influences CHRNA7 and CHRFAM7 dosages (Fig. 12.7). The results obtained with iPSCs lead us to believe that the iPSC model will be the best approach for comprehending the mechanistic bases of neuropsychiatric disorders. In Larsen's study (Larsen et al., 2019), through the differentiation of three healthy donor-derived iPSCs into neural stem cells (NSC), researchers linked the α 7nAChR expression in hiPSC-derived neurons to an intracellular signaling influencing synaptic

transmission. The research was carried out in four stages: (1) characterization of the native expression of the α 7nAChR in hiPSC-derived neurons, (2) evaluation as to whether α 7 stimulation resulted in the activation of relevant cellular downstream processes, (3) characterization of the hiPSC-derived neurons as a model for synaptic transmission, and finally (4) investigation of the involvement of α 7nAChR in synaptic transmission. Prior to this publication, other groups had characterized voltage-dependent channels in neuron-derived iPSCs (Chatzidaki et al., 2015; Dage et al., 2014). Their results were interesting because they demonstrated the effective presence and function of different channels during neuronal differentiation but, as the authors stated, the development of other differentiation protocols was essential in order to obtain terminally differentiated neurons. In Larsen's paper, this problem was overcome: neuronal differentiations of the NSCs were highly reproducible, and according to the authors, the scalability, reproducibility, and cellular identity of their model qualified it for pharmaceutical research. After 21 days of differentiation, on the basis of pan-neuronal mRNA and protein marker expression, the authors investigated the effects of neurotransmitters on intracellular calcium levels mediated by CHRNA7-derived protein. In particular, they demonstrated that intracellular calcium increased in response to neurotransmitters such as GABA, acetylcholine, and glutamate, whereas no effects were observed with the addition of dopamine and serotonin. Subsequently, the changes in gene expression of nAChR subunits during neural maturation were examined, showing differing increases of the subunits $\alpha 4$ - $\alpha 7$ - $\beta 2$ and interestingly, a strong upregulation of the human-specific hybrid a7 gene (CHRFAM7A), a dominant negative modulator of the α 7 receptor function. Through the use of various molecules, such as agonists, antagonists, and PAM, the presence of functional a7nAChR was demonstrated. Nicotinic receptors were functionally active, since they were capable of activating intracellular signaling mediated by ERK1/2 phosphorylation and c-Fos overexpression. α 7 was capable of increasing the levels of intracellular calcium through two mechanisms: calcium influx via voltage-gated calcium channels and release from intracellular stores, as demonstrated on other cell lines (Guerra-Álvarez et al., 2015; Dajas-Bailador et al., 2002). To study the synaptic transmission in these neurons, the differentiation was extended to 5 weeks. At this time-point, the authors, after demonstrating the presence of chemical synapses, confirmed the involvement of the α 7nAChR in synaptic transmission. The use of agonists and antagonists showed that acetylcholine signaling through the α 7nAChR had no effects on basal synaptic transmission, but rather played a central role in increasing synaptic activity. These results, obtained directly on human neuronal cells, have broken new ground for potential use of this differentiation protocol in α 7 drug discovery, considering that a translation gap had previously emerged, when preclinical studies on mice, demonstrating the beneficial cognitive effects of agonists and PAMs, had not been confirmed in human trials (Lewis et al., 2017; Sadigh-Eteghad et al., 2015).

The production of the first iPSC lines directly derived from human patients allowed researchers to produce the first cell lines from patients affected by neurodevelopmental/neuropsychiatric diseases caused by CNVs, which have been utilized to study the role of nicotinic acetylcholine receptors in both pathological (Gillentine et al., 2017) and nonpathological settings (Turco et al., 2018).

Gillentine et al. (2017) developed human iPSC lines from both individuals with 15q13.3 deletions and 15q13.3 duplications. These iPSC lines, along with the induced neuronal cell lines that were derived, offer researchers a useful model for studying the molecular consequences of a CHRNA7 CNV and may represent a tool for developing therapies for affected individuals. By using this kind of human model, genetic characteristics and clinical features can be associated to investigate cellular/functional behavior. In the abovementioned experiments, gene expression, a7nAChR-dependent calcium flux, and consequences of altered calcium signaling in iPSCs and NPCs derived from 15q13.3 CNV probands were explored. As was expected, it was found that α 7nAChR-dependent calcium flux was decreased in 15q13.3 deletion, while, surprisingly, in the neural precursor cells (NPCs) carrying the duplication, despite having a double dosage of CHRNA7 mRNA confirmed by the genomic and expression data, the same decrease in calcium flux was observed. The decreased calcium flux in both groups mirrored the clinical observations: patients with deletions often have a similar but more severe phenotype than duplications. The authors focused their attention on the necessary process of folding, assembly, and trafficking of α 7nAChRs, which allows them to reach the plasmatic membrane. Although the findings showed an increase in the two chaperones implicated in nicotinic receptor processing found in the 15q13.3 duplication NPCs, the α 7 subunits were retained inside the ER, instead of reaching the plasmatic membrane, creating ER stress, as a result of inefficient or diminished processing. To support this hypothesis, it was verified that both CNV groups JAK2 (MIM: 147796), directly activated by a7nAChR-dependent calcium flux, had significantly decreased expression compared to controls, with its downstream target, PI3K, having decreased mRNA expression in both groups, but only significantly for deletions. Moreover, having observed this mechanism, which is affected by changes in calcium flux in the cells of probands with 15q13.3 CNVs, it can be hypothesized that there may be other processes stemming from the same calcium flux variations which could contribute to explaining the variable expressivity of phenotypes observed. The findings in this paper have significant implications because they suggest possible itineraries for further research. In particular, it is not unlikely that drugs capable of mitigating ER stress could benefit individuals with a variety of neuropsychiatric disorders associated with 15q13.3 duplications, a plausible hypothesis which has yet to be explored.

One of the unique features of α 7nAChR in the human context is the presence of the fusion gene, CHRFAM7A (Gault et al., 1998; Sinkus et al., 2015). Considering the high frequency of CHRFAM7A CNV in the human population, the use of iPSC lines can contribute to the comprehension of the functional impact of CNVs on α 7nAChR in human cells. The findings will be valuable for clinical trials in the near future. To study the functional consequences of the presence of the CHRFAM7A gene product on α 7nAChR, Ihnatovych and collaborators

(Innatovych et al., 2019) produced two iPSC lines from skin biopsies of subjects affected by Alzheimer's disease. The CHRFAM7A gene was lacking in UB068 (0 copies), while UB052 had only one copy of CHRFAM7A (Fig. 12.2A). This interesting article highlighted that the presence of one copy of CHRFAM7, as opposed to zero copies, altered α 7nAChRs electrophysiological properties, suggesting that, based on their genotypes, individuals may respond differentially to PAMs, agonists, and antagonists. Thus, it may prove useful to take these pharmacogenetic correlations into account during drug development when targeting α 7nAChR. The authors also demonstrated a regulatory effect of CHRFAM7A on A β 1-42 uptake, which was concentration-dependent. Linear uptake of A β 1-42 was observed in the 0 line, while the presence of CHRFAM7A mitigated the dose response of A β 1–42 uptake at higher concentrations, suggesting a protective effect not correlated to the physiological concentrations. Their results suggested a negative modulatory effect of CHRFAM7A on synaptic transmission (relevant in schizophrenia, where increased CHRFAM7A indicates risk) and a modulatory effect on A β 1–42 uptake (relevant in AD, where loss of CHRFAM7A indicates risk). The described data obtained from iPSCs derived from healthy and affected donors highlighted two important findings: (1) that there is a strong functional difference between nicotinic receptors from mice models and human models, and (2) that pharmacological drugs which have positive effects in mice do not always have positive effects in humans. This is due to the fact that the mechanisms in the two model systems are different and, above all, that the genetic background found in humans (as demonstrated by the findings on CHRFAM7) is not reproduced in mice models.

Conclusions

This chapter has been conceived to allow the reader to understand that symptomatically complex diseases like neurodevelopmental/neuropsychiatric disorders may have a genetic cause, such as the CNV of the α 7nAChR, or that this same CNV may represent a risk/susceptibility factor for these diseases. We have also focused on the various approaches taken in these years for studying the functions of this receptor and on the current pharmacological treatments that may be capable of modulating this receptor, influencing its many functions. We have illustrated the utility of studying mouse model systems and moved on to examine the new frontiers represented by iPSCs. The initial idea of comparing the complex neurodevelopmental and neuropsychiatric symptoms developed by patients to mice models has been found to be inconclusive. Behavioral tests for uncovering deficits related to autism, schizophrenia, and depression in mice are very difficult to design and execute, which may have contributed to the variability of the described results. Of note, patients with the single CHRNA7-CNV gene and those with the larger 1.5 MB deletion do not show differing phenotypes; on the contrary, in animals, the spectrum of neurological and neurobehavioral symptoms of the 15q13.3 syndrome can be reproduced only by the complete deletion of the mouse genome tract corresponding to the entire 1.5 MB sequence; a deletion of CHRNA7 is not sufficient by itself to evoke phenotypes in mice. Another relevant difference between the two species in this context is the role of the human-specific gene CHRFAM7A. Recent findings (Chan et al., 2019; Costantini et al., 2019; Jiang et al., 2019; Araud et al., 2011), both in vitro and in vivo, show that CHRFAM7A acts as an inhibitor/ modulator of CHRNA7; thus it may play an important role in regulating the CHRNA7 signaling involved in cognition and behavior, which is not reproduced in mice. The genetic environment (strain-related effects) could be an additional factor, for example, certain genetic modifiers necessary for phenotypic expression of CHRNA7 deletion might not be present in C57BL/6J mice. Indeed, the genetic background of C57BL/6 masks the CHRNA7ko-induced aggressivity, which is instead apparent in Balb/c CHRNA7 ko mice. It is evident that the genetic background has a powerful effect on the function and regulation of the receptor; in fact, clinical trials performed with pharmacological molecules bound to the receptor, whose efficacy in mice models had previously been demonstrated, did not give the expected results. All of these discrepancies between human and mouse models can be avoided by using patient-derived iPSCs as a disease model (Casamassa et al., 2020). Owing to the fact that the iPSCs are directly derived from the patient's cells, with a genetic background that is identical to that in which the symptoms developed, they can highlight the links between signal transduction, cellular pathological phenotype, and clinical symptoms, which is not possible using mice. It is obvious that working with iPSCs has changed both the perspectives and the approach to the problem. With iPSCs, we begin by observing the biological function that normally corresponds to a molecular mechanism, such as calcium flux activation, analyzing the causes and consequences of this flux. Using this kind of approach, associated with the opportunity of having large quantities of iPSCs from patients with differing genetic characteristics (and in the cases we are considering, having opposite CNVs, that is both a duplication and a deletion) can yield a wealth of information which could not have been obtained from studies on mice. These two opposite CNVs have a common result: reduced calcium flux. This similar result is caused by two different mechanisms, one directly caused by the deletion of the gene, and the other indirectly caused by gene duplication creating endoplasmatic reticulum stress. The same information is reflected in the clinical characteristics of the patients, who display the same symptomatology, with more marked features with the deletion, and milder effects with the duplication. The information obtained with iPSCs allows us to develop different kinds of pharmaceuticals directly on human cells, capable of regulating the mechanisms impaired by the CNVs. Regarding cells carrying the deletion, the molecule will have to be capable of maintaining the channels open, whereas for cells carrying the duplication, the therapy will function by acting on plasmatic reticulum stress. The creation of a personalized drug modulating the a7nAChR, thus restoring healthy mechanisms, will be made possible, thanks to the use of iPSCs.

References

- Adams, C.E., et al., 2002. Development of the alpha7 nicotinic cholinergic receptor in rat hippocampal formation. Brain Res. Dev. Brain Res. 139 (2), 175–187.
- Adams, C.E., et al., 2012. Reduced Chrna7 expression in mice is associated with decreases in hippocampal markers of inhibitory function: implications for neuropsychiatric diseases. Neuroscience 207, 274–282.
- Ahn, K., et al., 2014. High rate of disease-related copy number variations in childhood onset schizophrenia. Mol. Psychiatry 19 (5), 568–572.
- Aimone, J.B., et al., 2014. Regulation and function of adult neurogenesis: from genes to cognition. Physiol. Rev. 94 (4), 991–1026.
- Altman, J., Das, G.D., 1965. Autoradiographic and histological evidence of postnatal hippocampal neurogenesis in rats. J. Comp. Neurol. 124 (3), 319–335.
- Andersen, N., et al., 2011. Functional relationships between agonist binding sites and coupling regions of homomeric Cys-loop receptors. J. Neurosci. 31 (10), 3662–3669.
- Andersen, N., et al., 2013. Stoichiometry for activation of neuronal α7 nicotinic receptors. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 110 (51), 20819–20824.
- Araud, T., et al., 2011. The chimeric gene CHRFAM7A, a partial duplication of the CHRNA7 gene, is a dominant negative regulator of α 7*nAChR function. Biochem. Pharmacol. 82 (8), 904–914.
- Azzopardi, E., et al., 2013. Sensorimotor gating and spatial learning in α7-nicotinic receptor knockout mice. Genes Brain Behav. 12 (4), 414–423.
- Baradaran, R., et al., 2020. Developmental regulation and lateralisation of the α 7 and α 4 subunits of nicotinic acetylcholine receptors in developing rat hippocampus. Int. J. Dev. Neurosci. 80 (4), 303–318.
- Bartos, M., Corradi, J., Bouzat, C., 2009. Structural basis of activation of cys-loop receptors: the extracellular-transmembrane interface as a coupling region. Mol. Neurobiol. 40 (3), 236–252.
- Battaglia, A., et al., 2013. Confirmation of chromosomal microarray as a first-tier clinical diagnostic test for individuals with developmental delay, intellectual disability, autism spectrum disorders and dysmorphic features. Eur. J. Paediatr. Neurol. 17 (6), 589–599.
- Ben-Shachar, S., et al.Microdeletion, 2009. 15q13.3: a locus with incomplete penetrance for autism, mental retardation, and psychiatric disorders. J. Med. Genet. 46 (6), 382–388.
- Bonaguidi, M.A., et al., 2012. A unifying hypothesis on mammalian neural stem cell properties in the adult hippocampus. Curr. Opin. Neurobiol. 22 (5), 754–761.
- Bouzat, C., et al., 2004. Coupling of agonist binding to channel gating in an ACh-binding protein linked to an ion channel. Nature 430 (7002), 896–900.
- Broide, R.S., et al., 1995. Developmental expression of alpha 7 neuronal nicotinic receptor messenger RNA in rat sensory cortex and thalamus. Neuroscience 67 (1), 83–94.
- Broide, R.S., et al., 2019. Distribution of α 7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor subunit mRNA in the developing mouse. Front. Neuroanat. 13, 76.
- Campbell, N.R., et al., 2010. Endogenous signaling through alpha7-containing nicotinic receptors promotes maturation and integration of adult-born neurons in the hippocampus. J. Neurosci. 30 (26), 8734–8744.
- Casamassa, A., et al., 2020. A link between genetic disorders and cellular impairment, using human induced pluripotent stem cells to reveal the functional consequences of copy

number variations in the central nervous system-A close look at chromosome 15. Int. J. Mol. Sci. 21 (5).

- Chan, T., et al., 2019. CHRFAM7A alters binding to the neuronal alpha-7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor. Neurosci. Lett. 690, 126–131.
- Chance, P.F., et al., 1994. Two autosomal dominant neuropathies result from reciprocal DNA duplication/deletion of a region on chromosome 17. Hum. Mol. Genet. 3 (2), 223–228.
- Chang, K.T., Berg, D.K., 2001. Voltage-gated channels block nicotinic regulation of CREB phosphorylation and gene expression in neurons. Neuron 32 (5), 855–865.
- Changeux, J.P., Edelstein, S.J., 2005. Allosteric mechanisms of signal transduction. Science 308 (5727), 1424–1428.
- Chatzidaki, A., et al., 2015. Pharmacological characterisation of nicotinic acetylcholine receptors expressed in human iPSC-derived neurons. PLoS One 10 (4), e0125116.
- Chen, D., Dang, H., Patrick, J.W., 1998. Contributions of N-linked glycosylation to the expression of a functional alpha7-nicotinic receptor in *Xenopus oocytes*. J. Neurochem. 70 (1), 349–357.
- Clelland, C.D., et al., 2009. A functional role for adult hippocampal neurogenesis in spatial pattern separation. Science 325 (5937), 210–213.
- Conrad, D.F., et al., 2010. Origins and functional impact of copy number variation in the human genome. Nature 464 (7289), 704–712.
- Cooper, G.M., Nickerson, D.A., Eichler, E.E., 2007. Mutational and selective effects on copynumber variants in the human genome. Nat. Genet. 39 (7 Suppl. 1), S22–S29.
- Corradi, J., Bouzat, C., 2016. Understanding the bases of function and modulation of α7 nicotinic receptors: implications for drug discovery. Mol. Pharmacol. 90 (3), 288–299.
- Costantini, T.W., et al., 2015. A human-specific α 7-nicotinic acetylcholine receptor gene in human leukocytes: identification, regulation and the consequences of CHRFAM7A expression. Mol. Med. 21, 323–336.
- Costantini, T.W., et al., 2019. Uniquely human CHRFAM7A gene increases the hematopoietic stem cell reservoir in mice and amplifies their inflammatory response. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 116 (16), 7932–7940.
- Cushman, J.D., et al., 2012. Juvenile neurogenesis makes essential contributions to adult brain structure and plays a sex-dependent role in fear memories. Front. Behav. Neurosci. 6, 3.
- Dage, J.L., et al., 2014. Pharmacological characterisation of ligand- and voltage-gated ion channels expressed in human iPSC-derived forebrain neurons. Psychopharmacology 231 (6), 1105–1124.
- Dajas-Bailador, F.A., Mogg, A.J., Wonnacott, S., 2002. Intracellular Ca²⁺ signals evoked by stimulation of nicotinic acetylcholine receptors in SH-SY5Y cells: contribution of voltage-operated Ca²⁺ channels and Ca²⁺ stores. J. Neurochem. 81 (3), 606–614.
- Daskalakis, Z.J., Fitzgerald, P.B., Christensen, B.K., 2007. The role of cortical inhibition in the pathophysiology and treatment of schizophrenia. Brain Res. Rev. 56 (2), 427–442.
- De Jaco, A., et al., 2017. Alpha-7 nicotinic receptors in nervous system disorders: from function to therapeutic perspectives. Cent. Nerv. Syst. Agents Med. Chem. 17 (2), 100–108.
- de Lucas-Cerrillo, A.M., et al., 2011. Function of partially duplicated human α 77 nicotinic receptor subunit CHRFAM7A gene: potential implications for the cholinergic antiinflammatory response. J. Biol. Chem. 286 (1), 594–606.
- De Simone, R., et al., 2005. Activation of alpha7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor by nicotine selectively up-regulates cyclooxygenase-2 and prostaglandin E2 in rat microglial cultures.J. Neuroinflammation 2 (1), 4.
300 CHAPTER 12 Functional outcomes of copy number variations

- Dibbens, L.M., et al., 2009. Familial and sporadic 15q13.3 microdeletions in idiopathic generalized epilepsy: precedent for disorders with complex inheritance. Hum. Mol. Genet. 18 (19), 3626–3631.
- Dolmetsch, R., Geschwind, D.H., 2011. The human brain in a dish: the promise of iPSCderived neurons. Cell 145 (6), 831–834.
- Eichenbaum, H., Cohen, N.J., 2014. Can we reconcile the declarative memory and spatial navigation views on hippocampal function? Neuron 83 (4), 764–770.
- Endris, V., et al., 2010. Homozygous loss of CHRNA7 on chromosome 15q13.3 causes severe encephalopathy with seizures and hypotonia. Am. J. Med. Genet. 152A (11), 2908–2911.
- Eriksson, P.S., et al., 1998. Neurogenesis in the adult human hippocampus. Nat. Med. 4 (11), 1313–1317.
- Erkman, L., et al., 2000. Nicotinic acetylcholine receptor gene expression in developing chick autonomic ganglia. Eur. J. Pharmacol. 393 (1–3), 97–104.
- Eskildsen, J., et al., 2014. Discovery and optimization of Lu AF58801, a novel, selective and brain penetrant positive allosteric modulator of alpha-7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptors: attenuation of subchronic phencyclidine (PCP)-induced cognitive deficits in rats following oral administration. Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. 24 (1), 288–293.
- Falk, L., et al., 2002. The alpha7 nicotinic receptors in human fetal brain and spinal cord. J. Neurochem. 80 (3), 457–465.
- Fejgin, K., et al., 2014. A mouse model that recapitulates cardinal features of the 15q13.3 microdeletion syndrome including schizophrenia- and epilepsy-related alterations. Biol. Psychiatry 76 (2), 128–137.
- Fernandes, C., et al., 2006. Performance deficit of alpha7 nicotinic receptor knockout mice in a delayed matching-to-place task suggests a mild impairment of working/episodic-like memory. Genes Brain Behav. 5 (6), 433–440.
- Feuk, L., Carson, A.R., Scherer, S.W., 2006. Structural variation in the human genome. Nat. Rev. Genet. 7 (2), 85–97.
- Fields, R.D., et al., 2017. Cholinergic signaling in myelination. Glia 65 (5), 687–698.
- Flomen, R.H., et al., 2006. Association study of CHRFAM7A copy number and 2 bp deletion polymorphisms with schizophrenia and bipolar affective disorder. Am. J. Med. Genet. B Neuropsychiatry Genet. 141B (6), 571–575.
- Flomen, R.H., et al., 2008. The copy number variant involving part of the alpha7 nicotinic receptor gene contains a polymorphic inversion. Eur. J. Hum. Genet. 16 (11), 1364–1371.
- Forsingdal, A., et al., 2016. 15q13.3 homozygous knockout mouse model display epilepsy-, autism- and schizophrenia-related phenotypes. Transl. Psychiatry 6 (7), e860.
- Gass, N., et al., 2016. An acetylcholine alpha7 positive allosteric modulator rescues a schizophrenia-associated brain endophenotype in the 15q13.3 microdeletion, encompassing CHRNA7. Eur. Neuropsychopharmacol 26 (7), 1150–1160.
- Gault, J., et al., 1998. Genomic organization and partial duplication of the human alpha7 neuronal nicotinic acetylcholine receptor gene (CHRNA7). Genomics 52 (2), 173–185.
- Gill, J.K., et al., 2013. Contrasting properties of α 7-selective orthosteric and allosteric agonists examined on native nicotinic acetylcholine receptors. PLoS One 8 (1), e55047.
- Gillentine, M.A., et al., 2017. Functional consequences of CHRNA7 copy-number alterations in induced pluripotent stem cells and neural progenitor cells. Am. J. Hum. Genet. 101 (6), 874–887.
- Girirajan, S., et al., 2012. Phenotypic heterogeneity of genomic disorders and rare copynumber variants. N. Engl. J. Med. 367 (14), 1321–1331.

- Goder, V., Spiess, M., 2001. Topogenesis of membrane proteins: determinants and dynamics. FEBS Lett. 504 (3), 87–93.
- Godin, J.R., et al., 2019. A silent agonist of α 7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptors modulates inflammation ex vivo and attenuates EAE. Brain Behav. Immun. 87, 286–300.
- Gonçalves, J.T., Schafer, S.T., Gage, F.H., 2016. Adult neurogenesis in the Hippocampus: from stem cells to behavior. Cell 167 (4), 897–914.
- Gotts, S.J., et al., 2013. Two distinct forms of functional lateralization in the human brain. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 110 (36), E3435–E3444.
- Grskovic, M., et al., 2011. Induced pluripotent stem cells–opportunities for disease modelling and drug discovery. Nat. Rev. Drug Discov. 10 (12), 915–929.
- Guerra-Álvarez, M., et al., 2015. Positive allosteric modulation of alpha-7 nicotinic receptors promotes cell death by inducing Ca(2+) release from the endoplasmic reticulum. J. Neurochem. 133 (3), 309–319.
- Hanlon, F.M., et al., 2005. A specific test of hippocampal deficit in schizophrenia. Behav. Neurosci. 119 (4), 863–875.
- Hasselmo, M.E., 2006. The role of acetylcholine in learning and memory. Curr. Opin. Neurobiol. 16 (6), 710–715.
- Hassfurther, A., et al., 2016. Clinical and genetic heterogeneity of the 15q13.3 microdeletion syndrome. Mol. Syndromol. 6 (5), 222–228.
- Helbig, I., et al., 2009. 15q13.3 microdeletions increase risk of idiopathic generalized epilepsy. Nat. Genet. 41 (2), 160–162.
- Hellström-Lindahl, E., et al., 1998. Regional distribution of nicotinic receptors during prenatal development of human brain and spinal cord. Brain Res. Dev. Brain Res. 108 (1–2), 147–160.
- Hibbs, R.E., et al., 2009. Structural determinants for interaction of partial agonists with acetylcholine binding protein and neuronal alpha7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor. EMBO J. 28 (19), 3040–3051.
- Hollands, C., et al., 2017. Depletion of adult neurogenesis exacerbates cognitive deficits in Alzheimer's disease by compromising hippocampal inhibition. Mol. Neurodegener. 12 (1), 64.
- Hoppman-Chaney, N., et al., 2013. Identification of single gene deletions at 15q13.3: further evidence that CHRNA7 causes the 15q13.3 microdeletion syndrome phenotype. Clin. Genet. 83 (4), 345–351.
- Horenstein, N.A., Papke, R.L., 2017. Anti-inflammatory silent agonists. ACS Med. Chem. Lett. 8 (10), 989–991.
- Hoyle, E., et al., 2006. Impaired performance of alpha7 nicotinic receptor knockout mice in the five-choice serial reaction time task. Psychopharmacology 189 (2), 211–223.
- Ihnatovych, I., et al., 2019. iPSC model of CHRFAM7A effect on α7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor function in the human context. Transl. Psychiatry 9 (1), 59.
- Inestrosa, N.C., Arenas, E., 2010. Emerging roles of Wnts in the adult nervous system. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 11 (2), 77–86.
- Javitt, D.C., et al., 2008. Neurophysiological biomarkers for drug development in schizophrenia. Nat. Rev. Drug Discov. 7 (1), 68–83.
- Jiang, Y., et al., 2019. Global proteomic profiling of the uniquely human CHRFAM7A gene in transgenic mouse brain. Gene 714, 143996.
- Kabbani, N., Nichols, R.A., 2018. Beyond the channel: metabotropic signaling by nicotinic receptors. Trends Pharmacol. Sci. 39 (4), 354–366.

302 CHAPTER 12 Functional outcomes of copy number variations

- Kaneko, N., Okano, H., Sawamoto, K., 2006. Role of the cholinergic system in regulating survival of newborn neurons in the adult mouse dentate gyrus and olfactory bulb. Gene Cell. 11 (10), 1145–1159.
- Karaca, E., et al., 2015. Genes that affect brain structure and function identified by rare variant analyses of mendelian neurologic disease. Neuron 88 (3), 499–513.
- Keiger, C.J., et al., 2003. Developmental expression of nicotinic receptors in the chick and human spinal cord. J. Comp. Neurol. 455 (1), 86–99.
- King, J.R., et al., 2015. Identification and characterization of a G protein-binding cluster in α7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptors. J. Biol. Chem. 290 (33), 20060–20070.
- King, J.R., et al., 2018. Ionotropic and metabotropic mechanisms of allosteric modulation of. Mol. Pharmacol. 93 (6), 601–611.
- King, J.R., Kabbani, N., 2016. Alpha 7 nicotinic receptor coupling to heterotrimeric G proteins modulates RhoA activation, cytoskeletal motility, and structural growth. J. Neurochem. 138 (4), 532–545.
- Kogan, J.H., et al., 2015. Mouse model of chromosome 15q13.3 microdeletion syndrome demonstrates features related to autism spectrum disorder. J. Neurosci. 35 (49), 16282–16294.
- Kozak, M., 1999. Initiation of translation in prokaryotes and eukaryotes. Gene 234 (2), 187–208.
- Kunii, Y., et al., 2015. CHRNA7 and CHRFAM7A mRNAs: co-localized and their expression levels altered in the postmortem dorsolateral prefrontal cortex in major psychiatric disorders. Am. J. Psychiatry 172 (11), 1122–1130.
- Larsen, H.M., et al., 2019. Alpha7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptors and neural network synaptic transmission in human induced pluripotent stem cell-derived neurons. Stem Cell Res. 41, 101642.
- Larson, F.V., et al., 2018. Copy number variants in people with autism spectrum disorders and co-morbid psychosis. Eur. J. Med. Genet. 61 (4), 230–234.
- Lasala, M., et al., 2018. A human-specific, truncated α7 nicotinic receptor subunit assembles with full-length α7 and forms functional receptors with different stoichiometries. J. Biol. Chem. 293 (27), 10707–10717.
- Lasala, M., et al., 2019. Molecular modulation of human α7 nicotinic receptor by amyloid-β peptides. Front. Cell. Neurosci. 13, 37.
- Le Pichon, J.B., et al., 2013. Genome-wide gene expression in a patient with 15q13.3 homozygous microdeletion syndrome. Eur. J. Hum. Genet. 21 (10), 1093–1099.
- Lee, W.Y., Sine, S.M., 2005. Principal pathway coupling agonist binding to channel gating in nicotinic receptors. Nature 438 (7065), 243–247.
- Lendvai, B., et al., 2013. α7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptors and their role in cognition. Brain Res. Bull. 93, 86–96.
- Lepichon, J.B., et al., 2010. A 15q13.3 homozygous microdeletion associated with a severe neurodevelopmental disorder suggests putative functions of the TRPM1, CHRNA7, and other homozygously deleted genes. Am. J. Med. Genet. A 152A (5), 1300–1304.
- Levin, E.D., et al., 1999. AR-R17779, and alpha7 nicotinic agonist, improves learning and memory in rats. Behav. Pharmacol. 10 (6–7), 675–680.
- Levin, E.D., 2012. α7-Nicotinic receptors and cognition. Curr. Drug Targets 13 (5), 602–606.
- Levy, S., et al., 2007. The diploid genome sequence of an individual human. PLoS Biol. 5 (10), e254.
- Lew, A.R., et al., 2018. Copy number variations in adult-onset neuropsychiatric diseases. Curr. Genom. 19 (6), 420–430.

- Lewis, A.S., et al., 2015. Modulation of aggressive behavior in mice by nicotinic receptor subtypes. Biochem. Pharmacol. 97 (4), 488–497.
- Lewis, A.S., et al., 2018. Bidirectional regulation of aggression in mice by hippocampal alpha-7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptors. Neuropsychopharmacology 43 (6), 1267–1275.
- Lewis, D.A., Hashimoto, T., Volk, D.W., 2005. Cortical inhibitory neurons and schizophrenia. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 6 (4), 312–324.
- Lewis, A.S., van Schalkwyk, G.I., Bloch, M.H., 2017. Alpha-7 nicotinic agonists for cognitive deficits in neuropsychiatric disorders: a translational meta-analysis of rodent and human studies. Prog. Neuro-Psychopharmacol. Biol. Psychiatry 75, 45–53.
- Liao, J., et al., 2011. A small homozygous microdeletion of 15q13.3 including the CHRNA7 gene in a girl with a spectrum of severe neurodevelopmental features. Am. J. Med. Genet. A 155A (11), 2795–2800.
- Lin, H., et al., 2014. Cortical parvalbumin GABAergic deficits with α7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor deletion: implications for schizophrenia. Mol. Cell. Neurosci. 61, 163–175.
- Lowther, C., et al., 2015. Delineating the 15q13.3 microdeletion phenotype: a case series and comprehensive review of the literature. Genet. Med. 17 (2), 149–157.
- Lupski, J.R., Stankiewicz, P., 2005. Genomic disorders: molecular mechanisms for rearrangements and conveyed phenotypes. PLoS Genet. 1 (6), e49.
- Lykhmus, O., et al., 2020. Different effects of nicotine and N-Stearoyl-ethanolamine on episodic memory and brain mitochondria of α 7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor knockout mice. Biomolecules 10 (2).
- Maldifassi, M.C., et al., 2018. Interaction of the α7-nicotinic subunit with its human-specific duplicated dupα7 isoform in mammalian cells: relevance in human inflammatory responses. J. Biol. Chem. 293 (36), 13874–13888.
- Marchetto, M.C., et al., 2010. A model for neural development and treatment of Rett syndrome using human induced pluripotent stem cells. Cell 143 (4), 527–539.
- Masurel-Paulet, A., et al., 2010. Delineation of 15q13.3 microdeletions. Clin. Genet. 78 (2), 149–161.
- Messi, M.L., et al., 1997. Activation of alpha7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor promotes survival of spinal cord motoneurons. FEBS Lett. 411 (1), 32–38.
- Meyer, E.M., et al., 1997. 3-[2,4-Dimethoxybenzylidene]anabaseine (DMXB) selectively activates rat alpha7 receptors and improves memory-related behaviors in a mecamylaminesensitive manner. Brain Res. 768 (1–2), 49–56.
- Miller, D.T., et al., 2009. Microdeletion/duplication at 15q13.2q13.3 among individuals with features of autism and other neuropsychiatric disorders. J. Med. Genet. 46 (4), 242–248.
- Morales-Perez, C.L., Noviello, C.M., Hibbs, R.E., 2016. X-ray structure of the human α4β2 nicotinic receptor. Nature 538 (7625), 411–415.
- Neves, G.A., Grace, A.A., 2019. α7 nicotinic receptor full agonist reverse basolateral amygdala hyperactivity and attenuation of dopaminergic neuron activity in rats exposed to chronic mild stress. Eur. Neuropsychopharmacol. 29 (12), 1343–1353.
- Nilsson, S.R.O., et al., 2016. A mouse model of the 15q13.3 microdeletion syndrome shows prefrontal neurophysiological dysfunctions and attentional impairment. Psychopharmacology 233 (11), 2151–2163.
- Noonan, M.A., et al., 2010. Reduction of adult hippocampal neurogenesis confers vulnerability in an animal model of cocaine addiction. J. Neurosci. 30 (1), 304–315.
- Origlia, N., et al., 2012. Visual acuity is reduced in alpha 7 nicotinic receptor knockout mice. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 53 (3), 1211–1218.

- Orr-Urtreger, A., et al., 1997. Mice deficient in the alpha7 neuronal nicotinic acetylcholine receptor lack alpha-bungarotoxin binding sites and hippocampal fast nicotinic currents. J. Neurosci. 17 (23), 9165–9171.
- Otto, S.L., Yakel, J.L., 2019. The α 7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptors regulate hippocampal adult-neurogenesis in a sexually dimorphic fashion. Brain Struct. Funct. 224 (2), 829–846.
- Pan, Y.W., et al., 2012. Inhibition of adult neurogenesis by inducible and targeted deletion of ERK5 mitogen-activated protein kinase specifically in adult neurogenic regions impairs contextual fear extinction and remote fear memory. J. Neurosci. 32 (19), 6444–6455.
- Pang, A.W., et al., 2010. Towards a comprehensive structural variation map of an individual human genome. Genome Biol. 11 (5), R52.
- Papke, R.L., et al., 2018. Persistent activation of α7 nicotinic ACh receptors associated with stable induction of different desensitized states. Br. J. Pharmacol. 175 (11), 1838–1854.
- Park, I.H., et al., 2008. Disease-specific induced pluripotent stem cells. Cell 134 (5), 877–886.
- Paşca, S.P., et al., 2011. Using iPSC-derived neurons to uncover cellular phenotypes associated with Timothy syndrome. Nat. Med. 17 (12), 1657–1662.
- Paylor, R., et al., 1998. Alpha7 nicotinic receptor subunits are not necessary for hippocampaldependent learning or sensorimotor gating: a behavioral characterization of Acra7deficient mice. Learn. Mem. 5 (4–5), 302–316.
- Perry, G.H., et al., 2006. Hotspots for copy number variation in chimpanzees and humans. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 103 (21), 8006–8011.
- Pizzo, L., et al., 2019. Rare variants in the genetic background modulate cognitive and developmental phenotypes in individuals carrying disease-associated variants. Genet. Med. 21 (4), 816–825.
- Prasun, P., et al., 2014. Compound heterozygous microdeletion of chromosome 15q13.3 region in a child with hypotonia, impaired vision, and global developmental delay. Am. J. Med. Genet. 164A (7), 1815–1820.
- Reale, M., et al., 2015. Nicotinic receptor activation negatively modulates pro-inflammatory cytokine production in multiple sclerosis patients. Int. Immunopharmacol. 29 (1), 152–157.
- Rice, A.M., McLysaght, A., 2017. Dosage sensitivity is a major determinant of human copy number variant pathogenicity. Nat. Commun. 8, 14366.
- Riley, B., et al., 2002. A 3-Mb map of a large Segmental duplication overlapping the alpha7nicotinic acetylcholine receptor gene (CHRNA7) at human 15q13-q14. Genomics 79 (2), 197–209.
- Sadigh-Eteghad, S., et al., 2015. Selective activation of α 7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor by PHA-543613 improves A β 25-35-mediated cognitive deficits in mice. Neuroscience 298, 81–93.
- Sahay, A., et al., 2011. Increasing adult hippocampal neurogenesis is sufficient to improve pattern separation. Nature 472 (7344), 466–470.
- Schaaf, C.P., 2014. Nicotinic acetylcholine receptors in human genetic disease. Genet. Med. 16 (9), 649–656.
- Schumann, C.M., et al., 2004. The amygdala is enlarged in children but not adolescents with autism; the hippocampus is enlarged at all ages. J. Neurosci. 24 (28), 6392–6401.
- Sharp, A.J., et al., 2005. Segmental duplications and copy-number variation in the human genome. Am. J. Hum. Genet. 77 (1), 78–88.

- Sharp, A.J., et al., 2008. A recurrent 15q13.3 microdeletion syndrome associated with mental retardation and seizures. Nat. Genet. 40 (3), 322–328.
- Shaw, C.J., Bi, W., Lupski, J.R., 2002. Genetic proof of unequal meiotic crossovers in reciprocal deletion and duplication of 17p11.2. Am. J. Hum. Genet. 71 (5), 1072–1081.
- Shen, J.X., Yakel, J.L., 2009. Nicotinic acetylcholine receptor-mediated calcium signaling in the nervous system. Acta Pharmacol. Sin. 30 (6), 673–680.
- Shinawi, M., et al., 2009. A small recurrent deletion within 15q13.3 is associated with a range of neurodevelopmental phenotypes. Nat. Genet. 41 (12), 1269–1271.
- Sinkus, M.L., et al., 2009. A 2-base pair deletion polymorphism in the partial duplication of the alpha7 nicotinic acetylcholine gene (CHRFAM7A) on chromosome 15q14 is associated with schizophrenia. Brain Res. 1291, 1–11.
- Sinkus, M.L., et al., 2015. The human CHRNA7 and CHRFAM7A genes: a review of the genetics, regulation, and function. Neuropharmacology 96 (Pt B), 274–288.
- Soler-Alfonso, C., et al., 2014. CHRNA7 triplication associated with cognitive impairment and neuropsychiatric phenotypes in a three-generation pedigree. Eur. J. Hum. Genet. 22 (9), 1071–1076.
- Spalding, K.L., et al., 2013. Dynamics of hippocampal neurogenesis in adult humans. Cell 153 (6), 1219–1227.
- Spielmann, M., et al., 2011. Homozygous deletion of chromosome 15q13.3 including CHRNA7 causes severe mental retardation, seizures, muscular hypotonia, and the loss of KLF13 and TRPM1 potentially cause macrocytosis and congenital retinal dysfunction in siblings. Eur. J. Med. Genet. 54 (4), e441–e445.
- Stankiewicz, P., Lupski, J.R., 2002. Genome architecture, rearrangements and genomic disorders. Trends Genet. 18 (2), 74–82.
- Stankiewicz, P., Lupski, J.R., 2010. Structural variation in the human genome and its role in disease. Annu. Rev. Med. 61, 437–455.
- Stefansson, H., et al., 2008. Large recurrent microdeletions associated with schizophrenia. Nature 455 (7210), 232–236.
- Swaminathan, S., et al., 2012. Analysis of copy number variation in Alzheimer's disease in a cohort of clinically characterized and neuropathologically verified individuals. PLoS One 7 (12), e50640.
- Szafranski, P., et al., 2010. Structures and molecular mechanisms for common 15q13.3 microduplications involving CHRNA7: benign or pathological? Hum. Mutat. 31 (7), 840–850.
- Szigeti, K., et al., 2014. Ordered subset analysis of copy number variation association with age at onset of Alzheimer's disease. J. Alzheimers Dis. 41 (4), 1063–1071.
- Turco, E.M., et al., 2018. Copy number variations in healthy subjects. Case study: iPSC line CSSi005-A (3544) production from an individual with variation in 15q13.3 chromosome duplicating gene CHRNA7. Stem Cell Res. 32, 73–77.
- Unal, G., et al., 2020. Alpha 7 nicotinic receptor agonist and positive allosteric modulators improved social and molecular deficits of MK-801 model of schizophrenia in rats. Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav. 172916.
- van Bon, B.W., et al., 2009. Further delineation of the 15q13 microdeletion and duplication syndromes: a clinical spectrum varying from non-pathogenic to a severe outcome. J. Med. Genet. 46 (8), 511–523.
- Wang, Y., et al., 2014. The duplicated α 7 subunits assemble and form functional nicotinic receptors with the full-length α 7. J. Biol. Chem. 289 (38), 26451–26463.

306 CHAPTER 12 Functional outcomes of copy number variations

- Wang, J., et al., 2017. Alpha-7 nicotinic receptor signaling pathway participates in the neurogenesis induced by ChAT-positive neurons in the subventricular zone. Trans. Stroke Res. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12975-017-0541-7.
- Yin, J., et al., 2017. Chrna7 deficient mice manifest no consistent neuropsychiatric and behavioral phenotypes. Sci. Rep. 7, 39941.
- Young, J.W., et al., 2004. Nicotine improves sustained attention in mice: evidence for involvement of the alpha7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor. Neuropsychopharmacology 29 (5), 891–900.
- Young, J.W., et al., 2007. Impaired attention is central to the cognitive deficits observed in alpha 7 deficient mice. Eur. Neuropsychopharmacol. 17 (2), 145–155.
- Young, J.W., et al., 2011. Delayed procedural learning in α7-nicotinic acetylcholine receptor knockout mice. Genes Brain Behav. 10 (7), 720–733.
- Zarrei, M., et al., 2015. A copy number variation map of the human genome. Nat. Rev. Genet. 16 (3), 172–183.
- Zhang, J.C., et al., 2016. Depression-like phenotype by deletion of α7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor: role of BDNF-TrkB in nucleus accumbens. Sci. Rep. 6, 36705.
- Zhou, D., et al., 2016. 15q13.3 duplication in two patients with childhood-onset schizophrenia. Am. J. Med. Genet. B Neuropsychiatry Genet. 171 (6), 777–783.

Note: 'Page numbers followed by "f" indicate figures and "t" indicate tables.'

A

Activin A, 8-10 Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrome (ARDS), 25 - 26Air-liquid interface (ALI), 10-11 Alpha-1-anti-trypsin (AAT), 27-28 Alveolar macrophages (AMs), 23-24 Alveolar type 1 (AT1) cells, 13-14 Alveolar type 2 (AT2) cells, 13-15 Alzheimer's disease (AD), 69 clinical features, 71-72 mitochondrial energy metabolism, 72 model of, 72, 73f oxidative stress, 72 reactive-oxygen-species (ROS), 72 Angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 (ACE2) protein, 33-34 Aquaporin 5 (AQP5), 16-17 ATTR amyloidosis. See Transthyretin amyloidosis (ATTR amyloidosis)

B

Bipolar disorder (BD), 221 Brugada syndrome, 185–186

C

cAMP. See Cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP) Carboxypeptidase M (CPM), 10-11 Cardiac conduction disease (CCD), 186 Cardiac sodium channelopathies, 181t-182t action potential (AP), 179-180 Brugada syndrome, 185–186 cardiac conduction disease (CCD), 186 dilated cardiomyopathy (DCM), 187 long QT syndrome (LQT) type 3, 180-185, 184f-185f myocardial-specific proteins, 180 patch-clamp method, 180 SCN5A missense mutation, 186 Cardiomyocytes (CMs), 65 autophagic dysfunction, 199-203 bafilomycin, 200-203 calcium handling analysis, 200, 202f electron microscopy analysis, 200, 200f LAMP2-deficient, 200, 201f

model, 199, 199t Western blot analysis, 200-203 X-chromosome inactivation, 199-200 immunostaining, 198, 198f induced pluripotent stem cells-cardiomyocytes (iPSCs), 66-67 WNT signaling pathways, 197 Cardiovascular diseases (CVD) cardiomyocytes (CMs), 65 induced pluripotent stem cells-cardiomyocytes (iPSCs), 66-67 model of, 73f prevalence, 65 Caveolin-1, 16-17 CF. See Cystic fibrosis (CF) CFTR. See Cystic fibrosis transmembrane regulator (CFTR) Childhood-Onset-Schizophrenia, 284 Choroideremia (CHM) animal models, 133-134 cellular models, 134-135 fundus of, 128, 129f genetics of, 129-130 human fetal RPE (hfRPE) cells, 135 induced pluripotent stem cell (iPSC) genetic instability, 136-137 heterochromatin reorganization, 135 lentiviral method, 136-137 peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC), 137 retinal pigment epithelium (RPE). See Retinal pigment epithelium (RPE) retro- and lentiviral vectors, 136 Sendai virus (SeV)-based vectors, 136 somatic cells, 135 in vitro prenylation, 137, 138f pathophysiology geranylgeranyl pyrophosphate (GGPP), 130 prenylation cycle, 130, 132f Rab27a, 131-133 Rab geranyl-geranyl transferase II (RGGTaseII), 130 Rab GTPases, 130, 131f prevalence, 128 X chromosome inactivation, 128 CHRNA7 mutation Childhood-Onset-Schizophrenia, 284

CHRNA7 mutation (Continued) and CHRFAM7A, 273-274, 274f clinical features, 283 dosage sensitivity, 275, 276f epilepsy, 284 genome-wide association studies (GWAS), 285 genotype modifications, 285, 286f microdeletion, 283-284 monogenic and polygenic diseases, 271-272 a7-nAChR knock-out mice behavioral impairments, 285-286, 287t-290t brain circuitry and neuronal electrophysiology, 286-291 neuropsychiatric phenotypes, 283-284 nicotinic acetylcholine receptors (nAChRs), 272-273, 275-278, 277f nonallelic homologous recombination mechanism (NAHR), 272 15q13.2 and 15q13.3, 272-273, 273f 15q13.3 microdeletion models, 291-292 behavioral phenotype, 292 brain circuitry and neuronal electrophysiology, 292 transgenic CHRFAM7A models, 292-293 triplication, 284 Cimetidine, 165-166 Cocaine, 162-164 CYP3A5 polymorphisms, 166, 167f Copy number variations (CNVs) CHRNA7 in animal models, 285-293, 286f, 287t-290t Childhood-Onset-Schizophrenia, 284 and CHRFAM7A, 273-274, 274f clinical features, 283 dosage sensitivity, 275, 276f epilepsy, 284 genome-wide association studies (GWAS), 285 microdeletion, 283-284 monogenic and polygenic diseases, 271 - 272neuropsychiatric phenotypes, 283-284 nicotinic acetylcholine receptors (nAChRs), 272-273, 275-278, 277f nonallelic homologous recombination mechanism (NAHR), 272 15q13.2 and 15q13.3, 272-273, 273f triplication, 284 genetic diversity, 270-271 genomic disorders, 270-271 α-7 nicotinic receptor (α7nAChR) functional characteristics and pharmacology, 278-280, 279f, 281f

induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs), 293–296 in nervous system, 281–283 Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) pandemic, 31 CPM. *See* Carboxypeptidase M (CPM) CVD. *See* Cardiovascular diseases (CVD) Cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP), 13–14 CYP450-dependent drug metabolism, 164 Cystic fibrosis (CF), 5, 18–20 Cystic fibrosis transmembrane regulator (CFTR), 18–19 Cytokeratin 5 (KRT5), 11–13

D

Danon disease animal models, 195 characteristics, 194 induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSC) advantages, 196 cardiomyocytes. See Cardiomyocytes drug testing, 203 embryonic stem cells (ESCs), 195 procedures for, 196, 197f X-chromosome inactivation, 196-197, 198f lysosome-associated membrane protein-2 (LAMP2), 194 X-chromosome inactivation, 194 Diabetes mellitus (DM) insulin-producing cells derived from iPSC (INS-iPSC), 67 iPSC-based pancreatic β-cells, 67-68, 74f types, 67 Dilated cardiomyopathy (DCM), 187 Dopamine transporter (DAT) gene, 157 Drug addiction and drug abuse, 155 neuronal cell lines embryonic DNA methylation patterns, 157 - 158GABAergic neurons, 160 NMDA receptor, 158-159 overexpression studies, 160-161 quantitative RT-PCR analysis, 159-160 valproic acid (VPA), 161-162

Ε

Extracellular matrices (ECMs), 16-17

F

Fluorescence-activated cell sorting (FACS), 8-10

G

Genome-wide association studies (GWASs), 156, 162, 221-222, 285 risk single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs), 231-232, 233f risk variants, 232-235, 234f Geranylgeranyl pyrophosphate (GGPP), 130 Glaucoma, 86f drug discovery, 98-99 embryonic stem cells, 90-91 induced pluripotent stem cells-retinal ganglion cells (iPSCs-RGCs), 95-97 induced pluripotent stem cells-trabecular meshwork (iPSCs-TM) CHI3L1 marker, 95, 96f neural crest (NC) cells, 93-94, 94f pluripotent cell markers, 93, 93f in vitro disease models, 92 patient-derived induced pluripotent stem cells, 97-98 primary angle-closure glaucoma (PACG), 87,89 primary open angle glaucoma (POAG), 87 cellular models, 91-92 characteristics, 91-92 genetics of, 88 laser treatment, 90 medicines, 89-90 pathophysiology, 87-88 risk factors, 89 trabeculectomy, 90 Granulocyte macrophage-colony stimulating factor (GM-CSF), 27

Η

Hematopoietic stem cells (HSCs), 22-23 Human eye bipolar cells, 125 blood-retinal barrier (BRB), 126 choroid. 124-126 cornea, 124-125 horizontal and amacrine cells, 125 lens, 124-125 neuroretina, 125 photoreceptors, 125 retina, 124-125 retinal ganglion cells (RGCs), 125 retinal pigment epithelium (RPE), 125-126, 126f sclera, 124-125 structure, 124-125, 124f structure and function, 124-126, 124f

I

Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis (IPF), 29-30 Induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs) cardiomyocytes (CMs), 66-67 characteristics, 62, 63f choroideremia (CHM) genetic instability, 136-137 heterochromatin reorganization, 135 lentiviral method, 136-137 peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC), 137 retinal pigment epithelium (RPE). See Retinal pigment epithelium (RPE) retro- and lentiviral vectors, 136 Sendai virus (SeV)-based vectors, 136 somatic cells, 135 in vitro prenylation, 137, 138f Danon disease advantages, 196 cardiomyocytes. See Cardiomyocytes drug testing, 203 embryonic stem cells (ESCs), 195 procedures for, 196, 197f X-chromosome inactivation, 198f disease modeling, 64 vs. embryonic stem cells (ESCs), 61, 61f generation of, 61-62 germ layers, 62 glaucoma CHI3L1 marker, 95, 96f neural crest (NC) cells, 93-94, 94f pluripotent cell markers, 93, 93f in vitro disease models, 92 host-pathogen interactions, 62-63 limitations, 74-75 Parkinson's disease (PD), 71 psychiatric disorders cell culture systems, 225-230 complex cell-cell interactions in vitro, 226 - 227genome-wide association studies risk single nucleotide polymorphisms, 231-232, 233f genome-wide association studies risk variants, 232-235, 234f neuronal progenitors (NPCs), 224 patient-specific brain organoids, 227 postsynaptic cornu ammonis (CA3) neurons, 225-226, 226f in vivo systems, 228-230, 229f spinal cord injury (SCI), 249f inflammatory mediators, 254-255 mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs), 252-253

Induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs) (Continued) microfluidics, 259 modalities, 248 neural organoids, engraftment and transplantation, 256-257 neural progenitor cells (NPCs), 247-248, 250-251 neurovascular units, 259-260 oligodendrocyte precursor cells, 248-250 organoid culture, 258-260, 258f pericytes, 253-254 preclinical models, 247-248 3D-printed tissue, 255-256, 256f Schwann cells, 251-252 self-organizing motor nerve organoids, 260 - 261in vitro, 248, 257-258 transthyretin amyloidosis (ATTR amyloidosis) hepatic proteostasis remodeling, 113-115, 114f hereditary ATTR amyloidosis, 112-113, 112f peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs), 112-113 Yamanaka factors, 61 Inflammatory airway disease alveolar macrophages (AMs), 23-24 hematopoietic stem cells (HSCs), 22-23 interstitial macrophages (IMs), 23 Myb-alveolar like macrophages, 24-25 pathological conditions, 22 pulmonary alveolar proteinosis (PAP) phenotype, 24 tissue-resident macrophages, 24-25 Inherited retinal dystrophies (IRDs), 127-128, 133 Interferon Regulatory Factor 7 (IRF7), 31-33 Interstitial lung diseases (ILD), 25-26 Interstitial macrophages (IMs), 23

L

Long QT syndrome (LQT) type 3, 180–185, 184f–185f Lymphangioleiomyomatosis (LAM), 30–31

М

Major depression (MD), 221 Mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs), 252–253 Metabolic disorders, 64 Microfluidics, 259

Ν

National Vital Statistics System-Mortality (NVSS-M), 155

Neocortical organoid model, 164-165, 165f Nerve growth factor expression (NGFR), 11-13 Neural organoids, engraftment and transplantation, 256-257 Neural progenitor cells (NPCs), 209-210, 247-248, 250-251 Neurodegenerative disorders Alzheimer's disease (AD), 69 clinical features, 71-72 mitochondrial energy metabolism, 72 model of, 72, 73f oxidative stress, 72 reactive-oxygen-species (ROS), 72 molecular and cellular characteristics, 68, 68f Parkinson's disease (PD), 69 brain organoids, 70 clinical features, 69 induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs), 71 model of, 70, 71f protein *a*-synuclein, 70 types, 69-70 Nicotine, 167-168 Nicotinic acetylcholine receptors (nAChRs), 272-273, 275-278, 277f a-7 Nicotinic receptor (a7nAChR) functional characteristics and pharmacology, 278-280, 279f, 281f induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs), 293-296 in nervous system, 281-283 Niemann-Pick type C1 disease (NPC1D) blood-brain barrier, 208-209 cholesterol homeostasis, 214-215 cholesterol transporter, 208 clinical presentation of, 208 drug discovery applications, 214 gene therapy, 208-209 human-induced pluripotent stem cell (hiPSC) autophagy dysfunction, 211-212 gene-editing, 213 neural progenitor cells (NPCs), 209-210 patient-specific hepatocytes, 212-213 patient-specific models, 210 protein kinase C, 212 reactive oxygen species (ROS), 211-212 Nitric oxide synthase (NOS), 87-88 NKX2.1-associated noncoding intergenic RNA (NANCI), 13-14 Nonallelic homologous recombination mechanism (NAHR), 272 NPCs. See Neural progenitor cells (NPCs) NVSS-M. See National Vital Statistics System-Mortality (NVSS-M)

0

Optineurin (OPTN), 88 Organoid culture, 258–260, 258f

Ρ

Parkinson's disease (PD), 69 brain organoids, 70 clinical features, 69 induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs), 71 model of, 70, 71f protein α -synuclein, 70 types, 69-70 Patch-clamp method, 180 Peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC), 137 Podoplanin (PDPN), 16-17 Polygenic risk score (PRS), 156-157 Primary angle-closure glaucoma (PACG), 87, 89 Primary ciliary dyskinesia (PCD), 20-22 Primary open angle glaucoma (POAG), 87 cellular models, 91-92 characteristics, 91-92 genetics of, 88 laser treatment, 90 medicines, 89-90 pathophysiology, 87-88 risk factors, 89 trabeculectomy, 90 Psychiatric disorders bipolar disorder (BD), 221 diagnosis, 221 genome-wide association studies (GWASs), 221-222 induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs)-based disease modeling, 223 cell culture systems, 225-230 complex cell-cell interactions in vitro, 226-227 genome-wide association studies risk single nucleotide polymorphisms, 231-232, 233f genome-wide association studies risk variants, 232-235, 234f neuronal progenitors (NPCs), 224 patient-specific brain organoids, 227 postsynaptic cornu ammonis (CA3) neurons, 225-226, 226f in vivo systems, 228-230, 229f major depression (MD), 221 polygenic risk, 222 risk factors, 221-222 schizophrenia (SCZ), 221 Pulmonary alveolar proteinosis (PAP) phenotype, 24 Pulmonary neuroendocrine cells (PNECs), 15

R

Rab geranyl-geranyl transferase II (RGGTaseII), 130 Reactive oxygen species (ROS), 211-212 Respiratory disease modeling cell therapy and precision medicine screening, 5-6, 6t-7t conducting airways cystic fibrosis (CF), 18-20 inflammatory airway disease, 22-25 primary ciliary dyskinesia (PCD), 20-22 cystic fibrosis (CF), 5 distal airspace alpha-1-anti-trypsin (AAT), 27-28 idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis (IPF), 29-30 lymphangioleiomyomatosis (LAM), 30-31 surfactant protein dysfunction, 25-27, 26f human lung disease ex vivo, 5-6 idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis (IPF) models, 5 lung development anterior foregut endoderm (AFE), 7-10 cellular plasticity, 15-18 definitive endoderm (DE), 8-10 distal airway alveolar type 2 stem cells, 13-15 distal alveolar cells, 8 embryonic stage, 7-8 NKX2.1 expressing primordial lung progenitor cells, 10-11, 11f proximal airway basal stem cells, 11-13 pulmonary neuroendocrine cells (PNECs), 15 self-renewal capacity, 8 stages, 7-8, 9f morbidity and mortality rates, 5 murine models, 5 viral infection, 31-34, 32f Retinal ganglion cells (RGCs), 95-97 Retinal pigment epithelium (RPE) choroideremia (CHM) endothelial coculture models, 145 generation and morphology, 139, 139f gene supplementation, 141-142 melanosome aggregation, 144 modeling, 140-141 phagolysosomal degradation, 143-144 retinal organoids, 144 translational read-through, 142-143 visual cycle proteins, 139-140

hypopigmentation, 128

S

SARS-CoV-2 infection, 33–34 Schizophrenia (SCZ), 221

Schlemm's canal pathway, 87-88 Schwann cells, 251-252 Smooth muscle cells (SMCs), 30-31 Spinal cord injury (SCI) induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs), 249f inflammatory mediators, 254-255 mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs), 252-253 microfluidics, 259 modalities, 248 neural organoids, engraftment and transplantation, 256-257 neural progenitor cells (NPCs), 247-248, 250-251 neurovascular units, 259-260 oligodendrocyte precursor cells, 248-250 organoid culture, 258-260, 258f pericytes, 253-254 preclinical models, 247-248 3D-printed tissue, 255-256, 256f Schwann cells, 251-252 self-organizing motor nerve organoids, 260 - 261in vitro, 248, 257-258 pathophysiology, 246-247 Substance use disorders dopamine transporter (DAT) gene, 157 drug abuse and addiction, 155 genetic vs. nongenetic factors, 156-157 human embryonic stem cells (hESC), 154 neurodevelopmental effects, 162-168, 164f-165f, 167f human induced pluripotent stem cells (hiPSC), 154 genome-wide association studies (GWAS), 162 neurodevelopmental effects, 162-168, 164f-165f, 167f neuronal cell lines, 157-162 neurodevelopmental effects, 154-155 neurotransmitter pathways, 156 polygenic risk score (PRS), 156-157 reward pathway, 155-156 Surfactant protein dysfunction Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrome (ARDS), 25 - 26alveolar structure, 25-26, 26f interstitial lung diseases (ILD), 25-26 organoids, 26-27 proteins and phospholipids, 27 Systemic amyloid disease. See also Transthyretin amyloidosis (ATTR amyloidosis) drug discovery, 116 pathogenesis, 106, 107f

protein homeostasis, 106

Т

Trabecular meshwork (TM), 87-88 CHI3L1 marker, 95, 96f neural crest (NC) cells, 93-94, 94f pluripotent cell markers, 93, 93f in vitro disease models, 92 Transthyretin amyloidosis (ATTR amyloidosis) biomarkers for, 116-117 cellular stress and toxicity, 118 clinical manifestation, 110 etiology, 107-108 induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs)-based model hepatic proteostasis remodeling, 113-115, 114f hereditary ATTR amyloidosis, 112-113, 112f peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs), 112-113 light chain amyloidosis, 117 pathogenesis, 108-109, 109f pre-clinical disease models, 110-112 RNA interference (RNAi)-based therapeutics, 116 transthyretin (TTR) gene, 106-107 unfolded protein response (UPR) activators, 117 Tumor protein 63 (TP63), 11-13

U

Unfolded protein response (UPR) activators, 117 Usher syndrome (USH), 133

V

Valproic acid (VPA), 161–162 Viral infection, 31–34, 32f

Novel Concepts in iPSC Disease Modeling

Edited by

Alexander Birbrair

Department of Pathology, Federal University of Minas Gerais, Belo Horizonte, Minas Gerais, Brazil Department of Radiology, Columbia University Medical Center, Medical Center, USA

The series Advances in Stem Cell Biology is a timely and expansive collection of comprehensive information and new discoveries in the field of stem cell biology.

Novel Concepts in iPSC Disease Modeling, Volume 15 addresses how induced pluripotent stem cells can be used to model various diseases. Somatic cells are reprogrammed into induced pluripotent stem cells by the expression of specific transcription factors. These cells are transforming biomedical research in the last 15 years. This volume teaches readers about current advances in the field. This book describes the use of induced pluripotent stem cells to model several diseases in vitro, enabling us to study the cellular and molecular mechanisms involved in different pathologies. Further insights into these mechanisms will have important implications for our understanding of disease appearance, development, and progression. In recent years, remarkable progress has been made in the obtention of induced pluripotent stem cells and their differentiation into several cell types, tissues, and organs using state-of-art techniques. These advantages facilitated identification of key targets and definition of the molecular basis of several disorders.

The volume is written for researchers and scientists in stem cell therapy, cellular and molecular biology, and regenerative medicine; and is contributed by world-renowned authors in the field.

Key Features

- Provides overview of the fast-moving field of induced pluripotent stem cell technology, regenerative medicine, and therapeutics.
- Covers the following diseases: open-angle glaucoma, amyloid disease, choroideremia, substance abuse disorders, Danon disease, Niemann-Pick disease type C1, spinal cord injury, and more.
- Contains description of cutting-edge research on the development of disease-specific human pluripotent stem cells. These cells allow us to study cellular and molecular processes involved in several human diseases.







An imprint of Elsevier elsevier.com/books-and-journals

